

# Jama Connect 9.6.0 User Guide

# **Table of Contents**

Welcome to Jama Connect	9
Get started	10
Exploring the Jama Connect workspace	11
Project approach and tree structure	12
Item-based product development	14
Traceability from Requirements to Test	15
Tracking changes in your project	18
How reviews work	19
Exporting documents from Jama Connect	22
Testing	24
All about baselines	26
Reuse and synchronization	28
Administration	30
Manage item types	31
Managing relationship rules	32
Managing workflow	33
REST API and extensibility	34
Jama Connect top tasks	36
Videos and top resources	37
Setting up your work environment	39
Managing your profile	39
Reset your password	40
Set API credentials	40
Configure email notifications and subscriptions	41
Configure your review settings	42
Using and managing locked items	43
Adding and deleting bookmarks	46
Customizing your workspace	46
Introducing the Jama Connect interface	50
Explorer Tree	50
Tools for viewing and controlling content	51
Single Item View	59
Learn more	62
Creating content	64
Containers	65
Add a component	65
Add a set	66
Add a folder	67
Items	68
Add an item	69
Quick-add an item	71
Add a child item	72
Edit an item	72
Edit an item in List View	74
Batch-edit multiple items	74
Add, edit, or delete links	76
Locking an item	77
Manually lock and unlock items from the toolbar	77
Converting items to another item type	78
Moving items	83
Duplicate an item	84
Delete an item	85
Restore a deleted item	85

Tags	86
Add and delete tags	87
Attachments	
Add. edit. and delete attachments	89
Using the rich text editor	92
Insert image to rich text fields	93
Insert a link in rich text fields	94
Add and edit tables with rich text editor	94
Insert rich text diagrams	95
Insert equations in rich text fields	96
Insert templates to rich text editor	97
Run Accessibility Checker	98
Importing content into Jama Connect	99
Importing items from a Word file	. 100
Importing from Excel	109
Importing from IBM DOORS	. 126
Find content	137
Full text search	. 137
Search for content	138
Filter items for targeted results	140
Advanced filters	142
Add or edit advanced filters	143
Dunlicate advanced filters	146
Filter the Explorer Tree	147
Export from advanced filters	148
Ouick find	148
Find an item in the Explorer Tree	152
Find moved items	153
Find synchronized items	154
Find advanced filters	155
Find review status	155
Find relationships	156
Find relationships	157
Find suspect links	158
Find the Trace Matrix	150
Find test cases	160
Find test clases	161
Reviews in Jama Connect	162
Roles for review workflow	162
Review lifecycle — Who does what during a review	163
Workflow status for reviews	163
Review Center dashboard views	164
Moderator tasks	165
Initiate a review	166
Add and manage review participants	173
Modifying an "In progress" review	17/
Modifying all in progress review	175
Incorporate review feedback	175
niculpulate ieview iecubate	177
Dublish a ravised raview	. 170 179
	170
n manze a review	170
	170
Alulive dieview	100
Demove or recover items in a review	. 10U 101
1 CITIONE OF TECONEL TETTIS III & TENEW	. 101

Transition a Peer review to an Approval review	182
Close and finalize an Approval review	183
Reviewer tasks	184
Contribute feedback	185
Finish a review as a reviewer	187
Approver tasks	187
Approve or reject review items	188
Finish a review as an approver	188
Sign a review electronically	189
Delegate approval	190
Add reviewers	191
Review administrator tasks	192
Recover a deleted review	192
Configure review comments to appear in projects	193
Tasks for all participant roles	195
Find and filter items in a review	195
Highlighting review comments	108
Apply @mention to review comments	200
Compare versions	200
Show related items in a review	202
View participant progress	203
View item progress	200
View review activity	200
	207
Filter review comments	208
	209
Export reviews	209
Voting	209
Categories	211
Managing categories in projects (users)	211
Apply or unapply categories	212
Controlling the Categories feature (organization admins)	214
Enable the Categories feature	215
Enable category management for locked items	216
Add a new category	216
Edit category properties	217
Remove a category variation	218
Delete a category	219
Organize the Category admin tree	219
Managing category access to projects	221
Add Categories field to items in review	222
Configure access to projects	226
Collaborating with your team	228
Email notifications and subscriptions	228
Subscribe to emails for yourself	229
Subscribe other users to email notifications	229
Workflow	230
Using workflow in Projects	230
Stream — Staving connected	236
Types of streams	236
Activity stream	241
Comments	242
Email notifications for the stream	246
Linipad images to the stream	247
Request or resolve an action	248
Filter the stream	250
	200

View collaboration stream at an item level	252
View collaboration stream at a project level	254
View global stream across projects	255
View connected users	256
Electronic signatures	257
Sign a review electronically	258
Sign a baseline electronically	260
Managing your content	263
Item versions	263
Change the current item version	264
Compare versions of an item	265
View previous versions of an item	266
Change requests	268
Add a change request and associate items	268
Edit a change request association	271
Run Impact Analysis on a change request	271
Delete change request associations	272
Close a change request	272
Releases	272
Assigning an item to a release	273
Release field	273
Customize the Release settings	273
Baselines	275
What is a baseline source?	277
Compare baselines in Baseline source List View	278
Benefits of organizing your baseline tree	280
Create a baseline manually	282
Edit a baseline	286
Locate an existing baseline	287
Compare baselines	280
Use Compare with current to see baseline changes	203
View baseline activity	201
Locate raview baselines	201
Sign a baseline electronically	292
Sign a baseline electronically	294
Deleting sources and baselines	200
Replace current items with a baselined version	290
Coverage and traceability	202
	202
	20Z
	216
	217
	317 240
	200
	320
Reuse	322
Synchronization	329
	344
	346
	040
Export to Word from List View	346
Export to Word from List View Export to Excel	346 347
Export to Word from List View Export to Excel Export to PDF from Reading View	346 347 348
Export to Word from List View Export to Excel Export to PDF from Reading View Export to PDF from List View	346 347 348 349
Export to Word from List View Export to Excel Export to PDF from Reading View Export to PDF from List View Office Templates	346 347 348 349 349
Export to Word from List View Export to Excel Export to PDF from Reading View Export to PDF from List View Office Templates Managing tests with Jama Connect	346 347 348 349 349 360

Import test cases	361
Edit test cases using round-trip	361
Special use of item types for test	362
View and edit test case details	362
Export test cases to Microsoft Excel	364
Test steps	365
Test case status	368
Add a Test Run Results column	368
Test plans	371
Add a test plan	372
Add test cases to a plan	373
View test plan details	374
Edit a test plan	375
Send a test plan for review	376
Duplicate a test plan	377
Archive a test plan	378
Delete a test plan	379
Test aroups	380
Test cycles	383
Add a test cycle	383
Fdit a test cycle	385
Send a test cycle for review	388
Test runs	300
Find and manage test runs	301
View test run detaile	201
Configure test run view	203
Assign test runs	301
Execute a test run	205
Arehive a test run	390
Archive a test full	400
Configure custom fields to appear during test execution	401
Sync lest runs with lest cases	402
Test run status	403
Batch update test run status	404
Using the Test Runs widget	406
Analysis — Monitoring your project	408
working with dashboards	408
Manage the dashboard (users)	408
Configure the dashboard (admins)	410
Dashboard widget options	412
Reports	414
Run a report	415
Custom reports	433
View and download Reports history	433
Manage the Reports history page	434
Export Velocity reports to Excel	434
Installing Jama Connect (KOIS)	438
Installation workflow (KOTS)	439
Planning your installation (KOTS)	439
System requirements and supported software (KOTS)	440
Application server requirements (KOTS)	441
Resource sizing for application server (KOTS)	441
Database server requirements (KOTS)	443
Resource sizing for database server (KOTS)	443
Things to do before installation (KOTS)	444
Prepare your application server (KOTS)	444

Preparing your database server (KOTS)	445
Install and configure MySQL (KOTS)	445
Install and configure Microsoft SQL Server (KOTS)	447
Configure custom memory settings for Elasticsearch (KOTS)	449
Installing the software (KOTS)	449
Install Jama Connect and KOTS (internet)	450
Install Jama Connect and KOTS (airgap)	453
Provision your Jama Connect dataset (KOTS)	458
Create a Replicated Snapshot (KOTS)	459
Capture KOTS Installer (KOTS)	460
Restore KOTS Admin Console and Jama Connect from a Replicated Snapshot	
(KOTS)	461
Enable horizontal scaling (KOTS)	462
Configure dedicated Elasticsearch nodes (KOTS)	464
Configure KOTS to save tenant assets in Amazon EFS	466
Back up tenant assets to a TAR file in KOTS	469
Restore tenant assets from TAR in KOTS	470
Configure Federated Authentication for KOTS Admin Console	470
After installing Jama Connect (KOTS)	471
Troubleshooting your installation (KOTS)	471
Upgrading Jama Connect (KOTS)	475
Perform a clean installation of Jama Connect	475
Perform an in-place upgrade of Jama Connect	478
Update the Jama Connect KOTS platform (internet)	478
Upgrade Jama Connect with KOTS (internet)	479
Update the Jama Connect KOTS platform (airgap)	480
Upgrade Jama Connect with KOTS (airgap)	482
Troubleshooting your upgrade (KOTS)	483
Administration	487
Authentication methods	487
SCIM provisioning for user management	488
REST API	489
Supported image extensions and attachment types	489
System administrator (KOTS)	489
Configuring the Admin Console settings	490
Setting up Jama Connect	505
Backing up and restoring your data	530
Maintaining your Jama Connect environment	535
Upgrading from Jama Connect traditional to KOTS	611
	544
Troubleshooting	545
Troubleshooting Organization administrator	544 545 549
Troubleshooting Organization administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream	544 545 549 549
Troubleshooting Organization administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream Managing content	545 549 549 550
Troubleshooting Organization administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream Managing content Managing users and groups	545 549 549 550 573
Troubleshooting Organization administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream Managing content Managing users and groups Managing process	545 549 549 550 573 593
Troubleshooting Organization administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream Managing content Managing users and groups Managing process Managing collaboration	544 545 549 549 550 573 593 627
Troubleshooting Organization administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream Managing content Managing users and groups Managing process Managing collaboration Organizing projects	544 545 549 549 550 573 593 627 634
Troubleshooting Organization administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream Managing content Managing users and groups Managing process Managing collaboration Organizing projects Integrations	544 545 549 549 550 573 593 627 634 641
Troubleshooting Organization administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream Managing content Managing users and groups Managing process Managing collaboration Organizing projects Integrations Project administrator	544 545 549 550 573 593 627 634 641 643
Troubleshooting Organization administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream Managing content Managing users and groups Managing process Managing collaboration Organizing projects Integrations Project administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream (project admin)	544 545 549 550 573 593 627 634 641 643 644
Troubleshooting Organization administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream	544 545 549 550 573 593 627 634 641 643 644 645 645
Troubleshooting Organization administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream	544 545 549 550 573 593 627 634 641 643 644 645 662
Troubleshooting Organization administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream Managing content Managing users and groups Managing process Managing process Managing collaboration Organizing projects Integrations Project administrator Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream (project admin) Manage projects View project users Reference	544 545 549 549 550 573 593 627 634 641 643 644 645 662 666
Troubleshooting Organization administrator	544 545 549 549 550 573 593 627 634 641 643 644 645 662 666 666 666

Roles	668
Access permissions	671
Best practices and guardrails	672
Keyboard shortcuts	673
Application performance testing	674
Get help	676
Widgets	676
Glossary	678
Jama Connect Interchange (JCI)	682
Upgrading from Jama Connect traditional to KOTS	683
Workflow for upgrading from traditional to KOTS	684
Planning your upgrade to KOTS	684
Run the KOTS preflight installation checks	685
System requirements and supported software (KOTS)	687
Application server requirements (upgrading traditional to KOTS)	689
Resource sizing for application server (upgrading traditional to KOTS)	689
Database server requirements (upgrading traditional to KOTS)	690
Resource sizing for database server (upgrading traditional to KOTS)	690
Things to do before upgrading from traditional to KOTS	691
Upgrading the Replicated platform from traditional to KOTS	698
Install the Jama Connect Replicated KOTS platform (internet)	699
Install the Jama Connect Replicated KOTS platform (airgap)	701
Provision your tenant in Jama Connect KOTS (upgrading traditional to KOTS)	703
Create a Replicated Snapshot (KOTS)	707
After upgrading Jama Connect traditional to KOTS	708

# Welcome to Jama Connect

Jama Connect is a centralized web application that helps you manage the development of new products. It manages all aspects of product development, including requirements, reviews, and testing. Jama Connect also records test results and manages risk while maintaining regulatory compliance.

As a new user or trial user, read through this section to learn how Jama Connect can change the way you work and can enhance your product development process. We want to answer all your "What do I need to get started?" questions.

This information isn't linear — feel free to scan through and jump to the different areas that are most interesting to you.

#### The right tool at the right time



This guide contains information about a self-hosted release of Jama Connect. If you're a system administrator new to Jama Software you can skip straight to the system administrator section [489].

# **Get started**

To start using Jama Connect, you need your user account credentials.

- Trial account Sign up for a free trial at https://www.jamasoftware.com/platform/jama-connect/trial/
- New user account Your administrator has your account username and password

As a new user of Jama Connect, this is the place to start: log in and get familiar with the different areas of the workspace.

#### To log in to Jama Connect:

- 1. In a supported web browser, enter the URL provided by your administrator.
- Type your username and password, then click Log in.
   Header Includes the main sections (Stream, Projects, Reviews, Risk, Admin) of the Jama Connect interface.

**Home** — Shows links to your most relevant content like bookmarks, recent views, open views, stream comments, and actions.

lome		
Search all items	Active reviews You have 1 active review	
Bookmarks	Adaptor Test Project	APPROVER
Quick Loans: Keen-Eye Audit Application	2 daysten Progress	0%
Waterproof test	Niew all	l reviews →
Quick Loans: Loan Software Application		
T Quick Loans: Background		
Quick Loans: Goals and Objectives	Stream activity	
Load more	( 💬 )	
ecently viewed	$\sim$	
Clear 3 Hearing Aid	There is no stream	activity
Clear 3 Hearing Aid: Validation Protocols	Start a conversation	on →
Quick Loans: Audit Business Requirements	D	
Quick Loans: Keen-Eye Audit Application		
🔓 Quick Loans: Loan Software Business Requirements	You have been men the stream View	tioned in

#### **Quick tips**

- You're allowed 10 login attempts within five minutes before you're locked out for 30 minutes. To unlock your account before then, follow the forgotten password procedure.
- To manage your account, select your name in the top right navigation to open the My Profile window.
- To log out of the application, click **Log Out** in the top right corner. If you don't log out, the system logs you out after two hours.
- Bookmark projects, containers, sets, and folders so they appear under **Bookmarks** and **Recently viewed** sections. Having it appear in both places allows you to keep track of recently viewed items even if you remove the bookmark.

# **Exploring the Jama Connect workspace**

The Jama Connect workspace is where you set up and manage your projects, create test plans, communicate with your team, track relationships, and more.

You can also view these short videos to learn the Jama Connect basics: how to navigate the system, add and edit information, build in traceability, send information for review, and collaborate with your project team.

The workspace is divided into five panes that you can expand, collapse, and resize.



- 1. **Explore and manage projects** Select the tabs at the top of the left panel to expand these views: Explorer, Filters, Releases, Baselines, and Test Plans.
- 2. **View item details** View the details for specific items. Content from Components, Sets, Folders, Filters, and individual items are displayed in this pane.
- 3. **Create trace relationships** Add relationships between items for traceability or add items to a change request. Open this section from the Relationships tab and close it when it's not needed.
- 4. **Manage item information** Manage information associated with comments, relationships, attachments, versions, and activities.
- 5. Use keywords to navigate the workspace Navigate to items grouped by keywords.

Jama Connect is highly configurable, so you can customize the workflow to work best for you. For example, focus on creating requirements from the Explorer Tree, view details about a test case, or explore relationships. Depending on the task or goal, you might interact with one area or all areas of the workspace.

## Navigation

These links can help you find your way around Jama Connect:

- Explorer Tree [50]
- Toolbar [51]
- Side toolbar [60]

# Views

You can choose how you view your selected items in the center panel. Each view is suited to a different type of work.

- Single Item View [59] Displays the information about one item in the center panel.
- List View [54] Shows data from multiple items in a table with a different field in each column so you can sort, select, and compare items at a glance.
- Reading View [55] Shows both text and images for a group of items so you can read through selected items like a document.
- Document View [55] Provides a streamlined authoring and editing experience. Like other authoring tools, you can create, edit, and read items all in one view — no need to switch views for each function.
- Trace View [58] Shows related upstream and downstream items, missing relationships, and item details in context of their relationship.
- Compare View [61] Shows side-by-side content so you can compare differences between item versions.

# Project approach and tree structure

Jama Connect is made up of projects and uses a tree approach, which allows users to easily organize content and view the content of each project.

#### What is a project?

Think of a project as a virtual container or "workspace" of information. Each project relates to a product you are creating or a software application you are developing.

## Why have a project?

Projects allow you to organize content and apply permission schemas. For example, a user might be able to create and edit requirements in Project A, but you might not want them to see content in Project B.

Projects are created by the Jama Connect admins at your organization, who also control corresponding permissions for each project.

At a high level, each Jama Connect environment can contain multiple projects. Typically, a single project in Jama Connect relates to a single product or a single version of a system that you are building.

#### Monitoring your project

Within a Jama Connect project, you can track releases/phases, baselines, test plans, and results. As a project or organization admin, you can also create a project dashboard [410] to track the data your team wants to monitor for quality and progress. For more information, see Working with dashboards [408].



#### How do I access my project?

To open a single project, select **Projects** in the header. If you're already in a project, click **Change project**.



#### Advantages of projects and tree structure

Jama Connect projects and the Explorer Tree are highly configurable, which allows your organization to adapt the solution to fit your own unique hierarchy and development process.

We also have several templates to get your team started. This allows your organization to:

- · Standardize methodology across different teams
- · Decrease context switching when working across multiple projects
- · Enable reuse of shared requirements

#### Organizing your content

Each project has its own Explorer Tree, which displays project items in a hierarchical structure. Think of the tree like your filing cabinet.

Within the Explorer Tree you have access to several tools to organize your content:

- **Component** A structural container used to organize a project into more manageable pieces. For example, if your project represented an automobile, typical components in your Jama Connect project might be: "Vehicle Airbag System" or "Emergency Braking System." Below these components in the Explorer Tree are all requirements and test sets that make up the subsystems for a car.
- Set A container that defines groups of items of a single item type. Sets can exist at the top of a project tree or nested under the components.
   For example, in our "Emergency Braking System" component we might have a set of "System Requirements" and a separate set of "Verification Tests." Typically, requirements documents (Product Requirements, Functional Requirement specifications) translate in Jama Connect as a set.
- Folder A way to organize items within a set.
- Items The granular types of content in Jama Connect.
   For example, a single requirement is an item. A single test case is an item. You can configure multiple item types in Jama Connect.

#### Learn more about projects and Explorer Tree

- Projects at a high level [634]
- Configure Explorer Tree settings [47]

# Item-based product development

Jama Connect is a product development platform that is database driven.

Why do we use *items* instead of *documents*? Several reasons:

- Version control Track changes and feedback at an individual item level, whether the item is a requirement, a risk, a test, or even project documentation.
- **Data integrity** Quickly search, filter, and create dashboards to view progress based on item attributes. Documents don't allow for this functionality and often have data integrity issues.
- **Time savings** Save time by not having to manually maintain IDs and trace links in a document. In Jama Connect, traceability is a by-product of the way you work.
- **Review efficiency** Focus on smaller, more iterative item reviews. Users no longer have to wait for entire documents to be submitted before they can provide feedback. Get to market quicker!
- Auditing quality With a few clicks, identify items that are missing coverage throughout the product development process. *Coverage* is the extent to which items are validated by another item.

The shift from a document-based approach to item-based is key to the value of Jama Connect. Your team's methodology directly influences how you set up and configure your Jama Connect environment with different item types.

The following diagram illustrates how to shift from a document-based approach to an item-based approach using Jama Connect.

- · Identify the documents and content that need to live in Jama Connect.
- Determine the item types that exist in those documents. For example, item types might be system requirements, use cases, or test cases. Item types must have defined relationships in Jama Connect, which you can specify with a relationship rule.
- Configure a project structure, then build your content. You can import existing documentation or author directly in Jama Connect.

	Jama Connect Design & Configuration			
Artifacts Identify In-acope Content	Determine Item Types	Defne Relationships	Create Project Structure	Configure Output
[Doc]	Bern Type + Pick Lists + Fields Bern Type	E.	Project Template	-
[Doc]	Fields     Fields     Fields     Fields     Fields     Fields		+ Components +Sota +Folders	4

The following diagram is a typical relationship model in Jama Connect that adheres to a Systems Engineering Methodology (SEM). In it, a box represents a single item type and lines represent relationships.

1188				
	1.545		Subsystem Requirement	
Risk		Architecture		Design Description
	System Requirement			
2 User Needs		User Story	Verification	
1	Validation			- We Defect

Your team's development methodology comes into play here, for example classic vs. agile methodology. While some teams use only one method, many teams use a combination.

Each method might use different terms. For example:

<b>Classic Systems Engineering</b>	Agile Methodology
<ul> <li>System Requirement</li> <li>System Architecture</li> <li>High-Level Requirement</li> <li>Low-Level Requirement</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Strategic Themes</li> <li>Epics</li> <li>User Stories</li> </ul>

# **Traceability from Requirements to Test**

Traceability shows the relationship between items that depend upon and define each other. You can travel upstream or downstream to get more context and trace product definition from high-level requirements all the way through to final tests.

Relationships in Jama Connect are established between discrete items. For example, Stakeholder Requirement A is related to System Requirement X.

#### Benefits of establishing relationships

Why are relationships important in Jama Connect?

- Allocation Understand which systems and subsystems implement the requirements.
- Traceability Break down high-level requirements into more detailed specifications.

- Verification Improve implementation and quality by linking requirements to tests and their results.
- **Impact analysis** When requirements change, identify and understand the ripple effect to lowerlevel requirements and testing.

Relationship rules are applied to projects to drive compliance to your organization's model and methodology. Setting up relationship rules for your item types is critical because it enforces the methodology your organization wants to use in Jama Connect.

Jama Connect uses the terms "upstream" and "downstream" to describe relationship direction. When upstream items change, their downstream items are flagged as "suspect" so that you can review any impact the change might have.



#### How to establish a relationship

- 1. Navigate to a single item in your project such as a user need or a requirement.
- 2. Click Add related and select the item type you want to add.



Jama Connect opens a new window where you configure the item relationship.

#### 3. Click Save and Close.

The original item (Requirement) and the new item (Verification) are now linked with a trace relationship.

#### View and add relationships

- To view relationships, click the **Relationships** widget in right corner of the item.
- To add more relationships, click Relate Items.



To learn more about adding relationships, see Relationships [309]

#### What's next

Once you establish relationships, the **Trace View** in Jama Connect is a great way to view a live trace matrix [316]. You can also filter and extract views of your traceability.



# Tracking changes in your project

Throughout product development, being able to track changes is critical, along with details and context that led to the change, specific version differences, and stakeholders involved with and affected by the changes. Jama Connect gives you the ability to capture all of these details.

Jama Connect has two effective ways to track changes:

- **Versions** Capture changes at an item level. For example, a single requirement might have multiple versions as well as associated change comments.
- **Baselines** Capture a point-in-time snapshot of a group of items. Create a baseline to preserve a version of an entire Jama Connect project or set of approved items.

#### Version changes

A new version is created each time you make changes to an item. In the bottom panel of the interface, you can compare versions or make a past version current.

#### Changes to a single item

In the following screenshot, you can see how Jama Connect compares differences between multiple versions of an item. The example engineering requirement has two versions. In the bottom panel, you can also see who made the change, any change details, and any change comments. Get the complete context of change from just this one screen!



#### Version Compare view

This next screenshot shows the differences between two versions of a requirement. Individual field differences are shown and highlighted in red (removed content) and green (added content), making it easy to see what might have changed.

Version Compare		
66 3		"L Hide Datails
Later and the second second	Version #1	Version #2
Version Number	1	2
Version Comment	initial creation	"Description" changed
Version Date	11/13/2016	09/27/2020
Version By	Aaron Perillat	Admin Test
ID	QL-TXT-5	QL-TXT-5
Global ID	GID-49005	GID-49005
Name	Preconditions and Assumptions	Preconditions and Assumptions
Description	<ol> <li>The Loan Arranger application assumes that there already exist lenders from which FMCO may purchase loans, and that investors exist who are interested in buying bundles of loans.</li> <li>The Loan Arranger application uses a repository of information about loans from a variety of lenders. This repository may be emoty.</li> <li>Each lender provides, at regular intervals, reports listing the loans that it has made. Loans that have been purchased by FMCO will be indicated in the reports received from lenders. The process of negotiating and buying loans from lenders. The process of negotiating and buying loans from lenders is outside the scope of the Loan Arranger repository represents an investment to be bundled and sold with other loans.</li> <li>The Loan Arranger application may be used by up to four loan analysts simultaneously.</li> <li>Administrative procedures are executed first thing in the morning on the first business day of each month. Calculations made on the first day of the month apply to all loan bundles sold in that month.</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>The Loan Arranger application assumes that there already exist lenders from which FMCO may purchase loans, and that investors exist who are interested in buying bundles of loans.</li> <li>The Loan Arranger application uses a repository of information about loans from a variety of lenders. This repository may be is empty.</li> <li>Each lender provides, at regular intervals, reports listing the oans that if has madewere completed. Loans that have been purchased by FMCO will be indicated in the reports received from lenders. The process of negotiating and buying loans from lenders. The process of negotiating the barranger system.</li> <li>Each loan in the Loan Arranger repository represents an investment to be bundled and sold with other loans.</li> <li>The Loan Arranger application may be used by up to four loan analysts simultaneously.</li> <li>Administrative procedures are executed first thing in the morning on the first business day of each month. Calculations made on the first day of the month apply to all loan bundles sold in that month.</li> </ol>
		Close

## Changes to several items in a baseline

This screenshot shows a baseline in Jama Connect, which is a snapshot of several items.

Project - Change project 🔣	Lea	m more 👘 📇 Dashboard: S	Semiconductor Project	New Baseline Test	1		
Add - Show IDs OFF It	Indiv	dual Items BASE-316					Email
Search Q				1	19 X B+	Ŵ	
Individual Items			192 items				
<ul> <li>         ■ Individual Items         ■         ■ Test cycle: Test Cycle B         ■         ■         ■</li></ul>	9	Name	D	Created Date	Current version	Description	Version
Component: Project Management A     Sclubert Scluber		Product A	SI_S2_P-CMP-23	10/22/2021	2	123456	2
Block Requirement: Cycle time, SCL     Sch Sch Sch Sch Sch Sch Sch Sch Sch	-	Import Test	SI_S2_P-SET-143	11/02/2021	1		1
	19	Product Requirements	SI_S2_P-SET-32	10/22/2021	1		1
In the second seco	•	Processor	SI_S2_P-FLD-7	10/22/2021	1		1.
E Project: Semiconductor Project 2.0	Ð	Processor Core 1 ABD	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19	10/22/2021	11	The product sha	11

Jama Connect provides users with the ability to identify and assess these changes between different baselines from the baseline Document View compare feature, baseline Comparison Summary, and default reports.

# How reviews work

Ever feel like work is harder than it should be? Multiple revisions of a document get emailed around; conflicting or out-of-sequence feedback on shared documents; time-consuming and costly review meetings. Sound familiar?



# Work is harder than it should be.

Jama Connect alleviates these pain points with its review features.

- Everyone is automatically included in the latest revision.
- Reviewers can simultaneously log their feedback and approvals.
- All feedback is associated with a specific revision of the document.
- Easily filter and view only the items that need additional review or feedback.

Reviews are critical to improving requirements and test quality and in increasing the shared understanding among the teams that are engineering and implementing the requirements. Most item types in Jama Connect can be sent to a review.

#### Review roles: who does what?

- Moderator (Content owner) Starts the review and facilitates the discussion.
- Reviewer Contributes to the discussion.
- Approver Signs off and approves items in review.

#### Who can start a review?

Users with a Creator license and necessary permissions to author and edit in the project can start and moderate a review.

#### What's involved in a review?

Here's what a typical workflow looks like.

#### Jama Connect User Guide



Reviews can always be reopened to publish new revisions and review what has changed.

## **Best practices**

- Facilitate a review before a Requirement is moved to "Approved" or "Rejected" status.
- Focus on small, iterative reviews with fewer than 200 requirements per review. A large requirements document can be difficult to consume.
- It's OK to have lots of review revisions; approvers are always included in the latest revision.
- Offer guidance on the type of feedback you need.

#### Create a review

You can create a review for any group of items in a project. And you can start a review from several places in the Jama Connect interface.

Regardless of where you begin, the process is the same through an easy-to-follow wizard.



1. Select Reviews, then select Start a review.



The wizard opens to the Definition page.

2. Follow the prompts in the wizard to define your review. The pages of the review are:

Definition	Settings	Participants	Invitation

3. Click Initiate review.

#### Learn more about reviews

For details about how to create and use reviews, explore these topics in the User Guide:

- Review moderator [165]
- Compare versions [202]
- Filter or search the review workspace [195]
- Organize and find review comments [193]
- Review Education Resources from Community site
- Review Center FAQ from Community site

# **Exporting documents from Jama Connect**

While Jama Connect alleviates many pain points around managing documents, you might still need to create documents to share with your customers, quality teams, or auditors.

## The basics

With Jama Connect, you can easily create documents using our standard export to Word and Excel or by creating your own custom office templates.

You can export the items that appear in your Jama Connect view with these export options:

ace	view Export -
6	Export to Word
6	Export to Excel
1	Export to PDF
	View all export options

#### Beyond the basics with Office templates

If you need more than what the default Office templates provide, you can customize a template to suit your project. For details about how to create a custom Office template:

- Exports [344] (User Guide)
- Word Template Guide (Community)

#### Advanced reporting

If you require more control over the report output than Word templates provide, you can use an advanced reporting tool like BIRT or Velocity.

Here are some common scenarios for using an advanced reporting tool:

- Ordering of documents Word templates always arrange your included items in the same order that they appeared in Jama Connect when you generated the export. If you need like items to stay together or certain item types to always be displayed before other types, you need to use a custom export.
- Style formatting Although Word templates support basic text formatting like bullets and fonts, text size and color, they don't support page formatting options like section breaks or custom page numbering. BIRT and Velocity exports provide a broader level of control than Word.
- Multiple levels of relationships Default Word templates can export relationships one level upstream or one level downstream. BIRT and Velocity can follow relationships and tree structure through multiple levels.
- Conditional logic BIRT and Velocity both allow more control over when and where to display information. For example, an advanced reporting engine lets you display an item's status, but only if it were created more than 30 days ago and has an upstream relationship to a feature.

For more detailed information about advanced reporting:

Introduction to Advanced Reporting (Community)

There are inherent differences between the UI and export size. To align points and pixels (WIRIS font to be same size as font size), you must manually configure the size to account for approximately 33% of the difference.

#### Dashboards

You can configure your projects to show key metrics so you can quickly see what needs attention. Typically, dashboards are used to:

- Monitor progress For example, status of Requirements or Execution Results of a Test Cycle.
- Audit progress For example, show the count of items that are missing a critical data point or process step.

To access the dashboard, select the project name in the Explorer Tree.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🗇	
Project + Change project	~
Explorer V 🛄 🗖 📋	0
S Add 🖛	B (2) (2)
E A Semiconductor Project 2.0	
E Product.	
h Import Test	
E Product Requirements	
E Product Architecture	
Product Verification Specificat	tion
🗄 🛫 Product Validation Specification	n

As an administrator with organization or project permissions, you can customize dashboards per project (not per user).

#### Customizations include:

Filter results	Displays the results of an existing filter.
Assigned to me	Displays a list of items "assigned to" the current user.
Bar chart	Displays the results of an existing filter as a bar chart.
Recent activity	Displays a line graph of recent activity over a period of time.
Pie chart	Displays a pie chart for a filter and field that the user selects.
Activity stream	Displays the current activity stream of the project. View all current activity including comments, edits made, new items created, and assignment changes.
Project summary	Displays a summary of the entire project, including total number of items in the project, number of days until next release, and number of days until project completion.
Rich text	Displays user-defined text, images, diagrams, and equations.
Recently viewed	Displays the last 15 items viewed by the current user.
Relationship diagram	Displays the relationship rules applied to the project.

#### Exporting equations and alignment guidelines

Organization admins can save MathType and ChemType equations in PNG and SVG formats. For the best web, exporting, and print experience, use PNG format with quality 300 dpi.

When the equation format is changed, existing equations keep their current format until edited. Depending on the format, the exported image might produce different results. Here's what to expect when equations are exported and surrounded by text in PNG and SVG formats:

- **PNG format** Recommended for the best web and printing experience. The bottom of the primary equation line always aligns with the bottom of the surrounding text. The outermost fraction bar always aligns with the middle of the surrounding text line.
- SVG format Produces the most varied export results because SVG doesn't handle embedded fonts well, which can rearrange certain characters when exported to Word. There is no height information, so equations might have different alignment with surrounding text depending on the overall dimensions.

# Testing

Do you need to validate and verify your product? Or maybe you need to create a report that shows the connection between regulations, requirements, and tests?

Then look no further: use Jama Connect test capabilities to guide your teams through the testing process, so you can validate and verify your products and systems.

# Let's define our terms

Test cases	Items that contain the tests needed to validate or verify product features or systems. They contain the essential information about your tests, and can be organized by project, library, or ad hoc.
Test plans	Documents that describe the strategy and objective of the test.
Test groups	A collection of test plans that allows teams to organize test cases within a test plan.
Test runs	Item used to record results for a test case you ran against your product.
Test cycles	A series of test runs consisting of groups of test cases, that are ready for execution. In a test plan, you can add a test cycle to help manage and execute test runs.
Defects	Errors that are logged from test runs and traced to upstream test cases and requirements through the relationship configuration.

# What's involved in testing?

Here's a typical workflow:



1	Create test cases for your project	Create test cases that meet the needs of a particular project or multiple projects across your organization. Test cases describe the specific tests you plan to use and their steps. Relate test cases to the requirement you're testing.
2	Create a test plan to test requirements	Create a test plan that gives an overview of how you want to test requirements.
3	Organize test cases in groups	Associate the cases you want to use into that plan using groups to organize them.
4	Move groups into cycles	Get ready for testing, by moving those groups into cycles where you can see a list of all the tests you want to run.
5	Execute test runs and log defects	Execute the test runs and log defects as needed.
6	Get overall test case sta- tus	Status of resulting test runs roll up to calculate the overall test case status.
7	Generate report showing results	You can then generate a report showing results, such as the Test Plan Summary Report or the Test Plan Detail Report.

#### Learn more about testing

- Test cases [361]
- Test plans [371]
- Test groups [380]
- Test cycles [383]
- Test runs [390]
- Defect item type [613]

# All about baselines

A baseline in Jama Connect is a snapshot of your project at a point in time. The current version of each selected item — and their relationships — are forever associated with that baseline.

#### Why are baselines important?

A baseline captures the relationship between your selected project components, as well as their state. For example, Draft, Reviewed, and Approved.

A project in Jama Connect can have many baselines. You can use baselines as the basis for an export or as a reference for a historical milestone. By creating a baseline at each project milestone, you can view the status of your project at key points in the lifecycle. For example:

- At gate reviews
- Before a reorganization
- · Before an import of requirements

#### Where to create the baseline

• In the Jama Connect Project, navigate to the **Baselines** tab and click **Add > Baseline**.



• From the Explorer tree, right-click on a component, set, folder, or item, and select Add baseline.

Explorer	8	📰 🗖 🖹	
Add •			徽
E Semicono	ductor ct port T	r Project 2.0	
<ul> <li>Pri</li> <li>CA</li> <li>EX</li> <li>EX</li> <li>Change</li> <li>Project</li> <li>Project</li> <li>Project</li> </ul>		Open item Open in new tab Preview item Expand all Collapse all Change set key Edi: Digilicate item View synced items	
	0	Add	•
<sup>o</sup> Add tag 2022 Review		Convert to Reuse item(s) Move item Delete Import	4
		Add baseline	
	R.	Send for review	

#### Create a baseline

Are you ready to send an item for review? Or maybe you need to capture a snapshot of the current set of requirements. Perhaps your project has reached a milestone like testing or approval.

Create a baseline to secure a snapshot of one or several items in your project.

- 1. Select the **Baseline** tab from the left panel tabs of your project.
- 2. From the **Add** drop-down menu, select **Baseline**.
- 3. Select the criteria that you want to include in your baseline, using the three tabs in the pop-up window:
  - Item selection A copy of the project where you are working. Select your entire project, a single set, multiple sets, a single item, or multiples items.
  - **Releases** If you created a release, baseline one or multiple items.
  - Filters Baseline any advanced filters you created.
- 4. Click **Create**. The Add Baseline window appears with a pre-populated name.
- 5. (Optional) Rename the baseline or add a description.
- 6. Click Save.

Your baseline is now created and is highlighted under the source where you created it.

Project - Change project	~~
E 7 🛄 E Baseline	es 📋 🛇
Add - Show ID:	S ON ) 🕸 🌖
Test	0
E BSRC-7 Information: Test 1	
BASE-21 Review Inform	ation: Test 1 v1
E SRC-3 Project: Semicondi	uctor Project 2.0
BASE-7 Review Review	test A v1
BASE-9 Review Review	Test A v1
BASE-16 Review Review	w Test A v1
BASE-19 Review Test v	1
BASE-31 Review @men	tion feature test v1
BASE-45 Review test v1	Bio and a second
BASE-49 Review Review	w Test A v1
BASE-50 Review test v2	1
BASE-51 Review test v3	1
BASE-52 Review Review	w Test 3 v1

#### Organize your baseline tree: the basics

Working with baselines is dynamic and intuitive: reorganize, rename, and restructure your tree however you want. Let's create a folder or two, then we can arrange them.

Note: You must be a project admin or organization admin to do this.

- 1. From the Add drop-down menu, select Folder.
- 2. In the window that opens, type the name of the folder.
- 3. Click Save.

The new folder is saved at the top of your baseline tree.

#### Quick tips

- To add a folder to an existing folder, right-click on a folder and select Add Folder.
- To move a folder or a source, drag it to a location in your baseline tree.

#### Learn more about baselines

For detailed information about baselines, explore more topics in the User Guide:

- Baseline sources [277]
- Baseline organization [280]
- Baseline activity [291]
- Add electronic signatures to a baseline [260]

# **Reuse and synchronization**

Reuse in Jama Connect is much more than a copy/paste mechanism. It's a full suite of features that allows for complex capabilities like:

- · Maintaining a library of common requirements
- Branching a project to create a variant product
- · Comparing differences between a local version of a requirement and its source library version

Reuse and synchronization methods detect variance and highlight the impact of that variance across releases and projects. These methods are useful whether your product keeps the same requirements

as a previous version; if it integrates and improves on original requirements; or if you include custom requirements for each product.

To save time and effort for your teams:

- Reuse common product requirements across projects.
- Sync reused items to help determine and track variance across projects.

When you apply reuse and synchronization methods within your requirements management configuration infrastructure, you maximize your requirements resource management. You can modify and evolve existing work quickly while maintaining your requirements lineage.

#### Library approach



- A library project houses a collection of requirements maintained by a librarian or curator (permissions-based).
- The curator of a library can pull differences back into the library when needed.
- Project members can pull and push updates between the project and the library.

#### **Branching approach**



- Projects are branched by project duplication.
- Synchronization is enabled during project duplication and differences are monitored between containers and items.
- Jama Connect recommends creating a project baseline just after duplication. A baseline captures the state of the project at the time of duplication and is used for baseline comparisons.

# Administration

Administration in Jama Connect applies primarily to controlling the product development process and users' access to the data.

#### **Product development process**

There is no "one size fits all" process for developing products or applications. Each industry starts with a template modeled after best practices, but every company can tailor the process to fit its needs.

Here is an example process used to develop a medical device.

		*****		User Story	
🗰 Risk	/		Subsystem Requirement	Subsystem Verification	
S	system Requirement	<ul> <li>System Architecture</li> </ul>			
10				Design Description	1
User Need		Varification			

In this example:

- · Boxes indicate an artifact/document (generically defined as item types in Jama Connect).
- · Lines indicate relationships that enforce traceability between the items.
- Item types indicate items with configurable fields to record specific details about each requirement, including details like ID, Name, and Description, as well as values for capturing data (workflow status, validation method), similar to columns in a spreadsheet.

#### **User management**

A primary role for administration in any enterprise system is the assignment of licenses and managing access to data. Jama Connect includes several options for administrators to fine-tune read/write/review access to fit their company's needs.

#### Learn more about user management

- Licensing [583]
- Managing users [573]

#### Manage item types

By default, a trial user account is set up with permissions of an organization admin, which gives you access to the **ADMIN** module in the top-level navigation. If you don't see this, ask your administrator to update your permissions.



#### Edit an existing item type

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Item Types.
- 2. Find the item type you want and click Edit in that row.
- 3. Adjust the details that your project users are able to see when they work with items.
  - **Display, Display plural** The name used to identify the item type, for example, System Requirement.
  - **Type key**—The part of the ID that helps users quickly determine the item type of an item. For example, the default type key for System Requirement is **SREQ**, so when a user sees an item with the ID of QR-SREQ-34, they can know at-a-glance that the item is a System Requirement for that project.
  - Use as Specific functions or permissions for item types configured as a test case or defect.
  - **Image** An icon to help users quickly differentiate items.
  - Widgets A graphic that shows additional data for the item. The most common widgets are Versions, Links, Attachments, Relationships, Activities, and Tags.
- 4. Click Save.

## Add a field

Chances are that the fields available in your selected item type are just what you need for your process. But if you want to add details specific to your organization, you can do that too.

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Item types.
- 2. Select **Fields** from the row of the item type.
- 3. Click Add Field from the fields' header for the item type.
- 4. Click **Custom Fields**, then select the type of field you want to add.
- 5. Enter the name you want users to see in **Field Label**.
  - The **Unique Field Name** is pre-populated with a suggestion. This name is used for reporting or accessing from REST API [489].
- 6. Depending on the field type you select, additional options might be required. If prompted, configure them now.
- 7. Click Save.
- 8. (Optional) Use the arrow keys in the header to move the field into the order you want on the form.

## **Configure pick lists**

A common field to configure on an item type is a pick list. Pick lists can be reused, and the list you want, like **Priority**, might already exist. You can adjust the language or values to fit your needs.

If you need a new list, you can create it before you add the new field to an item type.

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Pick lists.
- 2. Find the pick list you want and click **Values** in that row.
- 3. Add a new value or edit an existing value:
  - New Click the + icon and enter the value.
  - Existing Select the row and click the pencil icon.
- 4. Click Save.
- 5. (Optional) Use the arrow keys in the header to move the field into the order you want on the form.

#### Managing relationship rules

Relationships are an important part of ensuring compliance and quality. Many industries base their processes around the V-Model and need relationships to enforce the traceability through the stages.

Creating the correct relationships can be challenging for users, so Jama Connect gives admins the ability to configure rules that help guide users in making the correct connections.

In the previous process example for a medical device, the item type **User Need** can have two downstream relationships, **System Requirement** and **Validation**.

Risk	- And
	System Requirement
User Needs	1

To configure these relationships, you use the **Relationships** option from the left panel.

Upstream		Downstream	Relationship Type	For Coverage
Architecture	+	Checklist	Related to	Yes
Automotive Cause	+	Automotive Subsystem Requirement	Satisfied By	Yes
📋 High Level Requirement	*	& Attachment	Derived from	Yes
Analysis Item	+	* Automotive Failure Mode	Assimilated by	Yes
g User Needs	+	System Requirement	Derived from	No
🖄 User Needs	+	Validation	Validated By	Yes

*Upstream* refers to the higher-level item type that is affected by the lower level (*downstream*) item, often through an activity like testing or decomposition.

#### Add a new relationship rule

Creating a relationship establishes a directional link between two items.

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Relationships.
- 2. Find the relationship ruleset you want.

- 3. Scroll to the bottom of the list of rules and select **Add relationship**.
- 4. Configure the relationships:
  - 1. Select the **Upstream Type**.
  - Select the Downstream Type. Relationship types describe why the relationship between the two items exists. View the pick list above the rulesets on the Relationships page.
  - 3. Click **Yes** or **No** to configure if the relationship is used for coverage.
  - If you select **For Coverage**, Jama Connect notifies users if this relationship doesn't exist.
  - 4. Click Save.

#### Managing workflow

Workflow is an important part of ensuring compliance and quality.

Workflow in Jama Connect is highly configurable. In general, workflow is set up on an item type with a pick list of available statuses. This process guides a user though specific steps, making sure that only users with correct permissions can make the workflow transitions (using the Transition Permissions features), then locks items from further updates when needed. For example, when an item is moved from **Draft** to **Approved**, it is locked so no changes can be made while it is in the **Approved** state.

#### Workflow transitions and versioning

Jama Connect captures item versions for any item field change. By default, this applies to an item's Status field. For example, when the item transitions from **Draft** to **Review**, *version one* of an item generates *version two*. However, you might want an item to transition between status values without generating a new version of the item. For example, to ensure that the item version marked **Approved** by review participants is the same version when the item Status field is transitioned to **Approved**. To accomplish this result, select **Do not version on status change** so the item doesn't generate a version when the status is transitioned.

#### Add a new transition to a workflow

The best way to understand workflows is to start with a workflow that's included in your collection of data.

K STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK	ADMIN	Acme Works test	Admin Test   Reports -   Help   Log Out
Organization Project «	Organization admin			Нар
Details	Workflow			
Categories				
Editor templates	Enable workflow for this organized	ation		
ltern types	Allow project managers to over	ide workflows on a project.		
P License				And / Falls
Lookup matrices		Workilmar Turne	Versioning Enabled	
O OSLC	User Story	Organization	Yes	Config   Dejete
I Permissions	Design Description	Organization	Yes	Config   Delete
E Pick lists	Block Requirement	Organization	No	Config   Delete
Plugins	G Change Request	Organization	Yes	Config   Delete
Relationships	Validation	Organization	Yes	Config   Delete
Reports	Product Requirement	Organization	Yes	Config   Delete
Review center				
Risk management				
C Stream				
* System health report				
User groups				
S Users				
Workflow				

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Workflow.

- 2. Find the item type you want and click **Config** in that row.
- 3. In the Workflow Configuration section, use the item type and picklist field options to set up and manage the transitions between status types.

The Current Status column shows all values for the selected picklist field; the New Status column is the option you want for the transition from that state. For example, a requirement that is a Draft can be Approved or Rejected.

organization admin							Help
Configure item	workflow						- <b>N-</b> 9,081
To start, select an	item type followed	by a picklist field.					
ITEM TYPE:*							
Delect		~					
PICKLIST FIELD:*							
Statusedited		~					
REVIEW TRANSITIO	INS:						
Enable a workfi	ow transition to be trig	gered by a Finalized	Approval review.				
VERSIONING:							
Version on status							
O not version on s	status change						
WORKFLOW TRANSI	TIONS:						
Current status		New status		Notifications	Lock?	Transition permissions	
fiem Created	3	New	-	None			
Unassigned	-	Assigned	~ 0	Nose	- 62	Evanione	
	Anne	"Assigned" edit		10.15			
New	-	Open	- 0	None	6	Everyone	
	Autor Mar.	"Open" edit					
Open	-	Assigned	- 0	None	F.	Everyone	
						Save settings	Cancel
							and the second se

- 4. Under Versioning, select an option:
  - Version on status Updates the version of the item when its status is transitioned. For example, if the item is version one, after you transition the status it becomes version 2.
  - **Do not version on status change** The item's version isn't updated when its status is transitioned. If the item is viewed in a baseline, the baseline displays the current status rather than the status at the time of the baseline.
- 5. (Optional) To add a transition state, click + and configure:
  - If users are notified of the change
  - If the item is locked when it transitions to the new state
  - Any restrictions on who can make the update
- 6. (Optional) Click to remove a transition state.
- 7. Click Save settings.

# **REST API and extensibility**

Jama Connect offers a powerful REST API that allows your team to integrate and extend the capabilities of Jama Connect.

Typical use cases include:

- · Integrating test results from automated test scripts
- · Extracting specific data for analysis in Business Intelligence tools
- · Automating manual batch tasks

You can see REST API swagger documentation at <your Jama URL>/api-docs/

# Jama REST API

This is the documentation for the Jama REST API. Visit our Developer portal for best practices (cookbook), policies, sunset/migrations status.

Jama Support - Website Send email to Jama Support

abstrac	titems	>
activitie	es a la companya de la	>
files		>
attachn	nents	>
baselin	es	>
comme	nts	>
filters		>
itemtyp	es	>
items		~
GET	/items Get all items in the project with the specified ID	-
POST	/items Create a new item	-
PATCH	/it Update the items with the specified ID as an asynchronous request (a successful response signifies that the work was started and a work identifier is given. This identifier will be used in a future feature)	1

Interested in learning how to work with the Jama Connect REST API? The following resources can help you get started.

- API Cookbook provides recipes for users and partners creating integrations using the Jama Connect REST API: https://dev.jamasoftware.com/cookbook/
- Jama Connect REST API documentation provides information about the specifics of our API: https://rest.jamasoftware.com/

## **REST API terms**

ID	Description
Project ID	Project IDs are unique to Jama Connect. Your administrator sets the default project and set keys.
	Example: <project key=""> - <set key=""> # <sbx-req-1 or="" sbx-1es1-3=""></sbx-req-1></set></project>
Global ID	Global IDs reference where a requirement or test was reused globally across Jama Connect projects. The Global ID isn't unique because several copies of an item might be connected that share the same Global ID.
	Example: GID-1234

ID	Description			
API ID	API IDs are the database identifier for an item and is used by developers when interacting with Jama Connect from the REST API.			
	In List View, you can locate the API ID as a column or in the browser URL for the item you're viewing.			
	Example: 21374			

# Where to find the API ID

Find **Project** API ID in the URL:

O Ahttps://pm1.jamad	cloud.com/perspective.req#	/items/43303297	projectId=36044	Ċ
Find <b>Filter</b> API ID, navigate to	o the filter in Jama Conne	ect, and look at	the URL:	
O A https://pm1.jamad	cloud.com/perspective.req	/filters/570653	projectId=36044	Ċ
Find Item API IDs:				
O 🙏 https://pm1.jamad	cloud.com/perspective.req	#/items/4330332	?? <mark>projectId=36044</mark>	C
Find API IDs in List View:				
≡ <b>NN B</b> ▼ ‡-	2 44 items			
C Restore defaults	All Selected (4)	×		
# of Attachments	# of Downstream			
# of Links	# of Upstream R			
API ID	Assigned to			
Categories	Conditions			
Connected Users	Created By			

# Jama Connect top tasks

Want to learn more about the Jama Connect tasks that are of highest interest to our users? Based on research and feedback, we created a table with links to these top areas. A *top task* is a frequently used feature.


Top task	Helpful links
Create detailed requirements	Add an item [69]
	Create new items
Trace requirements	Traceability from requirements to test [15]
	Jama Connect for modern requirements management
Extract information from documents into Jama Connect	Import items [99]
	Import from Microsoft Word [100]
	Import from Microsoft Excel [109]
	Import from IBM DOORS [126]
Audit for quality and completeness	Item-based product development [14]
	Export test cases to Microsoft Excel [364]
	Test [360]
	Advanced filters [142]
	Dashboard [412]
Collaborate with your colleagues	Collaborating with your team [228]
	Reviews in Jama Connect [162]
	Staying connected with the Stream [236]
	Electronic signatures [257]
	Roles for review workflow [162]

# Videos and top resources

These videos can help you get acquainted with Jama Connect and access additional information and resources.

• Get started with Jama Connect

- Jama Connect Basics
- Jama Community Top Resources

# Setting up your work environment

You can change the settings for your profile and workspace to suit your needs and your project work.

My Profile window			
My Profile	and the state of the		Add a photo
My Details My Subscriptions My Loc	ked Itams Review Center		<ul> <li>Add contact information</li> </ul>
Show "learn more" page at login	👼 Edit Avatar 👔 Change Pa	ssword 😹 Set API Credentials   📝 Edit Settings	<ul> <li>Change your password</li> </ul>
Usemame: Workspace	Dave		<ul> <li>Control subscriptions (email notifications)</li> <li>Manage settings for reviews</li> </ul>
Semiconductor Project 2.0	1	Project • (2 Advam	Customize the Explorer Tree
Project + Change project (C	Lasm more	SI_S2_P-P_REG-20.Phone.	View content
Explorer 7 🗖 🗖 🕼 🛇	B Product Product Requirements Processor 51,32, P.P.,RE	Ci-20 View all locked (kirrs (6) Sull	<ul> <li>Configure fields</li> </ul>
• Add •	Processor Speed V2-	V 8	0
Product Produc	Product Requirement - Modified 09/06/2022 06:50:2	7 pm	
Product Raspirements	* <i>0</i>	0 * B * c	
Processor Core 1	PROJECT ID:	Transition item from Draft.	
Processor Speed	51 S2_P-P_REQ-20		

# Managing your profile

Your profile window is where you change your password and user details, view locked items, and manage your review subscriptions.

To open the My Profile window, select your name in header.

Acme Works (Dave Wilson) | Reports - | Help | Log Out

Your profile window includes a row of tabs and a row of options and commands.



# **Options and commands**

Show "learn more" page at login	Edit Avatar	Change Password	Set API Credentials	Edit Settings
Select	То			

Show "learn more" page at login	Enable the resources page to be displayed when you log in.
Edit Avatar	Replace the photo that is displayed for your user account.
Change Password	Reset your password [40] (if not using SSO).
Set API Credentials	Create credentials for API [40].
Edit Settings	Change the details of your user account.

# **Reset your password**

You can change your password from the My Profile window or from the login screen.

An organization or system admin can also reset user passwords [583].



# NOTE

This feature is disabled if your organization uses LDAP or Crowd authentication.

#### To rest your password:

- 1. Select your name in the header to open the My Profile window.
- 2. Select Change Password at the top of the window.



- 3. Enter and confirm your new password. To display tips about required characters, hover over the center of the window.
- 4. Click **Close**.

# Set API credentials

To integrate applications and scripts through the Jama Connect REST API [489], you must first generate API credentials. We currently use OAuth 2.0 authentication to generate pairs of client IDs and secrets.

### Important considerations

- API credentials are only used for safe authentication. User access and privileges set by your Jama Connect admin are still enforced.
- For full instructions about using API credentials, see the developer notes on authentication.
- · You can maintain a maximum of 20 API credentials. Remove any you don't need.

### To set your API credentials:

1. Select your name in the header to open the My Profile window.

- 2. Select Set API Credentials at the top of the window.
- 3. Add a required name for this set of credentials with an optional description that helps you identify its use, such as Test Automation Integration.
- 4. Click Create API Credentials. Jama Connect generates a new Client ID and Client Secret pair.



- 5. Copy the Client ID and Client Secret into Jama Connect. The Client Secret is only visible after you click **Create API Credentials**. If you skip this step, you must recreate the Client Secret.
- 6. (Optional) Remove any credentials you don't need by clicking the **X** next to the name.
- 7. Click Close.

Your API credentials are now available for you to use.

# Configure email notifications and subscriptions

To stay up to date on changes, you can subscribe to email notifications [228]. First though, you must configure your profile to be able to receive these notifications.

If you have notifications that others subscribed you to, you can't unsubscribe, but you can mute them if your organization admin has enabled this functionality.

### To configure email notifications and subscriptions:

- 1. Select your name in the header to open the My Profile window.
- 2. Select My Subscriptions, then select the subscriptions you want to see:

- Me Subscriptions you created
- · Others Subscriptions created for you by others

Show Items Subscribed by	Me (1) Others (1)		Unsubscribe selected
Show Items Subscribed by	Me (1)	Others (1)	Aute selected

3. Define how often you want to receive notifications using the drop-down menu at the bottom of the window.

The system automatically checks for new notifications every 5 minutes.

- Immediate Receive an email as soon as the activity occurs.
- Daily Receive a batch of notifications in one email per day.
- Weekly Receive a batch of notifications in one email per week.
- Mute All Notifications Silence all item subscription emails.

My Dataile			I e a su a su a su	-			
ny Details	My Subscriptions	My Locked Items	System Locked Items	Review Center			
			Show Items Su	bacribed by	Me (3)	Others (0)	Unsubscribe selected
1	Project No	otifications				Subscribed By	Action
203	Semiconductor Project 2.0	Set SI_S2_P-SET-	26 INFORMATION			Admin Test	Unsubscribe
	Semiconductor Project 2.0	SI_S2_P-INFO-1 Te	ast Requirements for Article (in	ncluding child iter	ns)	Admin Test	Unaubscribe
	Semiconductor Project 2.0	SI_S2_P-INFO-3 Ite	em A (including child items)			Admin Test	Unsubscribe
Notify me	of comments and c	hanges: Immediat	e 🗸				
Notify me	of comments and c	hanges: Immediat Immediat Daily Weekly	e 🔽				Close



# NOTE

Muting notifications affects only email concerning your item subscriptions.

4. Click Close.

# Configure your review settings

To keep up to date with review comments, you can subscribe to notifications for that review [209]. First, though, you must configure your profile to be able to receive these notifications.

- 1. Select your name in the header to open the My Profile window.
- 2. Select the **Review Center** tab.

My Profile			1	8
My Details	My Subscriptions	My Locked Items	Review Center	
Email me u	pdates to items I've	subscribed to:		
Automatical	lly subscribe to item:	s I've commented or	n: 🔽	
Privacy policy	1			Close

- 3. Select the options you want for review settings:
  - · Email me updates to items I've subscribed to
  - Automatically subscribe to items I've commented on
- 4. Click **Close**.

### Using and managing locked items

As a user, you can view your locked items across all projects. You can also unlock any items that you previously locked.

Items that were locked are listed in your profile window under the tab My Locked Items.

The list includes the item name and the date the item was locked.

						the second s
						Show All Locked Items   👸 Unloc
i i	Lock	od On Locke	ed By N	ame		ID
e i	05/27	/2020 Admin	n Test L	oan analyst logs in to system in	User Mode	QL-TSTRN-19
+ 1	11/05	/2020 Admi	n Test D	isplay Business Information		QL-TSTRN-2
6 1	05/02	/2020 Admin	n Test. S	ignal sampling test		RDR-TSTRN-1
t i	10/26	/2020 Admi	n Test U	inderwater immersion		CL2-TSTRN-37
5 1	12/09	/2020 Admin	n Test C	Inline Banking		QL-OBJ-1
114	Page	1 of 1	Show	w. 20 ×		Displaying items 1 -



# TIP

If an item was locked by another user, you can see who locked it by viewing the item In List View or Single Item View. Hover over the item's **Edit** button.

The tab, **System Locked Items**, and the option, **Show All Locked Items**, are visible only to organization and project admins.

Organization admins and project admins can unlock items that were locked by any user. They can also view system-locked items and unlock them according to their permissions.

Action	Organization admin	Project admin
Unlock items locked by another user [554]	Х	Only in projects where they are admins
View and unlock system-locked items [555]	Across all projects	Only in projects where they are admins
Enable category management for locked items [216]	Х	



# NOTE

Organization and project admins can't use the batch update workflow to unlock system-locked items.

# View and unlock items across projects

You can view and unlock all the items you previously locked from your profile window.

- 1. Select your name in the header to open the **My Profile** window.
- 2. Select the **My Locked Items** tab to view a list of items you locked.

					Show All Locked Items
Ā	ê	Locked On	Locked By	Name	ID
x	1	05/27/2020	Admin Test	Loan analyst logs in to system in User Mode	QL-TSTRN-19
*	6	11/05/2020	Admin Test	Display Business Information	QL-TSTRN-2
4	1	05/02/2020	Admin Test	Signal sampling test	RDR-TSTRN-19
*	1	10/26/2020	Admin Test	Underwater immersion	CL2-TSTRN-37
ĥ		12/09/2020	Admin Test	Online Banking	QL-OBJ-1
R.	IP	age 1 of	1	Show: 20 v	Displaying items 1 - 6 of

3. Select the item you want to unlock, then click the **Unlock** icon in the top right corner of the window.



# NOTE

The option **Show All Locked Items** is only visible to organization admins. Users don't see this option.

4. (Optional) Configure which fields are visible: open the item in List View, click the gear icon, then select Locked, Last Locked By, and Last Locked.

	☆      ✓      2 of 16 selected
り Restore defaults	All Selected (19) X
ID	Item Path
Item Type	Last Activity Date
Last Locked	Last Locked By
Locked	Max
Min	Modified By

The new columns and results appear in the list of locked items on the My Locked Items tab.

# Lock or unlock items in List View

You can view and unlock items you previously locked by viewing them in List View. When you have multiple items to lock or unlock, you can use the batch edit option in List View.

- 1. In List View, select the items you want to unlock.
- 2. Click the **Batch edit** icon.

Project - Change project	Learn more 😤 😁 Processor	8 SI_S2_P-P_F	REQ-19:Proce	Review Set: Product Va	
Explorer 🖓 🥅 🗖 🗐 🛇	🗄 / Product / Product Requirem	ents SI_S2_P-FLD-7			Subscribe - Email
Add      Add      Add      Project 2.0     Product     Product     Product     Product	Processor			Batch edit	0 • V B•
Product Requirements      Processor		• • • 10 21	Di vo seletico		-4 - 13 G CV
E Packaging	E D	ê •	Relationship Status	Name	Description
⊞ 🛄 Electrical ⊞ 🧰 Interfaces	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19	<b>2</b>		Processor Core 1	The product shall use an ARM (
⊞ 🛄 Display ⊞ 🛄 Security	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-20	📋 🗩 1	<b>0 2</b>	Processor Speed	The processor shall operate at c
Product Architecture     Product Verification Specification	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-21	🚊 🗩 0	2 *	Coprocessors	The product shall provide a SIM

- 3. In the Batch edit window, enable Locked Status, then select an option:
  - · Unlock all items

elect fields to update	e:			
Assigned			P	
Release	SAMM Officia		*	
Status	Öyəli	~		
Food group	Select one	1.		
2 Locked Status	Unlock all iter Lock all items	ms s		
Remove Tags	A second		and the second second	
	SIT THES		Tage to be the midd	
			1.221	

- 4. Click **Next**, comment and notify users as needed, then click **Commit**.
- 5. (Optional) Configure which fields are visible: open the item in List View, click the gear icon, then select **Locked**, **Last Locked By**, and **Last Locked**.

		ted
S Restore defaults	All Selected (19)	×
ID	Item Path	
Item Type	Last Activity Date	
✓ Last Locked	✓ Last Locked By	
Locked	Max	
Min	Modified By	

The new columns and results appear in the list of locked items on the My Locked Items tab.

# Adding and deleting bookmarks

Bookmarks are handy links to content that you view frequently and are displayed at the top of your homepage. You can bookmark projects, components, folders, sets, filters, risk analyses, and Trace Views.

Bookmarks always appear at the top of the homepage and are sorted by the page most recently viewed.

### To add a bookmark, use one of these methods:

- Bookmark recently viewed content on the homepage When you view a folder, set, component, or project, it appears on your homepage in the Recently viewed list. Select the empty bookmark icon for the content you want to bookmark. The bookmark icon changes to a solid icon and the content appears under the Bookmarks and **Recently viewed** sections.
- **Bookmark Trace Views** When viewing a Trace View that you want to bookmark, you first save the Trace View [303], then select the bookmark icon at the top of the page. Trace View is now bookmarked on your homepage.
- Use your browser's bookmarks or favorites feature Follow the conventions of your browser to bookmark any view in Jama Connect.

### To remove a bookmark:

• On the homepage, select the solid bookmark icon in the bookmarks list. The content you remove appears at the top of the section.

### Customizing your workspace

You can change the look and behavior of your workspace to suit how you work.

# **Explorer Tree**

Customize the Explorer Tree to display the information that's most useful to you.

# Fields

Configure which fields are visible in List View, Trace View, and Projects Reading View.

# **Customize the Explorer Tree**

The Explorer Tree organizes the sets, components, folders and items in your project hierarchy. You can configure the Explorer Tree settings so that it displays only information that's useful to you.

1. Select the gear icon at the top of the Explorer Tree to open the Explorer Settings window.



2. In the **My settings** tab, select the changes you want:

xplorer Settings		
My settings Default settings		
O Use my own settings	O Use default settings	
Show item IDs:		
Display Global ID:		
Show only folders / hide items:		
Show outline numbering:		
Show Relationships In Tree:		
Relationship Filter Show these types:		
(_) Block Requirements	Change Requests	V
Components	() Undastiee)	
C Gehinz	Design Designions	
	Apply	Close

- Use my own settings Overrides the default Explorer Tree settings with your personal settings.
- Use default settings Returns the Explorer Tree to the default settings. An organization or project admin can configure default Explorer Tree settings [647].
- Show item IDs Displays the unique ID [648] (as in PROJ-REQ-25) before each item.

- **Display global ID** Displays the global ID (as in GID-8845) before each item. This can be helpful if the item is copied and synchronized.
- Show only folders / hide items Hides items from view in the Explorer Tree. Components, set, and folders are still displayed. This can improve performance when your project has a large number of items.
- Show outline numbering Displays a number scheme of order and depth in the Explorer Tree. Root level items have numbers like 1, 2, or 3. Child items contain the parent item number as well as its own number, like 1.1, 1.2, or 1.1.5.
- Show relationships in Explorer Tree Displays downstream relationships of items in the Explorer Tree. Select the green downstream arrow to open the related items in List View.
  - E Clear 3 Hearing Aid
    - H 2 GID-58401 User Needs and Market Requirements
    - E CID-8911 Validation Protocols
    - GID-8905 System Requirements
      - E GID-60002 System Architecture
        - E GID-60003 Implant
          - Downstream Subsystem Requirements
            - E GID-13601 Diameter
              - E Lownstream Design Descriptions
              - E Lownstream Verifications
            - 1 GID-13602 Implant Stability Quotient (ISQ) Range
            - 1 GID-13603 Interface Requirements



# **IMPORTANT**

Be careful not to relate an item back to itself, which can create an infinite loop that causes the Explorer Tree to expand.

- 3. Click Apply.
- 4. When you're satisfied with changes, click **Close**.

# **Configure fields**

Choose which fields are visible for each item as it appears in Projects Reading View, List View, or Trace View.

### Important considerations

 You can configure your Compare View for synchronized items [340] or your List View for baselines [291].

### To configure fields:

1. Click the gear icon (show/hide fields) in the toolbar [51].

E M & Y II	• 🗢 2 of 16 selected
C Restore defaults	All Selected (20) 🗙
✓ # of Attachments	✓ # of Comments
✓ # of Downstream	✓ # of Links
# of Upstream R	API ID
Assigned to	✓ Categories
✓ Conditions	Connected Users

In Trace View you can configure fields for each level independently.

🕂 . 🛎 🦿 Trace: Team Memb	ers 👘 🔭 Trace: Excel Import Test	龄 SI_S2_P-	PS-14:32 Bit R	STrace:	32 Bit RISC Proce	Export
32 Bit RISC Processor	· •				Save	B.
C 0 items selected						
SOURCE ITEMS	T Filter iteme 💠 Set columns	1 LEVEL D	IOWN T	litor Itema 🄇	Set columns	6
	All Selected (6) X		Product Re	quirement (8)	)	1
1			Pressel (1)	44.000	Beschpten	
✓ # of Attachments	# of Comments	0	O Add Cov	erage for SI_S	2_P-PS-14	
# of Downstream	# of Links		SI_S2_P	Processor	The prod	
# of Upstream R	API ID		SI_S2_P	Processor	The proc	
Characterization	Connected Users		SI_S2_P	Coproces	The prod	
onditastorization			SI_S2_P	L1 Instruc	The prod	
Created By	Created Date		SI_S2_P	Data Cache	The prod	
	and a co		SI_S2_P	L1 Cache	Both L1 c	
			SI S2 P	L2 Cache	The prod	

2. In the drop-down list, select the fields you want to see.



# NOTE

Reading View remembers user selections for a particular location, so they appear across sessions.

3. Click Close.

The list that is displayed shows your changes.

# Introducing the Jama Connect interface

The Jama Connect interface is where you work with and manage your projects. It is made up of several distinct areas, each with its own purpose.

The information in Get started [10] introduces you to the interface. This chapter takes a more detailed look with descriptions of toolbars and panes in the interface. It also includes instructions for customizing the Explorer Tree and configuring how you view your projects.

# **Explorer Tree**

The Explorer Tree organizes the sets, components, folders, and items in your project hierarchy. You can configure the Explorer Tree settings so that it displays only information that's useful to you.

# How it works

You can drag and drop items between the Explorer Tree and List View [54] to move items [83] and organize your project. You can also configure settings [47] so that the Explorer Tree displays information that's most useful to you.



Jama Connect arranges content by component, set, and folder. Select one to view its content.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖻	Search Project - PAdvanced search	ch
Project +   Change project 🔣	Learn more Dashboard: Semiconductor Project × 🔚 SI_S2_P-P_REQ-20:Proce 🖗	
Explorer     Ad      Common Add     Common Add	<ul> <li>A Product Product Requirements / Processor / SI_S2_P.P_REQ-20</li> <li>View all locked items (0) Subscribe ▼</li> <li>Processor Speed V2 ▼</li> <li>Product Requirement ▼ Modified 09/06/2022 06:50:27 pm</li> </ul>	Email
Product Requirements	PROJECT ID:     Transition Item from Draft *	0
Processor Speed Correprocessor 2 L1 Instruction Cache Data Cache L1 Cache Error Detection L2 Cache Test a Test A c	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-20 GLOBAL ID: GID-55885 NAME: Processor Speed DESCRIPTION:	
Add tag Coud S List 2 2022(2) Alert(1) Review(2) Test(1)	The processor shall operate at up to 1GHz. SYMBOL: MIN: TYP:	*8 20 W

For more information about how to use the Explorer Tree:

- Find an item in the Explorer Tree [152]
- Filter the Explorer Tree [147]
- Move items in the Explorer Tree [83]

# Quick tips

- When working with a large number of items more than 250 items per folder work with them in List View instead of the Explorer Tree.
- To move multiple items, you can multi-select in the List View and drag them to their new location in the Explorer Tree.

### Tools for viewing and controlling content

With Jama Connect, you can look at and control your content according to the type of work you need to do.

- Toolbar [51] Provides different methods to control and view your content.
- List View [54] Shows data from multiple items in a table with a different field in each column.
- Reading View [55] Shows text and images for a group of items so you can read through selected items like a document.
- Document View [55] Provides the ability to create, edit, and read items all in one view.
- Trace View [58] Shows related upstream and downstream items, missing relationships, and item details in context of their relationship.

You can also customize fields [48] that control how you view your projects.

### Toolbar

The toolbar is located in the center of the workspace. The tools allow you ways to control and view your content.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🗇			Search.	Projec	t 👻 🔎 Advanced search
Project -   Change project	Learn more · C Processor	SI_S2_P-P	_REQ-19:Proce	Review Set: Product Va	Product Requirements
Explorer     Add     Constructor Project 2.0     Product     product     Product     Product     Product Requirements	Product SI_S2_P-SET-32 Product Requirement Set · View details T I ·	ents o- a	2 of 44 selected	• 7	Subscribe + Email
Processor     Packaging	E ID	8 .	Relationship Status	Name	Description
Electrical     Electrical     Interfaces	SI_S2_P-FLD-7	Ø		Processor	2 1
<ul> <li></li></ul>	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19	2		Processor Core 1	The product shall use an ARM (
Product Architecture      Product Verification Specification	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-20	🖻 🗭 1	🔶 🖬 🖉 👱	Processor Speed	The processor shall operate at t

Toolbar options vary slightly depending on your location in the application.

Select	То
View details	See the details of a component, set, folder, or a project overview.
Quick Loans	
List View	Show data from multiple items in a table with a different field in each column.
=	You can sort, select, and compare items at a glance.
_	For more information, see List View [54].
Reading View	Show text and images for a group of items, which allows you to read through selected items like a document.
88	For more information, see Reading View [55].
Document View	Create, edit, and read items all in one view — no need to switch views for each function.
	For more information, see Document View [55].
Filter items	Open the filter panel and filter the items you want to see.
Processor	A filter limits the group of items or comments by content, like author, keyword, date, or coverage.
Folder	
Row height	In List View, manually adjust the height of the rows.
Row height T≣ ▼ ♥ ♥ ♥ 7 items I≣ Condensed I≣ Medium I≣ Extended	If you select <b>Extended</b> , rows are formatted to wrap text.
Gear icon (show/hide	Configure which fields appear for each item in Reading View, List View, or Trace View.
neius)	For more information, see Configure fields [48].
Tolder - View details Show Think Tolder	
"D Rustore defaulte All Selected (20)	
🗸 # of Attachments 🗸 # of Communit	
Refresh	Refresh the list of results and recent changes from other users.
0	

Select	То
Add Add E Intert.naw	Add items, folders, sets, and components.
Add Stakeholder Requirement          Add Text         Add Folder         Quick add         Add related	
Trace View	Show related upstream and downstream items, missing relationships, and item details in context of their relationship.
Trace view	For more information, see Trace View [58].
Export ace view Export - Export to Word Export to Excel Export to PDF View all export options	Export your data to Word, Excel, PDF, or use one of the Office Templates.
Batch edit	Update picklist fields and tags for multiple items at a time.
Reuse	Reuse [322] when your projects contain items that are the same or similar.
Convert to	Change an existing item or items from one type to another.
Batch transition Batch transition	Select multiple items of the same item type and transition them to a different workflow status.
Send for review	Send specific items for review. Note: The maximum number of items you can Send for review is 500.
× - 5 0	
Relate to existing	Relate two existing items of the same item type.

# **List View**

In List View, you can configure which fields appear as table columns. The table is dynamic — you can sort, select, drag and drop, and reorder columns.

### Important considerations

- To reorganize columns, select the column header and drag it to the new location.
- To choose which fields you see in the table, you can configure fields.
- Use the interactive links (breadcrumb navigation) to find your way around and view the location of your project hierarchy.

MSB2-SET-1

# **Product Requirements**

Set - View details

• To sort items, select the column header.

Project - Change project <	Learn	more ··· E Processor	E	SI_S2_P	P_REQ-19:Proce	Review Set: Product Va *	Product Requirements
Explorer     Add      Add      Semiconductor Project 2.0     Product     product     product Test	Prov	roduct SI_S2_P-SET-32 duct Requirem	ent		2 of 44 selected		Subscribe - Email
Product Requirements     Processor     Packaging	-	ID	â		Relationship Status	Name	Description
Electrical     Electrical     Electrical	V	SI_52_P-FLD-7	6	.0	1.00.00.00.00	Processor	and the second s
⊞ 🧰 Display ⊞ 🧰 Security	1	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19		<b>9</b> 2		Processor Core 1	The product shall use an ARM (
Product Architecture     Product Verification Specification		SI_S2_P-P_REQ-20	â		🔶 🖬 🔻 🗶	Processor Speed	The processor shall operate at u
Product Validation Specification     Product Validation Specification		SI_S2_P-P_REQ-21	۵		<b>17</b> 🐨 -	Coprocessors	The product shall provide a SIM
		SI_S2_P-P_REQ-53			* ±	Coreprocessor 2	QA
External Memory Interface		SI_S2_P-P_REQ-22	۵	۰ م	• = = e	L1 Instruction Cache	The product shall include 32KB
Add tag		SI_S2_P-P_REQ-23		٥	<b>0</b> = 7 =	Data Cache	The product shall provide 32KB
2022(2)	° E	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-24		. 0	• • • *	L1 Cache Error Detecti	Both L1 caches shall provide sir
		SI_S2_P-P_REQ-25		. 0	🔶 2 8 ±	L2 Cache	The product shall include 256KE
TCVICVV(Z) Test(1)		SI_S2_P-FLD-35			11111	Test	

ID <u>OL-BR-3</u>	View information about an item.
<ul> <li>Comp</li> <li>Comp</li> </ul>	Move [83] items in a project.
<b>∂</b> î	View locked items [43].
	View how many relationships an item has, as well as whether those relationships meet the project's relationship rules. For more information, see Relationship Status Indicator [308].
● ● 3	View and add comments [242].
±± 2_4	View and add connected users [256].
ad spins a d lacean. O 1 O 7 O 2 O 4	View related items (the relationship between two items). For more information, see Add a relationship from Single Item View [309].

# **Reading View**

Reading View shows text and images for a group of items so you can read through selected items like a document.

You can use Reading View in both Projects and Reviews. Click **Reading View** on the toolbar at the top of the center panel.



From Projects > Reading View you can:

- View images
- · Select individual or multiple items
- · Open items
- · View hierarchy with numbering
- Drag items to the Explorer Tree to reorder (as long as the item type allows it)
- · Add comments and view connected users
- Configure fields [48]
- View related items
- Export hierarchical content from an advanced filter [148]

# **Document View**

Document View provides a streamlined authoring and editing experience. Like other authoring tools, you can create, edit, and read items all in one view — no need to switch views for each function. Use the edit feature to quickly edit items without changing views or manually tracking your place in the document.

uct Requirements • View details	1			2	🔁 Add 👻 🐄 1	Trace view 📑 Ex
👔 🕅 😎 🕫 2 of 44 selected	Manage categories	/ Batch edit	📲 Reuse	≍ Convert to ▼	a Batch transition	Send for review
						_
21.3 Processor Speed						
SI_S2_P-P_REQ-21 · Version #	4 😔 Relationships	0=0				
STATUS						
Ready for Approval						
DESCRIPTION						
The processor shall operate at up to 1GHz.						
CREATED DATE						
10/22/2021						
CREATED BY						
Admin Test						
Show related items a						
+						
E Product Requirement						
Add sub Product Requirement		1.0				
T Text						

With Document View, you can:

- 1. Leverage all the functionality and toolbar actions of Reading View: filter items, configure items, Reuse, Batch Transition, Send for Review, Edit, and more.
- 2. Add or insert content from a single screen.
- 3. Double-click on an item to open **quick edit** mode, with the option to expand to **full edit** mode.

CRIPTI	ON:																							÷.1
ormai			Size	-	3	16			Source	55	в	I	U	s	<u>A</u> -	₪-	<u>I</u> ×	×e	×e	=	Ŧ	III	=	11
2= 0=	÷ 4	ŧE.	*	-	Q,	ê,	œ	88	28	-	Ω	0	•	v 1	¢									
lidate I	that	all ir	nstruc	tion	s are	32-	oit.																	

- 4. Select the item action menu (horizontal ellipsis icon) to expand the Widgets drop-down menu, then select **Relationships** to open the Relationships panel. From here, you can:
  - View existing relationships
  - · Add, update, and remove relationships
  - · Clear suspect links
  - Filter relationship settings

SI_S2	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-21 / Processor Speed						
Rela	ationsh roduct Re	ips quirement - V	/ersion 8				
0	C T @ Relate to existing / Edit						
UPST 0 iten	<b>REAM ITE</b> ns	MS:					
		O No	related items found				
DOW 1 of 3	NSTREAM selected	ITEMS:					
8	ID		Name				
	SI_S2_P	-CMP-33	Project Management A				
-	SI_52_P	-D_DESC-14	Architecture Diagram				
	SI_S2_P-ICBLKREQ-16 Setup time, SCL high before SDA low (for a rep						

- 5. Insert new items without losing your place in the document.
- 6. Add comments and lock items. Select an item's speech bubble icon to open the Comments panel, so you can view comments and items at the same time. From the Comments panel, you can:
  - Read and reply to existing comments
  - Add, like, mute, and filter comments
  - @mention a person or group

SI_SOL-PS	S-14 / 32 Bit RISC Processo	×
Comm 命 Stake	ents holder Requirement = Version 2	
S 10	omment	
s	Add a comment, @mention a person, group, pr.,	
R -	T - Filter comments	
SI_SO	L-PS-14 32 Bit RISC Processor * Description *	
s	Sample User Comment • a few seconds ago Can you test this feature by EOD?	
	Re: @SI_SOL-PS-14	
s	Add your reply	

# **Trace View**

Trace View shows related upstream and downstream items. It also shows item details in context of their relationship, as well as any missing coverage (downstream relationship).



- 1. Filter item types in Trace View [306].
- 2. Configure each level to display or hide fields [48].
- 3. Find any gaps in coverage.
- 4. Export the content [305].
- 5. Add related items directly from this view with the Add menu option in the toolbar.

6. Establish relationships between existing items.

You can also display fields for various item types. For example, you can display the Test Case Status for verification and verification testing. If a test case item is visible in Trace View, you can navigate downstream to see any test runs generated from the test cases.

# **Understanding the Trace View interface**

In the Source section, Trace View displays the items that were visible in the List View, Reading View, or Single Item View from the time the Trace View was initiated.



- 1. The source.
- 2. Direct downstream items.
- 3. Blue arrows = Travel upstream (left arrow) or downstream (right arrow).
- 4. Top of each level column = Number of item types on the entire level.



### NOTE

The item count is a unique count. If the same item is downstream of multiple items in the source column, it appears multiple times in the "1 level down" column, but it's counted only once.

# **Single Item View**

In Single Item View, you can view specific details about an item. For example, an item's ID, Name, Description, and Status. This view always shows all the fields the item type is configured to include by your admin.

You can also edit the item [72] and use widgets [676] to access different areas of Jama Connect.

A Product Product Requirements Processor SI_S2_P-P_REQ-20	View all locked items (0) Subscribe - Email
Processor Speed V2+ (5)	1) 🗾 🛪 🖻 🕯 🖷
Product Requirement Modified 09/06/2022 06:50:27 pm	
* 2	0 - 1 - 0 0 0
PROJECT ID: (2) Tr	ansition Item from Draft 🔹
SI_S2_P-P_REQ-20	9
	0
GID-55885	11
NAME:	
Processor Speed	0-
DESCRIPTION:	3
The processor shall operate at up to 1GHz.	A
SYMBOL:	11521
	2
MIN:	5

Here's a high-level overview of some of the features Single Item View offers:

- 1. Top right toolbar [51]
- 2. Projects workflow [230]
- 3. Side toolbar [60]
- 4. Global ID [320]
- 5. View previous versions of an item [266]
- 6. Breadcrumb navigation (formerly called "Find me") helps you find your way around and indicates the location in your project hierarchy.

# Side toolbar

The side toolbar appears on the right side in Single Item View. The widgets give you access to different features of Jama Connect. Widgets can be configured by an organization administrator configured by a configured by an organization administrator configured by an organization administrator configured by a configured by a

Select	То
Relationship Status Indi- cator	Open the bottom panel where you can see the required relationships for this item and whether the item follows the project's relationship rules. Suspect relationships [315] are also flagged.
Connected users	Open a window that displays the users directly associated with the item as well as indirectly associated with related or traced items. The number displayed is the number of connected users.

Select	То
Review comments	Open and close the bottom panel of review comments [193] related to this item. The number displayed is the total number of comments for this item.
Comments	Open and close the bottom panel of comments [242] related to this item. The number displayed is the total number of comments for this item.
Activities	Open and close the bottom panel display of activities [241] related to this item.
Versions	Open and close the bottom panel of item versions [263]. The number displayed is the total number of versions for this item.
Synchronized items	Open and close the bottom panel of synchronized items [154].
Child items	Open and close the bottom panel with a list view of child items [72]. Appears only if the selected items has child items.
Items to be changed	Open and close the bottom panel with a list of change requests [268] that might affect this item.

# **Compare View**

Compare View shows side-by-side content so you can compare differences between different item versions.

To open compare view, select the Version widget in the side toolbar.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🛛 🖯			Search		Project 👻	P Advanced	search
Project - Change project	Learn more	B Dashboard: Semiconduc	tor Project × 🔄 SI_S2_I	P-P_REQ-20:Proce			
Explorer 🖓 🥅 🗖 🖹 🛇	Product Prod	uct Requirements / Proces	sor / SI_S2_P-P_REQ-20	v	liew all locked iten	ns (0) Subscri	be - Email
Ad      Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad     Ad	Processor	Speed V2 -	9/06/2022 06:50:27 pm		0.	B • @	
E Processor	PROJECT ID:			Transition	Item from Dra	ft •	
Processor Speed Corporcessor 2 L 1 Instruction Cache Data Cache L 1 Cache Error Detection L 2 Cache Test a Test A c Package Option 2	SI_S2_P-P_F GLOBAL ID: GID-65885 NAME: Processor Sp DESCRIPTION The processo	REQ-20 need I: or shall operate at up to	o 1GHz.				
Add tag Cloud   = List							35
2022(2) Alert(1)	SYMBOL:						
Review(2) Test(1)						Compa	re 🔊 🛄 Hi
	From To Version	Baselines / Reviews	Change details	User comment and transitions	Created	Ву	
	0 0 2		"Conditions" changed		09/06/2022 06:50:27 pm	Admin Test	1

Compare View is used in these areas of Jama Connect:

- Compare versions of reviews [202]
- Compare synchronized items [336]
- Compare item versions [265]

# Learn more

You can access information about Jama Connect with these features.

• Select **Projects > Learn more** to see a list of resources about Jama Connect.



- You can see which version of Jama Connect you're using at the bottom of the page or from the login page if you're using the default authentication.
- Click Help in the top right corner to open the Jama Connect User Guide in a new tab.



· View a glossary [678] of Jama Connect terms in the User Guide.

# **Creating content**

Content in Jama Connect is structured using an *item-based approach* rather than a document-based approach. Items are the major building blocks for your content and Jama Connect includes several item types.

Item type: Containers						
	Components	<ul><li>Structural container</li><li>Organize projects into manageable pieces</li></ul>				
3	Sets	<ul> <li>Structural container</li> <li>Access rights can be configured</li> <li>Items of the same type can be grouped</li> <li>Contain folders, test items, child items</li> </ul>				
	Folders	<ul> <li>Structural container</li> <li>Organize items</li> <li>Manage hierarchy in the Explorer Tree</li> <li>Contain text items or items of the same type</li> </ul>				
Item type: Items						
	Item	<ul><li>Individual building block of a project</li><li>Comprised of customizable fields</li></ul>				

Organizations typically create items as requirements, features, use cases, test cases, defects, or other information types that define the scope of a project or product.

To create content in Jama Connect, you can import existing content from another platform, or you can author directly in the application.

A typical process for creating content might include these tasks:





# TIP

Before populating Jama Connect with your data, discuss with others in your organization which elements of the application you want to use and how you want to use them. Involving team members early in the process can help avoid rework later.

# Containers

*Containers* help organize your content in Jama Connect. Types of containers include components [65], sets [66], and folders [67].

Item type: Containers					
	Components	<ul><li>Structural container</li><li>Organize projects into manageable pieces</li></ul>			
3	Sets	<ul> <li>Structural container</li> <li>Access rights can be configured</li> <li>Items of the same type can be grouped</li> <li>Contain folders, test items, child items</li> </ul>			
	Folders	<ul> <li>Structural container</li> <li>Organize items</li> <li>Manage hierarchy in the Explorer Tree</li> <li>Contain text items or items of the same type</li> </ul>			



# NOTE

A source folder [277] is a specific type of folder that refers to baselines. It is the only container type that is not an item.

# Add a component

A component is a structural container item used to organize a project into more manageable pieces.

For example, you might define each piece of your product with a different component.

- Components can only be located or moved to the root of the Explorer Tree or inside another component.
- Components might contain sets of various item types, text items, and sub-components. Each component can have different access rights.



# NOTE

Text items can appear anywhere in this structure.

### To add a component:

- 1. Open the Add Item window using one of these methods:
  - Wherever you want to add a component or sub-component in the Explorer Tree, right-click on the project name.

Project - Change pro	oject	Learn mo	re 🔹 🚺 Go
Explorer 7 [	() () () () () () () () () () () () () (	Quick	Loans v
Quick Loans Quick Loans Corporate St Goals an Conline Reduc Streng Increa	<ul> <li>New item</li> <li>Import</li> <li>View synced items</li> <li>Send for review</li> <li>Collapse all</li> </ul>	T Text	ponent of  > bjective

 Select Add > Component at the top of the left panel in the project where you want to add the component.

Project - Change	project
Explorer 7	
🖸 Add 👻	@ <b>•</b>
Component	-
C Folder	
Set of	

- 2. In the Add Item window:
  - a. Write a name and description for the component.
  - b. (Optional) Select **Notify** to select users or groups you want to notify about the creation of this component.
  - c. (Optional) To add more components, select Add another.
  - d. (Optional) Use the Select Location window to choose where to put the new folder. This option appears only if you created a folder from the Add drop-down menu. Invalid locations are disabled.
- 3. Click Save and Close.

# Add a set

A *set* is a structural container item with configurable access rights, used to group items of the same type. It can also contain folders, text items, child text items, and child items of the same type.

A set contains items of the same type. You can move or copy between sets of the same item type.

Item types for a set are configured by an organization administrator [608].

#### To add a set:

- 1. Open the Add Item window using one of these methods:
  - Wherever you want to add a set in the Explorer Tree, right-click on the project name and select Add > New item > Set of..., then select the item type from the list.
  - From the top of the left panel, select Add > Set of..., then select the item type from the list.
- 2. In the Add Item window:
  - a. Edit the set key, name, and description of the set.
  - b. (Optional) Select **Notify** to select users or groups you want to notify about the creation of this set.
  - c. (Optional) Select Add Another, then select the location for the new set.
  - d. (Optional) Use the Select Location window to choose where to put the new set.

This option appears only if you created the set from the Add drop-down menu. Invalid locations are disabled.

3. Click Save and Close.

# Add a folder

A folder is a container item you can use to organize items and manage hierarchy in the Explorer Tree.

Folders are a structural item type that contain other items, not an array of different item types. Folders can contain only text items and the same item type as the folder itself. Folders can be located or moved inside a set of the same item type, or inside another folder. You can't place a folder inside a component of mixed item types.

An item can be moved between folders and sets of the same item type using drag and drop within the Explorer Tree or from List View. Folders can be dragged to other sets of the same item type or into other folders also in the same item type.

### To add a folder:

- 1. Open the Add Item window using one of these methods:
  - Wherever you want to add a folder in the Explorer Tree, right-click on the set name and select Add > New item > Folder.



• Select Add > Folder at the top of the left panel in the project where you want to add the folder.

Project - Change project	
Explorer 🖓 🧱	
O Add -	\$\$ <b>\$</b>
Component	Aid
Folder	equireme
Set of	*
Architecture	
W Defect	
C Design Description	

- 2. In the Add Item window:
  - a. Write a name and description for the folder.
  - b. (Optional) Select **Notify** to select users or groups you want to notify about the creation of this folder.
  - c. (Optional) To add more folders, select Add another.
  - d. (Optional) Use the Select Location window to choose where to put the new folder. This option appears only if you created a folder from the Add drop-down menu. Invalid locations are disabled.
- 3. Click Save and Close.

# Items

*Items* are the building blocks of Jama Connect. Projects are made up of items and items are made up of fields. Items can be containers [65] or documents.

Item type: Containers						
	Components	<ul><li>Structural container</li><li>Organize projects into manageable pieces</li></ul>				
3	Sets	<ul> <li>Structural container</li> <li>Access rights can be configured</li> <li>Items of the same type can be grouped</li> <li>Contain folders, test items, child items</li> </ul>				
	Folders	<ul> <li>Structural container</li> <li>Organize items</li> <li>Manage hierarchy in the Explorer Tree</li> <li>Contain text items or items of the same type</li> </ul>				
Item type: Items						
	Item	<ul><li>Individual building block of a project</li><li>Comprised of customizable fields</li></ul>				

All items have a global ID [320], a unique ID [648], and an item type that's determined by an organization administrator [608].

# Use text items to:

- **Manage context data** Create introductory paragraphs when the data isn't traced as part of the relationship model.
- Contain information Create figures or graphs to provide detail for data in adjacent items.
- Store content Save content that is required in exports, such as boilerplate text that must be included, but isn't part of the core project data.
- **Maintain change logs** For change logs you manually maintain, use text items as part of a document export.



# NOTE

Baselines, source folders, risks, risk analyses, reviews, and test groups aren't items, so they don't have an item type and a global or unique ID.

Several places in Jama Connect allow you to see a quick preview of an item without opening it in the center panel. For example, right-click on an item in the Explorer Tree and select **Preview item**.

# **Container items**



Select View details next to a container's title to:

- Display container's detailed information.
- Open container's attachments [89].
- · Edit the name or description of the container itself.



# TIP

To receive email notifications when a container changes, subscribe yourself [229] or others [229] to the container.

# Add an item

Even if you import data from another application or sync data from another tool, you can also add a new item to your project as needed.

You can an add an item to a project from several places in Jama Connect. The list of displayed items includes only item types that are valid for the selected location.

### Important considerations

- Before adding a new item, make sure your project includes an item set [66] for that item type, unless it is a text item.
- · You can't add items in filters or in lists of mixed item types.

#### To add an item to your project:

- 1. Open the Add item window using one of these methods.
  - Right-click the project name In the Explorer Tree (or wherever in that project you want to add an item), right-click the project name, select Add > New item, then select an item type from the list that appears.
  - Add drop-down list In the project where you want to add the item, select Add at the top of the left panel, then select the item type from the list that appears.

Project - Change project	
Explorer 🛛 🖓 🧱	
O Add -	505
Component	Aid
E Folder	ea
Set of	Þ.
Architecture	
🔆 Defect	
C Design Description	
Failure Mode	
🔆 Harm	
- Hazard	
🔆 Risk	

• **Toolbar** — From the toolbar above Single Item View, List View, or Reading View, select **Add**, then choose the item type from the list that appears.



In List View, if the list contains items of a single item type and no items are selected, you can add an item of the same type, a text item, or a set to the bottom of the list.

If an item is selected, use one of these options.

- **Insert new** to insert a new item below the selected item.
- Add Item Type as child to add an item as a child item of the selected item.
- Add related to add a related item to the selected item. If a relationship rule [157] was applied to that project, only item types that meet the rules are available for that selection.
- Quick add add items in a set of the same item type.
- 2. Select the location where you want to add the new item in the window that opens (invalid locations are disabled), then click **Select & Close**.
- 3. In the Add Item window:
  - a. Fill in the fields for the selected item type.
  - b. (Optional) Select Notify to add a notification comment and select users or groups to notify about the creation of this item.

Comments are included in the version notes for the item [263] and are displayed in the stream [241].



To add a version comment when you save the item, see Version Comments.

4. Select Save or Save and Close.

TIP

5. Select Commit.

# Quick-add an item

The Quick-add option lets you add multiple items at a time to a set of the same item type.

You can add up to 50 items at once.

#### Important considerations

- The Name field is required.
- The Description field is required or read-only based on how the item type is configured.
- To add required fields, edit the item after you create it.

#### To quick-add an item:

1. In your project, select **Add > Quick add**.

If you don't see the Quick add option, then the item you're adding doesn't match the item type in that set.

A Product Product Requireme	ents / SI_S2_	P-FLD-7				Subscribe - Email
Processor					0 -	₩ B
	¢-	C 2 of 16 sel	ected		Add Product Requirement	0 0
E ID	8 •	Relati	onship Status	Name	T Add Text	29 -
SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19		2 🐠	1 7 ±	Proces	Quick add	all use an ARM (
SI_S2_P-P_REQ-20	8	1 😔	- <u>*</u>	Proces	Add related	shall operate at ι
SI_S2_P-P_REQ-21	ă 🔎	0	T	Coproce	essors The product s	shall provide a SIM
SI_S2_P-P_REQ-53	ê 👂	0	* *	Corepro	cessor 2 QA	

- 2. Enter the required name for the item (255 characters maximum) and an optional description (500 characters maximum).
- 3. Click **Add Row** to include additional rows as needed, for a maximum of 50 rows (items). Include a name and optional description for each added item.

Use the tab key to move across the table.

Quick add items		×
Adding to Product Requirements		
✓ *Name	Description	
✓ Waterproof test	Phase I	
<ul> <li>Safety test</li> </ul>	QA	
Add row		

4. Click Save.

The new items appear in the Explorer Tree.

5. To add required fields to a new item, select the item to open and edit it.

# Add a child item

Create a child item when you need an item that falls hierarchically below a parent item of the same item type.

### Important considerations

- If a parent item includes a child item, the parent item can't be converted to a text item.
- A parent item can include a child item that is a text item.
- Relationships and attribute values of a parent item aren't inherited by child items.

#### To add a child item:

1. Right-click on an item and select Add > New item > Sub Component.



- 2. In the Add item window, fill in the fields for the selected item type.
- 3. (Optional) Select **Notify** to add a notification comment and select users or groups to notify about the creation of this item.

Comments are included in the version notes for the item and are displayed in the stream.

- 4. Select Save or Save and Close.
- 5. Select Commit.

# Edit an item

You can edit a saved item any time you need to add or change its information.
Single Item View automatically displays items in a read-only format.

### Important considerations

- You must have create/edit permissions to edit an item.
- A field must be enabled for read/write permissions.
- If a field is disabled for editing, it might have been configured to be read-only [595] by an organization admin, locked by another user, or locked through a workflow.

### To edit an item:

- 1. Select the field you want to edit, using one of these methods:
  - · Double-click on the field
  - · Hover over the field and select the pencil icon to make it editable.



• Select Edit from the toolbar.



- 2. Edit the item field, as needed.
- 3. When you're done editing, select an option:



- Save & done.
- To save and add another item of the same type, select the arrow on the middle button, then select **Save & add another**.
- To save and notify other Jama Connect users, select the arrow on the middle button, then select **Save & notify**.



TIP

To add a version comment when you save the item, see Version Comments.

4. Select Save Changes to complete the edit and create a new version of the item.

A confirmation message confirms that the item was successfully changed.

# Edit an item in List View

You can edit an item to make needed changes, for example to picklists, fields, and tags. In List View you can update multiple items of the same type. You can make changes in one item, then press **Enter** to move to the next row.



TIP

If you need to make the same changes across multiple items, use batch update [74].

### To edit an item in List View:

1. Double-click the field you want to edit in projects List View.

A Product Product Requirem	ents SI_S2_P-FLD-7					Email
Processor Folder + View details					0 - 5	B. •
	• • 2 16 items					
D	Name -	8	0	Relationship Status	Description	
SI_S2_P-P_REQ-21	Coprocessors			<b>3</b> 🛪 -	Click to edit	
Save Cancel O-53	Coreprocessor 2			* *	QA	

- 2. To undo any unsaved changes, press **Escape** or select **Cancel** below the selected item.
- 3. Select **Save** or press **Enter** to save the change and move to the next item in the list.

# **Batch-edit multiple items**

You can update picklists, fields, and tags for multiple items at one time.

#### Important considerations

- You can't batch-edit rich text fields. Instead, use a Jama Connect to Excel round trip [122].
- You can't batch-edit test runs using this method. Instead, use the Test runs window to batch edit test runs [404].

### To batch-edit multiple items:

- 1. Select items that you want to edit using one of these methods:
  - In List View, select the items that you want to edit, then select **Batch edit**.

Product	Product Requirements / SI_S	2_P-FLD-7							Sul	oscribe	• Email
Process	OF View details				Batch edit			Ð	•	4	B- •
<b>E</b> # 6	▼ ≣• \$•	2 3 of 10	6 selected		. / .	24	•	-5	0	Ø	
- 8	Name	0	8	Tags	and the second second	2	Rela	ation	ship Si	atus	Descript
V 🖻	Processor Core 1	9 3	â								The p
¥ 📰	Processor Speed	91							-		The p
	Processor Speed	<b>9</b> 1		2022, Review			÷	8	Ŧ		The p
v 📰	Coreprocessor 2	9 0							* 1		QA
	Processor Core 1	<b>D</b>		8					1.0		The p

• (Review moderator only) Select the items you want to edit in the item progress [206] tab of review statistics, then select **Batch edit**.

al 🛡 3 15 p	pending updates					© Ba	tch item actior
Participant progress	Item progress	Review activ	ity				
Average time spen	itions	seconds	Not reviewed	289	Raised issues	0	
V4 start date: 09/1 V4 end date: 12/25	3/2022 /2022 17:00 PST		S & &	an an an an an	1		2
		) - Block Requ	rements (50) - Product Re	quirements (36) - Sets (23	) - Folders (22)	- Datasheet (22) - Requests (5) - Tes	
results (289) Vie ormation (16) - Verifi stem Architecture (1)	ew: Test Runs (62 ications (16) - Val )	idations (10) -	Components (8) - Design	Descriptions (8) - Test Cyc	ies (0) - Changi	View	st Plans (4) -
results (289) Vie ormation (16) - Verifi stem Architecture (1) Name	aw: Test Runs (62 ications (16) - Val )	idations (10) - Tags	Components (8) - Design Description	Descriptions (8) – Test Cyc	ies (0) - Changi	View Batch e	st Plans (4) - vs - Actions - edit
results (289) Vie ormation (16) - Verifi stem Architecture (1) Name Core Supply Voltage	aw: Test Runs (62 ications (16) - Val )	idations (10) -	Components (8) - Design Description	Descriptions (8) – Test Cyc	ies (d) - Changi	View Batch r Batch t	st Plans (4) - vs - Actions - edit ransition workflo
results (289) Via ormation (16) - Verif. stem Architecture (1) Name Core Supply Voltage MPU Supply Voltage	aw: Test Runs (62 ications (16) - Val )	idations (10) - Tags	Components (8) - Design	Descriptions (8) - Test Cyc	ies (0) - Changi	Viev Batch t	st Plans (4) - vs - Actions - adit ransition workflo
results (289) Via     ormation (16) - Verif     stem Architecture (1)     Name     Core Supply Voltage     MPU Supply Voltage     RTC Supply Voltage	aw: Test Runs (62 ications (16) - Val	idations (10) - Tags	Components (8) - Design	Descriptions (8) - Test Cyc	res (o) - Changi	View Batch t	st Plans (4) - vs - Actions - adit ransition workflo

2. In the window, make your changes, then select Next.

Batch	edit					$\boxtimes$
Se	ect fields to edit:					
	Assigned	Q				
	Release	Select one ¥				
	Symbol					
	Derating					
	Location					
	Туре					
	Start Addr					
	End Addr					
	Package Code					
	Top Mark					
	Locked status	<ul> <li>Unlock all items</li> </ul>				
		O Lock all items				
	Pomovo tage					
	Kentove tags	All tags	Tags to be	removed		
				Back	Next	Cancel

3. (Optional) Select users or groups and send a notification.

Compared and well's		
Comment and notity		
Add yaunnoiffice0do comment.		
Groups Users	Selected users and groups	<u> </u>
p sam.		Clear all users and group:
Analysts Organization	Admin Test	
Company Organization	Creator2 Float	
Development	Development Organization	
Qrganization		
Organization Admin Organization	Company Organization	
Organization     Organization     Organization     Organization     Organization     Organization     Organization	Company Organization	

4. Select **Commit**.

# Add, edit, or delete links

You can add a link to an item using two methods.

• Associate a link with an item.

• Embed a link in a rich text field in an item.

If the Links widget was enabled by an organization administrator [611], you can store a link or URL in Jama Connect, then assign the link to individual items across projects.

#### Important considerations

URLs that are prefixed with "http://" are treated as unique links. URLs without the prefix are added to the end of the Jama Connect URL, which might be helpful if you placed files on the server and you want to link them without uploading them as attachments.

For example:

- http://www.creativecommons.org Opens a new browser window with the URL https://creativecommons.org/
- screenshots/login.html Opens a new browser window with the URL http://localhost:8080/contour/screenshots/login.html

#### To add, edit, or delete a link:

1. To add a link, in Single Item View, select Add link, then fill in the fields and select Save.

LINKS:		
www.jamasoftware.com	•••	圃

Add link...

2. To edit or delete a link, select Edit or Delete from the link's row.

### Locking an item

A lock makes an item read-only, so that it can't be edited or deleted. An item can be manually locked [77] or automatically locked [234] by the system.

### What can you do with a locked item?

- Reuse [322] and create relationships from a locked item.
- View and unlock locked items [43].
- Find out who locked an item.

### What can't you do with a locked item?

• Edit, delete, or synchronize locked items.

# Who can unlock a Jama Connect item?

An organization admin or project admin can unlock system-locked items [555], but only an organization admin can unlock items manually locked by another user [554].

Locked items	Who can unlock?
Manually locked by other users	Organization admin
Locked by system or workflow	<ul> <li>Project admin</li> <li>Organization admin</li> <li>Creator user with workflow transition permissions (only for projects the user administers)</li> </ul>

# Manually lock and unlock items from the toolbar

To prevent others from making changes while you're working on an item, you can manually lock that item.

When you configure List View to show locked items, a gold lock appears next to items that are manually locked.





# TIP

If you need to access an item locked by another user, contact that user or your organization administrator to unlock it.

#### To manually lock and unlock items:

1. To lock an item manually — In Single Item View, select Lock item from the toolbar.



2. **To unlock an item** — (Organization or project admins only) In Single Item View, select unlock item [43] from the toolbar.



# Converting items to another item type

In Jama Connect you can change an existing item or items from one type to another. When you convert an item to another type, these attributes remain intact: short name, description, relationships, versions, activities, comments, and tags.

To convert an item, folder, set, or component, you can use:

- Drag and drop [79]
- Context actions menu [80]

### Important considerations

- A field is converted only if its name or data type is identical in the current and new item types.
- A lookup field is converted only if it refers to the same pick list (and has has the same name and data type) in the current and new item types.
- Converting an item breaks the sync if you reused that item.
- If converting an item puts the item out of compliance with the relationship rules, the issue is reflected in the relationship diagram.

- When you convert a set, all items in that set are converted to a different item type.
- You can't "undo" an item conversion [82] but you can convert the item back to the original item type. Use the same procedure you used to convert items.

You can convert from	То	Notes
Component	set	Set within the original component convert to folders in the newly created set.
	text item	
Set	component	For components, the original set must be empty and at the top level of the hierar-
	set	спу.
	folder	The original set must be empty.
	text item	
Folder	item	
	folder	
Item	item	
	text item*	
	folder**	
Text item	component	
	set	
	item	

\* An item that include child items can't be converted to a text item.

\*\* A child item can't be converted to a folder unless the parent is converted first. When converting to a folder, items lose widget functionality and custom field values.

# Convert items using drag and drop

When you need to change the item type for all items in a set, use the drag and drop method.

### Important considerations

- Before converting items, read about how conversions work in Jama Connect [78].
- When you drag and drop a text item into a folder of your required type, the text item is moved to that location, but it isn't converted.
- You can't use bulk conversion for text items. You must convert them one at a time.
- When converting an item to a folder, select **Recursively convert all items with Children to Folders** in the Review Item Conversion window. Parent items at every level beneath the item being converted are converted to a folder.

#### To convert an item or set to another item type with drag and drop:

- 1. From List View or the Explorer Tree, select the items and drag them into the set where you want to move them.
- 2. Review the information in the Review Item Conversion window.

Item Type	S Set	Folder
		- I state
Set Key	TC:	*
Global ID	GID-56477	777
D	456787-SET-4	456787-FLD-???
Name	Test Cases	Test Cases
Description		

- 3. Click **Next** to view each page of the Review Item Conversion window.
- 4. If converting an item to a folder, select **Recursively convert all items with Children to Folders**. Parent items at every level beneath the item being converted are converted to a folder.



# NOTE

This option appears only when you select a folder to be converted.

5. Select Convert.

If the item can belong in its current location (such as a text item), it remains there. However, sets can't contain mixed item types, so the item might need to be moved.

- 6. If prompted to move an item, select the new location for that item, then click Select and Close.
- 7. To see changes, select **Versions** in the side toolbar [60] of Single Item View [59] to open the item's version tab.

						<u> </u>	Compare	P G H
From	То	Version	Baselines / Rovlews	Change details	User comment and transitions	Created	Ву	
0	0	2	Review Set: AutomationItems 001 77 v1 Basoline   Review	"Description" changed		01/28/2021 03:03:38 am	v2 test02	
	3	a -	Review Set: AutomationItems 001 v1 Baseline   Review	Imported from file AutomationItems (35).xls.		01/26/2021 09:33:20 pm	v10 test	Make Current

# **Convert items in List View or Explorer Tree**

You can use the drop-down menu in List View or the Explorer Tree to convert items or sets.

Before converting items, read about how conversions work in Jama Connect [78].

- 1. In List View or the Explorer Tree, select the items you want to convert, select **Convert to**, then select an item type from the list that appears.
  - List View Select the checkbox for the item or set.

Project - Change project <	Learn more ··· E Processor	* SI_S2_P-P_REQ-25	L2 Cache	e = Pre	oduct Requirements 👘 🖋 SI_S2_P-V	ER-2:MPU Supp ×
Explorer     Add      Product     Approximation     Product Requirements	Product / SI_S2_P-SET-32 Product Requirem Set - View details	ents	elected		Conver	Subscribe - Email
Product Architecture     Verification Specification	E ID	Name	a	•	Information	-
MPU Supply Voltage	SI_52_P-FLD-7	Processor	â	<b>9</b> 8	Stakeholder Requirement	1.4
RTC Supply Voltage     Core Supply Current     TTC Supply Current     DDR Supply Current     DDR Supply Current     Deep Steep Power Consumption	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19	Processor Core 1		2	Product Requirement	shall use an ARM (
	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-20	Processor Speed		. 1	🖌 Subsystem Verification	or shall operate at ι
	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-21	Coprocessors		• 0	System Architecture     Product Description	shall provide a SIM
Vertication	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-53	Coreprocessor 2		9 0	Product Rating	
E CAN	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-22	L1 Instruction Cache		<b>0</b>	Product Characteristic	shall include 32KB
Add tag	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-23	Data Cache		<b>9</b> 0	Pin Description	shall provide 32KB
2022(2)	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-24	L1 Cache Error Detecti		• 0	Register Block     Register Description	hes shall provide sir
Poviow(2)	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-25	L2 Cache		<b>9</b> 0	Package Specification	shall include 256KE
	SI_S2_P-FLD-35	Test	Ô	<b>9</b> 0	Vefect	27.31
	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-26	L2 Cache Error Detecti			Validation	e shall provide erro

• Explorer Tree — Right-click on an item or set.



The Review Item Conversion window highlights in white the fields that are copied into the new item type.

Review Item Conve	ersion		
This conversion v	vill cause 1 item to be out of compliance with the project's rel	ationship rules. These relationships can be fixed later.	
Please review of Warning: Conv	changes below. All fields marked with an 💢 on th verted items will "Break Sync" with any currently sy	ne right will be <b>deleted</b> ! /nchronized items.	
	QL-OBJ-4: Increase profits	QL-CR-???: Increase profits	
Item Type	Objective	Change Request	
Project ID	QL-OBJ-4	QL-CR-???	
Global ID	GID-49304	233	
Name	Increase profits	Increase profits	
Description			
Assigned	George Slampos	×	
Release		×	
Requestor	×		
Reason	× 10 1 - 1 -		
Status	x		
Jira ID	×		
Test Field	×		

- 2. Click **Next** to view each page of the Review Item Conversion window.
- If converting an item to a folder, select Recursively convert all items with Children to Folders. Parent items at every level beneath the item being converted are converted to a folder. This option appears only when you select a folder to be converted.
- 4. Select Convert.

If the item can belong in its current location (such as a text item), it remains there. However, sets can't contain mixed item types, so the item might need to be moved.

5. If prompted to move an item, select the new location for that item, then click **Select & Close**.



## NOTE

If you select multiple items in List View, you must also specify a location, even if it's the items' original location. Doing this ensures that the items end up in the correct place.

6. To see the changes, select **Versions** in the side toolbar [60] of Single Item View [59] to open the item's version tab.

From	То	Version	Baselines / Rovlews	Change details	User comment and transitions	Created	By	
0	0	2	Review Set: AutomationItems 001 77 v1 Basoline   Review	"Description" changed		01/28/2021 03:03:38 am	v2 test02	
	3	1	Review Set: AutomationItems 001 v1 Baseline   Review	Imported from file AutomationItems (35).xis.		01/26/2021 09:33:20 pm	v10 test	Make Curren

# Convert items back to original type

You can't undo an item conversion, but you can convert your items back to their original type. When changing back, the item receives new identifiers.

- Use the same procedure you used to convert your items to convert the same items back to the original type.
- Any fields that don't convert in the new conversion direction are lost. To determine if fields were lost, select **Versions** in the side toolbar of Single Item View to open the bottom panel and select **Compare**.
- Any fields that were lost must be manually replaced by an organization administrator [595].

# Moving items

Within a project, you can move items using the Explorer Tree [83] or List View [83]. Once items are moved, you can undo the move or find the items in the stream [153].

# Rules for moving items

Item type	Rule
Component	Can have child components and can be moved to the root of the Explorer Tree.
Set	Can be moved inside a component or to the root of the Explorer Tree. Sets can't have child sets.
Folder	Can be moved to a set that's the same item type as the set where the folder was created, or to another folder.
Item	Can have child items of the same item type and be moved to a set of the same item type or to a folder.
Text item	Can be moved anywhere in the Explorer Tree.
General	You must have write-access to both an item and its new location. When components, sets, or folders are moved, all items within them are also moved.

# Move items in Explorer Tree

Items must meet valid item location rules [83] before then can be moved.

#### You can also move items between projects [83].

Visual indicators tell you if a move is allowed or provides guidance for moving an item.

- Green indicator Moves that are allowed.
- Red indicator Moves that aren't allowed.
- Dotted blue line Guide for moving an item between other items.

### To move items in the Explorer Tree:

- 1. Select the item you want to move in the Explorer Tree.
- 2. Drag and drop the item to the new location.

# Move items in List View

Items must meet valid item location rules [83] before they can be moved.

# Quick tips

- If you select the tab at the top of the Explorer Tree and drag items from List View to the release, you can change the release on one item or multiple items.
- You can move items between projects [83].

### To move items in List View:

- 1. In List View, select the items you want to move.
- 2. Drag and drop the items to the chosen location.

# Move items between projects

You can move an item or set of items, along with all associated conversations, versions, and attachments to a different project. This is useful when a project has grown too large and performance has started to degrade.

### Important considerations — Review this list before you move items between projects

- A move can't be undone. Users can move items back to the original project but IDs are changed.
- You can only move components and sets between projects. If you're trying to move a folder of items or individual items from a component or set, you must first create a new component/set, then move those items to the new component/set.

- Document key IDs are changed when an item is moved. The new ID is based on rules set up in the destination project.
- When an item is moved, all associated stream collaboration, activities, and versions are moved to the new project. Attachments, tags, and releases are copied to the new project.
- If you delete the source project, images inserted in a rich text field that are copied in other projects are also deleted because they are referenced and aren't copied from the original project. To keep images intact in the duplicated project, we recommend archiving the source project.
- Original attachments, tags, and releases still exist in the source project, including links, images, and diagrams within rich text fields.
- Test runs can't be moved. Test cases can be moved without impacting test runs.
- Items contained in a review aren't shown in future versions of a review after they are moved.
- The document ID in old baselines reflect the new ID.
- If any moved item is associated with an integration sync, integrations such as the JIH can't be running while a move is being performed.
- Performance might be impacted at the time of the move if other resource-intensive processes are being done at the same time.



# TIP

If you delete the source project, images inserted in a rich text field that are copied in other projects are also deleted because they are referenced and aren't copied from the original project. To keep images intact in the duplicated project, we recommend archiving the source project.

### To move items between projects:

- 1. Make sure that:
  - You have write permissions in the source and destination project.
  - The items to be moved must be unlocked.
  - All other move operations are completed. You can't make two moves at the same time.
- 2. In the source project, right-click on the set or component of items you want to move, then select **Move item**.
- 3. In the Move items to... window, select the destination project and select **Move**.
- 4. Review details and select Confirm.

During the move you can go to the destination project by selecting **Go to project** or stay in the same project by selecting **Done**.

A pop-up window shows progress of the move. If any item fails to move, the entire move fails.

Once the move is complete, you can find recently moved items [153] from the Activity Stream.

# Duplicate an item

You might want to copy an item to use it as a template for a new project or a new requirement.

You can duplicate items in Jama Connect using these methods.

- **Duplicate items** Create a copy of the item's name, description, test steps (if applicable), and the ability to choose to include tags, attachments, and links. You can duplicate items that are locked.
- **Reuse items** Creates a copy of an item, but with more options. With this method you can reuse multiple items, reuse items with children, duplicate more of the item's content, or duplicate an item from another project. For more information, see Reuse items [323].



### NOTE

You must have read/write permissions to duplicate an item.

#### To duplicate an item:

- 1. Right-click on the item you want to copy and select **Duplicate item** from the menu.
- 2. In the Duplicate item window, indicate whether you want to duplicate tags, attachments, or links.
- 3. Press Enter or select Duplicate.



# NOTE

According to the item type, selected preferences are saved across sessions. However, clearing your browser data restores default options. When specific attributes (as in links) aren't enabled for an item type, the option doesn't appear in the pop-up window.

The item you duplicated opens in Single Item View of the duplicated item.

### Delete an item

When you delete items, they aren't physically deleted. They are marked as inactive and are no longer visible to users or reports. If needed, they can be re-activated through the database.

Anyone with read/write permissions for an item can delete it, unless an organization administrator has made the option unavailable [605].

#### Important considerations

- · You can delete an item only if it is unlocked.
- Deleted items show up in the activity stream. The activity entry is also the only method of restoring a deleted item [85] for those with delete permissions.
- In most cases, nothing is deleted from the Jama Connect database. Even if you delete another user, item, or something else in the system, a record is maintained and the deleted object is merely de-activated on the front end. However, you can permanently delete the selected project and everything under it from the database.

#### To delete an item:

- 1. To delete in Single Item View [59], choose an item and select Delete.
- 2. To delete in List View [54], Reading View [55], or Document View [55], choose one or more items and select **Delete**.
- 3. To delete in the Explorer Tree, right-click on an item and select **Delete**.

### Restore a deleted item

If you have permission to delete an item, you can also restore it. When you restore a deleted item, it retains all comments, versions, and relationships associated with the item.



# NOTE

You must have project admin permissions to restore items deleted by someone else.

#### To restore a deleted item:

- 1. Select the project name at the top of the left panel to open the dashboard, then open the Activity Stream widget [412] to view recent activities.
- 2. In the search field at the top of the Activity Stream widget, type **delete** to display all recently deleted items.

Activity stream		▲  \$  X
O D My settings	delete	× D 錄
Katie Maxwell deleted baseline BASE	E-51 Review Demo Clear3 System Requirements v2	
12/04/2013 Restore		
Baxter Flogeets Deleted item CL3-R	ISK-6 aewtbq	
Item deleted. 12/04/2013 Details   Restore		

3. Find the item you want to restore and select **Restore**.

If the set for the restored item was removed, a component with a temporary set is created. The item can then be moved to any set of the same item type.

# Tags

Tags are labels that you can attach to items. They can help you find items with something in common.



### NOTE

These tags are different than hashtags [243] that you apply to comments in the stream.

Tags are displayed in the bottom of the left panel in a section that can be hidden.

- Search for tags [138] using the "tag:" prefix.
- You can edit tags in List View.

# Product Requirements

Set . View details



• Tags can be displayed in a Cloud View:

Add Tag Cloud 🔤 List 🛛 🤹	Add Tag Cloud 🔤 List
2020(1) Alert(1)	2020(1)
Quarterly	Alert(1)
Reviews(1) screenshot2(0)	Quarterly Reviews(1)
est(0)	

In either view, select the tag to view its associated items.

## Add and delete tags

Add and delete tags as your project evolves, if you created a tag by accident, or to keep items organized.

The tags widget must be enabled by an organization administrator [608]. Otherwise, the option to add a tag isn't available in the UI.

- 1. To add a tag to an item:
  - a. In Single Item View, select Add tag.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖻	
Project • Change project 💸	Learn more = 📇 Dashboard: Semiconductor Project 🐇 🔚 Prode
Add  Add  Add  Add  Add  Add  Add  Add	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19   Processor Core 1 ABD V11 • Product Requirement • Modified 06/07/2023 02:29:18 pm Impact analysis Impact analysis REQUIREMENT TYPE: • Functional VERIFICATION TYPE: Unassigned STATUS: • Ready for Approval
Add tag Cloud E List 2022(2) Alert(1) New Tag(1) Review(2) Test(1) Test Tag(1)	RELEASE: TAGS: New Tag Test Tag Add tag

b. Enter the tag name in the available field, then press Enter.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖻	
Project • Change project	Learn more 🔹 📇 Dashboard: Semiconductor Project
Explorer Explorer Add  Comparison of the second sec	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19  Processor Core 1 ABD V11  Product Requirement  Modified 06/07/2023 02:29:18 pm Impact analysis
Processor Core 1 ABD Processor Speed AB2 Processor Speed Coreprocessor 2 Processor Core 1 Data Cache L1 Cache Error Detection L2 Cache Test a Test A c Package Option 2 b New Item New Product Requirement Packaoine	REQUIREMENT TYPE: Functional VERIFICATION TYPE: Unassigned STATUS: Ready for Approval ASSIGNED TO: RELEASE:
2022(2) Alert(1) New Tag(1) Review(2) Test(1) Test Tag(1)	TAGS: New Tag Test Tag Flag Create tag "Flag "

2. To delete a tag from an item, select the  $\boldsymbol{X}$  in the tag.

Project - Change project <	Learn more 👻 📇 Dashboard: Semiconductor Project 🗉 📰 Product Re
Explorer     Explorer     Add     Construction     Semiconductor     Project 2.0     Product A	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19 Processor Core 1 ABD V11 - Product Requirement - Modified 06/07/2023 02:29:18 pm
Import Test     Product Requirements     Processor	
Processor Core 1 ABD Processor Speed AB2 Processor Speed Coreprocessor 2 Processor Core 1 Data Cache	REQUIREMENT TYPE: Functional VERIFICATION TYPE: Unassigned
E2 Cache	STATUS: Ready for Approval
c Package Option 2	ASSIGNED TO:
Add tag	RELEASE:
2022(2) Alert(1) Flag(1) New Tag(1) Review(2) Test(1) Test Tag(1)	TAGS: New Tag Test Tag Flag O Add tag

# **Attachments**

Attachments are external files such as images, documents, and spreadsheets that can be attached to an item.

A project administrator can manage attachments [651] for a project.

### Important considerations

- You must have create/edit permissions to access attachments.
- File size limit is 4 GB.
- These default file types are allowed: APK, AVI, BMP, CSV, DOC, DOCM, DOCX, DOT, DOTX, DWG, GIF, GZ, JAMA, JPEG, LOG, MD, MOV, MP3, MP4, MPEG, ODG, ODP, ODS, ODT, PAGES, PDF, PGP, PNG, PPT, PPTM, PPTX, RAR, RTF, TGZ, TIF, TIFF, TRA, TXT, VCS, VSD, VSDX, VSS, WAR, WAV, WMA, WMV, WPS, XCF, XLS, XLSB, XLSM, XLSX, XLT, XPS, ZIP, ZIPX.
- Self-hosted environment The system admin can update this list directly [512].

### Add, edit, and delete attachments

An attachment is an external file such as an image, document, or spreadsheet that can be added to an item. You can add, edit, or delete attachments as needed.



# NOTE

You must have create/edit permissions to access attachments.

- 1. To add an attachment:
  - a. In Single Item View, select Add attachment.

roject - Change project	Learn more 😤 📇 Dashboard: Pantry Products 👘
Explorer 🖓 🥅 🗖 🗊 🛇	A MSB2-TXT-3
● Add → 微 庫 (	O 10 10 10
Pantry Products	Item A M
Product Requirements	T Text * Modified 11/21/2022 07:01:34 am
E Shelving	Automation and the
🕀 📄 Lighting Test	🗧 Impact analysis 🖉
Cabinetry	
Drawers	NAME:
T Item A	Hom A
🗄 🛅 Storage	nem A
E Ultimate Pantry	
E 😲 Change Requests	DESCRIPTION:
E Sync component test	Description of Item A
Validations	
Project Management A	DATE:
E Project Management A	
E U Datasneet	
Istingint Product B     TatMamt Product B	
TetMant Product B	
Project Management A	TAGS:
Project Management A	Add tag
Reuse error component	
	and the second se
Add tag	ATTACHMENTS:
Quere and C ≥ cuere 1 = cuer	Add attachment

• To upload new items, select the **Upload** tab in the Add File Attachment window, then select **Choose file** to select the file you want to attach and upload.

dd File Attachment		20
Upload Existing		
'Attachment:	Choose File No file chosen	
Name:		
Description:		

• To attach files that are already uploaded to Jama Connect, select the **Existing** tab in the Add File Attachment window, then select the file you want to attach. Select **Show all** to see all the files that are already attached to an item.

Add File Attachment				20×
Upload Existing				
Grid only shows files not attached to an iter	m [ Show All]			
Name Name	File	Size	Uploaded By	Uploaded
iStock-Girl-With-Shell-Small	iStock-Girl-With	153K	Alexander King	12/28/2015
iStock-Implant-Small.jpeg	iStock-Implant	172K	Alexander King	12/28/2015
iStock-Grandpa-And-Kid-Small	iStock-Grandpa	78K	Alexander King	12/28/2015
Jama-Zoomed-In-clEAR-Installation	Jama-Zoomed-I	7K	Alexander King	12/28/2015
Jama-Three-Pieces-of-clEAR	Jama-Three-Pie	8K	Alexander King	12/28/2015
Jama-clEAR-Installation	Jama-clEAR-In	16K	Alexander King	12/28/2015
Jama-Processor	Jama-Processo	6K	Alexander King	12/28/2015
Jama-Implant	Jama-Implant.jp	2K	Alexander King	12/28/2015
Jama-Abutment	Jama-Abutment	2K	Alexander King	12/28/2015
14 4   Page 1 of 1   P P1   #	🖉 Show: 20 🛩		Displaying item	s 1 - 18 of 18
			Attach to Item	Cancel

b. Select Attach to Item.

The file is now shown in Single Item View as an attachment.

- c. To download the attachment, select the attachment name or the down arrow icon.
- 2. To delete an attachment, select Remove from item (trash icon).



3. To edit what is attached to an item, select **Edit** (three dots icon) to open the Edit File Attachment window.



You can then:

- Reload the attachment.
- Update the name and description.
- Upload a different attachment, which overwrites the existing one. To add a new attachment, start from step 1.
- 4. Select Save and Close.

# Using the rich text editor

When the rich text editor is enabled [595] by your organization admin, you can format text in individual fields and embed other data like images and tables.

With rich text fields you can use text formatting, hyperlinks [94], images [93], tables [94], spellchecker (English), templates [97], diagrams, graphs [95], and equations [96].



# NOTE

The equation editor requires additional licensing. Contact your Jama Software account manager for more information.

If a field is enabled with rich text, you see the rich text menu, which provides rich text controls. These controls are like text editing options in many software applications. You can also use keyboard shortcuts [673] with the rich text editor.

### Important considerations

- Many third-party reporting tools can't display rich text (HTML) properly.
- Integrations with third-party applications might not be able to accept rich text (HTML) data.
- Each rich text section can have its own style, making it difficult to control the overall look and feel of your report.
- As needed, you can disable the rich text editor [595].
- Whenever a rich text item is saved, Jama Connect deletes certain text (usually code like JavaScript) that might be a security risk. This doesn't affect most data.



Rich text toolbar and buttons

- 1. Text style and size
- 2. Cut, copy, and paste Paste action inserts selected text as plain text.
- 3. **Field view** Insert document templates [97] (must be configured [616] by organization admin), view source code, and fullscreen mode.
- 4. Format text
- 5. Subscript, superscript
- 6. Text alignment
- 7. List formatting
- 8. Edit text
- 9. Insert links
- 10. Special tools Add diagrams [95], images [93], tables [94], special characters.
- 11. Accessibility checker
- 12. Equations editor Math Editor, Chemistry Editor.

The spellchecker automatically underlines misspelled words in red. **Cmd+right-click** on the word to view spelling suggestions.

# Insert image to rich text fields

The rich text editor lets you add an image to an item field. The editor provides multiple methods for adding an image.

A system admin can manage file types [512] for self-hosted customers.

#### To insert an image:

- 1. Add an image using one of these rich text methods:
  - Toolbar option: Add image



### TIP

Provide the full path to the image file to comply with third-party converters for PDF and Word. If you move Jama Connect to a new server or modify the server name, edit your image files to match the path or name change.

- Copy and paste (not available with Internet Explorer 10)
- Drag and drop
- Browse the server (select Add image from the server)
- (Optional) Resize or move the image as needed. A system admin or organization admin can define a maximum height and width setting for an inserted image.
- 3. If an inserted image is too large to be displayed, select **Expand** to view the image in full size.

## Insert a link in rich text fields

Direct links to attachment files can be helpful to reviewers. You can link from a rich text field directly to other sets, items, and attachments in Jama Connect, or to an external link.

1. Select the Link icon in the Rich Text toolbar.



- 2. In the Enter URL or Choose Item window, do one of the following:
  - Enter the URL for an external link.
  - Select tabs to choose your link from recently viewed locations, the Explorer Tree, releases, search results, or attachments, then under the Attachments tab, upload a file directly from your desktop.

inter URL or Choo	se Item	
Enter a link		
URL:		
Text:		
Choose a Jama Iter	n to link to	-
📇 Clear 3 Hea	aring Aid	*
Recently Viewe	d 📻 Explorer 🥅 Releases 📡 Search 🖉 Attachments	
		Preview
iD ID	Name	Project
CL4-VAL-3	Collect SME data on single versus double stage - edit again 22	Clear 3 Hearing
CL4-SET-3	Validation Protocols	Clear 3 Hearing
CL4-VAL-4	iOS Validation	Clear 3 Hearing
CL4-SET-22	User Needs and Market Requirements.	Clear 3 Hearing
2 CL4-UN-13	Operate with Mobile Phones	Clear 3 Hearing
CL4-CMP-6	System Requirements	Clear 3 Hearing
	A - 2	Duelleete of Ale
		Select Cancel

- 3. Click **Select** to place your link in the rich text field. The link doesn't work until you save changes to your item.
- 4. To break a link, select the **Break link** icon in the toolbar.

# Add and edit tables with rich text editor

You can add a table to an individual field using the tools section of the rich text editor [92]. You can also edit the table.





# TIP

Although you can import tables from other documents, they can be difficult to work with once imported, and they don't export cleanly. Instead, create tables manually in Jama Connect.

1. To add a table, select the Table icon in the Tools section of the rich text editor.

Heading 1 🕝	Size –	660	Source 25	BIUSA-	· <u>T</u> <sub>x</sub> x₂ x²
	1= += -:	推 🔸 =	Q 53 @ @	🔋 🕿 🗐 Ω 🚱	чс

2. To format a table, right-click any table cell, then select the preferred action.

	朣	Paste	₩+V			
1		Cell	· · ·	Insert Cell Before		
		Row		Insert Cell After		
		Column		Delete Insert Cell After		
SSIGNEI	Delete Table		а	Mang-Ser.		
		Table Prope	rties	Merge Right		
				Merge Down		
ELEASE	1			Split Cell Horizontally		
ielect	-			Split Cell Vertically		
				Cell Properties		

- 3. To resize a table, select its borders.
- 4. To add space above or below a table, hover your mouse near the space, then select the blue button that appears on the right.

### Insert rich text diagrams

Diagrams can be anything from basic shapes to more complex modeling and business process flows. Once saved, a diagram is an editable image within the rich-text field.

### Important considerations

- You can't copy and paste between the diagram editor and other applications.
- You can't import images from other diagramming tools.

#### To insert rich text diagrams:

1. Select **Diagram** in the Rich Text toolbar to open the Graph Editor window. If you highlight an existing diagram before selecting the button, it appears in the window for editing.

Heading 1 🕝	Size 👻 🕺 🗋 🗊	Source 💱	BIUSA·D·Tx	$X_2 = X^2$
	)= = = = +	- Q 53 @ @	D = ■ Ω 0 v c	

2. In the **Graph Editor** window, create new shapes by dragging from the menu on the left and dropping to the canvas.



- 3. To add shapes, icons, tables, or text, or to use the search function, use options in the left pane. For more information, see MXGraph Editor.
- 4. To format style text and arrangement, use the options on the right.
- 5. When finished, select Save and Close to insert your image into the field.

### Insert equations in rich text fields

With this editor, you can create complex equations and edit them in Jama Connect. These are converted into images for safe storage and export, but are always editable when you have a MathType license.

#### Important considerations

Your organization determines the total number of floating licenses, which are available on a first-come/ first-served basis. If a license is available, you can use it by opening the Equation Editor. To release the license, close the Equation Editor. If a license isn't available, try again in a few minutes or contact your admin for help.



# NOTE

The MathType Equations Editor requires a separate license. Contact your Jama Connect administrator or sales representative to inquire about purchasing this license.

For self-hosted customers with a license, the system administrator can enable the equations editor [504].

To insert equations in rich text fields:

- 1. To add a new equation or formula, open the appropriate editor by clicking its icon (**Math Editor** or **Chemistry Editor**), then select the equation or formula you need.
- 2. To edit an existing equation or formula in your item, use one of these methods:
  - Highlight the equation/formula, then select the appropriate icon for the editor you need.
  - Double-click on the equation/formula to open the appropriate editor.



For more information about how to create mathematical equations or chemistry formulas, see the MathType User Guide.

### Insert templates to rich text editor

Templates are pre-written text or documents that can be inserted into the rich text editor to help uniformly format items like test cases or use cases.



### **IMPORTANT**

This feature must be configured by an organization admin [616] before you can use it.

1. To open the Content Templates window, select the Templates icon in the Rich Text toolbar.



2. Select a template from the list (for example, Basic Use Case, Document Style Use Case, Basic Test Case, and Agile Story Card) and continue editing the item.

Please se	elect the ler	mplate to open in the editor.	
		Approver Table	
		Change History Table	

- 3. Select **Replace actual contents** to delete content currently in the field.
- 4. Click Save & done.

# **Run Accessibility Checker**

The Accessibility Checker is a plugin that analyzes content created in the rich text editor. It lets you know if the content meets standards for people with impaired visual, cognitive, or motor skills.

1. Select the Accessibility Checker icon from the Rich Text toolbar.



The plugin inspects output HTML code to identify common accessibility problems and offers a "quick fix" solution.

Name:*	Durable	
Description:	Format - Size - 🗶 🗋 🗊 🖼	$ \bigcirc Source \overset{\times}{\overset{\times}{\overset{\times}{\overset{\times}{\overset{\times}{\overset{\times}}}}} B I \underline{U} \overset{\cdot}{\overset{\cdot}{\overset{\cdot}{\overset{\times}{\overset{\times}{\overset{\times}}}}} \underline{\Lambda} \cdot \underline{\Omega} \cdot \underline{I}_{x} \times x_{z} \times $
		Accessibility Checker X
		Issue 1 of 1 (notice)
	h h	Use empty alternative text only for decorative images
		Empty alternative text can only be used if the image serves purely decoration purposes. If the image is supposed to convey any information whatsoever, you need to set a proper alternative text for it.
		Alternative text:
		Quick fix Ignore

- 2. Use the arrows at the top of the pop-up window to scroll through issues found by the Accessibility Checker.
- 3. For each identified issue, do one of the following:
  - Enter the suggested changes and select Quick fix to apply the changes.
  - Select Ignore.
- 4. If the Accessibility Checker finds no issues, you see a confirmation message. Select **OK** to close the message.

# Importing content into Jama Connect

Content in Jama Connect is structured using an item-based approach. Items in Jama Connect can be containers (components, sets, folders) or instances of a particular type of item, such as a requirement or test case.

One way to populate Jama Connect with content is to import existing items (such as requirements or test cases) from other applications.

Microsoft Word	<ul> <li>Determine hierarchy of imported items with Word heading styles (Heading 1, Heading 2).</li> <li>Retain formatting like bulleted lists, numbered lists, and text formatting.</li> <li>Import Word tables as rich text field content or use tables to identify and import discrete items into Jama Connect.</li> </ul>
Excel	<ul> <li>Map columns directly to fields.</li> <li>Determine hierarchy of imported items with cell coloring or indentation.</li> <li>Import via one-way import [118] or round-trip import/export [122].</li> </ul>
IBM Doors	<ul> <li>Import objects found within Modules.</li> <li>Map object attributes directly to fields within Jama Connect.</li> <li>Maintain relationships during import with active IBM DOORS data.</li> </ul>

The most common applications for importing items into Jama Connect are:

The Data Import Wizard guides you through the process of importing items into Jama Connect. It recognizes file types like .doc, .docx, .xls, .xlsx, and .csv and displays options accordingly.

You might need to prepare your source file for a successful import. For example, if your Word file has requirements in tables, you might need to ensure that all tables use consistent headings in the first row so that the wizard can identify each table for import.



# TIP

Before populating Jama Connect with your data, discuss with others on your team to make sure all needed information has a "home" (field) in Jama Connect. Involving team members in this process can avoid rework of having to import again for data that was not initially taken into account.

# Importing items from a Word file

You can add items to Jama Connect from a Word file. You might, for example, have a Word document with various types of requirements (customer, system, or software requirements) or with test cases.



Ç

**TIP** If you are familiar with how to prepare a Word file for import, go to Import a Word file [105].

When using a Word document to import items into Jama Connect, you can use these features to control how things are imported.

- Headings and styles From the document's Styles list, you can use default heading styles to determine hierarchy (nesting) of imported items in Jama Connect.Headings are always imported as items, not as folders. However, the hierarchy can be converted to folders once imported to Jama Connect. Apply the Normal style to item descriptions.
- Tables Tables in a Word document can be imported directly into Jama Connect rich text fields as tables. Word tables can also be used to create discrete items in Jama Connect. If a table has a first row header and one row per requirement, the content is read as one item per row. If a table has two columns where the first column contains headings (for example, "Requirement Text") and the second column contains data (for example, "The system shall..."), the content is read as individual items for each table that conforms to a repeated structure.
- **Import/Ignore Sections** Use designated keywords in your Word document to define which sections to import and which to ignore. This is useful for large documents when not all content is relevant to import.
- **Field mapping** Define how Word elements map to Jama Connect item fields. This process varies slightly, depending on whether you use headers or tables to identify items.



### NOTE

Many Word styles are imported, but not all are converted exactly. The import wizard can't import a table of contents. Images are included as part of the import. OLE components, such as embedded Visio diagrams, are imported as PNG images.

# Setting hierarchy with heading styles

When importing items from a Word document, you must prepare the document so that the import is successful. An important step in this preparation is to set the hierarchy, how items are nested in Jama Connect.

To set the hierarchy, use Word heading styles. Each heading represents a new item in Jama Connect. The heading text is imported into the item's **Name** field and any paragraph text, tables, or images are imported into the **Description** field.

AaBbCcDdEe	AaBbCcDdEe	AaBbCc	AaBbCcD	AaBbCcDdEe	AaBbCcDdEe
No Spacing	Block Text	Heading 1	Heading 2	Heading 3	Heading 4



### NOTE

In your Word document, all headings are imported as items, never as folders. However, the item hierarchy can be converted to folders after import using the Convert function.

The hierarchy of imported items is determined by which heading level you apply to the item name. A nested heading in Word is treated as a child item in Jama Connect, with a maximum of seven levels.

For example, in this diagram, **Item A** uses Heading 1 and is imported as a parent item. **Item B** uses Heading 2 and is imported as a child of Item A, and **Item C** uses Heading 3 and is imported as a child of Item B.



When you open the imported item in Single Item View, the **Name** field is populated with the text of the Word heading, and the Description field is populated with the text of the **Normal** style paragraph.





# NOTE

For the Description and rich text fields, formatting for bullets, bold, italic, and underlining are retained when imported. Numbered lists are imported as bullets. When a list contains multiple levels, Jama Connect continues to use bullets. However, each set is indented to indicate the original level.

# How tables are imported from Word

When importing items from a Word document, the Data Import Wizard lets you choose how tables are imported.

#### Each table is an individual item

Select this option when your Word document includes a separate table for each item you want to import. The wizard prompts you to complete field mappings with this option.

In this example, the document heading (**System Requirements**) is imported to Jama Connect as a parent item and each table is imported as a separate child item.

The table for each item must have at least two columns: column 1 is the field name (for example, **Name**) and column 2 is the field value (for example, **Three digit display**).

System Requirer	ments	Project - Change project
o	623	Explorer 🖓 🥅 🔂 🖏
Name	Three digit diaplary	🖸 Add 🔹 🐻 🝙
Priority	LOW	
Description	The system shall support the annultaneous display of 3 characters	Semiconductor Project 2.0     Project Management     Stakeholder Requirements
(0)	624	Market Requirements
Name	Climate monitoring	
Priority	High	I Ose Cases
Description	The system shall monitor ambient temperature and relative humidity	System Requirements
10	625	Climate monitoring
Neme.	Remote administration	Remote administration
Phoney.	High	P Product
Description	The system shall be administaned at a distance	e C Datasheet



# TIP

If your Word file includes multiple tables, make sure that all tables use the same wording for the field name in the header (first) row. For example, if one table uses **ID** for the field name, all tables must use **ID**, as in this example.

#### Each table row is an individual item

Select this option when your Word document includes tables where the first row is the heading row and each subsequent row constitutes a discrete item. The wizard prompts you to complete field mappings with this option.

The cells with field names must be the top row of the table. Each subsequent row represents a separate item, and a row's cells define the field values. If you have multiple tables in your document, each table must have the same heading values to be recognized by the import tool.

This is an example document after importing into the set called System Requirements.



#### Descriptions might include tables

Select this default option when the document you're importing has no tables or the content of a table applies only to the item description.

You don't need to map fields when you select this option.

Here is an example document and the results after you import.

	9) Praduct Import Test Import Test j- adl MS85-SHR0-5
	Smart Scheduling V1 - Stakeholder Requirement - Modified 10/21/2022 12:36:02 pm
	* 2
Smart Scheduling	PROJECT ID:
Expand on the following steps to develop Smart Scheduling.	MSBS-SHRQ-3
Steps Content	GLOBAL ID:
1 The thermostat learns the user's temperature preferences	GID-57230
2 Based on input, system develops an automatic schedule	DE CASE.
3 Display reflects the current temperature adjustment schedule	HELEAGE.
	NAME:
	Smart Scheduling
	S DESCRIPTION:
	Expand on the following steps to develop Smart Scheduling.
	Steps Content
	1 The thermostat learns the user's temperature preferences
	2 Based on input, system develops an automatic schedule
	3 Display reflects the current temperature adjustment schedule.

# Prepare your Word file for import

Before you import a Word file, make sure it is formatted for a successful import. For example, confirm that you use default headings and that your tables are formatted properly.

You might also need to define the *document scope* by tagging sections of content to include and exclude. Requirement documents are often large and might contain sections or items that need to be imported to different sets, different folders, or not at all.

- 1. Open the Word file you intend to import to Jama Connect.
- 2. Set hierarchy with heading styles [101] (how items are nested in Jama Connect).
- 3. If your file includes tables, make sure they are formatted according to how tables are imported from Word [102].
- 4. (Optional) If you don't want to import the entire file, add keywords to sections you want to import and ignore.

Use start/stop keywords that are simple, one-word, and all caps with no formatting. Keywords must not be actual words that might appear in the content. Commonly used start/stop keywords are IMPORTSECTION and IGNORESECTION.

- a. Insert the keyword IMPORTSECTION before and after each section you want to import.
- b. Insert the keyword IGNORESECTION *before and after* each section you want to exclude from the import.

	Example of "Import" sections	Example of "Ignore" section	ns
	Example of Word document	Example of Word document	nt
	IMPORTSECTION	IGNORESECTION	
	1 Name	1 Name Description	This won't be imported
	IMPORTSECTION	IGNORESECTION	
		1.1 Name	
This won't be imported —	+ 1,1 Name Description	Description	

5. Save and close the Word file.

## Import a Word file

Once you have exported data from DOORS, you can import it to Jama Connect using the Data Import Wizard in Jama Connect.

1. Open the Data Import Wizard: In the Explorer Tree, right-click an item where you want to import new items, then select **Import**. Your file will be imported below the selected item.



The first page of the wizard opens with the **Destination** field pre-populated.

2. Complete the **Select Import File and Destination** page, then click **Next**.

elect a File and Destination			1
Select file to import:	Browse DoorsImport.zip		
Destination:	Pantry Products   Product Requirements	9	
Select a saved field mapping:	Select a Feld mapping a	*	
	Delete an existing field mapping		
ncoding			
Optional Encoding:	UTF8	*	

- a. Click Choose File and select the Word file you want to import.
   If the file type isn't recognized, the import doesn't continue.
- b. (Optional) If you previously saved your field mappings for importing a Word file, click the Select a saved field mapping field and choose that file.
   This is useful if you are importing multiple documents with the same field mapping.
- c. (Optional) In the **Encoding** section, select the character set encoding to use during the import. For most imports you can use the default, UTF-8, which is used by the Jama Connect database.
- 3. Complete the Choose Field Mappings for Import page, then click Next.

Document Scope Op	tions (Import/Ignore Sections)	Menortection
	Import sections surrounded by start/stop text:	(Skillesettion
Field Mapping	s description if no description is found	
Jama Item Field Name	Default Value	Mapping Word heading styles denote item name
Description	Rich text fields cannot have default values.	Everything after a heading becomes description

- a. **Document Scope Options** If you tagged your Word file to import and ignore some sections, select the checkboxes and enter the name of each keyword (for example, INCLUDE-SECTION and IMPORTSECTION).
- b. Field Mapping
  - Max length of Name field Select this and enter a maximum number of characters for the name. Default is 255 but this option lets you further limit the name length.
  - **Default Value** Use this option (when available) if you want a field value to be used by default. Then, all items created during import include the default value you enter. For example, you can set the status to **Draft** for all imported items.
- 4. Complete the How to Handle Tables page, then click Next.

How to Handle Ta	ables	0.4	rtination: Si	emiconducior Import Fili No Type: 200	Project 2.0   Froj. et Import Test.doci IT Word DOCX File	
Choose a Table Import 5	Style					~
Descriptions may inclu	ude tables.	Each table is an individual item.	O Each	table row is a	n individual item.	
Your (lem name			1			
The description of your item	1	10	10	Name	Description	
		Hame				
EXAMPLE		Description		EXA	λiw#).e	
This mode treats tables as description field; it does not rom table cells.	a part of each item's extract field values	Cells directly to the right of identifiers w populate corresponding item fields.	vill This r from a	node is simila a spreadshee	r to importing items t.	
ble Field Mapping						
ama Field	Default Valu	e	Identifier (	case-sensi	tive text match)	9
)escription	Rich text fiel	ds cannot have default values.				

- a. Choose a Table Import Style Select this option if your item description includes tables:
  - **Descriptions may include tables** Select this option if your file uses headings for hierarchy, but the content includes some tables.
  - Each table is an individual item Select this option if your file uses tables and includes a separate table for each item. Must complete Table Field Mapping.
  - Each table row is an individual item Select this option if your file uses tables and the tables use a separate row for each item. Must complete Table Field Mapping.
- b. **Table Field Mapping** Complete this section if importing table content as individual items (option 2 or 3 above). From your Word tables, copy the heading values into the Identifier field for each Jama Field mapping. For some Jama Fields, you can set a default value (for example, setting status to Draft), which populates the field if the mapping has no value.
- 5. Verify First Item in Import File Review the mapping of the first item found in the document you're importing. If the mapping is correct, select **Submit** to import the target document.
| a Import Wizard  |                   | 0                                                                                                         |
|------------------|-------------------|-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| Verify First Ite | em in Import File | Destination: CG Project   Import Set 1<br>Import File: Import word dock<br>File Type: 2007 Word DOG% File |
| Neume            | item 1            |                                                                                                           |
| Description      |                   |                                                                                                           |
| Hope this helps! |                   |                                                                                                           |
| Date             | 11/02/2021        |                                                                                                           |
| Assigned Tol     | Cooper            |                                                                                                           |
| TBAL BRAN.       |                   |                                                                                                           |
| FORM BOOL        |                   |                                                                                                           |
| Text Fredd       | Have a great day! |                                                                                                           |
| Philliphe)       | 10/31/2021        |                                                                                                           |
| Fourness 1:      | Unassigned        |                                                                                                           |
| Sintus1:         | Default           |                                                                                                           |
|                  |                   |                                                                                                           |
|                  |                   |                                                                                                           |
|                  |                   |                                                                                                           |
|                  |                   |                                                                                                           |
|                  |                   |                                                                                                           |
|                  |                   |                                                                                                           |
|                  |                   | Back Submit Cancel                                                                                        |

- a. (Optional) Select Import another file to restart the wizard.
- b. (Optional) To reuse the field mapping settings, select Save this as new document mapping.



## NOTE

Field mappings are project-specific and can be used by any user in the project where the mappings are saved.

- c. Click Submit.
- 6. Click Close.

A message appears in the Data Import Wizard to confirm that the import was successful.

## Importing from Excel

You can use the Excel Import Wizard to import data into Jama Connect from a Microsoft Excel document. This process is called a *one-way Excel import*. You can also export existing data from Jama Connect to an Excel template, then update the data in Excel as needed, and import it back into Jama Connect. This called an *Excel round-trip*.

To ensure a successful import, your Excel worksheet must be created and formatted for the specific type of data (items, test cases, item relationships) that you want to import.

For items and test cases, your worksheet indicates item hierarchy — how items are nested — as folders, parent items, or child items. You can use color or indentation to define hierarchy.

When importing items, your worksheet can include only one item type. If you need to import more than one item type, you must create a separate worksheet for each item type and import each worksheet separately.



## TIP

If you are familiar with how to prepare an Excel file for import, go to the tasks Import items [118], Export/import via Jama Connect-to-Excel round trip [122], and Import relationships [125].

#### Recognized file types

Jama Connect imports data from Excel files with these extensions: .xlsx, .xls, and .csv.



## NOTE

An import from a file with a .csv extension doesn't create folders or hierarchy. Only .xlsx and .xls files create folders and hierarchy.

## Preparing a worksheet to import items

Before importing items from your Excel worksheet, make sure it contains all the necessary elements for a successful import.

- One item type per worksheet. If you have more than one item type to import, create a separate worksheet for each type.
- Header row [111] with field names

1	A	B	C	D	E
1	Name	Description	Status	Priority	
2	Requirement 1	This is important	Draft	Low	
3	Requirement 2	Not important	Rejected	Medium	
4	Requirement 3	Very important	Approved	High	
5				1.1.1	

• Valid pick list options [111]

If importing into a Jama Connect pick list field, make sure the values in your Excel worksheet exactly match the available values in the Jama Connect field.

Date format

When including dates in text-formatted cells, always format dates like this:

**mm/dd/yyyy hh:mm:ss Z** (example: **-0800, +1000, +0700**) where **Z** is the time zone difference from GMT.

Roundtrip

If importing to update existing items in Jama Connect, you must use a spreadsheet generated from Jama Connect when you select the **Excel Export for Roundtrip** option.

Create a baseline [275] before a round-trip export/import process, in case you need to restore old data.



## TIP

To import test cases or requirements, see Preparing a worksheet to import test cases [115] or Preparing a worksheet to import relationships [117].

#### Defining header row in Excel

Including a header row in your worksheet helps to easily map columns in the worksheet to fields in Jama Connect. Typically, the Header row is the first row in your worksheet, but it doesn't have to be.

The header row includes fields listed horizontally, with values for those fields defined in subsequent rows.

Your worksheet can contain only one header row. If you don't use column headers, the import automatically numbers the columns sequentially from left to right, starting with 1.

1	A	B	C	D	E
1	Name	Description	Status	Priority	
2	Requirement 1	This is important	Draft	Low	
3	Requirement 2	Not important	Rejected	Medium	
4	Requirement 3	Very important	Approved	High	
5				1.1.1	

We recommend that you always include **Name** and **Description** fields. You can add optional fields like **Status** or **Priority**.

If you don't include a **Name** field, the worksheet must still contain a column to be mapped to the Jama Connect **Name** field. Every item and folder in Jama Connect must have a value in the **Name** field. If your requirements were previously managed in an Excel worksheet without this field, you can create a new column for **Name** values or designate an existing column, such as a legacy ID value, for the **Name**.

If other fields for the imported item type are required (based on Admin configurations), you can add them to your worksheet or plan to set a default value during the import.



## IMPORTANT

An organization administrator can add or delete fields [595] for an item type in Jama Connect. However, the **Name** field is a system field and can't be disabled.

#### **Defining pick lists in Excel**

When your worksheet includes a column for a pick list in Jama Connect, for example **Priority** or **Status**, the values you define must match the list of available values in Jama Connect. Otherwise, the imported item shows a blank entry for that field value.

In this example worksheet, Requirement 1 lists **Fun** as a Priority value, which doesn't match the values in Jama Connect (**High**, **Medium**, **Low**). After importing this item, the List Item View shows a blank entry for Priority.

	A	В	C	D	E
1	Name	Description	Status	Priority	
2	Requirement 1	This is important	Draft (	Fun )	
3	Requirement 2	Not important	Rejected	Medium	
4	Requirement 3	Very important	Approve	d High	
5	12.0	1	-		

CoveragePlus	nt - Traditional   Imported Requirements
Name:	Requirement 1
Global ID:	GID-REQ-4601
Unique ID:	CP-REQ-32
Description:	
This is important	
Assigned:	
Release:	
Priority:	
Status:	Draft



## TIP

Before importing your worksheet, identify the columns in Excel that will be mapped to pick list fields in Jama Connect. Use the Excel Filter functionality to identify the values found in that column in Excel. If the values found in Excel do not have an exact match in the Jama Connect pick list, you must correct errors before importing. Otherwise, the value will be blank.

#### Setting hierarchy with color in Excel

When you import items from an Excel worksheet, you can use cell color to determine hierarchy of imported items. This method allows only one tier of hierarchy and doesn't differentiate between colors.

In your Excel worksheet, you can select the cell you want to use as a parent container and use a color to indicate hierarchy.

1	C X	Calibri (E	lody) ~	12 ~	A* A* =	三三 🐉 🖌 Ge
	Paste 3	B I	⊻ • ⊞ •	<u>a</u>	<u>A</u> • <u>H</u>	==∎* ≣≣ ≫* \$
D	18 🌲 🗶	, fs		1		
	A		В		c	D
1	Name		Description		Status	Priority
2	Requirement 1		This is not impo	rtant	Draft	High
3	Sub-Requirement	A	This is not impo	rtant	Braft	Madium
4	Sub-Requirement	в	This is not impo	rtant C	olored cel	Il is parent item
5	Requirement 2		This is not impo	rtant	Uratt	Meaium
б	Sub-Requirement	с	This is not impo	rtant	Draft	High
7	Sub Requirement	D	This is not impo	rtant	Draft	Low
8						
0						

When you import the document, the Data Import Wizard prompts you to select the column that will determine hierarchy. In this example, **Name** column is selected.

Color cells indicate	) folder or parent item from column:	Example of nov	to use colored cens for in	leraicity.
Nama		Name	Description	Priority
Name		Requirements	Requirement with sub-items	High
		Requirement 1	Description 1	High
		Requirement 2	Description 2	Medium
		Defects	Defect with sub-defects	Medium
		Defect 1	Description 1	Low
		Defect 2	Description 2	Medium
		If you selected the become parents ar until the next color	"Name" column, then the colored of every following item would bec ed cell.	cells wou come childr

The resulting import shows the colored cells as parent containers.



#### Setting hierarchy with indentation in Excel

When you import from an Excel worksheet, you can use indentation to determine hierarchy of imported items.

In your Excel worksheet, you decide which cells you want to be parent items, then indent the cells below the parent items.

Using indentation for hierarchy allows multiple levels of hierarchy (for example, folders containing subfolders and subfolders containing items). This is an advantage over using highlighted cells for hierarchy.

1	Calif	ori (Body)	12 ~ /	A° A° ≡	三三路。
ĺ	Paste 3 B	I U •   ⊞ •	2 - 1		
В	17 🕴 🗙 🗸	f Indented	cell-	_	
	A		В	C.	D
1	Name	Description		Status	Priority
z	Requirement 1	This is not in	portant	Draft	High
3	Sub-Requirement A	This is not in	portant	Draft	Medium
4	Sub-Requirement B	This is not in	portant	Draft	Medium
5	Requirement 2	This is not in	portant	Draft	Medium
б	Sub-Requirement C	This is not in	portant	Draft	High
7	Sub Requirement D	This is not in	portant	Draft	Low
8					

When you import the document, the Data Import Wizard prompts you to select the column that will determine hierarchy. In this example, Description column is selected.

cription	×	Name	Description	Priority
-puon		Features	Feature with sub-items	High
		Sub-Feature 1	Description 1	High
		Sub-Feature 2	Description 2	High
		Sub-Sub-Feature 1	Description 1	Low
		Sub-Sub-Feature 2	Description 2	Medium
			L Indentation shows	hierarchy
		If you selected the "E indentations would d would be nested.	Description" column, then the etermine how many levels do	number of eep the iten

The resulting import shows the indented cells as child items:



#### Preparing a worksheet to import test cases

To import test cases and their steps, you use the **Excel import to Jama Connect** option. You can use a **one-way import** to import a test case from an Excel worksheet or, if you need to update existing test cases, you can use a **round-trip** process.

#### **Required header fields**

To successfully import test cases and their test steps, your Excel worksheet must contain one header row with these four columns (field names): **Test Case Name**, **Action**, **Expected Results**, and **Notes**.

A	В	C	D
Test Case Name	Action	Expected Results	Notes

#### One-way import for test cases

Quickly bring legacy test cases into Jama Connect. This example worksheet imports two test cases: "Test Wheel" and "Test Brakes." Each row with the repeated test case name is imported as a new test step.

A	В	C	D
Test Case Name	Action	Expected Results	Notes
Test Wheel	Rotate	move in circular motion with no obstruction	tester notes
Test Wheel	Let air out	self inflator starts	tester notes
Test Wheel	Poke Hole	self inflator starts	tester notes
Test Wheel	bend spoke	wheel breaks	tester notes
Test Brakes	apply brakes downhill	slows to a stop in 20ft at 80% downgrade at 50MPH	tester notes
Test Brakes	apply brakes downhill	slows to a stop in 30ft at 85% downgrade at 50MPH	tester notes
Test Brakes	apply brakes downhill	slows to a stop in 40ft at 90% downgrade at 50MPH	tester notes
Test Brakes	apply brakes downhill	slows to a stop in 15ft at 80% downgrade at 40MPH	tester notes
Test Brakes	apply brakes downhill	slows to a stop in 20ft at 85% downgrade at 40MPH	tester notes
Test Brakes	apply brakes downhill	slows to a stop in 25ft at 90% downgrade at 40MPH	tester notes
Test Brakes	apply brakes downhill	slows to a stop in 10ft at 80% downgrade at 30MPH	tester notes
Test Brakes	apply brakes downhill	slows to a stop in 15ft at 85% downgrade at 30MPH	tester notes
Test Brakes	apply brakes downhill	slows to a stop in 20ft at 90% downgrade at 30MPH	tester notes

When importing the Excel file, follow the instructions for any one-way import [118]. The Data Import Wizard prompts you to select the worksheet, plus the number of the header row.

Excel Options				0
	Excel Worksheet:	TestWheelTestBrakes	*	
	Excel Header Row:	2	*	



#### NOTE

To import items or requirements, see Preparing a worksheet to import items [110] or Preparing a worksheet to import relationships [117].

#### Round-trip for test cases

When you need to update a test case already in Jama Connect, you can use a round-trip [122] process. First you export a test case from Jama Connect, which generates an Excel file populated with the required fields. Next you update any fields that need changes, then re-import the data back to Jama Connect.

Because of the relationship between test cases and test runs, you can't update the test case status [368] in a round-trip import/export. The test case status field is calculated from all test runs derived from that test case. Test case status.

#### Add and delete a test step in Excel

You might need to add a new step to your test case or delete an existing step.

1. Add a test step — Copy an existing row (step), then right-click on the row where you want to insert the copy and select **Insert Copied Cells**. Edit the fields in the copied row to reflect the information needed for the new step.

К	L	M	N	0	Р	Q	R	S	Т	U	V
Description	Ass	Priority	Test Case	Locked By	Last I	Modified B	Modified	Step #	Step Actio	Step Expected	Step Notes
Tests included whe		Medium	Not Sched		05/17	Sam Test	05/17/20	1	Not Sched		
open a web browse		Unassigne	Not Sched			Sam Test	05/17/20	1	Not Sched		
open a web browse		Unassigne	Not Sched			Sam Test	05/17/20	2	Not Sched		
open a web browse		Unassigne	Not Sched			Sam Test	05/17/20	3	Not Sched		
open a web browse		Unassigne	Not Sched			Sam Test	05/17/20	4	Not Sched		
open a web browse		Unassigne	Not Sched			Sam Test	05/17/20	6	Not Sched		
open a web browse		Unassigne	Not Sched			Sam Test	05/17/20	7	Not Sched		
open a web browse		Unassigne	Not Sched			Sam Test	05/17/20	7	Not Sched		
open a web browse		Unassigne	Not Sched			Sam Test	05/17/20	8	Not Sched		
open a web browse		Unassigne	Not Sched			Sam Test	05/17/20	9	Not Sched		
open a web browse		Unassigne	Not Sched			Sam Test	05/17/20	10	Not Sched		
open a web browse		Unassigne	Not Sched			Sam Test	05/17/20	11	Not Sched		



## IMPORTANT

Always use **Insert Copied Cells** instead of **Paste**. The Paste command replaces the row instead of adding a new row, and subsequent steps are removed on import.

- 2. **Remove a step** Right-click on the row (step) you want to remove, then select **Delete**. Re-numbering of steps takes effect on import.
- 3. Save the file.

#### Preparing a worksheet to import relationships

Relationships are imported to Jama Connect from an CSV file, using a relationship import plugin [557]. You can't import relationships with the Excel Import Wizard.

A properly formatted CSV file, when opened in Excel, consists of two columns:

- Column A Parent or upstream item references
- Column B Child or downstream item references

	A	в
1	CP-REQ-10	CP-UC-94
2	CP-REQ-8	CP-UC-95
з	CP-REQ-9	CP-UC-96
4	1100	

As needed, you can import multiple relationships to a single item or many relationships to many items. To accomplish this, you create duplicate cell combinations for those items. In this example, CP-REQ-10 has three relationships, each in its own row.

	A	В
1	CP-REQ-10	CP-UC-94
2	CP-REQ-10	CP-UC-95
Ξ	CP-REQ-10	CP-UC-96
4		



#### NOTE

To import items or test cases, see Preparing a worksheet to import items [110] or Preparing a worksheet to import test cases [115].

#### Import items or test cases from Excel

Importing items or test cases from Excel to Jama Connect is called a one-way import. The process is handled by the Data Import Wizard, which guides you through the steps. The wizard recognizes .xls and .xlsx file types.



### **IMPORTANT**

You can create new items with a one-way import. If you need to update existing items or create new items in an existing set between items, use an Excel round trip [122].

1. Open the Data Import Wizard: In the Explorer Tree, right-click the set or folder where you want to import new items, then select **Import**. Your file will be imported below the selected item.



The first page of the wizard opens with the **Destination** field pre-populated.

2. Complete the **Select Import File and Destination** page, then click **Next**.

- a. Click **Choose File** and select the Excel file you want to import. If the file type isn't recognized, the import doesn't continue.
- b. (Optional) Encoding Select UTF8.
- 3. Complete the **Choose Field Mappings for Import** page, then click **Next**.

Excel Options					
arear aprovin	Excel Worksheet:	Sheet1	*		0
	Excel Header Rown	4	*		
	EAGE HEAGE TOW.	Any date fields will reflect your time zo	ne (America/Los_Angeles).		
Round-bip/Update	Options				
	Update Items:	(Is this a round-trip import?)			
	Conflict Resolution:	<ul> <li>Cri predici, these wrs.</li> <li>Cri predici, the real spage.</li> </ul>			
Field Mapping					0
lama Item Field	Default Value	e	Mapping		
Name			Test Name	*	
Description	Rich text field	s cannot have default values.	Test Description	~	

**Excel Options** — If your file has more than one worksheet, select the one you want to import, then enter the number for the header row. If a header row doesn't exist, select row **0**, which populates the Mapping section with the Excel default column names.

- Round trip/Update Options For one-way import, leave these options unselected.
- Field Mapping Select the appropriate column from the worksheet for each field in Jama Connect where you want to import data. Select a mapping for **Name** and any required fields, as determined by the Admin configuration for the item type. Fields not required for the import don't need to be mapped.
- 4. On the **Additional options** page, indicate whether your worksheet uses cell color or indentation for hierarchy, then click **Next**.

Additional Options		Destination: Semiconductor Project 2.0   Proj Import File: TestCaseImport.stax File Type: 2007 Excel XLSX File				
Use item-subitem structure	(instead of <b>folder-item</b> structu	re) when creating hierard	by of imported items			
Import hierarchy based on in	dented cell from column:	Example of how t	o use <b>indented cells</b> for	hierarchy:		
Test Name	*	Name	Description	Priority		
Test Hume		Features	Feature with sub-items	High		
		Sub-Feature 1	Description 1	High		
		Sub-Feature 2	Description 2	High		
		Sub-Sub-Feature 1	Description 1	Low		
		Sub-Sub-Feature 2	Description 2	Medium		
			1 Indentation shows hi	erarchy		
وريدي		If you selected the "D indentations would de would be nested.	escription" column, then the nu etermine how many levels deep	umber of the item		
Color cells indicate folder or	parent item from column;	Example of now i	o use colored cens for n	lerarchy.		
Test Description	¥	Name	Description	Priority		
		Requirements	Requirement with sub-items	High		
		Requirement 1	Description 1	High		
		Requirement 2	Description 2	Medium		
		Defects	Defect with sub-defects	Medium		
		Defect 1	Description 1	L OW		

5. If the fields were mapped successfully, you see a preview of your import. Click **Submit** to import all items.

The Final Import Summary page confirms the total number of items imported.

ta Import Wizard	
Final Import Summary Step 4 of 4	Destination: Semiconductor Project 2.0   Proj. Import File: TestCaseImport.xiss. The Type: 2007 Excel XLSX File
Import successful!	
You have imported 7 items.	
Import another file	
Save Mapping Options	
Save or Update this document mapping	
Save This As New Document Mapping	
	Close

6. (Optional) Import another worksheet or save the current mappings to use for future uploads.



#### NOTE

Field mappings are project-specific and can be used by any user in the project where the mappings are saved.

7. Click Close.

#### Export/import via Jama Connect-to-Excel round-trip

With a round trip, you can batch edit multiple items or test cases in Jama Connect, as well as create new items or test steps to be imported.

The round-trip process involves these steps:

- 1. Export the items you want to edit from Jama Connect to an Excel worksheet.
- 2. Make your changes in the worksheet (add items or steps, delete steps, change field values).
- 3. Import the edited worksheet back into Jama Connect.

Round trip requires you to re-import Excel documents created by Jama Connect using an Excel template. When the system identifies items that originated in Jama Connect, it updates your items according to the conflict rule set at the time of the import.

Excel has a cell character limitation and, during the export, truncates rich text fields that exceed the limit. A truncated rich text field can impact the data that's imported to Jama Connect using round-trip.

#### To import or export via Jama Connect-to-Excel round-trip:

1. Export a folder, filter, or set of items to Excel:

a. In List View, select the columns that you want to export to Excel.

Only the columns shown in List View are exported, so be sure to display all columns you need to include.

B si_s2_P-CMP-23 Product						0	Sub	scribe	• Email
Component V	/iew details	d of dET colored						2	-
- \$ A		Name	Categories	Descrip	tion			Co	
<b>V</b>	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19	Processor Core 1	2022 Truck A /	The pro	duct sha	ll use a	n ARM	d Cort	ex A9 p
<b>V</b>	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-20	Processor Speed	-	The pro	cessor s	hall ope	erate a	at up to	1GHz.
✓ 🗉	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-21	Coprocessors	2022 Truck A /	The pro	duct sha	Il provid	de a S	IMD o	oproces
	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-53	Coreprocessor 2	2022 Truck A /	QA					
<b>V</b>	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-22	L1 Instruction Cache		The pro	duct sha	I includ	le 32k	B of L	1 instru
	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-23	Data Cache	-	The pro	duct sha	Il provid	de 32k	KB of d	lata cac
	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-24	L1 Cache Error Detecti		Both L1	caches	shall pr	ovide	single	error di

b. Select **Export > View all export options**.

🚏 Tra	ace	view	Export -	•
	W	Export t	o Word	
elate to i	D	Export t	o Excel	ie
		Export t	o PDF	1
Item fro		View all	export options	1
			3 hr	

c. In the window that opens, select **Excel Export for Roundtrip** from the menu on the left, then select **Run**.



## NOTE

Excel limits the number of characters that a cell can contain. If a Jama Connect field (rich text field) exceeds the limit, Excel truncates the text when it's exported. As a result, the Jama Connect is updated with the truncated data if imported via round-trip.

#### Jama Connect User Guide

rer Reports         Item Details         verage Report         fault Work Product Export to         ord         Projects         cel Export for Roundtrip         port to Excel Default         Projects         nc Report         Projects         nc Report         Projects         nc Report         Projects         nc Status         Projects         nc Sta	pload a Template		NOT A THE SALE OF THE STREET
Item Details         verage Report         fault Work Product Export to         ord         Projects         cel Export for Roundtrip         port to Excel Default         Projects         port to Word Default         Projects         nc Report         Projects         nc Report         Projects         nc Report         Projects         nc Report         Projects         nc Status         Projects         ace 2 Leveis Up and Down         Image:         Image:         Image:         Image:	ar Reports	1	How to create and use a custom report template
verage Report   fault Work Product Export to   projects   cel Export for Roundtrip   projects   port to Excel Default   projects   port to Word Default   projects   <	tem Details		
fault Work Product Export to ord         Projects         cel Export for Roundtrip         port to Excel Default         Projects         port to Word Default         Projects         nc Report         Projects         nc Report         Projects         nc Status         Projects         ace 2 Leveis Up and Down         Image: text         Image: text         Image: text         Image: text         Projects         Image: text         Image: text <t< td=""><td>verage Report</td><td>12</td><td></td></t<>	verage Report	12	
cel Export for Roundtrip   port to Excel Default   Projects   port to Word Default   Projects   nc Report   Projects   nc Status   Projects   ace 2 Levels Up and Down   Projects	ault Work Product Export to rd	П	
prot to Excel Default       Upload your template doc       Run your custom report.         Projects       Implant       Implant       Implant         Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant         Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant         Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant       Implant       <	el Export for Roundtrip		
Projects       Image: Constraint of the second	ort to Excel Default	П	Upload your template doc Run your custom report
Inc Report       I         Projects       1. Click a report listed on the left         2. Select your desired output format       3. Select any parameters for the report         A. Click the "Run" button       4. Click the "Run" button	ort to Word Default	Ū	How to run an existing report
Inc Status     Image:	c Report		Click a report listed on the left     Select your desired output format
A. Click the Kun Batton	c Status Fojecia	П	3. Select any parameters for the report
	ce 2 Levels Up and Down	П	4. Click the Run Buton
Projects Office Template Guide	ce Report	Ц	Office Template Guide
ace Upstream 2 Levels	ce Upstream 2 Levels	П	

#### 2. Open the newly downloaded Excel report and save it to a place where it can be edited.

100	F	G	H	and the second se		K	L
1.	Excel Ex	port from Jam	a		04/15/2014		
2	ID.	tions Type	Locked	Namo	Assigned	Protty	Global ID
3	CP-TC-2	Test Case	FALSE	Old Test Case 1		Low	GID-TC-1532
4	CP-TC-3	Test Case	FALSE	Old Test Case 2		Low	GID-TC-1533
5	CP-TC-4	Test Case	FALSE	Add to Test Cycle 1		Low	GID-TC-1569
5	CP-TC-5	Test Case	FALSE	Add to Test Cycle 2	-	Low	GID-TC-1570
7	CP-TC-6	Test Case	FALSE	Add to Test Cycle 3		Low	GID-TC-1571
8	CP-TC-9	Test Case	FALSE	Old Test Case 3		Unassigned	GID-TC-1928
9							
10	1						
_							

Columns A–E are hidden. They contain fields that Jama Connect requires to update existing items. 3. Edit the exported Excel document with required changes, then save it.

a. Edit the fields you need to update. In this example, the names of three test cases are changed.

-	F	6	н	1	1	K	L
1	Excel Expo	ort from Jama					
2	D	Them Type	Looker	Name	Alegret	Pronty	George ID
3	CP-TC-2	Test Case	FALSE	Updated Test Case 1		Low	GID-TC-1532
-4	CP-TC-3	Test Case	FALSE	Updated Test Case 2	_	Low	GID-TC-1533
5	CP-TC-4	Test Case	FALSE	Add to Test Cycle 1		Low	GID-TC-1569
6	CP-TC-6	Test Case	FALSE	Add to Test Cycle 2		Low	GID-TC-1570
1	CP-TC-6	Test Case	FALSE	Add to Test Cycle 3		Low	GID-TC-1571
.8	CP-TC-9	Test Case	FALSE	Updated Test Case 3		Unassigned	GID-TC-1928
10				and a state of the	7		

If a field is based on a pick list in Jama Connect (for example, **Priority**), the pick list values are exported as well. This ensures that valid data is entered before re-importing to Jama Connect.

- b. As needed, create new items or test steps that you want added to Jama Connect. After import, added items appear at the bottom of the set or folder where you import to.
  - You can add only one item type for the selected set or folder.
  - Leave the ID and Global ID fields blank. These values are assigned to new items during import
  - Leave Assigned field blank.

	F	G	8		1	K	1
1	Excel Exp	port from Jam	а		04/15/2014	4	
2	ID	Bern Type	Lipitor	Northe	Ranigned	Pratte	Othe D
3	CP-TC-2	Test Case	FALSE	Updated Test Case 1	1	Low	GID-TC-1532
4	CP-TC-3	Test Case	FALSE	Updated Test Case 2		Low	GID-TC-1533
5	CP-TC-4	Test Case	FALSE	Add to Test Cycle 1		Low	GID-TC-1589
6	CP-TC-5	Test Case	FALSE	Add to Test Cycle 2		Low	GID-TC-1570
7	CP-TC-6	Test Case	FALSE	Add to Test Cycle 3		Low	GID-TC-1571
5	CP TC 0	Test Case	FALSE	Updated Tool Cope 3	-	Linessigned	GID-TC-1928
		Test Case	FALSE	Added Test Case 1		Low	

4. Import the edited Excel file. The process is the same as for the one-way import except for the **Choose Field Mappings for Import** page:

ta Import Wizard						8
Choose Fi Step 1 of 4	eld Mappings for I	mport	Destination: Se In P	nhænduco part File: la Type: 2	ar Project-2.0   TastCastelmpo D07 Excel XLS	Proj R. slav X Fila
Excel Options						0
	Excel Worksheet:	Sheet1	*			
	Excel Header Row:	1	*			
		Any date fields will reflect your time zo	one (America/Los_Angele	s).		
Round-trip/Update	Options					.0
	Update Items:	(Is this a round-trip import?)				
	Conflict Resolution:	<ul> <li>Cri bradici, these way,</li> <li>Cri bradici, the vol tipitate</li> </ul>				
Field Mapping						0
Jama Item Field	Default Value		Mapping			
Name			Test Name		*	
Description	Rich text field	s cannot have default values.	Test Description		~	

- a. Excel Options If your file has more than one worksheet, select the one you want to import. Select the number of the row in your worksheet that contains the headers. By default, the Excel for Roundtrip export uses row 2 as the header row.
   If a header row doesn't exist, select row 0, which populates the Mapping section with the Excel default column names.
- b. Round trip/Update Options Select the checkbox for Update Items to update Jama Connect items that were modified in the round-trip Excel worksheet. Select an option for Conflict Resolution: Excel wins or Do Not Update. Conflicts might occur when a field in Jama Connect has changed values since the round-trip export was generated.
- c. **Field Mapping** Select the appropriate column from the worksheet for each field in Jama Connect where you want to import data. Select a mapping for **Name** and any required fields, as determined by the Admin configuration for the item type. Fields not required for the import don't need to be mapped.

#### Import relationships from Excel

Relationships are imported to Jama Connect from a CSV file. The file consists of two columns.

#### Important considerations

- A relationship import plugin must be configured [557] and enabled.
- A CSV file must include correct parent and child field values and must have the .csv extension.
- Import relationships in small batches no larger than 250 at a time.
- Check that your parameters are written correctly and reference the right API ID or field. For more information, see Configure import relationships plugin [557].

#### To import relationships:

- 1. From the Jama Connect header, select **Project > Import > Custom Import**.
- 2. In the window that opens, configure these settings:
  - Select a destination Select the location in your project for the Import Relationships Plugin. Destination is required, but it doesn't affect the import.
  - Select custom importer Select the Import Relationships Plugin created by your organization admin.
  - Field delimiter Select Comma.
  - Optional Encoding Select UTF8.
  - Select file to import Click Choose File, then navigate to the CSV file with the required relationships.

ustom Import					
Select a Destination:	CoveragePlus - Traditional   Porta	able De	vic P		
Select Custom Importer:	Requirements to Use Case Plugin		*		
Field delimiter:	Comma		*		
Optional Encoding:	UTF8	*			
Select file to import:	Choose File Reg to UC.csv				
				Import	Close

3. Select your Excel file and click Import.

Give Jama Connect time to process the relationships. If you're importing more than 100 relationships, the update isn't instantaneous.

When the import is complete, you see a notification at the top of your screen: "Success: X items imported."

#### Importing from IBM DOORS

You can import active IBM DOORS data, such as requirements, test cases, and project information to Jama Connect. You can also maintain relationships during the import process.

Here are the steps for a successful import:

- 1. Ensure you meet Jama Connect [127] and DOORS [127] prerequisites.
- 2. Export HTML zip file from DOORS [129].
- 3. Import to Jama Connect [130].

## **DOORS** export prerequisites

Before exporting data from IBM DOORS, verify these prerequisites for a successful export.

#### Mapping

- The Object Identifier column in IBM DOORS is typically mapped to the Name field in Jama Connect.
- If you're importing hierarchy, the DOORS standard Object Heading and Text (or Main) column must be mapped to the Description field in Jama Connect. This is the only column that exports hierarchy information to HTML for Jama Connect imports.

#### Links

If you're importing links (trace relationships) across multiple modules in DOORS:

- The modules must be open when you export. A DOORS export includes only the modules that are shown in your view, so make sure no filters are selected because they limit the number of items exported.
- Each module must have a unique prefix so that the **Object Identifier** is unique. DOORS doesn't enforce this requirement, so make sure you confirm that each module has a unique prefix before you export.
- The Object Identifier column must be visible in the DOORS module view (not Object Number or Absolute Number). The Object Identifier is a combination of the Module Prefix and the Absolute Number (as in SYS32). If the Object Identifier has only integer values, the Module Prefix is most likely empty.

## Jama Connect prerequisites for DOORS import

Before importing data from DOORS to Jama Connect, verify these prerequisites for a successful import.

#### Links

Relationships between items aren't created until both items are imported.

- To import relationships (or trace links), you must create a custom field in Jama Connect [595] for each item type you're importing.
- Each custom field must contain a unique identifier, which aids in importing relationships from DOORS to Jama Connect.

## **Create custom fields in Jama Connect**

To import relationships (or trace links), you must first create a new custom field in Jama Connect for each item type you're importing. Each field must contain a unique identifier.



## TIP

When importing many custom fields from DOORS, create a common custom item type that contains all the custom fields. Use this item type only for the initial import, then later convert sets to a standardized set of item types. That way, every imported item includes legacy DOORS information in its version history. To view this information, compare versions [265].

1. In Jama Connect, select Admin > Organization > Item types.

🙏 🏠 STREAM	PROJ	ECTS REV	iews risk	ADMIN			Ad	me Works
Organization Project «	Orga Iter	nization admin n types						
Categories								Add item typ
Editor templates	Image	Display	Piural	Key	Description	API-	System	Action
litem types		A field using a	A field using a	123		ID.	N.C.	
🔑 License		lookup matrix	lookup matrix	3		143	No	Edit   Views   Del
H Lookup matrices	0	Attachment	Attachments	ATT	Attachment Type	22	Yes	Views
O OSLC		Block Requirement	Block Requirements	BLKRQ		97	No	Edit ( Views   Del
Permissions	0	Change Request	Change Requests	CR		28	No	Edit   Views   De
E Pick lists	H	Component	Components	CMP	Component type	30	Yes	Edit ( Views

2. Find the item type you're using for the DOORS import, then select **Add field**.

Organization Project	C Orga	nization adr	nin													Help
Details	Iten	n types									-	-	_	-	V- 3	59
Categories							🕜 Add	item type	Item ty	pe fields for	Attach.	. 2	1 1	×	Ada	d field
Editor templates	Image	Display	Plural	Key	Description	API-	System	Action	-			Unique	Field		Pick	
ltem types						ID.			Order	Label	inroup	Name	Туре	Control	List	Cal
P License		a lookup	A field using a lookup matrix	1		143	No	Edit   Vir	1	Attachment		attachment	Integer			
Lookup matrices	0	Attachment	Altachments	ATT	Attachment	22	Yes	Views	2	Global 1D		globalid	Text Field			
O OSLC	~	(indexindent)			Туре	-		(intra-	3	Name		name	Text			
Permissions		Block Requirement	Block Requirements	BLKRQ		97	No	Edit   Vir	-	Teanno.		Tarris	Field	Taxt		
E Pick lists	0	Change	Change	CR		28	No	Edit   Vit	4	Description		description	Box	Box		
The Pluging		Request	requests						5	Test		date2	Date			

3. In the Add Field window, complete these options, then click **Save**.

Custom Fields: Custom Fields: Text Field  ield label: Doors ID  inique Field Name: SYS_DOORS_ID  cead Only: s Required: Set o Trigger Suspect: Synchronize:	Burda Barrad Birdan	Advent Value of the	-
Custom Fields:     Text Field     ield label:     Doors ID     infotip:     Inique Field Name:   SYS_DOORS_ID   Read Only:     is Required:        Use to Trigger Suspect:     Synchronize:	Predefined Fields:	Warting selecied	
ield label: Doors ID  fotip: Inique Fleld Name: SYS_DOORS_ID  Read Only: s Required: Use to Trigger Suspect: Synchronize:	Custom Fields:	Text Field	×
Inique Field Name: SYS_DOORS_ID Read Only: s Required: lise to Trigger Suspect: lynchronize:	ield label:	Doors ID	
Unique Field Name: SYS_DOORS_ID Read Only: s Required: Use to Trigger Suspect: Synchronize:	nfotip:	h states	
Read Only: s Required: Jse to Trigger Suspect: Synchronize:	Jnique Field Name:	SYS_DOORS_ID	
s Required: Jse to Trigger Suspect: Synchronize:	Read Only:	3.1	
Jse to Trigger Suspect: Synchronize:	s Required:	7.0	
Synchronize:	Jse to Trigger Suspect:		
	Synchronize:	1.1	

- Select a Field Type Select Custom Fields, then select Text Field from the drop-down menu.
- Field label Enter a name for the field (for example, "DOORS ID").
- Unique Field Name Enter "SYS\_DOORS\_ID." This is case-sensitive and must exactly match the above image.
- Select Read Only.
- This item type can now accept relationships (trace links) imported from DOORS.

Item ty	pe fields for	Attachm	nent							11		Ado	d field
Order	Label	Infotip	Unique Field Name	Field Type	Control	Pick List	Calculation	Read Only	Allow API Overwrite	Required	Suspect	Sync	API ID
1	Attachmen	t	attachment	Integer							*		184
2	Global ID		globalld	Text Field				4		4			326
3	Name		name	Text Field						4	4	4	185
4	Description		description	Text Box	Text Box						*	*	186
5	Test		date2	Date				*	*				141
6	Doors ID		SYS_DOORS_ID	Text Field									142



### IMPORTANT

The SYS\_DOOR\_ID field must be created for all the item types you are relating.

## **Export data from DOORS**

Before you can import data from IBM DOORS to Jama Connect, you must export it to an HTML .zip file.

- 1. On your local system, create the export target folder in the local drive/directory.
- 2. Open a DOORS module that you want to export and make sure there are no active filters.
- 3. Select File > Export > HTML.
- 4. Select Layout > Table.
- 5. Select Export > Current.
- 6. Select Links to import links as relationships and create the necessary field in Jama Connect [127].
- 7. Select a folder or location where you want to store your DOORS files.
- 8. **Browse** to the target folder and select **Export**.

File Edit View Insert Link Ar	nalysis Tabl	e Tools Discussions User Change Management Help	
▋௹₿ ■₽₽₽₽	9° 9° d	▌ <mark>於</mark> 노립 당규,	
View Standard view 👻	All levels	💽 🛛 📲 📲 ሕ 📄 🖼 🐨 📾 🟹 👎 📈 🤰	
BusinessRequirements1	ID	BusinessRequirements 1	- 1
H     I Business Requirements	BR-1	1 Business Requirements	۹.
	BR-2	1.1 Problem Statement	
	BR-3	The problem of Dental software being clunky and focused heavily on administrative tasks. This results in dentists programs that expect t mouse and keyboard.	
	BR-4	The impact of which ineeds and must go bet a cubicle.	in
	BR-5	A successful solution Include:     Incl	re
	BR-6	Back office requirements 1.htm     Browse     dar     scheduling and record     with insurance compan	ď
	BR-7	1.2 Position State	
	BR-16	1.3 Manage patier	
	RR-17	The system needs to maintain a robust natient profile. This includes contact information	

9. Without making changes, create a .zip file to the target folder that contains the exported HTML content.



## IMPORTANT

Changing or moving the exported files before compressing them can create unreliable results.

Images in the item description are imported. Comments, attachments, and item history aren't imported.

#### Import DOORS files to Jama Connect

Once you have exported data from DOORS, you can import it to Jama Connect using the Data Import Wizard in Jama Connect.

The import process creates:

- · Sets or folders in an existing set. DOORS Attributes map to fields in Jama Connect.
- · Relationships between items only after both items are imported.

The Data Import Wizard guides you through the import steps.

1. Open the Data Import Wizard: In the Explorer Tree, right-click an item where you want to import new items, then select **Import**. Your file will be imported below the selected item.

Explorer	$\nabla$		
Add •		Sugar Sugar	3 <b>a</b>
E 🖶 Semicond	uctor	Project 2.0	
🖃 🔠 Produc	t		
🖧 imp	ort Te	st	-
🕀 📰 Pro	-	Open item	
🕀 📄 Pro	E.	Open in new tab	
🕀 🖌 Pro		Preview item	
12C	Ge	Expand all	
	6	Collapse all	
Ext	-	Change set key	
🗄 🖓 Datasr 🕀 😱 Chang	0	Edit	
🕀 🕂 Projec	而	Duplicate item	
E Projec	FE E	View synced items	
<u> </u>	0	Add	Þ.
_	, căi	Convert to	•
Add tag	6	Reuse item(s)	
2022		Move item	
2022	D	Delete	
Reviev	-		-
	E	Import	
	6	Add baseline	
	9	Send for review	

The first page of the wizard opens with the **Destination** field pre-populated.

2. Complete the Select Import File and Destination page, then click Next.

Import Wizard			
Select Import File and Destin	nation	Basilmaulum: Pantry Products   Product F	iegun.
elect a File and Destination			
Select file to import:	Browse DoorsImport.zip		
Destination:	Pantry Products   Product Requirements	A	
Select a saved field mapping:	Series e Feld mapping	*	
	Delete an existing field mapping		
nooding			
Optional Encoding:	UTF8	*	
		Next	Cancel

- Click **Choose File** and select the DOORS file you want to import. If the file type isn't recognized, the import doesn't continue.
- (Optional) **Select a saved field mapping** Select previously created import configurations that were saved in the project for the same file type. This is helpful if you need to import multiple documents with the same field-mapping layout.
- Optional Encoding Select UTF8.
- 3. Complete the Choose Field Mappings for Import page, then click Next.

¥	
*	
v	
~	
1	
*	
	× ×

• **Field Mapping** — Select a mapping for the **Name** field (this is usually the DOORS Object Identifier attribute). You can assign a default value for other Jama Connect fields and select which DOORS attributes you want to map to each.



## IMPORTANT

The Description field is usually mapped to the Main attribute in DOORS. Bullets and other symbols are exported from DOORS as images, not as formatting. If you're mapping a field that contains images or formatting, the corresponding import field must be configured as a rich text field, otherwise these images don't appear.

You can't select a mapping for Step action, Step expected results or Step notes.

4. Select the options you want for hierarchy and relationships, then click Next.

Data Import Wizard		? ×
Step 2 of 4	Destination: DOORS:: MediKiosk export/import Import File: DoorsImport.zip File Type: ZIP File	
🔲 Use <b>item-subitem</b> structure (instead	of folder-item structure) when creating hierarchy of imported items	
Relationships		
	Create relationships from DOORS links:	0
Relationship Type:	×	
DOORS Id column:	ID 💌	
'From' (OUT) link direction in DOORS maps to:	upstream item in Jama	
	Reak Next Ca	

- **Preserve hierarchy** Select to keep the DOORS hierarchy when importing. If left unselected, the resulting items are at the same level.
- Use item/sub-item structure Select if you want all parent items to keep the item type of their children. If left unselected, all parent items become folders.



#### IMPORTANT

All items converted to folders lose their relationships (links). If you're importing relationships, use the item or child-item structure.

• Create relationships from DOORS links — Select to migrate Trace Links from DOORS to relationships in Jama Connect.

If you see the following error, check that you successfully completed all Jama Connect prerequisites [127] before import.

Relationships			0
It appears the Scope Definition you are atte your administrator or check the help docum	mpting to import into is missi entation.	ng a necessary field for the DOORS id. This field is required. See	
	Create relationships from	DOORS links:	
Relationship Type:		*	
DOORS Id column:	ID	~	
'From' (OUT) link direction in DOORS maps to:	upstream item in Jama	*	

- **Relationship type** Select the type of relationship you want to create. If left unselected, this value is set to your organization's default value.
- **DOORS ID column** Select the name of the column from your export that contains the DOORS Object Identifier, which is used as the identifier when creating relationships. It must match between item types.

 'From' (OUT) link direction in DOORS maps to — Set OUT=upstream or OUT=downstream. DOORS and Jama Connect use different terminology for relationship direction. The selection depends on how relationships are used in DOORS. Check the HTML file or run a test import to verify that this works as expected.



## IMPORTANT

Because relationships are created based on the DOORS Object Identifier, importing items twice creates multiple relationships.

5. If the fields were mapped successfully, you see a preview of your import. Verify that it looks correct, then click **Submit** to import all items.

ata Import Wizard		
Verify First Ite	m in Import File	Destination: DOORS:: MediKiosk export/import Import File: DoorsImport.zip File Type: ZIP File
Business Owner: Name: Description:	Matt Mickle BR-1	
1 Business Requirem	nents	
Priority: Status:	Unassigned Draft	
SYS_DOORS_ID:	BR-1	

The **Final Import Summary** page confirms the total number of items imported.

ata Import Wizard	e 🛛
Final Import Summary Step 4 of 4	Destination: DOORS:: MediKlosk export/import Import File: DoorsImport.zip File Type: ZIP File
Import successful! You have imported 22 items. You have created 1 relationships.	
Import another file	
Save Mapping Options Save or Update this document mapping	
Save This As New Document Mapping	
	Back Next Close

- (Optional) Import another DOORS Module.
- (Optional) If you plan on importing the same item type (objects) with the same mappings multiple times, you can save your mapping changes as a new document mapping here.
- 6. Click Close.

# **Find content**

The content you want to find might be anywhere in your project. For example, you might want to look at the requirements or test plans.

Jama Connect gives you many ways to directly access the items you need:

- Search [137] Look through an index of your item type fields, as well as text within a Word document, a PDF document, or text attachments, to bring up a list of items.
   Use the search bar in the header to help you find the topic you're looking for.
- Filter [140] Limit the results of a search by content such as author, keyword, date, or coverage. You can also filter stream comments, review comments, reviews, review items, Trace View items, and project items. To open the filter panel, select **Filter items** at the top of the center panel in List View or Reading View.
- Advanced filters [142] Save a set of rules or conditions for later use and share that filter with other users.
- Quick find [148] If you don't remember where to find something in the application, use the quick find [148] topic in this guide.

## Full text search

Jama Connect uses an index of the database fields for its search function. It also searches in text files, Word files, and PDF files to find the items you're looking for.

You can search item IDs, descriptions, attachments, and field values. Search for an item's unique ID (not global ID) and it opens.

#### Important considerations

- The application doesn't support searches for null values, including checkboxes that haven't been selected.
- Files larger than 25 MB aren't indexed, so their content isn't searchable.
- These file types are indexable: PDF, DOC, DOCX, PPT, PPTX, TXT, RTF.
- These file types are *not* indexable: XLSX, XLS, XML, HTML, HTM.

#### Ways you can search

For a simple search you can enter a word or a phrase in the search field. For an advanced search you can use wildcards, Boolean operators, and more.

- Single term Enter a single word to find items. For example, Test returns items with the terms test, pretest, tests, tested, and tester.
- **Phrase** Enter a group of words surrounded by double quotes. For example, "primary test" returns only items that contain the words primary test.
- **Single character wildcard** Enter a single character wildcard (?) with a single term (not a phrase). For example, te?t returns items that contain test, tent, and text.
- **Multi-character wildcard** Enter a multi-character wildcard (\*) with a single term (not a phrase). For example, syn\*ize returns items containing the terms synchronize and synthesize.



## IMPORTANT

To avoid a syntax error when you search, don't begin a search with an open or close parenthesis followed by text or by itself.

• Boolean operators — Boolean operators in ALL CAPS to combine phrases or terms.

- **OR (||)** is the default Boolean operator when you enter two terms or phrases. For example, primary test **OR** sample returns items that contain either primary test **OR** sample.
- AND returns items where both terms and phrases exist. For example, primary test AND sample returns documents that contain both primary test and sample.
- + returns items that must contain the term or phrase immediately following the +. For example, +primary test returns items that must contain primary and might contain test.
- **NOT** (-) excludes items that contain the word or phrase after NOT. The application doesn't allow null searches, so you must enter something before the word NOT to get any results. For example, primary test NOT sample returns items that contain primary test but not sample.
- **Parentheses** Use parentheses to group clauses and form sub-queries. For example, (tests OR samples) AND maps returns results that contain tests and maps OR samples and maps.
- **Prefix** Use the prefix tag: to indicate the tag field in your query. For example, tag: requirement management AND tag:security.
- Field name Use field names followed by a colon to search for information in specific fields. If a field name contains spaces, replace the space with an underscore character (\_). For example, user\_status:new returns items with a User status field that contains new.

## A note about special characters

A few special characters are automatically excluded (escaped) from full text search, so that they can be searched for as plain text.

The auto-escaped characters are: \ ^ [] { } ~ /

If you used \ to manually exclude special characters, you can achieve the same results by using double quotations. For example, if you previously searched using **\\*abc** to treat the **\*** character as text, you can now use **\*\*abc**'' instead.



#### NOTE

Special character search only works with newly created items. To use with older items, re-index the items you want to use in the search.

### Search for content

When you need to search across all projects or within a current project, you can enter a query in the search field.



#### NOTE

This search method is for a simple search. For more complex searches, use advanced filters [142].

For projects or sets to appear in your search results, you must have read permissions for them.

#### To search for content:

1. In the header next to the Search field, select where you want to search using the drop-down menu.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖽		Sibaron	All 🔻	Advanced search
Project •   Change project	Learn more 👻 🔛 Product 🔹		All	
Explorer      Add      Add      Semiconductor Project 2.0	SI_S2_P-CMP-23  Product  Component + View details		r Iujou	Email
⊞ In Datasheet ⊞ 🐨 Change Requests		2 157 liems		

- **Project** Within the current project.
- All Across all projects in your organization.
- 2. Enter your query in the search field and press Enter.

A wildcard is automatically added to the end of your search term. For example, if you search for term the wildcard returns the results term, terminal, terminus, termites, etc.

term	All	•	

3. (Optional) Select **Include wildcard results** to add a wildcard to the front of your search term. For example, if you search for term and select this option, results return docuterm, postterm, syncterm, etc.

term	and results			0 • 7 B •
	▼ /≣ • ¢ •	2 76 items		
<b>•</b> • 6	ID ID	Name	Current version	Description
0	SI_KS-ATT-4	Word doc	1	
- 0	LTE5-VRQ-4	Terms	2	-
- 0	LTE5-VRQ-652	Terms	2	-
- 0	LTE5-VRQ-664	Terms	2	

4. (Optional) Select **Filter items** to refine your search. For details, see Filter items for targeted results [140].

		term		All	• 🖓 Ad	ivanced se	arch
Learn more ×	Search Results: term	X					
🔎 Search all proje	cts						Email
term					0	- 5	- B- +
🗹 Include wilde	and results						
	eriems						
=		C 76 items					
	V III - D-	76 items Name	Current version	Desc	ription		
	ID SI_KS-ATT-4	C 76 items Name Word doc	Current version	Desci	ription		
	ID SI_KS-ATT-4 LTE5-VRQ-4	2 76 items Name Word doc Terms	Current version 1 2	Desc	ription		
	ID SI_KS-ATT-4 LTE5-VRQ-4 LTE5-VRQ-652	2 76 items Name Word doc Terms Terms	Current version 1 2 2	Desc	ription		

The results appear in List View.

Learn more ×	Search Results: term S	Product			
D Search all proje	ects				Email
term				7 - 0	B> •
Include wildo	ard results				
E # 8	▼ ≔ • ¢ •	2 75 ilems			
🔲 S 6	) ID	Name	Current version	Description	
	LTE5-VRQ-4	Terms	2		1
	LTE5-VRQ-652	Terms	2	-	
	LTE5-VRQ-664	Terms	2		
	LTE5-VRQ-676	Terms	2		
	LTE5-VRQ-688	Terms	2		
	LTE5-VRQ-700	Terms	2		
	LTE5-VRQ-712	Terms	2	15.00	
100	LTE5-VRQ-724	Terms	2		

## Filter items for targeted results

Using a filter is an easy way to refine your search results. To limit and focus your text search, you can filter content by author, date, or coverage.

Filters can't be saved. If you want to reuse a specific filter, use the advanced filters [142].

1. In Projects, select **Filter items** to open the **Filter by** panel.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖻		ten	m	All	<ul> <li>P Advanced search</li> </ul>
Project +   Change project 🔣	Learn more D Search Results: ter	m 🚊 🔛 Product 🕾			
Explorer     Add     Constructor     Project     Management A	Search all projects  term  Include wildcard results  T  T  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C	• S 75 items			Emai
Project Management A     Project A	Filter by	IS A	ID	Name	Current version
	Clear filters		LTE5-VRQ-4	Terms	2
	Keyword		LTE5-VRQ-652	Terms	2
	Filter by Keyword		LTE5-VRQ-664	Terms	2
	Include wildcard results		LTE5-VRQ-676	Terms	2
	Project		LTE5-VRQ-688	Terms	2
	LTE Auto (58)		LTE5-VRQ-700	Terms	2 0
Add tag	Semiconductor Sample Set (1)		LTE5-VRQ-712	Terms	2
2022(2) Alert(1)	Duplicate of Semiconductor Sample		LTE5-VRQ-724	Terms	2
Review(2)	Set (1)	5 🛍	LTE5-VRQ-736	Terms	2
(L) iest(i)	Semiconductor Project 2.0 (1)		LTE5-VRQ-748	Terms	2

- 2. Define how you want to filter your results. Filters are cumulative and the options you select are displayed at the top of the screen.
  - Keyword Enter a term in the Keyword field.
  - **Item Type** Templates for sets used within each project. For example, you can filter by System Requirement, Set, Folder, or more.

- Author The person who created or last modified the item.
- Direct Coverage Parameters for upstream, downstream, missing, and suspect relationships [307].
- Last Modified Time stamp of when the item was last modified.

```
Filter by
                Clear filters
 Keyword
  Filter by Keyword
     Include wildcard results
 Project
     LTE -- Auto (58)
     Semiconductor Sample
     Set (1)
     Duplicate of
     Semiconductor Sample
     Set (1)
     Semiconductor Project 2.0
     (7)
     Megan's Semiconductor
     Sample Set (1)
                       view all
 Item Type
     Feature Requirement (31)
```

```
Vehicle Requirement (19)
Datasheet (17)
System Requirement (8)
```

The search results appear in List View.

3. When you're done, select **Hide filters** to close the panel.

## term

Include wildcard results



All filters that were applied to the item are preserved and visible at the top of the page.

# Advanced filters

With the Advanced filters feature you can save a filter (a set of rules or conditions) for later use, as well as share it with other users.

This feature lets you add advanced filters [143], edit advanced filters [143], bookmark them, filter the Explorer Tree [147], and send items for review [166].

## **Rules and conditions**

- Each rule is matched to a specific item type or to all item types that have a specified conditions.
- A condition describes specific attributes of an item such as fields, tags, relationships, location, keyword, or if the item has children.
- Each rule can contain any number of conditions.
- A rule can be set to return items that follow any one of the conditions, all of the conditions, or none of the conditions.

## **Finding advanced filters**

TIP

In the left panel next to the Explorer Tree tab, select Filters to display a list of existing filters.



To find out the author of a filter, hover over the filter name.

Project	-   Change project		~
E	🖓 Filters 🔛		
O Add	filter	1	96
View:	Bookmarks Al		
Bookma	arked filters		*
*Curre All Proje	nt project		-
*Duplic and cu	Author: Admin Tes	filter public	
My Filt	er		
My Filt	ler		



#### **IMPORTANT**

You can delete a shared filter even if you're not the creator. Before you do however, make sure the filter isn't shared. When you delete a shared filter, it's deleted for everyone.

## Add or edit advanced filters

For best search results and quality performance, make your filters as specific as possible to return only the results you need.

If you run a filter against all your Jama Connect projects, the results you get might be too broad to be helpful and performance can be affected by such a large data set.



## NOTE

Only organization admins can edit filters that they didn't create. Depending on your permissions, you might not be able to edit filters that were created by other users. To view their details, right-click on the filter name under the **Filters** tab and select **View criteria**.

1. Select the Filters tab in the Explorer Tree.

Project - Change project	u
Add filter	12 🤤
View; Bookmarks All	
Bookmarked filters	
*Current project	
*Duplicate of Second private filter and current projects	public 📕

2. Select Add filter to open the New filter window.

- 3. Enter a name for the filter and select an option to indicate the project scope:
  - This project only Queries data from the project the user is viewing at the time. The filter appears only when using this project.
  - **Current project** Queries data from the project the user is viewing at the time. But the filter is also available for use in other projects.
  - All projects Pulls data from every project in the organization that the user has permissions to view. Using this option, you can see items from other projects that match the filter criteria.
- 4. (Optional) Select **Make public** to make the filter available to anyone with access to the project.
- 5. Define your filter with available conditions, which depend on the selected item type.
  - Add rule creates a new rule. A filter can contain any number of rules.
  - + adds a condition.
  - - removes a condition.
  - Add condition group (blue button) adds a condition group, which depends on the selected item type.
|   | _     | nde          | r   |
|---|-------|--------------|-----|
|   | 2     | ()<br>end    | er  |
| 0 | Q     | ) Ivst       | h   |
| 0 | Add o | condition gr | oup |

• **this filter...** opens the **Embedded Filter** window, where you can add a sub-filter to your relationship condition.

Create	rules						
Match	All Item Types	¥	according to Any	r of the	e following conditions:		(X)
	Has no downstream items	*	that are	¥	of any relationship type	✓ that match this filter	00

For example, you can create a filter to identify change requests with downstream relationships and a sub-filter to limit downstream items to the relationship item type.

- Limit to items updated within options limit the filter to items updated within a certain time frame.
- Sort order for results by options define how results are sorted on output.
- 6. Select **Preview <number> Results...** in the bottom left corner of the New filter window. Results appear in the same window.

New filter			
Name the filter	_		
My Filter		Make public	
Select a project			
Semiconductor Project	t 2.0 🕶		
Create rules			
Match All Item Types	*	according to Any 💙 of the following conditions:	(X)
Name	¥	contains word 🗸	000
All dates Sort order for results	ev.		
Sort order for results	by		
Heading	¥ /	scending 👻 💿	
Preview 284 Resulta			Save View in List

Results example:

New filter			97					
ID		Ê	-		0	Name	Description	
SI_S2_P-ATT-1	0		12	0		bull run.png		
SI_S2_P-ATT-2	Ø		12	0		portland-oregon.jpg		
SI_S2_P-TSTP	E		11	0		Test Plan name		
SI_S2_P-TSTC	2		12	0		First test cycle edit	test	
SI_S2_P-TSTP	圓		12	0		Test 2	Goals <in describe="" goals="" of="" plan.="" section,="" test="" the="" this=""> Roles and</in>	
SI_S2_P-TSTC	C		12	0		Test		
SI_S2_P-TSTC	2		11	0		Cycle two		
SI_S2_P-TSTP	圓		11	0		Test A	Goals <in describe="" goals="" of="" plan.="" section,="" test="" the="" this=""> Roles and</in>	
SI_S2_P-TSTP	Ē		12	0 <b>P</b>		Test Team A	Goals <in describe="" goals="" of="" plan.="" section,="" test="" the="" this=""> Roles and</in>	
SI_S2_P-TSTC	2		12	0		Test Team A		
SI_S2_P-TSTC	2		11	0		Add test cycle A		
SI_S2_P-TSTC	2		1	0		New cycle		
SI_S2_P-TSTR	折		12	D		Core Supply Voltage		
SI_S2_P-TSTR	*		12	0		Core Supply Voltage		
SI_S2_P-TSTR	*		11	0		MPU Supply Voltage		
SI_S2_P-TSTR	唐		11	0		MPU Supply Voltage		
SI_S2_P-TSTR	浙		12	0		RTC Supply Voltage		
SI_S2_P-TSTR	*		12	0		RTC Supply Voltage		
SI_S2_P-TSTR	A		1	0		Core Supply Current		
SI_S2_P-TSTR	15		1	0		Core Supply Current		
	. e	_	-		-			
III Page	1 0	f3	- 14	1 2 I S	show:	100 🗸	Displaying items 1 -	100 of 284
Back to Filter							Save Vie	w in List

- 7. (Optional) Click **View in List** to see the filter items in List View.
- 8. When finished creating and editing your filter, click Save.

#### **Duplicate advanced filters**

To save time when creating advanced filters, you can duplicate an existing filter, then edit it for another search. This is especially useful with complex criteria.

1. View your saved filters by selecting the **Filters** tab in the Explorer Tree.



2. Right-click on the filter you want to copy and select Duplicate Filter.

Project +   Change pr	oject < 🗲
Filters	Ser
Add filter	( ) ( )
View: Bookmarks	All
Bookmarked filters	( <b>•</b> ) =
*All Market Requirem	onte -
*Current project	Remove from bookmarks
*Duplicate of Second and current projects	View criteria
My Filter	Duplicate Filter
My Filter	👰 Edit Filter
C / / / /	Contract Con
	Add baseline
	Send for review

3. In the window that opens, enter a name for the copy and edit the filter settings [143] as needed.

Juplicate Filter	
Name the filter	
Duplicate of My Filter	
Select a project	
Pantry Products *	
Sreate rules	
Match Block Requirements 🛛 🕶 according to Any 🗳 of the following conditions:	1 <u>×</u> 1
ID contains word v	000
Match All Item Types 💉 according to Any 💌 of the following conditions:	X
Name v contains word v	90
imit to items updated within	Add Rule
All dates	
Sort order for results by	
Heading 😽 Ascending 😴 🖸	
review 71 Results	Save View in List

4. Click Save.

### Filter the Explorer Tree

The Explorer Tree can contain a lot of items, which can be difficult or time-consuming to find what you need. To quickly locate multiple items, apply an existing filter.

- 1. View your saved filters by selecting the **Filters** tab in the Explorer Tree.
- 2. Right-click on the filter you want to use and select **Apply filter to Explorer**.

Project - Chang	e project	«
Filters		8
<ul> <li>Add filter</li> </ul>		20
View: Bookmark	s All	
Bookmarked filters	1	
*All Market Requi	romonte	
*Current project	Remove from boo	kmarks
All Projects	Apply filter to Exp	lorer
*Duplicate of Sec and current project	View criteria	
My Filter	Duplicate Filter	
My Filter	💯 Edit Filter	
	Collete Filter	
	Add baseline	
	Send for review	

The filter results are shown in the Explorer Tree. Items in the hierarchy that don't apply are shown in lighter text.

## Export from advanced filters

You can use advanced filters to export data directly to Word, Excel, or PDF.

If you view your filter results in Reading View, the hierarchy container items are visible. These items offer visual context and are included in your export. However, you can't select or change the items from this view.

- 1. Create the advanced filter [142] that gathers the items you want to export.
- 2. Select **Export** and choose the output type.

The file opens in a new tab.

# Quick find

Use this handy table to quickly find the Jama Connect feature you need.



### NOTE

When viewing Jama Connect on a small screen, icons are displayed as image-only, without the text.

To find	Where	Select
Baselines	Explorer Tree	Baselines tab
		Project - Change project
		Baselines EL S
		Add - Show IDs ON 2 (
		Pearsh
		Search
		BLFD-1 New folder      BSRC-20 Set: INFORMATION
Dashboard	Upper left corner of the screen	Project name
	Explorer Tree	
		Pantry Products 🖂
		Project - Change project
		Explorer 🖓 🧱 🗖 🖺 🖏
		● Add - ☆ 같 ●
		E A Pantry Products
		Product Requirements
		Iltimate Pantry
		E Change Requests
Homepage	Top header from anywhere in Ja-	House icon
	ma Connect	
		STREAM
Impact Analysis	Single Item View	Single Item View > Impact analysis
		× Impact analysis
		• Impact analysis
		Image-only version:
		Strengthen cons
		Impact analysis
		▼ N

To find	Where	Select
Item versions	Single Item View (side toolbar)	Versions widget
Relationships	Single Item View (side toolbar)	Relationships widget
Relationship Sta- tus Indicator	<ul> <li>Side toolbar</li> <li>In a column in List View (when configured)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Relationships widget</li> <li>Image: Second structure</li> <li>Image: Top number Represents the number of upstream items related to this item.</li> <li>Bottom number Represents the number of downstream items.</li> </ul>
Relationship rules	Single Item View	<b>Relationships</b> widget > <b>Relate items</b> in the bottom panel > <b>Show relationship diagram</b> at the top of the right panel For more information, see Find relationship rules [157].

To find	Where	Select
Releases	Top of the left panel	Releases
		Semiconductor Project 2.0 🛅
		Project -   Change project &
		E V Releases E S
		<ul> <li>Add release</li> <li>Add release</li> </ul>
		E A Semiconductor Project 2.0
		Product V1.0 [09/21/2016]
		Product V2.0 [12/14/2016]
Review status	Header	Reviews
		PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK
		• Grid Displays review status at the bottom of each card.
		FILTER BY VIEW 🔠 Grid 🗐 Table
		• Table Displays review status in the Review status column.
		FILTER BY VIEW B Grid Table
Risk analyses	Header	Risk
		REVIEWS RISK ADMIN
Suspect links	List View	You can find suspect links from several places in Jama Connect.
	<ul> <li>Single Item View</li> <li>Advanced filters</li> <li>Explorer Tree</li> </ul>	For more information, see Find suspect links [158].
Test cases	Explorer Tree	You can find test cases from several places in Jama Connect.
	<ul> <li>Projects &gt; List View</li> <li>Projects &gt; Trace View</li> </ul>	For more information, see Find test cases [160].
Test plans	Explorer Tree	Test Plans tab > <plan></plan>
		Project - Change project 🛛 🛠
		E 🖓 🥅 🗖 É Test Plans 🖏
		<ul> <li>Add test plan</li> <li>Ø</li> </ul>
		Test plans
		Test 2
Trace View	Projects	Trace View button
		Trace view

To find	Where	Select.		
Traceability Ma- trix	Projects > Project > Traceability	Trace Matrix		
		Project - Change project	~	Learn more
		Subscribe to all items Subscribe others to all items	ans 💸	Semiconduc
		Traceability	Trace Ma	atrix
		B Sync items		e Explorer
		Suspect links		
		B Import		

## Find an item in the Explorer Tree

If you navigated to an item from search results, filter results, or tags, you can quickly locate an item in the Explorer Tree.



### NOTE

If a component, set, or folder contains over 250 items, some items aren't visible in the Explorer Tree.

#### Use one of these methods to find an item in the Explorer Tree:

· From the Single Item View toolbar, use interactive links to find a location in your project hierarchy.



• From the Explorer Tree, view the highlighted item you want to find.



#### Find moved items

If you don't know where to look for items that were moved, you can use the Activity Stream to find and access recently moved items. This is also an easy way to move all items back to the previous location (or to another location) after a move is made.

#### To find moved items:

1. Open the Activity stream [237] and enter **moved** in the search field.

0D	😸 My settings	moved	🛪 🖓 Add Comment   🔅 🛓 🖵 Hide
100	Admin Test Moved		
X	SI_S2_P-INFO-1 moved. 11/04/2021 Details		

2. Select View Moved Items to see the files that were moved.



The results appear in List View.

3. (Optional) Hover your mouse over the location to see the file path.

Sampl	e User Item(s) moved	
Moved SI-S	ET-28 Stakeholder Requirements from	Market Input
Q3/23/2021	Details [view moved item]	Semiconductor Framework   Market Input -

#### Find synchronized items

With reuse and synchronization, you can duplicate supporting information and continuously keep it in sync. Supporting information includes any item, container of items, or a project.

Only an organization admin can configure reuse and synchronize [556].

#### Use one of these methods to identify synchronized items or find reused items:

• Explorer Tree — In the Explorer Tree, a blue dot indicates that an item was synchronized.



• List View — Select an item in List View, then select Reuse to open the Reuse item(s) window.

Storage					⊕	- 4 1	b •
	• • 0	1 of 5 selec	cted	• /	<u>1</u> 8 × 2	0 0	面
E ID	\$ A	響	<b>.</b>	Relationship St	Last Activity Date	# of Upstr	# of Do
MSB2-MTK-1		12			12/21/2022	00	01
MSB2-MTK-2	8	11	.0	1111年生	01/06/2022	00	00

- Reading View Select an item in Reading View, then select Reuse to open the Reuse item(s) window.
- Document View Select an item in Document View, then select Reuse to open the Reuse item(s) window.
- Project drop-down menu An organization or project admin can select Project > Sync items to open the Sync items window, or Project >Manage all projects to duplicate (and optionally synchronize) projects [637].
- Manage all projects An organization or project admin can select Project > Manage all projects to duplicate (and optionally synchronize) projects [637].
- Stream Reuse and synchronization of items adds activity entries to the stream [252] for all items created or modified during the process.
- Synced items window Right-click on any item in the Explorer Tree, then select View synched items to open the Sync Items window. There you can select any item or container on the left to see which other items have the same global ID.

• Bottom panel — Open an item in Single Item View, then on the right toolbar, select Synchronized items to open the bottom panel, which displays all items currently synchronized with this item.

Number of Synchronia	zed items: 0		Connect Ite	ms 🚼 Break Sync 🐥 Sync All 😰 🥥 🔲 Hide
ID	Global ID	Name	Project	Sync Status -
CL3-ARCH-1	GID-60003	Implant	Clear 3 Hearing Aid	(Current Item)

## Find advanced filters

Once advanced filters are created and saved, you can view them in a list and find out which user created each one.

- 1. From the project with the existing filters you want to view, select **Filters**.
- 2. Hover your cursor over the filter name to see who created the filter.

Project -	Change project	~
O Add	7 Filters	5 1 (9)
View:	Bookmarks All	
Bookma	rked filters	*
*Curren All Proje	nt project	
*Duplic and cu	Author: Admin Test filter publ	io 📕
My Filt	er	
My Filt	er	



### **IMPORTANT**

You can delete a filter when you no longer need it. Before you do however, make sure the filter isn't shared. When a shared filter is deleted, even if you're not the creator, it's deleted for everyone.

## Find review status

Quickly find a review status using one of these methods.

In some cases, the review status value in Grid View is different than in Table View. For example, **In Progress** (Table View) vs **X days left** (Grid View).

• Select Grid to see the review status at the bottom of each card.

FILTER BY •	VIEW	Grid	🗐 Table
Quick Loans		10	
Test A			
V1			
Moderator(s): Adm	in Test 📩		
16 days ago	-		
Completed <b>4</b>			

• Select Table to display review status in the Review status column.

_			FI	LTER BY •	VIEW B	Grid Table
						Start a review
	Review status	Role	Revisio	Moderator(s)	End date	Actions
1	In Progress	Moderator	1	Admin Test	03/24/2022	0.00
	Completed	Moderator/Approve:	2	Admin Test	02/22/2022	260.85
	Completed	Moderator/Approver	t	Admin Test	01/30/2022	06688

# **Find relationships**

You can view and filter [314] related items filter related items in Single Item View, in either a table or a visual layout.

1. In Single Item View, click **Relationships** in the side toolbar, which opens the bottom panel and displays related items in a table.



2. To see a different perspective with links to more rapid actions, you can click **Visual Layout** in the bottom panel.

Upstream Items  👚	Item	🕂 Downstream Items
Item: SI-PS-23 - 32 Bit RISC Processor Project: Semiconductor Framework Switch Direction Set Let Remove		Item: SI_S2_P-CR-3 - Test CR Project: Semiconductor Project 2.0
Item: SI-PS-29 - 3D Graphics Acceleration Project: Semiconductor Framework		Item: SI_S2_P-D_DESC-14 - Architecture Diagram Project: Semiconductor Project 2.0

### Find relationship rules

Relationship rules are set up by an organization admin [571], but can be viewed by all users in two places.

1. In Single Item View — Select the Relationships widgets, select Relate items in the bottom panel, then select Show relationship diagram at the top of the right panel. The relationship diagram for this project appears in a pop-up window.



2. From the dashboard [408] — When you select your project in the Explorer Tree, the dashboard tab displays the relationship diagram.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖻	Search	Project - 🖓 Advanced search
Project - Change project 🛛 🐇	Learn more * Dashboard: Semiconductor Project *	
Explorer V 📰 🗖 🕄 🛇	Semiconductor Projec	📾 Stream Help
Add      Add	Semiconductor Project 2.0 • Dashboard • View items Set as my default dashboard  •	<b>•</b> /
Project Management A     Project Management A     Project A     Project A	Relationship rule diagram	Vertification     Design Descreption     Vertification     Design Descreption     Vertification     Design Descreption

### Find suspect links

You can use several methods to find and clear suspect links [315].

1. To view and clear suspect links [315] for a project, select Project > Suspect links.



2. To view and clear suspect links [315] for an item, open an item in Single Item View [59] and select **Relationships** in the side toolbar to open the bottom panel.



The Suspect column reports if an item is suspect due to upstream changes.

🛄 Table Layout 🚠	Visual Layout		Rel	ate Item(s) 🖉 Edit +   🖓 🖻 🔵 📃 Hide
ID	Name -	3	Туре	Suspect
🖯 1 Upstream Item				
CL3-UN-9	Adoptability	2	Related to	Yes: Clear
a 1 Downstream Ite	m			
CL3_2-GMP-7	Hardware		Related to	No

- 3. In List View or Single Item View, view suspect links in the Relationship Status Indicator [308].
- 4. Find suspect links using advanced filters [142].



# Find the Trace Matrix

The Trace Matrix is a visual representation of relationships between the items in a project.

To access the Trace Matrix:

- 1. Select **Projects** in the header.
- 2. Select Project > Traceability > Trace Matrix.

Pantry Products	1		
Project - Change proj	ect	~	Learn more
Subscribe to all item	all Items		Pantry
Traceability	Þ 🔢	Trace Ma	trix
Sync items	Π	Coverage	Explorer
Suspect links	T		00
🔒 Import	4		

The Trace Matrix window opens, which provides a visual representation of relationships between the items in a project.

For example, you can select a set of requirements and see which have related test cases.

Left: System Requirement	Y Limit	: 100	*	Top:	Defect	Y L	imit: 100	×	View Matri
Matrix Table		Confirm st	andard deviation arou	und unit length	iOS music sound controls	don't work	Materia	I type af	fects diameter
Abutment							1.20		
Android Integration									
Durable									
Haptic Feedback					t				
Hearing Gain in Free Field Pure Tone Audi	ogram				L		-		
Implant									
Implant attachment									
iOS Integration									
Suprathreshold Speech Perception									
Surgical Installation			1						
SymbianOS Integration									
Waterproof while swimming and showe	ing							1	t.
198 1 1.4. A							<u>.</u>		

### Find test cases

Use one of these methods to find test cases.

- 1. Use the Explorer Tree [47].
- 2. Select **Projects > Trace View [58]**. Test cases appear in relationship to items they test, along with associated test runs.
- 3. Select **Projects > List View** [54] and filter by item type name.
- 4. Select **Test Plans > Test Cases**. Test cases appear in the test cases section of the plan.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖻	Soard)	Project - P Advanced search			
Project •   Change project	+ Requirements SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19:Proce Test Plan name 🦉 🖌	SI_S2_P-VAL-5:Validate SI_S2_P-VER-3:RTC S			
Add test plan	Test Plan name	🚡 Overview 🔲 Test Cases 🗸 🗸 Test Runs			
Test plans	🚱 Add Test Group 🔺 Collapse all groups 🌍	Add test cases to groups			
New Test Plan		A Semiconductor Project 2.0			
Test 2	Drag Test Cases here to automatically create Test Groups	🔞 E Explorer 🖓 🛄 🔎			
Test Plan name	by hierarchy.	(注) Previèw			
Test Team A	***************************************	Product			
Archived Test plans	Product Verification Specification 6 cases	In Datasheet     In Oatasheet     In Oatasheet     In Oatasheet     In Oatasheet     In Oatasheet     In Oatasheet     In Oatasheet			
(2)	SI_S2_P-VER-1 Core Supply Voltage				
	SI_S2_P-VER-2 MPU Supply Voltage	🕀 🔜 Project Management A			
	SI_S2_P-VER-3 RTC Supply Voltage	Project A			
	SI_S2_P-VER-6 DDR Supply Current				
	SI_S2_P-VER-7 Deep Sleep Power Consumption				
	SI_S2_P-VER-8 Standby Power Consumption				

# Find test plans

A test plan is an item that documents the overall strategy for validating or verifying that a product or system meets its design specifications and requirements.

Although test plans are items, they aren't visible in the Explorer Tree. They are visible on the Test Plans tab.

1. At the top of the Explorer Tree, select the Test Plans tab



- 2. Select the plan you want to use to view details [374] of that plan.
- 3. View and comment on test plans in review [376], as needed.



# TIP

Although test plans don't appear in the Explorer Tree, you can reveal them with an advanced filter [142].

# **Reviews in Jama Connect**

Reviews play a key role in successful product development. They help ensure that a new project meets stakeholder, market, and compliance requirements.

Jama Connect uses an iterative and collaborative approach for reviewing requirements and other artifacts in real-time, which improves stakeholder alignment, reduces review cycles, and eases the path to compliance.

Your organization administrator configures review center settings [632] to meet the needs of your organization.

Review features include a wizard that streamlines review setup and electronic signatures for coordinated approval and signoff.

## **Roles for review workflow**

Your role determines which tasks you perform in a review.

**Moderator** — Create, manage, finalize, and close a review. Only moderators can comment on a review that has been **Closed for feedback**.

Approver — Provide feedback and approve or reject the item during the review.

Reviewer — Provide feedback.

Review Administrator — See and manage all reviews.

Role	Responsibilities and actions
Moderator	<ul> <li>Initiate a review.</li> <li>Add and manage review participants.</li> <li>Modify a review.</li> <li>Edit an item to incorporate feedback.</li> <li>Close and reopen a review.</li> <li>Publish a revised review.</li> <li>Finalize a review.</li> <li>Archive a review.</li> <li>Delete a review.</li> <li>Recover an archived review.</li> <li>Transition items based on item workflow.</li> <li>Remove items.</li> </ul>
Reviewer*	<ul><li>Contribute feedback.</li><li>Finish a review as a reviewer.</li></ul>
Approver	<ul> <li>Contribute feedback.</li> <li>Approve or reject review items.</li> <li>Delegate approval.</li> <li>Finish the review as an approver.</li> <li>Add electronic signatures to a review.</li> </ul>
Review administrator	<ul> <li>View a list of all reviews.</li> <li>Perform administration tasks for all reviews, whether or not they were invited to participate.</li> <li>Archive and unarchive a review.</li> <li>Recover a deleted review.</li> <li>Configure review comments.</li> </ul>
All	<ul> <li>Find and view review items.</li> <li>Compare versions.</li> <li>Monitor progress.</li> <li>Vote on items.</li> <li>Subscribe to items on the page.</li> </ul>

\* Moderators and approvers can also perform all reviewer actions.

# Review lifecycle — Who does what during a review

Action	Moderator	Reviewer	Approver	Review Ad- min
Initiate a review [166]	x			
Invite participants [171]	x		X	
Add and manage review participants [173]	x			
Modify a review [174]	x			
Delegate approval [190]			X	
Participate as a reviewer [184]	x	x	x	
Find and view review items [195]	x	X	X	X
Contribute feedback [185]	X	X	X	
Finish the review as a reviewer [187]	X	X		
Finish the review as an approver [188]			X	
Electronically sign the review [189]			X	
Incorporate review feedback [175]	x			
Close a review [177]	x			
Mark a review as completed and update workflow status [183]	x			
Compare versions [202]	x	X	X	X
Monitor progress [205]	x	X	X	X
Vote on items [209]	x	X	X	x
Subscribe to items on the page [209]	x	X	X	X
View list of all reviews [164]				X
Perform administration tasks for all reviews [192]				X
Archive a review [179]	x			X
Recover an archived review [180]	X			x
Recover a deleted review [192]				x
Configure review comments [193]				x
Remove or recover items in a review [181]	x			

# Workflow status for reviews

The review status field shows the current workflow stage (status) of a review. This field changes as a result of other operations, like closing and archiving a review.

In Grid and Table View, you can quickly find a review status.

In some cases, the review status value in Grid View is different than in Table View. For example, **In Progress** (Table View) vs **X days left** (Grid View).

Grid View

Table View

ILTER BY VIEW 🔠 Grid 🗐 Table			F	LTER BY •	VIEW 🗄	Grid Table
Quick Loans	Review status	Role	Revisio	Moderalor(s)	End date	Actions
Test A	In Progress	Moderator	1	Admin Test	03/24/2022	0
/1	Completed	Moderator/Approver	2	Admin Test	02/22/2022	00046
	Completed	Moderator/Approver	ŧ	Admin Test	01/30/2022	06.48
voderator(s): Admin Test 🚖						
16 days ago						
Completed 4						

Status	Definition	Grid View	List View
In progress	Default status when moderator initiates a review [166] . Status can be changed to "In progress" when the moderator restores a deleted review or marks the review status as "In progress [155]."	No	Yes
Completed	Status displayed when a moderator selects <b>Close for feedback</b> or a deadline date is met.	Yes	Yes
Review final- ized	Status when a moderator marks a review as finalized.	Yes	No
Archived	Status when a moderator archives a review [179], or when a review administrator recovers a deleted review or sets the status to "Archived."	Yes	Yes
Deleted	Status when a moderator or review administrator deletes a review [179].	No	Yes

# **Review Center dashboard views**

Access reviews from the top navigation by selecting **Reviews** in the header.



From the header, you have two options:

My reviews	All reviews where you are assigned as a reviewer [184], approver [187], or moderator [165].
All reviews	Reviews that haven't yet been archived.

#### What you see in the dashboard

What is displayed in the dashboard depends on your role, whether you've been invited to a review, and the options you select.



Review administrators — See all reviews.

**Users** — See only public reviews until they are invited to a review (depends on how your organization administrator and moderator have set public review permissions).

Filter by — Filter reviews by review status or by your role in the review.

**Include/Hide archived reviews** — See reviews that have been archived or remove them from your results.

The indicator for a public review depends on your view:



Table View	
Public	
$\checkmark$	
✓	

# **Moderator tasks**

Certain tasks can only be performed by a moderator. Moderators can also be reviewers or approvers, in which case they can perform all tasks for those roles as well as moderator tasks.

- Initiate a review [166]
- Add and manage participants [173]
- Modify a review [174]
- Incorporate feedback for review items [175]
- Close an "in progress" review for feedback [177]

- Finalize a review [179]
- Publish a revised review [178]
- Archive a review [179]
- Delete a review [179]
- Recover an archived review [180]
- Remove or recover items in a review [181]
- Transition a Peer review to an Approval review [182]
- Close and finalize Approval review [183]

## Initiate a review

You can create reviews for any item or group of items that you can access. By default, you are the moderator for any reviews you create.

You can start a review from several places in the interface. Whichever method you use, a wizard opens and guides you through the process.

Method/location	Action			
Reviews	Select Reviews in the top navigation, then select Start a review.			
Test plan	Select <b>Test runs &gt; Cycle &gt; Send for review</b> to send a cycle of test runs to review. <b>Note</b> : To send an entire test plan for review, select <b>Test Plans</b> , right-click on the test plan, and select <b>Send for review</b> .			
Projects > Single Item View	Select the item you want to review, then select <b>Send for review</b> .			
Projects > List View	Select the items you want to review, then select Send for review.			
Explorer Tree	Right-click on an item and select Send for review.			
	Filters tab — Right-click on the filter that points to the items you want to review, then select Send for review.			
	Releases tab — Right-click on the filter that points to the release you want to review, then select Send for review.			
	<b>Baselines</b> tab — Right-click on the source that includes the baselined items you want to review, then select <b>Send for review</b> (reviews the items in their current state, not their baselined state). If all items from an existing source were deleted, you can't select <b>Send for review</b> from the baseline tree.			



# TIP

When you initiate a review, a baseline of the selected reviews is automatically generated [292]. You can find this baseline [292] under the Baselines tab or you can find a link under the Versions tab of any item in this review.

#### To start a review:

1. Select the items you want to review using one of the methods described in the previous table.

Definition 2 Softimes	1 Darticipante	A Invitation	
Deminion 2 Serunda	a rancipants	· Information	Learn more
ame			
Review Cycle 2			
leadline			
05/27/2022 📃 17:00 PDT 🝷			
/rojecl			
Semiconductor Project 2.0	٩		
iems			
Select items	Q		
Include item attachments (Reviewers must have proper project p	permissions to view attachments.)		
10 adds			



- 2. **Definition [167]** Define your review.
- 3. Settings [169] Configure the settings for your review.
- 4. **Participants [171]** Configure who you want to review your items.
- 5. **Invitation [172]** Complete the invitation email.

## Definition

When you initiate a review [166], the first step is to define the review.

- 1. If you selected items before initiating the review, the system suggests a name, or select a name for the review.
- 2. Set a deadline for the review, or the deadline defaults to one week from today.



# NOTE

If you're using Windows, be sure that "Adjust for daylight saving time automatically" is enabled in "Date and time" settings in Windows, so that the time zone is displayed correctly when initiating a review.

- 3. If you selected items before initiating the review, the **Project** field shows the name of the source project. Otherwise, select the **Project** that contains the items for this review.
- 4. If you selected items before initiating the review, this field isn't editable. Otherwise, select the items that you want to review.

You can select whole containers or expand the containers to select individual items. You can also use the **Releases** or **Filters** tab to select a release or filter to send to review. You can't select items from multiple tabs. Use the **Select** button to indicate your choice is complete.

nitiate review		x
Definition 2 Settin	a Peritoinen	ts. 4 Invitation O Learnmone
Select items		×
Item selection Releases Filters		
Select items.		
Semiconductor Project 2.0      Project Management A      Stakeholder Requirements      Datasheat      Change Requests      Project Management A		
		Select Cancel

5. Select **Include item attachments** to add item attachments to the review.

Items	
Project: Semiconductor Project 2.0	Q
Include item attachments (Reviewers must have proper project permissions to	o view attachments.)
Include related items	

When the review is created, you see attachments for the item in each section of the review (if they exist). Select the attachment link to open the latest version of the attachment.

6. Select **Include related items** to see options for making upstream and downstream items visible in the review (as long as such items exist).

You see each item type that's related either upstream or downstream, along with a count of the number of related items.

Select **Show filters** to filter those relationships by relationship type.

Select the related items you want to include in the review.

Iten	15	
P	roject: Semiconductor Project 2.0	Q
	Include Item attachments (Reviewers must have proper project permission	ns to view attachments.)
~	Include related items	
Sel	ect related items to show in this review	
•	Show 99 upstream related items	
	2 Related Block Requirements 25 of 25 items selected Show	filters +
	C Related Product Requirements 70 items Show filters	
	2 h Related Stakeholder Requirements 73 of 73 items selected	Show filters +
	Related System Architecture 5 items Show filters •	
	Related Verifications 1 of 1 items selected Show filters	
2	Show downstream related items	
	Related Block Requirements 50 items Show filters •	
	Related Defects 1 items Show filters .	
	🗇 🗒 Related Product Requirements 70 items Show filters I	
	Related System Architecture 5 items Show filters •	

7. Select Next.

# Settings

When you initiate a review [166], the second step is to choose the review settings. This image shows the default settings. Additional settings are available only if they are configured by an organization or process administrator.

Initiate review				×
1 Definition	2 Settings	3 Participants	4 Invitation	O Learn more
Electronic signature setting	s			
Require electronic signature	es from approvers			
Enable signer role for a	approvers. This associates a signer r	ole with an approver's signature.		
Permission settings				
Allow for review comments	to also appear in the single item view	w within a project		
Make public: everyone has	permission to "read-only"			
Let approvers add reviewer	s and approvers			
Let approvers delegate their	r review to others			
Optional settings				
<ul> <li>Enable time tracking</li> </ul>				
Notify me when a participan	it finishes a review			
Enable voting				
Back 216 items				Next

You see the Review template option if it's enabled in Review center by an organization admin.

Initiate review					×
1 Definition	2 Settings	3	Participants	4 Invitation	Cearn more
Review template					
Approval review     Read-only settings, cor	figured in Review center admin.		Peer review Customizable settings,	configured in Review center admin.	

1. Select electronic signature settings.

If you select **Require electronic signatures from approvers**, all approvers must sign the review in order to approve it. Select **Enable signature group for approvers** if you want your review signatures to have a particular signer role. Find out more about how electronic signatures work [257].

2. Select permission settings.

Allow for review comments to also appear in the single item view within a project: Administrators must first enable this option in the **Review Center Settings** for this option to appear.

**Make public:** This option makes the review visible beyond those invited to participate. An organization administrator determines whether public reviews [632] can be seen by anyone with access to reviews, or only by those with permission to ALL items in a review.

Let approvers add reviewers and approvers: Select to allow approvers to add others to the review.

Let approvers delegate their review to others: Select to allow delegation of the approver role. If an approver is assigned a signer role, and they delegate their approver role, the signer role is also delegated.

3. Select optional settings.

**Enable time tracking:** Check this box to track the amount of time each reviewer spends within the review. The clock that tracks the time is visible to all participants in review statistics [205].

**Notify me when a participant finishes a review:** Check this box to send notification emails [228] to the moderator when a reviewer marks a review complete or when a participant requests a new version.

**Enable voting:** Check this box so participants can provide input on priority or other issues the moderator needs to resolve. Read more about voting [209]. If you select this box, you are asked to designate the number of votes per user and a label for what the vote means.

4. Select Next.

### **Participants**

When you initiate a review [166], the third step is to choose review participants.

Initiate review								×
1 Definition 2 Sett	ings		Participants		4 In	/itation	😮 Learn	more
Select participants		9 Sele	ct assignments					
Project team Outside project team Invite by email		Partic	ipant	Signer role		Review role	Clear all partic	ipants
Search by email or name	Q	4	Admin Test			Approver	Reviewer	×
Admin Test			Basic User	Not assigned	•	Approver	Reviewer	×
💄 Adrian								
Analysts Organization								
Sasic User	13							
Company Organization								
Creator Float								
Creator2 Float								
Development Organization								
								_
Back 31 items 2 participants							N	ext



### IMPORTANT

Inviting anyone to a review gives them read access to the entire content of the review, even if they don't have permission to the underlying items.

1. Using the left column, select participants for this review.

Use the tabs at the top of the column to select from users on the **project team**, or from **outside the project team**.

You can select individuals or groups. Search by name or email using the field at the top of the list. If you select a group, you can add all users or select individual users from the group.

Select the **Invite user by email tab** to invite users from outside of Jama Connect. Those users receive an email invitation with a link to the review. When they select the link, they are given a

reviewer license (as long as there are floating reviewer licenses available) and are asked to set up an account. They can only access the review you invite them to.



### IMPORTANT

An organization administrator can disable this function or can restrict the domains for which outside review invitations are allowed. [632]

2. Selected participants appear in the right panel. Select a review role for each participant (approver [187] or reviewer [184]).

If you enabled signer roles [169], you can also assign a signer role to each approver. Signer roles are based on groups. If you select a group name, then select **All users**, the signer role for those users defaults to the group name.

3. Select Next.

## Invitation

When you initiate a review [166], the final step is to complete the invitation.

Initiate review	×
1 Definition (2) Settings (3) Participants (6) Invitation	2 Learn more
Participants	
1 approver and 1 reviewer	
Subject	
Acme Works REVIEW: Review Test A	
Message	
You are invited to the following review of Review Test A. Select the link below to begin the review and leave feedback.	
Your review role is: "I deviated while [*	
"  Il permiperà lo en approven	
Your signer role is: "I handmund algaer role "	
Your signature will be used for the following meaning: I approve the content of this review.	
https://jama-ux-usability.jamasoftware.net/review.req#/r;REV-??	
Deadline: Friday, Feb 4th at 17:00 PST	
Thank you, Admin Test	
Back 31 items 2 participants	Initiate review

1. You see a draft of the email that's sent to **participants**. At the top, it shows the total number of participants who receive the email and their roles.

Fields for the email **subject** and **message** are the only two fields you can modify in this panel. The email also shows the **review role** and **signer role** as determined in the participants panel [171]. For reviews that have participants with different reviewer roles, light gray text shows information that might vary for each participant.

The **signature meaning** is the same for all reviews and defaults to "I approve this review" and can't be modified.

The email includes a link to the review and the deadline.

2. Select Initiate review to receive a confirmation that your email was sent.

## Add and manage review participants

As a moderator, you can add or remove moderators from your review.

#### Important considerations

- If you remove yourself from a review, you no longer have access to that review. All added and existing moderators receive email notifications for changes to the list of moderators during the review.
- Moderators can be added to a review regardless of their access rights to the items in the review. However, when a new revision for the review is published, it includes only items that moderators have write access to. This can have unexpected consequences for reviews sent from filters, such as missing or extra items in the new revision.

#### To add and manage review participants:

1. In a review, select Add moderators.

🙏 裔 STREAM PROJECTS REVIEWS	RISK ADMIN	Acme Works tes	t Admin Test   Help   Log Out
Semiconductor Project 2.0 REV-135	-	Add moderators	• Add participants Subscribe -
New review V3 - Compare Approval review - 🛱 10/02/2023 - View BASE-277 = Mode	erator	Publish new revision	ge review 👻 📑 🐨 🗐
👔 all 🖤 🔻 Q 🖉 353 items 4 pending upd	dates	Highlighting: 🚺	) Show removed items: ON ()

If you are viewing multiple reviews in the Table View, select Update moderators for this review.

	STREAM	PROJECTS REV	IEWS RISK	ADMIN		Acm	e Works	Admin Test   Help   Lo	og Out
My Re	eviews 16 All R	eviews 37			]	FILTER BY +	VIEW 88	Grid Table	
									0
ID	Name	Project	Public	Review status	Role	Revisi Moderator(s)	End date	Actions	
REV-36	Review B	Semiconductor Pr	oject 2.0	In Progress	Moderator/Approv	1 Admin Test	03/24/2022		1

The Update Moderators window opens.

	Invite user by email		
	a none share by arrian		🤤 Clear all moderator
0		Admin Test	(B)
	0		Admin Test

- 2. Add moderators from your team (**Project Team** tab) or from outside your team/Jama Connect (**Outside Project Team** tab).
- 3. To remove a moderator, select the **X** next to the name in the Review Moderators panel.
- 4. (Optional) Add a comment about the changes you made.
- 5. To finish, select **Update Moderators**.

## Modifying an "In progress" review

You might want to change the content that's included in a review, the due date, or the participants. You can also close a review so that feedback is no longer allowed.

Only a moderator [165] or a review administrator [192] can change a review.

#### You can change a review from different locations and views in Jama Connect:

• In a review, use the Manage review drop-down menu.

$\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle{\scriptscriptstyle (\!\!\!\!\!)}}{=}$ Manage review ${\scriptscriptstyle ullet}$
Edit
Close for feedback
Mark review as finalized

• In Reviews > Table View, use the Actions column.

ID	Name	Project	Public	Review status	Role	Revisi	Moderator(s)	End date	Actions
REV-107	test review	Quick Loans	~	In Progress	Moderator/Approve	1	Admin Test	12/06/2020	
REV-105	Test	Quick Loans	1	Completed	Moderator	1	Admin Test	11/27/2020	Delab
REV-106	Test A	Quick Loans	~	Completed	Moderator/Approve	1	Admin Test	11/17/2020	Delabo

The icons in the Actions column are:

**Edit** — Open the wizard where you change the deadline, invite new reviewers, or change an approver's status (role).

**Reopen** — Open a review that was closed.

**Delete** — Remove a review permanently (only a review administrator can recover a deleted review).

 $\label{eq:constraint} \textbf{Update moderators} \ \ - \ \text{Add to or remove moderators from your review}.$ 

Archive — Remove the review from the list that appears to users.

## Modifying a "Closed" review

A review closes automatically on the end date and time or it can be closed manually by the moderator. When a review is closed, reviewers can no longer add comments.

#### Important considerations

- As the moderator, you might want to reopen a closed review to allow more feedback, archive the review, or publish a new version.
- Only a moderator or a review administrator can edit a review.
- When viewing a closed review, you see a blue status bar at the top of the review, which notifies participants if a review is closed.

	ñ	STREAD	M PROJECT	S REVIEWS	RISK	ADMIN		Acme	Works test	Admin T	ost   Help	Log Out
Pantry Produ	icts RE	V-47						-			O Add more	derators
New Re	eview	Cycle	V5 - Com	pare			The Archive	C <sup>e</sup> Recover	≣≣ Manage	review 👻	B- *	
16 at 9	6.1	r q	2 74 items	572 pending upda	ates			Highlig	hting: 💿 🕥	Show rema	ved items:	ON O
0 This	review i	s closed										×

Use these buttons to do the following with a closed review:

- Archive Remove a review from the primary list of reviews.
- Recover Recover a review that was archived or deleted. No item updates are published.

### Incorporate review feedback

A moderator can incorporate feedback by editing an item directly from the review.

1. From the header, select **Reviews**, then open the item using one of these menus:



You can also select the name of the item you want to edit to open it, then select **Edit item** from the menu on the right.

2. In the window that opens, make the changes you need.

		Second Stream
ne:	Loan Tests	
ents:	Format - Size - 😒 🗇 🗟 🖻 🙆 Source 🔀	
	BIUSA·⊠·I <sub>x</sub> x,xª ≥±±≡ ⊯∷==	Admin Test Comment
		→ a few seconds ago V1 □
		maximize customer feedback
		Let's send out a survey.
lags:		Resolve Reply • d) • Edit • Delete
		C Add Your Tebry
		=
		Admin Test Proposed change
		development agile teams
		And QA teams
		Resolve Reply - 🖒 - Edit - Delete
		~
		Add your reply

3. (Optional) Select **Notify** to designate people or groups you want to inform about this change, then choose the people to be informed.

Comment and Notify Test R	un		>> Comment Stream
			A) Aagie new gammen
ade these changes so you could look at t	hem before we continue.		1
			Admin Test Proposed change
			Change the font and add bold.
			Resolve Reply * 🝁 1 * Edit * Delete
			Admin Test - 3 minutes and V1
oups Users	Selected Users & Groups		Add the date.
start typing to filter graups top 100.	shown 🥥	Clear all users & groups	ni 1 - Edit - Dèlete
Analysts Organization	Analysts Organization		0
Company Organization	Organization Admin Organization		C.M. Kaa yournooiy
Development Organization	Admin Aden		
Organization Admin	Aaron Perillat		
Product Managers Organization			
OA Organization			
Read and write Organization			
Read only Organization			
Review			

Your changes are saved in the project, but not in the review.



Any time an update is made to an item that's in review, a blue status bar appears at the top of the review. The review remains unchanged until the moderator publishes a new version.

- 4. Select Commit.
- 5. To update change in the review click **Publish new revision**.
- 6. In the window that opens, select one:

To cre immed revisio Upda	eate a new revision of diately, Modify review on. ted items since this i	your review, you have two options. allows you to change the review of the review of the review of the review was last published 4 item	Publish creates the new revision configuration before publishing the new
Set	ID	Name	Change summary
	SI_SZ_P-P_REQ-20	Processor Speed AB2	New Version
圁	SI_S2_P-TSTPL-3	Test 2	New Version
酒	SI_S2_P-TSTRN-198	Validate 0.65mm Package	New Version
*	SI_S2_P-TSTRN-200	Validate AES	New Version
Adde	d items since this re	view was last published 1 items	
Set	ID	Name	Change summary
3	SI_S2_P-TSTCY-2	First test cycle edit	Item restored

- **Publish** Update the review for all participants.
- Modify review Make further changes to the review itself in the wizard.

Participants receive an email notifying them about the new revision.

### Close an "In progress" review

A review closes automatically when its deadline is reached. A moderator might want to close a review manually before the deadline if, for example, all reviewers already provided feedback.

Once a review is closed, a moderator can recover it by changing the status back to In progress.

1. To close a review manually that you are currently viewing, select **Manage review > Close for feedback**.



The closed review now displays the message "This review is closed" in the blue status bar.

2. To reopen a closed review, select **Recover**.



The blue status bar no longer appears when the review is reopened.

### Publish a revised review

When changes are made to the original review items, you can publish a new version of the review that includes the changes.

1. Open a review that includes changes. The text in highlighted in blue indicates the number of pending updates.



- Publish Publish the revision immediately (available only when a new version of an item is created).
- Modify review Change more options for the review in the wizard.

A confirmation message confirms that the revision was successfully published.

### Finalize a review

When you're satisfied that your review is complete — that all items have been reviewed and approved and that all comments have been resolved — the next step is to finalize the review.

#### Important considerations

- When you finalize the review, the review workflow tool automatically updates the status of the review items. For example, at the end of a review, a moderator can trigger the status of reviewed items to change from "In review" to "Approved."
- If workflow is assigned to an item type in your Approval review [633], the item will transition. If you don't use a template, the review is marked as finalized.
- When you reopen a finalized review, items are transitioned to their previous review status.

#### To finalize a review:

1. In the review, select Manage review > Mark review as finalized.



2. In the window that opens, select Finalize review.

This action automatically triggers Review Status Workflow, which updates the status of the review.

### **Delete a review**

You can delete a review, but not if it includes electronic signatures. However, if an entire project is deleted, all reviews in that project are also deleted, even if they include electronic signatures.

Once a review is deleted, only a review administrator can recover it.

1. From the header in the review, select **Delete review** (trash icon).



2. When prompted to confirm, select Yes.

Now, when a user selects **Reviews**, the review that you just deleted is no longer listed with other reviews.

#### Archive a review

When a review is archived, it's no longer visible in the list that's displayed when users select **Reviews** in the header.

Reviews can only be archived by moderators and review administrator, and only if their status is "Closed."

As the moderator, you can control which reviews are visible to your participants:

- Select Filter by > Include archived reviews.
- Select Filter by > Hide archived reviews.

To archive a review:

- 1. From the header, select **Reviews > Table**.
- 2. In the **Actions** column of the review you want to archive, select the folder icon to archive the review, then confirm when prompted.



### **Recover an archived review**

A moderator or review administrator can recover a review that was archived [179].

#### Important considerations

- When an archived review is recovered, the participant roles and contributions are unchanged. For example, if an approver signed and approved a review before it was archived or deleted, it remains the same after the review is recovered.
- If items were edited after a review was archived or deleted, they don't appear in the recovered review until the moderator publishes a revised review.
- You can recover an archived review from the review's Actions column or from its blue status bar.
- 1. To recover an archived review from the Actions column:
  - a. From the header, select **Reviews > Table**.
  - b. In the row with the review you want to recover, select the **Reopen** icon from the **Actions** column.



c. In the window that opens under **Select review status**, use the drop-down menu to select "In progress," select a new end date and time, then select **Save**.
	Deadline					
	10/06/2020		17:00 PDT	17		
					_	
					Save	Cancel
ľ	ecover an archi	ved rev	view from the re	eview's blu	Save e status bar:	Cancel
	r <b>ecover an archi</b> Open a review th	ved rev	view from the re	eview's blu	Save e status bar:	Cancel
	<b>recover an archi</b> Open a review th From the header	<b>ved re</b> v hat was r, select	<b>view from the re</b> archived. t <b>Recover</b> .	eview's blu	Save e status bar:	Cancel

New Review Cycle V5 - Compare	C'Recover
🖍 "ilt 📕 🔻 Q. 😕 74 items 572 pending updates	Highlighting: 💿 🕥 Show removed items: 💵
This review is archived	*

# Remove or recover items in a review

A moderator can remove or recover items in a review, and can perform either of these actions without altering the source in the project.

# Important considerations

• When you pair these actions with the Approval workflow, those items remain in their original state and aren't updated when the review is finalized.

# To remove items from a review:

1. In the review with the item you want to remove, select the triangle drop-down menu, then select **Remove** next to the item.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 REV-135		O Ad	d moderators O Add partic	ipants Subscribe <del>-</del>
New review V3 - Compare Approval review 3 10/02/2023 View BAS	SE-277 Moderator	Publish new revision	E Manage review -	8. ·
🚺 al 🛡 🍸 Q, 😂 353 items	5 pending updates	Highlig	hting: 💽 Show remo	oved items: 이 🔵
E / Edit				
Remove				
Insubscribe				
EE View in tree				
🖺 Go to item	the goals of this test plan >			

The "Tagged for removal" label appears.

2. Click **Publish new revision** to remove the item from the review.

System level project   REV-158	O Add moderators O Add participants Subscribe -
Recover items test         V1           Peer review         ■ 11/09/2023         • View BASE-321         ■ Moderator	Publish new revision
🚡 "ul 🛡 🍸 Q, 😅 224 items 1 pending update	Highlighting: 💽 Show removed items: 🔘 🌔
1 Product	
Tagged for removal 'S	
1.1 Import Test	

In the Publish new revision window, click **Publish**.
 A label appears with the version the item was removed in.
 Anyone who has access to the review can see items that were removed.



#### To recover items in a review:

1. From the triangle drop-down menu, select **Recover** to recover the item you removed.



The "Tagged for recovery" label appears.

2. Click **Publish new revision** to recover the item in the review.



# Transition a Peer review to an Approval review

When reviewers are done looking over a Peer review, the moderator can transition a review to an Approval review.

#### Important considerations

- Both templates must be enabled [633] by an organization administrator.
- When an item is tagged for removal or recovery, and you want to transition to an Approval review, those items are automatically updated.

#### To transition a Peer review to an Approval review:

1. In the review, select Manage review > Transition to Approval.

	\Xi Manage review +
E	dit
C	lose for feedback
Ţ	ransition to Approval

The Transition to approval review wizard opens.

2. On the Definition page, make your changes, then click **Next**.

Transition to approval review			×
Definition 2 Settings	3 Participants	4 Invitation	@ Learn more
Name			
Approval review			
Deadline			
05/09/2022 🔲 17:00 PDT 🔹			
Project			
Semiconductor Project 2.0	Q		
llems			
Project: Semiconfluctor Project 2.0	Q.		
			Next
on the Settings page, confirm you're	using the approval templ	ate, then click <b>Next</b> .	
Transition to approval review			
Definition     2 Settings	3 Participants	4 Invitation	O Learn mor
Review template			

- 4. On the Participants page, make your changes, then click Next.
- 5. On the Invitation page, update the subject and message as needed, then click **Transition review**.

A revision is created and an email notification is sent to reviewers.

# Close and finalize an Approval review

Read-only settings, configured in Review center admin.

3.

Approval review

After the review is approved, the moderator closes and transitions items to their approved state. You don't need a Peer review to finalize an Approval review.

Workflow must be enabled [33] in Admin > Organization for the items in the review, or the option to Close and transition items won't appear when you finalize a review.

#### Example with workflow disabled



m Type		New status	Versioning enabled?	Notification	Lock7
ser Story	+	Draft	Yes	None	-
se Case	+	Expert Review	Yes	None	-

The review is now closed.

# **Reviewer tasks**

Contribute feedback [185]

Finish a review as a reviewer [187]

Reviewers can also perform tasks that are available to all review roles.

#### For example:

- Find and view review items [195]
- Compare versions [202]
- Vote on items [209]
- Subscribe to items on the page [209]

For details, see Tasks for all review roles [195].

# **Contribute feedback**

Once a review is created, all participants can read through the items, make comments, and ask questions.

#### Important considerations

 By default, you see only comments made in a specific version. For example, comments made in version 2 only appear in that version.

System level project REV-150	Subsc	aribe -
Test Review A V2 → Compare Approval review - B 10/02/2023 · View BASE-299 • In progress	Complete review	b + 4
🚺 🔐 🖤 Q 😂 224 items	Highlighting: 💿 🕥 Show removed Items: 💿 🔵 Batch item actio	ins -
1.2.1.1 Processor Core 1 ABD         The product shall use an ARM Cortex A9 processor core. Test.		1

· Once a review is closed, reviewers can no longer comment.

#### To contribute feedback:

- 1. From the review, open the Comment window using one of these methods:
  - Select the Comments icon next to the item.
  - Select the text you want to comment on.

виць	*= != @9	
We need to rerun	n this test	

- 2. Type your comment.
- 3. (Optional) Apply a category to your comment to help participants understand and track key feedback.



Category	Outline color	Meaning
Comment / Speech bubble	Yellow	Open
	Green	Acknowledged by Moderator
Question mark	Yellow	Open
	Green	Answered by Moderator
Pencil / Proposed change	Yellow	Open
	Green	Accepted by Moderator
	Red	Rejected by Moderator
Exclamation / Issue	Yellow	Open
	Green	Resolved by Moderator

4. Select **Submit feedback** to save the comment.

# Additional ways to collaborate with your team

• Use the like icon when you agree with a comment and want to track how team members vote on a decision.

Admin Test Comment • a few seconds ago V1 test Can we test this again?
Resolve III - Edit - Delete
Add your reply

# Finish a review as a reviewer

When you complete your work as a reviewer, the next step is to "finish" the review. This action lets the moderator know you're done with your work (if notifications were set up) and updates the overall review progress in review statistics [206].

If the review is closed before you finish the review, the blue status bar includes a message: "This review is closed."

#### To finish a review as a reviewer:

1. From the review, select Complete review on the toolbar.



 If you need to make more comments after finishing the review, select Reopen review from the toolbar, as long as the moderator hasn't yet closed the review.



# Approver tasks

- Approve or reject review items [188]
- Finish a review as an approver [188]
- Add electronic signature to a review [189]
- Add reviewers [191]
- Delegate approval [190]



# IMPORTANT

After delegating approval, you are no longer an approver, but you remain a reviewer for the current review. If you delegate approval, all new approvers receive an email notification.

# Approve or reject review items

During a review, you can view items and their comments, approve or reject individual items, and approve or reject an entire review.

If you don't see a checkmark or X, you don't have Approver status. Contact your Moderator if you need Approver status.

- 1. To mark an individual item, select an icon next to its name:
  - Checkmark = Item is approved
  - X = Item is rejected

System level project	REV-151	Add participants D	elegate approval Subscribe -
Approval review -	iew V1 🛱 10/02/2023 - View BASE-301 🔹 In progress	00	omplete review
1 a	Q. 2 224 items	Highlighting: 애 🔿 Show removed items: 👀 🔘	Batch item actions -
<b>Q</b> ≁×e	1 Product		Mark entire page approved Mark entire page rejected Clear all marks on this page
0××9	1.1 Import Test		
U~ × 9	1.2 Product Requirements		

- 2. To mark all items on the page, use the Batch item actions drop-down menu:
  - Mark entire page approved
  - Mark entire page rejected
- 3. If your review contains more than one page of items, repeat this action for each page.

When you're done, the blue status bar includes the message "You've marked all items in the review." You can then finish the review as an approver and electronically sign the review.

# Finish a review as an approver

1. When you're finished with a review, select **Complete review** from the toolbar.

🙏 🕷 STREAM PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK	Acme Works test Test User   Help   Log Out
System level project / REV-150	Subscribe +
Test Review A V2 - Compare Approval review - 🖻 10/02/2023 · View BASE-299 - In progress	Complete review
👔 🔐 🛡 🦉 🤤 224 items	Highlighting: (N) Show removed items: (N) Statch item actions -

 In the Review finished window, you can mark any remaining items "Approved" and add a final comment. These comments are visible under Reviews > Feedback in the top-right menu, or in an email sent to the moderator if email notifications are enabled for this review. If this review requires an electronic signature [189], you can also add that here.

3
Q Learn more our handwritten signature. nature in place of my writte
Q Learn more our handwritten signature. nature in place of my writte
Q Learn more our handwritten signature. nature in place of my writter
Q Learn more our handwritten signature. nature in place of my writte
Learn more our handwritten signature. nature in place of my writte
Learn more our handwritten signature. nature in place of my writte

3. Select **Request new revision** or **Approve** (or **Approve and sign** if you're using an electronic signature).



# NOTE

If you change your mind and want to reopen your review after finishing a review as an approver, you can select **Reopen review** to re-open it, as long as the moderator hasn't closed the review. If you're using an electronic signature [257], opening a review revokes it.

# Sign a review electronically

If a review requires an electronic signature, you are asked to add a signature when you finish a review as an approver.

- 1. In the **Review finished** window, enter your username and password as your electronic signature. If your organization uses SAML, the SAML authentication window opens, where you enter your username and password.
- 2. Select **Approve and sign** to complete the review.

Daviaw	finished
Review	misned

Thank you for your feedback, Admin.

You reviewed 0 of 73 items. Here is your review overview:

Mark 73 unmarked items as "Approved"

() You spent 0 hours and 0 minutes in the review.

D 1 comment

0 items were marked "Approved"

× 0 items were marked "Rejected"

Optional final comment

#### Complete electronic signature

@ Learn more

×

Completing this electronic signature by entering your password is the legal equivalent of your handwritten signature. Do not allow anyone to use your username and password. I agree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature.

Username				
Password				
Signer role				
Signature meaning				
Tappione fire for fention insistent				
	Ap	prove and sign	Request new revision	Cancel

# **Delegate approval**

Assign approval to another team member if you're away when a review needs to be approved or someone else is a better fit.

1. In the review, select **Delegate approval** from the toolbar.

System level project   REV-151	Add participants     Delegate approval     Subscribe -
Approval review V1 Approval review - 🗃 10/02/2023 - View BASE-301 🖷 In progress	O Complete review
🐌it 🛡 🍸 Q. 😂 224 items	Highlighting: 📴 Show removed items: 💽 💿 Batch item actions -

2. In the **Request reviewer delegation** window, select a delegate.

	Salarian najadata ahhunka
Admin Test Adrian Analysts Organization Basic User	Basic User
Organization     Creator Float     Creator2 Float     d a comment	Basic User will be notified via en

# 3. Click **Delegate approval**.

A confirmation message appears.

Confirm				$\mathbb{X}$
Ş	Are you sure you want to reviewer.	o delegate your app	roval? You will still be	able to access this review as a
		Yes	No	

4. Click **Yes** to confirm.

An email is sent to the new approver notifying them of the request.

# Add reviewers

Approvers can add reviewers to an open review at any time.

1. In the review, select **Add participants**.

System level project REV-151	Add participants Delegate approval Subscribe -
Approval review V1 Approval review - 🛅 10/02/2023 - View BASE-301 • In progress	🗢 Complete review 🛛 📑 👻
🖍 🔐 🛡 🍳 🥔 224 items	Highlighting: 💿 🕥 Show removed Items: 💿 💿 Batch item actions -

2. In the window, select the review participants you want to add.

Project Team Outside Project Team	Selected participants	
C Search by name or seman.	i Clear all particip	ant
Admin Test		
Analysts	- W/	
Andrés Mungarrieta		
Annette Burns		
Ametta Hill		
Avery Glisan		
Baxter Flogeets		
Becky Carlton		
Add a comment		

3. Click Add participants.

An email is sent to the reviewers notifying them of the request.

# **Review administrator tasks**

- Recover a deleted review [192]
- Configure review comments to appear in projects [193]
- Recover an archived review [180]
- Modify a review [174]
- Make a review public [169]

#### **Quick tips**

- Permissions for a review admin must be assigned by an organization admin.
- As a review admin, you can access a review's content when the review is public; when you are also a reviewer, approver, or moderator in the review; or when you add yourself to the review.

#### **Recover a deleted review**

Only a review administrator can recover a review that was deleted.

When a deleted review is recovered, the participant roles and contributions are unchanged. For example, if an approver signed and approved a review before it was deleted, it remains the same after the review is recovered.

If items were edited after a review was deleted, they don't appear in the recovered review until the moderator publishes a revised review.

#### To recover a deleted review:

- 1. From the header, select **Reviews > Table**.
- 2. From the FILTER BY... drop-down menu, select Deleted.



3. In the row with the review you want to recover, select the **Recover** icon in the **Actions** column.

My Reviews 45 All Reviews 3 of 137					FILTER	BY	VIEW	E Table	
D	Name	Project	Public	Review status	Role	Revisi	Moderator(s)	End date	Actions
REV-127	test	Sara's Semiconductor Sample Set		Deleted	Review admin	1	Sara	06/06/2023	C.
REV-112	Test cycle: Cycle 1	Megan's Test Management Sandbox [Semiconductor Project 2.0]		Deleted	Review admin	1	Megan	03/17/2023	c

-

4. In the **Recover review** window, select the new end date for the review.

ielect review status				
In progress	-			
eadline				
08/18/2023	17:00 PDT	-		
			No. of Concession, Name	

#### 5. Click Save.

The table is refreshed and the review is now open.

#### Configure review comments to appear in projects

Comments made during reviews can provide valuable context, whether you're reviewing a requirement, lower-level feature, or test item. A record of those comments offers enhanced traceability, so you can make informed decisions over the course of the item's lifecycle.

The review moderator can allow comments from a review to appear in the project view for that item.

When enabled, the **Review comments** widget appears in Single Item View. Select it to see the review comments for that item.



This option needs to be enabled in two places for it to take effect. The organization admin must enable it in the Review Center Settings and the moderator must enable it when creating a review.

#### For the administrator:

- 1. Select Admin > Organization > Review center.
- 2. Under Permission settings, select Allow for review comments to also appear..., then click Save settings.

This option is now available and visible to review moderators when they create reviews.



#### For the review moderator:

• When creating a review, select Allow for review comments to also appear in the single item view within a project.

Initiate review				×
0 Definition	2 Settings	3 Participants	4 Invitation	C Learn more
Electronic signature setting	js			
<ul> <li>Require electronic signature</li> </ul>	es from approvers			
Enable signer role for	approvers. This associates a signer n	ole with an approver's signature.		
Permission settings				
Allow for review comments	to also appear in the single item view	/ within a project		
Make public: everyone has	permission to "read-only"			
Let approvers add reviewer	rs and approvers			
<ul> <li>Let approvers delegate the</li> </ul>	ir review to others			
Optional settings				
<ul> <li>Enable time tracking</li> </ul>				
Notify me when a participal	nt finishes a review			
Enable voting				
Back 216 liems				Next

Once enabled, comments are grouped by review and sorted with the latest comments at the top.

#### **Quick tips**

- Why aren't comments appearing? For review comments to be visible within a project, this setting must be enabled for each review.
- *How do I see comments from older reviews?* For reviews created without this setting, you can go back and change this setting to include review comments.
- View More Appears if there are more comments from that review that haven't loaded.
- Load More Provides comments from older reviews that haven't loaded, including comments that might have occurred since the page loaded.

# Tasks for all participant roles

- Find and filter items in a review [195]
- Highlighting review comments [198]
- Compare versions [202]
- Show related items in a review [203]
- View participant progress [205]
- View item progress [206]
- View review activity [207]
- Filter review comments [208]
- Subscribe to a review [209]
- Export reviews [209]
- Voting [209]

# Find and filter items in a review

All user roles can search for and filter specific items in a review.

You can navigate to different areas of the review workspace without losing your filter or search selection. For example, if you make a filter selection and go to another view, your filter selection is saved when you navigate back to the review.

# Find items in a review

Validations

Package

Package

Show more results

SYSPRJ-VAL-1: Validate all

instructions are 32-bit update

SYSPRJ-VAL-4: Validate 0.65mm

SYSPRJ-VAL-5: Validate 0.8mm

SYSPRJ-VAL-6: Validate AES

SYSPRJ-VAL-7: Validate SHA

• Enter text in the Search field, then expand the **Search by item types** drop-down menu to filter your search.



When you select an item from the search results or table of contents, the item is selected and outlined in blue. In the **Find items** panel, you can refine your search based on the filtered results.

Coprocessor

176KB of On-Chip Boot ROM

· Emulation and Debug - JTAG

On-Chip Memory (Shared L3 RAM)

External Memory Interfaces (EMIF)

Accessible to All Masters
Supports Retention for Fast Wakeup

64KB of Dedicated RAM

· 32KB of L1 Instruction and 32KB of Data Cache

mDDR(LPDDR), DDR2, DDR3, DDR3L Controller;

mDDR: 200-MHz Clock (400-MHz Data Rate)
 DDR2: 266-MHz Clock (532-MHz Data Rate)
 DDR2: 400-MHz Clock (800-MHz Data Rate)

· 256KB of L2 Cache With Error Correcting Code (ECC)

· 64KB of General-Purpose On-Chip Memory Controller (OCMC) RAM

System level project REV-151		Add participants Delegate approval Subscribe -
Approval review V1 Approval review 1  10/02/2023 - View	w BASE-301 🔸 In prog	Complete raview
■ ■ ▼ Q ♂ 224	items	Highlighting: 🛛 🔵 Show removed items: 🙌 🔵 🖉 Batch item actions 🗸
Find items	□ <del>*</del> * * ?	1.5 Product Validation Specification
Validations SYSPRJ-VAL-1: Validate all instructions are 32-bit update	Q**8	1.5.1 Validate all instructions are 32-bit update Validate that all instructions are 32-bit
SYSPRJ-VAL-4: Validate 0.65mm Package SYSPRJ-VAL-5: Validate 0.8mm Package SYSPRJ-VAL-6: Validate AES		Steps: No Steps Status: Draft Test Run Results:
Show more results	Q Y X S	1.5.2 Validate 0.65mm Package Validate that 0.65mm package can be routed on a 4 layer board.

• From the drop-down menu in the left panel of the review, select **View in tree** to open the Find item panel and view the item in the review hierarchy. You can also resize the panel as need.



# Filter items in a review

Use filtering to view items and comments that need your attention.

All review participants can filter items to find comments by status, version, author, or activity.

Filtering items by: Needs review ×	Open comments	× Reviewed × Subscribed ×		Clear all
Filter by ×	2□□€	First test cycle edit		2.1
Activity  Needs review (3)  Removed formula  Reviewed (1)  Subscribed (4)  Updeled since V1 (1)  Total matching(a)	0000	Test 2 Goals <in describe="" goals="" of="" section,="" the="" the<br="" this="">Roles and Respo</in>	s test plan.>	
Comments by status		<in describe="" involv<="" roles="" section,="" td="" the="" this=""><td>ved in this test plan and their responsibilities.</td><td>&gt;</td></in>	ved in this test plan and their responsibilities.	>
issowed (0)		raiticipanto		
All (4)		Name	Role	

All review participants can filter items to find comments by status, version, author, and activity.

All review participants can filter review items by **Activity**, **Comments by status**, **Comments by version**, and **Comments by author**. Selecting and applying filters in a specific category is additive and applies ADD statements to each selection. If you apply filters that span multiple filter categories, it becomes an OR statement.

#### **Highlighting review comments**

You can organize and find comments based on their status: Open, Resolved, or Rejected. Comments of each status type are highlighted by a different color (highlighting is turned on by default).

For example, a comment highlighted in yellow lets review participants know that it's open, while a comment highlighted in red indicates that a proposed change was rejected.

Color	Comment status
Yellow	Open
Green	Resolved
Red	Rejected

By default, the review version that you're looking at shows only highlighted comments that are open, resolved, or rejected.

1 al 1	T Q 2 72 items		Highlighting: 😡 🔵	Show removed items:	Batch item actions -
<b>.</b>	Mobile Devices Opera Goals To ensure our device is rea Participants	tional Qualifications 2	on with applications.		
	Name	Role			
	Becky Carlton	QA Lead			
	Vince Walter	Market Expert	1		
	Environment(s) Mobile: Android (latest rele	ase), iOS (latest release), Windows (latest r	elease)		

When two highlighted comments overlap, that text is highlighted in light blue.

1 a # Y	Q Moderator Approver C 16 items 4 pending updates
	Highlighling: 📶 🕥 Show removed items: 🗇 🔵 Batch item actions -
	1 Corporate Strategy
9000	1.1 Goals and Objectives
2100	O Tagged for removal × O Edited
	1.1.1 Strengthen consumer confidence with additional testing Consumers need to feel more secure

You can only reject comments that propose a change.

5	six implants	
	Resolve 21 * Delete	
	B I U S := := := := := :=	
	five implants is correct	

Moderators resolve an open comment: select it, (optional) type a response and click **Reply**, then click **Resolve**.



The comment box and highlighted text changes to a resolved status (green).

CL4-TSTRN-19 - Windows Mobile Validation

# Apply @mention to review comments

Use the @mention feature to direct comments to a subject matter expert. This is useful when you have several reviewers and need to direct a question to a specific reviewer.

×

#### Important considerations

• Comments that include @mention are highlighted by color, based on whether you or another review is tagged. Light yellow = comment for you. Light blue = comment for another reviewer.

Admin Test Comment + 6 minutes ago V1 @Dave Wilson Can you test this feature again?
۲.
Oave Wilson * a lew seconds ago     @Admin Test You bet.
d <sup>2</sup> /₂ = Edit = Delete
Add your reply

- · Only users participating in the review appear in the list of possible reviewers who can be tagged with @mention. You can modify the review [174] to add participants.
- Anyone who is participating in the review can @mention other participants.

#### To use the @mention feature:

1. In a review, select the comment icon and type @ followed by the name of the reviewer. Repeat for each reviewer you want to mention. Only the names of the people you included when you created the review [166] appear in the list.



2. Type your message, then click **Comment**.



3. (Optional) To display only items where you are mentioned, select **Filter items > My mentions**.

B al 🐺 🝸	Q C 1 liem
Filtering items by:	My mentions ×
Filter by	×
Activity	
Needs review (2	81)
Removad items	(17)
Reviewed (1)	
Subscribed (1)	
Updated since V	1 (18)
My mentions (1)	

An email notifies the tagged review participant with the review name, items, and comment.

#### **Compare versions**

Whenever a published review has more than one version, you can compare two versions.

#### Important considerations

- If you want to make other fields visible in the review, an organization administrator can configure item type views [617] for Reading View or Single Item View to show those fields.
- Typically, item fields contain fewer than 10,000 characters (2,000 words). When you compare review versions, the applications might skip fields with lengthy content.
- The date and version a comment was added appears in the comment.



#### To compare versions:

1. From the review with the versions you want to compare, click **Compare**.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 REV-135	Add moderators Add participants Subscribe +
New review V6 - Compare Approval review # 10/02/2023 View BASE-297 Moderator	🌽 Publish new revision 🛛 🗄 Manage review 👻 🔹 🖷
🕼 ult 🖤 🔻 Q, 😂 353 items 1 pending update	Highlighting: 💿 🔵 Show removed items: 💿 🌒

2. Select the versions drop-down menu near the review title to select the version you want to compare to the current review.

Semiconductor Proje	ct 2.0 REV-135			O Ad	d moderators O Add partici	pants Sub	scribe -
New review	V6 Compared to 10/02/2023 Vi Q 2 1 p	V5 • V5 V4	-297 Moderator	Publish new revision	9∃ Manage review →	B. *	Ē
2000	C Edited	V2 V1					1

Changes are displayed inline. Deleted text is red and highlighted. Added text is green and underlined.

Process new loans report without all Lenders defined Process new loans report without all Lenders defined and accept new process

The "compare view" displays inline changes for most field types. If the field can't be compared, you see the message: *Not available for reviews*.

#### Show related items in a review

Including related items in a review gives reviewers context and helps them understand the coverage of items in a review. Related items are visible only if the moderator selected the option **Include related items** when the review was created.

Definition	2 Settings	3 Participant
Name		
Review Cycle 2.0		
Deadline		
05/26/2022 🗐 17:00	PDT 🔹	
Project		
Semiconductor Project 2.0		Q
tems		
Project: Semiconductor Proj	ject 2.0	Q
Project: Semiconductor Proj Include item attachments (Rev	ject 2.0 viewers must have proper projec	ct permissions to view altachmen
Project: Semiconductor Proj	ject 2.0	ct permissions to view altachmen
Include item attachments (Rev     Include related items	ject 2.0 viewers must have proper projec	Ct permissions to view altachmen
Project: Semiconductor Proj Include item attachments (Rev Include related items Select related items to show in t	ject 2.0 viewers must have proper projec this review	ct permissions to view altachmen
Project: Semiconductor Proj Include item attachments (Rev Include related items Select related items to show in I Show 181 upstream related	ject 2.0 viewers must have proper projec this review Litems	ct permissions to view altachmen
Project: Semiconductor Proj Include item attachments (Rev Include related items Select related items to show in I Show 181 upstream related	ject 2.0 viewers must have proper projec this review l items uirements 25 of 25 items sele	cted Show filters +
<ul> <li>Project: Semiconductor Proj</li> <li>Include item attachments (Rev</li> <li>Include related items</li> <li>Select related items to show in I</li> <li>Show 181 upstream related</li> <li>Related Block Requ</li> <li>Related Product Re</li> </ul>	ject 2.0 viewers must have proper projec this review l items uirements 25 of 25 items sele equirements 75 of 75 items se	cted Show filters +
<ul> <li>Project: Semiconductor Proj</li> <li>Include item attachments (Rev</li> <li>Include related items</li> <li>Select related items to show in I</li> <li>Show 181 upstream related</li> <li>Related Block Requ</li> <li>Related Product Re</li> <li>Related Stakeholde</li> </ul>	ject 2.0 viewers must have proper projec this review l items uirements 25 of 25 items sele equirements 75 of 75 items se er Requirements 74 of 74 item	cted Show filters + elected Show filters + is selected Show filters +

If you don't have permissions to view a related item, you see an item type icon and the text *This item is outside the scope of this review*.

#### To view items directly related to a review item:

1. In the review, select **Show related items**.

7.3.2 3D touch
Mobile needs to support the new 3D touch interface that has recently hit the market
Show related items

Initially, up to five upstream and downstream items are displayed.

2. To view additional related items, select Load More Downstream Items.

	Hide related items 🛩	
	Upstream items (0)	
	Downstream Items (6)	
	CL2-SR-11 Android Integration	
	CL2-SR-16 Durable	
	CL2-SR-17 Haptic Feedback	
	CL2-SR-12 iOS Integration	
	CL2-SR-15 Waterproof	
		Load more downstream items
3.	Select a related item to see more details.	
	Downstream items (6)	

CL2-SR-11		
CL2-SR-16 [	CL2-SR-11 Android Integration	x
CL2-SR-17 +		
CL2-SR-12 1	Many hearing aids on the market require a pendant or o between the hearing aid and the Android device. If we w	ther device to transfer sound ant to increase market share with
CL2-SR-15 )	younger patients, especially those who are Google-focus need to find a way to directly integrate with Android.	sed and/or Amazon-focused, we
	Global ID	GID-11308
	Rationale	
	Verification Method	
	Verification Approach	
1.2.3 Adult	Assigned 2	
Increase rever	Status	Completed
increase rever	Priority	High
at the second	Release	
Show related ten	Stated or Derived	Unassigned
	Allocation	A COLOR OF A
101 100	Implementation Considerations	
1.2.4 Adult	Is this Requirement Complete - Correct - Consistent?	No
laorana unan		

# View participant progress

As a review progresses, you can view statistics about the participants' progress. This information is unique to the current version of the review.

In separate tabs, you can see item progress [206] for this version, or review activity [207] across versions.

1. From the review with stats you want to view, select **Stats**.



2. Under the **Participant progress** tab, you can see a panel with participant details and links to email participants.

Next to that, bar charts show overall progress for the review for approvers and reviewers who have finished the review. For approvers the chart shows how many items they marked approved or rejected. For other reviewers it shows how many items are marked read. Reviewers' time spent. Below that, each participant is listed with their review role, signer role, signature information, comment count, time spent shown in hours:minutes, and a progress bar showing their completion level.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 REV-154				O Add moderat	tors O Add partic	pants Delegate ap	proval Subscribe -
Test cycle: Test Cycle B V1 Approval review - 🛱 10/12/2023 - View BASE-311 - In	progress		1	Publish new r	evision 🗄 M	anage review 🕶	<b>b</b> , * 0
						O Bat	ch item actions +
Participant progress Item progress Review ad	stivity						
Participant details	Approve	rs: 1					
Moderator(s): Admin Test I Email moderators Review team: 1 I Email all participants Approver(s): 1 I Email approvers V1 start date: 10/05/2023	Approved and signed Requested new	o o					
V1 end date: 10/12/2023 17:00 PDT	In progress		1				
		0	1	2			
Name Review role Signer role	Electronic signatu	re	Gomments	Time spent	Status		
Admin Test 🖂 Approver N/A			4	0:03	In progress	n	0%
Page 1 of 1 O II Show:	20 👻					Disp	laying 1 of 1



# NOTE

Time is logged if a tab with the review is left open by a reviewer.

# View item progress

As a review progresses, you can view statistics about the progress of the items in review. This information is unique to the current version of the review.

In separate tabs, you can see participant progress [205] for this version and review activity [207] across versions.

• From the review with the items you want to view, select Stats.

Semiconductor Proje	ct 2.0 RE	V-135
New review	V7 -	Compare
App Stats lew	₫ 10/02	/2023 - View BASE-302 = Moderator



Under the **Item progress** tab, you see an overview with the total number of items in the review, their item types, the start and end dates for this version of the review, the current approval status for all items (if this review uses approvers), and a summary of open comments in the review.

Below that, is a table showing item fields along with the number of votes, as well as the number of participants who marked the item approved, rejected, or reviewed.

est cycle: Test C proval review - 10/1	ycle B V1 2/2023 · View BA	SE-311 <b>pin</b> p	orogress				1	Publish	new revision	í≘ Mana	ige review +	B
Participant progress	Item progress	Review acti	vity								@ Batch	n item action
Item details			Item app	roval	status:	11 ite	ms		Open o	omment	s in V1: 1	
Total items: 11 Item type(s): Test Average time spen V1 start date: 10/0	Cycles, Test Run: t on item: a few 5/2023	s seconds	Approved Rejected	o Q					Genera comment Question Propose change	al s o d s	1	
V1 end date: 10/12/	2023 17:00 PDT		Not reviewed					n	Raise	d jo		
				0 2	2 4	6	8	10 12		0		2
<b>II results (11)</b> View	: Test Runs (10) -	Test Cycles (	1)								Views	<ul> <li>Actions -</li> </ul>
Name	De	escription									# Comments	Votes
Test Cycle B											0	0
1. A Real Market will for showing the set		TRACK AND AND AND THE TAXAGE	ALL OD ALL AND ALL A								0	0

For reviews with multiple approvers, the item approval status count increases when *all* approvers approve the item. However, it only takes one approver to reject an item for the rejected count to increase. Items that aren't marked as approved or rejected are considered not reviewed. Items that aren't marked or rejected are considered not reviewed.

If you're a moderator, you see the preset filters to filter the list by item type, folder, or set. You can use **Views** to configure which fields are visible in the table. You can use **Actions** to batch update items [74].

# View review activity

You can see all activities for a review across versions, including when reviews were opened, closed, when new versions were published or when signatures were added. This can be useful for collecting electronic signature [257] information for FDA 21 CFR Part 11 compliance.

You can also see item progress [206] and participant progress [205] for each version of the review.

1. From the review with activities you want to view, select **Stats**.



 In the page that opens, select the **Review activity** tab. The table shows activity for all versions since the review was created.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 F	REV-154			Add moderators	O Add participants Deleg	ate approval Subscribe -
Test cycle: Test C Approval review - 🗃 10/1	ycle B V1 12/2023 · View BA	SE-311 – In progress		Publish new revis	sion 🛛 🗄 Manage revie	ew + 🖆 + 🗃
1 a 4 2						Batch item actions •
Participant progress	Item progress	Review activity				
Activity details	5/2023					
V1 end date: 10/12,	/2023 17:00 PDT					
Moderator(s): Adm	nin Test 🖻 Email	moderators				
Date	Name	Signer role	Review role	Activity	_	Review version
10/05/2023 11:02 PDT	Admin Test	N/A	Moderator	Created N	foderator initiated review.	1
I C Page 1	of 1	Show: 20 -				Displaying 1 of 1

# **Filter review comments**

You can view and filter comments for all the items in a review to find only the comments you want to see.

1. From the review, select **Feedback** to see all the comments for the review, with a filter panel on the left.

You can read and reply to comments here. System level project | REV-150 Subscribe -Test Review A V3 - Compare Complete review B + Approval Feedback 10/02/2023 View BASE-300 In progress 2 Batch item actions -0:21 1% O Search T) Add a new comment All (11) SYSPRJ-P\_REQ-19 Processor Core 1 ABD: Open (9) Admin Test Comment · 44 minutes ago V2 Mine (7) Review (2) looks good Important (1) 107 Questions (2) Admin Test Resolved + 35 minutes ago Proposed changes (1) (A) x lesues (1) 141 1 Add your reply т

2. (Optional) You can also use the filters in the filter panel to search for comments by category or keyword. Available categories are:

All	Every comment from the review.
Open	Comments the moderator hasn't acknowledged or responded to
Mine	Your comments
Review	Comments sent to participants about the review by email
Important	Comments flagged as important by a moderator
Questions	Comments that are questions to be answered
Proposed changes	Comments that suggest changes
Issues	Comments that raise issues

# Subscribe to a review

If you're a review participant, you can stay up-to-date on review comments with email notifications in reviews where you're a participant.

To receive notifications, you must first configure your review subscriptions [42] in your profile. You can also configure your profile so that you automatically follow an item when you comment on it.

- 1. Open the review with the items you want to subscribe.
- 2. Select Subscribe > Subscribe to the items on this page.

System level project REV-150 Test Review A V3 → Compare Approval review + 10/02/2023 - View BASE-300 → In progress

Subscribe -Subscribe to the items on this page Unsubscribe to the items on this page



# IMPORTANT

Some reviews contain multiple pages of items. To subscribe to all the items in a large review, you must subscribe to items on multiple pages.

# **Export reviews**

You can export reviews as a Word document or a PDF by selecting **Export** anywhere in **Reviews**.

You have two export options:

- Export activity review Includes all review activities [207] across versions (for example, when the
  review was created, versioned, closed, marked as finalized) along with the date, name, and role of
  the person responsible.
- Export version review Includes an overview of the review, a list of participants with their review role, signer role, signature meaning and status, as well as the content of the review and the comments.

#### To download an export to your desktop:

- 1. In the review you want to export, select **Export** in the top right toolbar.
- 2. Select the type of export and format.



3. In the window that opens, choose how you'd like to open the file, then click OK.

The file opens in a new tab.

# Voting

With voting, your team can prioritize items or rank them based on a topic proposed by the moderator. Each participant has a certain number of votes. Participants can give multiple votes to a single item.

Moderators can enable voting in the settings [169] when they initiate a review.

Initiate review				×
1 Definition	2 Settings	3 Participants	4 Invitation	C Learn more
Electronic signature sett	lings			
Réquire electronic signa	atures from approvers			
Enable signer role	for approvers. This associates a signer	role with an approver's signature.		
Permission settings				
Allow for review comme	ents to also appear in the single item vie	ew within a project		
Make public: everyone )	has permission to "read-only"			
Let approvers add revie	wers and approvers			
<ul> <li>Let approvers delegate</li> </ul>	their review to others			
Optional settings				
<ul> <li>Enable time tracking</li> </ul>				
Votify me when a partic	ipant finishes a review			
<ul> <li>Enable voting</li> </ul>				
Votës për Usër	Voting label			
10 0	Vote for priority			

#### You can apply votes as a participant using one of these methods:

• Select the up arrow to add a vote or the down arrow to subtract votes. The box on the left displays the number of votes you used on that item. You also see how many votes you have left to use.



• Participants can also apply votes while viewing an item's detail.

# Categories

In Jama Connect, the *Categories* feature allows you to organize and view cross-project items based on classifications. Examples of classifications include configurations, allocations, releases, and features.

You can use the Categories feature to assign cross-project items like requirements, test cases, and use cases to customer-defined groupings. According to your project needs, you can assign a single category or multiple categories.

The Categories feature is disabled by default. The organization admin must enable it before the option appears in Jama Connect. Once the feature is enabled, users with read/write permissions can make edits. For more information, see Enable categories [215].



# TIP

If you prefer to hide the Categories tab for a project, go to the Page layout settings (gear icon > Change layout).

Your role determines your interactions when you use the Categories feature.

Role	Responsibilities and actions
User with read permissions	<ul> <li>View categorized items in the Category tree.</li> <li>See a list of cross-project items.</li> <li>View Category Path.</li> <li>View Category Path ID.</li> </ul>
User with read/write permissions	<ul> <li>Organize your requirements across projects.</li> <li>Apply a category to items from Single Item View, List View, or Reading View.</li> <li>View categorized items in the Category tree.</li> <li>See a list of cross-project items.</li> <li>View Category Path.</li> <li>View Category Path ID.</li> </ul>
Organization admin	<ul> <li>Control and manage the Category admin tree:</li> <li>Add, move, copy, and merge categories.</li> <li>Edit and delete categories.</li> <li>See category details like description and when it was created.</li> <li>View Category Path.</li> <li>View Category Path ID.</li> <li>View Category ID.</li> <li>Clean up categories.</li> </ul>

# Managing categories in projects (users)

The interface for the Categories feature consists of multiple parts and depends on your view: List View, Reading View, or Single Item View.

Project - Change project «	* SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19:Proce 8 SI_S2_P-D_DESC-14:Arc	th * SI_S2_P-VER-1:Core Sup * SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19:Proc *
64 categories	Product / Product Requirements / Processor SI_S2_P-P_REQ-18     Processor Core 1 V9 →	e View all locked items (0) Subscribe - Email
© 2022 EV © 2022 Sedan © 2022 SUV ⊞ © 2022 Truck A	<ul> <li>☐ Product Requirement + Modified 08/28/2022 08:11:05 and</li> <li>※ ○ Ø</li> <li>VERIFICATION TYPE:</li> </ul>	n O • B • @ M O Transition Item from Ready for Approval •
Models     New category     Prototypes 2     QA     QA     QA results     Test	Unassigned STATUS: Ready for Approval	() () () () () () () () () () () () () (
© Test A © Test B © Test category ⊞ © Test D © Test F © Test G	TAGS: Add tag	
Add tag ≧Cloud ≣ List 2 2022(2) Alert(1)	CATEGORIES:	5 🖻 📲
Poviow(2)	Category Path	Applied
	2022 Truck A 2023 EV 2023 Sedan lineup 2022 Truck A 2023 EV Truck C 2022 Truck C Test ald	Version 2

- 1. Categories tab in the Explorer Tree Select it to open the Categories UI.
- Category tree Select a category to view specific details about a category like the Category Path. You can also expand the tree to see how your organization admin organized the hierarchy for the categories they created.
- 3. **Category Path and list of variations** column Displays the category variation paths and Category Path IDs.
- 4. **Applied** column Displays the version history, which allows you to see which version the item was at when the category was applied. When you view an older version, you can see which categories were applied or unapplied.
- 5. **Manage categories** button Select it to open the Manage categories window where you can apply and unapply categories.

# Apply or unapply categories

When the Categories feature is enabled by the organization admin, you can apply categories to items or unapply them as needed.

#### Important considerations

- You must have read/write permissions to use the Categories feature.
- You can select a maximum of 50 items at a time.
- Organization admins can allow users to manage categories on system-locked and user-locked items. When enabled, users with read/write access can manage categories on locked items. For more information, see Enable category management for locked items [216].
- Managing access will have an impact on cross-project use of categories. When a user is working with
  a cross-project list in Reading View and they click Manage categories, the displayed categories are
  limited to Global categories and categories that intersect with the selected projects.
- When you view an older version, you can see which categories were applied or unapplied.

Applied	Unapplied
Version 29	Version 35
Version 29	
	Applied Version 29 Version 29

#### To apply and unapply categories:

- 1. Select the items where you want to apply or unapply categories.
- 2. Open the Manage Categories page depending on your view.
  - List View or Reading View Select the Manage categories button from the header.

Project - Change project	StreamSemiconductor Proj *	SI_S2_P-CR-2:Change Re *	Processor *	SI_S2_P-I	NFO-6:Item C	2022	Sedan #
🗐 🖓 🥅 🛅 🕤 Cate	agories PATH-2					Subsc	ribe 🕶 Ema
66 categories	2022 Sedan						Б
Search	Category		Mana	ge categorie	s		
	E # 6 Y E+	Q - C 2 of 52 colociad		\$ 1	10 X	• 0	@ 1
C 2022 SUV		Name	Current versio	n C	escription	-	-
Models	MB SP.	INFO-1 Test Requirements fr	or 6	T	he AB2258	microprocess	or develop
- 😳 New category - 🏷 QA			or 0	-	- AD00540	inici oprocesa	
QA results	× [] 55_534	NFO-1 Overview	0		ne AB22510	1 microproce	essor develo
Test A	🔲 🗎 MB_SP-	INFO-21 Designer guide	3				
Single Item View —	Select the Manage c	ategories button f	from the Ca	ategor	y Path	table.	
A Product Product Require	ments Processor SI_S2_P-P_I	REQ-19	View all I	ocked iter	ns (0) Si	ubscribe •	Email
Processor Core 1	V9 <del>•</del>		1	5	B- •	-	Î
Product Requirement	<ul> <li>Modified 08/28/2022 08:11</li> </ul>	:05 am					
× ~							-
VERIFICATION TYPE		And the second s				Co. Es	-
VERIFICATION TIPE.		Transition Item fro	om Ready for	Approv	al •		
Unassigned							•
STATUS:							0
Ready for Approval							80
i today isi rippi etai							0
							-
TAGS:							~
Add tag							-
							1
CATEGORIES.				<u> </u>	-		
CATEGORIES:				1	Manage	categorie	s W
C 3 categories				_	+		-59
Category Path			1	pplied			
2022 Truck A 2023 EV	2023 Sedan lineup		1	/ersion 2	2		3
2022 Truck A 2023 EV	Truck C 2022 Truck C		1	/ersion 2	2		-0
T-11 -14							W
IOSI BIO			1	rersion	2		

On the Manage Categories page that opens:

- Categories column lists available categories to apply to selected items.
- Applied categories column lists categories already applied to the selected items.
- 3. From the **Categories** column, select the categories you want to apply: double-click a single category or select multiple categories and use the arrows to move them to the **Applied categories** column.

Unapplied categories	48 of 61 categories	Applied categories	3 categorie
Search	Q.	Search	Q
2022 Sedan		2022 Truck A 2023 EV 2022 Truck B	
2022 SUV		2022 Truck A / 2023 EV	
2022 Truck A		2022 EV	
2022 Truck A / 2023 EV / Truck C / 2022 T	nuck C		
2022 Truck A / 2023 EV / 2023 Sedan line	qu	x:	
2022 Truck A / 2023 EV / Truck C / 2023 T	ruok Ineup	23	
2022 Truck A 2023 EV Truck C 2023 T	Fuck lineup A		
Test ald			
2022 Truck A 4 + Alibags			
2022 Truck A 5 . B			
Models Model A			
Models Model A   Model A			
Models Model B			

The selected categories are highlighted in yellow until you save your changes. The bottom of the page lists the number of categories that will be applied and the number of items that will be impacted.

- 4. To unapply a category, select it in the **Applied categories** column: double-click a single category or select multiple categories and use the arrows to move them to the **Categories** column. The selected categories are highlighted in yellow until you save your changes.
- 5. Click **Save** to apply your changes.

# **Controlling the Categories feature (organization admins)**

The Categories feature allows users to organize and view items in a cross-project hierarchy. It allows users to see how items and components can build a final product.

The Categories feature is disabled by default. As the organization admin, you must enable it for the option to appear in Jama Connect and be available to users.

# When this feature is enabled, organization admins can interact with:

Organization admin				Help
Categories			(4)	-∿- 625
Allow category ma	nagement for locked ite	ems	Clean up categories	Enable categories 💷 🔿
O Add	64 categories  C	Selected category pa	th Variations of selected category	a
Search		PATH-4 2	3	
2022 Sedan 2022 SUV Fi 2022 Truck A		Global category	19 projects 11 items	S
🗊 🚑 Models	201			

#### 1. Categories admin tree

- · Create a hierarchy that is specific to your company's workflow.
- Add, move, copy, and merge categories.

#### 2. Selected category path option

- View category details like description and when it was created.
- · Remove category.
- 3. Variations of selected category option
  - Edit and delete a category.
  - View category paths, associated variation path, and category IDs.



- 4. Clean up categories option
  - Perform a manual update to applied categories on current and historical items.

# When enabled, users with read/write permissions can interact with:

Project - Change project 兴	+ StreamSemiconducto	or Proj 🗧 😨 SI_S2_F	P-CR-2:Change Re 🗿 👝	Processor 8 SI_S2	_P-INFO-6:Item C 🐣 🚫 2022 Sedan 🕷
66 categories	PATH-2 2022 Sedan			3	Subscribe 👻 Email
Search Q	Category			Manage cate	gories
	= # 5 Y	1 . n.	2 of 52 selected		
© 2022 Secan © 2022 SUV ⊞ © 2022 Truck A	<b>- - -</b>	ID	Name	Current version	Description
Models     New category	× ° 0	MB_SP-INFO-1	Test Requirements for	6	The AB2258 microprocessor develop
C QA	<b>V D V</b>	SS_S3-INFO-1	Overview	6	The AB225101 microprocessor devel
⊡ 😳 Test ◯ Test A		MB_SP-INFO-21	Designer guide	3	<u> </u>
Test B	富	MB_SP-SHRQ-1	Import Test j- edit	4	

- 1. Categories tab in the Explorer Tree
- 2. **Categories** table in Single Item View
- 3. Manage categories button in Single Item View, Reading View, and List View

# **Enable the Categories feature**

You must enable the Categories feature before users with read/write permissions can apply categories to items. By default, this feature is disabled.

#### To enable Categories:

KARA STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK ADMIN	Acme Works test Admin Test   Reports -   Help   Log Out
Organization Project	<ul> <li>Organization admin</li> <li>Categories</li> </ul>	Help 
Categories	Allow category management for locked ite	ems Sclean up categories Enable categories 🔿 🌖
Editor templates	🖸 Add 81 categories 😅	Selected category path Variations of selected category 2
Jama Connect Advisor	Search	DATH-2
License	1 2022 EV	
E Lookup matrices	0222 Sedan 2022 SUV ⊕  2022 Truck A	Global category = 36 projects 54 items

- 1. From the Jama Connect header, select Admin > Categories.
- 2. Next to Enable categories, select On.

The Categories option is now visible in Jama Connect and available to users.

# Enable category management for locked items

Organization admins can allow users to manage categories on system-locked and user-locked items.

#### Important considerations

- · This option is disabled by default.
- When enabled, users with read/write permissions can manage categories on locked items.
- When you enable or disable this option, a message appears in the Admin Activity stream.

#### To enable category management for locked items:

- 1. From the Jama Connect header, select Admin > Organization > Categories.
- 2. Select Allow category management for locked items.

Organization Project	Organization admin	Help
Details	Categories	-V-1,301
🛇 Categories	Allow category management for locked	items 👒 Clean up categories Enable categories 👰 🔵
Editor templates	Add 81 categories 2	Selected category path Variations of selected category 2
Jama Connect Advisor	Search	DATH 2
🄑 License	⊕ 2022 EV     ⊕ 2022 Sedan	2022 Sedan
Cookup matrices	2022 SUV 1 1 2022 Truck A	Global category - 36 projects 54 items

The ability to manage locked items is now available to users.

# Add a new category

Create a hierarchy or a list of categories that users can apply to organize project requirements.

#### To add a new category:

- 1. From the Jama Connect header, select Admin > Organization > Categories.
- 2. In the Categories admin tree, click **Add**.
| Organization admin       |               |    |
|--------------------------|---------------|----|
| Categories               |               |    |
| O Add                    | 57 categories | C  |
| Search                   |               | q, |
| 🛨 🏪 2022 Sedan           |               |    |
| 1 🖶 🚟 2022 SUV           |               |    |
| 🗄 🎂 2022 Truck           |               |    |
| ne up 2023 Truck line up |               |    |
| 💮 vehicle                |               |    |

3. In the Add category window, enter a name, then click **Add**.

Add category		4
Name		
This field is required		
Town one of addition	_	
	Artes	Cancel

Your new category appears in alphabetical order in the tree and is immediately visible in all Jama Connect projects.

## Edit category properties

You can change the name of an existing category.

When you edit a variation of a category, all variations are changed and add an optional description.

#### To edit category properties:

- 1. From the Jama Connect header, select Admin > Organization > Categories.
- 2. In the Category admin tree, select the category that you want to edit.
- 3. Click Variations of selected category, then select the pencil button.

Organization Project	Organization admin			Hel
Details	Categories			-1,301
Categories	Allow category management for locked ite	ems	Section up categories	Enable categories
Editor templates	Add 81 categories 3			
ltern types	a rategories to	Selected category path	variations of selected categor	y i
3 Jama Connect Advisor	Search Q	CAT-31		and the second second
Dicense	1 2022 EV			Edit category
E Lookup matrices	<ul> <li>2022 Sedan</li> <li>2022 SUV</li> </ul>	2022 EV		/ 10
O OSLC	관 🌐 2022 Truck A			
Permissions	? question			
E Pick lists	Hegan's test	DESCRIPTION:		
Plugins	🗑 🂑 Megan's test 2 📼 💑 Models	Category variations		
C Relationships	When the stategory	a and the		
Reports	QA .	Categories		
Review center	QA results     Hest	Category path		Path ID
🗐 Risk management	🖶 Test A	2022 EV		PATH-32
C Stream	Test B			

4. In the Edit category window, enter a new name or description, then click **Save**.

The change appears in the Category admin tree and is immediately visible in all Jama Connect projects.

#### Remove a category variation

To disassociate requirements related to a category or to update the hierarchy, you can remove a category variation.

Removing a category variation removes only that single variation. For example, if you have two variations of a category called "Transmission," you can remove the variation that is no longer needed, and the other variation remains unchanged. To remove all variations of a category, see *Delete a category*.

#### Important considerations

- Categories that no longer belong to a variation are deleted.
- · Nested categories are removed.
- Nested categories that are orphaned are deleted.
- Organization admins must delete a category with only one variation. When you delete the only variation of a category, the Category ID is deleted along with the remaining Category Path ID.
- All items, including locked items, are updated to reflect the category changes made by the organization admin.

#### To remove a category variation:

- 1. From the Jama Connect header, select Admin > Organization > Categories.
- 2. From the Category admin tree, select the variation you want to remove.
- 3. Click **Selected category path**, then select the **minus icon**.

Organization Project	Organization admin			Help
Details	Categories			- <b>N- 1,301</b>
Categories	Allow category management for locked ite	ems	Section up categories	Enable categories ( N )
Editor templates	Add 81 categories 2	Selected category path	Variations of selected catego	pry 2
Jama Connect Advisor	Séarch Q	Models Model & PATH-65		A REAL PROPERTY AND INCOME.
Dicense	1 1 2022 EV	Madel A		Remove category
E Lookup matrices	2022 Sedan 2022 SIJV	Project category = 18	annierts 1 items	• •
O OSLC	E 2022 Truck A	and intelect category - To	s biologia ( inclua	

4. When prompted to confirm, click **Yes**.

The selected category is removed. Nested categories are removed and descendant categories that are orphaned are deleted. All items associated with these categories are updated.

### **Delete a category**

When you delete a category, all variations of that category are also deleted.

For example, if you have two variations of a category called "Transmission," and you delete either variation, both variations are deleted from the Category admin tree along with the associated Category ID.

To remove only one variation of a category, see Remove a category variation.

#### Important considerations

- Deleting a category affects all variations of a category and can have a widespread impact on your category hierarchy.
- Nested categories are deleted.
- · Nested categories that are orphaned are deleted.
- Categories that no longer belong to any other variation are deleted.
- All items, including locked items, are updated to reflect the category changes made by the organization admin.

#### To delete a category:

- 1. From the Jama Connect header, select **Admin > Organization > Categories**.
- 2. In the Category admin tree, select the variation that you want to delete.
- 3. Click Variations of selected category, then select the trash icon (Delete category variations).

Organization Project	*	Organization admin					Help
🚊 Details		Categories					√- 1,301
Categories		Allow category m	anagement for lock	ed ite	ms	Clean up categories	Enable categories 🗪 🔵
Editor templates		O Add	81 categories	2	Selected category path Va	riations of selected catego	ry 1
Jama Connect Advisor		Search		Q	CAL31		
🔑 License		⊕ 2022 EV		1	0000 51		Delete category variations
E Lookup matrices		2022 Sedan			Category variations		/ @
O OSLC		1 2022 Truck A			Contragoly rematorie		
Permissions		Q ? question	ner cat				
E Pick lists		E dign studio explain	ior cat		DESCRIPTION:		
Plugins		E 🎒 Megan's test 2			Category variations		
I Relationships		New category		1	Cl. 1 astanation		
Reports		QA		- 6	1 categories		
Review center		QA results     Test			Category path		Path ID
Risk management		Test A			2022 EV		PATH-32
C Stream		Test B					

4. When prompted to confirm, click Yes.

The selected category and all variations are deleted. Nested categories are removed and descendant categories that are orphaned are deleted. All items associated with these categories are updated.

#### Organize the Category admin tree

You can organize the Category admin tree to reflect how your items are structured. After completing a move, copy, or merge, items with those applied categories are updated to reflect the new hierarchy.

#### Important considerations

• When you drag a category to an existing category, it is nested under the category you selected. A new variation is created. Items with those categories are updated to reflect the new hierarchy.

- Copying a category duplicates it and its nested categories to the area you selected in the Category admin tree. New variations and Category Path IDs are created. Items with those categories are updated to reflect the new hierarchy.
- · Merging two categories, from the move or copy actions, duplicates the selected categories and its nested categories to the area you selected in the Category admin tree. New variations and Category path IDs are created. Items with those categories are updated to reflect the new hierarchy.

#### To organize the Category admin tree:

1. From the Jama Connect header, select Admin > Organization > Categories.



2. From the Category admin tree, select the category you want to update, then do one of the following:

6	
Move category	Copy category
All items and categories (including descendants) associated with the source location are updated with new category variations. The current category variations are removed.	applied to any associated items. Current category variations are unchanged and remain on any existing items.
	Save Cance
ove — Drag and drop it to the new location in	the Category admin tree, then select Move
ove — Drag and drop it to the new location in ategory.	the Category admin tree, then select <b>Move</b>
<b>ove</b> — Drag and drop it to the new location in ategory. a duplicate category exists in the location you opy — Drag and drop it to the new location in ategory.	the Category admin tree, then select <b>Move</b> selected, you have the option to merge them the Category admin tree, then select <b>Copy</b>
love — Drag and drop it to the new location in ategory. a duplicate category exists in the location you opy — Drag and drop it to the new location in ategory. a duplicate category exists in the location you lerge — Click Yes, then select Move and mer	the Category admin tree, then select <b>Move</b> selected, you have the option to merge them the Category admin tree, then select <b>Copy</b> selected, you have the option to merge them <b>rge category</b> or <b>Copy and merge category</b> .
<ul> <li>love — Drag and drop it to the new location in ategory.</li> <li>a duplicate category exists in the location you opy — Drag and drop it to the new location in ategory.</li> <li>a duplicate category exists in the location you lerge — Click Yes, then select Move and mer</li> <li>Merge Category</li> </ul>	the Category admin tree, then select <b>Move</b> selected, you have the option to merge them the Category admin tree, then select <b>Copy</b> selected, you have the option to merge them <b>rge category</b> or <b>Copy and merge category</b> .
<ul> <li>love — Drag and drop it to the new location in ategory.</li> <li>a duplicate category exists in the location you opy — Drag and drop it to the new location in ategory.</li> <li>a duplicate category exists in the location you lerge — Click Yes, then select Move and mer</li> <li>Merge Category</li> <li>Model A already exists in this location. Do you</li> </ul>	the Category admin tree, then select <b>Move</b> selected, you have the option to merge them the Category admin tree, then select <b>Copy</b> selected, you have the option to merge them <b>rge category</b> or <b>Copy and merge category</b> .

Yes

### Category tree organization options

#### Move and merge category

All items and categories (including descendants) associated with the source location are updated with new category variations. The current category variations are removed.

#### Copy and merge category

New category variations are created and applied to any associated items. Current category variations are unchanged and remain on any existing items.



3. Click Save.

All items associated with these categories are updated.

## Managing category access to projects

Organization admins can configure a category's visibility to hide or show one, many, or all projects.

#### Important considerations

- When an item is deleted and restored, associated categories are not restored.
- If a project is archived and restored later, associated categories are not restored.

## Category access types

•	Unassigned access: Not visible in projects.
&	Project access: Visible in one or more projects.
•	Global access: Visible in all organization projects.

**Unassigned categories** — Unassigned categories are not visible in any of the organization's projects. This includes project views, List View, Reading View, Single Item View, tree views, and the Manage categories window. When new categories are added, users don't have access by default, so that the organization admin can configure new categories without disrupting existing work or revealing categories to the entire organization.

**Project access** — Project access categories can only be seen and used in specific projects set by the organization admin. The organization admin manages access and makes any necessary changes.

**Global access** — Global access gives all projects the visibility to a category. Select **Global access** to enable or disable this option at any time. When enabled, all active organization projects can see that category. The **Manage access** option is disabled because all projects are set to **Visible**.



## NOTE

If the user disables **Global access**, the category is converted to a **Project access** category and the visible projects are still accessible. The user can choose to manage access and make any necessary changes.

## Add Categories field to items in review

For the Categories field to appear in Review Center Reading View and Review Center Single Item View, organization admins must add it to an existing item type.

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Item types.

📥 🏠 STREAM	PROJE	ECTS REVIEWS RIS	K a	ADMIN			Acme	Works	s test	Admin Tas	t   Re	ports - 1	Help ( Lo	g Out
Organization Project	Orga Iter	nization admin n types											-√- 1,67	Help 70
Categories		Add item type	Item t	/pe fields for	A field	using a lookup	matrix			6	2 1	1 )	C Add	d field
Editor templates	Image	Display	Order	Label	Infotip	Unique Field Name	Field Type	Control	Pick List	Calculation	Read Only	Allow AP Overwrite	Required	SL
Lg item types		A field using a lookup matrix	1	Project ID		documentKey	Text Field				1		1	
Jama Connect Advisor	D	Attachment	2	Global ID		globalld	Text Field				×.		e.	_
P License	G	Audumon	3	Name		name	Text Field						×	×
E Lookup matrices		Block Requirement Brand New Item Type	4	Description		description	Text Box	Rich Text						×
O OSLC	P	Change Request	5	Assigned		assignedTo	User							*

2. In the Item types section, click **Views** in the Action column for the item type you want.

STRE	AM	PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK ADMIN	Acme Works test	Aamin Te	st   Reports -   Help	Log Out
Organization Project	«	Organization admin				Help
🚊 Details		Item types			*	1,670
Categories					Add item type	Item ty.
Editor templates		Plural	Key Description	API- System	Action	vdd field
ltem types		A field using a lookup matrix	1	143 No	Edit I Views I Delete	Order
Jama Connect Advisor			Attachment		carl mana l pointe	1
Nucense		Attachments	АГТ Туре	22 Yes	Views	2
Lookup matrices		Block Requirements	BLKRQ	97 No	Edit Views Delote	
O OSLC		Brand New Item Types	BNI	163 No	Edit   Views   Delete	3
		Change Requests	CR	28 No	Edit   Views   Delete	4

3. In the View window that opens, select **Review Center Single Item View** from the drop-down menu.

			Projects List View	~
			Projects List View	
Drag and drop to hide/show and re-ord	er f	ield	S Projects List View with Mixed Item Types	
			Projects Reading View	
Hidden fields			Projects Document View	
APLID			Iter Review Center Single Item View	
Global ID			Lot Review Center Reading View	
Last Locked By			# of Comments	Π
Last Locked			Relationship Status	
Created By			Name	
Created Date			Description	
Modified By		>	Symbol	
Modified Date		+	Min	
Project			Тур	
# of Upstream Relationships			Max	
# of Downstream Relationships			Unit	
Last Activity Date			Conditions	
Connected Users			Requirement Type	
Risk			Verification Type	

4. Drag **Categories** from the Hidden fields column to the Visible fields column, then click **Save**.

Save

Close

Drag and drop to hide/show and re	e-order fields	
Hidden fields Steps Created Date Date Modified By Modified Date Project Last Activity Date # of Upstream Relationships # of Downstream Relationships Tags	Visible fields Name Description Categories	
Current version Version Item Path # of Links # of Attachments		

5. From the drop-down menu, select **Review Center Reading View**.

Review Center Single Item View - Block Requi	reme	nts		? ×
			Review Center Single Item View	¥
			Projects List View	
Drag and drop to hide/show and re-orde	r fiel	ds	Projects List View with Mixed Item Types	
Hidden fields Created Date Date Modified By Modified Date Project Last Activity Date # of Upstream Relationships # of Downstream Relationships Tags Current version Version Item Path		Vi: Na De	Projects List view with Mixed item Types Projects Reading View Projects Document View Review Center Single Item View Review Center Reading View	
# of Links				
# of Attachments				
Categories				
			Save Clos	se

- 6. Drag **Categories** from the Hidden fields column to the Visible fields column, then click **Save**.
- 7. Click Close.

The Categories table now appears when users are in a review.

Folder: Geogr Approval review - 1	raphy V1 3 08/31/2023 - View BASE-2489 - In ord	B- *
<b>B</b> a <b>P Y</b>	Q. Ø 5 items	Highlighting: 💽 Show removed items: 💽
	Status. Under Review Created By: Sample User Dreated Date: 09/17/2015 Project: Medical Device Sample Set # of Upstream Relationships: 0 # of Downstream Relationships;	
	5 Categories:	
	Category path	Applied
	2027	Version 10
	Philippine 1	Version 10

## Configure access to projects

Access to a project can only be managed on one non-global category at a time. Organization admins can hide or display any projects that are active in the organization.

#### Important considerations

- You can only edit access to projects on top-level parent categories. All child categories inherit the top-level (parent) access to projects. This action also affects all move, copy, and merge actions.
- Organization admins can't edit category access when categories are applied to items in the project they are trying to remove. Applied categories must be unapplied from all items in the selected projects before category access can be hidden. This action also affects all move, copy, and merge actions.

#### To configure access to projects:

- 1. From the Jama Connect header, select Admin > Organization > Categories.
- 2. In the Categories admin tree, select the Project category you want to update, then click **Manage access**.

Organization admin			Help
Categories			√- 625
Allow category ma	anagement for lock	ked ite	tems Clean up categories Enable categories 🔿 🤇
O Add	64 categories	C	Selected category path Variations of selected category 1
Search		Q,	DATH 28
6 2022 EV		1.16	Manage access
😑 2022 Sedan			Models
2022 SUV			Broject category + 19 projects 1 items
🕁 😁 2022 Truck A			
+ 🚯 Models			
BNew category			Global accord
Prototypes 2			
G QA			DESCRIPTION:
GA results			
🖽 😁 Test			CREATED ON:
Test A			12/01/2021 09:35:15 am
Test B			
lest category			CREATED BY:
E Test D			Admin Test
lest F		1.00	

The Manage access window opens.

3. From the **Hidden projects** column, select the projects you want to be visible: double-click a single project or select multiple projects and use the arrows to move them to the Visible projects column.

Hidden projects	3 projects		Visible projects	50 of 57 project
Search	a, i		Search	q
Duplicate of Duplicate of Duplicate of Duplicate of			New   New500	
Duplicate of Duplicate of Duplicate of Duplicate of			New100   New100	
reast project 54321   r54321			New1000   New1000	
			New1001   New1001	
		36	New123   New123	
			New200   New200	
			New2000   New2000	
			New600   New600	
			New700   New700	
			New800   New800	
			New900   New900	
			NewMedical1   Medical1	
			NewMedical2   Medical2	
			NewMedical3   Medical3	
			NewMedical4   Medical4	

The selected categories are highlighted in yellow until you save your changes.

The bottom of the page lists the number of projects that will be hidden or visible and the number of categories that will be impacted.

4. From the **Visible projects** column, select the projects you want to hide: double-click a single project or select multiple projects and use the arrows to move them to the Hidden projects column.

The selected categories are highlighted in yellow until you save your changes.

The bottom of the page lists the number of projects that will be hidden or visible and the number of categories that will be impacted.

5. Click **Save** to apply your changes.

# Collaborating with your team

For companies to turn today's research into tomorrow's products, teams must stay connected and synchronized. Jama Connect equips teams to track decisions and ensure quality of the product they set out to build.

Jama Connect links globally distributed team members and facilitates collaboration in the product development lifecycle. It allows you to provide and capture feedback, decision making, and approval for requirements and all product aspects under review.

Jama Connect enables efficient sharing of data, documents, files, information, and knowledge within and across teams in your organization.

Use these features to work with your team, document conversations, and track decisions.

- Reviews [162] A method to help teams, stakeholders, and customers discuss, evaluate, revise, and approve items in the development process. For details, see Reviews in Jama Connect [162].
- Workflows [230] An automated set of transitions, from one status to another, over the course of an item's lifespan.
- Notifications [228] Optional emails sent to groups or individuals to alert you when changes to
  items are made.
- Stream [236] A collection of the most recent comments and activities in the project.
- Electronic signatures [257] A method for getting approval on electronic documents or forms.

## **Email notifications and subscriptions**

Users can configure email and notification settings in their profile [41] to stay up to date with activity in their projects.



#### **IMPORTANT**

To receive notifications in Jama Connect, your SMTP must be enabled by your system admin.

You can sign up for notifications to be sent to you automatically from several places in Jama Connect.

Notifications from	Sent to you
Review [166]	When you're invited to participate
	When someone replies to your comments in a review
Workflow [653]	When status of an item changes
Stream [246]	When you're mentioned in the stream
System Health Report [556]	With updates on license usage

Your Jama Connect administrators control what you can do with subscriptions. For example:

- Organization administrators Can allow users to subscribe others and to mute subscriptions.
- Project organization administrators Can unsubscribe groups or individuals from any of their subscriptions.

As a user, you can:

- Set up notifications for a single item in a project or for an entire project.
- Configure email notifications and subscriptions.

## Subscribe to emails for yourself

2.

You can subscribe to a single item, to multiple items, or to an entire project.

1. To subscribe to a single item, select the item in Single Item View, then select **Subscribe**.

🗁 / Loan Software Applic / Loan S	oftware Busine / QL-E		Vlew all locked items (1) Subscribe - Email	
Lender Management	Function ersion 8			Subscribe
To subscribe to multiple a. Open the items in b. Select each item y c. Select <b>Subscribe</b> .	e items: <b>Project &gt; List</b> ou want to sub	View. scribe to.		
Product   Product Requ Processor Folder - View detail	irements SI_S2_P-FLI	5-7	_	Subscribe  Email Subscribe Subscribe others
= 0 0 7	≝• <b>0</b> • 5	3 OF TO Selected	• /	
- Name		🔒 Tags		Categories I
Processor Core 1	<b>9</b> 3			2022 Truck A / 2023 EV / 2023 Se
Processor Speed	<b>#</b> 1			
Coprocessors	<b>9</b> 1	2022, Review		2022 Truck A / 2023 EV
Coreprocessor 2	• 0			2022 Truck A / 2023 EV

A confirmation message appears below the toolbar.

#### Subscribe other users to email notifications

You must be a system, organization, or project administrator to subscribe others to all items at a project level.

1. To subscribe others to a single item, select the item in Single Item View, then select **Subscribe > Subscribe others**.

A / Product / Product Requirement	s SI_S2_P-FLI	D-7					Sub	scribe •	Emai
Processor Folder + View details		Subscribe others			8 •				
	¢• 2	3 of 16 selected	/	£8	×.	-5	0	0	T
- Name	0	🔒 Tags			Categorie	1			
Processor Core 1	<b>9</b> 3				2022 Truc	k A / 2	023 E\	//202	3 Se
Processor Speed	91								
Coprocessors	91	2022, Review			2022 Truc	k A / 2	023 EV	1	

- 2. To subscribe others to multiple items:
  - a. Open the items in **Projects > List View**.
  - b. Select each item you want to subscribe to.
  - c. Select Subscribe > Subscribe others.

d. In the Subscribe others to all items window, select the groups or users that you want to subscribe to this item.

You've chosen to subscribe others to these items. Pick users	and groups that you'd like to subscribe below. Subscribed users and groups	
Search Top 100 shown		Clear all users and grou
Admin Test	Kevin	×
Adrian	Jeff	×
Basic User	Creator Float	×
Creator Float	Basic User	X
Creator2 Float	Admin Test	X
Jeff	1 m - 1 m - 1	
Kevin		
Lacie		
Megan		
Sample User		

e. Click OK.

## Workflow

A workflow is a set of transitions from one status to another, over the course of an item's lifespan.

All workflows must be set up by an organization or process administrator before they can be used.

Workflow can be used in these scenarios:

- Project items [230] Creates a common pathway for items to follow.
- Review items [633] Allows organizations to configure items to transition to a specific workflow state following the review process.

#### Using workflow in Projects

You can set up a workflow for Project items, so that users at your organization can move items in your project along a similar path as they progress.

#### Workflow in Projects allows you to:

- Update status for an item or group of items. Items must be the same type and in the same workflow state.
- Transition items from one status to the next, either for a single item or as a batch transition for a group of items.

If workflow is configured by an organization [653] or process admin, use the drop-down menu in Single Item View to move the status of an item along the workflow and activate any related actions or notifications.

Product Product Requirements Processor S1_S2_P-P_REQ-19	View all locked items (0) Subsc	ribe 🔻 Email
Processor Core 1 V9 •	🗾 💎 🕸 🔻	ê î
* 2	0 · 6 · @	
VERIFICATION TYPE:	Transition Item from Ready for Approval *	
Unassigned	to Approved	
STATUS: Ready for Approval		

### Use workflow to batch transition items

With batch transitions, you can select multiple items of the same item type and transition them to a different workflow status.



#### **IMPORTANT**

All items that you transition must be in the same state. For example, you might batch transition all "In Progress" items to a "Complete" status, but you can't select both "In Progress" and "Proposed" items for batch transition.

#### To use workflow to batch transition items:

 Select the project, folder, or set that contains the items you want to transition and view them in List View. Select the items you want to transition, then select Actions > Batch transition.

m D	atasheet SI_S2_P-FLD-2	20						Subscribe -	Email
	erview older + View details							0 - 5	<b>B</b> + •
		• •	• 0	3 of 3 sel	ected		/ 10 2 .		â
V	Project ID	\$	6 -	Tags	*	•	Relationship St	Last Activity Date	#
~	SI_S2_P-DATA-32	Ð			11	<b>9</b> 0		09/16/2022	(
~	SI_S2_P-DATA-33	卮			±1	. 0		05/12/2022	•
V	SI_S2_P-DATA-34	1			11			05/12/2022	(

2. In the Batch Transition Workflow window, confirm your item selection, choose the status, add a comment, then click **Commit**.

Batch transition workflow		$\boxtimes$
Selected System Requirements (2)		
Transition Items from Draft	Under Review ¥	
Transition Comment:		
Please review these requirements by end of week.		
	-	
		Commit Cancel

Your comment appears in the version history of the item and as an activity in the stream. A batch transition is the only way to add a version or notification comment.

From	То	Version	Baselines / Reviews	Change details	User comment and transitions	Created	Ву		
0	0	2		"Status" changed from "Draft" to "Under Review"	VERSION COMMENT: Please review these requirements by end of week.	03/28/2022 08:05:18 am	Sample User		
0 S	am	User Edi	ited						
"Status	"Status" changed from "Draft" to "Approved"								
Per our agreement in the Product Meeting on Thursday Jan. 7, these items have been approved.									
2 min	2 minutas ago [Details]								

#### 3. The status change is shown for each item you transitioned.

Project ID	\$	â	Name	Status	Priority	Business Owner	# of Do
LIB-BR-4	<u>16</u>		Frameworks and st	Draft	High	Vince Walter	10
LIB-BR-5	- <b>6</b>		Application Security	Approved	High	Vince Walter	10
LIB-BR-6	-		NO PASSWORDS	Draft	High	Vince Walter	10
LIB-BR-7	16		Input validation	Approved	High	Vince Walter	10
LIB-BR-8	-		Session controls	Draft	High	Vince Walter	10
LIB-BR-9	- <b>6</b>		Anti-trojan design c	Approved	High	Vince Walter	10
LIB-BR-10	-		Authentication cons	Approved	High	Vince Walter	10
LIB-BR-11	6		Application	Draft	High	Vince Walter	10
LIB-BR-12	1		Management and a	Draft	High	Vince Walter	10

## Use workflow to batch transition items in reviews

With batch transitions, you can select multiple items of the same item type and transition them to a different workflow status.



## IMPORTANT

The items you select for transition must be the same item type and workflow state.

#### To use workflow to batch transition items in reviews:

When	n you're in	a review, s	select Sta	ts > Item	n pro	gre	SS.						
Semicond	uctor Project 2.0   F	REV-154						Add moderators O Add participants Delegate approval Subscribe					
Test c Approval	ycle: Test C	ycle B V1 12/2023 - View B	ASE-311 <b>p</b> in pr	ogress				10	ublish ne	ew revision	∃ Manag	je review +	<b>₽</b> + =
<b>B</b> all	. 2											Batch	item actio
Parti	cipant progress	Item progress	Review activ	ity									
Iten	n details			Item app	proval s	tatus	: 11 iten	ns		Open co	mments	in V1: 1	
Tot	al items: 11			Approved						General		1	
Iter	m type(s): Test	Cycles, Test Rur	IS							Questions	-		
Ave	erage time spen	nt on item: a few	seconds	Rejected				Questio			0		
V1	start date: 10/0	5/2023								Proposed	o		
V1	end date: 10/12/	/2023 17:00 PD1	S	Not reviewed	π					Raised			
					1		1 1		-	issues	ų	_	-
					0 2	4	6 8	10	12		0	1	2
All res	sults (11) View	r: Test Runs (10) ·	Test Cycles (1)	L.								Views -	Actions -
101	Name	E	escription									# Comments	Vote
2	Test Cycle B											0	0
-16-	Validate all instruction	is are 32-bit upd V	alidate that all instru	ctions are 32-bit								0	0
*	Validate 0.65mm Paci	kage V	alidate that 0.65mm	package can be rou	ited on a	layer l	board.					0	0

 Scroll to the bottom of the page and select items of the same item type and workflow state that are to be transitioned. You can select multiple items by using Shift or Ctrl keys. Select Actions > Batch transition workflow.

Average time spent on item: 12 minutes V1 start date: 01/30/2023 V1 end date: 03/14/2023 17:00 PDT		Rejected	0						Questions Proposed changes	0			
		Not reviewed	11					Raised	0				
				0	2	4 6	8	10	12		0	1	2
results (11) View	: Test Runs (10) -	Test Cycle	es (1)									Views	Actions -
I results (11) View	: Test Runs (10) -	Test Cycle Tags	es (1) Description									Views 💮 Batch edit	Actions +
I results (11) View	: Test Runs (10) -	Test Cycle Tags	25 (1) Description									Views •	Actions -
I results (11)     View       Name     Instruction       Validate all instruction	: Test Runs (10) -	Test Cycle	25 (1) Description Validate that a	all instri	ruction	s are 32-t	it					Visws Batch addi	Actions -
I results (11)     View       Name     Test Cycle B       Validate all instruction     Validate 0.65mm Pact	: Test Runs (10) -	Test Cycle Tags	es (1) Description Validate that a Validate that of	all instri ).65mm	uction m pack	s are 32-t age can l	oit pe route	d on a -	4 layer boa	rd.		Views -	<ul> <li>Actions +</li> <li>sition workflo</li> </ul>
	: Test Runs (10) -	Test Cycle	es (1) Description Validate that a Validate that to Validate that to	all instri 0.65mn	uction m pack duct s	s are 32-t tage can l an decryp	oit De route	d on a -	4 layer boa	rd.		Views -	Actions -
I results (11) View Name Tost Cycle B Validate all instruction Validate AES Validate SHA	: Test Runs (10) -	Test Cycle	es (1) Description Validate that a Validate that t Validate that t Validate that t	all instru 0.65mm he prod	nuction m pack duct c duct c	s are 32-t age can t an decryp an decryp	oit be route t AES e t SHA e	d on a a	4 layer boa	rd.		Views v Batch adii	<ul> <li>Actions +</li> <li>sition workflo</li> </ul>
Il results (11) View Name Test Cycle B Validate all instruction Validate Alss Validate AES Validate SHA Validate RNG	: Test Runs (10) -	Test Cycle	es (1) Description Validate that a Validate that t Validate that t Validate that t	all instri 0.65mm he prod he prod	nuction m pack duct c duct c	s are 32-t age can l an decryp an decryp an decryp	oit too route t AES e t SHA e t RNG i	d on a -	4 layer boa on. ion.	rd.		Views of Batch tran	<ul> <li>Actions +</li> <li>sition workflo</li> </ul>



## NOTE

You can also batch update non-workflow fields, but you can't batch delete from here.

3. In the Batch transition workflow window, select the set of items you want to update and the intended workflow transition, then click **Commit**.

Batch transition workflow							
<ul> <li>Selected AutomationItems (1)</li> </ul>							
Transition Items from Initial	State 1						
Transition Comment:							
I can only update items that are of the same item type and th	e same workflow state.						
	Commit Cancel						

If the workflow doesn't have another transition state to select, you don't have permission or the item is locked. A pop-up window displays a warning that you can't proceed.

#### Lock items in a workflow

Locking items in a workflow can help avoid unwanted changes. For example, a project administrator might want to leave items unlocked while in "draft" status, but lock them when they reach "approved" status.



## NOTE

You must have organization or project admin permissions to configure workflow.

#### Important considerations

- Items can also be automatically locked by the workflow [230]. These items show a gray lock after their name and a blue lock in List View.
- System-locked items unlock when transitioned through the workflow or by an organization or project administrator.

Change Requests						0 - 5	B. •
E # 6 Y #.	•	• :	C 4 items	_			
D ID	\$	6	Tags	Project	Name	Requestor	Reason
SI_S2_P-CR-1	Q		-	Semiconducto	Change Request	-	-
SI_S2_P-CR-3	Q		-	Semiconducto	Test CR	-	-
SI_S2_P-CR-4	0		-	Semiconducto	Test	-	-
SI_S2_P-CR-5	Q		1	Semiconducto	test	-	-

To add an automatic lock to the workflow:

- 1. Select Admin > Project > Workflow.
- 2. For the item you want to lock, select **Override**.
- 3. In the **Lock?** column, select the lock icon to include (or remove) an automatic lock in the workflow.

		6 N 2 N 1	2.0						
Details	Settings	Item Types	Release List	Users	Groups	Project Permissions	Workflow	Attachments	Tag Manager
To start,	select an PE:*	item type fo	llowed by a p	icklist fie	eld.				
Design D	escription		~						
PICKLIST	FIELD:*								
Status			×						
VERSIONII	NG: on status version on s W TRANS	status change							
VERSIONII Version Do not WORKFLC Current	NG: on status version on W TRANS	status change ITIONS: N	ew status			Notifications	Lock'	? Transitio	n permission
Version	NG: on status version on s W TRANS	status change ITIONS: N + B	ew status eady for Review	v *		Notifications	Lock	? Transitio	n permission
Version Do not VORKFLC Current Draft	NG: on status version on s W TRANS	status change ITIONS: + B + N	ew status eady for Review o Transitions o Transition" adit	r -	0	Notifications None None	Lock'	? Transitio	n permission

4. Click Save settings.

# Stream — Staying connected

The stream is where you can see the most recent comments and activities of your Jama Connect project.

The stream is built on three basic activities:

- Connect
- Communicate
- Collaborate

些	STREAM	PROJECTS	REVIEWS	RISK	ADMIN	F	Redside Consulting	Admin Test   Help   Log O
Strea	ım							
	k	1						
	@# 🖻	Actions -					Co	mment Cancel
Щ×	T - Filter co	omments						
D	Dave Wilson Dec I Admin Test Plea	ision needed • a ase publish the la t Decision • a	atest review!d	ecisionn	eeded			
	Admin Test Decis	ion • a few secc	nds ago					
	🖒 • Delete							
	Add your reply							

#### Working with the stream

With everyone having the most up-to-date information through the stream, stakeholders stay informed and aligned.

You can:

- Include stakeholders in a conversation [244] by name or email.
- Keep up to date on the latest activities [241] for a project or item.
- Clarify conversations by using actions [248] like questions, decisions, or issues.
- Include whiteboards, prototypes, or other images [247].
- Filter the stream [250] to include only comments or activities that refer to a specific project, item, or person.
- View the stream across projects [255], at an item level [252], or at a project level [254].

## Types of streams

Jama Connect includes streams for specific types of collaboration and activity.

Global Stream [237] — At this level, you see a collection of the most recent comments and activities.

Project and Item Activity Stream [237] — At this level, you see comments and activities for the entire project.

**Item Collaboration Stream [238]** — At this level, you can see comments and connected users related to a specific item.

**Baseline Activity Stream [240]** — At this level, you can monitor activity, quickly find a baseline ID, or see if a signature is revoked.

**Review Activity (Stats) [240]** — At this level, you can see all activities for a review across versions, including when reviews were opened, closed, when new versions were published, or when signatures were added.

Admin Activity Stream [549]— At this level, you see an audit trail of updates made by organization and project administrators.

#### Global stream

At this level, you see a collection of the most recent comments and activities.

PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK ADMIN	Redside Consulting Admin Test   Help   Log Out
mention a person, group, project, item, release or ac	dd a #hashlag
nments	
	PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK ADMIN mention a person, group, project, item, release or a

#### How to access

From the header, select Stream.

#### What you can do

See the most recent comments related to an item.

## Project activity stream

At this level, you see comments and activities for the entire project.



### How to access

- · Select the project name to open the Activity Stream.
- If you don't see the Activity Stream, click **Add widget**. In the window, select Activity stream, then click **Add**. You must have Project Admin permissions to do this.

## What you can do

- · See comments and activities for the entire project.
- See changes to items Adding, editing, or deleting content from item fields, commenting on an item; using features like releases, baselines, or reviews that impact the item.
- Find out when a review is opened, revised, closed, reopened; when signatures are added or revoked.
- View items that are reused and synchronized and reuse details that appear in the activity stream. Users with read permission can view details about reused items and can select a link to view newly copied and synchronized items.
- From a project, select the Collaboration Stream View icon to see information only for that project.

🗩 Stream

#### Item collaboration stream

At this level, you can see comments and connected users related to a specific item.

Here's an example of what the stream looks like in List View and Reading View:

L-BR-	3 Lender Management Function · Description ·	
a	Becky Carlton Question + 11/30/2016	
13	I Alexander Kingston Does the system need a separate #Alert function?!question	
	Re: @QL-BR-3	
	ú + Mute	
	Alexander Kingston Answer 11/30/2016	
	No, it is not a separate functional process for the system.	
0	Alexander Kingston Anawer + 11/30/2016	
-	No, it is not a separate functional process for the system.	
	0	

#### How to access

There are several ways to view the stream at the item level.

• In Project > List View, select the speech bubble icon.



#### What you can do

- · See comments and connected users related to a specific item.
- See changes to items Adding, editing, or deleting content from item fields, commenting on an item; using features like releases, baselines, or reviews that impact the item.
- View items that are reused and synchronized and reuse details that appear in the activity stream. Users with read permission can view details about reused items and can select a link to view newly copied and synchronized items.

## Baseline activity stream

At this level, you can monitor activity, quickly find a baseline ID, or see if a signature is revoked.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🛅			Search	1	All 👻	P Advanced search
Project -   Change project 🛛 🐇	+ 22 Product Architectur	e 👘 📄 Product Archi	tecture - Details	SI_S2_P-VAL-1:Val	idate 🗵 [	g B1 - 02/24/2022 - Details 🚊
Add      Show IDs      Add      Add      Show IDs      Add      Add      Show IDs      Add      Add      Show IDs      Add      A	BASE-46 B1 - 02/24/2022 Baseline • View items CREATED DATE: 02/24/2022 02:28:36 pm CREATED BY: Admin Test DESCRIPTION: Signatures User Admin Test	Date 06/28/2022 04:52:45 (	Comments			Email
Add tag Ctoud   ≣ List   ⊉ 2022(2) Alert(1) Review(2) Test(1)	Activity stream 05/28/2022 Admin Test of Description chang 05/28/2022	edited baseline BASE ed	-46			

#### How to access

Select the **Baselines** tab, baseline name, and **View details** (which changes to View items) to open the Activity stream.

#### What you can do

- Monitor activity, quickly find a baseline ID, or see if a signature is revoked.
- View changes to baselines Adding (manually or automatically with a review), editing, or deleting\* baselines or sources. Visible to users with read-only permission. Baseline activity streams.
   \*Deleting requires admin permissions. Baselines with e-signatures can't be deleted.

#### **Review activity (stats)**

At this level, you can see all activities for a review across versions, including when reviews were opened, closed, when new versions were published, or when signatures were added.

at avala: Tact C	Volo P VI									100
roval review · 🗟 10/1	усіе Б VI 2/2023 - View BA	SE-311 • In prog	ress		4	Publish new r	revision	🗄 Manage	review -	B
									O Batc	h item action
Participant progress	Item progress	Review activity								
Participant details			Approve	rs: 1						
Moderator(s): Adm Review team: 1 🖂	nin Test ⊡ Email Email all particip	moderators ants	Approved and signed	٥						
Approver(s): 1 🖂	Email approvers 5/2023		Requested new	Ó						
V1 end date: 10/12/	2023 17:00 PDT		In progress		1					
				o	ł.	2				
Name	Review role	Signer role	Electronic signati	ire	Comments	Time spent	Status			
Admin Test	Approver	N/A			i i	0:03	In progre	ss	11	0%

#### How to access

• In the review, select **Stats** to open the activity page.



#### What you can do

- See all activities for a review across versions, including when reviews are opened, closed, when new versions were published, or when signatures were added.
- Find out when a review is opened, revised, closed, reopened; when signatures are added or revoked.
- See when items are sent for review.
- See all activity for a single review across revisions in the Review activity tab.

#### Activity stream

Activities are the recorded changes made to an item, including editing, commenting on, relating to other items, deleting, and restoring.

You can view activities at an item level [252] or a project level [254]. You can also view activities specific to different parts of Jama Connect, such as reviews [207] and baselines [291].

These are the types of activities that appear in the stream.

Activity type	Definition	Visible in
Changes to items	Adding, editing, or deleting content from item fields; comment- ing on an item; using features like releases, baselines, or re-	Project activity stream
	views that impact the item.	Item activity stream
Changes to baselines	Adding (manually [282] or automatically with a review [287]),	Baseline activity stream
	read-only permission. Baseline activity stream [291] shows all activity for a baseline.	Project activity stream
Reused and synchronized items	When items are reused and synchronized [320], details of re- use appear in the activity stream. Users with read permission	Project activity stream
	can view details about reused items and can select a link to view newly copied and synchronized items.	Item activity stream
Comments	Comments related to an item or project. Review comments aren't included in activity stream.	Collaboration stream
Reviews	When review is opened, revised, closed, reopened; when sig-	Project activity stream
		Review activity (stats)
	When items are sent for review, see all activity for a single review across revisions in the review activity [207] tab.	Review activity (stats)

\* Deleting requires admin permission. Baselines with e-signatures can't be deleted.

## Comments

Comments are user-created messages that you can see in the stream or in reviews.

Comments are visible:

- At an item level [252]
- At a project level [254]
- In reviews [185]
- Across projects [255]

You can add and delete a comment as well as restore comments that you deleted. You can also add a hashtag (#) to a comment for filtering or add a reference to a specific person, project, or group.

## Add, delete, or restore a comment

All comments made in Jama Connect are displayed in the stream. You can see any comment you have permissions to view.

#### Important considerations

- You can add comments, delete comments that you made, and restore comments that you deleted.
- You can also restore comment threads or replies that you deleted, but only if they were associated with an item. You can't restore deleted comments that aren't associated with an item.
- When the discussion gets long, Jama Connect shows only the most recent comments. Select **View all replies** to expand the thread and show all comments. Select **Hide replies** to collapse the thread.
- 1. To add a comment to the stream, an item, or a project:
  - a. Open the stream at an item level [252], project level [254], or across projects [255].
  - b. Enter your comment:
    - New comment In the Stream comment box.
    - Replying to a comment In the reply box below the comment.

Strea	m
	Add a comment, @mention a person, group, project, item, release or add a #hashtag
Щ т	Filter comments

c. (Optional) As needed, you can refer to a particular person, group, project or item [244], request or resolve an action [248], upload an image [247], or add a hashtag [243].

Add tag Add Image Add actions	
	Browned Law
Actions •	Comment Cancel
erence items, projects, or people	

- d. Select Comment.
- 2. To delete a comment:
  - a. Select **Delete** below the comment.
  - b. When prompted, click **Yes**.
- 3. To restore a deleted comment:
  - a. In Single Item View, select the Activities widget to open the bottom panel.



b. In the deleted comment, select Restore.

PDE	My settings	Search	* Add Comment   🔯   🍙 Hide
100	Admin Test Deleted comment on		
1.32	Let's do this <span data-j-autotag="1">Re: </span>		
	11/21/2020 Details Restore		

c. When prompted, click Yes.

The comment is restored and appears in the My Settings section.

## Add a comment hashtag

By adding a hashtag to your comments, you can quickly filter the stream by selecting the hashtag itself.

#### Important considerations

- Tags begin with the # character and are lowercase letters with no spaces.
- Comment tags are different from item tags. Comment tags are added to comments and can be used to filter the stream, but item tags are added to an individual item and can be used to search or group items.

#### To add a comment hashtag:

1. In the Stream comment box, type **#** followed by the tag. For example, **#alert** or **#review**.

A #review	
@ # 🖭 Actions -	Comment Cance
+ T + Ellier comments	

2. Click Comment.

Admin Test Comment • a few seconds ago #review
iứ) • Mute • Delete
Add your reply

The comment appears in the stream thread.

## Use @mention to add a reference

To increase the efficiency and usability of your comments, you can refer to specific items, projects, people, or groups with @mention.

Anyone you include in a comment receives an email notification [246].

- 1. Open a list of names (items, projects, people, groups) using one of these methods:
  - In the comment field of the Stream window, type @ followed by the first few letters of the name.

I George Siampos Can you add @d	av			
	People	📕 Dave Wilson	1	
@ # 🖻 Actions •	invite	1 Invite: dav	mment	Cance

• Below the comment field of the Stream window, select @.

tream	
Actions •	Comment Cancel
R - T - Filter comments	

2. Scroll through the list to select the name you want to include in your comment.

The name that you included appears as a bold link in your comment.

### Add someone from outside Jama Connect

You can add a commenter who is not part of Jama Connect. They get a temporary license [583] that allows them to view the comment threads to which they were invited. They can also see descriptions of referenced items in the thread.

Once you send the invitation, the person can optionally set up a user login and password, which is then available in the @mention drop-down list. The license expires after 30 days —and the user is locked out of Jama Connect — unless it is changed to a permanent one. They can still be @mentioned in stream if the license has expired, but they can no longer access the conversation or items.



## NOTE

An administrator can grant invited users permission [664] to view additional project data.

#### To give stream access to someone outside of Jama Connect:

1. In the comment field of the Stream window, type @ followed by the user's email address to trigger an invitation, then select the blue **Invite bar** that appears.

2	I George	Siamp	os Can you invite @	carol			
				Invite	Invite: carol		
	@ # E	2	Actions -			Comment	Cance

2. In the Invite User window that opens, enter the full email address and click Invite.



3. Type your note and click **Comment**.

The person you invited now automatically receives stream emails [246].

#### View referenced projects and items

When a project or item is referenced with @mention, you can view it in its activity stream.

- 1. To view a reference to a:
  - Project Open the project's activity stream.
  - Item Open the item's activity stream in Single Item View.
- 2. (Optional) In the activity stream, select **Description** to see details about the referenced project or item.

	Car_Information_Bus shall process data having the characteristics defined in interface definition XYZ.
1	George Slampos Question = D1/11/2018
	Do we need to specify the alternate bus?lquestion # Product Managers
	Re: @AIS-SYS-19
	<u>k</u> <sup>2</sup> ) = Mute
	Admin Test Answer • 12/03/2020
	Yes, we do.

3. (Optional) Select **View additional references** to see more than the first displayed reference.



## Email notifications for the stream

Jama Connect includes several types of email notifications, including ones initiated in the stream. This information applies only to stream email notifications.

## Adding participants

When you comment on an item or project in the activity stream, you can add people to a comment by using @mention. This includes people who aren't current Jama Connect users.

#### When you receive stream notifications

Initial email — When your name is added to a comment in the stream.

Update email — When anyone replies to a comment thread where your name was added.

New comments — If you subscribed to the item.

#### Quick tips

- If you are in multiple groups that are mentioned in a comment, they receive only one email for each comment or reply.
- When participants receive an email because they're mentioned in the stream, they can comment directly to the thread by replying to that email. A copy of the comment is emailed to everyone on the thread.
- Email updates contain links to see the entire comment thread in Jama Connect.



#### NOTE

Replying to a thread by email works for comment threads in the stream, but not for comments in reviews.

• To stop receiving email notifications for a comment thread where you're mentioned, go to that thread in the stream and select **Mute**. Do this for each thread that mentions you.



## NOTE

Once you mute notifications for a thread, you only receive future emails if you're specifically mentioned in a comment or if you're a member of a group that's also referenced.

## Upload images to the stream

You can include useful photos (meeting notes, white board drawings, or prototypes) in the stream by uploading images.

#### To upload images to the stream:

1. In the Stream window, select the **Image** button.

@ # 🖻 Actions -	Comment Cancel
T T Filter comments	

- 2. Select the image file you want to upload, then select **Open**. The image appears in the stream comment field.
- 3. (Optional) To resize the image, hover over the bottom right-hand corner of the image, grab the handle and drag the corner to the required size.
- 4. (Optional) To move the image in the comment, hover over the top left-hand corner of the image and grab the handle. Drag the image to the correct location in the comment.

## Stream



5. Select Comment.

The image you uploaded now appears in the stream.

#### Request or resolve an action

Actions can highlight important conversations in the stream by identifying a comment as one of three types: decision, question, or issue.

Actions also help clarify your request to someone you include in your comment. You can also filter by actions [250] to see what questions, issues, or decisions need attention.

#### To request or resolve an action:

1. To initiate a request, choose from the **Actions** menu or type a ! in the comment box and choose an action from the menu that appears.

Stream			
	Actions	Idecision	
		lanswer Iresolution	Commant Cancel
R -		Idecisionneeded Iquestion Iissue	

When a comment contains a request action, the left edge of the comment is outlined in yellow and a blue button invites other users to resolve the action (Answer question, Make decision, Resolve issue).

Alexander Kings	ston Question 1	1/30/2016			
Scott Gwartne	y 18 Development	Does this need to coun	t money!question		
Re: @QL-BR-3					
Answer question	凸 · Mute				

2. To respond to a request, choose from the **Actions** menu: **Decision**, **Answer**, or **Resolution**.

#### Tips and more

• Resolved actions are displayed in green.



• Open actions are displayed with a yellow border.

lanswer lan	swer Idecisionn	leeded Iquestion	lissue	
Resolve all	Make decision	Answer question	Resolve issue	🖒 • Mute • Delete

• Use the like icon when you agree with a comment and want to track how team members vote on a decision.

		Admin Test	Decision	× 12	/04/2020
Mute · Delete	(	1 Mute	· Delete		

· Select the number next to the like icon to see who agreed.

Admin Test Comment = 12/	/02/2020
Dave Wilson Can we chan	ge the test requirement for project
Mute	
Agree	×
C.	

#### Filter the stream

Filters let you see only comments that matter to you. When you create a filter, it remains active only if the session is active.

If you want to reuse a filter, you can save it. You can also bookmark a filter in your browser to view later.



## NOTE

You can create custom filters [252] at an item level to filter comments or activities in the stream.

### To filter the stream:

1. Open a Stream window and select the **Filter comments** field.

Stream
D Add a comment, @mention a person, group, project, item, release or add a #hashtag
Filter comments

- 2. Enter one of the following and select from the displayed menu to create a filter:
  - # Displays a menu of hashtags.
  - Ø Displays a menu of users.
  - ! Displays a menu of actions.
  - **Keyword** Displays a menu of frequently used names for people, groups, projects, or other content types.
- 3. Select an option from one of the menus or press Enter if you entered a new keyword.
- 4. (Optional) To filter by actions, select the **Quick filters** menu. These filters are additive so you can filter on multiple actions.

₹-	Filter comments
OPEN	ACTIONS
Decis	sions needed
Ques	tions
Issue	es
RESC	UVED ACTIONS
Decis	sions
Answ	vers
Reso	lutions

The filters you choose appear below the comment field. The stream is refreshed with each filter you add or delete.



5. (Optional) To save a filter, select the bookmark button and enter a name for the filter, then select **Save**.

· · ·	Filter	comments	
Save this view	as		]
S	ave	Cancel	7/2021

- 6. To set a quick filter from a comment, select people, projects, items, or other boldfaced references in the comment. These filters aren't additive.
- 7. (Optional) To share a filter with another Jama Connect user, copy the URL of your filtered results and send it through email.

## View collaboration stream at an item level

You can view the stream [236] comments and activity for an item, for example, to see all "Open" (unresolved) questions about that item. A speech bubble icon includes a number that indicates how many comments were recorded for that item.



## NOTE

The side toolbar is only visible if it is configured by the organization administrator [611].

#### To view collaboration stream at an item level:

 Select an item's speech bubble icon using one of these methods: Projects > Reading View


Semiconductor Project 2.0		Search	1	Projec	t -	. 0	Advan	ced s	earch	
Project +   Change project 帐	Learn more 😤 📇 Dashboard: Semiconductor Project	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19:Proce	. <u>B</u>	Pro	cess	or 🛞				
Explorer     Add     Add	SI_S2_P-FLD-7      Processor     Folder      View details     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■     ■	•	,	ø	X		a -	Subs	omen)	Email
B Display     Construction	SI SI SI P-P REQ-19 • Version 11 STATUS Ready for Approval						6		4	ŀ

#### **Projects > Document View**

#### Single Item View > Side toolbar



2. In the window that opens, select the silhouette icon to view comments, add comments, or view connected users.

now indirectly coni	nected users				
Connected(4)	All connected users			Add a c	omment, @mention a person, group, pr 🛔
1	All Editors				
Editors(2)	Aaron Perillat	10/17/2017	<b>R</b> +	Ψ-	Filter comments
	Scott Gwartney	11/13/2016			
	All Creators		QL-BR-	3 Lender N	lanagement Function + Description +
Creators(1)	Aaron Perillat	11/13/2016	0	Alexand	er Kingston Question + 11/30/2016
	All Commenters	- 7		I Scott (	Gwartney & Development Does this need to ney!question
Commenters(2)	Alexander Kingston	11/30/2016		Re: @QL-	BR-3
	A Becky Cariton	11/30/2016		Answer	uestion 🖒 • Mute
1	All @Mention			r sind there is	
@Mention(2)	Scott Gwartney	11/30/2016	(A)	Add you	ur reply

#### To view comment and activity stream:

1. In Single Item View, select the **Activities** button on the side toolbar to see the history of an item. The number on the button indicates the item's activity.



2. The bottom panel displays the stream and all activities (such as edits, reviews, relationships) and comments for this item. From here you can add a comment, search the stream with a keyword, refresh the display, or hide the panel.

0 D	My settings	Search	🔺 🗌 🥁 Add Comment 🛛 🎡 🚁 🖵 Hide
	Admin Test Item Sent for Review		
	This item was reviewed in REV-107 v1 11/29/2020		
100	Admin Test Item Sent for Review		
<u>.</u>	This item was reviewed in REV-106 v1.		

- 3. Use the three buttons in the top left corner of the stream to:
  - Display active comments
  - Display all activities
  - Apply a custom filter to activities
- 4. Select the settings (gear) icon in the top right corner to open the Activity Filter Settings window.
- 5. Keep the default settings or customize keywords, activity type, date range, or item type, then select **Apply**. Your custom filters are saved across items.

Activity filter settir	ngs:		
My settings D	efault settings		
Use my o	wn settings	Use default settings	
Keyword:	-		
Activity type:			
Comment	a.	Veniers	
Rolationar	HT2+	(Ingg)	
Attactione	de-	Light Kines	
TROMA		0.0 - 105	
Change R	a chi ili stati n	tritagration.	
Date range:	TOM	3	
	īα		
			Apply Close

# View collaboration stream at a project level

You can view the stream [236] at a project level, you see comments [242] and activities [241] for the entire project in the project dashboard.

#### Important considerations

- · Any comments you enter at this level automatically refer to the selected project.
- If the stream doesn't already appear on your project dashboard, a project or organization admin can add it.

Open the project dashboard using one of these methods:

• **Explorer Tree** — Select the main project level in the Explorer Tree or select the name of the project just above the Explorer Tree.



• Stream — Select Stream (comment bubble) in the upper right navigation.

Add widget     Add widget				
Add widget				

#### View global stream across projects

View the stream across projects when you want to do a search or filter projects. For example, if you want to see open questions that are assigned to you for all projects.

#### To view the stream across projects, use one of these methods:

• Select **Stream** from the top navigation. This displays all comments from all projects, starting with the most recent.



• Select View All Stream Activity from the home page to see all comments across projects.

Country of Barrier			Active Reviews
Search all items			You have 3 active reviews
Recently Viewed			Sample Data Set A MODERATOR
Quick Loans: Goals and Objectives			Finished 100%
Quick Loans: Corporate Strategy		Д	Review Test Case A MODERATOR
Auick Loans			Progress 0%
Quick Loans: Loan Analysts		Д	Test Plan B MODERATOR
Muick Loans: Use Cases			Rays In Finished 100%
	Tablactory (		View All Reviews -+
	Load more		
			Stream Activity
			You are in 1 open conversation
			1 Open Question

#### View connected users

A connected user is a creator, editor, or someone who has commented, subscribed, or been @mentioned on an item.

View connected users to see who is connected to items. For example, if you're changing a requirement and want to see who might be impacted by a change.

#### To view connected users:

- 1. Open the Connected users window using one of these methods:
  - Single Item View Select the connected users icon.



• List View — Select the user icon.

Project	ID.	4
Quick Loans	QL-BR-17	2
Quick Loans	QL-BR-18	<b>±</b> 1

2. Select **Show indirectly connected users** to view users who are interested in items related to this one.

Show indirectly con	nected users				
Connected(4)	All connected users			Add a c	omment, @mention a person, group, pr 🛔
1 A	All Editors				
Editors(2)	Aaron Perillat	10/17/2017	- R.+	٣-	Filter comments
	Scott Gwartney	11/13/2016			
	All Creators		QL-BR	-3 Lender M	Management Function + Description +
Creators(1)	Aaron Perillat	11/13/2016	0	Alexand	er Kingston Question + 11/30/2016
	All Commenters			Scott o	Gwartney A Development Does this need to pney!question
Commenters(2)	Alexander Kingston	11/30/2016		Re: @QL-	BR-3
	A Becky Cariton	11/30/2016		Answer	nuestion ch • Mute
	All @Mention		-	/ mandr (	descention of animalian
@Mention(2)	Scott Gwartney	11/30/2016	(A)	Add you	ur reply

3. (Optional) To toggle the related users on or off, select the circle icons at the top of the list.

You can now view the list of connected users and make comments in the stream.

# **Electronic signatures**

An electronic signature is a way for project participants to virtually approve reviews, baselines, and electronic documents like test plans and requirements.

Review moderators can require a signature for a review and add a signer role. All review signatures carry the Signature meaning: "I approve the content of this review."

Electronic signatures consist of a username and password. They are captured with a time and date stamp and an audit trail. Each signature is tied to the individual user, as well as to a baseline or review where the signature was added.

Electronic signatures, time stamps, signer roles, and signature meaning are all visible in review activity [207].

# Things to know

 For easy identification, a baseline with an electronic signature includes a blue dot and white exclamation mark in the baseline tree.



• As the moderator, you can add a signer role or a reason for signing to a review signature [189], but not to a baseline signature.

- Signatures are enabled by default, but can be disabled by a system administrator.
- Electronic signatures depend on the authentication system your organization is using. Authentication properties can be configured by a system administrator.
- You can't delete a review with an electronic signature, or a baseline created from a review with an electronic signature.
- You can revoke your signature if it was signed in error or something needed to change. Select **Revoke** to cancel your signature. Only the user who signed the baseline can remove their signature. When revoking a signature, you can leave a reason for revoking, which appears in the activity stream as a comment.

BASE-58			Find me
Review Set:	Product Validat	ion Specification v2	<b>2</b> •
CREATED DATE: 03/22/2022 02:2 CREATED BY: Megan Baim	5:24 pm		
Signatures			Think etgranere
User	Date	Comments	Actions
Admin Test	10/20/2022 10	32:34 ar	Revoke

- As an approver, you can reopen a review that you signed, but this revokes your signature.
- To see a review that was signed, look in the participant progress [205] or review activity [207] tab.
- · Self-hosted customers can't edit a baseline that is signed.



#### NOTE

You can't delete a review with an electronic signature, or a baseline created from a review with an electronic signature.

Electronic signatures depend on the authentication system your organization is using. Authentication properties can be configured by a system administrator.

#### Sign a review electronically

If a review requires an electronic signature, you are asked to add a signature when you finish a review as an approver.

- 1. In the **Review finished** window, enter your username and password as your electronic signature. If your organization uses SAML, the SAML authentication window opens, where you enter your username and password.
- 2. Select Approve and sign to complete the review.

neview infibilied	
Thank you for your feedback, Admin.	
You reviewed 0 of 73 items. Here is your review overv	/fewc
Mark 73 unmarked items as "Approved"	
① You spent 0 hours and 0 minutes in the rev	view.
D 1 comment	
<ul> <li>0 items were marked "Approved"</li> </ul>	
× 0 items were marked "Rejected"	
Optional final comment	
Complete electronic signature	@ Learn more
Completing this electronic signature by entering you	ur password is the legal equivalent of your handwritten signature. Do not
have a such a su	Lagree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature
allow anyone to use your username and password.	I agree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature.
allow anyone to use your username and password. Username	I agree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature.
allow anyone to use your username and password. Username	I agree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature.
allow anyone to use your username and password. Username	I agree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature.
allow anyone to use your username and password. Username Password	I agree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature.
allow anyone to use your username and password. Username Password	I agree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature.
allow anyone to use your username and password. Username Password Signer role	I agree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature.
allow anyone to use your username and password. Username Password Signer role	I agree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature.
allow anyone to use your username and password. Username Password Signer role Signature meaning	I agree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature.
allow anyone to use your username and password. Username Password Signer role Signature meaning Thapprove management of the ranke	I agree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature.
allow anyone to use your username and password. Username Password Signer role Signeture meaning Tapp one manual feat of the ranke	I agree to use this electronic signature in place of my written signature.
allow anyone to use your username and password. Username Password Signer role Signer role Signature meaning Thappoore management of the ranks	Approve and Sign Request new revision

# Add signer role

As a moderator, you can enable the signer role for other approvers. This allows them to associate their role with their signature. Signer roles are created from user group names.

If your moderator is inviting a user from outside of Jama Connect, they must log in and register before you can assign them to a group. After your organization or project admin adds them to a group, the moderator can edit the review to give them a signer role.

- 1. Initiate a review [166].
- 2. Make sure electronic signatures and signer roles are enabled in settings [169].

Initiate review			
0 Definition	2 Settings	3	Participents
Electronic signature setting	s		
<ul> <li>Require electronic signature</li> </ul>	s from approvers		

Enable signer role for approvers. This associates a signer role with an approver's signature.

3. To invite participants [173], select the user, then use the **Signer role** drop-down menu to assign a signer role.

Initiate review							×
1 Definition 2 Setti	ngs	Participant	s	4 Inv	itation	@ Learn r	nore
Select participants	(	Select assignments					
Project team Outside project team Invite by small		Participant	Signer role		Review role	Clear all partic	ipants
Search by email or name	۹	Admin Test	Not assigned		Approver	Reviewer	×
Aaron Perillat			Not assigned				
Admin Aden			Organization Adm	nin			
Admin Text			Review				
Analysts			Team A User				

- If the user belongs to multiple groups, you can choose their role as signer from multiple options.
- If they don't belong to any groups, their role is "Not assigned."
- To add a signer role, create a user group [574] with a name that indicates the role you want to represent (for example, QA, Business Analysts, Security). Be sure the person you want to assign the role to belongs to that group.
- If you select a group in the participants panel, select **Add all users**. The signer role defaults to the name of that group.
- 4. Click Initiate review.

Approvers assigned a signer role are notified of their role in their email invitation [172].



# TIP

After a review is signed, anyone with permission to a review can view signer roles that were used for a signature under review activity [207].

# Sign a baseline electronically

If your business process dictates that signatures must be applied to collections of data such as baselines, electronic signatures can be associated directly with a specific baseline. Signatures can also be captured and associated with a baseline if signatures are collected during a review. 1. In the Explorer Tree under the **Baselines** tab, select the baseline you want to sign, then click **View** details.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🕅		Sieanchi.	Project	- P Advanced search	h	
Project •   Change project 🐇	* 💾 Dashboard: Semiconductor P	roject 🗧 Block Re	quirement: Cycle time	B1 - 11/02/2023	B1 - 11/02/2023 - D	Details
Add      Search	Individual Items BASE-314 B1 - 11/02/2023			1	₫ × ₽••	Ema
BI - 11/02/2023		1 of 192 selected		Compare	with current	view item
El  Test cycle: Test Cycle B Component: Project Management A	🕸 Name	D	Created Date	Current version	Description	Version
Block Requirement: Cycle time, SCL Block Requirement: Cycle time, SCL	Product	SLS2_P-CMP-23	10/22/2021	1	-	1
B1 - 04/18/2023 B2 - 04/18/2023	st Import Test	SI_S2_P-SET-143	11/02/2021	(1)		1
B3 - 04/18/2023 - Test	Product Requirements	SI_S2_P-SET-32	10/22/2021	1		1
Filter: My Filter	C Processor	SI_S2_P-FLD-7	10/22/2021	1		1
New folder	Processor Core 1 ABD	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19	10/22/2021	11	The product sha	11

#### 2. Select Add signature.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖾			See CT.	Project - P Advanced sear	ch
Project +   Change project 🔣	+ P Dashboard: Semicon	ductor Project	Review Set: Product Va_ × Revie	w Sat: Product Validation Specification v1 - I	Details 🗵 👘
Image: Stress of the stres	BASE-57 Review Set: Pro Baseline • View ite	oduct Validat	ion Specification v1		Email
BLFD-1 New folder     BSRC-23 Set: Product Validation Specificati     BASE-57 Review Set: Product Validation     BASE-58 Review Set: Product Validation     BASE-68 INFORMATION     BASE-66 B1 - 02/24/2022     BASE-65 B2 - 04/15/2022     BSRC-3 Project: Semiconductor Project 2.0	USIZZIZUZZ UZIZ4.06 pm CREATED BY: Megan Baim DESCRIPTION: Updating for this sprint				
Barcer momaton, lest 1	Signatures			► ZA	dd signature
	User	Date	Comments		Actions
o Add tag 💫 Cloud   🗏 List   🤘					
2022(2) Alert(1)	Activity stream				
Review(2) Test(1)	Admin Test edited baseline BASE-57 Description changed 20 hours ago				

In the Electronic signature window, enter your username, password, and any optional comments, then click Save. Username and password must match that of the logged in user.
 If your organization is using SAML for authentication, you are asked to select Sign baseline, then enter your username and password to authenticate your signature.

Signature date and time:
04/15/2022 11:57 am
ease enter your username and password.

# Managing your content

Content in Jama Connect uses an *item-based approach*, where items are the major building blocks for your content. Managing your content includes planning, organizing, and tracking progress and impact.

- Item versions [263] Each time you change an item, a new version is created. You can compare versions [265] and make a past version current [264].
- Change requests [268] Change requests are items that call for a change to a product or system.
- Releases [272] A release is a group of items that are developed together and mapped to a specific completion date.
- Baselines [275] A baseline in Jama Connect is a snapshot of your project at a point in time.
- Coverage and Traceability [302] Coverage is the extent to which items are validated by another item. Traceability shows the relationship between items that depend upon and define each other.
- Reuse and synchronization [320] With reuse [322] you can duplicate supporting information for any item, container of items, or even a project. With synchronization [329] you keep items continuously in sync.
- Exports [344] Select the data you want to export directly to Word [346] or Excel [347].

# **Item versions**

A new version of an item is created each time you change a field value for that item.

When you view item versions, these details are visible:

- · Baselines and reviews that include the specific version of that item.
- · Automatically generated change details.
- User comments applied by the person who made the changes.
- · Date when the item was changed.
- · Name of the person who made the changes.



# NOTE

To add a version comment when you save the item, see Version Comments.

To view an item's versions, click the **Versions** widget in the side toolbar, which opens the bottom panel. There you can compare versions [265] or make a past version current [264].

Semiconductor Project 2.0 同		Seamo		Project 👻	P Advanced	i search	
Project +   Change project 🛛 🗮	Learn more I P Dashboard: Semiconduc	tor Project × 🔚 SI_S2_P	P-P_REQ-20:Proce	6)			
Explorer 🖓 🥅 🗖 🖹 🛇	A / Product / Product Requirements / Process	sor / SI_S2_P-P_REQ-20		View all locked ite	ams (0) Subsc	ribe 🕶	Email
● Add ▼ 🛞 ₫ 🔘	Processor Speed V2 *			1 5	B-+	6	m.
Semiconductor Project 2.0  Product  Sharport Test	Product Requirement · Modified 09	/06/2022 06:50:27 pm				2	
Product Requirements	* 2			0 -	6.0	10	0
Processor			Transiti	on Item from Dr	aft		
Processor Core 1 Processor Speed	MAX:					P	0
Coprocessors							2.
Coreprocessor 2							
L1 Instruction Cache	UNIT:						21
L1 Cache Error Detection							II.
🕀 💼 Test	CONDITIONS:						
a Test A	QA					1	-
C	REQUIREMENT TYPE:						-
Add tag	Functional						*
2022(2) 4000	VERIFICATION TYPE					1	
	Inssigned						0
Review(2) Test(1)	Unassigned	-			Comp	are 🕫	Hic
	From To Version Baselines / Reviews	Change details	User comment and transitions	Created	Ву		
	0 0 2	"Conditions" changed	1	09/06/2022 06:50:27 pt	Admi m Test	in	

The current version number appears next to the item name. From the Version drop-down menu, select the version of the item you want to view.

Product Product Requirem	ents Processor S1_S2_P-P_RE
Processor Speed	V2 •
Product Requirement +	Version 1
× n	Version 1

#### Change the current item version

When you make a past item current, the system creates a new version with field values identical to the version you chose. This preserves a past version if you need to revert to it.

#### Important considerations

- Past versions of a test cycle can't be made current.
- Pick list values that existed when the previous version of the item was active are restored, even if a value was removed.
- For items that were converted from one type to another, you can't use the **Make Current** option to revert to the previous item type.

#### To change the current version:

- 1. In Single Item View, click the **Versions** widget to open the bottom panel [59].
- 2. In the row with the version that you want, click **Make Current**.

From	То	Version	Baselines / Reviews	Change details	User comment and transitions	Created	Ву	
	ċ	16	Review Individual Items 555 - edit- edit2 v12 Baselins   Review	"Description" changed		02/02/2021 09:36:31 pm	v2 test02	
0		15		"Description" changed		02/02/2021 09:06:47 pm	v2 test02	Make Current
ò		14	Review Individual Items 555 - edit- edit2 v11 Baseline   Review	"Description" changed, "Date" changed from "01/29/2021 12:00:00 AM UTC" to "01/28/2021 06:30:00 PM UTC"		02/02/2021 03:17:44 am	v2 test02	Make Current

3. In the Restore version window, click **Confirm**.

# Restore version

A new version of this item will be created with the field values from version 3.



The screen is refreshed and a note appears in the column **User comment and transitions**.

From	То	Version	Baselines / Reviews	Change details	User comment and transitions	Created	Ву	
0	0	4		"Description" changed, "Priority" changed from "Medium" to ""	VERSION COMMENT: Restored from version 2	09/21/2022 07:38:49 pm	Admin Test	

# Compare versions of an item

You can compare different versions of an item to track changes.

- 1. Click the Versions widget to open the bottom panel in Single Item View [59].
- 2. Select the two versions you want to compare, using the buttons in the From and To columns, then click **Compare**.

						Com	pare #	- Hide
From	То	Version	Baselines / Reviews	Change details	User comment and transitions	Created	Ву	
0	C	16	Review Individual Items 555 - edit- edit2 v12 Baseline   Review	"Description" changed		02/02/2021 09:36:31 pm	v2 test02	
۵.	6	15		"Description" changed		02/02/2021 09:06:47 pm	v2 test02	Make Current

In the Version Compare window:

- Selected From version is on the left.
- Selected **To** version is on the right.
- Changes are displayed inline.
- Deleted text is red and highlighted.
- Added text is green and underlined.



TIP

Select **Hide Details** to see a side-by-side view of the versions without the colored inline changes. Jama Connect highlights the entire field where the versions differ.

		🖉 Hide Detai
	primarily concerned with exposure because of the device itself.	primarily concerned with exposure because of the device itself.
Detection Method	Observation of the implant site. Testing of blood.	Observation of the implant site. Testing of blood.
Compensating Actions	Mitigation through coating of abutment.	Mitigation through coating of abutment.
Harm / Severity	Death (5)	Death (5)
Hazard	CL3-HAZ-10 Rule-based failure	CL3-HAZ-6 Bacteria
Probability	Improbable (1)	Improbable (1)
Detectability	High Degree of Detectability (1)	High Degree of Detectability (1)
Risk Priority Number	5	510
Mitigated Harm / Severity	Illness (3)	lliness (3)
Mitigated Probability	Improbable (1)	Improbable (1)
Mitigated Detectability	Likely to Detect (3)	Likely to Detect (3)
Mitigated RPN	9	921

# View previous versions of an item

In Single Item View, you can view differences between items that have more than one version. View the history of an item to quickly identify changes and track progress.

#### Important considerations

- You can only edit the current version of an item.
- The Relationships widget is the only available widget.
- When you view an older version, you can see which categories were applied or unapplied.

ATEGORIES:		
4 categories		
Category Path	Applied	Unapplied
9* aa	Version 29	Version 35
24	Version 29	

#### To view a previous version of an item:

1. From the Explorer Tree, select the item you want to view. The item opens in Single Item View.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🛛 🕀	212 7	Search	Project -	P Advance	d searc	h
Project - Change project 🛛 🗮	Learn more · Dashboard: Semiconductor Project · ·	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19:Proce	8.			
Explorer 🖓 🧰 🗖 🗐 🖏	A Product   Product Requirements / Processor / SI_S2_P-	P_REQ-19	View all locked ite	ms (0) Subs	cribe -	Email
🕚 Add 🔹 🏟 🗐	Dresses Core 1 1/9-		100 100	10	r	-
E 🐣 Semiconductor Project 2.0	Processor Core 1 Vat		<ul> <li>N</li> </ul>	10° •	-	m
Product	Product Requirement • Modified 08/28/2022 08:	11:05 am				
Product Requirements	8 0		0 -	B . @	10	0
E Processor		Transition Item from P	andy for Approx	T lev		
Processor Core 1	VERIFICATION TYPE:	Transition term from te	cady for Appro-	voun -		
Coprocessors	Unassigned					0
Coreprocessor 2	STATUS					-
E1 Instruction Cache	Beach, for Approval					EX.
Data Cache     Data Cache     Data Cache	Ready for Approval					0
L2 Cache						10.5
Test	TAGS					
a	Add has					-
Test A	Add tag					5
) C						2
Package Ontion.2	CATECODIES					-11-
Add tag	CATEGORIES.					50
2022(2) Alert(1)	C 4 categories					IV
						0
Review(2) Test(1)	Category Path		Applied			
and the second second	2022 Truck A	Version	2		2	
	2022 Truck A 2023 EV 2023 Sedan lineup		Version	2		5
	2022 Truck A 2023 EV Truck C 2022 Truck C		Version	2		

2. From the Version drop-down menu, select the version of the item you want to view.

Product Product Requirements Processor

New item	V6 -
Product Red	Verse en schweint)
× a	Vermon ± (conteresd)
~ ~	Version 4
PROJECT ID:	Version 3
CI CO D.D.	Version 2
5152_F-F_	Version 1

The screen displays the information for the version you selected.

3. Select the **Relationships** widget to view all relationships for the version you are viewing. Suspect information doesn't appear in the relationship table.

SI_S2_P-P_REQ-1	9		View	w all locked items (9) Subscribe - Email
Processor Co	ment - Modified 06/07/2023 02:29	9:18 pm	1	/ B+ 6 0
* 0				0.5.000
PROJECT ID:		Tra	nsition Item from Ready	y for Approval 🝷
SI_S2_P-P_REG	-19			0
GLOBAL ID				0
GID-55884				22
Table Layout 🖧 V	isual Layout		Relate	i litem(s) 📝 Edit 🕶   🖓 😰 🌍 🛄 Hide
ID	Name 🗻		Туре	Suspect
🗏 11 Upstream Items				ouspeer
DI D.C. 00				
SI-PS-23	32 Bit RISC Processor	슈	Derived from	Yes: Clear
SI-PS-23 SI-PS-29	32 Bit RISC Processor 3D Graphics Acceleration	合 合	Derived from Derived from	Yes: Clear No
SI-PS-23 SI-PS-29 SI-PS-31	32 Bit RISC Processor 3D Graphics Acceleration 3D Printer	20 20 20 20	Derived from Derived from Derived from	Yes: Clear No No.
SI-PS-23 SI-PS-29 SI-PS-31 SI-PS-32	32 Bit RISC Processor 3D Graphics Acceleration 3D Printer Automated External Defibrillator	20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 2	Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from	Yes: Clear No No No
SI-PS-23 SI-PS-29 SI-PS-31 SI-PS-32 SI_KS-PS-23	32 Bit RISC Processor 3D Graphics Acceleration 3D Printer Automated External Defibrillator Automated External Defibrillator	***	Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from	Yes: Clear No No No No
SI-PS-23 SI-PS-29 SI-PS-31 SI-PS-32 SI_KS-PS-23 SI-PS-36	32 Bit RISC Processor 3D Graphics Acceleration 3D Printer Automated External Defibrillator Automated External Defibrillator Climate monitoring	****	Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from	Yes: Clear No No No Yes: Clear
SI-PS-23 SI-PS-29 SI-PS-31 SI-PS-32 SI_KS-PS-23 SI-PS-36 MB_SP-P_REQ-19	32 Bit RISC Processor 3D Graphics Acceleration 3D Printer Automated External Defibrillator Automated External Defibrillator Climate monitoring Processor Core 1 - edit 3	***	Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from	Yes: Clear No No Yes: Clear Yes: Clear
SI-PS-23 SI-PS-29 SI-PS-31 SI-PS-32 SI_KS-PS-23 SI-PS-36 MB_SP-P_REQ-19 SI-PS-35	32 Bit RISC Processor 3D Graphics Acceleration 3D Printer Automated External Defibrillator Automated External Defibrillator Climate monitoring Processor Core 1 - edit 3 Remote administration	***	Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from	Yes: Clear No No No Yes: Clear Yes: Clear Yes: Clear

# Change requests

Change requests are items that call for a change to a product or system.

When an item type is activated as a change request [608], you can add new change requests and associate them with other items [268].

#### With change requests you can:

- Use Associate item(s) [268] to associate the change request with those items directly impacted by the request.
- Use Impact Analysis [271] to determine if and how your change requests affect other items.
- Send a change request to review [166] to gather feedback from stakeholders and determine if the change request is approved or rejected.

# Add a change request and associate items

When an item needs to be altered, you can add a change request, which helps track the requested change.

As the author of a change request, you can capture the details of the requested change, manage the status of the change request, add and update the associated items, and close the change request as item updates are made.



# NOTE

The change request must be an available item type for your project. Available item types are managed by the project admin.

- 1. To create a new set of Change Requests in your project:
  - a. Right-click on the project and select **New item > Set of... > Change Requests**.
  - b. In the Add Item window, enter a name for the set, for example, **Change Requests**.
  - c. Click Save and Close.

ay.	CR				
	Change Requests				
otion:	Normal ( Siz	ze - X 🗋 🖻	Source 💱	BIUSA-D-	<u>T</u> <sub>x</sub> × <sub>a</sub> x <sup>a</sup>
		1,12 - H ()	<ul> <li>Q b3</li> </ul>	Þ5≊⊞Ω <b>0</b>	ΥC
(s):					
ers:	Format - Siz	ze - 1	E Source 55	BIUSA-M-	$\underline{T}_{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{a}} \cdot \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{a}}$
		= <b>:</b> ≣ -  € - •	Q bà	25≥⊞ΩΘ	чс
	Na	me	Posit	tion	Date

- 2. Add a new item [69] to that set.
- 3. Select the item, then open the bottom panel by clicking the bell widget (Items to be changed) from the side toolbar. This widget only appears when configured by an organization admin [611].



4. Click **Associate Items** in the bottom panel, select the items that apply to this change request, then click **Associate**.



# IMPORTANT

Change request items can't be associated with other change request items.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖻		Searco		Project - P Advanced search
Project + Change project 🔣	+ It A	SI_S2_P-CR-1:Change R	te 18 1 A	Associate Item(s)
Explorer     Add -     Semiconductor Project 2 0	Change Requests View as SI_S2_P-CR-1 Change V3 •	II locked items (0) Subscribe 🕶 I	Email d	Semiconductor Project 2.0
	Change Request Modified 06/28/2022 04:45:07 pm Transition Item from SI_S2_P-CR-1 SYS_DOORS_ID: GLOBAL ID: GID-67433 NAME:	n In Review 🔻	• • • •	ID     Name       ID     Name       ID     Sils2, P-CR-1       Sils2, P-P, RE     Processor Core 1       Sils2, P-P, RE     Processor Speed       Sils2, P-P, RE     Coprocessor S       Sils2, P-P, RE     L2 Cache Error Detection       Sils2, P-P, RE     Coreprocessor 2       Sils2, P-P, RE     Coreprocessor 2       Sils2, P-P, RE     L1 Instruction Cache       Sils2, P-P, RE     Architecture Diagram       Sils2, P-P, RE     b       Sils2, P-P, RE     b       Sils2, P-P, RE     New Item       Sils2, P-P, RE     New Item
o Add tag Cloud ≩ List € 2022(2) Alert(1) Review(2) Test(1)	Design         Document           Items Associated with this Change Request           ID         Name           SI_S2_Pr         Processor Core 1           MSB2-PR         Drawers           MSB2-PR         Lighting           MSB2-PR         Under-shelf lighting	x Associate Item(s) Actions = Starting Version v9 - 8/28/2022 v1 - 1/06/2022 v1 - 1/06/2022 v1 - 1/06/2022	Enc V1 V1 V1	SI_S2_P-P_RE a SI_S2_P-FLD-7 Processor SI_S2_P-CMP-23 Product MSB2-PRD-1 Lighting SI_S2_P-SET-143 Import Test SI_S2_P-DATA Applications Close

The associated items appear in the bottom panel with links to those items. Each item includes the starting version (when the change request was introduced) and the ending version, which fulfills the change request.

When you view other items that were associated with this change request, you see the same widget in the right toolbar of their Single Item View, as well as any change requests they're associated with in the bottom panel.

Project Management A INFORMATION Test Requirements fo SI_S2	2_P-INFO-20 View all locked items (0) Subscribe   Email
Item A V1+	💋 🤝 🖬 + 🚔 📾
Information  Modified 04/06/2022 11:23:53 am	
* 3	0.8.0000
PROJECT ID:	
SI_S2_P-INFO-20	0
GLOBAL ID:	22
GID-56463	0
- NAME:	
Item A	
* DESCRIPTION:	
Description of Item A	
TEXT BOX NOT RICHWITH ONGNAME	
	0
TEXT DELD.	Sec. 1
TEXT FIELD:	S.
	0

#### Edit a change request association

Edit change request associations to indicate which version is the starting or ending version of a change request.

- 1. In Single Item View, select **Change Request** to open the bottom panel with a list of associated change requests.
- 2. Double-click in the row with the item you want to update.
- 3. In the window that opens, change values for **Starting Version**, **Ending Version**, and **Note** as needed.

Edit Change Reque	st Association		Į.
Starting Version:	v2 - 9/28/2015	¥	
Ending Version:	v2 - 9/28/2015	¥	
Note:	As agreed in 9/28 product mtc		

4. Click Save.

#### Run Impact Analysis on a change request

Before implementing a change request, you can determine its impact on related downstream items.

- 1. In Single Item View, select **Change Request** to open the bottom panel with a list of associated change requests.
- 2. Select the item you want to know more about, then select Actions > Impact Analysis.

Items Associate	ed with this Change Request		Associate Item(s)	Actions +	🙋 Edit 🕶   🕏	📀 📃 Hide
ID	Name	Starting Version	Ending Version N	c 📄 Clos	e Change Request	
CL3_2-SR-8	Surgical Installation	v1 - 4/19/2016		imp.	ant Analysis	
CL3-SUBS	Diameter	v3 - 10/09/2015				

The Impact Analysis is displayed as a highlighted table, listing all items directly associated with the change request. Also, any items that are downstream from directly associated items are shown with their degree of separation from that item.

hange Request Impact Anal	ysis					
Select or type depth 👻 📐	Apply				Change Request-	Replace with a SR-40 compatible se
Change Request						
Project	ID	Name	Туре	Assigned	Relationship	Path
Clear 3 Hearing Aid	CL3-CR-1	Change Request- Replace with a SR-40 compatible sensor	Change Request		Source Change Request	
Source Item(s)						
Project	ID	Name	Туре	Assigned	Relationship	Path
Medikiosk	MK-SYS-27	Manage billing history	System Requirement	1	Associated Item	MK-SYS-27
Clear 3 Hearing Aid	CL3-VAL-4	iOS Validation	Validation		Associated Item	CL3-VAL-4
Scaled Agile Sample Set	SAFE-PI-1	Increment One	Program Increment		Associated Item	SAFE-PI-1
Direct Relationship						
Project	ID	Name	Туре	Assigned	Relationship	Path
Scaled Agile Sample Set	SAFE-PIOBJ-1	Social Media Presense	PI Objective		Related to	SAFE-PI-1> SAFE-PIOBJ-1
Scaled Agile Sample Set	SAFE-PIOBJ-2	Attract Influential Social Media Personalities	PI Objective		Related to	SAFE-PI-1> SAFE-PIOBJ-2
Scaled Agile Sample Set	SAFE-PIOBJ-3	Pass security audit	PI Objective		Related to	SAFE-PI-1> SAFE-PIOBJ-3
						Close

Jama Connect provides the visibility of the potential impact of a change request. The impact is then used to analyze the requested change to determine if any impacted items need to be updated.

#### **Delete change request associations**

If you included an item in a change request and later determine that the item isn't impacted by the change, you can remove or "disassociate" the item from the change request.

- 1. In Single Item View, select **Change Request** to open the bottom panel with a list of associated change requests.
- 2. Select the row with the item you want to update, then select Edit > Remove Association.

Associate Item(s) Actions -			-   🖉 Edit-   🕏   🕥 🗔 Hide				
ing Version	Note	Update Association					
		-	Remov	e Asso	olatio	on(s)	

The screen is refreshed, and the associated item is removed.

#### Close a change request

A change request records the current version of each associated item, which is the starting version. Closing a change request records the end version of each item being changed.

- 1. In Single Item View, select **Change Request** to open the bottom panel with a list of associated change requests.
- 2. Select the change request you want to close, then select **Actions > Close Change Request**.



3. When prompted, click Yes to confirm.



# Releases

A release is a group of items that are developed together and mapped to a specific completion date.

To see all the releases listed for this project, select **Releases** at the top of the left panel. Select a specific release to see the items assigned to it.

Semicond	uctor Sample Set	1
Project +	Change project	×
EV	📰 Releases 📃	Ø 🗎
O Add rele	ase	影 2 ()
E Semico	onductor Sample Set assigned duct V1.0 [09/21/2016]	
Pro	duct V2.0 [12/14/2016]	F
Pro	duct V2.3 [02/28/2017]	P I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I

If you include items in a release, you are assigning them to that release. If the release field [273] is visible, you can use Reading View or List View to see the name of the release where an item is assigned.

#### Assigning an item to a release

When you assign an item to a release, the item appears under the Releases tab, and the action is noted in the version history.



# **IMPORTANT**

Admins only — You can only use the system predefined Release field to show items in the Releases tab. If you use a custom Release field to designate an item to a release, that item doesn't appear in the Releases tab.

Before you can assign items to a release, a project or organization admin must first create the release. Once the release is created, you can assign an item to that release in several ways:

- Locate the release field [273] (if it is visible [617]) in Single Item View or List View and select the
  release name you want from the drop-down menu.
- In the List View or Reading View of your project, select the items you want to add to the release. Select the **Releases** tab at the top of the left panel and drag the items into the release.
- Use batch update [74].
- Use round-trip import and export [122].

# **Release field**

The release field is a predefined field [594] with a picklist that contains all the releases created in a particular project.



# IMPORTANT

You can only use the system predefined Release field to show items in the Releases tab. If you use a custom Release field to designate an item to a release, that item doesn't appear in the Releases tab.

If you don't see a Release field in the item type you are using, an organization admin can edit the fields for that item type [595] and make it visible [617].

A project admin must also configure pick list values [600] for each release.

#### **Customize the Release settings**

You can determine what you'd like to see under the Releases tab for your project, whether it is the default settings or your personal settings.

- 1. Select **Projects > Project**, then select the **Releases** tab.
- 2. Click the Configure release explorer (gear) icon.



- 3. In the Release Explorer Settings window, determine what you want to see on the Releases tab:
  - Select Use my own settings or Use default settings.
  - Select the item types, types of IDs, archived releases, and relationships that you want to see.

My Settings Default Settings		
O Use my own settings	O Use default settings	
Release View Options Show these types:		
Components	Sets	
Folders	Texts	
Defects	User Stories	
System Requirements	Subsystem Requirements	
Change Requests	Validations	
Verifications	Risks	
Hazards	Harms	
Failure Modes	Design Descriptions	
Market Requirements	User Needs	
System Architecture		
Show item IDs:		
Display Global ID:		
Show Archived Releases:		
Display Downstream Relationships:		
Relationship Filter Show these types:		
Companenta	Sed	
Földers	Texts	

4. Click Apply.

# **Baselines**

A baseline in Jama Connect is a snapshot of your project, or a select collection of items (for example, a set or folder of items), at a point in time.

The version of selected items — and their relationships — are forever associated with that baseline.

#### Important considerations

- When you add a relationship to a baseline, the version doesn't change.
- Relationships do not change if you replace it with a baseline.

For example, if you have two relationships at the time of baseline version one, make a change to version two, add a relationship to version three and replace it with a baseline, you still have three relationships.

• If you click **Replace with baseline**, all item fields are set back to their values at the time of the baseline. For more information, see Replace baseline with current [296].

Folde	er: Processor BASE-318							Email
Re	view Folder: Pro Baseline • View details	🖊 Edit 👔 Re	use o	Replace with baseline	₽×▼ 🗇			
Ξ	■ = • • ;	1 of 17 selected					Compare with current	Preview item
\$	Name	ID	Created Date	Current version	Description	Version	Categories	
	Processor Core 1 ABD	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19	08/31/2023	3	The product sha	2	2022 SUV	
	а	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-50	08/31/2023	1		1	-	
	Test A	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49	08/31/2023	1	-	1	-	

 When you select an item with previous versions in the baseline, the historical view of that item opens in Single Item View. Hover over a link to see the available versions for an item. Selecting an item's link from a baseline will route you to the baselined version — Historical or current. You can also select the gear icon (Show/Hide) to open the drop-down menu, then select **Current version** and **Ver**sion to display those columns.

Folde	ar: Processor   BASE-317								Email
B1	- 11/02/2023 Baseline - View details			🖍 Edit	Reuse	X Replace with baseline	B-+		
Ξ	B = 0 - 2	1 of 17 selected					Compare with current	Preview	item
\$	Name	D	Created Date	Current version	Description	Version	Calegories		
6	Processor	SYSPRJ-FLD-7	08/31/2023	t	-	1			
	Processor Core 1 ABD	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19	08/31/2023	2	The product sha	2			
	a	SYSPRJ-P_Processo	or Core 1 ABD: version	1 2 of 2	~	1	-		
	Test A	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49	08/31/2023	1		1			

Organization and project admins can unlock locked baselines from the baseline header. This option
only appears when a baseline is locked and you have admin permissions.



#### What you need to create a baseline

Versioning must first be enabled to create a baseline. Once versioning is enabled [660], a baseline is created:

- · Automatically [292] when someone initiates or revises a review
- Manually [282] by anyone with read/write permissions

#### Why are baselines important?

Baselines allow you to capture the state of your content in alignment with key points in your product development lifecycle, such as at key approval gates or when generating documents from Jama Connect.

Having the baseline allows you to compare items as they change over time and, potentially, revert to a previous state.

# What can I do with a baseline?

- Locate an existing baseline [287]
- Create a baseline manually [282]
- Compare baselines [289]
- Use Compare with current to see baseline changes [291]
- View baseline activity [291]
- Replace current items with baseline [296]

# **Categories feature and baselines**

When enabled by an organization admin, historical versions of categories are visible in the baseline. They can't be configured. To show or hide the Categories feature, click the **gear icon**.

≡∎ ≡• ‡•	C 1 of 17 selected	
	All Selected (9)	×
API ID	Assigned to	
Categories	Conditions	
Created By	✓ Created Date	
Current version	✓ Description	
Global ID	Heading	

The categories that were applied to the baselined items appear in List View.

-	Name	6	Categories		Tags
V	Processor Core 1		2022 Truck A / 2023 EV / 2023 Se	2	
	Processor Speed		-	1	-
V	Coprocessors		2022 Truck A / 2023 EV	0	2022, Review
1	Coreprocessor 2		2022 Truck A / 2023 EV	0	-
	L1 Instruction Cache			0	

# What is a baseline source?

A baseline source is a container that holds all the baselines for a specific group of items.

You can add a baseline from a project, set, folder, filter, release, or individual items. Adding a baseline creates the source automatically. The source is created in the tree and contains the new baseline. A source can't exist without a baseline.

If a source already exists when a new baseline is created for the same set of items, the baseline is added to that source. Otherwise, a new source is created and added to the top of the tree.

#### Key to the baseline tree



- Green database icon Source
- White box wrapped in gray Baseline
- Individual Items Default source name when multiple items are selected at the time the baseline is created.
- **B1-04/27/2020** Example of a default baseline name (baseline number and date it was created). Baseline name is editable as needed.

#### **Quick tips**

- You can create a new baseline from an existing source.
- Deleting a baseline source deletes all the baselines it contains.

# Compare baselines in Baseline source List View

A baseline source is generated when you create a baseline or review. To see all baselines associated with that source in List View, select the baseline source.

An in-app comparison summary provides a high-level overview of baseline changes and lets you run the baseline comparison report. This feature displays detailed information about the baseline, such as the number of items, **Baseline ID**, **Baseline signatures**, **Baseline status**, and **Baseline type**.

#### To compare baselines:

1. Select the **Baselines** tab in the Explorer Tree, then select the baseline source with the baselines you want to compare.



2. In List View, select the two baselines you want to compare, then click Compare.

BS	RC-97								Email
C	omponent: Baseline source	Product				• Add	/ Edit	Send for review	Ĩ
15	- 0- 1	C 2 of 2 selected		-		<b>&gt;</b>	Compare 25 F	enge 🗊 Delete i	paselines
	Baseline ID	Name	Baseline type	Created by	Created date	Modified by	Modified date	Baseline stgna	Review sign
•	BASE-219	Baseline source A		Admin Test	04/10/2023	Admin Test	04/10/2023		
1	BASE-222	B2 - 04/18/2023		Admin Test	04/18/2023	Admin Test	04/18/2023		

The Compare baselines window opens.

3. Review the Baselines comparison summary, then click Export detailed report.

re baselines		
27/2023 compared to Review Set: User I	Needs v5	
es comparison summary		
Items updated		
Items added		
Items deleted		
Relationships added		
Relationships deleted		
	Export detailed report	Cancel
	re baselines 17/2023 compared to Review Set: User 1 es comparison summary Items updated Items added Items deleted Relationships added Relationships deleted	re baselines C7/2023 compared to Review Set: User Needs v5 es comparison summary Items updated Items added Items deleted Relationships added Relationships deleted

A pop-up message notifies you when the report is ready.

- 4. In the message, select **View reports history page**.
- 5. From the Reports history page, select the report, then click **Download**.
- 6. From the Downloads section of your browser, select the report to open it.

#### Benefits of organizing your baseline tree

Organize your baseline tree to reflect how your organization works.

Project and organization admins can reorganize the baseline tree by dragging and dropping sources and folders.

# Organizing baseline sources and folders

- Use drag and drop to move baseline sources from one location to another, from the root level to a folder, and between folders.
- Baseline folders can be created at the root level or added to a folder. Use drag and drop to reorder baseline folders.
- If you hover over an icon or name in the baseline tree, hover text describes the contents of the item.



• Editing a source name creates an event in the project activity stream. In the activity stream, select the baseline source ID to open the baseline tree and view the highlight.



# Searching and identifying baselines, baseline folders, and baseline sources

• When you type a name in the search field, the results are highlighted so you can find them easily.



- When you clear the search field, the results from the previous search are expanded and highlighted in the baseline tree.
- When you create a folder or baseline, it is highlighted in the baseline tree.
- If you accessed the baseline from a link or if the Explorer Tree hierarchy is collapsed, select **Find me** to locate the baseline in the baseline tree.
- When you toggle **Show IDs** to **On**, the baseline IDs are displayed in the baseline tree. When the IDs are visible, you can search for them using the baseline search box.

Pro	ject - Change	project <
t.		Baselines 📋 🔇
0	Add •	Show IDs 💽 🖉 🤹 🏐
S	earch	Q,
H	BSRC-147 Fold	er: Processor
	BASE-317 B	1 - 11/02/2023
	BASE-318 R	eview Folder: Processor v1
Ξ	BSRC-139 Proj	ect: System level project
	BASE-298 R	eview Test Review A v1
	BASE-299 R	eview Test Review A v2
	BASE-300 R	eview Test Review A v3
	BASE-301 R	eview Approval review v1
Ē	BSRC-135 Set:	Risk evaluation for system proje

• When you select the baseline ID in the activity stream, the source is expanded and the baseline is highlighted. Use the baseline activity stream to monitor activity, quickly find a baseline ID, or see if a signature is revoked.

Activity stream

Admin Test	edited baseline BASE-226
Name changed fro	m "B3 - 04/18/2023" to "B3 - 04/18/2023 - Test", baseline status changed from "* to "Approved"
T second and	



• A link is added in the baseline header when a baseline is created from a review or a new revision of a review. Use the link to navigate to a specific review quickly.

Folder: Processor / BASE-318

# Review Folder: Processor v1



#### Creating and renaming baselines and baseline folders

Once a baseline is created, the collection of items in the baseline can't be changed. You can, however, change the baseline name and description.

Users with a creator license and permissions for project or organization admin can create, edit, and delete an empty baseline folder.

Anyone with read/write permissions can edit, delete, or restore a baseline that they created. However, you must have project or organization admin permissions to edit, delete, or restore baselines created by others.

#### Create a baseline folder using one of these methods:

- Add drop-down menu, select Folder.
- · Right-click on the folder, then select Add Folder.

#### Create a baseline manually

Create a baseline when you want to capture a snapshot of where items are at in that moment.



#### NOTE

You must have a creator license and read/write permissions to manually create a baseline.

#### Important considerations

- · Baselines are created automatically [292] whenever anyone creates a review.
- Project versioning must be enabled [660] to be able to create a baseline.

• All upstream and downstream relationship information from items included in the baseline scope is also included in the baseline snapshot, even if those upstream or downstream items aren't part of the baseline scope. This functionality is limited to relationship direction, item name, and item ID.

#### To create a baseline manually:

- 1. In the Explorer Tree, select the **Baselines** tab in the project where you want to create the baseline.
- 2. Add a baseline using one of these methods:
  - If the item already has a source, right-click on the source and select Add baseline.



• If you want to create a baseline from the Project Explorer Tree, right-click on a set, component, folder, or item.

Project -	Change project			<<
Explore	7 🔲 🗖	Ē	0	F
💿 Add 🕶		50	33 (#	0
E 🖶 Semice	onductor Project 2.0			
E Pro	Open item     Open in new tab			
⊕ Prc     ⊕ Prc     ⊕ Prc     ⊕ Prc	Preview item			
	Collapse all			
	C Duplicate item			
	View synced items			
	O Add	Þ		
	Convert to	*		
_	Move item		_	
Add tag	Delete		List	
202:	B. Import			
Revie	Add baseline	-		

• If you need to choose items, select **Add > Baseline** from the top.



# NOTE

If the items from an existing source were deleted, you can't add a new baseline from that source.

• If you want to create a baseline from a filter, select the **Filters** tab, right-click on the filter, and select **Add baseline**.

Semiconductor Project 2.0	1
Project+   Change project	K Learn more ×
Filters 📰 🗖	Semiconductor
<ul> <li>Add filter</li> </ul>	Semicono
View: Bookmarks All	Dashboard
Bookmarked filters	🔺 🗹 Set as my
*All Market Requirements	
*Current project All Projects	Apply filter to Explorer
*Duplicate of Second private filte and current projects	View criteria
	Duplicate Filter
	💯 Edit Filter
	V Delete Filter
	o Add baseline
Add tag	Send for review

3. In the window that opens, click a tab (**Item selection**, **Releases**, **Filters**) and select containers or individual items in that tab. You can select containers or individual items, but you can select from only one tab.

Select items to baseline			X
Item selection Releases	Filters		1.7
Select items to baseline.			
E 📇 🕜 Semiconductor Proje	ect 2.0		
E Project Managem	innt A		
E 22 - Stakeholder wegt	urementa		
1 Datasheet			
21B Kem(s)		Create Can	cel

- 4. Click Create.
- 5. (Optional) Change the default name for the baseline and add a description.

You can update the pick list and rich text as needed. When the baseline pick list is updated, the activity is captured in the baseline and project activity streams.

Add baseline			×
Name:	B1 - 12/13/2022		
Description:			
6 A rich text	description field is available in	the baseline details' ed	it view.
190 items		Save	Cancel

6. Click **Save** to create the baseline.

The new baseline is added to the tree, either under an existing source or at the top of the tree. Baselines are always listed in the order they were created.

#### Edit a baseline

Once a baseline is created, the item content can't be changed. You can, however, change the baseline name, description, and baseline status.

#### Important considerations

- Anyone with read/write permissions can edit, delete, or restore a baseline that they created.
- You must have project or organization admin permissions to edit, delete, or restore baselines created by others.
- · You must be an organization or project admin to edit a signed baseline.

#### To edit a baseline:

- 1. Select the **Baselines** tab in the Explorer Tree, then select the baseline you want to edit.
- 2. Edit the baseline using one of these methods:
- Right-click on the baseline and select Edit.



• In the upper right corner of the main panel, click Edit.

ame     ID     Created Date     Current/version     Description!     Version     Categories     All       rocessor     SYSPRU-RLD-7     08/31/2023     1     1     1       rocessor Core 1 ABD     SYSPRU-P_RED-19     08/31/2023     2     The product sha     2       vindow, enter your changes and click Save & done.	Image: Sectivition       Version       Calegories       E         Image: The product sha       2         Image: Version       2	Nume         D         Created Date         Querent Yuusion         Diactipuon         Version         Categories         A           Processor         SYSPRJ-FLD-7         08/31/2023         1         1         1         1         1           Processor Core 1 ABD         SYSPRJ-FLD-7         08/31/2023         2         The product sha, 2         2         The product sha, 2           the window, enter your changes and click Save & done.	S Na	ime			and an and a state of	lane a	No. of Lot.		_
rocesor       SYSPRILITY       UB/31/2023       1       1         rocessor Core 1 ABD       SYSPRILP_REQ.19       08/31/2023       2       The product sha, 2         vindow, enter your changes and click Save & done.       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD         ew Test review signed v1       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD         ew Test review signed v1       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD         ew Test review signed v1       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD         ew Test review items       View REV-39 v1       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD         view Items       View REV-39 v1       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD       Image: Core 1 ABD         view REV-39 v1       Image: Core 1 ABD         view REV-39 v1       Image: Core 1 ABD       I	The product sha 2 re & done.	Processor Core 1 ABD       STSPECHED       UB43/2023       2       The product sha 2         Processor Core 1 ABD       SYSPEL-P_REC-19       08/31/2023       2       The product sha 2         the window, enter your changes and click Save & done.	Pro		D D D D D D D D	Created Date	Gurrent version	Description	Version Calegon	es 🔒	
ewe Test review signed v1         eline • View items View REV-39 v1         ATED DATE:         7/2022 07:28:04 pm         ATED BY:         In Test         ELINE STATUS:		The processing of the analysis of the production of the product	E PR	ocessor	STSPRI-FLU-7	08/31/2023	1	The suid of the	1		
window, enter your changes and click Save & done.	× k done.	the window, enter your changes and click Save & done. SE-53 Review Test review signed v1 Baseline · View items View REV-39 v1 CREATED DATE: 03/17/2022 07:28:04 pm CREATED BY: Admin Test BASELINE STATUS: DESCRIPTION: Normal · Size · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		dessol cole 1 Abb	STOPRO-P_REQ-19				4		
ew Test review signed v1 eline · View items View REV-39 v1 ATED DATE: 7/2022 07:28:04 pm ATED BY: In Test ELINE STATUS: :RIPTION:	» № В I Ц S <u>A</u> . <sup>(1)</sup> - I <sub>x</sub> × <sub>2</sub> × <sup>2</sup>	SE-53       Image: Section of the sectio	the w	/indow, ent	er your cha	nges and c	lick Save &	done.			
ew Test review signed v1 eline · View items View REV-39 v1 ATED DATE: 7/2022 07:28:04 pm ATED BY: in Test ELINE STATUS: :RIPTION:	» № В I Ц <del>S</del> <u>A</u> - <u>M</u> - I <sub>x</sub> × <sub>2</sub> × <sup>2</sup>	Review Test review signed v1         Baseline · View items       View REV-39 v1         CREATED DATE:         03/17/2022 07:28:04 pm         CREATED BY:         Admin Test         BASELINE STATUS:         DESCRIPTION:         Normal       Size         Size $\square$	ASE-53								4
ATED DATE: 7/2022 07:28:04 pm ATED BY: In Test ELINE STATUS: RIPTION:	» М В I Ц <del>S</del> <u>A</u> - <u>M</u> - I <sub>x</sub> × <sub>2</sub> × <sup>2</sup>	Baseline · View items View REV-39 v1 CREATED DATE: 03/17/2022 07:28:04 pm CREATED BY: Admin Test BASELINE STATUS: DESCRIPTION: Normal · Size · $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ Source $\square$ B $I \sqcup$ S $\triangle$ · $\square$ · $I_{n}$ × <sub>2</sub> × <sup>2</sup> $\blacksquare$ $\equiv$ $\equiv$ $\equiv$ $\equiv$ $\equiv$ $\square$ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Revie	ew Test n	eview siar	red v1				1	
ATED DATE: 7/2022 07:28:04 pm ATED BY: In Test ELINE STATUS: RIPTION:	» М В I Ц <del>S</del> <u>A</u> . <b>⊠</b> . I <sub>x</sub> × <sub>2</sub> × <sup>2</sup>	CREATED DATE: 03/17/2022 07:28:04 pm CREATED BY: Admin Test BASELINE STATUS: DESCRIPTION: Normal Size $I = I = I = I = I = I = I = I = I = I $	Base	line View i	tems View Rf	EV-39 vt					
ATED DATE: 7/2022 07:28:04 pm ATED BY: In Test ELINE STATUS: RIPTION:	эМ В I <u>U</u> <del>S</del> <u>A</u> - ⊠- I <sub>x</sub> × <sub>2</sub> × <sup>2</sup>	CREATED DATE: 03/17/2022 07:28:04 pm CREATED BY: Admin Test BASELINE STATUS: DESCRIPTION: Normal Size $I = I = I = I = I = I = I = I = I = I $									
7/2022 07:28:04 pm ATED BY: In Test ELINE STATUS: RIPTION:	эМ В I Ц <del>S</del> <u>A</u> - ⊠- I <sub>x</sub> × <sub>2</sub> × <sup>2</sup>	03/17/2022 07:28:04 pm CREATED BY: Admin Test BASELINE STATUS: DESCRIPTION: Normal Size $I = I = I = I = I = I = I = I = I = I $	CREA	TED DATE:							
ATED BY: In Test ELINE STATUS: RIPTION:	эМ В I Ц <del>S</del> <u>A</u> - ⊠- I <sub>x</sub> × <sub>2</sub> × <sup>2</sup>	CREATED BY: Admin Test BASELINE STATUS: DESCRIPTION: Normal Size $I_{X} \times_{2} \times^{2}$ $I_{X} \times_{2} \times^{2}$ $I_{X} \times_{2} \times^{2}$ $I_{X} \times_{2} \times^{2}$ $I_{X} \times_{2} \times^{2}$	03/17	/2022 07:28:0	)4 pm						
ATED BY: in Test ELINE STATUS: RIPTION:	э № В I <u>U</u> <del>S</del> <u>A</u> - <b>⊠</b> - I <sub>x</sub> × <sub>2</sub> × <sup>2</sup>	CREATED BY: Admin Test BASELINE STATUS: DESCRIPTION: Normal - Size - $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ Source $\square$ $B I \sqcup S A - \square - I_x \times_z \times^z$ $\blacksquare \equiv \equiv \equiv \equiv \equiv = = + + - Q, b_0 @ = D \square \square$		200 C							
IN Test ELINE STATUS: RIPTION:	> ∑ B I U S A - Ø- Ix ×₂ ײ	Admin Test BASELINE STATUS: DESCRIPTION: Normal Size $I = I = I = I = I = I = I = I = I = I $	CREA	TED BY:							
ELINE STATUS:	> M B I U S A - Ø- Ix ×₂ ײ	BASELINE STATUS: DESCRIPTION: Normal · Size · $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ Source $\square$ $B$ $I \sqcup S \underline{A} \cdot \square \cdot I_x \times_p \times^p$ $\blacksquare \equiv \equiv \equiv \equiv \equiv \equiv = = + + + + + + + + + + + +$	Admir	n Test							
RIPTION:	> M B I U S A Ø- Ix ×₂ ײ	DESCRIPTION: Normal - Size - $\square$	DACE	INE STATUS	2 I.						
RIPTION:	> 55 B I U S A - Ø- Ix ×₂ ײ	DESCRIPTION: Normal - Size - $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ Source $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ $\square_{x}$ $\times_{z}$ $\times^{z}$ $\blacksquare$ $\equiv$ $\equiv$ $\equiv$ $\blacksquare$ $\square$	DASE	LINE STATUS							
RIPTION:	э № В <i>I</i> <u>U</u> <del>S</del> <u>A</u> - <u>Ю</u> - <u>I</u> <sub>x</sub> × <sub>2</sub> × <sup>2</sup>	DESCRIPTION: Normal - Size - $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathbb{H} \cong \Theta$ Source $\mathcal{A} = \mathbb{H} \subseteq \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{A} - \mathcal{A} = I_x \times_p \times^p$ $\mathbb{H} \equiv \Xi \equiv \mathbb{H} = \mathbb{H} = \mathbb{H} + \mathbb{Q} = \mathbb{Q} \oplus \mathbb{H} \cong \mathbb{H} \cap \mathbb{Q} \oplus \mathbb{V} \subset \mathbb{Q}$	1								
ALL TON:	SS BIUSA-⊠-Ix ×₂ ײ	Normal - Size - $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ Source $\square$		Province of the local division of the local							
	$\mathbf{B} I \underline{U} \mathbf{S} \underline{A} \cdot \underline{O} \cdot \underline{I}_{\mathbf{x}} \mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{z}} \mathbf{x}^{\mathbf{z}}$	Normal - Size - $\mathcal{A}$ $\square$ $\square$ $\square$ Source $\mathcal{A}$ $\square$ $I_{\mathcal{A}} \times_{\mathcal{A}} \times_{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathcal{A}}$ $\blacksquare = = = := := := := := := := := := := := $	DESC								
rmai - Size - 🖉 🔄 🖻 🗟 Source 💱 B I U S A - 🕼 × <sub>e</sub> × <sup>e</sup>			DESC	RIPTION:			D. Decision 52	D 7 11	S A - 17-	T. X. X <sup>e</sup>	
	e b B = m Ω O v C		DESC	mal -	Size - 🕺		IO Source MM	BIU	2.7. 10.		
data far this partial	and the second	Lindate fas this againt	DESC Nor	mal - ≅ ≞ ≡	Size - 🕺		Q bà @	<u>виц</u> э 19 18 1		vc	
		Opdate for this spring	DESC Nor	mai - ≞ ≞ ≡	Size - अ }≣ :≣ -€ -€		Q ta m	⇒ 19 16 1		vc	
rmal - Size - ⊗ ີ (B) B Ω Source M B I U - S A - Ω - I <sub>x</sub> × <sub>2</sub> × <sup>2</sup> Ξ Ξ Ξ Ξ Ξ Ξ = ≇ + → Ϙ, ξ3 @ = D R = ⊞ Ω O V C		Update for this sprint	DESC	RIPTION:			D Parisis 58	D 7 11	S A . 171-	T. X. x <sup>e</sup>	
oace for this spring			DESC Nor E Upo	mal -	Size - & }≣ :≣ -€ ÷ print		Q bà œ	ы 19 18 1 19 18 1	≥⊞Ω <b>Θ</b>	٣¢	

Your changes appear in the Explorer Tree.

# Locate an existing baseline

When anyone creates or publishes a revision of a review, a baseline is automatically generated. Knowing where to look for an existing baseline can be helpful when you want to compare changes in a review that has multiple versions.

You can find a baseline for a specific project from the Explorer Tree or Single Item View.

# **Explorer Tree**

3.

Use the Explorer Tree to quickly find a baseline.

- 1. Select the **Baselines** tab of the project you want to look at.
- 2. Type the baseline name in the search field. The results are highlighted so you can find them easily.

Proj	iect •   Change project 🛛 🛠
1	Baselines 📄 🕓
0	Add - Show IDs OFF 2
te	st 💿
Ð	Project: Pantry Products
	Review Test review signed v1
	Review Voting test v1
	Individual Items
	Review Test cases: pantry v1
E	Test plan: Alternative sandwich
	Review Test plan: Alternative sandwich v1
8	Individual Items
	Review New review test v1
	Set: Storage
	Review test 2 v1

3. Expand the source to see all the baselines from the same source, then select the one you want. If a baseline was created from a review, it is preceded by the word "Review" in the name.



4. Select the baseline to view its contents.

# **Single Item View**

Use the Versions information in Single Item View to see which versions of that item are associated with specific baselines and reviews.

- 1. Open the item in Single Item View [59].
- Select the Versions widget on the side toolbar [60]. The list of reviews and baselines is displayed in the bottom panel under the Baselines/Reviews column.
|      |    |         |                                                                          |                                                                                                            |                                       | Comp                         | pare #       | - Hide          |
|------|----|---------|--------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|------------------------------|--------------|-----------------|
| From | То | Version | Basellnes /<br>Reviews                                                   | Change details                                                                                             | User<br>comment<br>and<br>transitions | Created                      | Ву           |                 |
| 0    | 0  | 16      | Review Individual<br>Items 555 - edit-<br>edit2 v12<br>Baseline   Review | "Description" changed                                                                                      |                                       | 02/02/2021<br>09:36:31<br>pm | v2<br>test02 |                 |
| -    | 0  | 15      |                                                                          | "Description" changed                                                                                      |                                       | 02/02/2021<br>09:06:47<br>pm | v2<br>test02 | Make<br>Current |
| 2    | •  | 14      | Review Individual<br>Items 555 - edit-<br>edit2 v11<br>Baseline   Review | "Description" changed, "Date" changed from "01/29/2021 12:00:00 AM<br>UTC" to "01/28/2021 06:30:00 PM UTC" |                                       | 02/02/2021<br>03:17:44<br>am | v2<br>test02 | Make<br>Current |

3. The list of reviews and baselines is displayed in the bottom panel under the Baselines/Reviews column.

## **Compare baselines**

When a baseline has more than one version, you can compare two versions in baseline Document View using the baseline in-app **Compare** option.

### Important considerations

- Document View must be enabled. If the setting has been disabled, organization admins can enable it from Admin > Details.
- Use this feature while viewing an older version of a baseline. If viewing the most current version, the baseline in-app **Compare** option doesn't appear.
- When comparing baselines, the categories table isn't available.
- Baselines that were created before Jama Connect 9.6 now display an icon to indicate that the new fields aren't available. This icon appears in List View, Document View, in-app comparison summary, and the Preview panel.

Baseline A • View details

#### To compare baselines:

- 1. Select the **Baselines** tab in the Explorer Tree, then select the baseline with the version you want to compare.
- 2. Select **Document View**, then click **Compare**.

System level project 🖻	
Project + Change project	Learn more 🐃 📇 Dashboard: System level project 😤
☐         ☐         Baselines         ☐         ∁           O         Add ▼         Show IDs         ON         ≠         ⑤	Folder: Processor BASE-317 B1 - 11/02/2023 Compare
Search Q	Document view View details
BASE-317 B1 - 11/02/2023 BASE-318 Review Folder: Processor v1	= • • - 2 17 items
BSRC-139 Project: System level project BASE-298 Review Test Review A v1 BASE-299 Review Test Review A v2 BASE-300 Review Test Review A v3	1.2.1 Processor

3. From the drop-down menu, select the version to compare with the baseline you are viewing.

Block Requirement: C., BASE-224



Changes are displayed inline with versions indicated by color: **Red** = Edited or deleted text/data from an older version **Green** = Edited or added text/data from a new version



 To compare relationships between two versions of a baseline, select Show related items. Changes are displayed inline with versions indicated by color:
 Red = Edited or deleted text/data from an older version
 Green = Edited or added text/data from a new version

Hide related items • Upstream items (8) (10) ITEM-ID-1234 Item name will be here ITEM-ID-1234 Item name will be here

5. Click **X** to return to baselines Document View.



## Use Compare with current to see baseline changes

The **Compare with current** option allows you to compare baselines and see if an item changed since the last baseline, and what those changes were.

## You can use any of these methods to compare baselines:

- Select the **Baselines** tab in the Explorer Tree, then select the baseline you want to view.
- In List View, select the gear icon (Show/Hide) to open the drop-down menu, then select Current version and Version to display those columns.
- To preview an item, select the row, then select **Preview item**. A panel displays the information for the version you selected.

From the Version drop-down menu, select **most current** or **baselined** to view the full details.

B3	- 11/02/2023	Notroady			🖍 Edit 👔 Reuse	X Replace with baseline	E++ 🗊
Ξ		1 of 17 selected				Compare with current	Preview item
\$	Name	D	Created Date	Current version	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 -		
	Processor	SYSPRJ-FLD-7	08/31/2023	t	Version 3 (most current) Version 2 (baselined)	BD	
	Processor Core 1 ABD	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19	08/31/2023	3		Version 2 of 3	
	а	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-50	08/31/2023	1	PROJECT ID:		
	Test A	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49	08/31/2023	1	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19		
	c	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-52	08/31/2023	1	GLOBAL ID:		
	Package Option 2	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-28	08/31/2023		GID-140046		
	b	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-51	08/31/2023	1	Processor Core 1 ABD		

• To compare a baselined item with the current version side-by-side, select the row for that item, then select **Compare with current** in the top right.

Folde	r: Processor / BASE-318								Email
Re	view Folder: Pro aseline + View details	Cessor v1 View REV-156 v1			🖊 Edit 🔮 R	euse	Replace with baseline	B-+	m
	B (≣• 0• p	1 of 17 selected		-	_	-	Compare with current	Previe	w item
\$	Name	ID	Created Date	Current version	Description	Version	Categories		
Ê.	Processor	SYSPRJ-FLD-7	08/31/2023	1		t			1
	Processor Core 1 ABD	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19	08/31/2023	3	The product sha	2	2022 SUV		
	a	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-50	08/31/2023	1	-	1	-		

- View baseline reports to show changes over time:
  - Baseline Comparison [417] compares two baselines.
  - Baseline Compared to Current [416] compares the items and relationships from a baselined version to the current version.

## View baseline activity

Use the baseline activity stream to monitor activity, quickly find a baseline ID, or see if a signature is revoked.

1. Select the **Baselines** tab, then select the name of the baseline that you want to view.

#### 2. Select View details.



The baseline activity stream is visible at the bottom of the center panel.

System level project 🛛 🖻			Search. Project - P Advanced search			search
Project +   Change project 💥	* Folder: Processor	Review Folder: Process	ar v1 💷	Review Folder: Processor v1	Details	REQ-19:Proce +
Add      Show IDs ON     Search	BASE-318 Review Folder: Pr Baseline + View items	OCESSOR V1 View REV-156 v1			1	Email
BSRC-147 Folder: Processor     BASE-317 B1 - 11/02/2023     BASE-318 Review Folder: Processor v1     BASE-319 B3 - 11/02/2023     BSRC-139 Project: System level project     BSRC-135 Set: Risk evaluation for system proje	CREATED DATE: 11/02/2023 10:51:45 an CREATED BY: Admin Test BASELINE STATUS:	1				
	Signatures					2 Add signature
	User	Date	Commen	IS		Actions
Add tag						
2022(2)						
2022(2) Alert(1)	Activity stream					
Review(2) Test(1)	Created by review	added baseline BASE-3 w Review	318			
	Admin Test	added baseling BASE	19			

## Locate review baselines

When anyone creates or revises a review, a baseline is automatically generated so that you can compare changes between reviews.

You can find automatically generated review baselines in two ways:

· Select Baselines in the Explorer Tree of your project.



Baselines that were automatically generated for reviews are displayed with the word "Review" preceding the name of the review.



- · If you know the items that were included in the baseline (or the review that created it):
  - 1. Open the item in Single Item View [59].
  - Select Versions in the side toolbar [60]. The list of reviews and baselines is displayed in the bottom panel under the Baselines/Reviews column.

						III com	aic (+	( in the second
From	То	Version	Baselines / Reviews	Change details	User comment and transitions	Created	Ву	
•	0	16	Review Individual Items 555 - edit- edit2 v12 Baseline   Review	"Description" changed		02/02/2021 09:36:31 pm	v2 test02	
-	0	15		"Description" changed		02/02/2021 09:06:47 pm	v2 test02	Make Current
	•	14	Review Individual Items 555 - edit- edit2 v11 Baseline   Review	"Description" changed, "Date" changed from "01/29/2021 12:00:00 AM UTC" to "01/28/2021 06:30:00 PM UTC"		02/02/2021 03:17:44 am	v2 test02	Make Current

Compore et Uide

3. Select the link for the review or its corresponding baseline. The link is enabled only if you were invited to the review.

# Sign a baseline electronically

If your business process dictates that signatures must be applied to collections of data such as baselines, electronic signatures can be associated directly with a specific baseline. Signatures can also be captured and associated with a baseline if signatures are collected during a review.

1. In the Explorer Tree under the **Baselines** tab, select the baseline you want to sign, then click **View** details.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🗇		Search. Project				- P Advanced search		
Project +   Change project	* 📇 Dastiboard: Semiconductor F	Project 8 Block Re	quirement: Cycle time.	B1 - 11/02/2023	B1 - 11/02/2023 - D	Details		
C Add → Show IDs OFF 2 C	Individual Items BASE-314 B1 - 11/02/2023			1		Email		
Individual Items     IB1 - 11/02/2023     If _ Test cycle: Test Cycle B	Baseline View details	7 1 of 192 selected		Company	e with current 🛛 🗴 Pre	view item		
🗄 🧧 Component: Project Management A	🕸 Name	D	Crealed Date	Current version	Description	Version		
Block Requirement: Cycle time, SCL     Block Requirement: Cycle time, SCL	Product	SLS2_P-CMP-23	10/22/2021	1	-	1		
B1 - 04/18/2023 B2 - 04/18/2023	Import Test	SI_S2_P-SET-143	11/02/2021	(1		1		
B3 - 04/18/2023 - Test	Product Requirements	SI_S2_P-SET-32	10/22/2021	1		1		
E Filter. My Filter	C Processor	SI_S2_P-FLD-7	10/22/2021	1		4		
New folder      Set: INFORMATION	Processor Core 1 ABD	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19	10/22/2021	11	The product sha	11		

2. Select Add signature.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖂	miconductor Project 2.0 🖻			Project - P	Advanced search
Project + Change project 🔣	* P Dashboard: Semiconducte	or Project	Review Set: Product Va ×	Review Set: Product Validation Spe	cification v1 - Datails
Add - Show IDs C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	BASE-57 Review Set: Produ Baseline • View items USIZZIZZZ UZ:24.06 pm CREATED BY: Megan Baim DESCRIPTION: Updating for this sprint	uct Validati View REV-42	on Specification v	/1	Email
BSRC-7 Information: Test 1	Signatures User	Date	Comments	2	Add signature
oAdd tag ⊡Cloud   ≣ List   2022(2) Alert(1) Review(2) Test(1)	Activity stream Activity stream Admin Test Description chan 20 hours ago	edited baseline ged	BASE-57		

In the Electronic signature window, enter your username, password, and any optional comments, then click Save. Username and password must match that of the logged in user.
 If your organization is using SAML for authentication, you are asked to select Sign baseline, then

enter your username and password to authenticate your signature.

Your full name:	Signature date and time:
Admin Test	04/15/2022 11:57 am
To complete your electronic signature, Username:	please enter your username and password.
Password:	
Comments:	
Comments:	

## **Deleting sources and baselines**

Delete a source or baseline if it was created by mistake or you no longer need it.

### Important considerations

- Deleting a source deletes all the baselines it contains.
- The option to delete a baseline or source that contains a baseline is only enabled for baselines that are not yet electronically signed. However, deleting a project [640] deletes all project content, including baselines and signatures.



## NOTE

You must have project or organization admin permissions to delete sources and baselines.

#### To delete a source:

• Right-click on the source you want to delete, then select **Delete source and baselines**.

Project •	Change project	~
	Baselines	
🗿 Add 👻	Show IDs O	
Search		Q,
E BLFD-1	New folder	
E BSP	C 22 Cat: Braduat Valida	tion Constitutio
± ESRC-	Co Add baseline	
E BSRC-	Z Edit source	
E BSRC-	Delete source and I	baselines
	Send for review	

### To delete a baseline:

Delete a baseline from the project using one of these methods.

- Select the baseline, then click **Delete** (trash icon) in the top right.
- Right-click on the baseline name, then click Delete.

### Quick tips

- **Undo** If you change your mind after deleting a source or baseline, you can select **Undo** in the success notice.
- **Restore** You can restore a deleted baseline or source by finding the deletion activity [241] in the projects activity stream and selecting **Restore**. If you deleted a source that contains multiple baselines, you can restore individual baselines or the source and all its baselines. When you restore a baseline or source, this event appears in the baseline activity stream.
- Limitations You can't edit or delete a baseline that is electronically signed. You also can't delete a source if it contains an electronically signed baseline.

E Set Validation Protocole			
Add baseline			
🗄 🥃 Sel 🏐 finden source and baselines 🔫			
🔣 🧮 Tex			
🗄 📑 Ind 🜠 Send for review	Signatures		
E Silter: Risks (with scratch pad)	User	Date	Comments
E Silter: Test Protocol Operational Validation		2010	oonniono
E Eilter: Verification Tests Results for QA	Katie Maxwell	11/07/2019 10:43 am	Signed Review

## Replace current items with a baselined version

When you replace current items with a baselined version, a new version of the item is created and content is replaced with the baseline content. No versions are lost.

### Important considerations

- · Items that were deleted are restored to the version when the baseline was created.
- Relationships that were deleted aren't restored.
- You can restore a prior version of an individual item from the versions tab in Single Item View [263].



#### To replace current items with a baselined version:

- 1. Select the baseline you want to revert to in the Baselines tab of the Explorer Tree [287].
- 2. Click Replace with baseline.

Folde	er: Processor / BASE-318							Email
Re	view Folder: Pro Baseline • View details	Cessor v1 View REV-156 v1			/Edit @Re	euse :	Replace with baseline	B 0
Ξ	■ = • • ;	1 of 17 selected					Compare with current	Preview item
\$	Name	ID	Created Date	Current version	Description	Version	Categories	-
	Processor Core 1 ABD	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19	08/31/2023	3	The product sha	2	2022 SUV	
	а	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-50	08/31/2023	1	-	1	-	
	Test A	SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49	08/31/2023	1	-	4		

3. In the confirmation message, click **Replace**.

Confirm replacem	ent	×
• 1 item will be replac	ed with the baseli	ned version.
Baselined items that h restored.	ave been deleted	wil) be
	Replace	Cancel

A pop-up message displays the number of items that were updated.

### **Reuse baselined items**

You can reuse baselined items in the same project or in a different project. Reusable items include folders, sets, components, text items, and a single item baseline.



# NOTE

You can't reuse baselines created from a filter, a release, individual items, a project, a test plan, a test run, or a test cycle.

#### To reuse baselined items:

- 1. Select a baseline using one of these methods:
  - **Baseline tree** Select the baseline that you want to reuse, right-click to open the context menu, then select **Reuse baseline**.

Add Show IDS ON Sh	Project - Cha	inge project		11				
Add Show IDs ON Sh		and the products	I and I a	~				
Add - Show IDs ON Proceeding of the social o		Baseline	s E	2				
Search BASE-224 BASE-226 BASE-226 BASE-226 BASE-226 BASE-226 BASE-226 BASE-226 BASE-226 BASE-226 BASE-226 BASE-226 BASE-20 Set: INFORMATION BSRC-3 Project: Semiconductor Project 2.0 BSRC-3 Project: Semiconductor Project 2.0 BSRC-7 Source Baseline List View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse. Merei View datas View Folder: Processor v1 Baseline - View datas View REV-156 v1 Baseline - View datas View Folder: Processor v1 Baseline - View datas Baseline - View data	Add •	Show IDs	ON O	a) 😳				
SSRC-100 Block Requirement: Cycle time, SCL BASE-224 BASE-225 BASE-225 BASE-225 BASE-225 BASE-225 BASE-225 BASE-225 BASE-225 BASE-225 BASE-225 BASE-225 BASE-225 BASE-225 BASE-225 BSRC-97 Co BSRC-97 Co BSRC-97 Co BSRC-97 Co BSRC-97 Co BSRC-97 Intro- BSRC-97 Co BSRC-97 CO BSRC	Search			0.				
BASE-224       Edit         BASE-225       Edit         BASE-226       Reuse basaline         BASE-226       Datate         BASE-226       Reuse basaline         BSRC-97 Cor       Datate         BSRC-97 Cor       Baselone         BSRC-7 Source       BSRC-7 Source         Baselone List View Helv156 v1       End Replace with baseline         Image Replace With Processor v1       Image Replace with baseline         Baselone - View datals       View REV-156 v1         Image Replace With Processor V1       Compare with current         Processor Core 1 ABD       SYSPRUP_RE0-00       08/31/2023       1       1         Image Replace With Processor V1       Compare       Image Replace with baseline       Image Replace with baseline         Image Replace With Processor V1       Image Replace With baseline       Image Replace With baseline       Image Replace With baseline	BSRC-100	Block Requireme	ant: Cycle tim	e, SCL				
BASE-225   BASE-225   BASE-226   BASE-206   BASE-200   BASE-	BASE-2	24						
BASE - 226   BSRC-97 Co   BSRC-97 Co   BSRC-98 Filt   BSRC-98 Filt   BSRC-98 Filt   BSRC-98 Filt   BSRC-97 Co   BSRC-98 Filt   BSRC-98 Filt   BSRC-97 Co   BSRC-98 Filt   BSRC-78 Cores   BSRC-78 Core   Baseline View details   View details <th>BASE-2</th> <th>25 A Edit</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>	BASE-2	25 A Edit						
BSRC-97 Cor BSRC-98 Filte BSRC-98 Filte BSRC-89 Filte BSRC-20 Set: INFORMATION BSRC-20 Set: INFORMATION BSRC-7 Source BSRC-7 Source BSRC-7 Source BSRC-7 Source BSRC-7 Source Baseline List View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse. Compare with ource the select of the baseline you want to reuse then click Reuse Baseline View details View REV-156 v1 Baseline View details View REV-156 v1 Baseline Document View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse Baseline Document View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse Baseline Document View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse Baseline Document View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse Baseline Document View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse Baseline View details View REV-156 v1 Baseline View details View REV-156 v1	BASE-2	26 Reuse b	asoline					
BSRC-89 Filt BSRC-81 Test cycle: Test Cycle B BLFD-1 New folder BSRC-20 Set: INFORMATION BSRC-3 Project: Semiconductor Project 2.0 BSRC-7 Source BSRC-7 Source Baseline List View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse. Mare Foreward BASE-318 Review Folder: Processor v1 Baseline View datals View REV-156 v1 Processor Care 1 ABD SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 06/31/2023 3 The product sha 2 2022 SUV Categores Processor Care 1 ABD SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 06/31/2023 3 The product sha 2 2022 SUV Categores SysPRJ-P_REQ-50 06/31/2023 1 Test A SYSPRJ-P_REQ-60 06/31/2023 1 Test A SYSPRJ-	BSRC-97 C	ion a sub	1000000					
BSRC-81 Test cycle: Test cycle B BLFD-1 New folder BSRC-20 Set: INFORMATION BSRC-3 Project: Semiconductor Project 2.0 BSRC-7 Source BSRC-7 Source BSRC-7 Source BASE-318 Ceview Folder: Processor V1 Baseline - View details View REV-156 v1 Compare with current Provee line Name Processor Core 1 ABD SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 08/31/2023 3 The product sha 2 2022 SUV a SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 08/31/2023 1 TestA SYSPRJ-P_REQ-90 08/31/2023 1 TestA SYSPRJ-P_REQ-90 08/31/2023 1 TestA SYSPRJ-P_REQ-90 08/31/2023 1 Baseline - View details: View REV-156 v1 Compare with current Proveesing Baseline - View details: View REV-156 v1 Compare with current Proveesing Baseline - View details: View REV-156 v1 Compare with current Proveesing Baseline - View details: View REV-156 v1 Compare with current Proveesing Baseline - View details: View REV-156 v1 Compare with current Proveesing Baseline - View details: View REV-156 v1 Compare with current Proveesing Baseline - View details: View REV-156 v1 Compare with current Proveesing Baseline - View details: View REV-156 v1 Compare with current Proveesing Baseline - View details: View REV-156 v1	BSRC-89 F	ilte	_					
BLFD-1 New folder BSRC-20 Set: INFORMATION BSRC-3 Project: Semiconductor Project 2.0 BSRC-7 Source BASE-ine List View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse. Addr Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Processor V1 Baseline - View details View REV-156 v1 Processor Core 1 ABD SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 08/31/2023 3 The product ha 2 2022 SUV a SYSPRJ-P_REQ-50 08/31/2023 1 - 1 Test SySPRJ-P_REQ-19 08/31/2023 1 - 1 Test SySPRJ-P_REQ-19 08/31/2023 1 - 1 Test SySPRJ-P_REQ-19 08/31/2023 1 - 1 Review Folder: Processor V1 Baseline - View details View REV-156 v1	BSRC-81 T	est cycle: Test Cy	ycle B					
BSRC-20 Set: INFORMATION BSRC-3 Project: Semiconductor Project 2.0 BSRC-7 Source BASELINE List View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse. Mare Processor BASE-319 Ceview Folder: Processor v1 Baseline · View details View REV-156 v1 Processor Core 1 ABD SYSPRJ-P_REO-19 08/31/2023 3 The product sha 2 2022 SUV a SYSPRJ-P_REO-49 08/31/2023 1 Test A SYSPRJ-P_REO-49 08/31/2023 1 Test A SYSPRJ-P_REO-49 08/31/2023 1 Cereased Details View ABSE-318 Baseline · View details View REV-156 v1 Baseline · View details View REV-156 v1 Cereased Core 1 ABD SYSPRJ-P_REO-49 08/31/2023 1 Cereased Core 1 ABD SYSPRJ Core 1 ABD SYSPRJ Core 1 Core 1	BLFD-1 Ne	w folder						
BSRC-3 Project: Semiconductor Project 2.0 BSRC-7 Source BASE-318 Review Folder: Processor v1 Baseline - View details View REV-156 v1 Processor Core 1 ABD SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 08/31/2023 3 Processor Core 1 ABD SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 08/31/2023 3 Processor Core 1 ABD SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 08/31/2023 1 Baseline - View details View REV-156 v1 Baseline - View details View REV-1	BSRC-20 S	et: INFORMATIC	ON					
BSRC-7 Source   BSRC-7 Source   Baseline List View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse.   Baseline View Folder: Processor V1   Baseline View details View REV-156 v1     Image: Processor Core 1 ABD   SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19   BYSPRJ-P_REQ-19   BySPRJ-P_REQ	BSRC-3 Pr	oiect: Semicondu	ctor Project	2.0				
Baseline List View – Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse.     Oder: Processor: BASE-318     Review Folder: Processor v1   Baseline View details View REV-156 v1     Image: Constant Data				L.U				
Baseline List View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse.         older: Processor BASE-318         Review Folder: Processor v1         Baseline - View details View REV-156 v1         Image: Internet were inter	BSRC-7 So	urce		2.0				
Ider: Processor BASE-318	E BSRC-7 So	urce						
Review Folder: Processor v1   Baseline - View details   Baseline - View details	⊞ BSRC-7 So Baseline List V	urce /iew — Select	t the baseli	ne you want	to reuse, then clic	k <b>Reuse</b> .		
Name D   Constant Date   Name   D   Constant Date   Current version   Description   Version   Categories     Processor Core 1 ABD   SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19   08/31/2023   a   SYSPRJ-P_REQ-50   08/31/2023   1   -   Test A   SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49   08/31/2023   1   -   Test A   SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49   08/31/2023   1   -   Constant View   Seseline Document View   Seseline View details   View details <th>Baseline List V</th> <th>urce /iew — Select</th> <th>t the baseli</th> <th>ne you want</th> <th>to reuse, then clic</th> <th>ek <b>Reuse</b>.</th> <th></th> <th>Ел</th>	Baseline List V	urce /iew — Select	t the baseli	ne you want	to reuse, then clic	ek <b>Reuse</b> .		Ел
Name       ID       Created Date       Current version       Description       Version       Categories         Processor Core 1 ABD       SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19       08/31/2023       3       The product sha 2       2022 SUV         a       SYSPRJ-P_REQ-50       08/31/2023       1       -       1       -         Test A       SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49       08/31/2023       1       -       1       -         Baseline Document View       Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse.       Select the baseline you want to reuse.       Select th	Baseline List N Baseline List N older: Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pro- Baseline - View detail	virce /iew — Select rocessor v1 s View REV-156 v1	t the baseli	ne you want	to reuse, then clic	CK Reuse.	<u>B</u> ; •	En
Processor Core 1 ABD SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 08/31/2023 3 The product sha 2 2022 SUV     a SYSPRJ-P_REQ-50 08/31/2023 1 - 1 -     Test A SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49 08/31/2023 1 - 1 -   Baseline Document View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse.   older: Processor / BASE-318 Compare   Review Folder: Processor v1   Compare Em   Baseline - View details View REV-156 v1   Image: Select the selected of the se	Baseline List V Baseline List V older: Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pro Baseline + View detail	View — Select rocessor v1 s View REV-156 v1 @ 1 of 17 selected	t the baseli	ne you want	to reuse, then clic	Replace with baseline	E Preview	En
a SYSPRJ-P_REQ-50 08/31/2023 1 1 1   Test A SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49 08/31/2023 1 1 1   aseline Document View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse.   adder Processor / BASE-318   Review Folder: Processor v1   Compare   Baseline - View details   View detail	BSRC-7 So baseline List V older, Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pro Baseline + View detail Baseline + View detail	View — Select rocessor v1 is View REV-156 v1 2 1 of 17 selected io	t the baseli	ne you want	to reuse, then clic Edit Reuse	Ck Reuse.	E. •	En Î
Test A       SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49       08/31/2023       1       1         raseline Document View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse.       Err         older: Processor / BASE-318       Err         Review Folder: Processor v1        Compare         Baseline - View details       View REV-156 v1         ■ Compare with current       @ Preview iter	BSRC-7 So Baseline List V adder: Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pr Baseline + View detail Baseline + View detail	View — Select rocessor v1 s View REV-156 v1 2 1 of 17 selécted. 10 sySPRJ-P_REQ-18	t the baseli Croated Date 08/31/2023	ne you want Current version 3	to reuse, then clic Edit Reuse Description Versio The product sha, 2	Ck Reuse.	₽• • Preview	En Ū
aseline Document View — Select the baseline you want to reuse, then click Reuse.	BSRC-7 So aseline List V adder. Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pri Baseline + View detail Baseline + View detail Baseline + View detail Name Name Processor Core 1 ABD a	View — Select rocessor v1 s View REV-156 v1 2 1 of 17 selected io sysprJ-P_REQ-18 sysprJ-P_REQ-50	Created Date 08/31/2023 08/31/2023	ne you want Current version 3	to reuse, then clic Edit Reuse Description Versio The product sha, 2 1	Ck Reuse.	₽. •	En Î
older: Processor / BASE-318 Err Review Folder: Processor v1  □ Compare □ Baseline - View details View REV-156 v1 □ Compare with current  □ Preview Item	BSRC-7 So Baseline List V older: Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pr Baseline + View detail Baseline + View detail	View — Select vocessor v1 s View REV-156 v1 c 1 of 17 selected b sysPRJ-P_REQ-19 sysPRJ-P_REQ-50 sysPRJ-P_REQ-49	Created Date 08/31/2023 08/31/2023	ne you want i Current version 3 1 1	to reuse, then clic Edit Reuse Description Version The product sha, 2 - 1	Ck Reuse.	₿. ▼ B Preview	Err Ø
Review Folder: Processor v1 Compare Baseline · View details View REV-156 v1	BSRC-7 So Baseline List V older: Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pri Baseline - View detail Baseline - View detail Processor Core 1 ABC Processor Core 1 ABC a Test A Baseline Docu	View — Select vocessor v1 s View REV-156 v1 2 1 of 17 selécted IP SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49 ment View —	Created Date 08/31/2023 08/31/2023 - Select the	Current version	to reuse, then clic Edit Reuse Description Versic The product sha 2 1 1 1	A Replace with baseline	₽+ • Preview	En T
Baseline · View details View REV-156 v1 ≡ ■ ♥ ♥ ♂ 1 of 17 selected	BSRC-7 So Baseline List V older: Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pri Baseline View detail Name Name Processor Core 1 ABC a Test A Baseline Docu	View — Select rocessor v1 s View REV-156 v1 2 1 of 17 selected b sYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 sYSPRJ-P_REQ-49 ment View —	Created Date 08/31/2023 08/31/2023 08/31/2023 - Select the	Current version	to reuse, then clic Edit Reuse Description Versio The product sha 2 - 1 - 1 U want to reuse, the	A Replace with baseline	E Treview	En I En
E 🚺 🗢 🕫 1 of 17 selected 🖾 Compare with current 🔯 Preview iter	BSRC-7 So Baseline List V older: Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pri Baseline + View detail Baseline + View detail Processor Core 1 ABD a Test A Baseline Docu older: Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pri	View — Select rocessor v1 s View REV-156 v1 c 1 of 17 selected b SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 SYSPRJ-P_REQ-50 SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49 ment View —	Created Date 08/31/2023 08/31/2023 08/31/2023 - Select the	ne you want i Current version 3 1 1 2 5 6 baseline you	to reuse, then clic Edit Reuse Description Versio The product sha 2 - 1 1 U want to reuse, the second sec	A Replace with baseline	₿.▼ Preview	Err Err
	BSRC-7 So aseline List V aseline List V blar. Processor BASE-318 Name Processor Core 1 ABC a Test A aseline Docu blar. Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pro-	View — Select vocessor v1 s View REV-156 v1 2 1 of 17 selected IP SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 SYSPRJ-P_REQ-19 SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49 ment View — rocessor v1 IC s View REV-156 v1	Created Date 08/31/2023 08/31/2023 08/31/2023 - Select the	Current version	to reuse, then clic Lecit Reuse Description Versio The product sha, 2 - 1 1 U want to reuse, the Reuse	ck Reuse.	B→ ▼ B Preview	En I En
	BSRC-7 So aseline List V ader. Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pri Baseline + View detail Baseline + View detail Processor Core 1 ABD Processor Core 1 ABD a Test A Baseline Docu addr: Processor BASE-318 Review Folder: Pri Baseline + View detail Cover Folder: Pri Baseline + View detail	View — Select vocessor v1 s View REV-156 v1 2 1 of 17 selected o SYSPRJ-P_REQ-18 SYSPRJ-P_REQ-18 SYSPRJ-P_REQ-49 ment View — vocessor v1 © C s View REV-156 v1 of 17 selected	t the baseli Created Date 08/31/2023 08/31/2023 08/31/2023 - Select the	ne you want Current version 3 1 1 2 5 5 6 6 6 7 7 1 1 2 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	to reuse, then clic Edit Reuse Description Versio The product sha 2 - 1 1 U want to reuse, the Reuse	A Replace with baseline Compare with current Categories 2022 SUV 	E. ▼ B Preview E. ▼ B Preview	En / iter

DESCRIPTION

The Reuse baseline window opens with the reused baseline highlighted. You can also select a different baseline.



- 2. In the Select reuse options pane, select an option:
  - Sync items and share global ID Gives the source item and the destination item the same global ID. With the same global ID. Changes to one item flags the relationship between the source and destination.
  - Create a baseline in destination upon reuse Creates a baseline source and a child baseline in the destination project after reuse is successful.
  - Include categories Includes categories with the reused items in the destination project.

ries	n upon reus	e
	RCE	RCE DEST



# NOTE

The category isn't reused if it is deleted from the destination project, or the organization admin reorders or removes the category path.

3. In the Select a target destination pane, select a valid location for the reused content. For example, when reusing a System Requirement, the target location must include a set of System Requirements.

Select a target destination:



- 4. Depending on the options you selected, click **Reuse and sync** or **Reuse**.
- 5. In the confirmation window, select an option:
  - Yes
  - Preview
  - Cancel
- 6. In the Reuse complete window, select an option:
  - View items Shows a list of all newly reused items. If the destination is in a different project, a new browser tab opens and displays a list of items.
  - Reuse again Reuses the same source items in a different location.
  - Finished Closes the window.

Reus	e sui	nmary		
0	1	Items reused and synced		
Ó,	0	Relationships created		
0	1	Baseline source and child baseline added		

# **Coverage and traceability**

*Coverage* is the extent to which items are validated by another item. Typically, a requirement is considered "covered" only if it has corresponding test cases against it and test engineers assigned to it.

*Traceability* refers to the established connections made between various levels of requirements, risk analysis, designs, and verification. Trace is the item-to-item relationship made to indicate a connection between items, whether for indicating the abstraction of requirement to more detailed levels, mitigation of risk, fulfillment of a requirement by a design, or verification of a requirement. The creation of trace establishes the traceability of information which can be analyzed to assess change impact, determine coverage, and identify gaps.

In industries with rapid change and innovation such as medical device development and automotive manufacturing, an unidentified coverage gap can be risky to end users and costly to remediate. Tracking of coverage with end-to-end traceability helps eliminate these blind spots and ensure quality.

By relating items [309] according to a set of relationship rules [571], you can assess the impact that changes can have on other items. When you view items in Trace View [58] or use options to analyze item relationships, you can determine if you have the coverage you need.

# **Trace View**

Trace View shows related upstream and downstream items. It also shows item details in context of their relationship, as well as any missing coverage (downstream relationship).

10011110	anagon	ilent / i	_	_						Gave
2 item	ns sele	cted x		1	2					5
SOU	RCE IT	EMS	VP	ilter Items	Set columns	1 LEVEL	DOWN	<b>V</b> E	ilter items	Set columns
Infor	matio	n (11), Se	ət (3),	Change I	Request (1),		Inform	nation	(11), Defe	at (1)
	8	Project	10	Name	Descripti	1	3 Proje	et ID	Name	Diescript)
~		SI_S2_	P	Test Requ	u The AB2	0	<b>O</b> A	dd Cov	erage for S	S2_P-INFO-1
						1 5	-			-

- 1. Filter item types in Trace View [306].
- 2. Configure each level to display or hide fields [48].
- 3. Find any gaps in coverage.

- 4. Export the content [305].
- 5. Add related items directly from this view with the Add menu option in the toolbar.
- 6. Establish relationships between existing items.

You can also display fields for various item types. For example, you can display the Test Case Status for verification and verification testing. If a test case item is visible in Trace View, you can navigate downstream to see any test runs generated from the test cases.

## **Understanding the Trace View interface**

In the Source section, Trace View displays the items that were visible in the List View, Reading View, or Single Item View from the time the Trace View was initiated.



- 1. The source.
- 2. Direct downstream items.
- 3. Blue arrows = Travel upstream (left arrow) or downstream (right arrow).
- 4. Top of each level column = Number of item types on the entire level.



## NOTE

The item count is a unique count. If the same item is downstream of multiple items in the source column, it appears multiple times in the "1 level down" column, but it's counted only once.

## Save, copy, and bookmark a Trace View

Saving a Trace View lets you bookmark it to be able to quickly find it or share it. You can copy a saved Trace View, then rename and edit it to use as a a new Trace View.

1. Select the Trace View [58] that you want to save, then click **Save**.

je	SCL IVIE	inager	nent A		~				Save
	3 iten	ns sele	cted ×						8 -
1	SOU	RCE IT	EMS 🔻	Filter Items	Set columns	1 LEVEL D		Filter items	🔅 Set columns
	Infor	matio	n (11), Set (3	), Change	Request (1),	The second	Information	(11), Defec	t (1)
		9	Project ID	Name	Descripti	8	Project ID	Name	Descript)
1	V		SI_S2_P	Test Req	u The AB2	0	O Add Co	verage for SI	S2_P-INFO-1
						<b>V</b>	MB_SP-I	Test Requ	I The AB2
	~		SI_S2_P	Item A	Descripti	0	O Add Co	verage for SI	_S2_P-INFO-3
							See alla		

The Name field is now editable.

2. Edit the name as needed, then select the checkmark (**Save**) next to the field.

	3 iten	ns sele	cted ×								<b>B</b> •
1	sou	RCE IT	EMS TR	iter items 📫	Set columns	1 LE	/EL DO	own '	<b>V</b> Filter item	s 🗘	Set columns
	Infor	matio	n (11), Set (3),	Change Rec	uest (1),			Informati	on (11), De	fect (1	
		8	Project ID	Name	Descripti		\$	Project	D Name		Descrip(I
1	×		SI_S2_P	Test Requ	The AB2	8		O Add	Coverage fo	SI_S2	P-INFO-1
						1		MB_SP-I	Test R	equ	The AB2
1	1		SI_S2_P	Item A	Descripti	0		O Add	Coverage fo	SI_S2	_P-INFO-3
						-		MB SP-I	Item A		Descripti

3. (Optional) Bookmark the Trace View by selecting the bookmark icon.

Project Management A	× /	Save Save as
Saved Views	1	
Project Management A viewing C Last Saved: 05/23/2022 11:03 am	olumns	1 LEVEL DOWN Trilter Items Set columns
Stakeholder Requirements Last Saved: 05/23/2022 10:28 am	(1),	Information (11), Defect (1)
Project Management A Last Saved: 04/26/2022 11:44 am	arpi	Project ID Name Descripti
Project Management A Last Saved: 04/26/2022 11:37 am	AB2	Add Coverage for SI_S2_P-INFO-1
Product Requirements		MB_SP-1 Test Requ The AB2
Last Saved: 03/12/2022 7:09 pm	cripti	Add Coverage for SI_S2_P-INFO-3

4. (Optional) To see a list of saved Trace Views, click the arrow next to the name. Bookmarked views appear at the top of the list.



Bookmarked Trace Views are visible from your homepage; use the URL to share this Trace View with other users.

# Export a Trace View

When you export from a Trace View, the result contains all data from the currently visible columns on your screen to the Source column. This means that if you are two levels downstream from the source, the export contains all the levels between the sources and the second level down. All displayed fields are also exported.



## IMPORTANT

You can export a maximum of six levels from Trace View. If you try to export a view with more than six levels, the Export button is grayed out.

1. From the Explorer Tree or an advanced filter, select the items you want to export, then click **Trace view**.

Product	Product Requirements / SI_S	2_P-F	LD-7							Trac	ce Viev	Email
Process	OF View details								•		4	
<b>E</b> # 6	▼ ≣• \$•	0	3 of 16 selec	cled	1	10	24	•	-5	0	Ø	ā
	Name	0	a	Tags			22	Re	lations	ihip St	atus	Descript
V 🖂	Processor Core 1		3 🙆						-			The p
<b>V</b>	Processor Speed		1							*		The p
	Processor Speed		1	2022, Review						¥ =		The p
V 📰	Coreprocessor 2		0							* *		QA
	Processor Core 1		0							- 4		The p

2. Navigate to the furthest level upstream or downstream that you want to export, then click **Export** to generate a CSV file.

ject ivia	inager	nent A		~						Save
5 item	ns sele	cted ×								
SOU	RCE IT	TEMS TF	ilter items	Set columns	1 LEV	EL DO	OWN	TFI	iter items	Set columns
Infor	matio	n (11), Set (3),	Change R	equest (1),			Informat	tion (	11), Defec	rt (1)
100	3	Project ID	Name	Descripti		8	Project	(12)		Descripti
1		SI_S2_P	INFORM							
•		SI_S2_P	Test Requ.	The AB2	0		O Add	Cove	rage for SI	S2_P-INFO-1
					V		MB_SP-	ł	Test Requ	J The AB2
1		SI_S2_P	Item A	Descripti	0		O Add	Cove	rage for SI	S2_P-INFO-3
						1	- 3 - 5 - 5	5	1.00	1000

3. Click **OK** to open the CSV file.

# Filter items in Trace View

In Trace View, you can filter items by item type fo refine your results.

- 1. In Trace View [58], select the items you want to filter.
- 2. If the column you want to filter includes more than one item type, click **Filter items** at the top of the column.

-	,	-					
	3 items selected ×	1 level and 2 it	em types filtered :	×			
	SOURCE ITEMS	V Hide filter	Set columns	1 LEVEL DO	WN T	iller deme	Set columns
	Filter by	×	(3)	1000	Inform	ation (11)	
	Item Type		DATO (NI	(2)	Projeci (D	Name	Descripti
	Set (3)	)					
	Change Reque	st (1)	I The AB2	0	G Add Cov	erage for S	S2_P-INFD-1
	Defect (1)				MR SP.I	Test Ren	

- In the window that opens, select the item types you want to see.
   The number next to each type is the total count of unique items of that type.
   After the filter runs, a message reports how many levels and item types were filtered.
- 4. (Optional) Select **X** to remove all filters and refresh the screen.

SOURCE ITEMS       Y Filter items       Set columns       1 LEVEL DOWN       Y Filter items       Set columns         Information (4), Set (1)       Image: Set columns	3 iter	ns sele	cted x 1 le	vel and 2 iter	m types filtered	ĸ				
Si       Project ID       Hame       Descripti       Si       ID       Name       Description         Image: Si	sou	RCE IT	EMS <b>T</b> F	ilter items n (4), Set (1	Set columns	1 LEV	EL DOW	N T	Filter kerns	🗘 Set colurr
Image: Silpsiper silpsipe		8	Project ID	Name	Descripti		0 1		Name	Descript
SI_S2_P Test Requ   The AB2 Add Coverage for SI_S2_P-INFO-11 SI_S2_P Item A Descripti Add Coverage for SI_S2_P-INFO-20 Add Coverage for SI_S2_P-INFO-20	•	-	SI_S2_P	INFORM						
SI_S2_P Item A Descripti  Add Coverage for SI_S2_P-INFO-2	•		SI_S2_P	Test Requ.	The AB2	0		Add Co	verage for S	S2_P-INFO-19
	E		SI_S2_P	Item A	Descripti	0		Add Co	verage for S	1_S2_P-INFO-20
Add Coverage for St_S2_P-INPO-2	•		SI_S2_P	Item B	do stuff			Add Co	verage for S	S2_P-INFO-21

5. (Optional) Select Save the Trace View [303] or Export the Trace View [305] with filters in place.

## **Relationships**

Relationships link items together. When items are linked, you can assess the impact an item or group of items can have on other items.

Traceability is defined by relationships. When one item changes, you can check related items to make sure they are still accurate and verify that requirements are written.

Relationships can be upstream or downstream from an item. With appropriate permissions [307], you can relate items within the same project or between multiple projects. Find and view relationships [156] in Single Item View.

You can also add relationships from:

- Single Item View [309]
- List View, Reading View, or Trace View [311] (by adding a new related item)
- Trace matrix [311]

### **Relationships and access permissions**

Your ability to interact with relationships depends on your access permissions for each of the related items. Read more about permissions [583].

Permissions for current item	Permissions for related item	You can
Read/Write	Read only	<ul> <li>View trace relationships.</li> <li>View ID and name of related item.</li> <li>Modify relationships.</li> <li>Create new relationships.</li> <li>Navigate to related item and clear suspect links.</li> </ul>
Read only or Read/Write	No permission	<ul><li>View trace relationships, but not modify or create new relationships.</li><li>See ID and name, but not navigate to related item.</li></ul>
Read only	Read/Write	<ul> <li>View trace relationships.</li> <li>Modify relationships.</li> <li>Create new relationships.</li> <li>Navigate to related items and clear suspect links.</li> </ul>
Read/Write	Read/Write	<ul><li>Create, modify, and delete relationships.</li><li>Navigate to related items and clear suspect links.</li></ul>

Permissions for current item	Permissions for related item	You can
Read only	Read only	<ul> <li>View trace relationships.</li> <li>Navigate to related items, but not create or modify relationships between the two items.</li> </ul>

# **Relationship Status Indicator**

The Relationship Status Indicator shows an item's relationship count. The indicator shows red if the item is missing an upstream or downstream relationship, is suspect, or is causing a suspect relationship.

The Relationship Status Indicator is visible in the **Relationship** widget of the side toolbar [60], as well as in a column in List View (when configured [48]).

## **Relationships widget**



**Top number** — Number of upstream items related to this item.

Bottom number — Number of downstream items.

Red — Item not in compliance with relationship rules.

Gray — Item in compliance with relationship rules.

### List View

When you hover over an icon (exclamation mark, question mark, up arrow, down arrow), you see how the item violates the relationship rule applied to the project.

An item might violate relationship rules in one of these situations:

• **Orphan Item** — Item is missing a required upstream relationship. Adding a related upstream item resolves the error.



• **Missing Downstream** — Item is missing a required downstream relationship. Adding a related downstream item resolves this error.



• Suspect — Suspect Item means one or more upstream items have changed. Causing Suspect means a change has caused a suspect relationship with all downstream items. When you've properly assessed the change, clearing the suspect links resolves the error.



If relationship rules haven't been applied to the project, an error appears only if the link is suspect.

# Add a relationship from Single Item View

Creating a relationship establishes a directional link between two items. The related items can exist in the same project or in different projects.

## Important considerations

- You must have permissions to a linked related item to be able to preview, open, or edit it. Otherwise, you can only see the related item's name, project, and relationship attributes.
- If relationship rules [571] were applied to the project, only items that meet the rule's criteria appear in the right panel. Likewise, you can only create a relationship with item types that meet the applied relationship rule. To display the rules associated with this project, click **Show relationship diagram** at the top of the right panel.

he following relations	nips are configure	ed for this project:			
Risk	/stem Requirement	System Architecture	Subsystem Requirement	Verification	N.
S User Needs	~			Design Description	W Defect

### To add a relationship:

1. While viewing an item in Single Item View, click **Relationships** in the side toolbar, then click **Relate Items** in the bottom panel that opens.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🗇				Search.		Project	- P Advanced	search	
Project + Change project <	+ Project	Management A 👘 🔚 SI_	32_P-I	P_REQ-19:Proce.		-1:Change Re	SI_S2_P-INFO	0-20:Item A	-
Explore     Add      Add      Add      Semiconductor Project 2.0     Product     Product Requirements     Processor Speed     Coprocessors     Coreprocessor 2     L1 Instruction Cache     Data Cache     L1 Cache Error Detection     L2 Cache     Test     L2 Cache Error Detection	Product / Product Requirements Processor SI_S2_P-P_REQ-11 Processor Core 1 V9  Product Requirement • Modified 08/28/2022 08:11:05 ar  PROJECT ID: SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19 GLOBAL ID: GID-55884 NAME: Processor Core 1			am Transition Item fro	View all locked	items (0) Subscr			
Test A	DESCRIPTIC	DN:							
	Table Layout	Visual Layout				Relate Item(s)	🛛 Edit +   🖓 🛛	e o 🗆	Hide
a Add tag	ID	Name ±	•	Туре	Status	Note	Suspect		
2022(2) Alert(1)	3 13 Upstream	items							
Review(2) Test(1)	SI-PS-23 SI-PS-29 SI-PS-31 SI-PS-32 SI_KS-PS-23 SI_PS-36	32 Bit RISC Processor 3D Graphics Acceleration 3D Printer Automated External De Automated External De Climate monitoring	***	Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from Derived from			Yes: Cle No No No Yes: Cle	ar	

- 2. In the side panel that opens, select the items you want to relate to the item you're viewing, using one of these methods:
  - · Double-click on the items you want.
  - Select the items you want and click Relate.

A relationship is added to the selected item in the direction defined by the rules. It is then immediately visible in the bottom panel. If the new relationship isn't defined in the rules, you are prompted to define the relationship direction and type.



# Add a relationship from the Trace Matrix

Creating a relationship establishes a directional link between two items. The related items can exist in the same project or in different projects.

1. Select Projects in the header, then select Project > Traceability > Trace Matrix.



2. In the header row of the Trace Matrix window, use the drop-down lists to select two item types you want to compare, select the number of items you want to see for each type, then click **View Matrix**.

eft: System Requirement Y Lin	nit: 100 💌	Top: D	Defect	Y Lin	nit: 100	View Ma
Matrix Table	Confirm standard	deviation around unit length	iOS music sound controls don	't work	Material t	ype affects diame
Abutment						
Android Integration						
Durable						
Haptic Feedback			t.			
Hearing Gain in Free Field Pure Tone Audiogram			L			
Implant						
Implant attachment						
iOS Integration						
Suprathreshold Speech Perception						
Surgical Installation		1		1		
SymbianOS Integration						
Waterproof while swimming and showering						t
100 1 C						

- 3. Double-click in any cell where you want to add or edit a relationship.
- 4. In the Add/Edit Relationship window, make the needed changes, then click **Update**.

## Add a new related item

You can add a new item and relate it to one or more items at the same time.

- 1. View the items to be related in List View [54], Trace View [58], or Reading View [55].
- 2. Select the items where you want to add related items. All selected items must be the same item type.
- From the side toolbar, select Add > Add related. From the drop-down menu, select the item type for the upstream or downstream items you want to add. The drop-down menu lists only item types allowed by relationship rules.

When a rule is applied, it dictates the direction and relationship type for the item you want to relate.

- 4. **If a rule is not applied** In the Relationship settings window, select the direction and relationship type for the item you want to relate, then click **Create relationship**.
  - Direction Upstream or downstream.
  - Relationship Type Must be configured by an organization administrator [568].
     Common examples include: related to, dependent on, derived from, validated by, verified by, or mitigated by.

Relationship settings	3
DIRECTION:	
Make a downstream relationship  From: MSB2-PRD-1  To:	Make an upstream relationship
RELATIONSHIP TYPE: Related to	
Don't ask again for this item	Create relationship Cancel

- 5. In the Add Item window, enter a name, description, and other details as needed, then click **Save**.
- 6. In the Select Location window, choose where to save this item, then click **Select & Close**. Locations that aren't permitted appear in light gray. You might need to expand folders, sets, or components to find the location you want.

Select Location	<
E 🖶 Clear 3 Hearing Aid	
User Needs and Market Requirements	
Validation Protocols	
🖃 🔣 System Requirements	
System Architecture	
🕀 🌅 System Requirements	
System and Integration Varifications	
E KubSystems	
🕀 🕂 Implant	
E Round Processor	
🕀 📑 External Abutment	
C Design Descriptions	
E Risk Managament	
Risks	
E Hazards	
- the Defects	
Change Requests	
Select & Close Cancel	1

7. If you selected **Notify** in the Add Item window, enter the comment, select groups or users to notify, then click **Commit**.

Add Item	808				
Comment and Notify Sys	stem Requirement				
Add your notification comment					
Groups Users	Selected Users & Groups				
Analysts Organization Company Organization Development	Analysts Organization - Subscribed Katie Maxwell Subscribed				
Organization Organization Organization	Back Commit Cancel				

A pop-up window appears with this message: "Success <item name> has been updated/created."

## Allow locked items to be related

As part of your workflow, you can relate two existing locked items. This functionality must be configured first by an organization admin.

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Relationships.

Organization Project	**	Organization	admin				He
🚊 Details		Relation	ships				-/- 242
Categories		Relationshi	p Options				Edit
ltem types		Show St	atus in Relationship Grid?:	Yes			
P License		Show Nr	te in Relationship Grid?	Vez			
O OSLC		Show He	the in Relationarity Grid I.	Yes			
Permissions		Allow re items?:	lationship changes between two loc	Yes			
E Pick lists							
参 Plugins		Relationshi	p Types			091	
Relationships		Order	Display		Show Note	Show Status	Default
# Reports		1	Related to		true	true	-
Review center		2	Dependent on		false	faise	
Risk management		3	Derived from		false	false	
C Stream		4	Mitigated by		true	true	
- Sueam		5	Caused by		false	false	
12 System health report		6	Allocated to		false	false	

- 2. In the Relationship Options section, click Edit.
- 3. Select Allow relationship changes between two locked items.
- 4. Click Save.

You can now relate two locked items.

# **Filter relationships**

You can filter items to display only items that are related to a single item. For example, you might want to view only the test cases related to a requirement. The filter is stored until the end of your session, so as you move from item to item, the filter remains in effect.

- 1. In Single Item View, select Relationships in the side toolbar.
- 2. In the bottom panel that opens, select Filter.

ID	Name 🔺	Туре	Suspect
2 Upstream Items			
CL3-SR-5	Haptic Feedback	Allocated to	Yes: Clear
CL3-SR-8	Surgical Installation	Allocated to	Yes: Clear
3 5 Downstream Items			
CL3-SUBSS-6	Diameter	Allocated to	No
CL3-SUBSS-17	Implant Material	Allocated to	No
CL3-SUBSS-7	Implant Stability Quotient (ISQ) Range	Allocated to	No
CL3-SUBSS-8	Interface Requirements	Allocated to	No
CL3-SUBSS-9	Length	Allocated to	No

3. In the Relationships filter settings window, choose your own settings or keep the defaults, then click **Apply**.

The filtered results appear in the bottom panel.

4. To release the filter and see all related items again, click **Filter Applied-Click To Restore Defaults**.

Table Layout	Filter Applied - Click To	Restore Defaults		📾 Relate Item(s) 🖉 Edit +   🖓 😰 🌍 🛄 Hid	e
ID	Name =		Туре	Suspect	Į

# Relate to an existing item

Many times, the items you want to relate have already been added to Jama Connect. You can relate items that exist.

Recently viewed items is the default view, but you can also use the Explorer Tree, Releases, or Search tab to find the items you want to relate.

### To relate an existing item:

- 1. View the items to be related in List View [54], Trace View [58], or Reading View [55].
- 2. Select the items you want to relate. All selected items must be the same item type.
- 3. Select Relate to existing.



4. In the side panel that opens, select the items that you want related, then click **Relate**.

Product Product Requirements Proces	sor SI S2 P-P REQ-19	View all locked items (0) Subsc	ribe 🔻 Email	E Semiconductor Project 2.0
Processor Core 1 V9+		A	6 m	🞯 Recently Viewed
Tiblesson core i				Show Relationship Diagram
Product Requirement + Modified 08	3/28/2022.08:11:05 am			D Name
* C		0 - 8 - 0	0 0	SI_S2_P-CR-1 Change Request
	Transition Item fr	om Ready for Approval.		SI_S2_P-VER-1 Core Supply Voltage
PROJECT ID:		an county of the product		SI_S2_P-D_DE Architecture Diagram
SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19			0	SI_S2_P-CMP-23 Product
			0	SI_S2_P-DATA Applications
GLOBAL ID:				SI_S2_P-DATA Features
GID-55884			TT	SI_S2_P-DATA Description
				SI_S2_P-VER-2 MPU Supply Voltage
NAME:			開始	SI_S2_P-CR-5 test
Processor Core 1			-	SI_S2_P-CR-4 Test
				SI_S2_P-CR-3 Test CR
DESCRIPTION:			0	MB_SP-SHRQ-1 Import Test j- edit
The product shall use an ARM Corte	ex A9 processor core			MB_03-PS-14 32 Bit RISC Processor
			-11-	B MB_03-PS-15 Support High Level Operating
SYMBOL			55	MB_03-CMP-33 Project Management
o moot			11	SI_S2_P-CMP-24 I2C Interface
			0	SI_S2_P-ICBLK Cycle time, SCL
C-7				SI_S2_P-VER-17 Min Cycle Time is satisfied
MIN:			2	MB_03-DATA-32 Description
			0	SI_S2_P-VAL-10 Polygons / Second 2
			SV	
TYP:			0	
				Relate Close

A relationship is added to the selected item in the direction defined by the relationship rule. It is then immediately visible in the bottom panel of the relationships view. If you establish a relationship that is not defined by a relationship rule, you are prompted to select a type.

## **Clear suspect links**

Suspect links appear on an item when changes were made to upstream items, meaning the item might no longer be correct or complete. For example, if a requirement changes, the downstream verification might no longer correctly verify the requirement as-is. The change to the requirement causes a suspect relationship to the verification item.

Only updates to certain fields trigger suspect links. These fields are determined by the organization admin, who configures item types [595].

Suspect links also cause the relationship status indicator to be red when you view items in List View or Single Item View.

If you determine that a suspect link has no impact or if you make the necessary changes, you can manually clear the suspect link.

#### To clear suspect links:

- 1. Open all suspect links for the project or for a single item [158].
- 2. Select Clear (one link) or Clear All (all visible items).

Suspect Links				
SI_S2_P-PS was modified by	-16 0.65mm Ball Pitch Admin Test on 03/28/2022 7:35 am		1	
The following m	ay be affected:	Contract in the		
D	Name	Item Type	Action	
MB_SP-PS-16	0.65mm Ball Pitch	Stakeholder Requirement	Clear	
SI_S2_P-PS	-17 0.80mm Ball Pitch Admin Test on 03/28/2022 7:35 am		114	
ID	Nama	Hem Type	Action	
MB_SP-PS-17	0.80mm Ball Pitch	Stakeholder Requirement	Clear	
ID	Name	Item Type	Action	
	Name	Item Type	Action	
P_REQ-44	RNG	Requirement	Clear	
SI_S2_P- P_REQ-43	SHA	Product Requirement	Clear	
SI_S2_P- P_REQ-42	AES	Product Requirement	Clear	
SI_S2_P- VAL-7	Validate SHA	Validation	Clear	
MB_SP-PS-18	Cryptography	Stakeholder Requirement	Clear	
		Clear All	Close	
🗍 Table Layout 💼 V	/isual Layout	-	Relate Item(s)	Edit
ID	Name =	🗧 Туре		Suspect
1 Upstream Item				12
CL3-UN-9	Adoptability	Related	to	Yes: Cla

∃ 1 Downstream Item CL3\_2-GMP-7

Hardware

The Trace Matrix is a visual representation of relationships between the items in a project.

It helps you determine the impact when a change occurs and lets you quickly see relationships for two groups of items.

2

Related to

🖻 🕤 🗖 Hide

No

For example, you can select a set of requirements and see which have related test cases.

Trace Matrix								
Left: System Requirement	.imit: 100 🗸	Top: Defect	Y Limit: 10	)0 🛛 👻 🕨 View Matrix				
Matrix Table	Confirm standard deviation	on around unit length iOS music sou	ind controls don't work Mater	ial type affects diameter				
Abutment								
Android Integration								
Durable								
Haptic Feedback	1.		t					
Hearing Gain in Free Field Pure Tone Audiogram			t					
Implant								
Implant attachment								
iOS Integration								
Suprathreshold Speech Perception								
Surgical Installation	3	·						
SymbianOS Integration								
Waterproof while swimming and showering				t				
100 1 1.1. AL								

Along with determining the impact of a change, you can add a relationship from the Trace Matrix.



## **IMPORTANT**

The Trace Matrix doesn't enforce relationship rules.

## **Impact Analysis**

Impact Analysis shows you a complete picture of all upstream and downstream related items that might be affected by changes. You can run an impact analysis on an item or on a change request.

With traceability, you can see how a change might impact a selected item before you make the change.

For example, if you're about to change a requirement, you can run an impact analysis to see the degree to which the change might impact other requirements and verifications.

#### To run Impact Analysis on an item:

• In the top toolbar of Single Item View, select Impact Analysis.

B Product / Product Requirements / Processor SI\_S2\_P-P\_REQ-19



#### To run Impact Analysis on a change request:

• In the side toolbar of a change request, select **Items to change** (bell widget) to open the bottom panel, then select **Actions > Impact Analysis**.

	9
Č	
1	4
	/
4	
4	

## **Coverage Explorer**

The Coverage Explorer is a tool to view downstream relationships (or the lack of them) from a selected collection of items like a set, folder, or filter. Coverage Explorer provides needed coverage.

You can create and save coverage views and export them to an Excel document [319].

To open the Coverage Explorer, select **Projects** in the header, then select **Project > Traceability > Coverage Explorer**.



The Coverage Explorer opens. From this window, you can add a new coverage view and look at existing views.

Coverage Explorer					
Saved Coverage Views	-		alter an Arter and		🔚 Save 📘 Export
Add Coverage View	ē ()	Co	mponent: Corporate Strategy	(Q)	Level 1 Downstrean
Coverage Views		ID	Name	ID	Name
Component: Corporate Strategy		QL-CMP-1	Corporate Strategy		-
Component: Smart Invest Application		QL-SET-1	Goals and Objectives		
End to End Traceability		QL-OBJ-1	Online Banking		
End to End traceability	1-1	QL-OBJ-2	Reduce costs of local branches		
		QL-OBJ-3	Strengthen consumer confidence		
		QL-OBJ-4	Increase profits		1.2
		QL-OBJ-6	Self-Service		1.2

## Create and export views in the Coverage Explorer

Coverage Explorer enables you to analyze the relationships established across items in your project and identify gaps. For example, you can use Coverage Explorer to identify if any requirements lack verifications, or to ensure your requirements trace to "passed" verifications.

A view can contain a maximum of 500 items per level. You can bookmark a view to highlight and prioritize it. Only the view's creator can rename or delete it.

1. Select **Projects** in the header, then select **Project > Traceability > Coverage Explorer**.



2. Select Add Coverage View to open the Select Items window.

Coverage Explorer					
Saved Coverage Views	- 06		and has seen by the second		Export Save
Add Coverage View	¥ 0	Co	mponent: Corporate Strategy	-	Level 1 Downstrean
Coverage Views		ID	Name	ID	Name
Component: Corporate Strategy		QL-CMP-1	Corporate Strategy		-
Component: Smart Invest Application		QL-SET-1	Goals and Objectives		
End to End Traceability	1	QL-OBJ-1	Online Banking		
End to End maceability	1-1	QL-OBJ-2	Reduce costs of local branches		-
		QL-OBJ-3	Strengthen consumer confidence		1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -
		QL-OBJ-4	Increase profits		1.2
		QL-OBJ-6	Self-Service		1.2

Select the items you want to analyze for coverage.
 To change your view, use the tabs at the top: Recently Viewed, Explorer, Filters, and Releases.

Select Items			×
Recently Viewed	Explorer	7 Fitters	Releases
		ſ	# Preview
🗄 🕂 Project Managen	nent A		
E 🔁 Stakeholder Req	uirements		
E Product			
E Datasheet			
E 🖓 Change Request	s		
🗄 🔣 Project Managen	nent A		
		200	Cancel

- 4. With the items selected that you want to analyze, click **Select** to close the window.
- 5. (Optional) To hide, show, or reorder fields for that level, click the gear icon at the top of the Coverage Explorer.
- (Optional) To add a new level of downstream relationships, click the green plus button. You can add only one item type per level. However, if you add a downstream level and leave the item type blank, Coverage Explorer displays all items regardless of type if type isn't selected.
- 7. Click Save.
  - You can deselect the star by clicking on it.
- 8. (Optional) Click **Export** to generate an Excel document.

# **Reuse and synchronization**

With reuse [322] you can copy items and containers of items such as components, sets, and folders, along with any supporting information. With synchronization [329] you can maintain a connection between reused items and containers, monitoring them for differences and updating any that are out of sync.

Supporting information that can be duplicated [84] includes:

- Entire item
- · Item fields
- · Item widget relationships, tags, attachments
- · Child items

When items are synchronized, they receive a Global ID that they share regardless of their location in the system. You can synchronize the items that you reuse, or connect existing items so that they share a Global ID and can be synchronized.

To keep track of synchronized items, you use the Sync Items window, where you can compare items [336] and decide how to update synchronized items.

You can see which items are synchronized in the Explorer Tree. A blue dot on the item's icon indicates that the item is synchronized.



### Important considerations

- Only an organization admin can configure reuse and synchronize [556] options.
- Reuse and synchronization can require significant memory, especially if your organization has a large Jama Connect database and has heavy reuse or synchronization use.
- While the links to attachments are synchronized, the content in the attachment is not.
- Reusing and synchronizing items adds activity entries to the stream [252] for all items created or modified during the process.

# Global ID

A Global ID is an identifier of synchronized items. While every item has its own unique ID [648], which is also the project ID, synchronized items share a Global ID.

Items that share this Global ID are considered cloned artifacts, despite being in different areas of Jama Connect.

Global IDs have two parts:

- **Global ID prefix** The Global ID (for example, GID-) is the same across the organization. An organization admin can change the Global ID prefix [550].
- **Global ID counter** The Global ID counter is a number that increases for each new Global ID. It can only be reset or reduced by an organization admin. If a user tries to set the counter value below the Last Used Global ID Counter, Jama Connect shows an error message notifying the user to choose a greater value.

When items are synchronized, they are assigned the same Global ID. When an item is removed from this group through Break sync [332], a new Global ID is assigned.

## **Reuse and synchronization considerations**

Reusing and synchronizing hundreds of items can affect system performance, causing it to feel slower than usual for users and decreasing performance for other processes such as exporting.

If you try to reuse and synchronize hundreds of items, a warning appears if performance is likely to be impacted.

If you still want to reuse and synchronized hundreds of items, consider running the reuse and synchronization options in smaller batches or start the process during off hours when demand for resources is less.

# Use cases for reuse and synchronization

Typical scenarios for reuse and synchronize include:

- **Duplicate** Make a copy of items, containers, sets, or folders for reuse. Synchronization is optional but can be enabled between duplicated items.
- Library Create a library to establish system-wide standards in your organization for all business units to follow. These standards might include common business practices, rules, glossaries, or non-functional requirements that teams must reference but can't modify. This information can be created and managed in one place and reused in projects where applicable.



# TIP

If you're using a library to push changes to many projects, you can synchronize items to push changes from your "library" project to all other project items that share the same global ID. To do this, you must have write access on all projects included in the sync.

- Shared requirements Large projects typically adhere to a common set of requirements, but often each requirement also has information specific to and managed by a project. For example, a requirement name and description can be shared across multiple projects, but release values, priorities, assignments, and relationships are managed by each project.
- Branching You can split a set of artifacts into several branches so that each branch can be modified at the same time.

This can be useful when you want a snapshot of items at a point in time, but still allow the items to be modified at the same time. In this case, reuse results in the versioning of an entire document made up of multiple items, rather than a version of only a single requirement.

- **Release management** Similar to branching, reuse and synchronization let you use items across multiple releases in parallel. Typically, in this scenario, projects in Jama Connect represent a release.
- **Project template** You can set up a project as a template that you reuse and synchronize. A template lets you ramp up new projects quickly or establish standard practices on content organization. You can also push updates to all projects that used the template.

# Reuse

If your projects contain items that are often the same or slightly different, reusing items helps you work more efficiently. You can reuse items over multiple projects and synchronize them, as needed.

# **Reuse for users**

Selecting items to reuse can be helpful if you are creating several copies, but want the original "source" item to maintain a connection with its copied items.

For example, you might have a set of requirements from a library project in Jama Connect and need to reuse it in several other projects. You copy the set to Project 1 and Project 2. When viewing the copied requirements in Project 2, users might see an upstream relationship to the "source" requirements in the library. Adding or not adding this relationship has no impact on how items are compared or synced.

You can only reuse items in sets of the same item type. For example, if you have two requirement sets in a project created from the same item type, you can duplicate and move items between these sets. Child items can also be reused, but they must be the same item type as the parent item.



# TIP

If you have several items that are reused regularly, put them in a central project so future changes to items can be maintained from a central location. For instance, during reuse, relationships can automatically be created that are inconsistent with the relationship rules of a specific project.

# **Reuse administration**

Reuse is best managed by a dedicated reuse admin. An organization admin can assign reuse admin permissions [589].

Reuse admins are the only ones who can:

- Edit and delete Compare Views of synchronized items.
- Manage (add, edit, delete) reuse rules under Advanced options.

## **Reuse an item**

You can reuse individual or multiple items or containers of items such as components, sets, and folders. Items can be reused in the same project or in a different project.



# TIP

To quickly make a copy of an item in the same project, use the Duplicate items [84] option.

- 1. Select items for reuse with one of these methods:
  - Explorer Tree Select the item or container that you want to reuse, right-click to open the context menu, and select Reuse items.

Explorer	V		15
💿 Add 🕶		1	3
E ASemicono	luctor	Project 2.0	
🖃 🔛 Produ	ct		
the long	oort Te	ist	_
🕀 🛄 Pro	-	Open item	
🕀 📃 Pro	-	Open in new tab	
🕀 🖌 Pro		Preview item	
🕀 🔣 I20	: 6	Expand all	
⊕ <mark>⊞</mark> CA ⊕ <mark>∏</mark> LC		Collapse all	
🕀 🕂 Ext		Change set key	
🕀 💡 Chang		Edit	
🕀 🔣 Projec	t (6)	Duplicate ilem	
Projec     Projec		View synced items	
-	0	Add	4
	(ji	Convert to	*
o Add tag	6	Reuse item(s)	
2022		Move item	
D		Delete	
Review	8	Import	
	0	Add baseline	
	Q	Send for review	

• List View — Select the items you want to reuse, then click Reuse.

A Product	Product Requirements SI_S.	2_P-FLD-	7						Sub	scribe	<ul> <li>Email</li> </ul>
Process	or						3	•	-	4	B: •
Folder •	View details		-		 Reuse						
= # #	▼ (Ξ • Φ •	C 2	of 16 selected	ed	1 10	24	•	5	0	Ø	面
- \$	Name		6	Tags			Rek	ations	hip St	atus	Descripti
<b>V</b>	Processor Core 1	۶.3	Ô				٠				The p
V 🗆	Processor Speed						٠	12	*		The p
	Processor Speed	<b>9</b> 1		2022, Review				8	↑ -		The p

• **Reading View** — Select the items you want to reuse, then click **Reuse**.
🔒 Proc	duct Pre	oduct Re	quiremer	its / S	I_S2_P-FLD-7					Su	bscribe	• Email
Proce	essoi ler - V	<b>r</b> /iew del	tails				Reu	ise	•	•	4	B- •
=		۳	۰.	2	1 of 16 selected		1	x; •	-5	0	Ø	Ē
-						_	-	-	-	-	-	
V	1 P The	roces produc	sor C	ore ise al	1 ARM Cortex A9 processor c	ore.						
	STAT	rus: Ready fo	or Appre	oval								

• Document View — Select the items you want to reuse, then click Reuse.

⊞ SI_S2_P-FLD-7	Subscribe 🔻 Email
Processor Folder • View details	Reuse
Ξ 🗰 🐚 🔻 🌣 - 😂 1 of 17 selected	• • • • • • • • • • •
3	
21 Processor Core 1 ABD	£ = 4
EISI_S2_P-P_REQ-19 - Version 11	
STATUS	
Ready for Approval	

2. In the Reuse Items window, select the source items you need.

Reuse item(s)						
Selected Items Reuse the followi	to reuse: ng 8 items					
		Preview				
ID	Name	Actions				
SYSPRJ-P_R	Processor Core 1 ABD	Remove				
SYSPRJ-P_R	Processor Speed AB2	Remove				
SYSPRJ-P_R	Processor Speed	Remove				
SYSPRJ-P_R	Coreprocessor 2	Remove				
SYSPRJ-P_R	Processor Core 1	Remove				
SYSPRJ-P_R	Data Cache	Remove				
SYSPRJ-P_R	L1 Cache Error Detec	Remove				
SYSPRJ-P_R	L2 Cache	Remove				

3. On the Basic tab, select the options you want.

How do you want to reuse these items?
Reuse Options View: Basic Advanced
Sync items and share Global ID
Add a relationship from the original item
Include all tags, attachments, and links
Include categories
<ul> <li>Do not include relationships outside of the source selection</li> <li>Include relationships from the source selection</li> <li>Include related items and mirror relationships</li> </ul>
Source Destination

- Sync items and share global ID Gives the source item and the destination item the same global ID. With the same global ID, changes to one item flag the relationship between them as out of sync.
- Append a prefix to the names of the copied items If items are being reused but not synchronized, you can append a prefix to the new item to differentiate between two copies of the same items. Enter the prefix you want to use in the field.
- Add a relationship from the original item —Creates a relationship between the original item and the new item.
- Include all tags, attachments, and links Duplicates all tags, attached files, and URL links
  associated with the items. If an existing item is overwritten and this option is selected, all tags, attachments, and links are updated to match (removes any tags, attachments, or links that existed
  in the destination but not in the source item). If this option isn't selected and you overwrite an
  existing item, any tags, attachments, and links are cleared in the destination item.
- Include categories Includes categories with the reused items in the destination project. The category isn't reused if it's deleted from the destination project, or the organization admin reorders or removes the category path.
- Don't include relationships outside of the source selection Copies only the source item. Relationships within the source item aren't copied. For example, if the source item has a component that contains Features, Requirements, and Test Cases, relationships between those selected items are copied when the component is reused.

However, those relationships aren't copied if any source items have relationships to items outside the source component, such as a relationship between a requirement in the source component and a use case in another component that is not reused in this action.



- Include relationships from the source selection Copies the items and relationships contained within the source. For items within the source that have relationships outside the source, the copies of these items have relationship created to those same related items outside the source.
- **Include related items and mirror relationships** Copies the items and relationships contained within the source. Any items outside the source that are directly related to items within the source are also copied.



## IMPORTANT

If you change the hierarchy of the source component, those changes aren't made in the destination component.

4. Select a target destination for the item.

Select a target destination:

```
    Semiconductor Project 2.0
    Reuse source project hierarchy in destination project
    Manually select location(s) for reused item(s)
    Reused items will be placed in the destination project based on the hierarchy of the source project. The system will automatically create components, sets, and folders in the destination project as needed if a matching
```

location is not found.

- Reuse source project hierarchy in destination project Reuses the project structure that contains the reused items. For example, if a folder is selected for reuse, the set that contains the folder is also reused.
- Manually select location(s) for reused items(s) Select a specific location to place the reused content. The target location must contain a valid location to house the reused items. For example, if you select this option when reusing a System Requirement, the target location must have a set of System Requirements.
- 5. Click **Reuse and sync** at the bottom of the window. If you reuse something that has already been reused, you are prompted to select **Overwrite Items** or **Skip Items**.
- 6. In the Reuse Complete window that shows a summary of what was reused, select one:
  - View Results Shows a list of all newly reused items.
  - Reuse again Reuses the same source items in a different location.

• **Finished** — Closes the window.

#### Add and edit reuse rules

As the reuse admin, you can create reuse rules and edit existing reuse rules.

Any field left unchecked uses its default values.



1. Select items for reuse from the Explorer Tree or List View, then click Reuse.



2. In the Reuse Items window that opens, under Reuse Options, click the Advanced tab.

elected life	ints to neuse:		How do you want to reuse th	iese items?	Select a target destination:		
Reuse the following 2 items			Reuse Options View: Basic Advanced		A Semiconductor Project 2.0		
ID Name Actions SI_S2_P.P.R Processor Core 1 Remove		Preview	Add Rule	Only show applicable	Reuse source project hierarchy in destination		
		Actions Remove	O New rule test	edit   delete	project	anauon	
SI_S2_P-P_R	R Coprocessor	Remove	<ul> <li>Only Upstream</li> </ul>	edit   delete	<ul> <li>Manually select location(s) for reuse</li> <li>Reused items will be placed in the destinat</li> </ul>	ed Item(s) Ition project	
			O Test Release edit ) delete		based on the hierarchy of the source project. The system will automatically create components, sets, ar folders in the destination project as needed if a match location is not found.		

- 3. Add a rule or edit an existing rule:
  - Existing rule Click edit next to a rule name.
  - New rule Click Add Rule, select Add item type rule, then select an item type from the drop-down list.

When reusing a		*	
	A field using a lookup matrix		ł
Add How Time	Block Requirement		
Mug nem type	Change Request		
-Roune Online	Component	- 1	
Reuse Option	Datasheet	- 1	
Sync item	Defect	- 1	
	Design Description		
L Appiand	Disabled field		
	FMEA		
Add a rela	Information		

- Define how to handle upstream and downstream items that are related to this item type: select the green Related button. You can add multiple rules for each item type and each rule can include a maximum of 16 levels.
- To remove a level or rule, select the red **Delete** (minus) button.
- 4. Configure the reuse options that you want to apply to these rules:
  - Sync items and share Global ID Gives the source item and the destination item the same Global ID so that changes to one item flag the relationship between them as out of sync.
  - Append a prefix to the names of the copied items For items reused but not synchronized, adds a prefix to the new item to differentiate it from the original. Enter a prefix in the field.
  - Add a relationship from the original item Creates a relationship between the original item and the new item.
- 5. At the bottom of the window under Fields to Copy, click **Configure** next to each item type you want to configure to limit the fields and widgets to be copied.

When reusing a Change Request copy these fields Config	ire

6. On the Fields tab, define whether all fields or specific fields are copied.



#### IMPORTANT

Release fields can't be reused and synced between projects because they are unique to each project.

- 7. On the Widgets tab, define whether to copy tags, attachments, and links.
- 8. Click **Done** to save your changes and close the window.

#### Synchronization

Synchronization checks for differences between reused items and containers. When differences exist, users can update the corresponding information for those items or containers.

Synchronized items are only visible if you have read permissions to both items. You must have write permissions to edit, synchronize [333], reuse [323], or duplicate items.

If you change the hierarchy of a source component, those changes aren't synchronized in the destination component.

When you convert a synchronized item to a different item type, such as converting a Requirement to a Feature Request, the item loses its synchronization and receives a new Global ID.



## NOTE

Synchronization changes don't trigger suspect links [315]. Synchronizing doesn't remove deleted items. For example, if an item is deleted from the original component, you can't choose **Sync All** to delete that item from the new component.

Synchronization updates are allowed only on projects where you have read/write permissions. You can pull data from projects where you have read-only permissions, but you can't push data to items in those projects.

When you add a new item to a synced container, Jama Connect indicates that the item is out-of-sync. Syncing the containers results in the creation of that item in the synced container.

You can synchronize items using any of these methods:

- When you connect items from Single Item View [335]
- In the Sync Options window (when syncing multiple items) [333]
- When you reuse items [323]
- When an organization or project admin duplicates projects [637]



#### NOTE

If items with the same Global ID are not allowed in the same project, Jama Connect doesn't allow you to reuse in the same project with sync enabled.

## Sync options window

When viewed from Compare View, the Sync Options window is divided into top and bottom section, which correspond to the left and right columns in Compare View, respectively. The functionality is the same for each section.

lync Options	
When Syncing: "Semiconductor Project 2.0" 📥 "Meg	an's Test Management Sandbox [Semicond Vivvi Basic Advanced
How do you want to reuse these items?	
Reuse Options	Destination: Megan's Test Management Sandbox [
<ul> <li>Do not synchronize relationships</li> <li>Include relationships from the source selection</li> <li>Include related items and mirror relationships</li> </ul>	Reused items will be placed in the destination project based on the hierarchy of the source project. The system will automatically create components, sets, and folders in the destination project as needed if a matching location is not found.
Supersonal Tage Attachments and Links Note: relationships and widgets that are not marked as synchronized in the item ty configuration will not synchronize.	pe
When Syncing: "Semiconductor Project 2.0" 🧇 "Meg	an's Test Management Sandbox [Semicond View Basic Advanced
How do you want to revise these items? Reuse Options	Destination: Semiconductor Project 2.0
<ul> <li>Do not synchronize relationships</li> <li>Include relationships from the source selection</li> <li>Include related items and mirror relationships</li> </ul>	Reused items will be placed in the destination project based on the hierarchy of the source project. The system will automatically create components, sets, and folders in the destination project as needed if a matching location is not found.
Simebraniza all Tage. Attachments and Links	
Note: relationships and widgets that are not marked as synchronized in the item ty configuration will not synchronize.	De
	Update Sync Options Cancel

#### When you select the **Basic** tab in the top right corner, you can view and select these options:

Basic options				
Handle relationships	<ul> <li>Don't synchronize relationships.</li> <li>Include relationships from the source selection</li> <li>Include related items and mirror relationships</li> </ul>			
Options as needed	<ul> <li>Synchronize all tags, attachments, and links.</li> <li>When synchronizing related items that don't exist in the destination project, all fields, tags, attachments, and links are reused. Fields that aren't applicable to the destination project are set to defaults. Only links to attachments are synchronized, not the attachments themselves.</li> <li>Add a relationship from the original item</li> </ul>			
Default destination uses the specified tar- get destination	<ul> <li>Reused items are placed in the destination project based on the hierarchy of the source project.</li> <li>If a matching location isn't found, the system automatically creates components, sets, and folders in the destination project as needed.</li> </ul>			

#### When you select the Advanced tab in the top right corner, you can view and select these options:

	Advanced options					
Display and mod- ify existing reuse rules or add new ones	<ul> <li>Reuse rules shown are filtered by item type.</li> <li>Deselect Only show applicable to display all reuse rules.</li> <li>Select Add rule to add a new rule to the items selected in this view.</li> </ul>					
Select a destina- tion	<ul> <li>Select Manually select location(s) for reused item(s) to select a specific destination for your synced items.</li> <li>Select Synchronize to sync all fields specified in the reuse rules in the Sync Options window. This also removes all attachments, tags, links, and relationships if selected.</li> <li>When synchronizing related items that don't exist in the destination project, all fields, tags, attachments, and links follow the sync option that's applied to the view (fields that aren't applicable to the destination project are set to defaults).</li> </ul>					

Select Synchronize to sync items based on the selected Sync Options setting.

When synchronizing related items that don't exist in the destination project, all fields, tags, attachments, and links follow the sync option that's applied to the view.

## **Break synchronization**

When you break the synchronization, the connection is removed between items and other relationships built on this connection. The removed item receives a new Global ID. Further synchronizations for that original Global ID don't affect the item with the broken connection.

- 1. Access the Number of Synchronized Items panel using one of these methods:
  - Open the Sync Items window by selecting an item in the Explorer Tree, right-clicking and selecting **View synced items**.



• In Single Item View of the item whose synchronization you want to break, open the bottom panel by opening an item in Single Item View, then clicking the Synchronized items widget.



2. In the window that opens, select an item and click **Break Sync**.

Number of Synchroniz	ed items: 1	Connect Ite	ms 🙀 Break Sync - Sync	: All 🔹 💽 🛄 Hide		
ID Global ID		Name	Project	Sync Status *		
CL2-SUBSS-6	GID-13601	Diameter	Clear2	In Sync	👌 🐺 🛱	
CL3-SUBSS-6	GID-13601	Diameter	Clear 3 Hearing Aid	(Current Item)		

- 3. In the Sync Items window, break the synchronization for one item or all listed items:
  - One item To remove the sync from a specific item and assign a new Global ID, click **Break Sync** in the same row as the item.
  - All listed items To break the synchronization between all listed items and assign a new Global ID to each item, click **Break Sync** at the top of the window.



X

4. When prompted to confirm, click Yes.



## Success

Item will no longer be synchronized with Global ID Group GID-56674

A message confirms that the item is no longer synchronized.

#### Synchronize items from Synced Items window

Synchronization checks for differences between reused items and containers. When differences exist, you can update the corresponding information for those items or containers.

1. Open the Sync Items window: In the Explorer Tree, right-click the item, component, or set you want to sync, then click **View synced items**.

Explorer	$\nabla$		0
💿 Add 🔻			() ()
	luctor	Project 2.0	
E H Produc	ct		
f Imp	oort Te	ist	-
🕀 🔚 Pro	-	Open item	
🕀 📃 Pro	-	Open in new tab	
E 🖌 Pro		Preview item	
🖽 🔣 I2C	9	Expand all	
E CA	9	Collapse all	
🕀 🕂 Ext	-	Change set key	
E 🖓 Chang		Edit	
🕀 🕂 Projec		Duplicate item	
E Projec	t for	View synced items	
Projec		A A A	-
		Add	*
	1	Convert to	*
o Add tag	4	Reuse item(s)	
2022		Move item	
		Delete	
Review	8	Import	
	0	Add baseline	
	ų	Send for review	

2. Click **Sync All** to open the window for all displayed items or use the up or down arrow to sync changes to or from the displayed items.

Sync Ilema					2 - 2
All synced items in this project	Currantity Sale	read item:			
E Clear 3 Hearing Aid	Component	"System Requirements" share	es a global ID with 1 oth	er Component.	
Validation Protocols					Sync All
E System Requirements	ID	Name	Project	Sync Status	
	CL2-CMP-6	System Requirements	Clear2	Out of Sync Synchronize changes from this item Synchronize changes to this item	Compace +

- 3. Click **Compare** to open the Compare View, then use one of these synch methods:
  - **One item** Use the right or left arrow for each item to sync it in a particular direction.
  - **Multiple items** Select multiple items (highlighted in blue) with the **Ctrl+Shift** keys, then use the arrows at the top of the Sync All column to synchronize all items in one direction.

	only show items with differ	ences					Sync Option	s Configure view
Infor	mation (13) View: All r	esults - Sets (1)						
Sen	iconductor Project	2.0: INFORMA				Meg	jan's Test Manage	ement Sandbox
	Name	Description		Sync All			Name	Description
19	INFORMATION		1		٠	-	INFORMATION	
D	Test Requirements fo	The AB2258 micro		Ē	٠	×		
3	Item A	Description of Iten	-		٠		Item A	Description of (



## IMPORTANT

When you synchronize an item, a new version of that item is created. If the sync was done by mistake, it can't be undone but you can make the prior version current. This applies to field updates only, not to relationships created or new items created.

- 4. (Optional) The Batch Sync window displays the selected number of items to update, with **Selected Items** chosen by default. If needed, select **All Items**.
- 5. Click **Batch Sync** to complete the update.
  - Sync items Only fields that are enabled as synchronized fields [611] are updated. Child items are added to the destination if they exist in the source only.
  - Sync a container The container and all children are synced unless you created advanced reuse rules [328] that specify otherwise.

## **Connect items from Single Item View**

If you want items to share a Global ID, you can connect them to keep them in sync.

- 1. Open the bottom panel in Single Item View [59].
- 2. In the bottom panel, select **Connect Items**.

Number of Synchroni	zed items: 0		Connect Ite	ms 🙀 Break Sync 👆 Sync All 🔹 📀 🔲 Hide
ID	Global ID	Name	Project	Sync Status 🛩
CL3-ARCH-1	GID-60003	Implant	Clear 3 Hearing Aid	(Current Item)

In the panel that opens, select the item you want to connect to, then click Connect.
 To help you find the item, you can use the Recently Viewed, Search, Explorer, or Releases tabs.
 You can also click Preview to open a window with details about an item.

<b>B</b> (	Clear 3 Hearing A	id
0	Recently Viewed	
		Preview
	ID	Name
	CL3-ARCH-1	Implant
	CL3-ARCH-3	External Abutment

The newly connected item now appears in the bottom panel with the same Global ID. This change also appears as an activity in the Stream [236].

#### **Compare synchronized items**

You can compare synchronized items to see what has changed.

 Open the Sync Items window: In the Explorer Tree, right-click on the item, component, or set you want to sync, then click View synced items. The selected item or component is displayed with a sync status that lets you know whether that item is in sync or out of sync.

Explorer	$\nabla$		10
💿 Add 🔻		4	(*
E Broduc	uctor t	Project 2.0	
the log	ort Te	est	
🕀 📰 Pro	5	Open item	
🕀 📃 Pro	<u>10</u>	Open in new tab	
E 🖌 Pro		Preview item	
🕀 拱 I2C	œ	Expand all	
	G	Collapse all	
Exte	2	Change set key	
E Change	0	Edit	
🕀 🕂 Project	B	Duplicate item	
E Project	t III	View synced items	
	0	Add	*
	G.	Convert to	•
o Add tag	4	Reuse item(s)	
20220		Move item	
Deuteur		Delete	
Review	8	Import	
	-0	Add baseline	
	4	Send for review	

2. If the item is out of sync, select it to open a Detailed Comparison View of those differences.

Image: Constraint of the source of the so	Image: Constraint of the series     Clack of the series       Outbound of the series     System Requirements     System Requirements       Description     Image: Series     System Requirements       Name     Total Items     29       Missing     21     Missing Items     2933       Sub Items     Out-of-sync     5		CL3-CMP-6 (This Project)	Sync All	CL2-CMP-6 (Clear2)
Citchen D     SUS-9005     SUS-9005       Name     System Requirements     System Requirements       Description     Image: Control of the system Requirements     Image: Control of the system Requirements       Meeticonames     Image: Control of the system Requirements     Image: Control of the system Requirements       Sub Items     Sub Items     29     Image: Control of the system Requirements       Sub Items     Out-of-sync 5     Image: Control of the system Requirements	Other D     Auto-anos     System Requirements     System Requirements       Description	0	CLS-CHIF-8		CL3CL2 CMP-6
Name     System Requirements     System Requirements       Description     Image: State of the	Name     System Requirements     System Requirements       Description     Image: Comparison of the system Requirements       Image: Comparison of the system Requirements     Image: Comparison of the system Requirements       Sub Items     29       Missing     21       Out-of-sync     5	Bidha) ID	010-0905		(3)(0+8)(9)(5)
Description     Image: Sublems     Total Items     29       Sub Items     Total Items     29       Out-of-sync     5	Description     Image: state	lame	System Requirements		System Requirements
Total Items     29     Total Items     2933       Sub Items     21     Missing Items     2117       Out-of-sync Items     5     0ut-of-sync     5	Total Items     29       Sub Items     Total Items     29       Sub Items     21     Missing Items     2117       Out-of-sync Items     5     Out-of-sync     5	Description			
Total Items     29       Missing Items     21       Out-of-sync Items     5	Total Items     29       Missing Items     21       Out-of-sync Items     5	(e edenstrates			
Missing Items     21     Missing Items     2117       Out-of-sync Items     5     Out-of-sync Items     5	Missing Items     21       Out-of-sync Items     5		Total Items 29	and the second	Total Items 2933
Sub Items Out-of-sync 5 Items Out-of-sync 5 Items	Sub Items Out-of-sync 5 Items Out-of-sync 5 Items		Missing 21		Missing Items 2117
		Sub Items	Out-of-sync 5		Out-of-sync 5
				4 J	

3. To view the differences at an item level, select **Compare**.

Sync Items					
All synced items in this project.	Current	dy Selected Item: onent <b>"System</b>	Requirements" sha	ares a global ID with <b>1</b> other	Component. L Svnc All 분분 Break Svnc
E E Implant	ID	Name	Project	Sync Status	
Subsystem Requirements Diameter Implant Stability Quotient (ISQ) Range Interface Requirements Length Implant Material Verifications Protocols	CL2-CMP-6	System Req	Clear2	Out Of Sync	2 🖶 🛱 Compare 🤿
Diff Manua					

A list of all synchronized items in that component is displayed.

- 4. To filter items within a component, use the links at the top. Use your mouse to scroll left or right so you can compare fields.
- 5. Click **Configure View** to configure which fields are displayed [340]. Yellow highlights indicate synchronized items with content that doesn't match.

Sync Items								20×
All synced items in this project.	*	00	nly show items with differe	nces			Sync Options	Configure View
E Clear 3 Hearing Aid		Sys	tem Requirements (21)	View: All Results				1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.
Queer Needs and Market Requirements     Section Protocols		Cle	ear 3 Hearing Aid: Sys	tem Require		Cle	ar2: System Requirer	ments
System Requirements      SubSystems			System Req	Description	🧊 Sync All 📫		System Req	Description
			Waterproof while swi	A waterproof devi	* 🗇 🕈		Waterproof	A waterproof devi
Diff Views					1			
				Detailed co	TO ATE VIEW			
			Page 1 of 2	▶ ▶  2   Sh	ow: 20 🔻		Displayin	g items 1 - 12 of 21
		1						
							Back	Save Diff View



## NOTE

If an organization admin didn't enable a field to be synced [611], it's never highlighted in yellow, and it can't be synced.

#### 6. (Optional) Select Save Diff View.



- For more information that helps determine whether to sync something, select Detailed compare view for the items you want to compare.
   The Detailed Compare View window lists changes, with old text red and highlighted and new text green and underlined.
- 8. To synchronize the data, select the green arrow or the pencil icon to manually edit the content of the fields.

					🔑 Hide Details
	CL3-SR-1 (This Project)	🦕 Sy	nc All	\$	CL2-SR-1 (Clear2)
Protect ID	DL3-68-1				CL3CL2 SA
anha (a)	3/0-1/905				00.102
System Req	Waterproof while swimming and showering	-	0	-	Waterproof while swimming and showering
Description	A waterproof device is vital to increasing our market share. There's a large market, especially in the United States, that could be taken over through creation of a waterproof device. This also would increase our ability to attract and retain retain younger customers, and may affect our ability to retain older as well. Currently, processor specifically is not waterproof, so it has to be removed or covered with a special cover prior to showering or swimming.				A waterproof device is vital to increasing our market share. There's a large market, especially in the United States, that could be taken over through creation of a waterproof device. This also would increase our ability to attract and retain retain younger customers, and may affect our ability to retain older as well. Currently, processor specifically is not waterproof, so it has to b removed or covered with a special cover prior to showering or swimming.
Assigned					
Steam	Approved				ApprovedCompleted
Plicity	Righ				High
To used					Y
Balled of Denyes					
Vermissikan Merhod					
Alcolor -					
mplomäntailen Considerations					4

9. Click **Save** when you're done.

#### **Configure Compare View for synchronized items**

Configuring the Compare View window allows you to customize which fields you see, as well as relationships, widgets, and item types.

1. In the Explorer Tree, right-click on the item, component, or set you want to sync, then click **View synced items**.

Explorer	$\nabla$		0
💿 Add 🔻		4	\$3 F
E 🐣 Semicond	uctor	Project 2.0	
🖃 🔛 Produc	t		
f Imp	ort Te	ist	-
🕀 📰 Pro	-	Open item	
🕀 🔜 Pro	-	Open in new tab	
E 🖌 Pro		Preview item	
🖽 拱 I2C	œ	Expand all	
	G	Collapse all	
E Ext	2	Change set key	
E Chang		Edit	
🗄 🕂 Project	n	Duplicate item	
🕀 🕂 Project	<u>+</u> =	View synced items	
Project	-	view ayriced itemia	
	0	Add	P
	5	Convert to	*
o Add tag	5	Reuse item(s)	
2022		Move item	
		Delete	
Review	6	Import	
	0	Add baseline	
	R.	Send for review	

2. In the Sync Items window that opens, click **Configure View** in the top right corner.

All synced items in this project	¢		only show items with differ	ences					Sync Option	Configure view
Emiconductor Project 2.0		Infor	mation (13) View: All n	sults - Sets (1)						
Project Management A     Im InFORMATION     Project Management A		Sen	niconductor Project	2.0: INFORMA				Meg	gan's Test Manage	ment Sandbox.
		۵	Name	Description	-	Sync All	٠		Name	Description
		197	INFORMATION		-		٠	9	INFORMATION	
		F	Test Requirements fo	The AB2258 mich			٠	×		

- 3. From the drop-down menu at the top of the Configure View window, select the item type you want to configure.
- 4. On the Fields tab, move the fields you want from the Hidden Fields column to the Visible Fields column, and move those you don't want to the Hidden Fields column. You can double-click, drag, or use the arrows.

elds Relationships Widge	ts		
Drag and drop to hide/show	and re-order fi	elds	_
Project ID		Item Type	
Global ID		Name	
Text_Box_not_richwithlongname		Description	
Text field			
Heading			
API ID			
Locked			
Last Locked By			
Last Locked		<u>+</u>	
Created By			
Created Date			
Modified By			
Modified Date			
Project			
Last Activity Date			

5. On the Relationships tab, select whether and how to view relationships in the Compare View window.

Configu	re view					? 🗙
Item Typ	e to Configu	re: Mixed I	tem Types		¥	
Fields	Relationship	widgets				
View f	the following o not view rela ew all directly ew specific rel	g relationships tionships related items lated items	5			
Wh	r the relation	mixed type list	would like to vi	ew		
					Apply	Cancel

6. On the Widgets tab, select the widgets you want to see in the Compare View window.

Configure view		2 🛛
Item Type to Configure:	Mixed Item Types	
Fields Relationships	Widgets	
View these widgets		
🗸 Tags		
Attachments		
VRL Links		
	Apply	Cancel

- 7. (Optional) To save the changes you made in this window, click save a Compare View [336]. Otherwise, the changes don't persist when you close this window.
- 8. Select Apply to save your changes.

The window is refreshed and your changes are saved.

## Exports

With Jama Connect, you can create documents using the standard export to Word and Excel or by creating your own custom Office Templates [349]. For example, you might need to create documents to share with your customers, quality teams, or auditors.

## Exporting without a template

To export data directly to Word [346] or Excel [347] in List View or Reading View, you can do so without a template, using advanced filters [142] or the Explorer Tree.

## Exporting with a template

Using templates to export data speeds your work and improves consistency. With Excel templates, you can easily create and share your customized analysis with others in your organization. With Word templates, you can create standardized documents that are automatically populated with your data.

To export to a specific template, you select **Export > View all export options**, then download an existing template [352]. You can modify a template as needed.

race	view 📑 Export 🕶
	Export to Word
	Export to Excel
R.	Export to PDF
	View all export options

## **Customizing your output**

If you have information you want to include or exclude from your export, you can select which fields you want. In List View, select the gear icon to modify the fields that appear in your document.

≡∎ ≡• ‡•	C 1 of 17 selected	
	All Selected (9)	×
API ID	Assigned to	
Categories	Conditions	
Created By	✓ Created Date	
Current version	✓ Description	
Global ID	Heading	

## Export template parameter

By default, extra line breaks are removed to improve the published document. This might cause consecutive tables to be combined.

To restore a template to previous export results, self-hosted customers can apply a new parameter to the report parameter field in the template.

- Organiza	mons Sy	auan <sup>ap</sup> roperties ( Jawa	Permissions Reports Up	ense //anagumem )	Editor Tempiane	Backup immer?	ionati System Into	Lugging	Cardho-Stabsona.	Stilledu
Reports		Add / Edit Report							Add Repar	1313
	Displays items and fields the	*Report Name:	Test report							
	changed	*Report Type:	MS Office Template							
Baselme Compared to	time of th selected baseline thail sam versions	*Report Formats:	PDF Microsoft Word							Eour y Edito
Carrent (PDF)	that inclu									
	wirsion d	Restrict to Group:	NO GROUP RESTRICTIO	N		×				
	have bee deleted a accerd sil the base	*Report File Name:	8.76 Release Notes.c Browse No file selected	doc d.						
	was teke Displays	Description:	Sprint 2							
	by side compane	*Scope:	Organization 👻							
	terns and	*Organization:	Acme Works test 🔹 👻							
	changed	Visible to Users:								
Baseline Comparison (PDF)	two seler baseliner includes	Report Parameters:	cleanEmptyParagraphs=tru	ue						cun ( icun Pile
	tents that been add and dele between times of beschiner well									
Task report	Sprint 2									Exil Pask
Tost.	Tost	memptate -					Save	Can	ICEI	1560 ( <b>D</b> 90)

Setting	Definition	Parameter
Default	Removes extra line breaks. Consecutive tables are combined.	cleanEmptyParagraphs=true
Custom	Keeps extra line breaks. Consecutive tables are separate.	cleanEmptyParagraphs=false

## **Uploading custom Velocity reports**

Your system or organization admin can upload custom Velocity exports [565] that are displayed in the Export window.

## Export to Word from Reading View

You can export a set of items as a Microsoft Word document. If you want to show your content in context, you can include hierarchy in the export.

The default Word export is a boilerplate that was created with Office Templates and can be modified to meet your needs.

- 1. Select the items you want to export using the Explorer Tree or an advanced filter.
- 2. Choose Reading View.
- 3. Select **Export > Export to Word**.

Depending on how you selected your data, your exported content appears as follows:

Method	Results
Explorer Tree	The selected container becomes the title page for the export.
Advanced filter with- in single project	Reading View includes the container hierarchy above the filtered items, up to the top of the project. Container items that show hierarchy have a grayed-out (disabled) checkbox, while the rest of the items can be selected. Hierarchical containers are exported with the content items.
Cross-project filter	Reading View doesn't display numbering. The export is a listing of items without hierarchical information.

## Export to Word from List View

When you export items from List View, all items appear in list form.



## TIP

Word for Mac is known to have some issues with exporting certain formats and tables. If you experience issues, eliminate special formatting or tables within tables.

- 1. Select the items you want to export using the Explorer Tree or an advanced filter.
- 2. In List View, select **Export > Export to Word**.



The export displays a table of contents, followed by each item, its name, and a list of its field names and values.

## **Export to Excel**

If you need to provide data to external stakeholders who don't have access to Jama Connect, you can export to Microsoft Excel. You can also use round trip to work offline or share data in a format that can be used to update existing data.



## IMPORTANT

Don't use field names in Jama Connect that start with the equal symbol (=). When Excel encounters a field value that starts with =, the cell is interpreted as a formula. For example, if the name of an item in Jama Connect is **=1338-1**, Excel interprets it as a formula and the value is displayed as **1337**.

You can export selected items to an Excel template in two ways:

- · Default boilerplate template
- · Office Templates, which can be customized



## NOTE

Excel doesn't support rich text. Jama Connect removes formatting when it exports to Excel.

#### To export data to Excel:

1. Select the items you want to export using the Explorer Tree or an advanced filter.

- 2. In List View, select the gear icon (Show/Hide) to open the drop-down menu.
- 3. Select the fields that you want to include in the Excel output.
- 4. Deselect (hide) the fields that you don't want to include.
- 5. In the toolbar, select **Export**.
- 6. From the drop-down list, select an option:
  - For default template To use the default boilerplate, select Export to Excel. Your results appear immediately.

race	view	🖺 Export 🖛
	Export to	Word
6	Export to	Excel
<b>P</b> 3:	Export to	PDF
	View all o	export options

• For Office Templates — To customize your template, select View all export options, select an Excel export option, then click Run.

race	view	🖺 Export 🕶
	Export to	o Word
	Export to	Excel
R.	Export to	PDF
	View all	export options

- Export to Excel default Generates an export that includes the fields that appear in List View (one column per field). Not intended for importing data updates to existing items in Jama Connect. Instead, use Excel Export for Roundtrip [122].
- Excel Export for Roundtrip —Includes all available fields. You can edit the resulting spreadsheet and import the changes back into Jama Connect.

A confirmation message appears with a link to the report.

All fields that you plan to update using round trip must be included in the export, including rich text fields like **Description**. Rich text is output in raw HTML format, so the content can be preserved if re-imported.

## Export to PDF from Reading View

You can export a set of items as a PDF using the PDF reports included with Jama Connect. If you want to show your content in context, you can include hierarchy in these exports. The default export is created with Office templates and can be modified as needed.



#### NOTE

For information about creating custom PDF reports and how to make existing reports PDF compatible, go to the Jama Software Community site and search for *Velocity reports* or see Export Velocity reports to Excel [434].

1. Select the items you want to export using the Explorer Tree or an advanced filter.

2. In Reading View, select **Export > Export to PDF**.



Depending on how you selected your data, your exported content appears as follows:

Method	Results
Explorer Tree	The selected container becomes the title page for the export.
Advanced filter with- in single project	Reading View includes the container hierarchy above the filtered items, up to the top of the project. Container items that show hierarchy have a grayed-out (disabled) checkbox, while the rest of the items can be selected. Hierarchical containers are exported with the content items.
Cross-project filter	Reading View doesn't display numbering. The export is a listing of items without hierarchical information.

#### Export to PDF from List View

When you export items from List View, all items appear in list form.

- 1. Select the items you want to export using the Explorer Tree or an advanced filter.
- 2. In List View, select Export > Export to PDF.



The export displays a table of contents, followed by each item, its name, and a list of its field names and values.

#### **Office Templates**

Microsoft Office Templates are Word documents and Excel spreadsheets that allow you to add formatting to your exported data.

Office Templates are best for simple exporting with Word and Excel using data that you select in the Explorer Tree or with an advanced filter [142].

To open the Office Templates window, select **Export > View all export options**.



The Office Templates window shows several default templates that come with Jama Connect. You can download an existing template [352] and use it as is or modify it, or create your own template in Word and upload it [353]. Select the bookmark next to a template to move it to the top of the list.

Your system or organization admin can upload custom Velocity exports [565] that are displayed in the Export window.

All export options	
全 Upload a Template	
Other Reports	
All Item Details	
Coverage Report	
Default Work Product Export to Word All Projects	
Excel Export for Roundtrip	
Export to Excel Default All Projects	
Export to Word Default All Projects	
Sync Report All Projects	
Sync Status All Projects	
Test	
Trace 2 Levels Up and Down All Projects	
Trace Report All Projects	
Trace Upstream 2 Levels All Projects	



## TIP

All Items Details Export [356] and the Coverage Report [357] are made with Velocity and can't be downloaded and modified with Microsoft Word.

Each Office Template consists of three sections:

• **Cover page** — Contains general information about the export, and the data it references. Some fields typically included in this area are:

<<reportName>> - shows the Report Name entered in the Office Templates window
<<reportDescription>> - shows the Report Description entered in the Office Templates window
<<contextType>> - shows the type of content being used (e.g. release, component, filter, folder, item
etc)
<<contextName>> - immediate context for the data being used (e.g. container name, like "Requirements")
<<userName>> - name of the user generating the report



leveraged for simple exporting with Word or Excel.

1. In List View or Single Item View, select **Export > View all export options**.



2. In the window that opens, select the export you want from the template list on the left.

Other Reports   All Item Details   Coverage Report   Default Work Product Export to   Word   All Projects   Excel Export for Roundtrip   Export to Excel Default   All Projects   Sync Report   All Projects   Sync Report   All Projects   Trace 2 Levels Up and Down   All Projects   Trace Upstream 2 Levels   All Projects   Default   All Projects   Sync Report   All Projects   Trace 2 Levels Up and Down   All Projects   Trace Upstream 2 Levels   All Projects	Upload a Template					
All Item Details   Coverage Report   Default Work Product Export to   Word   All Projecta   Excel Export for Roundtrip   Export to Excel Default   All Projecta   Sync Report   All Projecta   Sync Report   All Projecta   Trace 2 Levels Up and Down   All Projecta   Trace Report   All Projecta   Projecta   Trace Upstream 2 Levels   All Projecta   Downstream Item   Select a Intralion	Other Reports	-	Coverage F	Report	Requirements (	Soverage Report
Coverage Report   Default Work Product Export to   Word   All Projecta   Excel Export for Roundtrip   Export to Excel Default   All Projecta   Sync Report   All Projecta   Sync Status   All Projecta   Trace Z Levels Up and Down   All Projecta   Trace Report   All Projecta   Trace Upstream 2 Levels   All Projecta   Trace Upstream 2 Levels   All Projecta	All Item Details	A	Displays downstrea	m relationships to the	Conversion of the second second	William
Default Work Product Export to   Word   All Projects   Excel Export for Roundtrip   Export to Excel Default   All Projects   Sync Report   All Projects   Sync Status   All Projects   Trace 2 Levels Up and Down   All Projects   Trace Report   All Projects   Trace Qupstream 2 Levels   All Projects   Downstream Item   Select a Istration	Coverage Report		selected Set in HTI Excel	ML, MS Word and MS		
Excel Export for Roundtrip	Default Work Product Export to Word All Projects		-			
Export to Excel Default All Projects Export to Word Default All Projects Sync Report All Projects Select a Format Select a Format	Excel Export for Roundtrip					
Export to Word Default All Projects Sync Report All Projects Trace Levels Up and Down All Projects Trace Upstream 2 Levels All Projects Downstream Item Location:	Export to Excel Default All Projects					
Sync Report	Export to Word Default	Ā				
Sync Status All Projects Trace 2 Levels Up and Down All Projects Trace Report All Projects Trace Upstream 2 Levels All Projects Downstream Item Location:	Sync Report All Projects		Select a Format			
Trace 2 Levels Up and Down All Projects  Parameters  Parameters  Parameters  Parameters  Parameters  Downstream Item Location:  Parameters  Parameters Parameters  Parameters Parameters Parameters Pa	Sync Status All Projects	A				
Trace Report     Image: Constraint Const	Trace 2 Levels Up and Down	Ð	Parameters			
Trace Upstream 2 Levels Only: All Projects Downstream Item Location:	Trace Report All Projects	D	Missing Coverage	8		
All Projects Downstream Item Exercical Infaltion	Trace Upstream 2 Levels		Only:			
	All Projects	-	Downstream Item Location:	Select a location		9

- 3. Select the format for your export and enter any additional information required for some templates.
- 4. (Optional) Select **Email me the report** to receive a link to the export when it's finished. Links are stored for 7 days before they're automatically deleted.
- 5. Click Run.

A confirmation message appears with a link to the report.

#### Download an existing export template

You can download an existing Office Template to use as is or modify it as a a new template.

1. In List View, Reading View, or Single Item View, select **Export > View all export options**.



2. In the window that opens, right-click on the template you want to download, then select **Download Template**.

👷 Upload a Template		🕞 Edit 🔶 Download Temp			
lookmarked reports	-				
Export to Excel Default	Remove fro	m bookmarks	end as the template for the		
Other Reports	Edit		Excel menu option. Edit and re-		
All Item Details	👲 Download	emplate change.			
Coverage Report	1				
Default Work Product E: Nord	xport to			0.0	
Excel Export for Roundt	rip 🗐			-7	
Export to Word Default	P	Deles	dia Franzia		
Sync Report	П	Select I	di a roimat		
Sync Status M Projects	Д				
Frace 2 Levels Up and I All Projects	Down	Repo	ort Detail		
Trace Report	Д	Repo	ort Type: Office Template		
Frace Upstream 2 Level	s 🗋				

The template is downloaded to your computer.

3. Modify the template in Word as needed and upload it as a new template [353].

#### Upload an export template for a report

Any user with read/write permissions can upload and export a custom template.

For self-hosted customers, an organization or system admin can upload templates in multiple projects.

#### To upload an export template for a report:

- 1. Save the template you want to upload to your desktop computer [352].
- 2. Select Export > View all export options to open the All export options window.



3. In the window that opens, click Upload a Template.



4. Select **Choose File** and select the template you want to upload.

Upload a Template	
Choose File No file chosen	
Share this Report Name:	
	]
Report Description:	
Share with:	
Organization	
○ Project	
	Save Report

5. Enter a name and description for the report.

To make the template name and description visible in your export, include these field tags:

Report Name«reportName»Report Description«reportDescription»

For a list of other available field tags you can include in your templates for the current project, generate the Word Template Reference Guide [358].

6. Under **Share with**, select how you want this export template to be available, then click **Save Report**.

Share this	
Report Name:	
Test Report	
Report Description:	
Sprint 2	
Share with:	
Organization	
○ Project	
	Save Report

• Organization — Available to users *in any project*. Export templates that are shared with the organization are visible in the left column of the Office Templates window with the label **All Projects**.

Bookmarked reports	
Export to Excel Default	
Other Benerte	
All Item Details	
Coverage Report	
Default Work Product Export to	
Word All Projects	
Excel Export for Roundtrip	

- **Project** Available to other users *in this project only*.
- 7. Click Run.

# Upload a Template

Choose File Test Report.docx			
Share this			
Report Name:			
Test Report			
Report Description:			
Sprint 2			
Share with:			
Organization			
O Project			
			Save Report
	Email me the report	Run	Close

A confirmation message appears with a link to the report.

#### **Create an All Item Details export**

The All Item Details export displays all item details for the selected project. It was designed in Velocity for output in Microsoft Word and HTML.

This export is useful for sharing details of a set of requirements or another group of artifacts with others outside of Jama Connect.

- 1. Select the data you want to export using the Explorer Tree or an advanced filter.
- 2. Select Export > View all export options.

race view	🖺 Export 🛩
Export t	o Word
Export t	o Excel
👫 Export t	o PDF
View all	export options

3. In the window that opens, select **All Item Details**, select a format, and choose the parameters you need (**Include relationships**, **Include tags**).

All export options			
🚖 Upload a Template		1.10.12.00	
Bookmarked reports	1.	All Item Details	Witness
Test report All Projects		Displays all item details designed for MS Word and HTML.	
Other Reports			E_ =
All Item Details			We define a prost
Coverage Report			te
Default Work Product Export to Word All Projects			
Excel Export for Roundtrip	Ū.		
Export to Excel Default	П	Select a Format	
Export to Word Default	П		
Sync Report All Projects	Q		
Sync Status All Projects	E	- Parameters	
Test	П	Relationships:	
Trace 2 Levels Up and Down	П	Include Tags:	
Trace Report	П		

- 4. (Optional) Select **Email me the report** to receive a link to the export when it's finished. Links are stored for 7 days before they're automatically deleted.
- 5. Click Run.

A confirmation message appears with a link to the report.

#### Create a Coverage Report

The Coverage Report displays downstream relationships to the selected set in HTML, Microsoft Word, or Microsoft Excel. It provides a summary and detailed information on the traceability coverage for the selected items.

- 1. Select the data you want to export using the Explorer Tree or an advanced filter.
- 2. Select Export > View all export options.



- 3. In the window that opens, select **Coverage Report**.
- 4. Select a format and choose the parameters you need (**Missing coverage only**, **Downstream item location**). If you select no parameters, your report looks like the following image. For a report with a more specific set of relationships, select one or both parameter options.

# Coverage Report

## **Coverage by Any Location**

May 25, 2012

#### **Coverage Summary**

Project Name	CoveragePlus
Total Items	6
Total Missing	3
Percent Covered	50%

#### Coverage Detail

Selected Items	Any Location	
CP-CMP-1 Core Application	Missing Any Location	
CP-UC-1 Schedule Patient Appointment	CP-TC-1 Schedule Patient Visit	
CP-UC-2 Perform Patient Procedure	CP-TC-3 Display Patient X-rays CP-TC-2 Record Procedure Notes	
CP-UC-3 Manage Patient Waitlist	Missing Any Location	
CP-UC-4 Coordinate Patient and Insurance Billing	CP-TC-4 Send Bill to Insurer CP-TC-5 Send Bill to Patient	
CP-UC-5 Manage Patient Information	Missing Any Location	

- 5. (Optional) Select **Email me the report** to receive a link to the export when it's finished. Links are stored for 7 days before they're automatically deleted.
- 6. Click Run.

A confirmation message appears with a link to the report.

## Generate the Word Template Reference Guide

The *Word Template Reference Guide* is helpful when you're creating or editing templates. It provides a dynamic reference of all field tags that you can use to expose information in your export templates.

This guide is unique to each project in Jama Connect. Downloading the guide provides an up-to-date list of all available field tags for items in the currently selected Jama Connect project.

When creating a new template, you can copy and paste from this reference guide. If any fields change in your project, download a new guide to see how the changes affect export templates.

1. In List View or Single Item View, select Export > View all export options.

race view	🖺 Export 🕶
Export	to Word
Export	to Excel
👫 Export	to PDF
View a	Il export options

2. In the window that opens, click **Upload a Template**, then click **Generate Word Template Reference Guide**.

All export options					
🕐 Upload a Template			👱 G	ienerate Word Templa	te Referance Guid
Other Reports	E	444			
All Item Details	Uplo	ad a Template			
Coverage Report					
Default Work Product Export to Word Aff Finiscie	Share	this			
Excel Export for Roundtrip	Report	Name:			
Export to Excel Default	Report	Description:			
Export to Word Default					
Sync Report	G Org	with: ganization			
Sync Status	Pro	pject			
Test					Save Reput
Trace 2 Levels Up and Down					CONE REPORT
Trace Report					
Trace Upstream 2 Levels All Projects	1				
					Constant of

- 3. (Optional) Select **Email me the report** to receive a link to the export when it's finished. Links are stored for 7 days before they're automatically deleted.
- 4. Click Run.

A confirmation message appears with a link to the report.

#### Embed custom fonts in exports

You can embed custom fonts into Word or PDF exports.



#### IMPORTANT

The custom font you use in the template must be in the TrueType Font format (TTF).

- 1. Download the template [352] for the existing export that you want to publish with a custom font.
- Convert that template to DOCX format by selecting File > Save As > Word Document (.docx) in Microsoft Word.
- 3. Select all of the text in the document and apply your custom font.
- 4. Enable embedded fonts in the document.
- 5. Upload the template [353] to an existing or new export in Jama Connect.
- 6. Export the document [351] in Word or PDF format.

## **Managing tests with Jama Connect**

Using tests in Jama Connect helps validate the quality of your product and verify that the product meets its requirements. When you run a test, the generated report shows connections between regulations, requirements, and test results.

#### Terms

**Test case** — A description of the specific tests you need to run in order to validate or verify product features or systems.

**Test plan** — An item that documents the overall strategy for validating or verifying that a product or system meets its design specifications and requirements. It also serves as a means of organizing test cases from the project or another project. Test runs are generated for the test cases included in the test plan.

**Test group** — A way to organize and optionally assign test cases in a test plan. The order of test groups and test cases with each group determines how the test runs appear in the test cycle.

Test cycle — A group of test cases converted into a series of test runs that are ready for execution.

**Test run** — An item used to record results for a test case you ran against your product. Test runs are traced directly to the test case where they were generated, and the results for each run determine the Test Case Status for the related test case

## **Testing workflow**



A typical workflow for testing looks like this:

- 1. Create test cases [361] and relate them directly to the requirements that the test cases verify. A test case describes the specific tests you plan to use and their steps [365].
- 2. Create a test plan [371] that gives an overview of how you want to test requirements.
- 3. Associate the necessary test cases with the test plan and organize them into groups [380].
- 4. Get ready for testing by adding a cycle [383] in the test plan. When building a cycle, you must select from the groups in the plan. When you save and create a cycle, you see test runs for all test cases and the selected groups are also created.
- 5. Execute the test runs and log defects [395] as needed.

Resulting test run statuses roll up to calculate the overall test case status [368]. You can then generate a report showing results, such as the Test Plan Summary Report [429] or the Test Plan Detail Report [427].



## IMPORTANT

You must have at least a Test Runner license to be able to add and edit defects and items, create test plans and runs, and manage relationships and attachments. However, test runners can only affect items that are used as defects [362]. More extensive permissions require a different license [583].
# Test cases

Test cases are items that define how a requirement is verified. Test cases (also referred to as *validations* or *verifications*) are directly related to the requirements they are meant to verify. This ensures proper coverage and establishes a trace from requirements to the results of testing (verification).

Test cases are created in the same way any item is created and organized in the Jama Connect structure. Jama Connect sample frameworks typically provide a default test case item, but your organization can configure its own test case item type with terminology and fields relevant to your process.

Like most other items in Jama Connect, test cases can be reused across projects. They can be organized directly within a project or within a library of test cases, where they can be reused.

After creation, organization, review, and approval, test cases are added to one or more test plans in Jama Connect, where test runs are generated for the test cases. During a test run, results are captured for test cases. Jama Connect automatically establishes a trace from test cases to test runs and displays this relationship in Trace View.

### Import test cases

You can import multiple test cases and their corresponding test steps from a spreadsheet.

- You can use a one-way import [118] to quickly bring legacy test cases into Jama Connect.
- You can use a round-trip import [122] so you can work with content outside of Jama Connect and bring changes back in safely.



Use Excel for test case imports. Although you can use Microsoft Word, you can only map the **Name** and **Description** fields, not the individual steps.

### Important considerations

TIP

- Each row with the same test case name is imported as a new test step for that case.
- Test cases and steps can be edited with a round-trip import. For more information, see Edit test cases using round-trip [361].

#### To import test cases:

- 1. Make sure your spreadsheet includes columns for **Test case name** and **Description**. If importing steps, also include a column for **Action**, **Expected results**, and **Notes**.
- 2. Add columns to represent additional fields as part of the import. This is consistent with how other imports to Excel work.

### Edit test cases using round-trip

You can edit multiple test cases and their corresponding test steps using round-trip.

You can't use a round-trip [122] to edit the test case status [368] because that field is automatically calculated from test run statuses.

- 1. Export a round-trip Excel file [122] and include the Steps field.
- 2. To add a test step in Excel, copy a preexisting row and insert it where you want it. Change the content of the cells as needed to create the new step. The steps are renumbered on import.

- 3. To remove a step in Excel, delete a row anywhere in the sequence of steps. The steps are renumbered on import.
- 4. Import test cases [361].

# Special use of item types for test

Any item type can be set up by an organization admin [613] to work in ways that are specific to a test.

For example, the item must be set as a **Test Case** or **Defect** to operate within a test.

Add item type			3 X
*Display: *Display plural: Description: *Type key:			
Use as: Widgets:	Test Case Default Test Case Defect	Active widgets	

- Test case Items used as a test case have test steps [365] and test case status [368] fields, as well as work in test plans for users with a Creator license.
- **Defect** Items you use as defects work in testing for users with a Test Runner license [585] or a Creator license.

# View and edit test case details

Test cases are created in the Explorer Tree for a project and edited like any other item [72]. You can open test cases from the Explorer Tree, Reading View, List View, or find them using search or a filter.

1. To view test cases in groups — In Single Item View, select the test case ID to open and edit it.



#### 2. To view test cases from test runs:

a. In Single Item View, select the **Test case** widget to open the bottom panel and view details about the test case.

Project • Change project <	* SB2-MTK-5:Test * 📋 Alternative sandwich * 🖌 Pantry inventory 😤 🖌	MSB2-FOOD-6:Oranges / AMSB2-TSTRN-25:Bread qu	
E V E Test Plans	MSB2-TSTRN-25	View all locked items (10) Subscribe -	Email
O Add test plan	Prood quality V2 *		-
Test plans	Test Run + Modified 02/11/2022 04:30:12 pm		L L
Alternative sandwich			
Product A	* 3	Ø	0
	ID:		9
	10002-131101-23		0
	GLOBAL ID:		-
	GID-57189		2
	NAME		3
	Bread quality		-
	TEST PLAN:		
GAdd tag Cloud ≡ List (⊉)	Alternative sandwich		0
	TEST CYCLE:		IV
	Test veggie sammy cycle		2
	TEST GROUP:		
	Default Test Group	Test case	8

b. Select the test case ID to open and edit it.

This test has passed

est Case Detail	S:				
ID	Name	Version	Current Version	Last Modified By	Date Created
MSB2-PVAL-1	Bread quality	3	7	Kevin	02/03/2022 05:02:19 pr

# Export test cases to Microsoft Excel

You can export test cases to Excel for audit purposes when the documents need to be saved in a formal repository.

The content that appears in the final output depends on the items you select. For example, if you select **Name** and **Modified by**, those are the only fields that appear in the output.



### NOTE

For test cases, you can also export to a Microsoft Word document [346] or create an export with Office Templates [349].

You can export test cases with or without steps. When including steps:

- · Each step is assigned its own row in Excel output.
- Each step row includes the same non-step data for that case. The repeated data impacts the item count in the spreadsheet.

#### To export test cases:

- 1. From the Explorer Tree, select the set or folder for the test cases that you want to export. If the test cases are in multiple locations, you must use a filter to select them.
- 2. Select List View.
- 3. Select the gear icon to open a drop-down menu and select what you want to include in the Excel spreadsheet.
- 4. In the toolbar, select **Export > Export to Excel**.



The results of your export depend on whether or not you included steps.

### With steps

1	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	1
1									
2	Folder				Produced by:	Shawnna Williams		MediKiosk	
3	Patient I	nformat	ion		on:	05/23/2013		Jama Software	
4	ID	Item Type	Locked	Name	Assigned	Priority	Test Case Status	Step #	Step Action
5		Test Case	FALSE	Edit Patient Info	Will French	Unassigned	Passed	1	Select "Edit Info" on patient rec
6		Test Case	FALSE	Edit Patient Info	Will French	Unassigned	Passed	2	Enter a new last name
7		Test Case	FALSE	Edit Patient Info	Will French	Unassigned	Passed	3	Click "Save"
8		Test Case	FALSE	Edit Patient Info	Will French	Unassigned	Passed	4	View updated record
9		Test Case	FALSE	Record Proced	Sean Adley	High	Blocked	1	Search for patient or select from
10	)	Test Case	FALSE	Record Proced	Sean Adley	High	Blocked	2	Select tooth, procedure or ger
1:	1	Test Case	FALSE	Record Proced	Sean Adley	High	Blocked	3	Enter in text. Select from pre-
12	2	Test Case	FALSE	Record Proced	Sean Adley	High	Blocked	4	Open existing note and make
13	3	Test Case	FALSE	Record Proced	Sean Adley	High	Blocked	5	Search by date, procedure, to
14	1	Test Case	FALSE	Validate insurar	Will French	Unassigned	Scheduled	1	Navigate to a patient record
15	5	Test Case	FALSE	Validate insurar	Will French	Unassigned	Scheduled	2	Select "Update Insurance"
10	5	Test Case	FALSE	Validate insurar	Will French	Unassigned	Scheduled	3	Enter inaccurate insurance info
17	7	Test Case	FALSE	Schedule Patie	Sean Adley	Medium	Failed	1	Enter in date, needed time, dat
18	3	Test Case	FALSE	Schedule Patie	Sean Adley	Medium	Failed	2	Compare against database set
19	9	Test Case	FALSE	Schedule Patie	Sean Adley	Medium	Failed	3	Pick one of the available times

When you export the Steps field from Jama Connect, all Step columns are included in the export: Step #, Step Action, Step Expected Results, and Step Notes.

## Without steps

	А	В	С	D	E	F	G	Н	I. I.
1									
2	Folder				Produced by:	Shawnna Williams		MediKiosk	
3	Patient I	nformat	tion		on:	05/23/2013		Jama Software	
4	ID	Item Type	Locked	Name	Assigned	Priority	<b>Test Case Status</b>		
5		Test Case	FALSE	Edit Patient Info	Will French	Unassigned	Passed		
6		Test Case	FALSE	Record Proced	Sean Adley	High	Blocked		
7		Test Case	FALSE	Validate insurar	Will French	Unassigned	Scheduled		
8		Test Case	FALSE	Schedule Patie	Sean Adley	Medium	Failed		
9		Test Case	FALSE	Create family g	Will French	Medium	Passed		
10									
11	Total Items:	0							

### **Test steps**

Test steps are distinct actions used to run a test.

When running a test, you can indicate the success or failure of each step. The Test Steps field is available in any item whose item type is used as a test case.

A test step consists of these fields, which are authored in the test case:

- Action
- Expected Result
- Notes

### Add and edit test steps

For complex test cases, you can add tests steps as needed, as well as edit existing steps.

#### Important considerations

- When you use a carriage return in test case steps, the displayed text is wrapped. Enable Rich Text Editor for line breaks to be displayed in steps.
- Test steps are plain text by default. Once an organization admin enables rich text in test steps [598], you can edit these steps with rich text. To do so, you select the pencil icon or double-click on the **Steps** field. Selecting **Edit** in the toolbar allows only plain text or html edits.



To add and edit test steps using your key commands, see Keyboard shortcuts [673].

#### To add and edit test steps:

TIP

- 1. View details of the test case [362] where you want to add steps.
- 2. Select **Edit** in the toolbar (for plan text or html edits only), the pencil icon next to the field (for rich text), or double-click in the field to make it editable, then in the steps field, click **Add Step**.

Valid	ation Protocols / CL4-VAL-5		View all locked	items (3) S	ubacribe 🕶	Email
ndro Valid	bid Validation - In a focus gro ation + Version 2	oup of 10 patients	2 7	B- +		Î
SI	O mequiea		0	- n -	0 1	0
-	Action	Expected Result	Notes	Result	8	20
1	Patient A rates at least 7/10.					92
2	Patient B rates at least 7/10.					0
3	Patient C rates at least 7/10.					腾
4	Patient D rates at least 7/10.					-
5	Patient E rates at least 7/10.					-
6	Patient F rates at least 7/10.				317	
7	Patient G rates at least 7/10.					-11-
8	Patient H rates at least 7/10.	8 5				11177
9	Patient I rates at least 7/10.					0
10	Patient J rates at least 7/10.					2

#### STEPS:

Ħ	Action
1	First complete step 1.
2	Second complete step 2.
3	Third complete step 3.
<b>O</b> A	dd Step

3. Enter text in these fields as needed: **Action**, **Expected Result**, and **Notes**. Use the rich text editor [367] to format text or to add images in the steps.

STEPS:																												
Norma	al	•	Size		ж	ß	Ē	6	Source	20	В	Ĩ	U	5	<u>A</u> -	Δ.	$\underline{T}_{X}$	×,	$\mathbf{x}^{\ast}$	E	-	4	=	1.0 2.0	15	38	4	(a) 11
14 周	Ω	0	√-	с																								
#	Actio	ŋ								Екрес	led R	esult							Note	s							Result	
1	Text									Text									Text	1								↓ № 三 前
2	Text									Text									Text	1								↑ D = m
O Add	Step																											

4. Use the action buttons in the far right column to reorder, duplicate, insert, or delete a step. If you need to use the same step multiple times in a test case, you can triple-click the row number to highlight the entire step, then copy and paste as needed.

STEPS:																											
Norma	al		Size		х	66	1	Source	96 e	В	Ĩ	U	5	<u>A</u> -	Δ.	$\mathcal{I}_{x}$	$\mathbf{x}_{i}$	$\mathbf{x}_{i}$	2	÷	#	=	2.0 2.0	15	ΞE	$\Phi_{1}=$	e ::
26 M	Ω	0	√-	С																							
#	Actio	ŋ							Екрес	ted R	esult							Note	s							Result	
1	Text								Text									Text	1								● 小 昭三 )
2	Text								Text									Text									↑ ∎∎ ≡ 1
Add	Step								_																		

5. Click **Save** to include the test steps in the test case.

# Add images to test steps

To provide more detail in a test step, you can add an image.

Test steps are plain text by default. An organization admin can enable rich text for basic formatting and embedded images [598].



# **IMPORTANT**

You must save a new test case before you can add an image to the test step field.

#### To add an image to test steps:

- 1. Select **Edit** in the toolbar (for plain text or html edits only), the pencil icon next to the field (for rich text or html edits), or double-click in the field to make it editable.
- 2. Place your cursor in the cell where you want to add the image, then click the add image or file icon and select the image from your browser or server.

Nor	mai - Size - 📄 🗟 Source 💥 B I U S 🗛 🔂 I	, x <sub>a</sub> x <sup>a</sup> ∎ Ξ Ξ Ξ Ξ Ξ Ξ		10 V	r c
đ	Action	Expected Result	Notes	Result	Long to a
1	Give the user a packaged battery and measure the time it takes them to insert the battery into the device	5 minutes			ju pe ≣ m
2	Give a second user a packaged battery and have them watch a 1 minute video describing the battery replacement	ſ,	setup		$\psi + \eta_0 \equiv 0$
3	Give the second user a packaged battery and measure the time it takes them to insert the battery and re-attach the device	2 minutes			$\tau$ $\mathbf{u}^{\mathbf{s}} \equiv \hat{\mathbf{m}}$

Large images are resized automatically to fit the width of the cell. When you save the test case, click **Expand** to view the image in full size.

STEPS:

#	Action	
1	First complete step 1.	
2	Second complete step 2.	
3	Third complete step 3.	
4		Expand 🕱

### Test case status

Test case status is a system-managed field that is automatically calculated based on the status of associated test runs.

#### Important considerations

- An organization admin can choose to hide the test case status field [599] on any item being used as a test case. It is possible to have the test case status visible for one test case item type and not for another.
- Test case status is a system-managed field that is automatically calculated and can't be updated manually.

By default, this status is calculated using all available test runs associated with the test case, including runs that aren't scheduled. An organization admin can disable this option [605] so that unexecuted runs aren't included in the calculation.

The status is calculated by one of these methods:

- If the test case is used in only **one** active test plan, the test case status the case status reflects the most recent associated run status.
- If the test case is used in **multiple** active test plans, the test case status reflects the most urgent run status based on the following hierarchy, *regardless of when it ran*.



If a test case is used in multiple plans and it picks up the status of a plan that's no longer relevant, you can archive that plan [378]. Doing so removes that plan's test run statuses from the test case status calculation.

You can also use archiving to trigger a recalculation of all test cases in a plan. When a user archives and then unarchives the test plan, the status for all test cases in that plan is recalculated. This can be useful if you want to recalculate the test case status after changing the admin setting to include unexecuted test runs [605], which isn't retroactive.

# Add a Test Run Results column

The Test Run Results column displays the status of all downstream test runs. You can add this column to test cases in reviews, List View, Reading View, and Trace View.

- 1. To add a column in List View or Reading View:
  - a. From the gear icon, select Test Run Results.
  - b. Hover over the color bar to view the status for each test run.



Pass	0%	0 runs
In Progress	0%	0 runs
Not Run	50%	1 run
Blocked	50%	1 run
Fail	0%	0 runs
Total		2 runs

- 2. To add a column in Trace View:
  - a. From the gear icon, select **Test Run Results**.

	All Selected (5)
Steps	Symbol
Symbol	SYS_DOORS_ID
Tags	Test Case Status
Test Run Results	Text field (required)
textbox	Top Mark

b. Hover over the color bar to view the status for each test run.

SOU	RCE IT	TEMS TF	ilter items	Set columns	1 LEVEL DO	NWC	<b>T</b> Filter item	s 📫 Set co	lumns
	Pro	duct Requirer	nent (36), Fol	der (7)	Block Req	luirement	(44), Produc	t Requireme	ent
	3	Project ID	Name	Description	8	Proja	Name	Desc., Te	- te
1	ė	SI_S2_P	Processor						
1		SI_S2_P	Processor	The prod	Pass In Press	ogress	16% 0%	2 runs 0 runs	
					Not F	Run	75%	9 runs	
					Block	ked	0%	0 runs	
					Fail		8%	1 run	-
					Total			12 runs	
					- <b>1</b>	MB_S	Valida	Valida	1

- 3. (Organization admins only) To add a column in reviews:
  - a. Select Admin > Organization, then select Item types.
  - b. On the Item types page, select Test Case > Edit.
     Your admin might use a different name for Test Case, like Verification. To confirm the item type, look at the Use as section in the Edit Item Type window.

Display:	Test Case				
Dienlay niural:	Test Cases				
Description:	Generic				
Description:	TO				
"Type key:					
Use as:	Test Case				
Widgets:	Inactive widgets	Active widgets			
	Activities	Synchronized Items	18		
	Relationships	Attachments	1.17.0		
	Links	Tags	1.4		
	Versions				
	Change Request				
	Risk				
	OSLC Artifacts				
	1909000				
Library icon:					
Custom icon:	No custom icon saved				
Constrainty Street	Browse No file selected.				
	B The file chosen must be a u	ong and 16x16 pixels.			
		and the set of the ball of the			

- c. Click Save.
- d. Select **Test Case > Views** and enable the **Test Run Results** field for Reading View and Single Item View.

and show to have some	and an endou Balde	
orag and grop to hide/show a	ano re-order nelas	
Hidden fields	Visible fields	
Heading	CTest Run Results	
Global ID	Description	
API ID	ID'	
Item Type	Name	
Test Case Status	Steps	
Locked		
Assigned		
Priority	*	
Locked By		
Last Locked		
Created By		
Created Date		
Modified By		
Modified Date		
Project		

In a review with Test Case items, the results rollup bar now appears.

e. To view the status for each test run, hover over the color bar.



# **Test plans**

A test plan is an item that documents the overall strategy for validating or verifying that a product or system meets its design specifications and requirements.

Working with test plans consists of these tasks:

• Add a test plan [372]

• Add test cases to a plan [373]

- View test plan details [374]
- Edit a test plan [375]
- Send a test plan for review [376]
- Duplicate a test plan [377]
- Archive a test plan [378]
- Delete a test plan [379]

# Add a test plan

You can add test cases to a plan, edit, duplicate, or delete the plan, send it out for review, and archive the plan.



# NOTE

You must have read/write permissions for the entire project to create a test plan.

1. Select the **Test Plans** tab in the left panel.



- 2. Click Add test plan.
- 3. In the window that opens, enter the name and description of your new plan. An organization admin can edit the default template [616] included in the test plan description.

n				
rmat 🕆 Size 🛪 🖄 🕞 🛱 🛱 Source 🔀 🖪	$I \ \underline{U} \ \underline{5} \ \underline{A} \cdot \ \underline{O} \cdot \ \underline{I}_s  x_s \ x^s$			
Goals				
<in describe="" goals="" of="" plan.="" section,="" test="" the="" this=""></in>				
Roles and Responsibilities				
this section, describe the roles involved in this test plan and their articipants	responsibilities.>			
Name Role	e			
Schedule				
<in describe="" for="" schedule="" section,="" testing.="" the="" this=""></in>				
Environment(s)				
vironment(s)				
	mat - Size - Size - Source S B = = = = = = + Q b = = 2 cals this section, describe the goals of this test plan.> coles and Responsibilities this section, describe the roles involved in this test plan and their articipants Name Role chedule this section, describe the schedule for this testing.>			

- 4. To create another test plan, select **Add Another**, then complete the options for that plan.
- 5. To let others know that you created this plan, select **Notify**. You can leave a comment and notify a user or group by email.
- 6. Click Save and Close.

The new test plan appears at the top of the list in the Test plans table.

# Add test cases to a plan

Once you create test cases, you can add them to a plan in groups.

For example, you might group all the cases for a specific aspect of the product, for a test location, or for a specific tester.

Because a test case can appear in a test plan only once, you can only add a test case to one group in a test plan.

#### To add a test case to a plan:

- 1. In the left panel, select the **Test Plans** tab and the name of the plan where you want to add the cases.
- 2. In the toolbar of the center panel, select **Test Cases** for that plan. The right panel shows the tree for your project.



### NOTE

If you select a different project in the project selector drop-down menu, the right panel displays the tree for the selected project.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🗇	Search	Project - P Advanced search			
Project + Change project 🔣	+ or Project · Product Requirements · SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19:Proce ·	📄 Test Plan name 🛎 🖌 SI_S2_P-VAL-5:Validate 👘			
Add test plan	Test Plan name	🗇 Overview 🔲 Test Cases 🖌 Test Runs			
Test plans	🔇 Add Test Group 🔺 Collapse all groups 🥚	Add test cases to groups			
New Test Plan		A Semiconductor Project 2.0			
Test 2	Drag Test Cases here to automatically create Test Groups	🔕 Explorer 🖓 🛄 🛃			
Test Plan name	by hierarchy.				
Test Team A		E Product			
Archived Test plans	Product Verification Specification Comession         SI_52_P-VER-1       Core Supply Voltage         SI_52_P-VER-2       MPU Supply Voltage         SI_52_P-VER-3       RTC Supply Voltage         SI_52_P-VER-4       DDR Supply Voltage         SI_52_P-VER-5       DDR Supply Voltage         SI_52_P-VER-6       DDR Supply Current         SI_52_P-VER-7       Deep Sleep Power Consumption         SI_52_P-VER-8       Standby Power Consumption	Overview     Description 2     Features     Applications     Supply Voltage for the MPU Core Domain     Supply Voltage for the RTC Core Domain     Supply Voltage for the RTC Core Domain     Supply Voltage for the RTC Core Domain			
Add tag	Test Team 2 cases	Supply Voltage for the RTC Domain			
2022(2) Alert(1) Review(2) Test(1)	SI_S2_P-VER-4 Core Supply Current SI_S2_P-VER-4 Core Supply Current				
		Add to Selected Group			

- To add test cases to an existing group: Select any component, set, or folder of test cases, or an individual test case from the plan's tree on the right, then drag it to an existing group.
   You can also select the **Releases**, **Filters**, or **Search** tabs to find the test cases you want to add.
- 4. To create a new group based on the Explorer Tree hierarchy, drag the component, set, or folder that contains test cases to the dashed line box at the top of the center pane. The hierarchy is used to generate groups with test cases.

For example, if you drag and drop this set of test cases:



These three groups are created:

TC 1	
TC 2	
	* @ X
TC 3	
	TC 1 TC 2 TC 3

### View test plan details

You can view the details of a test plan by opening it, then you can toggle between three views.

- 1. Select the **Test Plans** tab in the left panel.
- 2. Select the plan to open it.
- 3. In the center panel, toggle between these views:

 Overview — Describes the testing goals and purpose and is displayed as a Single Item View [59] of the test plan. An organization admin can configure which fields are displayed for this item type [595].

• Test Cases — Where you add groups of test cases to a plan.



• Test Runs — Where you add and perform a cycle of test runs.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖻 S			Searc	25	Proje	ct 🗕 🖓 Advance	l search
Project •   Change project 💸	Learn mo	ore 🐘 💾 Dashboa	ard: Semiconductor Project ×	Test 2 🛞			
Add test plan	Test	2			Overview	E Test Cases	🖌 Test Runs
Test plans	Cycle +	Test Cycle B	*	0 Not applicable	🔵 0 Pasa 🐞 0 Fail	🛑 D Blocked 🍵 2 In	Progress 🖷 8 No
New Test Plan	Show	only assigned to me	D Restore order			Views - Ex	port - Actions -
Test 2	I	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to
Test Plan name	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instructions are 32-bit up	p Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test
Test Team A	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65mm Package	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
Archived Test plans	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Power Consumption	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Polygons / Second 2	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	OpenGL	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Direct3D	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	

# Edit a test plan

Once you find the test plan you want to use, decide which way to edit the Overview section of the plan.

- 1. Select the Test Plans tab in the left panel.
- 2. Right-click on the plan you want to edit and select **Edit** to open the Edit item page.

Semiconductor P	roject 2.0 🖻				
Project - Change	e project	~			
	Test Plans	0			
Add test plan		æ 🕐			
Test plans					
Test 2					
Test A	- Chenteer han				
Test Plan name					
Test Team A	Archive				
	Duplicate				
	Send for review				

- 3. Make changes to the test plan Overview as needed.
- 4. Click Save.

#### Send a test plan for review

You can send a test plan for review to ensure that the content is correct and the expected test cases were included. You also gain a baseline of the test plan with its test cases for later comparison, if needed.

#### Important considerations

- When you send test items for review, Single Item View and Reading View might not display all relevant fields. To include the necessary fields, ask your organization admin to configure views [617] for an item type.
- You can create an advanced filter [142] that contains any combination of test plans, cycles, cases, and runs and send that to review.

#### To send a test plan for review:

- 1. Select the Test Plans tab in the left panel.
- 2. Right-click on the test plan you want to review and select **Send for review**.



3. When the initiate review [166] page opens, complete the pages and click **Initiate review**.

Initiate review			×
1 Definition 2 Settings	3 Participants	4 Invitation	Learn more
Name			
Test cycle: Test Cycle B			
Deadline			
02/06/2023 🔲 17:00 PST 🔹			
Project			
Semiconductor Project 2.0	0		
Items			
Nevlew tee cycle test Cycle B	9,		
Include item attachments (Reviewers must have proper pro	ect permissions to view attachments.)		
Include related items			
11 items			Next

### Duplicate a test plan

To save time, you can create a copy of an existing plan to use as a template.

The copy contains:

- All details from the original
- All groups of test cases from the original

The copy *doesn't* contain:

- Test runs from the original
- · Test cycles from the original

#### To duplicate a test plan:

- 1. Select the **Test Plans** tab in the left panel.
- 2. Right-click on the test plan you want to copy (active or archived) and select Duplicate.

Semiconductor Pro	ject 2.0 🖂		
Project - Change p	roject ≪		
	📋 Test Plans 🔹 🖏		
Add test plan	12		
Test plans			
New Test Plan	On an Institution		
Test 2	Copen test plan		
Test Plan name 📴 Edit			
Test Team A 🕒 Archive			
Archived Test plans	Duplicate		
	Send for review		

An active copy of the selected test plan is created.

### Archive a test plan

The only way to archive a test run is to archive the associated test plan. When you archive a test plan, the associated test runs no longer appear in the associated test case, and the test case status reverts to "not scheduled."

- 1. Select the **Test Plans** tab in the left panel.
- 2. Right-click on the test plan that you want to archive and select Archive.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🗈					Sóu	Sourch Project - P Advanced search			
Project +   Change	project 🔇	Learn mo	ore 👘 💾 Dashboa	ard: Semiconductor F	Project	Test 2 ·			
<ul> <li>Add test plan</li> </ul>	Test Plans	Test	2				Overview	E Test Cases	V Test Runs
Test plans		Cycle +	Test Cycle B			• 0 Not applicable	🔹 0 Pase 🛑 0 Fail	0 Blocked	2 In Progress 🔿 8 No
New Test Plan		Show	Show only assigned to me S Restore order			Views - Export - Action			Export - Actions -
Test 2	1	đ	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to	Execution Date
Test Plan name	Open test plan	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instr	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test	
Test Team A	Edit	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65m	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test	09/07/2023
lest lealin A	-	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test	09/07/2023
Archived Test plans	Archive	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr		
Test A	Duplicate	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr		
	Send for review	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Power Consum	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr		

The archived test plans moves into a group at the bottom of the list of test plans.

Project - Change project	~
E 🖓 🥅 🗂 🖹 Test Plans	10
Add test plan	4
Test plans	
New Test Plan	
Test A	
Test Plan name	
Test Team A	
Archived Test plans	-
Test 2	

3. To make a test plan and its associated test runs active again, right-click on the test plan and select **Unarchive**.

Project +   Cl	hange project	~
	Test Plans	۵
Add test pl	an	\$ C
Test plans		
New Test Pla	in	
Test A		
Test Plan na	me	
Test Team A		
Archived Test	plans	
Test 2		_
	Open test plan	
	Edit	
	Unarchive	
	Duplicate	
Add tag	Send for review	1110

This action recalculates the test case status.

### Delete a test plan

When you delete a test plan, you also delete all associated test cycles and test runs. This action also changes the status of test cases associated with the deleted test runs.



### **IMPORTANT**

If a plan has any associated test runs, archive the test plan [378] rather than deleting it.

- 1. Select the **Test Plans** tab in the left panel.
- 2. View details [374] of the plan you want to delete.
- 3. In the toolbar, click **Delete** (trash icon).

	Overview	E Test Cases	🖌 Test Ru
	View all le	ocked items (3) S	Subscribe Delete
/ Edit	Trace view	Export -	6
	@ Relate to	o existing	Send for review

### **Test groups**

A test group lets you organize and optionally assign similar tests in a test plan.

Test cases are added to a plan in groups. This organization makes it easier for others to understand and run your test plan.

For example, you might want to include in the same group all the cases for a specific aspect of the product, or group by test location or tester.

### Add, edit, or delete a test groupadd test

Test cases are added to a plan [373] in groups, which makes it easier for others to understand and run your test plan. For example, you might want to include in the same group all the cases for a specific aspect of the product, or group by test location or by tester.

Along with the default test group, you can create a new group manually by clicking **Add Test Group** or automatically generate test groups by dragging test containers to the center panel. These automatic test groups inherit the name of the test case container. For example, test cases organize by folders in a set generate test groups for each folder.

Project • Change project 🛛 🗮	* Requirements SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19:Proce *	📋 New Test Plan 🛎 💉 S			
Add test plan	New Test Plan				
Test plans	Add Test Grou	p 🔺 Collapse all groups 🌀			
New Test Plan					
Test 2	Drag Test Cases here to automatically create Test Groups				
Test Plan name	by hierarchy.				
Test Team A					
Archived Test plans	Default Test Group @ cases	<b>∞</b>  @   <b>x</b>			
	Vhat do you want to	uest?			
	Drag and drop anything containing te	st cases here			

# Workflow tip

Some organizations create a user as a placeholder for a particular team, such as "Software Team," and assign groups to that team. While this method requires an active license, it allows members of the team to see all the runs that are assigned to their team in a cycle. When you execute a run that was assigned to another user, such as "Admit Test," you can reassign that run to yourself.

Cycle +	Test Cycle B	× 0	D Not applicable	🔮 0 Pass 🔮 0 Fail	D Blocked 2 In	Progress 8
Show	only assigned to me	5 Restore order			Views + Ex	port - Actions
I	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instructions are 32-bit up	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65mm Package	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
D	SUS2 PUTSTR	Validate AES	Teet 2	Test Cyclé B	Default Test Gr	
D	SI S	t Runs	×z	Test Gycle B	Default Test Gr	
0	SI_S Assign To	o: Admin Test	2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
5	SILS		2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
2	SLS	OK Cancel	2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
0	SI_5		2	Test Gycle B	Default Test Gr	
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Direct3D	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
Cycle •	Test Cycle B	S Restore order	0 Not applicable	0 Pass 0 Fail	0 Blocked 2 Ir	Progress
_ Show	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to
2	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instructions are 32-bit up	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test
D	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65mm Package	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test
D	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
D	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
D	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Power Consumption	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Polygons / Second 2	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
D	SI_S2_P-TSTR	OpenGL	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
D	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Direct3D	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	
D	SI S2 P-TSTR	Validate 0.8mm Package	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Test Team A	

#### To add, edit, or delete a test group:

- 1. Select the **Test Plans** tab in the left panel, then select the plan where you want to add a test group.
- 2. In the toolbar of the center panel, select **Test Cases** for the plan you want to see.
- 3. Click Add Test Group.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖻	Sa	arch	Project - P Advanced search		
Project • Change project 🔣	+ Requirements - SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19:Proce T	est 2 📧 🖌 SI_S2_P	-VAL-5:Validate SI_S2_P-VER-3:RTC Supp		
Add test plan	Test 2		🗇 Overview 🔲 Test Cases 🛛 ✔ Test Runs		
Test plans	Add Test Group	Collapse all groups 👩	Add test cases to groups		
New Test Plan			A Semiconductor Project 2.0		
Test 2	Drag Test Cases here to automatically create	🙆 🗈 Explorer 🖓 🛄 🔑			
Test Plan name	by hierarchy.	1	🔁 🔤 Previe		
Test Team A	A REAR FERENCE CONTRACTOR OF		E Product		
Archived Test nlans	Test Team A 1 cases   Test Team A 1 cases  Feature X 0 cases  Feature X 0 cases		Li Datasheet     Detasheet     Detasheet     Detasheet		
			E Project Management A		
			Froject Management A      Project A		
	When do you want to less Drag and drop anything containing test case	es here			

- 4. In the window that opens:
  - a. Enter the name for the group.

#### Jama Connect User Guide

'Name:	Test Group A	
Assigned To:		P

b. Assign a person to run the tests in this group by clicking **Search** (magnifying glass icon), then select the person's name, click **Select User** and click **Save**.

Any runs created from this group are automatically assigned to that person.

- 5. To edit an existing group:
  - a. Select the gear icon to open the Add/Edit Group of Test Cases window.

Product Verifica	tion Specification	(@)×
MB_01-VER-2	MPU Supply Voltage	
MB_01-VER-3	RTC Supply Voltage	
MB_01-VER-4	Core Supply Current	
MB_01-VER-7	Deep Sleep Power Consumption	
MB_01-VER-8	Standby Power Consumption	
MB_01-VER-6	DDR Supply Current	
MB_01-VER-5	RTC Supply Current	

- b. Make your changes and click **Save**.
- 6. To delete an existing group:
  - a. Select the Test Group you want to delete, then click **X** (Delete this test group).

Test Plan na	ime	(n) Overview
	S Add Test Group 🔺 Collapse all groups	Add test cases to groups
		Semiconductor Project
Drag Test (	Cases here to automatically create Test Groups by hierarchy.	🔞 🗈 Explorer 🖓
		Product     Datasheet
Product Verificati	on Specification	🗟 🍚 Change Requests
SI_S2_P-VER-1	Core Supply Voltage	Delete this test group inagement.
SI_S2_P-VER-2	MPU Supply Voltage	E Project Management
SI_S2_P-VER-3	RTC Supply Voltage	Project A
SI_S2_P-VER-6	DDR Supply Current	
SI_S2_P-VER-7	Deep Sleep Power Consumption	
SI_S2_P-VER-8	Standby Power Consumption	
Test Team 2 case		
SI_S2_P-VER-5	RTC Supply Current	
SI_S2_P-VER-4	Core Supply Current	

C......

b. Click **Yes** to confirm.

The test group is removed from the center panel.

- c. Select **Test Runs** and review existing Test Cycles to see if there are test runs linked to the removed test group cases.
- d. If test runs are unassigned and appear in the Not Run state, select Cycle > Edit cycle.
   A wizard opens and guides you through the process [385]. The removed test group no longer appears on the second page of the Edit Cycle wizard.
- e. Save the Test Cycle to update and ensure the test runs were removed.



### IMPORTANT

If the test runs were executed, then you must delete each test run from Single Item View.

# **Test cycles**

Test cycles convert groups of test cases into a series of test runs that are ready to be executed.

In a test plan, you must add a test cycle [383] to generate runs [395] and record results. You can also send a test cycle for review [388].

You can't add a test case directly to a cycle; you must first include it in a group.

Test cycles can include all tests in the plan or a select number of groups defined in the plan. For cycles generated after the first cycle, test cycles might also include or exclude test cases based on previous run status within that plan.

Te	est 2	-				in ov
Cyc	le -	New cycle				~
	Show	Test				
-	Ð	New cycle				
0	T	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instr	Test 2	New cycle	Def
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65m	Test 2	New cycle	Def

# Add a test cycle

Cycles are created from groups of test cases. Add a test cycle to combine test runs that you want to execute together.

- 1. Select the **Test Plans** tab in the left panel.
- 2. Select the plan to open it.
- In the toolbar of the test plan, select Test Runs.
   The screen displays the selected cycle and all associated test runs.

Test 2	2				Overview	Test Cases	💙 Test Runs
Cycle -	Test Cycle B			V 0 Not applicable	💿 D Pass 🌘 O Fai	0 Blocked	2 In Progress 🔹 8 No
Show	only assigned to me	S Restore order				Views -	Export - Actions -
T	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to	Execution Date
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instr	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr.	Admin Test	
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65m	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr.	Admin Test	09/07/2023
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr.	Admin Test	09/07/2023
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr.		
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr.		

4. To add a cycle, select **Add cycle** from the Cycle drop-down menu. If this is the first cycle you're adding, you see a green button icon.

Test 2							6	Over	view	E Test Case	s 🗸 Te	st Runs
Cycle -	Test Cycle B				v	0 Not applicable		Pass	😑 0 Fail	0 Blocked	2 In Prog	ress 📹 8 No
2 View	cycle details	ne	D Restore order							Views	- Export -	Actions -
P Edit	details		Name	Test Plan		Test Cycle		Test G	iroup	Assigned to	Exe	ecution Date
Ca Add	cycle	-	Validate all instr	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr.	Admin Test		
C Edit	cvcle	e	Validate 0.65m	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr	Admin Test	09/0	07/2023
O Dela	te suele	-	Validate AES	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr.	Admin Test	09/0	07/2023
Dele	ne cycle		Validate SHA	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr			
Send	For Review	+	Validate RNG	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr.			

The Add test cycle wizard opens.

5. On the Test cycle details page, enter the name, start and end dates, and optional description, then click **Next**.

C Add test cycle								• ×
1 Test cycle details			- 3	2 Test cas	985			
INAME:								
Test Cycle B								
TEST PLAN:								
SI_S2_P-TSTPL-3 Test 2								
DESCRIPTION:								
Normal - Size - 🐰		Source 💱	B I <u>U</u> <del>S</del>	<u>A</u> • 🛛• I <sub>x</sub>	$X_{2}, \ X^{2}$	<b>E</b> 2 3 8	12 :1 😤 4E	
* * Q \$3 @ 0	B 🕿 🖽 (	0 .0						
*START DATE:								
iiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii	×							
*END DATE:								
iii 09/28/2022	×							
							Mart	Canad
							NBAC	Gancer

6. On the Test cases page, make your selections:

C Add test cycle	0	2
🕑 Test cycle details	2 Test cases	
Test cases are added by test group, and can be furth	her filtered by status. Only test cases that <b>match all selections</b> are included in the cycle.	
ADD BY TEST GROUP		
All test groups in plan		
Default Test Group		
V Test Team A		
Feature X		
Only include test runs that most recently had t	he following status	
All statuses		
Passed		
Not run/new		
V In progress		
Failed		
Slocked		

Back	10 test runs will be added	Save	Cance
------	----------------------------	------	-------

- Add by test group Select All test groups in a plan or select individual test groups.
- All statuses Select All statuses or select individual statuses.
- 7. Click Save.

The page is refreshed and displays the new test cycle.

### Edit a test cycle

Cycles are created from the test plan's groups of test cases. From the Cycle drop-down menu, you can edit just the details (name and description) or edit the cycle's full contents (details and any needed tests).

#### Important considerations

• When you edit the contents of a test cycle, a text alert warns you about potential data loss. For each group that is removed, you can hover over its caution icon to see the number of test runs to be deleted. The total number is highlighted in yellow at the bottom of the screen.

✔ Edit test cycle	• ×
Tast cycle details	2 Test cases
Test cases are added by test group, and can be further filtered by status. On	ly test cases that match all selections are included in the cycle.
ADD BY TEST GROUP	
All test groups in plan	
V Test Team A	
V Feature X	
<ul> <li>All statuses</li> <li>Not run/new</li> <li>In progress</li> <li>Blocked</li> <li>Failed</li> <li>Passed</li> <li>Not applicable</li> </ul>	

• If a group in the cycle contains an assigned test run or a test run with a status other than Not Run, that run is not deleted when the group is removed. It must be manually removed from the test cycle.

Save

Cancel

#### To edit a test cycle:

Back

1. In a test plan, select **Test Runs**, then select the cycle you want to edit. The screen displays the selected cycle and its associated test runs.

• 10 test runs will be deleted 0 test run will be added

Te	est 2	2					G	Over	view	Test Case	25	V Tes	at Runs
Сус	cle •	Test Cycle B			v	• 0 Not applicable		U Pass	😑 0 Fail	0 Blocked	• 2	In Progre	ss 📾 8 No
	Show	only assigned to me	5 Restore order							Views		Export -	Actions -
	C	ID	Name	Test Plan		Test Cycle		Test G	roup	Assigned to	0	Exec	ution Date
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instr	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Default	Test Gr	Admin Test			
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65m	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Default	Test Gr	Admin Test		09/07	7/2023
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Default	Test Gr	Admin Test	6	09/07	7/2023
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Default	Test Gr				
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Default	Test Gr				

2. To edit only the cycle's name and description, select **Edit details** from the Cycle drop-down menu.

Test 2	2					Overs	new	E Test Cases	V Tes	t Runs
Cycle +	Test Cycle B			Y	D Not applicable	O Pass	O Fail	0 Blocked	2 In Progre	ss 🖿 B No
C View	cycle details	ne	C Restore order					Views •	Export +	Actions -
6 Edit	details		Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Gr	oup	Assigned to	Exec	ution Date
Ca Add	cycle		Validate all instr	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default	Test Gr	Admin Test		
Edit	ovcle	4	Validate 0.65m	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default	Test Gr	Admin Test	09/0	7/2023
- Dala			Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default	Test Gr	Admin Test	09/07	7/2023
S Dele	le cycle	1	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default	Test Gr			
Send	For Review		Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default	Test Gr			

a. In the page that opens, change the name and description as needed.

- b. Click Save.
- 3. To edit the cycle's name, description, and contents, select **Edit cycle** from the Cycle drop-down menu.

Test 2	2						G	Over	view	E Test Case	s	V Test R	uns
Cycle -	Test Cycle B				×	D Not applicable		Pass	e û Fail	0 Blocked	2	In Progress	8 No
C View	v cycle details	ne	D Restore order							Views	•	Export - Ac	tions +
C Edit	details		Name	Test Plan		Test Cycle		Test G	roup	Assigned to	,	Executio	on Date
G Add	cycle		Validate all instr	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr	. Admin Test			
C Edit	cycle	•	Validate 0.65m	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr	. Admin Test		09/07/20	23
C Dela	to cuelo	-	Validate AES	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr	. Admin Test		09/07/20	23
L Date	see cycle		Validate SHA	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr				
💙 Sen	d For Review	4	Validate RNG	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr	•			
		_											

The Edit test cycle wizard opens.

a. Enter the name, start and end dates, and optional description, then click **Next**.

Edit test cycle			<b>0</b> ×
1 Test cycle details	2	Test cases	
*NAME:			
New cycle			
TEST PLAN:			
SI_S2_P-TSTPL-3 Test 2			
DESCRIPTION:			
Format - Size - 💥 🕒 🗎	B Source 👯 B I U S	· Ø· Ix × × ≥ ± ± ≡ ;	: (=
	D O O C		
*START DATE:			
iii 05/16/2022 ×			
*END DATE:			
≝ 05/23/2022 ×			

Next

Cancel

b. Make your selections under Add by Test Group:

Edit test cycle		0	-
🧭 Test cycle details	2 Test cases		
Test cases are added by test group, and can be fur	her filtered by status. Only test cases that match all selections are included in th	he cycle.	
ADD BY TEST GROUP			
All test groups in plan			
🗹 Test Team A			
V Feature X			
Only include test cases whose most recent ru	1 status was		
All statuses			
Vot run/new			
🔲 In progress			
Slocked			
Z Failed			
Passed			
Vot applicable			
	and the second		
Back 9 test runs will be deleted 0 test	run will be added Save	e Cano	el

- Add by test group Select All test groups in plan or select individual test groups.
- Add by test run status Select All statuses or select individual statuses.
- c. Click Save.

A pop-up message confirms that the changes were successful.

### Send a test cycle for review

A wizard guides you through the process of sending a test cycle out for review.



#### NOTE

When you send test cycles and runs for review, some relevant fields might not appear in a review's Single Item View or Reading View. If this occurs, an organization admin can configure views [617] for an item type to include the necessary fields.

#### To send a cycle for review:

1. In a test plan, select **Test Runs**, then select the cycle you want to send for review.

Semiconductor Project 2.0			Sean	chi	Proje	roject 🔹 🖓 Advanced search			
Project •   Change project	Learn me	ore 🐘 📇 Dashboa	ard: Semiconductor Project *	Test 2 🛞					
Add test plan	Test	2			Overview	Test Cases	Test Runs		
Test plans	Cycle +	Test Cycle B	*	0 Not applicable	🙍 0 Pass 🐞 0 Fail	🖲 🛛 Blocked 🍵 2 In	Progress 🔮 8 No		
New Test Plan	Show	v only assigned to me	D Restore order			Views - Ex	port · Actions ·		
Test 2	T	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to		
Test Plan name	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instructions are 32-bit u	p Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test		
Test Team A	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65mm Package	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
Test Teall A	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
Archived Test plans	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Power Consumption	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Polygons / Second 2	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	OpenGL	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Direct3D	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			

2. Select **Send For Review** from the Cycle drop-down menu.

Cycle +	Test Cycle B		~	• 0 Not applicable	🛚 0 Pass 🐞 0 Fail 🍕	0 Blocked 🏮 2	In Progress 6 Not
Z View	v cycle details	ne 'D Restore order				Views -	Export - Actions -
J Edit	details	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to	Execution Date
Add	cycle	Validate all instr	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test	
Edit	cvcle	. Validate 0.65m	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test	09/07/2023
Dela	to curlo	Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test	09/07/2023
Ca Lifeite	HB CYLIC	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr		
Seni	d For Review	Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr		

3. When the initiate review [166] page opens, complete the pages and click **Initiate review**.

Initiate review			×
1 Definition 2 Settings	3 Participants	4 Invitation	2 Learn more
Name			
Test cycle: Test Cycle B			
Deadline 02/06/2023  17:00 PST			
Project			
Semiconductor Project 2.0	9		
Items			
Nevlevi Tesi cyclei Test Cycle B	9,		
Include item attachments (Reviewers must have proper project	ct permissions to view attachments.)		
Include related items			
			-
11 items			Next

When you send a cycle to a review, the review content includes the cycle details and all runs in the cycle.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 - REV-154	• Add moderators • Add participants Delegate approval Subscribe -					
Test cycle: Test Cycle B vi Approval review - 6 10/12/2023 - View BASE-311 In progress	🖋 Publish new revision 🛛 🖄 Manage review 👻 📳 👻 🖷					
🖒 🔐 🛡 🔍 Moderator Approver 3 11 items	Highlighting: 🛯 Show removed Items: 🔐 🔵 Batch item actions 🗸					
1 Test Cycle B						
1.1.1 Validate all instructions are 32-bit update Validate that all instructions are 32-bit update Validate that all instructions are 32-bit Test Group: Default Test Group Default Test Group Assigned to: Admin Test Admin Test Steps: No Steps Status: Not Run Actual Results: No information entered						

# Test runs

A test run is an item that records results for a test case against your product.

A test run item type is created as a singular instance of a test case. The core information (name, description, and steps) is copied from the test case into the test run when the test run is generated.

If a test case changes after a test run is created, the test run must be manually updated to reflect the newer version of its test case.

Test runs are executed in test cycles, where test runners indicate a result of passed, failed, blocked, or passed with errors. These test run statuses roll up to a single status in the parent test case.

Example of a test run:

Test Run: MSB2-TSTRN-24 Tester: Megan Attachments: Item has no attachments.			attachment	Duration: 00:00:	
De	scription: Proper sandwick	nes should have at least two vegetables	s that provide crunch and j	uiciness, and an altern	native umami satisfaction.
De	scription: Proper sandwick Action Add water-based crunch	es should have at least two vegetables Expected Result Vegetable also quenches the consumer	s that provide crunch and j	uiciness, and an altern Status Passed	Result
De	Action Add water-based crunch Add umami	Expected Result Vegetable also quenches the consumer Vegetable adds savory or meaty taste	s that provide crunch and j	uiclness, and an altern Status Passed Failed	Result

# Find and manage test runs

By selecting **Test Runs** in the toolbar, you can manage all the runs in the cycles for a test plan.

#### Important considerations

- The test cycle displays a clickable ID for each test run. Clicking the ID navigates to the test run in Single Item View.
- Select the column header to sort columns. Return them to their original order by selecting **Restore order**. For older data, a project reindex [661] might be required to properly restore the order.
- The order of the Test Group column is based on the hierarchy of groups. The names themselves can't be sorted in List View.

#### To find and manage test runs:

1. For the plan you're using, select **Test Runs** in the toolbar.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🛛 🖂			Searc	n.	Proje	Project - P Advanced search					
Project - Change project	Learn more 🔹 📇 Dashboard: Semiconductor Project 🛪 👔 Test 2 🛎										
Add test plan	Test	2		Overview	n Overview 📔 Test Cases 🖌 Test Runs						
Test plans	Cycle +	Test Cycle B	Cycle B 👻 💿 🛛 Not applicable		💿 O Pass 🐞 O Fail	i 😑 D Blocked 🌓 2 in Progress 🔮					
New Test Plan	Show	only assigned to me	D Restore order			Views - Export - Actions -					
Test 2	T	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to				
Test Plan name	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instructions are 32-bit up	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test				
Tost Team A	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65mm Package	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr					
Test featrix	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr					
Archived Test plans	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr					
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr					
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Power Consumption	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr					
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Polygons / Second 2	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr					
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	OpenGL	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr					
	0	SI S2 P-TSTR	Direct3D	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr					

Test runs are displayed in a configurable List View in the center panel.

2. To make fields visible, select **Views > Configure view** in the toolbar.



- 3. To see the test case associated with this run, right-click on a test run and select **Open test case**.
- 4. To assign a user to a test run, select **Assign test run**.
- 5. To filter the List View for test runs assigned only to you, select **Show only assigned to me** in the upper left toolbar.
- 6. To export the visible test runs as a standard Word, Excel, or custom format document (Office Templates), select **Export**.

### View test run details

You can view specific details about a test run, such as connected users, comments, and associated test cases.

1. In the test plan, select **Test Runs** from the toolbar to display test runs in List View.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖻			Searc	Search Project - P Advanced search						
Project -   Change project	Learn mo	Learn more 📱 🐣 Dashboard: Semiconductor Project 🕺 📔 Test 2 🖄								
Add test plan	Test	2			Overview	E Test Cases	🖌 Test Runs			
Test plans	Cycle +	Test Cycle B	*	0 Not applicable	🛢 0 Pass 🐞 0 Fail	. D Blocked . 2 In	Progress 🔮 8 No			
New Test Plan	Show	only assigned to me	D Restore order		Views - Ex	Views - Export - Actions -				
Test 2	T	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to			
Test Plan name	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instructions are 32-bit up	o Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test			
Test Team A	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65mm Package	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				
lear reality	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				
Archived Test plans	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Power Consumption	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Polygons / Second 2	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	OpenGL	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				
	0	SI S2 P-TSTR	Direct3D	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				

2. Select the ID of a test run to view its details in Single Item View.

Tes	st 2	2					@ o	verview	Test Case	s 🗸 T	est Runs
Cycle	•	Test Cycle B			×	Q Not applicable	0 Pa	ss 🐞 Ö Fail	• 0 Blocked	2 In Prog	aress 💣 8 No
□ s	show	only assigned to me	5 Restore order						Views	- Export	- Actions -
	T	ID	Name	Test Plan		Test Cycle	Tes	t Group	Assigned to	o Ex	ecution Date
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instr	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Det	ault Test Gr.	Admin Test		
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65m	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Det	ault Test Gr.	Admin Test	09/	07/2023
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Det	ault Test Gr.	Admin Test	09/	07/2023
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Det	ault Test Gr.			

- 3. From the toolbar on the right, you can:
  - View and add relationships, comments, and connected users.
  - Check the activity and version history for the test run.
  - Open the associated test case.

View all locked items (9) Subscribe - Email
> S B + 6 0
00
0
1
22
0
5 B
-
0
11
8

# Configure test run view

You can configure how your system displays test runs, which columns are visible when you view test runs.

- 1. Select a test plan, then select **Test Runs** from the toolbar.
- 2. From the Views drop-down menu, select Configure view.

Test	2					Dverv	view	E Test	Case	s 💉 T	est Ri	Ins
Cycle +	Test Cycle B			* . DN	ot applicable	0 Pass	0 Fail	. 0 Bio	cked	2 In Prog	ress	8 No
Show	v only assigned to me	S Restore order							Views	Export	- Ac	ons +
ø	ID	Name	Test Plan	Te	est Cycle	Test Gr	oup	Ass	-	onfigure vie	w	Date
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instr	Test 2	Te	st Cycle B	Default	Test Gr	. Adm	in Test	_	-	

3. In the window that opens, double-click on the field name, drag and drop, or use the arrows to move the field names between the **Hidden fields** column and **Visible fields** column.

estore organization defaults		U Save as de	fault for Test Runs
Dray and drop to hide/show and i	re-order fields		
Hidden fields ID Heading Global ID API ID Item Type Test Cycle Locked Test Group Test Case Description Locked By Actual Results Last Locked Assigned to Modified Date Duration	Vis Na Tes Ste	ible fields me at Plan aps	
		Apply	Cancel

- 4. Select **Restore organization defaults** if you want to return to the default settings. An organization admin can configure the default view settings for test run item types [617].
- 5. Select **Save as default for Test Runs** if you want to use this configuration for all test runs that you view in Jama Connect. Otherwise, your settings are applied only during this session and return to default settings when you log in again.
- 6. Click Apply.

# Assign test runs

A test run must be assigned to an individual. It can be assigned in advance or when a user executes a run.

Assigning users in advance allows them to easily identify which test runs they are responsible for executing. It also ensures that no test runs are missed because they weren't assigned.

1. In the test plan, select **Test Runs**.

Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖻			Searc	Search Project - P Advanced search					
Project +   Change project 🔍	Learn mo	ore 🔹 📇 Dashboa	rd: Semiconductor Project 👋 📋	Test 2 🛞					
Add test plan	Test	2			Overview	Test Cases	Test Runs		
Test plans	Cycle +	Test Cycle B	*	O Not applicable	🔵 O Pass 🐞 O Fail	🐞 🛛 Blocked 🍵 2 In	Progress 🖷 8 No		
New Test Plan	Show	only assigned to me	"D Restore order		Views - Export - Actions -				
Test 2	C	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to		
Test Plan name	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instructions are 32-bit up	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	Admin Test		
Test Team A	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65mm Package	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
Tool reality	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
Archived Test plans	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Power Consumption	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Polygons / Second 2	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	OpenGL	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			
	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Direct3D	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr			

2. Select the test runs you want to assign. Press **Ctrl** or **Shift** to select more than one.

Test :	2					Ove	rview	E Test Case	s 🖌 Test Runs
Cycle +	Test Cycle B			*	0 Not applicable	0 Pass	🐞 O Fail	0 Blocked	🔵 2 In Progress 👘 & No
Show	v only assigned to me	D Restore order						Views	Export - Actions -
æ	ID	Name	Test Plan		Test Cycle	Test (	Group	Assigned to	Execution Date
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instr	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Defau	It Test Gr	. Admin Test	
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65m	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Defau	It Test Gr	. Admin Test	09/07/2023
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Defau	It Test Gr.,	. Admin Test	09/07/2023
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Defau	It Test Gr		
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Defau	It Test Gr.,		
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Power Consum	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Defau	It Test Gr		

3. From the Actions drop-down menu, select Assign Test Runs.

Te	est 2	2				Overview	E Test Cases 🛛 🖌 Test Runs
Cyc	de +	Test Cycle B		*	O Not applicable	🝵 0 Pass 🐞 0 Fail	😑 0 Blocked 🍵 2 in Progress 🖷 8 Not
	Show	only assigned to me	່ງ Restore order				Views - Export - Actions -
	T	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	la Assign Test Runs
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instr	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr.	Sync Test Runs to Test Cases
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65m	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr.	Batch Update Test Run Status
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr.	Munimi tost
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr.	
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr.	
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Power Consum	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr.	а. — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —

- 4. In the Assign Test Runs window, select the name of the user you want to assign, then click **Select User**.
- 5. Click OK.

The page is refreshed and the user you assigned to the test run appears in the **Assigned to** column.

### Execute a test run

When a user executes a test run, results like Pass/Fail are captured for that run. The run displays details for conducting the run, including the description and steps defined in the associated test case.



# IMPORTANT

When you select **Pause**, the results (Pass/Fail) aren't automatically saved. You must click **Save and Done** to save the recorded results or "actual results" values.

- 1. In the test plan, choose the run you want to execute using one of these methods:
  - Select Execute this Test Run (blue arrow button) next to the run you want.

Test	2					Overs	/iew	E Test Cases	✓ Test	Runs	
Cycle •	Cycle - Test Cycle B			*	O Not applicable	🔵 0 Pass 🛑 0 Fail		Blocked	2 In Progress	8 B B B	
She	ow only assigned to me	D Restore order						Views •	Export +	Actions -	
2	ID ID	Name	Test Plan		Test Cycle	Test Gr	oup	Assigned to	Execut	ion Date	
0)	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instr	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Default	Test Gr	Admin Test			
0 E	ecute this Test	Validate 0.65m	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Default	Test Gr	Admin Test	09/07/2	2023	
R	un	Validate AES	Test 2		Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr		Admin Test	09/07/2	09/07/2023	
0		Matheta Clink	Trate		The Charles D	Defent	Trate				

• Right-click on the run you want and select **Execute Test Run**.

Te	est 2	2					â	Over	view	E Test Cases	🖌 Te	st Runs	
Cycle -		Test Cycle B			*	0 Not applicable	0 Pass		😑 0 Fail	e 0 Blocked	2 In Progr	ress 👘 8 No	
	Show	only assigned to me	D Restore order							Views -	Export -	Actions -	
	æ	ID Name Test P		Test Plan		Test Cycle	Test Gr		roup	Assigned to	Exe	Execution Date	
0	-	AL DO D. TOTO.	1/-lidate all instr	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr.	Admin Test			
0	L	Execute Test Run	late 0.65m	Test 2		Test Cycle B	1.1	Defaul	t Test Gr.	Admin Test	09/0	07/2023	
0		Open Test Case	late AES	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr.	Admin Test	09/0	07/2023	
0	8	Assign Test Run	Jate SHA	Test 2		Test Cycle B		Defaul	t Test Gr.				

The Execute Test window includes three tabs at the top: **Test Execution**, **Test Run Details**, and **Test Case**.



# NOTE

If you try to execute a test run that isn't assigned to you, you are prompted to reassign it to yourself.

2. To execute multiple runs assigned to you, make sure they are assigned to you before opening the Execute Test window, then select **Open my next assigned test** to continue to the next run.
| Test Execution                     | × Test Run Details              | Test Case                    |                        |                      |                                      |
|------------------------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------------|------------------------|----------------------|--------------------------------------|
| MDSD-VER-7<br>fest Run:<br>fester: | 7 Verification<br>MDSD-TSTRN-14 | of length<br>4               |                        |                      | Start Test Run<br>Duration: 00:00:00 |
| Description:                       | Take a random sa                | ample of two implants from n | nanufacturer delivery. | Status               | RAsult                               |
| Unit 1 produce<br>adheres to re    | ced / procured<br>equirement    |                              |                        | Not Run              | 20-                                  |
| Unit 2 produce<br>adheres to re    | ced / procured<br>equirement    |                              |                        | Not Run              | 50<br>10                             |
|                                    |                                 |                              |                        | Not Ru               | un -                                 |
| Actual Results:                    | 9                               |                              | Sher Miss<br>To 0 n c  |                      |                                      |
| Norkflow Status:                   |                                 | 18                           |                        |                      |                                      |
|                                    |                                 |                              | 💟 Open m               | y next assigned test | axt test run Close                   |

- 3. Select the **Test Execution** tab.
  - a. Click Start Test Run to start the duration timer.

Unless the field is configured to read-only, you can double-click on the duration field and change the timer to reflect the actual testing time.

0	Test Execution	😸 Test Run Details	Test Case				
C	L-TC-13	Display sorted l	oan info				Start Test Run
Te	st Run:	QL-TSTRN-23					
Te	Tester: Admin Test						Duration: 00:03:07
A	tachments:		91	Add attachment			Log a Defect
		Item has no atta	chunenis:				
¥							
	Action	-	Expected Result	Notes	Status	Result	
1	Acton Login as S	Sample User Bob	Expected Result Bob's homepage will display	Notes	Status Not Run	Result.	

b. If you discover a defect while running a test, select **Log a Defect** to open the right panel, fill in the information and click **Save Defect**. (A project admin can determine where these defects are saved [660].) When you add a defect from the Test Execution window, it's automatically related to that test run and test case where the test run was generated.

### Jama Connect User Guide

	"Name:				
9	Description:	Click to reall			
1	Release:	Select one .		*	
	Priority:	Select one .	*		
9	Found By:			P	
Ĵ	Assigned:			P	
9	Dev URL:				
	Dev Sprint:				
	Status:	Open	*		
	Add Tags:				
	Add Tags:				

- c. Once you start the timer and begin the test, mark each step as passed, failed, or not applicable\*. You can add results for each step in the results field. If there are no steps, you can assign an overall passed, failed, or not applicable status\*.
  - \* Not applicable status is only available when configured by an organization admin.

C	L3-VER-30 Android V	alidation			Pause Test Run	
Test Run: CL3-TSTRN-45		45			Duration: 00:00:2	
Te	ester: Creator User				Duration, 00.00.2	
A	tachments: Item has no	attachments	& Add attachment		Log a Defect	
	escription: In a focus gro	oup of 10 patients with Android d	evices, rate device application at le	ast 7/10.	Death	
D	Action In a focus gro Action Patient A rates at least 7/	Expected Result	evices, rate device application at le	ast 7/10. Status	Result:	
D	Action In a focus gro Action Patient A rates at least 7/ Patient B rates at least 7/	oup of 10 patients with Android d Expected Result 10.	evices, rate device application at le Notes	ast 7/10. Status & X Ø	Result Step not applicable	
	Action In a focus gro Action Patient A rates at least 7/ Patient B rates at least 7/ Patient C rates at least 7/	eup of 10 patients with Android d Expected Result 10.	evices, rate device application at le Notes	ast 7/10.	Result: Step not applicable	
D	Action Patient A rates at least 7/ Patient B rates at least 7/ Patient C rates at least 7/ Patient D rates at least 7/	bup of 10 patients with Android d Expected Result 10. 10.	evices, rate device application at le Notes	ast 7/10. Status & X Ø & X Ø & X Ø & X Ø	Result Step not applicable	
D	Action Patient A rates at least 7/ Patient B rates at least 7/ Patient C rates at least 7/ Patient D rates at least 7/ Patient D rates at least 7/	Expected Result Expected Result 10. 10. 10. 10.	evices, rate device application at le	ast 7/10.	Roault: Step not applicable	
D	Action Action Patient A rates at least 7/ Patient B rates at least 7/ Patient C rates at least 7/ Patient D rates at least 7/ Patient E rates at least 7/ Patient E rates at least 7/	Expected Result  Expected Result  Comparison  Comparison Comparison  Comparison  Comparison  Comparison  Comparison  Comparison  Comparison  Comparison  Compariso	evices, rate device application at le	ast 7/10.	Result Step not applicable	

d. To include images in the Results column of the test steps, click Add Image. You can also provide feedback for the test run as a whole using the Actual Results field, which is a rich text field that can include formatted text, tables, images, and links.
 The test run status [402] (in progress, passed, failed, blacked) is shown at the bettern of the

The test run status [403] (in progress, passed, failed, blocked) is shown at the bottom of the status column.

- e. (Optional) If any step failed but you want to conditionally pass the test run, select
   Pass with errors. If the test run couldn't be executed (steps couldn't be performed), select
   Mark as blocked.
- 4. Select the **Test Run Details** tab to view details about the run.

Test Execution	👫 Test Run Details				
This test has	passed				
Test Case Detai	s:				
ID	Name	Version	Current Version	Last Modified By	Date Created
SI_S2_P-VAL-1	Validate all instructions are 32-bit update	2	2	Admin Test	10/22/2021 10:01:16 ar
Upstream Items	from Test Case:				
ID	Name				Item Type
SI_S2_P-P_RE	Processor Core 1				Product Requir
MB_SP-P_REQ	Processor Core 1 - edit 3				Product Requir
	and a second				

These items are visible:

- Test case that generated this test run View the version number of the test case at the time the test run was generated and the current version. Select the ID to open a new window that displays the details of the derived item, such as the goal of the test case, preconditions, steps in the case, and the duration of the test run.
- Upstream items related to this test run Select the item ID to view detailed information about the related items in a separate window.
- 5. Select the **Test Case** tab to view details about the test case that generated this test run.

C Test Execution	st Run Detai	Is E Test Case		
Validation				
Project ID:	CL3-	/AL-6		
Global ID:	GID-1	4112		
<sup>a</sup> Name:	Wind	ows Mobile Validation		
P Description:				
Assigned: Release: Test Case Status:	Block	ed		
- Steps:	#	Action	Expected Result	Notes
	1	Patient A rates at least 7/10.		1
	2	Patient B rates at least 7/10.		
	3	Patient C rates at least 7/10.		
	4	Patient D rates at least 7/10.		1
	5	Patient E rates at least 7/10.		
	6	Patient F rates at least 7/10.	1	1

Patient G rates at least 7/10.

Patient H rates at least 7/10.

Patient I rates at least 7/10.

Patient J rates at least 7/10.

6. Click Save and Close.

7

8

9

10

# Archive a test run

The only way to archive a test run is to archive the associated test plan.

When you archive a test plan, the associated test runs no longer appear in the associated test case, and the test case status reverts to "not scheduled" or the appropriate value based on any existing non-archived test runs.

- 1. Select the **Test Plans** tab in the left panel.
- 2. Right-click on the test plan that you want to archive and select Archive.

Semiconductor Pr	Semiconductor Project 2.0 🗇				3	Sourch   Project - P Advanced search				
Project + Change project <			Learn more 🐘 📇 Dashboard: Semiconductor Project 🦻 📋 Test 2 🔹							
<ul> <li>Add test plan</li> </ul>	Test Plans		Test 2	2				Overview	E Test Cases	V Test Runs
Test plans			Cycle -	Test Cycle B			Y O Not applicable	🔹 0 Pase 🛑 0 Fail	e 0 Blocked	2 In Progress 🔿 8 No
New Test Plan			Show only assigned to me S Restore order				Views - Export - Actions -			
Test 2	1		3	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to	Execution Date
Test Plan name	Open test plan	F	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instr	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr.	. Admin Test	
Tost Toom A	Edit	H.	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65m	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	. Admin Test	09/07/2023
Test Tealin A	-		0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	. Admin Test	09/07/2023
Archived Test plans	Archive	-	0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr		
Test A	Duplicate		0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr		
	Send for review		0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Power Consum	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr	•	

The archived test plan moves into a group at the bottom of the list of test plans.

Project - Change project	~
E V 🛄 🗂 🖹 Test Plans	9
Add test plan	4
Test plans	
New Test Plan	
Test A	
Test Plan name	_
Test Team A	
Archived Test plans	*
Test 2	

3. To unarchive a test plan (make it active again), right-click on it and select **Unarchive**. Along with the default test group, you can create a new group manually or by dragging test cases to the center panel.

Project +   Ch	ange project	~
	Test Plans	۲
Add test pla	in	\$ <b>(</b> )
Test plans		
New Test Pla	ń	
Test A		
Test Plan nam	ne	
Test Team A		
Archived Test p	lans	-
Test 2		
	Open test plan	
	Edit	
	- Unarchive	
	Duplicate	
Add tag	Send for review	111

# Configure custom fields to appear during test execution

When custom fields are added to the Test Run item type, they appear in the Test Execution window during testing. Similar to the **Actual Results** field, these custom fields can be filled in during test execution.

## Supported custom field types

Note: Other custom field types don't appear on the test run execution panel.

- Date
- Flag (Boolean)
- Integer
- Multi-select
- Picklist
- Text box (plain text)
- Text box (rich text)

You can use Editor Templates in custom rich text fields. To export the Editor Template information for a Test Run item from Single Item View, select **Export > View all export options > All Item Details**, then click **Run**.

- Text field
- URL

### To configure custom fields:

- 1. Select Admin > Item Types > Test Runs, then select Add field.
- In the Add field window, complete the form [595], then click Save.
   On the next test run, the custom fields are available and can be edited.

**Example**: Add a custom test field to capture the serial number for a product being tested during that test run's execution.

8	st Run: COSMO-TS ster: Robin Smith	TRN-18					Durati I	ion: ( Log a D	00:00:09 efect
	Action	Exp	ected Result		Notes	-	Status		Result
	Check device for visible	holes					Ø	88	医菌
	Submerge for 5 minutes						Ø	**	13 18
	scription: Test the leve	el of moisture	inside the de	evice after	2 minutes submerged	in water. BIUS	In <u>A</u> - [2	Progres	S
De Ac	Format				The second set		_		

## Sync test runs with test cases

When you create a test run, the Name, Description, and Steps values are copied from the test case to the test run.

### Important considerations

- If you make a change to the test case after synchronization, the change isn't reflected in the test run.
- Synced test runs are versioned and updated to reflect the changes from the test case. Any previous progress, results, or statuses are saved in the test run version history. The previous results can be restored with the Make Current action in the test run version history widget.

### To sync test runs with a test case:

 If a test case has changed since the test cycle was updated, look for an out of sync alert in the second column of the test execution grid. This alert also appears in the test run execution window next to the test run name.

Te	est /	A			Overview	Test Cases	est Runs
Cyc	sle +	New cycle	(w)	O Not applicable	🛚 0 Pass 🍵 0 Fail	😑 0 Blocked 🧉 0 In Prog	gress 👘 26 N
	Show	only assigned to me	5 Restore order			Views - Export	- Actions -
	T	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group As	signed to
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	RTC Supply Voltage	Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica	
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Core Supply Current	Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica	
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	RTC Supply Current	Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica	100
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	DDR Supply Current	Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica	
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Deep Sleep Power Consumption	Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica	
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Standby Power Consumption	Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica	
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instructions are 32-bit up	Test A	New cycle	Product Validati	
0	æ	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65mm Package	Test A	New cycle	Product Validati	
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.8mm Package	Test A	New cycle	Product Validati	
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test A	New cycle	Product Validati	

2. Select the test run you want to make current (press **Shift** to select multiple test runs), then select **Actions > Sync Test Runs to Test Cases**.

Te	st /	4				Overview	📔 Test Cases 🖌 🖌 Test Runs
Cycl	e +	New cycle		*	0 Not applicable	🔵 0 Pass 🐞 0 Fai	I 🛑 0 Blocked 🍯 0 in Progress 🖷 26 N
	Show	only assigned to me	S Restore order				Views - Export - Actions -
	T	ID	Name		Test Plan	Test Cycle	la Assign Test Runs
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Core Supply Voltage		Test A	New cycle	2 Sync Test Runs to Test Cases
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	MPU Supply Voltage		Test A	New cycle	Batch Update Test Run Status
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	RTC Supply Voltage		Test A	New cycle	Tiouber volitica
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Core Supply Current		Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	RTC Supply Current		Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica
0		SI S2 P-TSTR	DDR Supply Current		Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica

The Sync test runs to latest case version window opens.

Sync test runs to latest test case version		9
Which test runs would you like to update to the newest test case versions?		
Selected runs (1)		
All out of sync runs (1)		
Items that are locked by someone else, or that you do not have write privileges to, v	vill not be u	updated.
	2000 B - 10	
	Next	Cancel

- 3. Select the run you previously chose or all out-of-sync runs, then click Next.
- 4. Click **Commit** to make the selected test runs current.

# Test run status

Test run status indicates the current state of a test run, and is used in calculating test case status.

You can also view a test run status summary per cycle. It is displayed next to the cycle name when you select **Test Runs** in the toolbar.

Test 2	2					Dve	erview 🔄 Test (	Cases 🖌 Te	st Runs
Cycle +	Test Cycle B	×		O Nol applicable	🔵 0 Pass 🐞 0 Fail	🐠 0 Blocked 🔮	2 In Progress 👘 8 M	lot Run 📃 22	5 days ago
Show	only assigned to me	3 'S Restore order					v	iews - Export -	Actions -
T	ID	Name	Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to	Execution Date	Duration	Status
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate all instructions are 32-bit up	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				Not Ru
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.65mm Package	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr		09/07/2023	00:00:01	In Prog
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate AES	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr		09/07/2023	00:00:01	In Prog
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate SHA	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				Not Ru
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate RNG	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				Not Ru
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Power Consumption	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				Not Ru
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Polygons / Second 2	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				Not Ru
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	OpenGL	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				Not Ru
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Direct3D	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Default Test Gr				Not Ru
0	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Validate 0.8mm Package	Test 2	Test Cycle B	Test Team A				Not Ru

Possible states are:

- Pass
- Fail
- Blocked
- · In progress
- Not run
- Not applicable

For "Not applicable" to be an available status option, it must be configured by your organization admin [626].



# NOTE

If you need to reset the test run to a status of **Not run**, you can batch update test run status [404] or deselect steps that were marked as pass or fail, and set the test run duration to **0**. This automatically resets the status to **Not run**.

### Batch update test run status

As long as test runs aren't locked and you have write permissions, you can update the status of multiple test runs at once.

You can only batch update test runs in the Test runs window. You can't use advanced filters to batch update test runs.

- 1. Select **Test Runs** in the toolbar.
- 2. In the center panel, use the **Ctrl** or **Shift** keys to select the test runs you want to update.

Te	est A	4				Overview	E Test Cases	<ul> <li>Test Runs</li> </ul>
Cyc	le •	New cycle		~	• 0 Not applicable	🔵 0 Pass 🔮 0 Fail	😑 0 Blocked 🍵 0 i	n Progress 🍵 26 N
	Show	only assigned to me	D Restore order				Views - E	xport - Actions -
	P	ID	Name		Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to
0	_	SI_S2_P-TSTR	Core Supply Voltage		Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica.	
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	MPU Supply Voltage		Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica.	
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	RTC Supply Voltage		Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica.	÷
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Core Supply Current		Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica.	
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	RTC Supply Current		Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica	-

3. Select Actions > Batch Update Test Run Status.

Te	est A	4				Overview	🗐 Test Cases 🛛 🖌 Test Runs
Cyc	ie •	New cycle		*	• 0 Not applicable	🔵 0 Pass 🐞 0 Fa	il 😑 0 Blocked 🥥 0 In Progress 🏐 26 N
	Show	only assigned to me	5 Restore order				Views - Export - Actions -
	2	ID	Name		Test Plan	Test Cycle	land the state and the state of
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Core Supply Voltage		Test A	New cycle	Sync Test Runs to Test Cases
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	MPU Supply Voltage		Test A	New cycle	Batch Lindate Test Run Status
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	RTC Supply Voltage		Test A	New cycle	Trouger Verilleg
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	Core Supply Current		Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica
0		SI_S2_P-TSTR	RTC Supply Current		Test A	New cycle	Product Verifica

4. Confirm the number of runs, then click **Next**.

Batch Update Test Run Status		$\times$
Items to Edit		
Selected 2 (Test Runs)		
Note: Items that are locked by someone else, or that you do not have write privileges to,	will not be update	ed!
L		
	Next	Cancel

5. Select the new status you want for the selected runs, then click **Next**.

Batch Update Test Run	n Status				$\boxtimes$
Select a new Te	est Run Status:				
Test Run Status:	-	*			
	Passed				
	Not Run In Progress Failed Blocked				
	Carlory		Back	Next	Cancel

6. Select the users or groups you want to notify, then click **Commit**.

Batch Update Test Run Status		×
Comment and notify		
Add your notificiation comment		
Groups Users	Selected users and groups	oups
Analysts Drgsnization Company	Development Organization	K
Organization     Organization     Organization     Organization	Organization	26
Ciganization Autom	Back Commit Cance	

# Using the Test Runs widget

The Test Runs widget on the test case item allows you to view all runs and their results from that test case.

In Single Item View, the test runs widget appears on item types where the **Use as** setting is **Test Case**.

Use as:	Default	*		
Widgets:	Default			
	Test Case			
	Defect			

This widget shows all test runs associated with the test case. From the Test Runs widget, you can view the test runs status and take action on the test runs:

- Batch assign
- · Status updates
- Sync with a test case

The number indicates the number of active test runs.

🗄 Produ	ct Product Verificati	on MB_03-VER-1						View all locked	items (2) Subs	scribe 🔻	Email
Core S	Supply Volta	age V1 - 10/27/2021 09:59:13 am						/ 7	B: •	6	Î
* ;	e							0.	· B • @		0
ASSIG	NED:										
DELEA	APE.										<b>9</b>
RELEA	AJE.										11
STATU	IS:										腾
Dra	aft										1.0
TEST	CASE STATUS:										-
Pa	ssed	Pass	100%	2 runs							
VEDIE	CATION NETHOD	In Progress	0%	0 runs							-44-
VERIFI	ICATION METHOD	Not Run	0%	0 runs							
		Blocked	0%	0 runs							Q
TEST	RUN RESULTS:	Fail	0%	0 runs							2
-		Total		2 runs						-	*
	r:									+	B
Show	only assigned to me	D Restore order			-			Views	- Export - /	Actions	• 🔲 Hide
Ð	ID	Name		Test Plan	Test Cycle	Test Group	Assigned to	Execution Date	Duration		Status
0	MB_03-TSTRN	Core Supply Voltage		Test Manageme	Test test cycle	Product Verifica	Megan	02/10/2022	00:00:11		Passed
0	MB_03-TSTRN	Core Supply Voltage		Test Mgmt Test	Test test cycle 1	Product Verifica	Megan	02/10/2022	00:00:09		Passed

# Analysis — Monitoring your project

Jama Connect includes tools that give you the big picture of your project and that help you gain insight on different areas of your product development.

- Dashboard [412]
- Reports [414]
- Coverage and traceability tools [302] Find out how mature the product development is. For example, if 100% of requirements have a traced verification, development is in a mature and complete state and can claim compliance.
- Exports [344] Analyze data in tools like Excel. Jama Connect provides dashboards for a visual at-a-glance display of your project. Users with organization admin or project admin permissions can configure a project dashboard.

# Working with dashboards

In Jama Connect, the *dashboards* feature allows you to track the data your team wants to monitor for quality and progress.

You can select dashboard widgets [412] that display a project's key metrics, so you can see which parts of your project need attention. Dashboards are customized per project, not per user.

Example dashboard widgets include:

- Pie chart Shows all requirements by status. For example, 25% are in draft state, 75% are in review state.
- Bar chart Shows count of all requirements missing a downstream verification test.

Your role determines your interactions — and the options that are available — when you use the dashboard feature. For example, a user with read/write permissions can view the dashboards created by an organization or project admin, but they can't create, edit, or delete a dashboard. Work with your admin to create a dashboard with the widgets that best support your team's needs.

Role	Responsibilities and actions
User with read/write permissions	<ul> <li>View the dashboards created by an admin.</li> <li>Choose your default dashboard.</li> <li>Download or view data from a chart.</li> <li>Switch dashboards.</li> <li>Print the contents of your dashboard.</li> </ul>
Organization and project admins	<ul> <li>Create, edit, and delete dashboards for users with read/write permissions.</li> <li>Choose your default dashboard.</li> <li>Download or view data from a chart.</li> <li>Switch dashboards.</li> <li>Print the contents of your dashboard.</li> </ul>

# Manage the dashboard (users)

When the dashboard feature is configured by an organization or project admin, you can use the dashboard to give your team insight into the progress of each project. Dashboard changes are made at the project level.

### Important considerations

- Only organization and project admins can can create or modify dashboards.
- · Dashboard names appear in alphabetical order.

### To manage the dashboard:

1. From the Explorer Tree, select your project name to open the project dashboard.



2. To download or view data from a chart, select an option from the drop-down menu. The download options only appears in the Bar, Line, Pie, and Complex chart widgets.



- **Download PNG** Downloads the widget image.
- **Download CSV** Downloads the data from the chart.
- **Download PDF** Downloads the widget image.
- View data table Displays the data table/chart and the numerical information associated with the data.
- 3. To view a different dashboard, select from the **Switch** drop-down menu.





## TIP

To see the current dashboard when the project page loads, select **Set as my default dashboard**.

4. To print the contents of your dashboard, select **Print**.



### TIP

For best results, use a landscape page setup and enable printing of background images in your browser settings.

# Configure the dashboard (admins)

The dashboard feature allows organization and project admins to customize a project dashboard so that it displays the information needed by project members. Dashboard changes are made at the project level.

### Important considerations

- Only organization and project admins can create or modify dashboards.
- Each dashboard must have a unique name. Also, descriptive names can help you organize and manage your dashboards.
- Widgets and dashboards are limited to a maximum of 20 each. The initial project dashboard is allowed an unlimited number of widgets, but for optimal performance we recommend a maximum of 20 widgets. Subsequent dashboards are limited to 20 widgets.
- Projects must have at least one dashboard. You can have a maximum of 20 dashboards per project.
- The first dashboard created for a project is automatically set as the default dashboard for all users.
  - If you delete the project default dashboard, you are prompted to select a new dashboard as the default.
  - Users can customize which dashboard first appears upon their login by viewing the dashboard of their choice and selecting set as my default dashboard
- Dashboard names appear in alphabetical order.

### To set up the dashboard:

1. From the Explorer Tree, select your project name to open the project dashboard.



- 2. To add a widget to your dashboard:
  - a. Select Add widget in the top right toolbar of the dashboard.

Pantry Products 📾			Sourch	Project - PA	dvanced search	
Project - Change project	Learn more / Dashboard: Pantry Products *					
Explorer 🖓 🥅 🗖 💽 🛇	Pantry Products				@ Stream	Help
Add      Add      Pantry Products     Product Requirements	Dashboard two Switch - Add dashboard		- )/ <del></del>	Add widget	/ Edit	
🖻 🔚 Storage 🗄 🖶 Ultimate Pantry	□ Set as my default dashboard					
🕞 😨 Change Requests	🖻 Bar chart		Pie chart		* @ \$ X	
	Duplicate of Second private filter public and current project Requirement Type	8 ≡		Current project Priority	=	
	Fundama					
				and Marine A		

b. In the window that opens, select the dashboard widget options you want, then click Add.

nto dasriboard			
7	Filter results Displays the results of an existing filter	1	Assigned to me Displays a list of items assigned to the current user
-	Bar chart Displays the results of an existing filter in a chart	-	Recent activity Displays a line graph of events over time
	Pie chart Displays a pie chart for a certain filter and field	H0	Activity stream Displays the activity stream You can only display one Instance of the activity stream per dashboard
3523	Project summary Displays a summary of the project		Rich text Displays user defined text
0	Recently viewed Displays the last 15 items viewed by the current user	() Provide ()	Relationship rules diagram Displays the relationship rules diagram associated with the project if one exists
-	Complex chart Displays a granular snapshot of data based on filter, field, and series selections		

3. Select **Layout** in the toolbar, then choose how you want the windows to appear on the dashboard. Pantry Products

Dashboard two Switch - Dashboard - View items	O Add dashboard
Set as my default dashboard	🖻 Layout 👻
Bar chart     Duplicate of Second priva     Rec	Single column layout Split layout One-third, two-thirds layout Two-thirds, one-third layout

- 4. To create an additional dashboard, select Add dashboard in the toolbar.a. In the window that opens, enter a unique name.
  - 411

b. Click Create.

The screen is refreshed and the new dashboard appears.

- 5. To edit the name of a dashboard, select **Edit**.
  - a. Enter a new name.
  - b. Click Save.

A pop-up message confirms that the new name was saved.

6. To view a different dashboard, select from the **Switch** drop-down menu.

Pantry Products	
Dashboard two	Switch -
Dashboard - View i	Dashboard two
Set as my default	Systems engineering

To see the current dashboard when the project page loads, select Set as my default dashboard.
 Semiconductor Projec...



8. To download or view data from a chart, select an option from the drop-down menu. The download options only appear in the Bar, Line, Pie, and Complex chart widgets.



- Download PNG Downloads the widget image.
- Download CSV Downloads the data from the chart.
- Download PDF Downloads the widget image.
- View data table Displays the data table/chart and the numerical information associated with the data.
- 9. To print the contents of your dashboard, select Print.



## TIP

For best results, use a landscape page setup and enable printing of background images in your browser settings.

# **Dashboard widget options**

You can customize a project dashboard to display the information needed by project members. Dashboard changes are made at the project level.



# NOTE

To manage the dashboard [408], you must have organization admin or project admin permissions.

The following widgets can be added to the dashboard.

dd to dashboard			
7	Filter results Displays the results of an existing filter	1	Assigned to me Displays a list of items assigned to the current user
	Bar chart Displays the results of an existing filter in a chart	m	Recent activity Displays a line graph of events over time
	Pie chart Displays a pie chart for a certain filter and field		Activity stream Displays the activity stream You can only display one instance of the activity stream per dashboard
3523 16	Project summary Displays a summary of the project You can only display one		Rich text Displays user defined text

Filter results	9	<ul> <li>Displays the results of an existing filter.</li> <li>Name the window.</li> <li>Select a filter and which columns to display.</li> <li>Select how many items to display.</li> </ul>
Bar chart	1	<ul> <li>Displays the results of an existing filter as a bar chart.</li> <li>Configure the name, filter, field shown, and number of elements with the gear icon in the top right.</li> <li>Select individual bars in the bar chart to view those items in a new tab.</li> </ul>
Pie chart	•	<ul><li>Displays a pie chart for a filter and field that the user selects.</li><li>Configure the filter and field with the gear icon button in the top right.</li><li>Select the individual items in the pie chart to open those items in a new tab.</li></ul>
Project sum- mary	2	<ul> <li>Displays a summary of the entire project, including:</li> <li>Total number of items in the project.</li> <li>Number of days until next release.</li> <li>Number of days until project completion.</li> </ul>

Recently viewed	٢	Displays the last 15 items viewed by the current user.
		<ul> <li>Select a recently viewed item to open it in a new tab.</li> </ul>
Assigned to me	I.	Displays a list of items assigned to the current user.
		<ul> <li>Select the gear icon in the top right to edit the settings.</li> </ul>
		Name the window.
		<ul> <li>Select a filter and which columns to display.</li> </ul>
		Select how many items to display.
Recent activi- ty		Displays a line graph of recent activity over a period of time.
-		Configure the time period.
		Change the name with the gear icon in the top right.
Activity stream	1	Displays the current activity stream of the project.
		<ul> <li>View all current activity including comments, edits made, new items created, and assignment changes.</li> </ul>
		Use the filters at the top right to filter only comments, activities, or search for specific items.
Rich text	***	Displays user-defined text, images, diagrams, and equations.
		<ul> <li>Select the gear icon to insert text, pictures, and tables with the same rich text options as an item description field [92].</li> </ul>
Relationship rules diagram	-	Displays the relationship rules [157] applied to the project.
Complex chart	E	Displays a granular snapshot of data based on filter, field, and series selections.
		<ul> <li>Select the gear icon to configure the filter, fields, and series.</li> </ul>
		Select individual bar sections in the stacked bar chart to view those items in a new tab.
	1	

# Reports

A report is a document that helps you analyze the current status and progress of your project. Reports can include graphs, tabular data, metrics, and other roll-ups.

## Important considerations

- Reports can refer to specific data within a project, to an entire project, or they can apply across multiple projects.
- To access reports, select Projects > Reports in the upper-right header. From there, you can run a report [415].
- Jama Connect includes default reports that were created with BIRT or Velocity. You can also create custom reports.
- Your system or organization admin can upload custom Velocity exports [565] that are displayed in the Export window.

# Jama Connect includes these default reports

Report type	Displays
Baseline Compared to Current	Side-by-side comparison of items and relationships in a baseline and their current versions.
Baseline Comparison	Side-by-side comparison of items and relationships in two baselines.
Bidirectional Traceability	Upstream and downstream relationships for a selected container of items.
Items in a Set	Tabular list of items in a set.
Release Status	Current state of the items within a release.
Task List with Estimates	All item types and sums and totals their estimates if applicable.
Test Plan Detail	Details of a test plan.
Test Plan Summary	Summary of the test plan with graphs and charts, by cycle and build.
Trace Relationships	Items with their downstream relationships.
User List	List of all the active and inactive users associated with the organization.

Report type	Displays	
Review Center Stats	Progress of a specific review.	

## Run a report

Reports can refer to specific data within a project, to an entire project, or they can apply across multiple projects.

### To generate a report:

1. From the Jama Connect header, select **Reports > Run report**.

Acme Works	Admin Test Reports 👻		Help   Log Out	
	- Run rep	ort	-	
	3 Reports	search		
nents				

Jama Connect lists all default reports and any custom reports [433] you have added. Bookmarked reports appear at the top of the list.

Run Reports	
All Projects	
Review Center Comments Report All Projects	
Review Center Stats Report All Projects	
Other Reports	
Baseline Compared to Current	$\Box$
Baseline Compared to Current (PDF)	
Baseline Comparison	$\Box$
Baseline Comparison (PDF)	$\Box$
Bidirectional Traceability	$\Box$
Items in a Set	$\Box$
Release Status	$\Box$
Task List with Estimates	$\Box$
Test Cases Baseline Comparison All Projects	
Test Plan Detail	$\Box$
Test Plan Summary	$\Box$
Test Plan Summary V2 All Projects	
User List	$\Box$
Utilization By Project All Projects	

- 2. (Optional) To add a report to your bookmarked reports, select its bookmark icon.
- 3. From the list of reports, select the one you want to run, then define the options for that report. For details on defining the report options, see the task for running that specific report.

### 4. Select Run Report.

## **Run a Baseline Compared to Current report**

The Baseline Compared to Current report compares items and relationships in a baseline to their current versions, displayed in side-by-side columns.

### To run this report:

1. From the project with the baselines you want to compare, select **Reports > Run report** in the upper-right corner of the header to open the **Run Reports** window.

Acme Works	Admin Test Reports 👻		Help   Log Out	
and the second second	- Run rep			
	3 Reports history		search	
nents				

2. From the list of reports in the Run Reports window, select an option for this report:

Other Reports	4	Describer 0	in the second second	i management
Baseline Compared to Current		Baseline C	ompared	
Baseline Compared to Current (PDF)	D	to Current		Property and an and a second s
Baseline Comparison		Displays those ite	ms and their	A PARTICIPATION
Baseline Comparison (PDF)	E.	between the time	of the	1 2 Carton Inc.
Bidirectional Traceability	D	selected baseline current versions.	and their It is a side by	
Items in a Set	D	side comparison t	hat includes	1 AUSTREE
Release Status	E	version Details an have been Delete	d items that d and Added	11 (2002) 7
Review Center Comments	Д	since the baseline	e was taken.	
Review Center Stats Report	11	Select a Forma		
Test Plan All Projects	Q.	IM T		
Test Plan Status Detail	L			
Test Plan Status Summary	â	Parameters		
Test Results by Test Case	Q	Baseline:	Mailé e selection	*
Test Results by Test Cycle All Projects	D	Include Relationships:	3	
User List	D	Include Version	Q 1	
Utilization Report - Visual	A	Comments:		
Utilization by Project	Q	Report Detail		
		Report Type: Ve	elocity	

- Baseline Compared to Current Word format
- Baseline Compared to Current (PDF)
- 3. Define the report:
  - a. Select the format for the report (available formats are listed).
  - b. Navigate to and select the baseline you want to compare to the project's current state.
  - c. (Optional) Include relationships and version comments.
- 4. (Optional) Select Email me the report to receive it by email.
- 5. Select Run Report.

Field Label	Bas	eline v3	Cu	Current v4		
	The problem of	Dental software being clunky and focused heavily on administrative tasks. This results in dentists trying to manage procedures and images within calendaring programs that expect the user to be sitting at a desk interacting with a system using a mouse and	The problem of	Dental records software being clunky and focused heavily on administrative tasks. This results in dentists trying to manage procedures and images within calendaring programs that expect the user to be sitting at a desk interacting with a system using a mouse and keyboard.		
	The impact of which is	Dentists cannot free themselves to focus on a patient's dental needs and must go between a surgical	The impact of which is	Dentists cannot free themselves to focus on a patient's dental needs and must go between a surgical environment to one that is best accessed from within a cubicle.		
		environment to one that is best accessed from within a cubicle.	A successful solution would be	Software that is user- friendly and focused more on clinical needs. The system		

Baseline Compared to Current shows a table that compares the baseline items and relationships side by side.

# **Run a Baseline Comparison report**

The Baseline Comparison report displays a side-by-side comparison of items and relationships in two baselines.

This report compares two specific states of selected items at a certain point in time. For example, to see what has changed between two baselines, you can compare the baseline that's created when you open a review with the baseline of the completed review.



# NOTE

When comparing baselines, the hierarchical order must be the same between the two baselines. If items are reordered in the Explorer Tree from one baseline to the next, the report shows incorrect or no results.

### To run this report:

1. From the project with the baselines you want to compare, select **Reports > Run report** in the upper-right corner of the header to open the Run Reports window.

Acme Works	Admin Test	Reports +	Help   Log Out
	- Run rep	search	
	3 Reports		
nents			

2. From the list of reports in the Run Reports window, select an option for this report:

Other Reports Baseline Compared to Current		Baseline		-	-	-			
Baseline Compared to Current (PDF)		Comparison							
Baseline Comparison		Displays a side by	/ side	Complete Concernant Science Science					
Baseline Comparison (PDF)	D	comparison only of those items and their fields that have changed		21 17 BSD Sol to gamma					
Bidirectional Traceability		between the two s	selected	11 11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-1		-			
Items in a Set	0	that have been Ac	des those items						
Release Status	0	Deleted between	the times of the	1 Children					
Review Center Comments	A	Select a Forma							
Review Center Stats Report		LWT ]							
Test Plan All Projects	П								
Test Plan Status Detail		Parameters							
Test Plan Status Summary	A	Receipt 1	And Street and						
Test Results by Test Case		Baseline 1:	Make e selection.		*				
Test Results by Test Cycle All Projects	A	Include	-						
User List		Relationships:	1.5						
Utilization Report - Visual All Projects	A	Include Version Comments:							
Utilization by Project		Report Detail							
		Report Type: Ve	elocity						
				English and some	Run Report	Close			

- Baseline Comparison Word format
- Baseline Comparison (PDF)
- 3. Define the report:
  - a. Select the format of the report.
  - b. Navigate to and select the two baselines you want to compare.
  - c. (Optional) Include relationships and version comments.
- 4. (Optional) Select Email me the report to receive it by email.
- 5. Select Run Report.

Items added or deleted between the compared baselines are noted at the top of the report.

### UPDATED ITEMS

CP-CMP-1 Core Application

Field Label	Baseline v2	Carrent v3
Description	CoveragePlus is a cloud-based application that can be accessed by registered Doctors' offices.	CoveragePlus is a cloud-based application that can be accessed by registered Doctors' offices, hospitale, and urgent care clinics.
LETED ITEMS		
DED ITEMS		

# Run a Bidirectional Traceability report

The Bidirectional Traceability report displays upstream and downstream relationships for a selected container of items.

### To run this report:

1. From the project with the relationships you want to include, select **Reports > Run report** in the upper-right corner of the header to open the Run Reports window.

Acme Works	Admin Test	Help   Log Out	
	- 🚽 Run rep	search	
	3 Reports history		
nents			

2. From the list of reports in the Run Reports window, select Bidirectional Traceability.

	Bidirectional	Transitive America Bitancia America
) []	Traceability	
	Displays upstream and downstream	
A	relationships for all	
	items.	
П	Select a Format	
П		
6	Parameters	
A	Location:	Starto D
A	Report Detail	
	Report Type: BIRT	
A		
Ţ.		
		Bidirectional Traceability Displays upstream and downstream relationships for all items. Select a Format Select a Format Parameters Location: Select e of Report Detail Report Detail

- 3. Define the report:
  - a. Select a default format (HTML, PDF, WORD, or XLS).
  - b. Select the location of the items you want to include.



# NOTE

You must choose a container of items to analyze for upstream and downstream traceability. The report doesn't work on single items.

- 4. (Optional) Select Email me the report to receive it by email.
- 5. Select Run Report.

The report displays all items that have relationships from the selected location. Both downstream and upstream relationships are displayed for each item. The report also indicates whether any related artifacts are marked as suspect: T = True (suspect), F = False (not suspect).

### **Traceability Report - Bidirectional Relationships**

Android Apps - Weather A	pp
--------------------------	----

Direction	Project	Item Type	Artifact	Туре	Suspect?
Downstream	Android Apps	lext	SOFT-TXT-2, Related Item Text Item	Related to	F
Downstream	Duplicate of Android Apps	Component	SOFT2-CMP-2, Time Tools	Related to	F
SOFT-UC-1, Gui	dance for Use Case Template				
Direction	Project	Item Type	Artifact	Туре	Suspect?
Downstream	Duplicate of Android Apps	Use Case	SOFT2-UC-1, Guidance for Use Case Template	Related to	Т
SOFT-UC-2, Use	e Case Identification				
Direction	Project	Item Type	Artifact	Туре	Suspect?
Downstream	Android Apps	Test Case	SOFT-TC-2, Correct sign-in gets the user in the site	Related to	F
Downstream	Duplicate of Android Apps	Use Case	SOFT2-UC-2, Use Case Identification	Related to	F
Upstream	Android Apps	Requirement	SOFT-REQ-14 , Business Processes	Related to	F

# Run an Items in a Set report

The Items in a Set report displays a tabular list of items included in a set.

The report is displayed as a table that includes these columns: **Header** (hierarchy), **ID**, **Name**, and **Description**.

### To run this report:

1. From the project with the items you want to include, select **Reports > Run report** in the upper-right corner of the header to open the **Run Reports** window.



2. From the list of reports in the Run Reports window, select Items in a Set.

	-	Itoms in a	Set		
Baseline Compared to Current	-	Displays a tabul	ar list of items in a set.		
Baseline Compared to Current (PDF)	늰			2	
Baseline Comparison	4				-
Baseline Comparison (PDF)	ч				
Bidirectional Traceability	Ш			0.0	
Items in a Set					
Release Status	D				
Review Center Comments	Â.			1	
Review Center Stats Report	D	-Select a Form	al		
Test Plan All Project⊵	Ē	函			
Test Plan Status Detail	0				
Test Plan Status Summary	Ē.				
Test Results by Test Case	П	- Parameters -	The second se		n
Test Results by Test Cycle All Projects		Locaton			1011
User List	F	Report Detail			
Utilization Report - Visual All Projects	A	Report Type: 1	BIRT		
Utilization by Project					

- 3. Define the report:
  - a. Select the format of the report.
  - b. Select the location of the items you want to include.
- 4. (Optional) Select **Email me the report** to receive it by email.
- 5. Select Run Report.

### Android Apps Requirements

			Requirements
#	ID	Name	Description
1.1.2.1	SOFT-FLD-26	Overview	Use of light-weight mobile devices has become commonplace by medical/dental personnel. The extension of the Registration system to mobile devices is a natural evolution.
1.1.2.1.	1SOFT-TXT-4	Background	The company has received a number of requests for the ability to extend usage of the CoveragePlus software to wireless mobile devices. This will improve the user experience at the point of interaction between dental professional and patient within the examination room, so the relevant information is available at their finger tips to share and communicate in real-time. This requirement specification details the high-level business requirements to add this functionality to the CoveragePlus v1.0 release. Initially, this functionality was outside of the scope of v1.0, but is being added as a high priority change request.
1.1.2.2	SOFT-REQ-14	Business Processes	

# Run a Release Status report

The Release Status report displays the current state of the items within a release.

It shows graphs of item status and priority, as well as a table with priority, status, estimate, and amount remaining.

### To run this report:

Run Reports

1. From the project with the items you want to include, select **Reports > Run report** in the upper-right corner of the header to open the **Run Reports** window.

×

Acme Works	Admin Test	Help   Log Out		
	- 🚽 Run rep	-		
	3 Reports history		search	
nents				

2. From the list of reports in the Run Reports window, select Release Status.

Baseline Compared to Current	1	Release Sta	tus				
Baseline Compared to Current (PDF)	R	Displays assigned it	tems			24	-
Baseline Comparison		release.	ected	- 200	m		N. N.
Baseline Comparison (PDF)	0				-	5	33
Bidirectional Traceability	П					- 2	
Items in a Set				- =		10	
Release Status				-			
Review Center Comments All Projects	Q	- Select a Format-					
Review Center Stats Report	A	四					
Test Plan All Projects	Ê.	8					
Test Plan Status Detail	П	Parameters					
Test Plan Status Summary	D.	Release:	Trake S selection				×
Test Results by Test Case	П		The second second second				-
Test Results by Test Cycle		Report Detail					
User List	A	Report Type: BIR1	E .				
Utilization Report - Visual All Projects	Q						
Utilization by Project							

- 3. Define the report:
  - a. Select the format of the report. The default format is PDF.
  - b. Select the location of the items you want to include.
- 4. (Optional) Select **Email me the report** to receive it by email.
- 5. Select Run Report.



# NOTE

If you have data in the Estimate and Remaining fields, those numbers are totaled at the bottom of the report.

## **Run a Review Center Stats report**

The Review Center Stats report displays the progress of a specific review in a table that shows activity per reviewer and per review item.



# NOTE

You must be a reviewer, approver, or moderator of a review to run the report or to be able to see the review listed in the menu. Public reviews aren't listed unless you're specifically assigned to the review.

### To run this report:

1. From the project with the review you want to include, select **Reports > Run report** in the upperright corner of the header to open the Run Reports window.

Acme Works	Admin Test	Help   Log Out	
	- 🚽 Run rep	search	
	3 Reports history		
nents			

2. From the list of reports in the Run Reports window, select Review Center Stats Report.

Other Reports	-	12000	1.7.1 2.7.1.5		Tanks Door that I	
Baseline Compared to Current		Review Co	enter Stats	Tradition of the owner of the owner of the owner of the owner owne	See Tradition ( )	-
Baseline Compared to Current (PDF)		Report		Algement Program	900) A 10000	
Baseline Comparison		Various statistics	about the	territoria.	- 15	-
Baseline Comparison (PDF)	Q		- grien rie non			Transfer (1998) Transfer (1999)
Bidirectional Traceability						
Items in a Set	A					
Release Status	Ū.					111
Review Center Comments						
Review Center Stats Report	D	Select a Forma	it			
Test Plan All Projects		4	E			
Test Plan Status Detail						
Test Plan Status Summary		Parameters				
Test Results by Test Case All Projects		Review:	Alake a selection,.			*
Test Results by Test Cycle						
User List		Report Detail				
Utilization Report - Visual		Report Type: V	elocity			

- 3. Define the report:
  - a. Select the format of the report (available formats are listed).
  - b. Select the review you want to use.
- 4. (Optional) Select **Email me the report** to receive it by email.
- 5. Select Run Report.

### Review Center Stats Report Review Center Stats Report v.1 Status: In Progress

Start Date: January 31, 2022 at 6:41:10 PM UTC	Number of Approvers: 1	Number of Reviewers: 0
End Date: February 8, 2022 at 1:00:41 AM UTC	Approved: 0	Finished: 0
Moderator(s): Admin Test	Rejected: 0	Not Finished: 0
	Not Finished: 1	

#### **Approver Progress**

Approver Name	Title	Percent Complete	Approval Date	Signature	Signature Comments
Admin Test		0%	Not completed	N/A	

### **Reviewer Progress**

Reviewer Name Title Per Com	rcent Completed Date
--------------------------------	----------------------

### **Items in Review**

Item ID	Item Name	Reviewed	Current	#	# Needs	#	# Votes
		Version	Version	Approved	More	Reviewed	
					work		
SI_S2_P-	Polygons / Second	1	1	0	0	0	0
VAL-10							
SI_S2_P-	OpenGL	1	1	0	0	0	0
VAL-11							
SI_S2_P-	Direct3D	1	1	0	0	0	0
VAL-12							
SI_S2_P-	I2C Interface	1	1	0	0	0	0
CMP-24							
SI_S2_P-	Test 2	1	1	0	0	0	0
INFO-8							

# Run a Task List with Estimates report

The Task List with Estimates report displays all item types and totals their estimates if applicable.

### To run this report:

1. From the project with the items you want to include, select **Reports > Run report** in the upper-right corner of the header to open the **Run Reports** window.

Acme Works	Admin Test	Reports +	Help   Log Out
	- 🚽 Run rep	ort	
	3 Reports	history	search
nents			

2. From the list of reports in the Run Reports window, select **Task List with Estimates**.

Other Reports		T. Section			5
Baseline Compared to Current		Task List	with Estimates		
Baseline Compared to Current (PDF)	D	Displays all task	s with estimates.	3 -	
Baseline Comparison	P				
Baseline Comparison (PDF)	L.				
Bidirectional Traceability					
items in a Set	0				
Release Status	F				
Review Center Stats Report	D				
Task List with Estimates					
Test Plan Detail		Select a Form	at		
Test Plan Summary	P	1 B	w)		
Test Result Detail					
Trace Relationships	D	Developmentary			
User List		Parameters			
		Location:	(Select e location	P	
		- Report Detail			
		Report Type: E	BIRT		

- 3. Define the report:
  - a. Select the format of the report (available formats are listed).
  - b. Select the location of the items you want to include.
- 4. (Optional) Select Email me the report to receive it by email.
- 5. Select Run Report.

			Task Estimate Report
13			Requirements
<b>b.</b>	ID	Task Name	Estimate (Hours)
	SOFT-REQ-9	Multiple Message Format	4
	SOFT-REQ-148	User Interface	
	SOFT-REQ-89	Member Management	
	SOFT-REQ-163	Resource Sharing/Organization	
	SOFT-REQ-104	Discussions/Communication	
	SOFT-REQ-22	Forecasting Support	334
	SOFT-REQ-119	Discussions/Communication	
	SOFT-REQ-45	Task Assignment by User	
	SOFT-REQ-134	Resource Sharing/Organization	
	SOFT-REQ-59	User-perceived Response Time	5
	SOFT-REQ-60	Device-side Management of Connection Contexts	333
	SOFT-REQ-10	Parse IATA	2

# Run a Test Plan Status Detail report

The Test Plan Status Detail report displays the details of a test plan.

### To run this report:

1. From the project with the test plan you want to include, select **Reports > Run report** in the upper-right corner of the header to open the **Run Reports** window.

Acme Works	Admin Test	Reports +	Help   Log Out
	- 🚽 Run rep	ort	
	3 Reports	history	search
nents			

2. From the list of reports in the Run Reports window, select **Test Plan Status Detail**.

Test Pla Displays a tes HTML, PDF a	In Status Detail st plan's status details in and MS Word	The Part Sector Sector Sector at And Sector Sector
Displays a tes HTML, PDF a	st plan's status details in and MS Word	
		in teac
		100
Select a Fo	rmat	
	n	
Decomotors		
Test Plan:	Make a selection	
Report Det	ail	
Report Type	a: BIRT	
	Select a Fo Parameters Test Plan: Report Det Report Type	Select a Format.

- 3. Define the report:
  - a. Select the format of the report (available formats are listed).
  - b. Select the test plan you want to use.
- 4. (Optional) Select **Email me the report** to receive it by email.
- 5. Select Run Report.

# Test Cases

## Usability Test Group

Osability rea	a croup	
SOFT-TC-1	Wrong uname and pw shouldn't work	Failed
SOFT-TC-2	Correct sign-in gets the user in the site	Scheduled
SOFT-TC-4	Clock tells the correct time	Scheduled
SOFT-TC-5	Simple test case to make sure it works	Passed

# **Test Cycles**

### Build 1

Date range April 18, 2012 to April 25, 2012

Christopher Mu	Irrow	Run Date	Time	Test Group	Status
SOFT-TSTRN- 10	Clock tells the correct time	April 18, 2012	00:00:00	Key Test Group	Not Run
SOFT-TSTRN- 10	Clock tells the correct time	April 18, 2012	00:00:00	Usability Test Group	Not Run
SOFT-TSTRN- 10	Clock tells the correct time	April 18, 2012	00:00:00	Default Test Group	Not Run
SOFT-TSTRN- 11	Correct sign-in gets the user in the site	May 24, 2012	00:00:00	Default Test Group	Not Run
SOFT-TSTRN- 11	Correct sign-in gets the user in the site	May 24, 2012	00:00:00	Usability Test Group	Not Run
Cooper Morrov	v	Run Date	Time	Test Group	Status
Cooper Morrov SOFT-TSTRN-8	<b>v</b> Wrong uname and pw shouldn't work	Run Date April 18, 2012	Time 00:00:31	Test Group Key Test Group	<b>Status</b> Failed
Cooper Morrov SOFT-TSTRN-8 SOFT-TSTRN-8	<b>v</b> Wrong uname and pw shouldn't work Wrong uname and pw shouldn't work	Run Date           April 18, 2012           April 18, 2012	Time           00:00:31           00:00:31	Test Group Key Test Group Usability Test Group	Status Failed Failed
Cooper Morrov SOFT-TSTRN-8 SOFT-TSTRN-8 SOFT-TSTRN-8	v Wrong uname and pw shouldn't work Wrong uname and pw shouldn't work Wrong uname and pw shouldn't work	Run Date           April 18, 2012           April 18, 2012           April 18, 2012           April 18, 2012	Time           00:00:31           00:00:31           00:00:31	Test Group Key Test Group Usability Test Group Default Test Group	Status Failed Failed Failed
Cooper Morrov SOFT-TSTRN-8 SOFT-TSTRN-8 SOFT-TSTRN-8 SOFT-TSTRN-9	v Wrong uname and pw shouldn't work Wrong uname and pw shouldn't work Wrong uname and pw shouldn't work Simple test case to make sure it works	Run Date           April 18, 2012           April 18, 2012           April 18, 2012           April 18, 2012           May 24, 2012	Time           00:00:31           00:00:31           00:00:31           00:00:31           00:00:118	Test GroupKey Test GroupUsability Test GroupDefault Test GroupUsability Test GroupUsability Test Group	Status Failed Failed Passed

# Run a Test Plan Status Summary report

The Test Plan Status Summary report displays a summary of the test plan with graphs and charts, by cycle and build.

## To run this report:

1. From the project with the test plan you want to include, select **Reports > Run report** in the upper-right corner of the header to open the **Run Reports** window.

Acme Works	Admin Test	Reports -	Help   Log Out
	- 🚽 Run rep	ort	
	3 Reports	history	search
nents			

2. From the list of reports in the Run Reports window, select Test Plan Status Summary.

Other Reports	(#)	
Baseline Compared to Current		Test Plan Status
Baseline Compared to Current (PDF)	P	Summary
Baseline Comparison		Displays a test plan status summary in HTML and MS Word
Baseline Comparison (PDF)		
Bidirectional Traceability	P	
Items in a Set		
Release Status	E	
Review Center Comments	П	
Review Center Stats Report	D	Select a Format
Test Plan All Projects	Â	
Test Plan Status Detail		
Test Plan Status Summary	Ē	Pair (2014)
Test Results by Test Case All Brojecte	П	Test Plan: Make a selection
Test Results by Test Cycle	Π	
User List	F	Report Detail
Utilization Report - Visual All Projects	P	Report Type: BIRT
Utilization by Project All Projects	E	

- 3. Define the report:
  - a. Select the format of the report.
  - b. Select the test plan you want to use.
- 4. (Optional) Select **Email me the report** to receive it by email.
- 5. Select Run Report.



# Run a User List report

The User List report displays a list of all the active and inactive users associated with the organization.

## NOTE

When a floating creator license is unavailable, a new user logging in is granted a floating reviewer license if one is available. If the only available license is for named reviewers, the new user can't log in to Jama Connect.

The report includes: Username, full name, disabled (inactive) status, email, and license type.

# License type key for User List Report

Creator (named)	N
Creator (float)	С
Test runner	TR

Stakeholder	S
Temporary	ET
Reviewer (named)	NV
Reviewer (float) — <i>legacy</i>	V
Reserved reviewer — legacy	RV
Reserved collaborator — legacy	R
Collaborator (float) — <i>legacy</i>	FC
Inactive	I

### To run the report:

1. From the project with the data you want to include, select **Reports > Run report** in the upper-right corner of the header to open the Run Reports window.



2. From the list of reports in the Run Reports window, select User List.

Ither Reports	4	Ileas Liet	
Baseline Compared to Current		User List	and a second sec
Baseline Compared to Current (PDF)		List of all users.	5 2 72 7
Baseline Comparison	ũ		
Baseline Comparison (PDF)	Q		
Bidirectional Traceability	E.		
tems in a Set			
Release Status	R		
Review Center Comments	R	Select a Formal	
Review Center Stats Report	Q	E E	
Test Plan All Projecis	D		
fest Plan Status Detail	Q	Report Detail	
Test Plan Status Summary	D	Report Type: BIRT	
Test Results by Test Case	ū	(approximation)	
Test Results by Test Cycle	D		
Jser List	E.		
Utilization Report - Visual	A		
Utilization by Project	D		

- 3. Define the report by selecting the format of the report.
- 4. (Optional) Select **Email me the report** to receive it by email.
- 5. Select Run Report.
# **Custom reports**

If your reporting needs go beyond built-in default reports [414], exports [344], and Office Templates [349] you can create custom reports.

Jama Software Consulting Services can help in creating:

- Reports with logic
- · Reports with charts and graphs
- · Reports with custom formatting

To get help, contact your account manager or Jama Software support at support@jamasoftware.com.

# View and download Reports history

From the the Reports history page, you can view and download reports. You can also see the status of reports that are generated.



2.

# NOTE

Organization admins see all reports. Users see only reports they create.

#### To view and download reports:

1. From the Jama Connect header, select **Reports > Reports history**.

	T STREAM PROJECTS								
nico	nductor Framework Ö-				Search	- Run repo D Reports t	rt history	search	
le	ct the report you want t	o view	, then o	click <b>Do</b>	wnload.				
5	A STREAM PROJECTS REVIEW	VS RISK	ADMIN			Acme Works test	Aamin Test	Reports	-   H
nch	borts history						-		
50	Name	C 1 of 5	selected Type	Run by	Context	Started	Finished	vnload	ions
	Name Baseline Comparison (PDF)	C 1 of 5 Format PDF	selected Type Velocity	Run by Admin Test	Context Non-Context Sensitive	Started 10/05/2023 10:32:23 am	Finished Complete	vnload Act	ions m
	Name Baseline Comparison (PDF) Test Plan	C 1 of 5 Format PDF	selected Type Velocity Velocity	Run by Admin Test Admin Test	Context Non-Context Sensitive Non-Context Sensitive	Started 10/05/2023 10:32:23 am 10/05/2023 10:32:17 am	Finished Complete	vnload Act *	ions
	Name Baseline Comparison (PDF) Test Plan Test Plan	C 1 of 5 Format PDF PDF PDF	selected Type Velocity Velocity Velocity	Run by Admin Test Admin Test Admin Test	Context Non-Context Sensitive Non-Context Sensitive Non-Context Sensitive	Started 10/05/2023 10:32:23 am 10/05/2023 10:32:17 am 10/05/2023 10:32:13 am	Finished Complete Complete	vnload Act	ions m
	Name Baseline Comparison (PDF) Test Plan Test Plan Items in a Set	<ul> <li>1 of 5</li> <li>Format</li> <li>PDF</li> <li>PDF</li> <li>PDF</li> <li>PDF</li> <li>PDF</li> </ul>	selected Type Velocity Velocity Velocity BIRT	Run by Admin Test Admin Test Admin Test Admin Test	Context Non-Context Sensitive Non-Context Sensitive Non-Context Sensitive Non-Context Sensitive	Started 10/05/2023 10:32:23 am 10/05/2023 10:32:17 am 10/05/2023 10:32:13 am 10/05/2023 10:32:08 am	Finished Complete Complete Complete	vnload Act *	ions a a a a a

A pop-up message notifies you that the download was initiated.

3. From the Downloads section of your browser, select the report to open it.



#### Manage the Reports history page

From the Reports history page, you can sort columns, search, download, and delete multiple reports. View the Context column to determine the origin of a report or export, such as a set or filter.

A *non-context sensitive* report can be run from anywhere and isn't associated with a set, folder, filter, container, or baseline.

#### To manage the Reports history page:

1. From the Jama Connect header, select **Reports > Reports history**.

	Â	STREAM	PROJECTS	REVIEWS	RISK	ADMIN	Acme Works test	Admin Tode Reports -	Help   Log Out
Constant of		1					- Contract of the second	- Run report	
Semicon	ductor Pro	oject 2.0 📼					otrancri	Reports history	search
Project -	Change p	project	<< L	barn more = 借	Dashboar	d: Semiconductor F	Project		
To se	arch	for a rep	oort — En	ter your	query	in the se	arch field.		

The results appear in the table.

2.

Reports history											
iterr		0	3	1 result							
	Name		1	Format	Туре	Run by	Context	Started	Finished	Acti	ons
	Items in a Set			PDF	BIRT	Admin Test	Non-Context Sensitive	10/05/2023 10:32:08 am	Complete	*	Ô

 To download multiple reports — Select the reports you want to download, then select Download.

Rep	oorts history		ownload Select	ed Rep	orts					
Sea	nth	Ð	3 of 5 sele	ected			·	🛓 Downi	oad	đ
	Name	÷	Format =	Type 🗉	Run by	Context	Started	Finished 😂	Acti	ons
	Baseline Comparison (PDF)		PDF	Velocity	Admin Test	Non-Context Sensitive	10/05/2023 10:32:23 am	Complete	*	Î
	Test Plan		PDF	Velocity	Admin Test	Non-Context Sensitive	10/05/2023 10:32:17 am	Complete	*	ũ
	Test Plan		PDF	Velocity	Admin Test	Non-Context Sensitive	10/05/2023 10:32:13 am	Complete	*	Û
	Items in a Set		PDF	BIRT	Admin Test	Non-Context Sensitive	10/05/2023 10:32:08 am	Complete	*	Ŵ
	Test Plan Status Detail		PDF	BIRT	Sara Ribaudo	Non-Context Sensitive	08/08/2023 04:01:15 pm	Failed	4	ũ

4. To delete multiple reports — Select the reports you want to delete, then select **Delete Selected Reports** (trash icon).

#### 5. To sort columns — Select the up arrow icon and down arrow icon to reorganize the table.

onshistory									
157	0, C	6 items							
Name		Format \$	Туре	Run by	Context	Started	Finished	Actio	ons
Baseline Comparison (PDF)		PDF	Velocity	Admin Test	Non-Context Sensitive	10/05/2023 10:32:23 am	Complete	*	
Test Plan		PDF	Velocity	Admin Test	Non-Context Sensitive	10/05/2023 10:32:17 am	Complete	*	T
Test Plan		PDF	Velocity	Admin Test	Non-Context Sensitive	10/05/2023 10:32:13 am	Complete	*	Ŵ
Items in a Set		PDF	BIRT	Admin Test	Non-Context Sensitive	10/05/2023 10:32:08 am	Complete	4	Ē
Test Plan Status Detail		FDF	BIRT	Sara Ribaudo	Non-Context Sensitive	08/08/2023 04:01:15 pm	Failed	4	<b>a</b>
	Name — Baseline Comparison (PDF) Test Plan Test Plan Items in a Set Test Plan Status Detail	Name Baseline Comparison (PDF) Test Plan Test Plan Items in a Set Test Plan Status Detail	Name Comparison (PDF) PDF Test Plan PDF	Name     Formality       Baseline Comparison (PDF)     PDF       Velocity       Test Plan       PDF       Velocity       Items in a Set       PDF       Bilt       Test Plan       PDF       Bilt       Test Plan       PDF       Bilt       PDF       Bilt       PDF       Bilt	Name     Formale     Type     Run by       Baseline Comparison (PDF)     PDF     Velocity     Admin Tast       Test Plan     PDF     Velocity     Admin Tast       Items in a Set     PDF     BIRT     Admin Test       Test Plan     PDF     Seliter     Admin Test       Items in a Set     PDF     BIRT     Admin Test       Test Plan     PDF     BIRT     Sara Ribaudo	Name         Type         Run by         Context           Baseline Comparison (PDF)         PDF         Velocity         Admin Test         Non-Context Sensitive           Test Plan         PDF         Velocity         Admin Test         Non-Context Sensitive           Test Plan         PDF         Velocity         Admin Test         Non-Context Sensitive           Items in a Set         PDF         BIRT         Admin Test         Non-Context Sensitive           Test Plan         PDF         BIRT         Admin Test         Non-Context Sensitive           Items in a Set         PDF         BIRT         Admin Test         Non-Context Sensitive           Test Plan Status Detail         PDF         BIRT         Sara Ribaudo         Non-Context Sensitive	Name     Formation     Type     Run by     Context     Stated       Baseline Comparison (PDF)     PDF     Velocity     Admin Test     Non-Context Sensitive     10065/2023 10:32:23 am       Test Plan     PDF     Velocity     Admin Test     Non-Context Sensitive     10065/2023 10:32:13 am       Test Plan     PDF     Velocity     Admin Test     Non-Context Sensitive     10065/2023 10:32:13 am       Items in a Set     PDF     BIRT     Admin Test     Non-Context Sensitive     1005/2023 10:32:13 am       Test Plan     PDF     BIRT     Admin Test     Non-Context Sensitive     0005/2023 10:32:13 am       Items in a Set     PDF     BIRT     Sare Ribaudo     Non-Context Sensitive     0005/2023 10:32:08 am       Test Plan Status Detail     PDF     BIRT     Sare Ribaudo     Non-Context Sensitive     08008/2023 04:01:15 pm	Name         Formation         Type         Run by         Context         Started         Finished           Baseline Comparison (PDF)         PDF         Velocity         Admin Test         Non-Context Sensitive         1005/2023 10:32:23 am         Complete           Test Plan         PDF         Velocity         Admin Test         Non-Context Sensitive         1005/2023 10:32:13 am         Complete           Test Plan         PDF         Velocity         Admin Test         Non-Context Sensitive         1005/2023 10:32:13 am         Complete           Items in a Set         PDF         BIRT         Admin Test         Non-Context Sensitive         1005/2023 10:32:13 am         Complete           Test Plan         PDF         BIRT         Admin Test         Non-Context Sensitive         1005/2023 10:32:13 am         Complete           Items in a Set         PDF         BIRT         Non-Context Sensitive         0005/2023 10:32:08 am         Complete           Test Plan Status Detail         PDF         BIRT         Sara Ribaudo         Non-Context Sensitive         0005/2023 10:32:08 am         Complete	Name       Pormate       Type       Run by       Context       Started       Finished       Activity         Baseline Comparison (PDF)       PDF       Velocity       Admin Test       Non-Context Sensitive       10/05/2023 10:32:23 am       Complete       4         Test Plan       PDF       Velocity       Admin Test       Non-Context Sensitive       10/05/2023 10:32:13 am       Complete       4         Test Plan       PDF       Velocity       Admin Test       Non-Context Sensitive       10/05/2023 10:32:13 am       Complete       4         Test Plan       PDF       Velocity       Admin Test       Non-Context Sensitive       10/05/2023 10:32:13 am       Complete       4         Items in a Set       PDF       BIRT       Admin Test       Non-Context Sensitive       10/05/2023 10:32:08 am       Complete       4         Test Plan       PDF       BIRT       Sara Ribaudo       Non-Context Sensitive       08/08/2023 04:01:15 pm       Failed       4

# **Export Velocity reports to Excel**

As a root user, you can configure settings that allow users to export a Velocity report to Excel in XLSX format. This option lets users export directly to Excel rather than using the legacy XLS format.

#### Important considerations

Deporte bistory

- This option is available only for Velocity reports.
- · You must configure this option for each report.

### To enable the Velocity report option:

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as root user.
- 2. Select **Reports > Add Report**.
- 3. In the Add/Edit Report window, enter the following information:

				-
*Report Name: *Report Type:	Velocity ~			
*Report Formats:	HTML PDF Microsoft Word Microsoft Excel			
Excel Format:	XLS format (legacy)			
Data Access:	Limit data availability based on user permissions Allow all data to be reported on regardless of user permission			
Restrict to Group:	NG GROUP RESTRICTION	~		
Report File Name:	Browse: No file selected.			
Description:				
Scope:	Organization 👻			
Organization:	1 3983 F B			
			Save	Cancel

- Report Name Enter a name
- Report Type Velocity
- Report Format Microsoft Excel
- Excel Format XSLX format
- 4. Click Save.

When a user runs a report, they can now see the Excel format type when they hover over the "Select a format" icons.

# XLSX format example

Run Reports						
Baseline locurrentPDF_itext All Projects	-	Test		1		
Bidirectional Traceability	<u></u>	1051		- 8	Strettini Trainkity	1 A
Items in a Set	1			8	of antidates	
Release Status				8	2.1	Sec.
Review Center Stats Report				8		100
Task List with Estimates				110		BE I
Test All Projects	П			00000	1	
Test Marcos All Projects	E I					
Test Plan Detail						_
Test Plan Summary	D.	Select a For	nat			_
Test Result Detail All Projects	П	X				
TestLE All Projects	1	XLSX				
Tostring All Projects	П					
Trace Relationships	E.					
User List						
itemlistLISTPDF All Projects	D					
relationshipType methods 8.56 testing (Sara J.) All Projects	<b>a</b>					
All Projects				🗌 Email me the rep	ort Run Report	Close

# XLS format example

Other Reports Baseline Compared to Current		Release Status
Baseline Compared to Current (PDF)	0	Displays assigned items with status for a selected
Baseline Comparison		release.
Baseline Comparison (PDF)	D.	
Bidirectional Traceability		
Down All Projects	D	F= -=
Items in a Set	E.	winds"
Items in a set All Projects	D.	Select a Format
Release Status	P	
Review Center Stats Report	A	
Test Plan Status Detail		
Test Plan Status Summary		Parameters
User List		Release: Make a selectory
Utilization Report - Visual All Projects	A	10. All
Utilization by Project All Projects		Report Type: BIRT
		Email me the report Run Report Close

From the Jama Connect header, select **Reports** to view the Reports history section. You can see the XLS and XLSX format options and if a report type is Velocity. For more information, see View and download Reports history [433].

# Installing Jama Connect (KOTS)

Jama Connect is a Linux-based application that uses containerd to manage containers and depends on Replicated KOTS software to "orchestrate" deploying applications. The process of installing Jama Connect includes installing and configuring the software. These tasks deliver the components necessary to run Jama Connect.

# Components and what they do

**Replicated KOTS** — A container-based platform for easily deploying cloud native applications inside customers' environments, providing greater security and control. The KOTS Admin Console is the interface for installing and administering the Jama Connect application. See <a href="https://www.replicated.com/">https://www.replicated.com/</a> for details.

**Containerd** — A container runtime that assists in the deployment, management, and operation of containers that support Jama Connect KOTS. See https://containerd.io/ for details.

**Jama Connect license** — The license included in your Welcome email. You save the license to your application server, then begin installing Jama Connect.



# Jama Connect architecture

 Users access Jama Connect by browsing to the instance URL (https://jamainstanceurl.customer.com/).

- · Administrators browse to the KOTS Admin Console using the same instance URL, but on port 8800 (https://jamainstanceurl.customer.com:8800/).
- · Jama Connect and the license are updated via API calls for internet-enabled environments. Our airgap option removes the need for remote API calls.
- Content that is added to your Jama Connect instance is stored in the database.
- · Uploaded artifacts, such as attachments and report templates, are stored in a Persistent Volume created by a Persistent Volume Claim (PVC) called tenantfs.

For more information about KOTS, see https://www.replicated.com/blog/announcing-kots/

# Installation workflow (KOTS)

Whether your environment is internet-enabled or airgapped, the installation process consists of three stages: planning, preparation, and installation.

Review the system and server requirements for your environment, then follow the instructions for each stage.

1 Plan ————	— <b>2</b> Prepare — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —	3 Install —
Poviow Poloasa Notas	Propage application and database	Install KOTS software
<ul> <li>System requirements</li> </ul>	servers	<ul> <li>Provision your Jama Connect</li> </ul>

- Application server requirements and resource sizing
- Database server requirements and resource sizing
- Install and configure database Configure memory settings for Elasticsearch
- dataset
- Create a Replicated Snapshot

For this component	Follow these instructions
MySQL	Install and configure MySQL [445]
Microsoft SQL	Install and configure Microsoft SQL Server [447]
Internet	Install KOTS software (internet) [450]
Airgap	Install KOTS software (airgap) [453]
Local Elasticsearch	Included by default
Remote Elasticsearch	Configure dedicated Elasticsearch nodes [464]

# Planning your installation (KOTS)

Before you install the Admin Console and Jama Connect, make sure you have the following according to your type of installation.

All instal- lations	<ul> <li>The license file sent from Jama Software (included in the Welcome email)</li> <li>An application server with the necessary preparation [441] and sizing requirements [441]</li> <li>A database server with the necessary preparation [445]</li> <li>Supported [440] 64-bit Linux distribution with a kernel of: <ul> <li>4.x or greater (recommended)</li> <li>3.10 (minimum)</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Airgap in- stallations	<ul> <li>URL to the airgap-safe portal (included in the Welcome email) for downloading the Jama Connect application file</li> <li>A unique password (included in the Welcome email) to access the airgap-safe portal</li> <li>PDF of this installation guide for the version of Jama Connect you are installing</li> </ul>
	IMPORTANT If you lose the URL and password, contact Support to generate new ones.
Optional	TLS certificate and private key to secure the Admin Console and Jama Connect application

# System requirements and supported software (KOTS)

Make sure that your environment conforms to all requirements and recommendations before installing Jama Connect software.

After reviewing the information on this page, see "Things to do before installation" in *Jama Connect* 9.6.x User Guide.



## IMPORTANT

To use Ubuntu 22.04, you must update the memory or Elasticsearch fails. From the KOTS Admin Console, adjust the memory settings so that Maximum Memory is 6G and Maximum Memory for Container is 8G.

# **Application server**

Use the information in this table for the server that runs the Jama Connect application. For details on sizing your application server to your environment, see "Resource sizing for application server" in *Jama Connect User Guide* 9.6.x.

Component						
Minimum	Recommended					
0.071						
• 8 CPU	• 16 CPU					
• 32 GB RAM	• 64 GB RAM					
<ul> <li>200 GB storage per node</li> </ul>	200 GB storage					
<ul> <li>Every node has the same storage space</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Every node has the same storage space</li> </ul>					
Operating system						
Recommended — Ubuntu 20.04 or Ubuntu	22.04					
Red Hat 8.6 or 8.8 — Supported only when	the RHEL Container Tools are not installed.					
Software installed with Jama Connect						
• KOTS						
Containerd						
Musto						
Musts						
• Dedicated server — Is running only Jama (	Connect					
Accessible by admin with permissions						
Lises only supported software and environ	pente					
· Uses only supported software and environm	101115					

# Database server

Use the information in this table for the server that runs your database. For details on sizing your database server to your environment, see "Resource sizing for database server" in the *Jama Connect 9.6.x User Guide*.

Component				
Minimum	Recommended			
• 4–8 CPU • 16–24 GB RAM	<ul><li> 8 CPU</li><li> 24 GB RAM</li><li> Dedicated volumes for data</li></ul>			
Database software				
<ul><li>MySQL 8 (recommended)</li><li>Microsoft SQL Server 2019 &amp; 2022</li></ul>				

#### Component

#### **Operating system**

• Recommended — Ubuntu 20.04 or Ubuntu 22.04

Red Hat 8.6 or 8.8

Musts

- Database is hosted on a server separate from the Jama Connect application.
- · Database server can host other databases, but no other applications.
- · Accessible by admin with permissions.
- · Uses only supported software and environments.
- Databases must be able to accept a minimum of 300 concurrent connections.

#### Not supported

- Azure database
- MariaDB
- Custom configurations of Jama Connect databases (for example, query optimization and additional indexes that aren't shipped with Jama Connect)

# Supported software

Make sure your environment uses only supported software.

	Component				
Browsers	Important				
<ul> <li>Edge Chromium</li> <li>Firefox*</li> <li>Google Chrome*</li> <li>Safari*</li> </ul>	Browser zoom is supported only at 100%. Use of browser exten- sions/add-ons or enabling Compatibility View is not supported while us- ing Jama Connect. Tip				
*Versions released over the past 12 months are sup- ported.	To prevent session issues, use the application in a single browser win- dow.				
Word processor and spreadsheet programs	Office 365 is used for exports and reports.				
<ul><li>Office 365 for Mac</li><li>Office 365 for Windows</li></ul>					

# **Application server requirements (KOTS)**

To install and run Jama Connect successfully, your application server must meet these requirements.

Requirement	Notes
A dedicated application server	Jama Connect is the only application running on the application server. External services can affect stability of the application, for example by consuming memory resources.
Sufficient storage, CPU, and memory for optimal per- formance	To estimate the size of and required resources for your application server, see Resource sizing for application server [441].
Accessible by an admin with permissions	An admin must have proper permissions to maintain the application, perform upgrades, and access the server for regular maintenance.
Uses compatible software and environments	Verify that you're using supported software and environments [440] compatible with the most recent self-hosted release.

## **Resource sizing for application server (KOTS)**

For optimal performance, estimate your application server needs before you install Jama Connect.

#### Requirements

• Each node must have a minimum volume of 200 GB. Increase this size based on the size of the assets that you plan to save in Jama Connect. We recommend that every node has the same storage space.

• KOTS must be up and running before you configure the application settings in the KOTS Admin Console.



# **IMPORTANT**

To avoid performance issues, use the recommended requirements for horizontal scaling, rather than minimum requirements.

Use the following tables to help determine resources for the primary node of your application server.

Table 1. Minimum size (AWS instance sizing = m5.2xlarge)

CPU	RAM	CPU + memory settings	CPU + memory setting with horizontal scaling jamacores
8	32 GB	N/A	jamacore application settings:
			Maximum CPU: 1000m
			Maximum memory: 2 G
			<ul> <li>Maximum memory per container: 3 G</li> </ul>
			Number of ingress nodes 2

# Table 2. Recommended size (AWS instance size = m5.4xlarge)

CPU	RAM	CPU + memory settings	CPU + memory setting with horizontal scaling jama- cores
16	64 GB	Supports:	Supports:
		<ul> <li>1,250 users with a ramp-up time of 30 sec- onds</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1,250 users with a ramp-up time of 10 seconds</li> <li>2,500 users with a ramp-up time of 30 seconds</li> </ul>
		jamacore application settings:	jamacore application settings:
		Maximum CPU: 12000m	Maximum CPU: 3000m
		Maximum memory: 48 G	Maximum memory: 12 G
		<ul> <li>Maximum memory for container: 60 G</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Maximum memory for container: 15 G</li> </ul>
			Number of ingress nodes: 2
		Elasticsearch settings:	Elasticsearch settings:
		Maximum CPU: 8000m	Maximum CPU: 8000m
		Maximum memory: 8 G	Maximum memory: 8 G
		Maximum memory for container: 10 G	Maximum memory for container: 10 G
		Diff Service settings:	Diff Service settings:
		Maximum memory: 2 G	Maximum memory: 2 G

Use the following table to help determine resources for the secondary node of your application server.

# Table 3. Secondary nodes dedicated to Elasticsearch: Recommended size (AWS instance size = m5.2xlarge)

CPU	RAM	CPU + memory settings					
8	32 GB	Supports:					
		2,500 users with a ramp-up time of 10 seconds					
		Elasticsearch settings:					
		<ul> <li>Maximum CPU: 8000m</li> <li>Maximum memory: 8 G</li> <li>Maximum memory for container: 10 G</li> </ul>					



# TIP

Once you're up and running, you can monitor usage and adjust your settings as needed (see "Monitoring memory usage" and "Configure memory settings" in *Jama Connect User Guide 9.6.x*).

# **Database server requirements (KOTS)**

The database must be hosted on a server separate from the Jama Connect application. This server can host other databases, but we don't support running other applications on the same server as the database.

# Supported databases

- MySQL 8 (recommended)
- Microsoft SQL Server 2019 & 2022

# What is not supported

- Azure database
- MariaDB
- Custom configurations of Jama Connect databases. Customizations such as query optimization and additional indexes that aren't shipped with Jama Connect aren't supported.

# Resource sizing for database server (KOTS)

For optimal performance, estimate your database server needs before you install Jama Connect.

Use the information in this table to determine resources needed for your database server.

Database server	Small	Medium	Large	Enterprise
Active items in system	$\leq 600,000$	$\leq$ 2 million	2–4 million	4 million+
Active projects	≤ 100	≤ 500	$\leq 1,000$	1,000+
Concurrent users	≤ 50	≤ 500	$\leq 1,000$	1,000+
CPU	4	8	16	Contact Support
Total systems of RAM	16 GB	32 GB	64 GB	Contact Support

If your usage approaches the Enterprise threshold, contact Support for customized recommendations and advanced, multi-server setup.



# TIP

Once you're up and running, you can monitor usage and adjust your settings as needed (see "Monitoring memory usage" and "Configure memory settings" in *Jama Connect User Guide* 9.6.*x*).

#### Important considerations

- Total system RAM for your database server can vary if you're using memory intensive workflows such as reuse, exporting, moving items, integrations, and batch updates. Database sizing is based on your usage patterns and platform. You must have a minimum of 4–8 cores and 16–24 GB of memory. Consult with your database admin when determining database size.
- The memory allocation allows for minimum headroom. If you need to run additional software for monitoring and analysis, consider the system requirements for that software. Configure dynamic memory settings as needed in the Admin Console.

# Things to do before installation (KOTS)

Whether your environment is internet-enabled or airgap, make sure that your application server and database server are ready before installing Jama Connect.

- Review the Jama Connect Release Notes.
- Prepare your application server [444].
- Prepare your database server [445].
- Install and configure your database (MySQL [445] or SQL Server [447]).
- Configure custom memory settings for Elasticsearch [449].

# Prepare your application server (KOTS)

Make sure your application server meets all requirements. See System requirements and supported software [440].

For users and admins to properly access Jama Connect, specific ports must be accessible to inbound traffic. Work with your network admin to make sure your network is configured properly.

1. **Inbound rules and ports for nodes** — Make sure the ports in the following table are accessible to inbound traffic and the inbound rules are configured for each server in the KOTS cluster.

Protocol	Port range	Source*	Inbound rule applies to node	Description
HTTPS	443	Anywhere	All	Jama Connect port for SSL/TLS communication (HTTPS), which is used to access Jama Connect. It can be disabled or the port number can be reconfigured.
HTTP	80	Anywhere	All	Jama Connect port for clear text communication (HTTP), which is used to access Jama Connect. It can be disabled or the port number can be reconfig- ured.
ТСР	8800	Anywhere	All	Allows admins to access the KOTS Admin Console, which is used to configure, install, and upgrade Jama Connect.
SSH	22	Anywhere	All	Allows admins to make remote connections to the nodes using SSH.
ТСР	6443	Anywhere Any node	Primary	Allows admins and KOTS nodes to access the Kuber- netes API server.**

Protocol	Port range	Source*	Inbound rule applies to node	Description
TCP	2379–2380	Any node	Primary	Allows the KOTS nodes to access the etcd server client API.**
TCP	10250	Any node	All	Allows the KOTS nodes to access the Kubelet API server.**
UDP	8472	Any node	All	Allows KOTS (Flannel) to create a virtual network that connects the services running inside the cluster.**

\* Anywhere means anyone or anything that must consume the resources in the environment.

\*\* Can be disabled in single node clusters.

- 2. **User IDs** Verify that the following User IDs are available and unused on the application server.
  - User ID 91 Used by Tomcat to read and write to directories inside jamacore pods.
    - User IDs 480–499 Used by the various services.
- 3. **Time sync setting** To ensure accurate time on the application server, set up a cron job to sync the time on a routine schedule (for example, every day or hour). Use this command to set up the cron job:

ntpdate pool.ntp.org

# Preparing your database server (KOTS)

The following information is needed when connecting the application server to the database server.

Information	Requirements
Type/vendor	Database must be one of the following:
	<ul> <li>MySQL 8 (recommended) — Install and configure MySQL [445]</li> <li>Microsoft SQL Server 2019 &amp; 2022 — Install and configure Microsoft SQL Server [447]</li> </ul>
Database hostname	Example: jama.companydb.com
Listening ports	The application server must be allowed to communicate remotely with the database server over the listening ports.
	Default ports are:
	• MySQL = 3306
	Microsoft SQL Server = 1433
Database schema name	The database owner must be able to create one:
	A new database schema
	Tables inside an existing database schema of the given name
	The database name must follow these rules:
	• Start with a letter (a–z)
	<ul> <li>Contain any number of characters: a–z, 0–9 or an underscore ("_")</li> </ul>
	Letters must be lowercase
Username	jamauser
Password	
Connections	The database must be able to accept a minimum of 300 concurrent connections.
SAML schema user- name	samluser
OAuth database user- name	oauthuser

The username and password for SAML and OAuth must match what's entered in the Microsoft SQL Server upgrade preparation script. See Install and configure Microsoft SQL Server [447] for more details.

# Install and configure MySQL (KOTS)

MySQL is the recommended database server. Follow these steps to install and configure it.

#### Important considerations

- You must have full database admin permissions to the server hosting the MySQL database.
- For the Jama Connect installation to succeed, you must first create two additional database schemas.
- If you need to upgrade the MySQL, see "Install and configure MySQL (upgrading traditional to KOTS)" in *Jama Connect User Guide* 9.6.x.

#### **Recommended settings and sample**

The following recommended settings require 8 GB of memory allocated to MySQL Server for a typical installation and 16 GB for an enterprise installation.

These settings can be added to your my.cnf file (Linux) or my.ini file (Windows).

Property	Typical installation	Enterprise installation
max_allowed_packet	1 GB	1 GB
tmp_table_size	2 GB	2 GB
max_heap_table_size	2 GB	2 GB
table_open_cache	512	512
innodb_buffer_pool_size	2 GB	12 GB
innodb_log_file_size	256 MB	256 GB
innodb_log_buffer_size	12 MB	12 MB
innodb_thread_concurrency	16	16
max_connections	151	351
wait_timeout	259200	259200

Here is a sample text config file at an enterprise level. You must add the following values for your environment:



#### To install and configure MySQL:

- 1. Make sure that the InnoDB engine is enabled.
- 2. Download and install a supported version of MySQL [440].
- On the MySQL database server, create an empty Jama Connect schema / database that uses UTF8:

CREATE DATABASE jama character set utf8mb4;

4. On the MySQL database server, create two additional database schemas and a user ("jamauser") with the ability to access, create, and update tables within the database:



5. Create a database schema for Quartz to support horizontal scaling in KOTS:

REATE	DAI	'ABAS	E quart	zi							
REATE	USE	R 'q	uartzus	er'	'@'왕'	IDEN	TIF	IED	ΒY	'password';	
RANT A	ALL	PRIV	ILEGES	ON	quart	z.*	то	' qua	ırtz	user'@'%'	

6. Restart the database server.

# Install and configure Microsoft SQL Server (KOTS)

If you are using Microsoft SQL Server for your database, follow these steps to install and configure it.

#### Important considerations

- You must have full database admin permissions to the server hosting the SQL Server database.
- If you need to upgrade the Microsoft SQL Server, see "Install and configure Microsoft SQL Server (upgrading traditional to KOTS)" in *Jama Connect User Guide* 9.6.x.

#### Before installing Jama Connect 8.62.x

- Install Microsoft SQL Server 2016–2019 for the database server.
- From the Microsoft SQL administrator section, go to **Server Configuration > Collation**, then set the Database Engine to **SQL\_Latin1\_General\_CI\_AI**.
- Create an empty Jama Connect database and two additional database schemas for the installation to succeed.
- Jama Connect requires that the MSSQL COMPATIBILITY\_LEVEL value is 130 or greater. To confirm the current value:

SELECT compatibility\_level FROM sys.databases WHERE name = <DATABASENAME>;

To modify the value:

ALTER DATABASE <DATABASENAME> SET COMPATIBILITY\_LEVEL = 130;

For more information, see https://learn.microsoft.com/en-us/sql/t-sql/statements/alter-database-transact-sql-compatibility-level?view=sql-server-ver16

Organizations using Microsoft SQL Server must enter database users in Replicated. Without these entries, the installation will fail.

The new schema must be created for a successful installation. Otherwise, the system continues to attempt to connect to the databases and produces log failures. After you create the database schemas, you must restart Jama Connect.

For more information, go to Supported software, environments, and system requirements and select your version of Jama Connect.

#### Follow these steps for a first-time installation of Jama Connect:

- 1. Connect to the SQL Server using a SQL management application (such as SQL Server Management Studio).
- Replace the following values in the installation script: <JAMA\_LOGIN\_Psswd>, <SAML\_LOG-IN\_Psswd> & <OAUTH\_LOGIN\_Psswd>.
- 3. Copy and store the passwords you create here. You will need them later to configure the Admin Console settings.
- 4. In a new query window, run this SQL query script:

Fresh Install Preparation SCRIPT
/*
Jama Connect Preparation Commands for a fresh install. It is required to run
these command / script on the Microsoft SQL Server BEFORE running the Jama
Connect 8.62.x install
for ON-PREM installation using Microsoft SQL Server 2016 - 2019
DATE: 05/10/2021
NOTES:



5. Create a database schema for Quartz to support horizontal scaling in KOTS:



- 6. Confirm that these actions were successful:
  - Script completed Check the Query Execution results for errors.
  - Users created Run the following SQL script in a new query window.

USE jama SELECT \* from master.sys.sql\_logins <u>SELEC</u>T \* from Jama.sys.sysusers

The results include **jamauser**, **samluser**, and **oauthuser** in the "Name" column of the result panes.

Users granted the DB\_owner role — Run the following SQL script in a new query window.



LEFT OUTER JOIN sys.database\_principals AS DP2 ON DRM.member\_principal\_id = DP2.principal\_id WHERE DP1.type = 'R' ORDER BY DP1.name;

The results show that db\_owner role is granted to jamauser, samluser, and oauthuser.

- 7. Keep the database from locking users' accounts while they are logging in or working in Jama Connect (you must have db\_owner permissions):
  - ALTER DATABASE jama SET READ\_COMMITTED\_SNAPSHOT ON WITH ROLLBACK IMMEDIATE;
- 8. Make sure the flag was successfully enabled:

SELECT is\_read\_committed\_snapshot\_on FROM sys.databases WHERE name='jama'

If the returned value is 1, the flag is on.

## Configure custom memory settings for Elasticsearch (KOTS)

To prepare for installing Jama Connect, you must first update the system that hosts the application. The update consists of configuring memory settings for Elasticsearch.

#### Requirements

- The memory settings must be configured on each server in the KOTS cluster for Elasticsearch to run on these servers. If you use the remote Elasticsearch setting, the memory settings can be applied only to servers that are dedicated to Elasticsearch.
- You must have admin permissions to configure the memory settings for Elasticsearch.

#### To configure memory settings:

- 1. As an admin, open the /etc/sysctl.conf file, add the following line to the file, then save the file.
- vm.max\_map\_count=262144
- Reload the sysctl.conf file:
   sudo sysctl -p
- 3. To confirm, type this command:

sudo sysctl -a | grep max\_map\_count

The system responds with:

vm.max\_map\_count=262144

# Installing the software (KOTS)

KOTS is an open-source application for Kubernetes clusters that streamlines the process to remotely install, manage, and update Jama Connect, all from the KOTS Admin Console or command-line interface (CLI).



# **IMPORTANT**

KOTS and Jama Connect must be installed on a new cluster that is created during installation and dedicated to KOTS.

Whether your organization is internet-enabled or requires an airgap installation, follow these instructions to download, install, and configure the software you need for your Jama Connect instance.

#### The software includes:

• KOTS Admin Console (Replicated)

Jama Connect

Jama Software sends a Welcome email that includes your Jama Connect license file.

#### The installation process consists of these tasks:

- Install KOTS and Jama Connect (internet [450] or airgap [453])
- Provision your Jama Connect dataset [458]
- Create a Replicated Snapshot [459]

#### Depending on your environment, the process can also include these tasks:

- · Configure KOTS to save tenant assets in Amazon EFS [466]
- Enable horizontal scaling [462]
- Configure dedicated Elasticsearch nodes [464]
- Configure Federated Authentication for KOTS Admin Console [470]

# Install Jama Connect and KOTS (internet)

The installation script and the installation wizard guide you through the process of installing the KOTS-required software and Jama Connect, then configuring the KOTS Admin Console.

The license file is included in the Welcome email you received from Jama Software.

1. Open the Welcome email from Jama Connect, then save the attached license file on your local system.

curl -sSL https://k8s.kurl.sh/jama-k8s-standardkots | sudo bash app-version-label=<versi

2. Run the command on the application server provisioned for Jama Connect:

0

# IMPORTANT

If you are deploying an older version of Jama Connect, you must include the **app-version-label** argument with the installation command (for example, 8.79.6, 9.0.4). If the argument isn't included, the latest available application version is assumed.

3. After the command runs, save the KOTS admin URL, password, and other configuration options for future reference. This is the only time these credentials appear, so make sure you save them.



- 4. In a supported browser, enter the URL for **Kotsadm**, which was generated when you installed KOTS.
- 5. Log in to the KOTS Admin Console using the password you just saved.

Lo	g in to the application
Enter the pas	ssword to access the the application admin console

- 6. Select the appropriate option:
  - Have key/certificate Click Choose file under Private key and Certificate, navigate to the files and select them, then click Upload & Continue.
  - No key/certificate Select Self-Signed Cert.
- 7. Upload the license file that you saved on your local system.

ι	Jpload your license file
	EA
	( NUMBER OF STREET
	Drag your license here or choose a file
This will b	e e yaml file. Pléase contact your account rep it you are unablé to locaté your license filé.

8. Configure the settings for each group, as needed. Scroll down to see each group of settings.
• Database Settings — Select your database type (MySQL or Microsoft SQL Server), then use the information from Preparing your database server [445] to complete the settings.

- Host Name Enter the base URL for Jama Connect. Ensure this domain name is routable on your network.
- TLS Key Pair Source (Optional) If you have a custom key and certificate for the host name, select Custom TLS Configuration. In the TLS Configuration section, upload the key and certificate.
- Assets Size Enter the estimated size of the assets that you are planning to store in Jama Connect.
- Elasticsearch Settings > Volume Size Enter the amount of disk space that each Elasticsearch node is allowed to use.
- **Tenant Manager Settings** Enable this setting for optimal performance. Disable this setting if background operations are required before you provision the tenant (for example, when reusing traditional Replicated or using remote Elasticsearch).

The *Tenant Manager* provisions, restores, upgrades, and sets licenses during application startup. (Optional) From the Config tab in the KOTS Admin Console, follow the steps to configure KOTS to

save tenant assets in the Amazon EFS [466].

# 10. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Continue**.

The system performs the preflight checks.

#### **Preflight checks**

9.

Preflight checks validate that your cluster will meet the minimum requirements. If your cluster does not meet the requirements your application might not work properly. Some checks may be required which means your application will not be able to be deployed until they pass. Optional checks are recommended to ensure that the application you are installing will work as intended.

<ul> <li>Required Kubernetes Version Your cluster meets the recommended and required versions of Kubernetes:</li> <li>Container Runtime Docker container runtime was found.</li> <li>Check Kubernetes environment. KURL is a supported distribution</li> <li>Total CPU Cores in the cluster is 8 or greater There are at least 8 cores in the cluster</li> <li>MySQL database connection - Tenant schema Successful connection to Jama schema - MySQL database</li> <li>MySQL database connection - SAML schema</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Container Runtime Docker container runtime was found.</li> <li>Check Kubernetes environment. KURL is a supported distribution</li> <li>Total CPU Cores in the cluster is 8 or greater There are at least 8 cores in the cluster.</li> <li>MySQL database connection - Tenant schema Successful connection to Jama schema - MySQL database</li> <li>MySQL database connection - SAML schema Successful connection to SAML schema</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Check Kubernetes environment. KURL is a supported distribution</li> <li>Total CPU Cores in the cluster is 8 or greater There are at least 8 cores in the cluster:</li> <li>MySQL database connection - Tenant schema Successful connection to Jama schema - MySQL database</li> <li>MySQL database connection - SAML schema Successful connection to SAML schema</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Total CPU Cores in the cluster is 8 or greater There are at least 8 cores in the cluster</li> <li>MySQL database connection - Tenant schema Successful connection to Jama schema - MySQL database</li> <li>MySQL database connection - SAML schema Successful connection to SAML schema</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>MySQL database connection - Tenant schema Successful connection to Jama schema - MySQL database</li> <li>MySQL database connection - SAML schema Successful connection to SAML schema</li> </ul>	
MySQL database connection - SAML schema     Support of comparison to SAML schema	
ducessini comestion to shine screens - mysor adaptase	
MySQL database connection - OAuth schema     Successful connection to OAuth.schema - MySQL database	

 From the Preflight checks screen, click Continue to open the KOTS Admin Console. The process can take up to an hour. When the system is available, the status changes to Ready.

	D	ashboard	Version history
🤳 Jama software:	Jama	Conn	ect
	Applicatio	onfig	
	Status 🕑 Ready		

- 12. Log in to Jama Connect as root using the hostname configured for Jama Connect.
- 13. **Important:** Once Jama Connect is installed, use these instructions to provision a Jama Connect dataset [458].



# IMPORTANT

You must provision a Jama Connect dataset [458] before you allow your users access to Jama Connect. If you need the link to the dataset, contact your Customer Success Manager.

# Install Jama Connect and KOTS (airgap)

The installation script and the installation wizard guide you through the process of installing the KOTSrequired software and Jama Connect, then configuring the KOTS Admin Console.

The following is included in the Welcome email you received from Jama Software:

- · License file
- · URL to the airgap-safe portal for downloading the Jama Connect application file
- · A unique password to access the airgap-safe portal

#### To install Jama Connect and KOTS:

- 1. Open the Welcome email from Jama Connect and save the attached license file to your local system.
- 2. Log in to the airgap portal, select **Embedded Cluster**, then download the **jama-k8s Airgap Bundle** and **Embedded Kubernetes Installer** files to your local system.

Jama Connec	t		
The installation process is different depending on if you have an existing cluster or and embedded cluster on a VM. Bring my own cluster Existing cluster installations Embedded cluster Embedded cluster Embedded cluster on a VM	License K8Customer-DanaMedaug-Test Standar (*) Devilcense Environ (*) 2012 Mirgap enable Standarbox enable O O O O Jama Application License: Postowegdartyc21+bj01k64kf181baakv201u2z01vyRot uds5bbWd+BaruyS122shbw	SKQYS ps enabled 	ad license Reawy
	Select application version Selecting the application version ensures that compare 9.0.2 Sequence 1069	Ible versions by the KOTS CLI and the Subornates Installer are al	so selected
	Embedded Kubernetes Installer		
	jama-k8s-standardkots	± Dow	nloed bundle
	jama-k8s Airgap Bundle		
	9,0.2 Sequence 1069 Jun 20, 2023 @ 11:35am Show Checksum	E 🕁 Downlaad airga	p bundle 🧭
	KOTS CLI		
	V1.101.2 Aug 4, 2023 @ 12:53pm	E	Ł Download
	Latest Preflight CLI	Latest Support Bundle CLI	
	v0.70.2 Jul 21, 2023 @ 4:12am	nload V0.70.2 Jul 21, 2023 @ 4:12am	ž Download

3. To download the Kubernetes Installer for your channel and install it, run the following command on the application server provisioned for Jama Connect.

export REPLICATED_APP=jama-k8s
export REPLICATED_CHANNEL=standardkots
curl -LS https://k8s.kurl.sh/bundle/\$REPLICATED_APP-\$REPLICATED_CHANNEL.tar.gz \
-o \$REPLICATED_APP-\$REPLICATED_CHANNEL.tar.gz
tar -zxvf \$REPLICATED_APP-\$REPLICATED_CHANNEL.tar.gz
cat install.sh   sudo bash -s airgap

If your application server doesn't have internet access, you can download the Kubernetes Installer from the airgap-safe portal and upload it to the application server.

- 4. After the command runs (which might take several minutes), save the KOTS admin URL, password, and other configuration options for future reference. This is the only time these credentials appear, so make sure you save them.
- 5. In a supported browser, enter the URL for **Kotsadm**, which was generated when you installed KOTS.

Inst Co	tallation omplete 🖌		
Kotsadm: http://35. Login with password	:8800 (will not be shown	again):	ØJBSOTKMI

6. Log in to the KOTS Admin Console using the password you just saved.



# Log in to the application

Enter the password to access the the application admin console.

TORRANDO	
Log in	

- 7. Select the appropriate option:
  - Have key/certificate Select Choose file under Private key and Certificate, navigate to the files and select them, then click Upload & Continue.
  - No key/certificate Select Use Self-Signed Cert.
- 8. Upload the license file saved on your local system.
- 9. Upload your jama-k8s airgap bundle, then click Continue.



# Install in airgapped environment

To install on an airgapped network, the images in the application will be uploaded from the bundle you provide to the cluster.

#### Drag your airgap bundle here or choose a bundle to upload

This will be a ,airgap file the application provided. Please contact your account rep if you are unable to locate your .airgap file.

The Config tab in the KOTS Admin Console opens, where you can configure Jama Connect. 10. Configure the settings for each group, as needed. Scroll down to see each group of settings.

- **Database Settings** Select your database type, then use information from Preparing your database server [445] to complete the settings.
- Host Name Enter the host name for the cluster.
- TLS Key Pair Source (Optional) If you have a custom key and certificate for the host name, select Custom TLS Configuration. In the TLS Configuration section, upload the key and certificate.
- Assets Size Enter the estimated size of the assets that you are planning to store in Jama Connect.
- Elasticsearch Settings > Volume Size Enter the amount of disk space that each Elasticsearch node is allowed to use.
- 11. (Optional) From the Config tab in the KOTS Admin Console, follow the steps to configure KOTS to save tenant assets in the Amazon EFS [466].
- 12. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save config**. The system performs the preflight checks.

#### Preflight checks

Preflight checks validate that your cluster will meet the minimum requirements. If your cluster does not meet the requirements your application might not work properly. Some checks may be required which means your application will not be able to be deployed until they pass. Optional checks are recommended to ensure that the application you are installing will work as intended.

Results from your preflight checks

	Paguirad Kubarnetas Varsian	
Ÿ	Your duster meets the recommended and required versions of Kulternates	
	Tanka permenen titebook etter opdatutut/bermanik enter opdatu ole tellevertute et Canneko tellevert	
0	Container Runtime	
	Docker container runtime was found.	
0	Check Kubernetes environment.	
	KURL is a supported distribution	
~	Total CPU Cores in the cluster is 8 or greater	
	THERE BYE AS LEADS IN THE GUISTERS	
0	MySQL database connection - Tenant schema	
2	Successful connection to Jama schema - MySQL riatabase	
0	MySQL database connection - SAML schema	
7	Successful connection to SAML schema - MySQL database	
	MvSQL database connection - OAuth schema	

- 13. From the Preflight checks screen, click **Continue** to open the KOTS Admin Console.
- 14. In the Application section of the dashboard, wait until the status changes to **Ready**.

jama	ama Conn	ect
Serving OL		001
Appl View de	ication ployed config	
Status	ady	

- 15. Log in to Jama Connect as root using the hostname configured for Jama Connect.
- 16. **Important:** Once Jama Connect is installed, use these instructions to provision a Jama Connect dataset [458].



## IMPORTANT

You must provision a Jama Connect dataset [458] before you allow your users access to Jama Connect. If you need the link to the dataset, contact your Customer Success Manager.

# Provision your Jama Connect dataset (KOTS)

Although optional, we strongly recommend that you provision an industry dataset. It ensures that your organization has a sample framework as you begin to use Jama Connect.

If you don't provision an industry dataset in your installation, you don't see sample data or an industry framework when you log in and begin using Jama Connect. Otherwise, your use of Jama Connect isn't impacted.

Your purchase confirmation email includes the .jama license file and a link to the industry dataset. If you don't have this link, contact your Customer Success Manager.

#### Requirements

- Jama Connect must be installed before you provision your dataset. Otherwise, the provisioning will fail.
- If the /data/restore directory doesn't exist, you must manually create it.

#### To provision your dataset:

- 1. Using the link that was included in your purchase confirmation email, download the .jama license file for the industry dataset.
- 2. Copy the .jama file to a host system with a node within the KOTS cluster.
- 3. On the host system, copy the .jama file to the /data/restore directory:
- kubectl cp -c core <path to .jama archive> default/core-0:/data/restore4. Configure the permissions for the file to be read by all users:
- chmod 644 /data/restore/<filename>.jama5. Delete the tenant properties file:

kubectl exec --tty -c core pods/core-0 -- rm /home/contour/tenant\_properties/tenant.properties

6. Remove the resources:

#### kubectl delete sts/core kubectl delete job/tenant-manager

- kubect1 delete pod/hazelcast-0
  7. Drop the current database and create a new database, SQL Server [447] or MySQL [445], with the same name. If you decide to create a database with a new name, update the database settings in the config tab of the KOTS Admin Console.
- 8. From the KOTS Admin Console in the Restore Jama Backup section, enter the path to the backup file, then click **Save**.

#### Restore Jama Backup

A Jama backup file can be restored during the initial installation of Jama (i.e. when the database is created). Use this option to continue using data from an existing Jama instance. Otherwise an empty Jama instance is created using sample data.

Enter the file path of a Jama backup file ( jama xml ). The file path must meet the following conditions:

On the (primary) installation host Below the /data/restore/... path

Readable by all (" -rw-r--r-- ")

The backup file is only used during the initial installation of Jama (i.e. when the database is created).

# Backup file

/data/restore/my-archive.jama

#### 9. Select **Go to updated version**, then click **Deploy**.

The config for Jama Connect has been upda	ated.	
	Edit the latest config	Go to updated version

In the Application section of the dashboard, the status changes to **Ready**. The provisioning of your dataset is complete.

# Create a Replicated Snapshot (KOTS)

Taking a full snapshot creates a backup of the KOTS Admin Console and application data. It can be used for full Disaster Recovery by restoring over the same instance or in a new cluster. Tenant assets are included in the snapshot. Elasticsearch data is included by default.

A Replicated Snapshot can be taken while Jama Connect is running without interruption.

#### Requirements

- Replicated Snapshots must be enabled for your Replicated customer license.
- KOTS Admin Console 1.79 and later.
- Replicated Snapshots don't include your database. You must use a proprietary backup/restore system for your type of database, MySQL or SQL Server.

#### Important considerations

- · When restoring from a snapshot in a new cluster, you must reinstall KOTS.
- *Recommended* Include Elasticsearch data in snapshots to avoid having to reindex your data after performing a restore. However, if your snapshot is not recent, we recommend reindexing your data.
- Replicated Snapshots don't support IAM authentication against EFS. Saving Replicated Snapshots in EFS requires that you use the default file system policy to allow all nodes in the cluster to mount the EFS.

#### To create a Replicated snapshot:

- 1. Capture the KOTS installer.
- 2. (Recommended) Include Elasticsearch data in snapshots: From the KOTS Admin Console under the Elasticsearch Settings section, select **Include Elasticsearch in Replicated Snapshots**.
- 3. *Airgap only* Capture the IP address of the private registry, which is the IP address value in the Cluster-IP column:

# kubectl get service/registry -n kurl

- 4. Configure the storage destination:
  - a. In the KOTS Admin Console, select **Snapshots > Settings & Schedule**.
  - b. From the Destination drop-down menu, select a storage destination for your snapshots.
    - For AWS S3 The IAM role assigned to the underlaying servers or the user associated with the credentials (access and secret key) must have the Policy template attached.
       Use the following template to create a policy, replacing the <arn-S3> parameter with ARN of the S3 bucket. For example: arn:aws:s3:::jama-snapshots.



- For NFS If using EFS as an NFS server, the Server field = the DNS name of the EFS and the Path field = a directory inside the EFS, writable by the user:group 1001:1001.
- c. Click Update storage settings to save your preferences.
- 5. Schedule Full Snapshots:
  - a. In the KOTS Admin Console, select Snapshots > Settings & Schedule.
  - b. Select Enable automatic scheduled snapshots, then click Update schedule.
- 6. Create a Full Snapshot (follow the steps provided by Replicated).

# **Capture KOTS Installer (KOTS)**

When you restore a snapshot in a new cluster, the version of KOTS and its add-ons must match those of the original cluster. Capture each KOTS Installer that was used to create or update your clusters.

#### Why capture the kurl URL?

A hashed kurl URL (for example, https://kurl.sh/c601b1e) points to a website where you can get the installation script or Kubernetes airgap bundle. Both require you to install the same version of KOTS and add-ons. You must capture this kurl URL because the Replicated Channel URL that was used to install KOTS always pulls the latest KOTS installer that has been promoted. If you rerun the installer from the channel to enable an advanced option or you create a cluster to restore a snapshot, you might accidentally update the KOTS version and it's add-ons.



# NOTE

Replicated Vendor maintains a history of every installer that has been promoted to a channel. If for any reason the kurl URL captured in this procedure doesn't work, it can be provided to Jama Software and we might be able to find a similar installer in our KOTS Installer History.

To capture the KOTS Installer:

1. Use the following installer resource information to create a .yaml file named installer.yaml:

```
cat <<EOT >> installer.yaml
apiVersion: cluster.kurl.sh/vlbetal
kind: Installer
metadata:
name: latest
EOT
```

2. Get all installer resources in your cluster, and copy down the name of the installer that you used to download it:

kubectl get installers

3. Gather the installer details, replacing the **<installer-name>** parameter:

kubectl get installers <installer-name> -o yaml

From the results, copy the spec section and paste it at the end of the installer.yaml file that you created.

The file looks similar to this example of a KOTS Installer:

apiVersion: cluster.kurl.sh/v1beta1		
kind: Installer		
metadata:		
name: latest		
spec:		
certManager:		
version: 1.9.1		
containerd:		
version: 1.6.24		
contour:		
version: 1.25.2		
ekco:		
version: 0.28.3		
flannel:		
version: 0.22.3		
kotsadm:		
applicationSlug: jama-k8s/standardkots		
version: 1.103.3		
kubernetes:		
version: 1.27.6		
metricsServer:		
version: 0.6.4		
minio:		
version: 2023-09-30T07-02-29Z		
openebs:		
isLocalPVEnabled: true		
localPVStorageClassName: local		
version: 3.9.0		
prometheus:		
version: 0.68.0-51.0.0		
registry:		
version: 2.8.3		
velero:		
version: 1.11.1		

5. Send the installer.yaml file to the create installer API from Replicated to receive a hashed URL:

curl -X POST -H "Content-Type: text/yaml" --data-binary "@installer.yaml" \ https://kurl.sh/installer && echo ""

6. Save the kurl URL that is displayed. It looks similar to https://kurl.sh/c601b1e.

# Restore KOTS Admin Console and Jama Connect from a Replicated Snapshot (KOTS)

When you set up a new application server for Jama Connect, you can restore the KOTS Admin Console settings that you saved in a Replicated Snapshot.

Snapshots include the registry images and data for Jama Connect.

#### Requirements

If restoring to a new cluster, it must match these specifications and settings of the cluster where the backup was taken:

- Number of nodes
- · Inbound and outbound traffic rules
- Virtual memory settings for Elasticsearch
- Connectivity to external services and resources (for example, AWS EFS, AWS S3)

#### To restore from a snapshot:

- 1. Configure servers for a new cluster:
  - a. After the servers for the cluster are provisioned, install KOTS on one node using the captured KOTS Installer. You must pass the same flags to the installation script that were passed to the original cluster.
    - **Restoring an online cluster** Run the appropriate installation script that was generated from the captured KOTS installer.
    - **Restoring an airgap cluster** Download the appropriate KOTS installer bundle, replacing <**ip**> with the IP address of the private registry from the original cluster:

cat install.sh | sudo bash -s airgap kurl-registry-ip=<ip

- b. When the installer has finished, run the command displayed on the screen so the other servers join the cluster. If required, label the nodes dedicated for Elasticsearch.
- c. Install any add-ons that were manually installed in the cluster. For example, the EFS Driver.
- 2. Configure the storage destination: From the KOTS CLI, point the cluster to the storage destination where the Replicated Snapshots were saved.

AWS S3	See configure-aws-s3.
Azure	See configure-azure.
GCP	See configure-gcp.
S3-Other	See configure-other-s3.
NFS	See configure-nfs. If the cluster uses EFS or NFS, also see Configuring an NFS Storage Destination.
	<b>Note:</b> If using EFS as an NFS server, <b>Server</b> field = <b>DNS name</b> of the EFS and <b>Path</b> field = a directory inside the EFS, writable by the user:group 1001:1001.

3. Locate the snapshot and restore it: From the KOTS CLI, run a backup Is and full restore.

#### backup ls

This can take a few minutes. If the snapshots don't appear, rerun this command.

- 4. If you changed the host name for Jama Connect:
  - a. Update the Host Name field in the KOTS Admin Console and deploy the change.
  - b. From your browser, log in to Jama Connect and change your URL.
- 5. View scheduled jobs to verify that the list isn't empty.
- 6. If the Elasticsearch data wasn't included in the snapshot or if the snapshot isn't recent, reindex all search items.
- 7. Verify that you can locate your assets.

# Enable horizontal scaling (KOTS)

To avoid performance issues, you can enable horizontal scaling and add more instances of Jama Connect. For each KOTS node, configure each Jama Connect instance to use more CPU and memory.

## Important considerations

• This task is optional.

## Requirements

- Jama Connect must already be installed and running before enabling this option.
- If restoring your environment from a backup, restore it without horizontal scaling enabled.
- To use horizontal scaling, you must provide a new database schema and user.

• Once you increase the number of replicas for each instance role, don't decrease the number.



## **IMPORTANT**

To avoid performance issues, use the recommended requirements [441] for horizontal scaling, rather than minimum requirements.

#### To enable horizontal scaling:

- 1. On the KOTS Admin Console, go to the **Config** tab.
- 2. Scroll to the **Core Jama Application Settings** section, and select **Enable Horizontal Scaling**. Extra fields are displayed for setting horizontal scaling.

Core Jama Application Settings

Core Jama Application Se 🔿	Show Memory and GPU Settings
Show Memory and CPU Settings	Enable Horizontal Scaling
Enable Horizontal Scaling	Split responsibilities between multiple Gore Jama instances. Before enabling this option take in count the following considerations:
Minimum amount of ingress nodes	If this is the first time you are installing Connect in the Cluster, please D0 N0T enable this option. Once Connect has been installed and is working property, you can enable horizontal scaling safety. If you are
Minimum amount of job nodes	restoring a backup then restore it without horizontal scaling enabled.
Minimum amount of report nodes	You will have to provide a new database schema and user for Quartz to use. You will be able to configure the minimum amount of replicas for each instance role. Once you have
Database Settings 🗸	Increased the amount of replicas, D0 NOT decreased it.
Advanced Database Settings $\sim$	Minimum amount of ingress nodes
dvanced DB Settings ~	
Restore Jama Backup ~	Default value: 1
Veb Server 🗸	Minimum amount of job nodes
SL Settings ~	
łost Name ∽	Default Value: 1
rusted Certificates ~	Minimum amount of report nodes
Storage ~	
lasticsearch Settings ~	Default value: 1
Search Service Settings ~	

- 3. Specify the number of nodes that you want per role (default is 1). For recommended values, see Application server requirements [441].
  - Minimum number of ingress nodes
  - · Minimum number of job nodes
  - · Minimum number of report nodes
- 4. Adjust the maximum memory and CPU for each node. For recommended values, see Application server requirements [441].
- 5. Scroll down to the Database Settings section and specify the **Quartz database schema** information.

Dashboard	Version history Config Troubleshoot License View lifes Registry settings	
	Dehault valuer oauth	
	OAuth user name Begunne	
Subernetes Configuration A		
Allow Master Notes	Default value: authusar	
Ingress Class Name	OAuth password Required	
Issuer Name		
Isrifilis a pluster scoped Issuer?		_
Memory and CPU Settings $\sim$	Quartz database schema Meguere	
Core Jama Application Sett 🗸	Hequired when horizontal scaling is enabled for connect.	
Database Settings V		
Advanced Database Sottings	Default value: quartz	
divanceu Database Settings ♥	Quartz user name Required	
Advanced DB Settings 🗸	Required when horizontal scaling is enabled for Connect.	
Restore Jama Backup 🗸		
Veb Server $\sim$	Default Volue: quartzuser	
SSL Versions V	Quartz password mediate	
Host Name 🗸	Required when horizontal souling is enabled for Connuct.	
rusted Certificates ∨		
Storage 🗸		
Elasticsearch Settings 🗸	Advanced Database Settings	
Search Service Settings ~	Show advanced database settings	
ActiveMQ Service Settings 🗸		

You can use the following scripts as a base to create the schema for Quartz in your database. They were created assuming that you already set up your database [445].

In the scripts, change the schema name, username, or user password to match what you specified in the KOTS Admin Console.

MySQL:	CREATE DATABASE quartz; CREATE USER 'quartzuser'@'%' IDENTIFIED BY 'password'; GRANT ALL PRIVILEGES ON quartz.* TO 'quartzuser'@'%';
Microsoft SQL:	USE master; CREATE LOGIN quartzuser with password = 'password'; GO USE jama; EXEC ('CREATE SCHEMA quartz'); GO USE jama; CREATE USER quartzuser for LOGIN quartzuser with DEFAULT_SCHEMA=quartz; GO EXEC sp_addrolemember N'db_owner', quartzuser; GO

- 6. Click Save config.
- 7. Deploy the new version: Select the **Version history** tab and click **Deploy** in the row of your newly configured version.
- 8. Verify the status of your application: Select the **Dashboard** tab and make sure the status is **Ready**.
- 9. (Optional) Verify that the new pods are ready:

kubectl get pods -o wide

# Configure dedicated Elasticsearch nodes (KOTS)

Your primary KOTS server (node) is referred to as a KOTS stack. To run Elasticsearch, you must add one or more secondary nodes where Elasticsearch will run, and configure the nodes to run Elasticsearch.

#### Important considerations

- This task is optional .
- You must have a functioning primary KOTS server and a secondary server where Replicated KOTS has not yet been installed. For secondary node specifications, see Application server requirements [441].
- This task is appropriate for a new node and an existing node.
- · Contact Support to enable remote Elasticsearch for your Replicated license.

#### To configure your nodes:

- 1. Make sure communication is established between primary (KOTS stack) and secondary (where Elasticsearch will run) KOTS nodes. For more information, see Prepare your application server [444].
- 2. On the secondary node, configure the memory settings for Elasticsearch [449].

echo "vm.max\_map\_count=262144" | sudo tee -a /etc/sysctl.conf sudo sysctl -p

- On the Admin Console of the primary node below Version history, click Check for updates to synch the changes made to your license.
- 4. Select the Config tab and, if you see the following message, click Edit the latest config.

Dashbuard	Version history	Config	Troubleshoot	License	View files	Registry settings

5. Scroll down to the **Elasticsearch Settings** section and follow the steps shown to add a dedicated Elasticsearch node.



- 6. Set the number of Elasticsearch nodes to match the number of dedicated KOTS nodes that you configured.
- 7. Adjust the maximum memory and CPU that each Elasticsearch node can use based on the specifications of each dedicated KOTS node set up for Elasticsearch. For more information, see Application server requirements [441] and Resource sizing for application server [441].

Elasticsearch Settings
Include Elasticsearch in Replicated Snapshots Recommended
If enabled and Elasticsearch is being managed by Replicated, then Replicated Snapshots will include Elasticsearch's data. By doing if, you will avoid having to re-index your data after you restore your application from a Replicated Snapshot.
Max CPU Required
Default value: 1000m
Max Memory Required
Maximum amount of memory to allow the Elasticsearch application to use.
Derault value; 4G
Maximum amount of memory to allow the container which contains the Elasticsearch application. This value
MUST be larger than the Elasticsearch Service memory setting.
Default value: 5G
Volume Size Required
This is the amount of disk space that each Elasticsearch node is allowed to use.
Default value: 10Gi
Service Availability Check Delay (in seconds)
Default value; 60

- 8. Click Save config.
- 9. Deploy the changes.
- 10. When the Elasticsearch cluster is up and running, reindex all items.

# Configure KOTS to save tenant assets in Amazon EFS

When you configure KOTS to save tenant assets in Amazon EFS, the tenant assets are saved if a cluster fails. EFS provides automatic backups of the tenant assets and EFS is automatically scaled as you add and remove assets.



#### IMPORTANT

Complete this task before Jama Connect is deployed. Otherwise, if you want to move your assets to EFS, you must first back up tenant assets to a TAR in KOTS [469].

#### Requirements

- A KOTS cluster must be up and running.
- You must be able to create and modify these AWS resources: IAM roles, IAM policies, security groups, EC2 instances, and EFS file systems.

- The cluster must have internet access to download the EFS driver and associated containerd images.
- · Ports 9909 and 9809 must be available for the EFS driver to function successfully.
- Create a new EFS dedicated to your KOTS stack because each Persistent Volume requires an EFS point, and access points are limited. Currently, each EFS can have a maximum of 120 access points. A dedicated EFS allows you to future-proof the cluster. The steps are provided below.



## NOTE

Make sure you copy the Amazon Resource Names (ARNs) for the IAM role that is assigned to the EC2 instances included in the KOTS cluster.

#### To save tenant assets:

- 1. Create a new security group for the EFS that allows inbound access for the TCP protocol on the NFS port (2049) from all EC2 instances that are included in the KOTS cluster.
  - a. Select a security group that is assigned to the EC2 instances as the source.
  - b. Confirm that the EC2 instances included in the KOTS cluster have a security group that allows outbound access on the NFS port to the security group created in the previous step.
- 2. Create the Amazon EFS file system:
  - a. From the Amazon EFS Management Console, select Create file system.
  - b. In the Create file system page, click Customize.
  - c. On the File systems setting page, configure the following, then click **Next**:
    - Name Enter a name that allows you to easily identify the EFS.
    - Availability and Durability Regional.
    - Automatic backups Enable automatic backups during off hours to avoid backup inconsistencies.
    - Performance mode General Purpose.
    - Throughput mode Bursting.
    - Encryption Enable encryption of data at rest.
  - d. On the Network access page, configure the following, then click Next:
    - Virtual Private Cloud (VPC) Enter the name of the VPC where the KOTS cluster is running.
    - **Mount targets** Verify that a mount target is created per Availability Zone, then assign the security group you created earlier.
  - e. Using the template below, generate a file system policy for the EFS, replacing the **<arn-cluster-role>** parameter with the ARN of the cluster role. Then, attach the policy to the EFS.

```
"Version": "2012-10-17",
"Statement": [
{
    "Effect": "Deny",
    "Principal": {
        "AWS": "*"
    },
    "Action": "*",
    "Condition": {
        "Bool": {
            "aws:SecureTransport": "false"
        }
    }
    }
},
{
    "Effect": "Allow",
    "Principal": {
        "AWS": "<arn-cluster-role>"
    }
```



- f. On the Review and create page that opens, review the file system configuration groups, then select **Create** to create your file system and return to the File systems page.
- 3. Edit the cluster role:
  - Generate the ARN of the newly created EFS, replacing <region>, <account-id>, and <filesystem-id> parameters:

arn:aws:elasticfilesystem:<region>:<account-id>:file-system/<file-system-id>

b. Generate the ARN for the access points, replacing <region> and <account-id> parameters:

arn:aws:elasticfilesystem:<region>:<account-id>:access-point/\*



## IMPORTANT

The template must be used as is, with the policy targeting all access points.

c. Use the following template to create a new IAM policy, replacing the **<arn-efs>** with the ARN generated in step 3a and replacing the **<arn-access-points>** parameters with the ARN generated in step 3b. Then, attach the new policy to the cluster role.



4. Install the AWS EFS driver version **1.3.8** in your cluster:

kubectl apply -k "github.com/kubernetes-sigs/aws-efs-csi-driver/deploy/kubernetes/\
overlays/stable/?ref=tags/v1.3.8"
The following containerd images are downloaded to your EFS driver: amazon/aws-efs-csidriver, public.ecr.aws/eks-distro/kubernetes-csi/node-driver-registrar, public.ecr.aws/eks-distro/kubernetes-csi/livenessprobe.

5. Verify that the driver was successfully installed:

kubectl get daemonset.ag efs-csi-controller -n ku	ops/efs ube-syst	-csi- tem	node csi	drive	r/efs.csi	.aws.	com d	leployments	s/\	
NAME daemonset.apps/efs-csi-node	DESIRED 1	CUR 1	RENT REA 1	DY U 1	P-TO-DATE	AVAIL 1	ABLE	NODE SELECT beta.kubern	OR etes.io/os=linux	AGE 26m
NAME csidriver.storage.k8s.io/efs.	csi.aws.	com	ATTACHREQU false	IRED	PODINFOONM false	IOUNT	STORA false	GECAPACITY	TOKENREQUESTS <unset></unset>	REQUIRESREPUBLISH false
NAME deployment.apps/efs-csi-contr	oller	READY 1/2	UP-TO-DA 2	TE A	VAILABLE	AGE 26m				

- 6. Enable the EFS Storage Class.
  - a. Log in to the KOTS Admin Console, select the **Config** tab, then scroll to the **AWS Resources** section.
  - b. Select Enable EFS Storage Class.
  - c. In the AWS EFS Storage Class section under File System ID, enter the ID of the newly created EFS.
- 7. Remove existing PVC and assets.



### IMPORTANT

If Jama Connect has been deployed and you want to move your assets to EFS, you must first back up tenant assets to a TAR in KOTS [469].

a. From the primary node, delete the StatefulSets of the core pods:

kubectl delete sts/core sts/core-ingress sts/core-reports sts/core-jobs

- b. Delete the PVC that contains the assets, so that a new PVC can be created that points to EFS: kubect1 delete pvc/tenantfs
- 8. Save assets in EFS.
  - a. From the KOTS Admin Console, scroll to the Storage section, then in the **Assets Storage Class** field, enter the name assigned to the EFS Storage Class.
  - b. Save your changes and deploy Jama Connect.
  - c. (Optional) Once the core pods are running, restore tenant assets from a TAR in KOTS [470].
- 9. Run this command:

kubectl get pvc/tenantfs

The output displays **storage class** as the name assigned to the EFS storage class.

### Back up tenant assets to a TAR file in KOTS

If Jama Connect was deployed to KOTS and you want to move your assets to EFS, you must first back up tenant assets to a Tape Archive file (TAR) in KOTS.



### IMPORTANT

You must have a core-0 pod running, unless you have horizontal scaling enabled for jamacore, then a core-ingress-0 pod is running.

To back up tenant assets:

- 1. Set an environment variable with your tenant name [474]:
- 2. Copy the assets from a core pod to an **assets** local directory in the KOTS node. To reduce the backup size, exclude the **tempreports**.

kubectl cp -c core default/core-0:/home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/attachments assets/attachments kubectl cp -c core default/core-0:/home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/avatars assets/avatars kubectl cp -c core default/core-0:/home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/diagrams assets/diagrams kubectl cp -c core default/core-0:/home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/equations assets/equations kubectl cp -c core default/core-0:/home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/reports assets/reports kubectl cp -c core default/core-0:/home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/reports assets/reports kubectl cp -c core default/core-0:/home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/reports assets/reports

3. List the contents of the assets directory inside the core pod:

scp <user>@<ip-another-machine>:<destination-path> assets.tar.g

- kubectl exec --tty -c core pods/core-0 -- ls -la /home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/
- 4. Verify that the commands from step 2 included every folder and file displayed.
- 5. Create a TAR file from the local directory:

export TENANT NAME=jama

tar -zcvf assets.tar.gz assets/
Copy the TAR file from the node to a different system and review its content:

You now have a backup file that includes all the assets.

### **Restore tenant assets from TAR in KOTS**

Follow this process when you have an existing cluster and want to save your tenant assets on an external storage device.

#### Requirements

- In EFS, the tenant assets must be backed up in a TAR file [469] and restored once EFS has been configured.
- Make sure that you use our process to create the TAR file; the restore commands expect a TAR file with a certain structure.

#### To restore tenant assets:

- 1. Set an environment variable with your tenant name [474]:
- 2. Copy the TAR file from its current location to a master node:

scp assets.tar.gz <user>@<ip-master-node>:~/assets.tar.gz

3. Log in to the master node and extract the TAR file:

tar -xvzf assets.tar.gz

export TENANT\_NAME=jama

4. Copy the assets to a core pod:

```
cd assets
cubectl cp -c core . default/core-0:/home/contour/tenant/${TENANT_NAME}/
cubectl exec --tty -c core pods/core-0 -- chmod -R 755 /home/contour
cubectl exec --tty -c core pods/core-0 -- chown -R tomcat:tomcat /home/contour
```

5. Verify that the assets were copied:

kubectl exec --tty -c core pods/core-0 -- ls -la /home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/
kubectl exec --tty -c core pods/core-0 -- du -shc /home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/

### **Configure Federated Authentication for KOTS Admin Console**

By default, you can log in to the KOTS Admin Console with a shared password. To improve security, configure this feature so that KOTS admin authentication is managed by your Identity Provider.

### Requirements

- · You must have the KOTS software installed.
- Identity Service must be enabled by Jama Software Support for your Replicated license.
- You must have an Identity Provider that is compatible with OpenID.

### Important considerations

• When you enable identity provider access to the KOTS Admin Console, shared password authentication is disabled. To reset authentication and reenable shared password authentication:

kubectl kots identity-service enable-shared-password --namespace default

#### To configure Federated Authentication:

- 1. Update the KOTS license if Support enabled Identity Service for your license. (See "Update the KOTS license" in *Jama Connect 9.6.x User Guide*).
- 2. Connect KOTS Admin Console to the Identity Provider.
  - a. Log in to the KOTS Admin Console, then select the Access tab.
  - b. In the Configure Identity Provider section:
    - Verify that the Admin Console URL matches the URL for your KOTS Admin Console.
    - Connector name Enter a name that works best for your team.
    - Issuer Enter the Issuer or OpenID Configuration URL from your IdP application.
    - Client ID and Client secret Enter the Client ID and Client Secret from your IdP application.
  - c. Select the **Access** tab to expand the Advanced options menu, complete the following, then click **Save provider settings**:
    - **Scopes** Enter the OpenID, profile, and email.
    - Skip email verification Enable or disable this option based on your organization's needs and IdP support.
    - Remaining fields Use the default values.
  - d. Click Logout.

You are redirected to a new login screen, where you can log in to Jama Connect. If a "Failed to attempt login" error appears, see Troubleshooting KOTS errors [471].

### After installing Jama Connect (KOTS)

Whether your environment is internet-enabled or airgap, after you install Jama Connect you can continue to set up your Jama Connect environment.

Follow any post installation instructions that apply to your organization.

The setup tasks to configure your environment include:

- Add Organization Admin account
- Modify organization details
- Configure email/collaboration settings
- Configure user authentication
- · Create XML backups (optional)
- Update the license for KOTS environments (optional)

If you have further questions about Jama Connect installation and setup, visit the Jama Support Community or contact Support.

### Troubleshooting your installation (KOTS)

If you run into problems with your KOTS installation, here are some resources that might help.

- Connection errors [472]
- Federated Authentication errors [472]
- Backup and restore errors [473]
- Installation errors [472]
- Generate a support bundle [473]

### Installation errors (KOTS)

If any errors occurred during installation, use this table to fix the issues.

Error message	Solution
This webpage is not available	Verify that the "Host Name" section of the settings was correctly entered to point to the application server.
Not private or Not se- cure	This might happen if you chose a self-signed certificate or uploaded an invalid certificate. Verify that you correctly entered the <b>Custom TLS configuration</b> in the <b>Host Name</b> window.
	If this happens only for other users and not the system administrator, and the Admin Console is using a self-signed certificate, you might have already told your web browser to "Proceed (unsafe)" or "Add exception," while other users haven't. Verify that you selected the setting you want for <b>Reuse admin console TLS configuration</b> in the <b>Host Name</b> window.
Problem: Cannot create database jama: Con- nections could not be acquired from the un- derlying database!	Most likely, something is wrong with your Admin Console database settings (for example, bind-ad- dress, DBO credentials), or the connection between the application server and the database server. Double-check your database settings in the Admin Console.

### **Connection errors (KOTS)**

The KOTS installation process includes using the kubectl command line tool. If you see an error message that relates to kubectl, use the workaround tips for the issue.

Error message	Reason	Workaround
The connection to the server local- host:8080 was refused - did you specify the right host or port? error: error loading config file "/etc/kuber- netes/admin.conf": open /etc/kuber- netes/admin.conf: permission denied	kubectl might not be configured properly for the user and/or node where you tried to use it.	<ul> <li>Wrong user — Switch to the user that installed KOTS or to root (sudo su -), then rerun the kubectl command.</li> <li>Wrong node — Switch to the server where KOTS was installed initially or to a primary node, then rerun the kubectl command.</li> <li>kubectl can be configured for other users and nodes but it requires some research. See Embedded Cluster: How to get kubectl working for other users.</li> </ul>
Waited for 1.184446141s due to cli- ent-side throttling, not priority and fairness	When using kubectl with Ubuntu 18.04, you might see this warn- ing message.	Log in to Jama Connect as the root user ( <b>sudo su -</b> ).
Application status is not accurate	This error usually occurs when the cluster is restarted or if a cluster was restored from a snapshot. The Application status in the KOTS Admin Console might differ from what you see in the UI when using kubectl.	Redeploy the latest license version from the Ver- sion history tab in the KOTS Admin Console.

### Federated Authentication errors (KOTS)

The "Failed to attempt login" error can occur when you log in to the KOTS Admin Console from a browser for the first time. This error can occur if you didn't specify the host name and chose to upload custom certificates, or you specified the host name but it wasn't retained by the KOTS Admin Console.

#### To resolve this issue:

If provided, the KOTS Admin Console uses the custom certificate. If none was provided, a new selfsigned certificate is generated with the host name you specified. The KOTS Admin Console retains the host name.

- 1. Review the KOTS Admin pod logs:
  - a. Check the name for your KOTS Admin pod:
    - kubectl get pods -o wide
  - b. Check the logs for your KOTS Admin pod:

kubectl logs -f pods/<kotsadm-pod-name>

Review the logs and confirm that the following error appears:

```
"
"level": "error",
"ts": "2022-08-25T18:36:03Z",
"msg": "failed to get kotsadm oidc provider: failed to guery provider \"https://<your-kots-
admin-hostname>:8800/dex\": Get \"https://<your-kots-admin-hostname>:8800/dex/.well-known/openid-
configuration\": x509: certificate is valid for kotsadm.kotsadm.default, kotsadm.default.svc,
cotsadm.default.svc.cluster, kotsadm.default.svc.cluster.local, not <your-kots-admin-hostname>"
```

- 2. Restore the ability to configure the TLS certificates:
  - kubectl -n default annotate secret kotsadm-tls acceptAnonymousUploads=1 --overwrite
- 3. Restart the kurl-proxy pod:
- kubectl delete pod \$(kubectl get pod | grep kurl-proxy | awk '{print \$1}')
- Open the KOTS Admin Console with this link: http://<your-kots-admin-hostname>8800/tls
- 5. Choose one:
  - Select Skip & continue if you don't want to provide custom certificates.
  - Upload the files and select **Upload & continue** if you want to provide custom certificates.

### Backup and restore errors (KOTS)

Replicated has documented the following scenarios.

Error message	Reason	Workaround
Error executing hook	When a cluster is restarted, some pods might be in a <b>Shut- down</b> state, meaning they were likely replaced by new pods.	Delete the pods that are in a <b>Shutdown</b> state:
		kubectl delete pods/ <pod-name></pod-name>
Connect is not reach- able after a restore	If you restored a cluster on a new server with a different host name than the original, and updated the Host Name field in the	Delete the httproxy resource for nginx and redeploy it:
ready	nginx might not have been updated.	kubectl delete httpproxy/nginx

### Generate a support bundle (KOTS)

To troubleshoot and diagnose problems with application deployments, you can generate a support bundle to collect and analyze data from your environment.

Jama Support uploads the support bundle to the Replicated vendor portal to view and interpret the analysis, and can open a support request ticket if needed. Severity 1 issues are resolved three times faster when submitted with support bundles.

- 1. For internet environments, generate a support bundle from the CLI:
  - a. Log in to the KOTS Admin Console, then select the Troubleshoot tab.
  - b. Scroll down to the Analyze Jama Connect for support section, then click If you'd prefer to get a command to manually generate a support bundle. A cURL command appears.
  - c. Copy the command.
  - d. From the CLI, run the command to generate a support bundle.
- 2. For airgap environments, generate a support bundle from the CLI:
  - a. Log in to the KOTS Admin Console, then select the **Troubleshoot** tab.
  - Scroll down to the Analyze Jama Connect for support section, then click If you'd prefer to get a command to manually generate a support bundle.
     A cURL command appears.

c. Remove the following code from the cURL command:

curl https://krew.sh/support-bundle | bash

Your command looks like this:

kubectl support-bundle secret/default/kotsadm-jama-k8s-supportbundle --redactors=configmap/\ default/kotsadm-redact-spec/redact-spec,configmap/default/kotsadm-jama-k8s-redact-spec/redact-spec

- d. Copy the command.
- e. From the CLI, run the command to generate a support bundle.

### **KOTS FAQ**

Question	Answer			
What is my tenant name?	Your tenant name is the text you entered as the database name from the Config tab in the KOTS Admin Console.			
	Database Settings			
	Type/vendor			
	MySQL      Microsoft SQL			
	Host Required			
	Port Required			
	Défault value: 3306			
	Database Required			
	Default Value: jama			
How can I find the name of a node?	Run this command, then check the Name column:			
How do I shut down my cluster?	Ideally, your cluster is always up and running. If all nodes require maintenance, shut down and perform maintenance on one node at a time. The KOTS installer deploys EKCO, which is a utility tool to perform maintenance operations on the cluster.			
	Run this command to prepare the node for a reboot:			
	sude /opt/ekco/shutdown.sh When the process is finished, shut down the node.			
Does Jama Connect support NFS?	If running Jama Connect in AWS, you can configure the application to save your tenant assets in EFS, or configure KOTS to save Replicated Snapshots to an NFS server.			

## **Upgrading Jama Connect (KOTS)**

Upgrading Jama Connect to 8.79.6, 9.0.4, or 9.6.x requires that you first update the Jama Connect KOTS platform. The updated KOTS platform optimizes how data is stored in Jama Connect and how KOTS resources communicate with one another.



### **IMPORTANT**

Upgrading your current environment involves significant maintenance downtime and requires that you have a recovery plan in case you need to revert to the original environment. Instead, we recommend that you install a new Jama Connect environment (referred to as a *clean installation*), then copy elements of your current environment to the new environment.

Here are the supported upgrade scenarios:

- (Recommended) Clean installation of Jama Connect KOTS platform This recommended scenario requires that you install a clean Jama Connect KOTS instance on a new application server, then copy data assets from your current environment to the new environment. The new instance must point to a restored backup of your database.
- In-place upgrade of Jama Connect KOTS platform This scenario requires upgrading your current environment in place, which involves significant maintenance downtime and requires that you have a recovery plan in case you need to revert to the original version. You must run a pre-upgrade script before running the Kubernetes (kURL) installer.

### **Recommended upgrade paths**

Use this table to determine the best upgrade path for your organization.

If your Jama Connect instance is running this version	Upgrade to one of these versions
8.79.x	8.79.6
	9.0.4
	9.6.x
9.0.x	9.0.4
	9.6.x

### Perform a clean installation of Jama Connect

Whether your environment is internet-enabled or airgapped, we recommend that you install a new Jama Connect environment (referred to as a *clean installation*) to support new versions of the Jama Connect application.

The process includes using a new application server and a database instance that was restored from a backup of your current production instance. Once the new environment is up and running, you must copy elements of your current environment to the new environment (move from one KOTS environment to another KOTS environment).

#### To perform a clean installation:

1. Install the KOTS software [438].

- 2. Provision your tenant in Jama Connect KOTS:
  - a. From the KOTS Admin Console, select the Config tab.
  - b. Configure the settings for each group, as needed. Scroll down to see each group of settings.



### IMPORTANT

Use the settings from your current environment as a guide when configuring the new settings.

Make sure that the current Host name, Database name, Username, and Password are configured correctly in the KOTS Admin Console. When you install KOTS in a new environment, you must point to the newly installed database host or the deployment fails.

- Database Settings Select your database type (MySQL or Microsoft SQL Server), then use the information from Preparing your database server [445] to complete the settings.
- Host Name Enter the base URL for Jama Connect. Ensure this domain name is routable on your network.
- TLS Key Pair Source (Optional) If you have a custom key and certificate for the host name, select Custom TLS Configuration. In the TLS Configuration section, upload the key and certificate.
- Assets Size Enter the estimated size of the assets based on the current data assets size of your environment and its projected growth.
- Elasticsearch Settings > Volume Size Enter the amount of disk space that each Elasticsearch node is allowed to use.
- c. Scroll down to Tenant Manager Settings and deselect the **Enabled** checkbox to disable it. Disabling the tenant manager allows you to pause provisioning while copying data assets from the existing KOTS environment to the new KOTS environment.

**Tenant Manager Settings** 

#### Enabled?

This option allows managing the "Tenant manager" execution state, II should be enabled (checked) to ensure the proper functioning of Jama Connect. It can only be disabled (unchecked) when our Help Docs indicate so.

- d. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save config**. The preflight checks run.
- e. From the Preflight checks screen, click **Deploy** to deploy the Jama Connect application and services.

When the system is available, the status in the KOTS Admin Console changes to **Ready**. The deployment process can take at least an hour.

f. From the application server CLI, verify that the Kubernetes pods were successfully created:

#### kubectl get pods

The status of the pods change to ready and running.

root@ip- kubectl get poo	ds			
NAME	READY	STATUS	RESTARTS	AGE
activemq-0	1/1	Running	0	79m
connect-drainer-s7ncs	0/1	Completed	0	79m
core-0	1/1	Running	0	79m
diff-0	1/1	Running	0	79m
elasticsearch-0	1/1	Running	0	79m
hazelcast-0	1/1	Running	0	79m
kotsadm-684954474d-dvjgl	1/1	Running	0	120m
kotsadm-rqlite-0	1/1	Running	0	120m
kurl-proxy-kotsadm-68d64bf84c-gq29x	1/1	Running	0	120m
nginx-0	1/1	Running	0	79m
oauth-0	1/1	Running	0	79m
saml-0	1/1	Running	0	79m
search-0	1/1	Running	0	79m
root@ip-				

g. When the pods are ready and running, copy the data assets from the original instance to an accessible location on the new application server.

To gather these items from the original instance:

- i. In the terminal of the application server, use the kubectl tool to create a bash session inside the core pod.
- kubectl exec -it core-0 -- /bin/bashii. From the bash prompt, change your directory.

cd /home/contour/tenant/jama

tar -zcvf assets.tar.gz avatars/ attachments/ diagrams/ reports/ equations/ tempreports/

iii. Exit the core pod bash prompt and use the kubectl tool to copy the **TAR file** to the local application server.

kubectl cp core-0:/home/contour/tenant/jama/assets.tar.gz ./assets.tar.gz

- iv. Copy **assets.tar.gz** to the new application server.
- h. On the application server, set the tenant name for the environment (the tenant name, usually *jama*, is the name of the Jama Connect database schema):

### export TENANT\_NAME=<tenant\_name:

- i. On the application server:
  - i. Copy and extract the previously preserved data assets into the running core pod and change the ownership permissions:



ii. Delete the core stateful set to recreate the core pod:

kubectl delete sts/core

- j. From the KOTS Admin Console, select the **Config** tab, enable the Tenant Manager Settings that were previously disabled, then click **Save config**.
- k. Remove entries from the Jama Connect database tenantstate table to prepare for a new deployment:

### DELETE FROM tenantstate;

- I. After the preflight checks run successfully, deploy the new version of Jama Connect:
  - i. From the KOTS Admin Console, click **Deploy** next to the newly saved version of Jama Connect.
  - ii. When the deployment is complete and all pods are running, log in to Jama Connect as root using the host name configured for Jama Connect.

- iii. If upgrading with new servers:
  - Configure SAML authentication in the new Jama Connect KOTS environment (see "Configure SAML authentication" in *Jama Connect User Guide* 9.6.x).
  - Update the base URL before performing a full reindex (see "Change URL" in *Jama Connect User Guide* 9.6.*x*).
- m. Perform a full reindex in Jama Connect to complete the deployment (see "Reindex all search items" in *Jama Connect User Guide* 9.6.x).

### Perform an in-place upgrade of Jama Connect

Upgrading Jama Connect to 8.79.6, 9.0.4, or 9.6.x requires that you first update the Jama Connect KOTS platform. The updated KOTS platform optimizes how data is stored in Jama Connect and how KOTS resources communicate with one another.



### IMPORTANT

Upgrading your current environment involves significant maintenance downtime and requires that you have a recovery plan in case you need to revert to the original environment. Instead, we recommend that you install a new Jama Connect environment (referred to as a *clean installation*), then copy elements of your current environment to the new environment. See Perform a clean installation [475].

To perform an in-place upgrade, see the instructions for your environment:

- Update the Jama Connect platform (internet) [478]
- Update the Jama Connect platform (airgap) [480]

### Update the Jama Connect KOTS platform (internet)

Before you can deploy Jama Connect 8.79.6, 9.0.4, and 9.6.x, you must first update the Jama Connect KOTS platform (referred to as an *in-place upgrade*).

This method requires that you first run a pre-upgrade script, then run the Kubernetes (kURL) installer. After you run the script and installer, new versions of Jama Connect can be deployed from the KOTS Admin Console.

Upgrade from this Jama Connect version	To one of these versions
8.79.x	8.79.6
	9.0.4
	9.6.x
9.0.x	9.0.4
	9.6.x

#### Important considerations

- Make sure that the file system on your primary node/application server has enough free space to support a data migration of the assets associated with your Jama Connect instance. Measure the disk space occupied by the var/lib/longhorn directory (du /var/lib/longhorn) and confirm that the disk has twice that amount available.
- Expect downtime. Upgrade during off hours to minimize the impact.

- The Kubernetes (kURL) installer is interactive and prompts you to confirm some of the steps. Depending on the number of remote nodes in your environment, expect this part of the upgrade process to take at least two hours.
- If you have dedicated Elasticsearch nodes, you are prompted to run separate installer commands on the secondary nodes during the installation.
- Recommended Run the install commands inside a terminal multiplexer session to keep the session active in the event that the connection is dropped or the terminal is closed.
- If your Jama Connect deployment fails with a HorizontalPodAutoscaler error, you must manually update the Kubernetes secret associated with the deployed Helm release and redeploy Jama Connect. See Troubleshoot PersistentVolumeAccessMode errors if Jama Connect deployment fails [483].

### To update the Jama Connect KOTS platform:

- 1. Back up your Jama Connect instance.
- 2. Download prepare-for-longhorn-to-openebs-upgrade.sh from GitHub.
- 3. On the primary node, run the shell script downloaded in step 2 as a user with adequate privileges:

#### bash prepare-for-longhorn-to-openebs-upgrade.sh

4. Run the kURL installer:



### **IMPORTANT**

The kURL installer is interactive and prompts you to continue several times throughout the upgrade process. Kubernetes is upgraded incrementally in steps from version 1.23.17 to 1.27.6 and requires you to confirm several of the steps before proceeding to the next version.

- a. From the command line on the primary node/application server, enter the following command to initiate the installation:
  - curl -sSL https://kurl.sh/jama-k8s-standardkots | sudo bash -s
- b. Prepare your instance for the new Jama Connect release. This command deletes targeted KOTS resources, which is required before deploying the new version of Jama Connect.

kubectl delete sts/activemg sts/core sts/diff sts/elasticsearch sts/hazelcast sts/oauth ` sts/saml sts/search sts/nginx sts/core-ingress sts/core-reports sts/core-jobs \ jobs/tenant-manager pvc/volume-oauth-0 pvc/volume-saml-0

5. Upgrade Jama Connect [479].

### **Upgrade Jama Connect with KOTS (internet)**

When a new version of Jama Connect is available, you can apply and deploy it from the KOTS Admin Console.



### IMPORTANT

If you are upgrading Jama Connect 8.79.6 or 9.0.4 to 9.6.x, you must run this command on the application server CLI before deploying Jama Connect:

kubectl delete sts/saml sts/oauth pvc/volume-oauth-0 pvc/volume-saml-0

#### To upgrade Jama Connect with KOTS:

- 1. From the KOTS Admin Console, select the Version history tab, then click Check for update.
- 2. When the preflight checks are complete, find your Jama Connect upgrade version, then click **Deploy**.

The new version is tagged as **Currently deployed version**.

### Update the Jama Connect KOTS platform (airgap)

Before you can deploy Jama Connect 8.79.6, 9.0.4, and 9.6.x, you must first update the Jama Connect KOTS platform (referred to as an *in-place upgrade*).

This method requires that you first run a pre-upgrade script, then run the kURL installer. After you run the script and installer, new versions of Jama Connect can be deployed from the KOTS Admin Console.

See also: Updating Embedded Clusters.

Upgrade from this Jama Connect version	To one of these versions
8.79.x	8.79.6
	9.0.4
	9.6.x
9.0.x	9.0.4
	9.6.x

### Important considerations

- Make sure that the file system on your primary node/application server has enough free space to support a data migration of the assets associated with your Jama Connect instance. Measure the disk space occupied by the var/lib/longhorn directory (du /var/lib/longhorn) and confirm that the disk has twice that amount available.
- Expect downtime. Upgrade during off hours to minimize the impact.
- The Kubernetes (kURL) installer is interactive and prompts you to confirm some of the steps. Depending on the number of remote nodes in your environment, expect this part of the upgrade process to take at least two hours.
- If you have dedicated Elasticsearch nodes, you are prompted to run separate installer commands on the secondary nodes during the installation.
- Recommended Run the install commands inside a terminal multiplexer session to keep the session active in the event that the connection is dropped or the terminal is closed.
- If your Jama Connect deployment fails with a HorizontalPodAutoscaler error, you must manually update the Kubernetes secret associated with the deployed Helm release and redeploy Jama Connect. See Troubleshoot PersistentVolumeAccessMode errors if Jama Connect deployment fails [483].

#### To update the Jama Connect KOTS platform:

1. Log in to the airgap portal, select **Embedded Cluster**, then download the **Embedded Kuber**netes Installer files to your local system.

Jama Connec	t	
The installation process is different depending on if you have an existing cluster or and embedded cluster on a VM.   Bring my own cluster Ealsting cluster installation   Cmbedded cluster on a VM	License K8Customer-DanaMedaug-Test Standar (D Devilcense Engineeric 2022) Magap enabled Snapshots enabled O Gitto Jama Application License: PD5 solwegdarVyc31vb j014654cf i01busHy2G1u2z01y9kcf ud85bbi0J+RepuyS1Y2 show	Ips enabled. TgiPs&&RpGxpY2Vac2UgdmVyc21vbjQiMS&vIj4&BdIj2K5&2URBAGB+PGReaMV
	Select application version Salecting the application version ensures that compare 9.0.2 Sequence 1069	ible versions of the KOTS CLI and the Kubernetes installer are also selecte
	Embedded Kubernetes Installer	
	jama-k8s-standardkots jama-k8s Airgap Bundle	👻 Unwnload bundle
	9.0.2 Sequence 1069 Jun 20, 2023 @ 11:35am Show Checksom	E 🛓 Download airgap bundle
	KOTS CLI	
	v1.101.2 Aug 4, 2023 @ 12:53pm	E 4 Download
	Latest Preflight CLI	Latest Support Bundle CLI
	v0.70.2 Jul 21, 2023 @ 4:12am	v10ad Jul 21, 2023 @ 4:12am

- 2. From an internet-enabled system, download **prepare-for-longhorn-to-openebs-upgrade.sh** from GitHub.
- 3. On the primary node, run the shell script downloaded in step 2 as a user with adequate privileges:
- bash prepare-for-longhorn-to-openebs-upgrade.sh 4. Extract (untar) the kURL installer:

tar -xzvf jama-k8-standardkots.tar.gz

The following contents are extracted: kurl directory, install.sh, join.sh, tasks.sh, and upgrade.sh scripts.

5. Run the kURL script to ensure all required images are available:

sudo bash tasks.sh load-images

6. Run the kURL installer:



### IMPORTANT

The kURL installer is interactive and prompts you to continue several times throughout the upgrade process. Kubernetes is upgraded incrementally in steps from version 1.23.17 to 1.27.6 and requires you to confirm several of the steps before proceeding to the next version.

a. From the command line on the primary node/application server, enter the following command to initiate the installation:

#### sudo bash install.sh airgap

b. When the installation is complete, prepare your instance for the new Jama Connect release. This command deletes targeted KOTS resources, which is required before deploying the new version of Jama Connect.

kubectl delete sts/activemq sts/core sts/diff sts/elasticsearch sts/hazelcast sts/oauth \ sts/saml sts/search sts/nginx sts/core-ingress sts/core-reports sts/core-jobs \ jobs/tenant-manager pvc/volume-oauth-0 pvc/volume-saml-0

7. Upgrade Jama Connect [482].

### Upgrade Jama Connect with KOTS (airgap)

When a new version of Jama Connect is available, you can apply and deploy it from the KOTS Admin Console.



### IMPORTANT

If you are upgrading Jama Connect 8.79.6 or 9.0.4 to 9.6.x, you must run this command on the application server CLI before deploying Jama Connect:

#### To upgrade Jama Connect with KOTS:

1. From the air-gap safe portal, download the new **jama-k8s airgap** bundle for embedded clusters.

kubectl delete sts/saml sts/oauth pvc/volume-oauth-0 pvc/volume-saml-0

Jama Connect			
The installation process is different depending on if you have an existing cluster or and embedded cluster on a VM.	License K8Customer-DanaMedaug-Test Ø Dev license Engine (Control (1997)) @ Airgap enabled @ Snapshots enabled	StandardKATS	2 Download license
Embedded cluster     Embedded clustor on a VM	Jama Application License: PD545MwgdarVycZ1v5j01M54x1iBlbmHvZG1u2 wdz5h5W0+BGFuY51¥1 \$http://www.scalua.com/scalua.com/scalua.com/scalua.com/scalua.com/scalua.com/scalua.com/s	rOiVVRGLTgiPs4KPGxpr2Vac2UgdmVyc21vbjQiMS4wIj4UbGLj	2W5#2URhage+PGRsawV
	Select application version Selecting the application version ensures that 9.0.2 Sequence 1069 Embedded Kubernetes Installer	r compavible versions of the KOTS CLI and the Rubernete	is installor statalso selected
	jama-k8s-standardkots		± Download bundle
	jama-k8s Airgap Bundle		
	9.0.2 Sequence 1069 Jun 20, 2023 @ 11:35am Show Checksum	E	🛓 Download airgep bundle
	KOTS CLI		
	V1.101.2 Aug 4, 2023 @ 12:53pm		.ि ± Download
	Latest Preflight CLI	Latest Support Bundle CLI	
	v0.70.2 Jul 21, 2023 @ 4:12am	★ Download     Jul 21, 2023 @ 4:12am	E Download

- From the KOTS Admin Console, select the Version history tab: You must complete this step if the new airgap bundle hasn't been uploaded yet.
  - a. Click Upload new version.
  - b. Select the new airgap bundle.
  - A new version is created, and the system performs the preflight checks.
- 3. When the preflight checks are complete, click **Deploy**.

The new version is tagged as Currently deployed version.

### Troubleshooting your upgrade (KOTS)

If you run into problems with your KOTS upgrade, here are some resources that might help.

- Troubleshoot HorizontalPodAutoscaler errors if Jama Connect deployment fails [483]
- Troubleshoot PersistentVolumeAccessMode errors if Jama Connect deployment fails [485]
- Troubleshoot kURL installer errors if node connectivity tests fail [486]

# Troubleshoot HorizontalPodAutoscaler errors if Jama Connect deployment fails

In previous versions of Jama Connect with Kubernetes 1.27.6, the HorizontalPodAutoscaler resources for horizontal scaling were deprecated. If your Jama Connect deployment fails with the following error, you must manually update the Kubernetes secret associated with the deployed Helm release and redeploy Jama Connect.



### IMPORTANT

This process applies only to environments with horizontal scaling enabled.

dryrunStdout dryrunStderr applyStdout applyStderr heimStdout heimStdout 1 - application 2 Error: UPGRADE FAILED: unable to build kubernetes objects from current release manifest: [resource mapping not found for name: "core-ingress" namespace: "default" from "": no matches for kind "HorizontalPodAutoscaler" in version "autoscaling/v2beta1" 3 ensure CRDs are installed first, resource mapping not found for name: "core-jobs" namespace: "default" from "": no matches for kind "HorizontalPodAutoscaler" in version "autoscaling/v2beta1" 4 ensure CRDs are installed first, resource mapping not found for name: "core-reports" namespace: "default" from "": no matches for kind "HorizontalPodAutoscaler" in version "autoscaling/v2beta1" ensure CRDs are installed first] 5 6 Ok, got it!

#### To modify the Kubernetes Helm release secret:

- 1. Retrieve the name of the secret associated with the latest deployed Helm release:
- kubectl get secret -l owner=helm,status=deployed,name=application | awk '{print \$1}' | grep -v NAME
  Use the secret to save the latest deployed release details to a file:
- kubectl get secret <secret-name> -o yaml > release.yaml
- 3. Create a backup of the file you created:

#### cp release.yaml release.bak

- 4. Decode and generate output of the release object (JSON) found in the file you created:
- cat release.yaml | grep -oP '(?<=release: ).\*' | base64 -d | base64 -d | grip -d > release.data.decoded
  Using an editor tool, edit the release object data by changing all occurrences that reference the deprecated API version (autoscaling/v2beta1) with the new value (autoscaling/v2) found in the manifest field.
- 6. Encode the modified release object:

### cat release.data.decoded | gzip | base64 | base64

- 7. If the output contains line breaks, you must remove them before you can continue.
- 8. Using an editor tool, replace the JSON property value "data.release" in release.yaml with the newly encoded release object value you just created.
- 9. Apply the release file:
- kubectl apply -f release.yaml
- 10. Deploy Jama Connect.

### Troubleshoot PersistentVolumeAccessMode errors if Jama Connect deployment fails

If you configured Jama Connect to use a third-party storage class to save assets, you might get the following deployment error.

1	application
2	Error: UPGRADE FAILED: cannot patch "tenantfs" with kind PersistentVolumeClaim: PersistentVolumeClaim "tenan
3	core.PersistentVolumeClaimSpec{
4	<ul> <li>AccessModes: []core.PersistentVolumeAccessMode{"ReadWriteOnce"},</li> </ul>
5	+ AccessModes: []core.PersistentVolumeAccessMode{"ReadWriteMany"},
6	Selector: nil,
7	Resources: {Requests: {s"storage": {i: {}, s: "76i", Format: "BinarySI"}}},
8	// 5 identical fields
9	}
10	
11	

#### To modify Assets PVC Access Mode:

1. From the Config tab in the KOTS Admin Console, set the **Assets PVC Access Mode** to **ReadWri-teMany**.

Dechocard Version	netwy Config Traubleshool License View Rem Regimery services
Advanced Database Settings ~	De mod.
Advanced DB Settings ~ Restore Jama Backup ~ Web Server ~	Assess Size Specify the ace according to Kuberneles quantities. Examples of assets that Connect saves: attrictments, invasits, reports, basistips, etc.
SSL Settings ~ Host Name ~ Trusted Certificates ~ Storage ~	Diffeel rates 70 Assets Storage Class Norsge class for the pendated induces (PV) where assets will be saved; if a storage class is not specified, the sensed class from the field Storage Class above will be send.
Storoge Class Annen 3/2s Resett Storoge Class Assets PVC Access Mode	ets Assets PVC Access Mode Access Mode Access mixed for the PVG that backs the assets.   Resolvmentary
Elasticseurch Settings v Search Service Settings v ActiveMD Service Settings v Diff Service Settings v Hazelcast Service Settings v	Elasticsearch Settings Include Elasticsearch in Repirated Snapshots, Neuroseand Elasticsearch in Repirated Snapshots, Neurosearch Elasticsearch, et al., By dong it, you will and having to mendae your data atter you restore your appointer from a Repirated Snapshot. Max CPU

2. Deploy Jama Connect.

### Troubleshoot kURL installer errors if node connectivity tests fail

When the kURL installer runs, internal tests confirm that all nodes can communicate with each other. If these tests fail, the Linux "fs.inotify.max\_user\_instances" host setting must be updated.

The Linux "fs.inotify.max\_user\_instances" is a host setting that defines user limits on the number of available inotify resources on the application server.

If the connectivity tests fail, these error messages are displayed:



For more information, see How to increase the inotify.max\_user\_watches and inotify.max\_user instances syssctls on a Linux host.

#### To update the Linux host setting:

- 1. Check the current inotify user instance limit:
- cat /proc/sys/fs/inotify/max\_user\_instances
  2. To update the limits temporarily (the value is set to 65536 in this example):

sudo sysctl fs.inotify.max\_user\_instances=65536

3. To apply the changes permanently, add **fs.inotify.max\_user\_instances=65536** to the file **/etc/ sysctl.conf**.

## Administration

Jama Connect administrators have special roles in working with your organization's content.

A role is a set of permissions granted to a user so that they can perform particular functions.

- System administrators [489] set up and install Jama Connect. They are able to access the server settings and log in as the root user. Jama Connect manages system administration for hosted customers. For self-hosted customers, this role holds the initial license and can't be assigned.
- Organization administrators [549] have the highest level of permissions in Jama Connect and can configure settings for the organization. All Jama Software customers have at least one organization administrator, and there might be multiple within a single organization. They must have a creator license.
- Project administrators [643] have the necessary permissions to manage many aspects of a project that those with create/edit permissions can't. They must have a creator license.
- Review administrators [192] have the necessary permissions to manage reviews. They must have a creator or reviewer license.
- Reuse administrators [322] have the necessary permissions to create advanced reuse and synchronization rules. They must have a creator license.
- Process administrators [593] have the necessary permissions to configure content and connections in Jama Connect. They must have a creator license.
- User administrators [573] have the necessary permissions to manage licenses, users, and groups. They must have a creator license.
- Report administrators [433] have the necessary permissions to upload and manage reports and exports. They must have a creator license.

### Authentication methods

Jama Connect supports a wide range of authentication methods to keep your data safe and secure by authenticating users. The default method, Basic authentication, verifies users with the login data that is stored in the Jama Connect database.



### Supported combinations for self-hosted and cloud

- · SAML for SSO and OAuth for REST
- · Multi-mode for user authentication and OAuth for REST

For information about using the Jama Connect REST API with OAuth, see Set API credentials [40].

### Supported third-party authentication methods

• SAML [516] — Open standard for transferring identity data between two parties: an identity provider (IdP) and a service provider (SP).

Electronic signatures are enabled by default, but can be disabled by a system admin.

To set up SAML, your company must meet these requirements:

- Have a SAML 2.0-compliant Identity Provider (IdP).
- Identify a technical person, often an IT administrator, who can provide the URL of the Identity Provider. Name this person before engaging with Jama Software and, for testing purposes, provide them access to Jama Connect.
- If you're on a version of Jama Connect earlier than 8.62, you must follow instructions for that release instead of the instructions here. Contact Support for help accessing the correct instructions and with the process.
- LDAP [521] Self-hosted option. Centralizes the management of user accounts. Jama Connect includes a built-in integration of LDAP and Microsoft Active Directory.
- Crowd [526] Self-hosted option from Atlassian. Manages users and groups within a single a
  system. Jama Connect accepts user details from Crowd, then syncs them with authentication data in
  the application.

### Internal authentication methods

- Basic [515] The default authentication for Jama Connect. Basic authentication uses a username and password that's stored in the Jama Connect application database.
- Basic + IdP [518] The combination of Basic and SAML creates **multi-mode authentication**, so you can separate your internal users from your external partners, vendors, and contractors. Multi-mode authentication provides access for external users so they can be part of the requirement, approval, and tracking process in Jama Connect.



### NOTE

To use multi-mode authentication [518], you must be running Jama Connect 8.62 or later.

As a self-hosted user, you can update or change the authentication type for an organization. To do this, log in as root user and select **System Properties > Authentication Properties**.

### SCIM provisioning for user management

System for Cross-domain Identify Management (SCIM) is a standard for automating the exchange of user identity information between identity domains or IT systems. (source)

SCIM provides a predefined schema for common user attributes like name, username, first name, last name, and email address. Attributes for organization-level groups are included to create and delete groups and manage group membership. This schema allows your organization to automatically provision users into your Jama Connect environment directly from your identity provider (IdP). It also helps you manage users within the application.

New user creation is a one-way synchronization with SCIM from your IdP to Jama Connect. Adding a new user in Jama Connect won't create a new user in your IdP.

### Supported identity providers

Jama Connect currently supports SCIM provisioning with the following IdPs:

- Okta Custom Application
- Microsoft Azure AD

For more information, see Jama Connect SCIM configuration with Okta.

### Configure SCIM provisioning

**Self-hosted customers** — Contact Support to assist with enablement and ensure successful implementation.



**NOTE** Before enabling SCIM provisioning, some data sanitization is required.

### **REST API**

Jama Software REST API is an application program interface to assist developers in a clean, straightforward integration with the application.

A system administrator can enable REST API in system properties [512].

Get more information about REST API, features and documentation.

### Supported image extensions and attachment types

Jama Connect only allows attaching file types that exist in the Allow List, which provides improved security and prevents uploading harmful file types that aren't blocked.

To prevent uploading file types that might be harmful, Jama Connect filters the file types that you can upload as an attachment.

Uses this method to filter attachment types	Supported version
Allow List	Cloud, Jama Connect 2015.2 and later
Block List	Jama Connect 2015.1 and earlier

### Supported Jama Connect attachment types

We collected this list based on the usage pattern of our current customers. Each type has been screened for potential security risks.

APK, AVI, BMP, CSV, DOC, DOCM, DOCX, DOT, DOTX, DWG, GIF, GZ, JAMA, JPEG, JPG, MD, MOV, MP3, MP4, MPEG, ODG, ODP, ODS, ODT, PAGES, PDF, PGP, PNG, PPT, PTM, PPTX, RAR, RTF, TGZ, TIF, TIFF, TRA, TXT, VCS, VSD, VSDX, VSS, WAR, WAV, WMA, WMV, WPS, XCF, XLS, XLSB, XLSM, XLSX, XLT, XPS, ZIP, ZIPX

### System administrator (KOTS)

System administrators are in charge of the following tasks:

- · Logging in to the application server operating system and Jama Connect as root user
- · Installing, updating, and maintaining the Jama Connect platform
- · Setting up the database and application servers

- · Installing the admin console and Jama Connect
- · Configure settings such as authentication and mail servers
- Regular maintenance such as updates and uploading custom reports

Ideally a system administrator has expertise in these areas of administration:

#### Database

System administrators set up and administer the database including database sizing, resource allocation, recommended backups, and availability of the database engine.

• Linux

Jama Connect must be installed on a Linux based system. System administrators need to use Command Line Interface (CLI) for basic navigation, file manipulation, permissions, and network configuration when they are installing, upgrading, allocating resources, and maintaining availability and security of the server.

#### Directory server

If you're not using Jama Connect native authentication, system administrators must perform setup and administration or your organization's supported directory server [515].

Mail server

If you're using these functions in Jama Connect, system administrators perform setup and administration of your organization's mail server.

System administration is necessary for customers who are self-hosting Jama Connect. For cloud customers, Jama Software manages system administration. If you're interested in an implementation that doesn't require system administration at your organization, contact your sales representative regarding our cloud solution.

### **Configuring the Admin Console settings**

Jama Connect uses Replicated KOTS technology to deliver all microservices to self-hosted customers. Replicated software is a container orchestration tool that provides the interface, **Admin Console**, for Jama Connect.

Replicated and Jama Connect are hosted on the same application server, running on different ports.

The Admin Console stores settings, such as SSL certificates and database connection information, that Jama Connect uses to start and run correctly. Some of its functions include:

- · Manage the run state of Jama Connect
- Perform upgrades
- Synchronize license renewals

Many of the settings for the Admin Console are configured during installation. However, you can make changes to the settings whenever you need.

### Application server overview

Your application server hosts the Jama Connect application, Kubernetes pods and accompanying stateful sets, and the Admin Console (Replicated software). It also stores data such as attachments, images, reports, and a micro-service cache.

**Docker containers** — A standalone executable package of software that includes code, runtime, system tools, system libraries, and settings. See <a href="https://www.docker.com/resources/what-container">https://www.docker.com/resources/what-container</a> for details.

**Replicated KOTS** — A Kubernetes Off-The-Shelf (KOTS) platform for easily deploying cloud native applications inside customers' environments to provide greater security and control. The Admin Console is the user interface for installing the Jama Connect application. See <a href="https://www.replicated.com/">https://www.replicated.com/</a> for details.

- Jama Connect users access Jama Connect by browsing to the instance URL (https://jamainstanceurl.customer.com/).
- System administrators access the Admin Console by browsing to the same instance URL, but on port 8800 (https://jamainstanceurl.customer.com:8800/).
- Replicated updates Jama Connect and the license via API calls for internet-enabled environments. Our airgap option removes the need for remote API calls.
- Any content added to your Jama Connect instance is stored in the database. Uploaded artifacts are saved inside a Kubernetes volume. To extract them, you must run kubectl commands.

### **Create a Replicated Snapshot (KOTS)**

Taking a full snapshot creates a backup of the KOTS Admin Console and application data. It can be used for full Disaster Recovery by restoring over the same instance or in a new cluster. Tenant assets are included in the snapshot. Elasticsearch data is included by default.

A Replicated Snapshot can be taken while Jama Connect is running without interruption.

### Requirements

- Replicated Snapshots must be enabled for your Replicated customer license.
- KOTS Admin Console 1.79 and later.
- Replicated Snapshots don't include your database. You must use a proprietary backup/restore system for your type of database, MySQL or SQL Server.

### Important considerations

- When restoring from a snapshot in a new cluster, you must reinstall KOTS.
- *Recommended* Include Elasticsearch data in snapshots to avoid having to reindex your data after performing a restore. However, if your snapshot is not recent, we recommend reindexing your data.
- Replicated Snapshots don't support IAM authentication against EFS. Saving Replicated Snapshots in EFS requires that you use the default file system policy to allow all nodes in the cluster to mount the EFS.

#### To create a Replicated snapshot:

- 1. Capture the KOTS installer.
- 2. (Recommended) Include Elasticsearch data in snapshots: From the KOTS Admin Console under the Elasticsearch Settings section, select Include Elasticsearch in Replicated Snapshots.
- 3. *Airgap only* Capture the IP address of the private registry, which is the IP address value in the Cluster-IP column:

#### kubectl get service/registry -n kurl

- 4. Configure the storage destination:
  - a. In the KOTS Admin Console, select **Snapshots > Settings & Schedule**.
  - b. From the Destination drop-down menu, select a storage destination for your snapshots.
    - For AWS S3 The IAM role assigned to the underlaying servers or the user associated with the credentials (access and secret key) must have the Policy template attached.
       Use the following template to create a policy, replacing the <arn-S3> parameter with ARN of the S3 bucket. For example: arn:aws:s3:::jama-snapshots.



- For NFS If using EFS as an NFS server, the Server field = the DNS name of the EFS and the Path field = a directory inside the EFS, writable by the user:group 1001:1001.
- c. Click **Update storage settings** to save your preferences.
- 5. Schedule Full Snapshots:
  - a. In the KOTS Admin Console, select Snapshots > Settings & Schedule.
  - b. Select Enable automatic scheduled snapshots, then click Update schedule.
- 6. Create a Full Snapshot (follow the steps provided by Replicated).

### Restore KOTS Admin Console and Jama Connect from a Replicated Snapshot (KOTS)

When you set up a new application server for Jama Connect, you can restore the KOTS Admin Console settings that you saved in a Replicated Snapshot.

Snapshots include the registry images and data for Jama Connect.

### Requirements

If restoring to a new cluster, it must match these specifications and settings of the cluster where the backup was taken:

- Number of nodes
- Inbound and outbound traffic rules
- Virtual memory settings for Elasticsearch
- Connectivity to external services and resources (for example, AWS EFS, AWS S3)

#### To restore from a snapshot:

- 1. Configure servers for a new cluster:
  - a. After the servers for the cluster are provisioned, install KOTS on one node using the captured KOTS Installer. You must pass the same flags to the installation script that were passed to the original cluster.
    - **Restoring an online cluster** Run the appropriate installation script that was generated from the captured KOTS installer.
    - **Restoring an airgap cluster** Download the appropriate KOTS installer bundle, replacing <**ip**> with the IP address of the private registry from the original cluster:
      - cat install.sh | sudo bash -s airgap kurl-registry-ip=<ip>
  - b. When the installer has finished, run the command displayed on the screen so the other servers join the cluster. If required, label the nodes dedicated for Elasticsearch.
  - c. Install any add-ons that were manually installed in the cluster. For example, the EFS Driver.
- 2. Configure the storage destination: From the KOTS CLI, point the cluster to the storage destination where the Replicated Snapshots were saved.

AWS S3	See configure-aws-s3.
Azure	See configure-azure.
GCP	See configure-gcp.
S3-Other	See configure-other-s3.

NFS	See configure-nfs. If the cluster uses EFS or NFS, also see Configuring an NFS Storage Destination.
	<b>Note:</b> If using EFS as an NFS server, <b>Server</b> field = <b>DNS name</b> of the EFS and <b>Path</b> field = a directory inside the EFS, writable by the user:group 1001:1001.

3. Locate the snapshot and restore it: From the KOTS CLI, run a backup Is and full restore.

This can take a few minutes. If the snapshots don't appear, rerun this command.

- 4. If you changed the host name for Jama Connect:
  - a. Update the Host Name field in the KOTS Admin Console and deploy the change.
  - b. From your browser, log in to Jama Connect and change your URL [540].
- 5. View scheduled jobs [542] to verify that the list isn't empty.
- 6. If the Elasticsearch data wasn't included in the snapshot or if the snapshot isn't recent, reindex all search items [543].
- 7. Verify that you can locate your assets.

### **Configure database settings**

backup ls

Database settings can be configured as part of your initial installation of Jama Connect or any time you need to make changes.

- 1. In the header of the KOTS Admin Console, select **Application > Config** to open the settings page.
- 2. Scroll to the **Database Settings** section of the page.

Application GitOps	Cluster Manageme	ent Snapsho	ts.			
Dashboard	Version history	Config	Troubleshoot	License	View files	Registry settings
	Database Se	ettings				
Kubernetes Configuration $\sim$	Type/vendor					
Memory and CPU Settings $\checkmark$	MySQL	O Microsoft	SQL			
Core Jama Application Setti 🗸	Host Require					
Database Settings $\wedge$						
Type/vendor	Port Benuice					
Host.						
Port	3306					
Database	Default value: 3	3306				
User name	Database Re	equired				
Password	jama					
SAML database schema	Default value: j	ama				
SAML user name	User name	Required				
SAML password	root					
OAuth database schema	Default value: j	amauser				
OAuth usar name	Password R	equired				
OAuth osession						

- 3. Select the type of database you're using, MySQL or Microsoft SQL, then complete or change the database settings as needed.
- 4. (Optional) If you need to connect to your database through an SSL-encrypted connection, provide additional connection string parameters. These parameters specify key/value pairs in the format appropriate to your database.
  - MySQL
  - useSSL=true&requireSSL=tru • SQL Server

ssl=require;appName=jama;bufferMinPackets

More options are available for MySQL and SQL Server

Advanced Database Settings	
Show advanced database settings	
Advanced DB Settings	
dvanced DD Settings	
Provide additional database connection string parameters	
TDS Reference	
QL Server examples:	
ssl=require	
ssl=require;instance=instance_name	
AySQL Reference	
AySQL examples:	
useSSL=true	
useSSL=true&socksProxyHost=localhost	
Database connection parameters	
SAML database schema connection parameters	
OAuth database schema connection parameters	

5. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save config**. A message confirms that your settings were saved.

### Configure web server settings

Web server settings can be configured as part of your initial installation of Jama Connect or any time you need to make changes.

The web server configuration allows the use of SSL (TLS) or plain text connections.

- 1. In the header of the KOTS Admin Console, select **Application > Config** to open the settings page.
- 2. Scroll down to the **Web Server** section of the page.
- 3. Enter the context path for Jama Connect, for example, https://<host\_name>/. Don't use this configuration unless you need to specify a sub-path or sub-directory.
- 4. (Optional) Enter the context path.

#### Web Server

Enter the optional context path at which Jama will be available. Common values would be jama or contour. For example, jama would make Jama available at: https://<host\_name>/jama. Leave this empty for Jama to be at the root, for example: https://<host\_name>/.

Jama uses TLS (SSL) by default. Set the port configuration to accept plain text and/or TLS connections.

Context path		
Vise TLS		

- 5. (Optional) Set the TLS and plain text port as needed.
- 6. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save config**. A message confirms that your settings were saved.

### Configure host name

Your Host Name settings can be configured as part of your initial installation of Jama Connect or any time you need to make changes.

If possible, choose a host name that's meaningful to users. Be sure the domain name matches your TLS certificate.

If you need to change this host name, you must also change the base URL [540].

#### To configure the host name:

- 1. In the header of the KOTS Admin Console, select **Application > Config** to open the settings page.
- 2. Scroll down to the Host Name section of the page.

#### **Host Name**

Enter the host name that will be used as the base URL of Jama. Ensure this domain name is routable on your network. If you change this host name later, make sure to also change the base URL through Jama's system administration (root user). Make sure this domain name matches the TLS certificate.

TLS Key Pair Source		
Additional information about these options.		
Reuse Admin Console TLS Configuration - Us	e the same TLS key pair used by t	this admin console.
Custom TLS Configuration - You have a TLS k	ey pair and need to input it on this	config screen.
Generate New - Have a self signed TLS key pa	ir generated.	
Cluster Managed - Your kubernetes cluster is i	configured to issue and manage th	s certificates by watching
Ingress resources.		
Bauss Admin Cancels TI & Configuration	Custom TLS Configuration	O Generate New
Reuse Admin Console 1L5 Configuration	O	

- 3. Enter or change the host name.
- 4. (Recommended) Select **Reuse Admin Console TLS Configuration** to use the same certificate configured in the KOTS Admin Console.

5. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click Save config. A message confirms that your settings were saved.

### Bypass browser TLS warning

A Transport Layer Security (TLS) or Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) certificate is required to establish a link between the Admin Console (Replicated) and your browser.

When configuring the KOTS Admin Console for the first time, you see a TLS warning with an option to bypass it with a self-signed certificate. If you have a trusted certificate, you can configure the certificate at any time [497]. If you continue with the self-signed certificate, you see a warning every time you access the Admin Console.

You can upload a TLS certificate and provide a private key if you have one. Private keys can't be password-protected. The key and primary certificate must be in PEM format, that's a base64 encoded x509 certificate.

#### To bypass browser TLS warning:

Open the KOTS Admin Console, then select **Continue to setup**. 1.

#### Bypass browser TLS warning

bypass browser i LS warning	
We use a self-signed SSL/TLS Certificate to secure the communication between your local machine and the Admin Console during setup. You'll see a warning	
about this in your browser, but you can be confident that this is secure.	

ifying the certificate's authenticity		
\$ echo   openssl s_client -servername local -connect 34.213.246.127:8800 Z>/dev/null   openssl x509 -noout - fingerprint	Note complementer ( & coll ) informer	
1A Fingerprint	- 1	
15:FB:A2:BD:45:12:50:00:37:EB:99:81:5E:DE:37:13:D5:76:23:52		

- 2. Choose one:
  - To upload now Select Choose private key and Choose SSL certificate, then select Upload & continue.
  - To upload later Select Choose SSL certificate.

browser every time you ac	If you don't up cess the mana	pload your own TLS cert, y agement console.	/ou'll see a warning about this in your
Private key & certifica	ate		
Flies will be uploaded dire	cilly to the mar	ngement server & will neve	r fealve.
Hostname			
Ensure this domain is mutable	os your network		
spp oursimalitation			
Upload private key		Upload SSL certificate	
Choose private key No	file chosen	Choose SSL certificate	No file chosen

The KOTS Admin Console login page opens.

L	og in to Jama Connect
Enter the	password to access the Jama Connect admin console

### **Configure TLS certificate**

The settings for the TLS certificate can be configured as part of your initial installation of Jama Connect or any time you need to make changes.

You can provide custom private key and TLS certificates to secure the application, or you can reuse the Admin Console certificate. You can also update your certificate [538] if it expires.

The certificate ensures that Jama Connect trusts the issuer.

#### To configure the TLS certificate:

- 1. In the header of the KOTS Admin Console, select **Application > Config** to open the settings page.
- 2. Scroll down to the Host Name section of the page.

#### Host Name

3.

Enter the host name that will be used as the base URL of Jama. Ensure this domain name is routable on your network. If you change this host name later, make sure to also change the base URL through Jama's system administration (root user). Make sure this domain name matches the TLS certificate.

Host name					
TLS Key Pair Source					
Additional information about these options.					
Reuse Admin Console TLS Configuration - Us	se the same TLS key pair used by this admin console.				
Custom TLS Configuration - You have a TLS k	ey pair and need to input it on this config screen.				
Generate New - Have a self signed TLS key pa	uir generated.				
Cluster Managed - Your kubernetes cluster is r	configured to issue and manage tis certificates by watching				
ngress résources.					
	Custom TLS Configuration     Generate New				
Reuse Admin Console TLS Configuration	O dastoin reo doiniguration O denorate new				

#### **Host Name**

Enter the host name that will be used as the base URL of Jama. Ensure this domain name is routable on your network. If you change this host name later, make sure to also change the base URL through Jama's system administration (root user). Make sure this domain name matches the TLS certificate.

TLS Key Pair Source	
Additional information about these options.	
Reuse Admin Console TLS Configuration - Use t	the same TLS key pair used by this admin console.
Custom TLS Configuration - You have a TLS key	pair and need to input it on this config screen.
Generate New - Have a self signed TLS key pair (	generated.
Cluster Managed - Your Rubernetes cluster is con	nfigured to issue and manage tis certificates by watching
ingress resources.	
Beuse Admin Console TLS Configuration	Custom TLS Configuration     Generate New
O Cluster Managed	
LS Configuration	
LS Configuration	
LS Configuration Private Key Required	Certificate Required
LS Configuration Private Key Requirer Upload a file	Certificate Required Upload a file
LS Configuration Private Key Required Upload a file	Certificate Required Upload a file

- 4. To link Jama Connect to a service protected by a certificate (self-signed or issued by a local authority):
  - Private Key Click Browse files for Private Key and select your private key.
  - Certificate Click Upload a file and select your self-signed certificate.
- Scroll down to the Trusted Certificates section, and select Use trusted certificate file to upload a PEM-formatted public certificate or multiples that are concatenated into a single file. These certificates are added to the default Java trust store. You might need this functionality to connect to your MySQL, SQL Server, LDAP, Crowd, IMAP, SMTP, or other internal servers from Jama Connect.

#### **Trusted Certificates**

Upload a PEM-formatted file containing any certificates that Jama needs to trust.

The file may contain a concatenation of multiple PEM-formatted certificates to trust.

For example, you may need this functionality to make an encrypted connection from Jama to your database, if the database is protected with a self-signed certificate.



6. Scroll down to the bottom of the page and click **Save config**. A message confirms that your settings were saved.

### **Configure memory settings**

Memory settings can be configured as part of your initial installation of Jama Connect or any time you need to make changes.

Use the advanced memory settings to change the memory allocation of containers that are running Java processes.



### NOTE

When changing memory settings, make sure you don't over-allocate the total memory of the application server. Monitor usage [535] and make sure to leave enough memory for system processes to run smoothly. For information, see "Resource sizing for your application server."

#### To configure memory settings:

- 1. In the header of the KOTS Admin Console, select **Application > Config** to open the settings page.
- 2. Scroll down to the Core Jama Application Settings section of the page.

#### **Core Jama Application Settings**

Show Memory and CPU Settings

#### Enable Horizontal Scaling

Split responsibilities between multiple Core Jama Instances. Before enabling this option take in count the following considerations: If this is the first time you are installing Connect in the Cluster, please D0 NOT enable this option. Once Connect has been installed and is working properly, you can enable horizontal scaling safely. If you are restoring a backup then restore it without horizontal scaling enabled. You will have to provide a new database schema and user for Quartz to use. You will be able to configure the minimum amount of replicas for each instance role. Once you have increased the amount of replicas, D0 N0T decreased it. Check the Help Docs for detailed instructions.

3. Select Show Memory and CPU Settings.

#### Core Jama Application Settings

Default value: 100m	
Max CPU Required	
Default value: 4000m	
Requests Memory Requ	lirect
Default value: 512M	
Max Memory Required Maximum amount of memory is the amount of memory	emory to allow the Core Jama application to use. If horizontal scaling is enabled then this y that each instance will use.
Default value: 8G	
Max Memory for Contai	ner Required
Maximum amount of me be larger than the max i	emory to allow the container which contains the Core Jama application. This value MUST memory setting.

Service Availability Check Delay (in seconds) Required

- 4. Enter the default values. If you have performance issues, contact Support for help configuring these values.
- 5. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save config**. A message confirms that your settings were saved.

### Configure advanced startup settings

Startup settings can be configured as part of your initial installation of Jama Connect or any time you need to make changes.

Enable Java Management Extensions (JMX) and set additional Java Virtual Machine JVM options (JAVA\_OPTS) for the following containers that are running Java processes:

- · The jamacore application
- Search service
- Elasticsearch



### IMPORTANT

Each of these containers already adds a number of their own JVM options that might clash with additional JVM options configured here.

Use JMX support in a secure environment, because JMX ports have no authentication on the JMX ports when JMX is enabled.

#### To configure advanced startup settings:

- 1. In the header of the KOTS Admin Console, select **Application > Config** to open the settings page.
- 2. Scroll down to the **Startup Settings** section of the page, and select **Show advanced startup settings**.

tartup settings	
Show advanced startup setting	gs
dvanced Startup Settings	
onfigure additional startup options orking with Jama Support.	. These should only be required in very specific configuration scenarios when
case of any doubt, please don't	make any changes and contact Jama Support.
Enable JMX remote for core Ja	ama application
Additional JVM options for core Ja	ama application
Enable JMX remote for search Additional JVM options for search	service
Enable JMX remote for Elastic	search
Additional JVM options for Elastic	search
Enable JMX remote for diff ser	vice
Additional JVM options for diff ser	vice
Enable JMX remote for baselo	ast service

- 3. Select Enable JMX remote for core Jama application.
- Enter the JMX remote port number for the core Jama application. Don't overlap JMX ports between containers and don't overlap other ports that are already in use on the application server.
- 5. (Optional) Enter additional Java JVM options for Jama core, search service, and Elasticsearch.
- 6. Enter a Java RMI server hostname.
- A single Java RMI server hostname can be given that works across all containers that have JMX enabled. The host IP address is used by default. However, if the host IP address isn't accessible by the JMX client for the configured JMX ports, the public hostname or the public host IP is set here. If an SSH tunnel is used, set the hostname to "localhost."
- 7. (Optional) In the **Add services configuration** field, add services configuration specific to Jama Connect, such as throttling.

8. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save config**. A message confirms that your settings were saved.



TIP

Garbage collection logging (GC logging) is automatically enabled for containers that are running Java processes. GC log files are available alongside other log files for the respective container [543]. When you restart Jama Connect, previous GC log files are packaged as a ZIP file. Typically, the default GC logging configuration is sufficient, but it's possible to override GC logging parameters through the **Additional JVM options for Jama core** field in Admin Console advanced startup settings.

### **Configure Search Service Settings**

Search service settings can be configured as part of your initial installation of Jama Connect or any time you need to make changes.

Configure index settings for Elasticsearch. Making changes to these settings requires re-indexing.

- 1. In the header of the KOTS Admin Console, select **Application > Config** to open the settings page.
- 2. Scroll down to the Search Service Settings section of the page.

#### Search Service Settings

Configure index settings for Elasticsearch. Any changes to the index settings will require re-indexing.

Max CPU Required	
Default value: 1000m	
Max Memory Require()	
Default value: 26	
Number of primary shards	
Default value: 1	
Number of replicas	
Default value: Ö	
Service Availability Check Delay (in seconds)	
Default value: 15	

- 3. Enter the default values.
- 4. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save config**. A message confirms that your settings were saved.

### Set a custom location for the MathType Equations Editor

Settings for the MathType Equations Editor can be configured as part of your initial installation of Jama Connect or any time you need to make changes.



### NOTE

The MathType Equations Editor requires a separate license. After your organization has purchased the license, and the system administrator sets up a location for the editor, users can access the editor in the Rich Text Editor [96] in Jama Connect.

Airgap or self-hosted instances of Jama Connect can add math and chemical equation options to the rich text editor without making calls to an external server.

Before enabling the MathType Equations Editor, you must:

- Designate a server inside your environment that can listen for MathType calls and responses. Check for the latest supported version on the Community.
- Acquire a MathType license from Jama Software.

#### To configure settings for MathType Editor:

- 1. In the header of the KOTS Admin Console, select **Application > Config** to open the settings page.
- 2. Scroll down to the **WIRIS Connection Settings** section of the page.

Dashboard	Version history	Config	Troubleshoot	License	View files	Registry settings
	Tenant Mana	iger Settings				
Elasticsearch Settings $\checkmark$	Enabled?					
Search Service Settings $\checkmark$	This option	on allows manag e proper functio	ing the "Tenant mana ning of Jama Connect	ger" execution str . It can only be di	ate. II should be en sabled (unchecked	abled (checked) (q d) when our Help Docs
ActiveMQ Service Settings $\checkmark$	indicate s	50.				
Diff Service Settings $\sim$						
Hazelcast Service Settings ~	WIRIS Conne	ection Setting	S		-	
NGINX 🗸	Use these sett In case of any	Use these settings to configure a custom connection to your own wirks instance. In case of any doubt, please don't make any changes and contact Jama Support.				
OAuth Service Settings $\checkmark$	Use cust	om Wiris connec	tion		-	
SAML Service Settings $\backsim$	0					
Startup Settings ~	AWS Resour	ces				
Jama Cloud 🗸	Optional resou	rces that can be	deployed if your clust	ter is running in A	WS.	
Tenant Manager Settings $\checkmark$	_ Enable E	FS Storage Clas	s			
WIRIS Connection Settings ^	If enabled	d, an additional :	section will be display	ed to allow config	uring the storage o	lass.
Use custom Wiris connection	1.000					
AWS Resources ~	Save config					

3. Select **Use custom WIRIS connection** to override default settings for communication with the WIRIS cloud servers.
#### WIRIS Connection Settings

Use these settings to configure a custom connection to your own wiris instance. In case of any doubt, please don't make any changes and contact Jama Support.

Use custom Wiris connection	
Wiris Host	
Wiris Path	
Default value: /client/editor/render Wiris Port	
Wiris Protocol	
Default value: https	

- 4. Enter the following information for your designated MathType server:
  - WIRIS Host (Required) Enter the hostname of your MathType server. This must be accessible from both the Jama Connect application server and the user's browser. Don't include the port or protocol.
  - WIRIS Path Enter the context path followed by "render." Depending on how your server is set up, it might look like this:

#### /editor/render

- WIRIS Port The defaults are 80 for http and 443 for https. You can override these values by entering a different port number.
- WIRIS Protocol This is https or http. If you use https to link to Jama Connect, you must also use https for WIRIS.



### NOTE

Additional settings for proxy are available but haven't been fully tested. You can use these settings if your Jama Connect instance needs to use a proxy to connect to the MathType server. However, these settings don't change how your browser connects to the MathType server.

5. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save config**. A message confirms that your settings were saved.

### Setting up Jama Connect

Once you finish installing Jama Connect, continue with a few tasks for the initial setup of the application.

When logged in as root, you can access the System Administration page. From there you can complete the tasks for setting up and maintaining Jama Connect.

								Jama Sy	sterr	n Administra	ation	root   Log Out
Organizations	System Properties	Users	s Permissions	Reports	License Management	Editor Templates	Backu	Index/S	earch	System Info	Logging	Cache Statis 🕈
												10
Name			Description				API	D Closed	Acti	on		
Redside Consulting			3				2		Edit	Change URL	Fix URL Ref	erences

### Administrator tasks

System admins complete basic setup and maintenance tasks on the System Administration page. Some of these tasks can also be completed by an organization admin.

Task	System admin	Organization admin
Modify organization details [511]	Х	
Configure general properties [512]	Х	
Configure authentication properties [515]	Х	
Manage users [573]	Х	Х
Manage permissions [668]	Х	Х
Manage reports [414]	Х	
Monitor license usage [585]	Х	Х
Create editor templates [616]	Х	Х
Create a backup [530]	Х	
Reindex search [543]	Х	
View log and profile [546]	Х	
Clear cache [542]	Х	
View scheduled jobs [542]	X	
View applied patches [542]	Х	

# Log in as root for the first time

As a system administrator, you are the root user with a unique set of permissions [583] that allow you to access the System Administration page in Jama Connect.

The first time you log in as root, change the default password for the root user and edit any details in the My Profile page, such as email address, phone number, or location.

### To log in as root for the first time:

- 1. From the Jama Connect login page, enter the default credentials for root, then select **Sign In**.
  - Username = root
  - Password = password

	jama	
	conne	ect
lign in		
Jsemame		
root		
Password		
-		
Forgot your pa	assword?	Sign in

2. In the top right header, select **root**.



3. On the root user's My Profile page, select **Change Password**.

My Details My Subscriptions	My Locked Items	Review Center	
			Change Password Edit Settings
100			
1 M .			
Username:		root	
First Name:		root	
Last Name:		root	
Email Address:		adminemail@your.con	n
Title:			
Phone Number:			
Location:			
License Type:		Creator (float)	
Notes:			

- 4. Enter the existing password, enter and confirm a new secure password, then select **Save**.
- 5. (Optional) Select Edit Settings to configure the root user email and any other details as needed.

my botans my bub.	scriptiona My Locked the	ems Review Center	
			Change Password CEdit Settin
100			
- U.U.			
sername:		root	
irst Name:		root	
mail Address		adminemail@vour.com	
itle:		dan mentang yan tam	
hone Number:			
ocation:			
icense Type:		Creator (float)	
otes:			
Profile			
Datalla Mu Sub	and all and a second the	and Department	
Ty Details wy Sub	solibiining way rooked the	1119 Heview Center	
Show "learn more" o	ane at lonin		Save 🔀 Can
Show "learn more" p	age at login		Save 🛛 😵 Can
Show "learn more" p	age at login		🔚 Save 🛛 😢 Can
Show "learn more" p	age at login		🔚 Save 🛛 😢 Car
Show "learn more" p	age at login		🔚 Save 🛛 😢 Can
Show "learn more" p Jsername:	age at login root		📄 Save 🛛 😢 Can
Show "learn more" p Jsername: First Name: ast Name:	age at login root root		📄 Save 🛛 😵 Can
Show "learn more" p Jername: First Name: ast Name:	root root adminemail@your.cc	m	E Save 🛛 😢 Can
Show "learn more" p Jsername: First Name: Last Name: Email Address:	age at login root root root adminemail@your.cc	m	Save 🛛 😵 Can
Show "learn more" p Jername: First Name: Last Name: Email Address: litle:	age at login root root adminemail@your.cd	m	Save 🛛 😢 Can
Show "learn more" p Jername: First Name: Last Name: Email Address: Itle: hone Number:	age at login root root adminemail@your.cc	xm	Save 🛛 🐼 Can
Show "learn more" p Jerrame: First Name: Last Name: Email Address: Ittle: hone Number: location:	age at login root root adminemail@your.co		Save Save
Show "learn more" p Jean Show Show Show Show Show Show Show Show	age at login root root adminemail@your.cc		Save Socar
Show "learn more" p Username: First Name: Last Name: Email Address: Title: Thone Number: ocation: icense Type: lotes:	age at login root root adminemail@your.cc		Save Save
Show "learn more" p Jean Show Show Show Show Show Show Show Show	age at login root root adminemail@your.co		Save Socar
Show "learn more" p Jername: First Name: Last Name: Email Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address: Address:	age at login root root adminemail@your.cc		Save So Car
Show "learn more" p Jername: Ast Name: Ast Name: Ast Name: Anone Number: Anone Number: Anone Number: Anone Number: Anone Sumber: Anone Sumber:	age at login root root adminemail@your.co		Save Save

6. Select Save, then select Close

### Assign a new user as organization admin

Only system and organization admins can assign roles or grant permissions to other users. If you configure an organization admin right after you install Jama Connect, you can share the tasks of setting up user accounts and permissions.

You must be have system admin permissions to complete this task.

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506] or as an organization admin.
- 2. Select Users > Add user.

						Jama Sy	stem Admi	nistration	root   Log Out
operties Users	Permissions	Reports t	License Management	Editor Templates	Backup	Index/Sea	rch System I	nfo Logging	Cache Statis 🔶
	× Acn	ne Works test	t 💌		-		w mactive use	Add user	Export
ame	Email		Login details	User groups	Lice	nse type	User status	Action	
ail.com	2@gmail.com		Never logged in		Revi	ower	Active	Edit   Password	Invite   Deactivate
nail.com	3@gmail.com		Never logged in		Revi	ewer	Active	Edit   Password	Invite   Deactivate
ail.com	4@gmail.com		Never logged in		Revi	swer	Active	Edit   Password	Invite   Deactivate
nail.com	5@gmail.com		Never logged in		Revi	ewer	Active	Edit   Password	Invite   Deactivate
ail.com	7@gmail.com		Never logged in		Revie	swer	Active	Edit   Password	Invite   Deactivate
	ame all.com all.com all.com all.com all.com all.com	boerties Users Permissions × Acr ane Email all.com 2@gmail.com all.com 3@gmail.com all.com 5@gmail.com all.com 7@gmail.com	boerties Users Permissions Reports I × Acme Works test all.com 2@gmail.com all.com 3@gmail.com all.com 5@gmail.com all.com 7@gmail.com	boerties Users Permissions Reports License Management	Vaers         Permissions         Reports         License Management         Editor Templates           arme         Image: Second S	beerties Uaers Permissions Reports License Management Editor Templates Backup xme Email Login details User groups Licen all.com 3@gmail.com Never logged in Revi all.com 4@gmail.com Never logged in Revi all.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Revi all.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Revi	Vaers         Permissions         Reports         License Management         Editor Templates         Backup         Index/Sea           arme         Acme Works test         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~         ~ </td <td>Vaers         Permissions         Reports         License Management         Editor Templates         Backup         Index/Search         System I           **         Acme Works test         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *</td> <td>Destries Users Permissions Reports License Management Editor Templates Backup Index/Search System Info Logging Acme Works test  → Acme Works test  → Login details User groups License type User status Action ali.com 2@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password ali.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password ali.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password ali.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password ali.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password ali.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password ali.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password Active Edi</td>	Vaers         Permissions         Reports         License Management         Editor Templates         Backup         Index/Search         System I           **         Acme Works test         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *         *	Destries Users Permissions Reports License Management Editor Templates Backup Index/Search System Info Logging Acme Works test  → Acme Works test  → Login details User groups License type User status Action ali.com 2@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password ali.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password ali.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password ali.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password ali.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password ali.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password ali.com 7@gmail.com Never logged in Reviewer Active Edit Password Active Edi

- 3. Select a user if LDAP is enabled [521]:
  - a. From the LDAP column that is added, select **Add user from LDAP**, enter the name of an existing LDAP user in the search box, then press **Enter**.

Ţ

# TIP

You can add wildcards to a search but don't add them at the beginning of a search term. Wildcards at the beginning can result in slow performance. For large directories, expect several minutes.

b. From the search results, choose a user, then select **Add**.

				8
÷			test	Search
Full Name	Email	Action		
Test Liner	zerogus2003@gmail.com	801		
	Full Name Tast Liter	Full Name Email Tasi Liar zarogud2003@gmail.com	Full Name Email Action Test Liter annogus2003@gmail.com Acti	Full Name Email Action Tast Liter porroge2003@gmail.com Atts

- 4. Select a user if LDAP isn't enabled Select Add user.
- 5. In the Create User page that opens, complete the information for a single user.

Create User			X
Create a new user and assign 'Username: 'Password: 'Confirm Password: 'First Name: 'Last Name: Send Email to	Password: Too short	*Email Address: Title: Phone Number: Location: *License Type:	Creator Creator (Float)
Groups		Selected Groups	
Start typing to filter groups			Clear all groups
Analysts Organization     Company Organization     Development Organization     Engineering Radar     Organization Admin			
Privacy Policy			Save Cancel

- 6. For License Type, select **Creator**.
- 7. Under Groups, select **Organization Admin** from the list.
- 8. Select Save.

#### Grant permissions to users

Permissions allow users access to create, read, and edit items. They are granted at different levels in your environment.

Types of permissions	Level	Notes
Roles [591] and access permissions	Organization level	Org-level permissions are passed on to lower levels.
Project admin permissions	Project level	
Access permissions	Container level and above	



# TIP

Organization admin permissions can't be overridden. In releases prior to Jama Connect 8.62, there was the appearance that you could control an organization admin's access. However, that user could still see all projects and content, and if they wanted they could give themselves access. The addition of User, Process, and Add project roles decreases the need for a large group of organization admins. No updates or overrides that you created in the past have been removed, so we recommend that you remove them as your organization adopts these new admin roles.

You can create new permissions for a user or group as well as modify existing permissions.

#### To grant permissions to users:

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506] or as an organization admin.
- 2. Select Admin > Permissions.

<ul> <li>Organizations System Properties Users</li> </ul>	Permi	issions	Reports	License Mar	nageme	ent Edi	tor Temp	lates	Backup I	ndex/Se	arch	System Info	Logging	Cache Statis 🕈
Project Selector 🔍	Acc	ess Rights	for Organ	ization									C) Add	d permissions   🔵
🖃 🧾 System							Administ	tration				Acc	855	
Acme Works     Buplicate of Semiconductor Sample Set - La	2	User/Gro	up	Organization	Users	Process	Project	Add Project	Review	Reuse	OSLC	Read & Write	Read Only	Actions
Pantry Products     Bemiconductor Framework	12	Analysts		*		*	4	*	4	*		2		Modify   Remove
Gemiconductor Project 2.0     Gemiconductor Sample Set	8	Basic Use	er						4	×		×	*	Modify I Remove
🗄 🚞 Work Projects	æ	Company	60	*	×			×	*	*		1	*	Modify I Remove
	\$	Creator2	Float				2					4		Modify I Remove

- 3. In the Project Selector on the left, choose the level where you want to access permissions.
  - Organization (System)
  - Individual project
  - Container
  - The main page displays current permissions.
- 4. To change existing permissions for a user or group:
  - a. Select **Modify** in the row of the user or group you want to change, select the permissions you want to include, and deselect what you don't want to include.
  - b. Select **Remove** in the row of the user or group where you want to delete permissions.
- 5. To add permissions for a user or group:
  - a. Select Add permissions in the top right.
  - b. In the Add permissions page that opens, select Add user or Add group.

	Add user   Add gro
Groups Users	Selected users and groups
Q Search Top 100 shown	🥃 Clear all users and grou
Analysts Organization	
Company Organization	
Development Organizztion	
Organization Admin Organization	
Product Managers	
QA Organization	
ermissions	
ermissions	ess to all functionality within this project.
ermissions Project administration: grants the user complete acce Read and write access: grants the user the ability to c	ess to all functionality within this project. reate and edit items within this project or set depending on selected granularity.
ermissions Project administration: grants the user complete acce Read and write access: grants the user the ability to view a Read only access: grants the user the ability to view a	ess to all functionality within this project. reate and edit items within this project or set depending on selected granularity. Ind comment on items, create and view filters, and run reports. They cannot create/edit items.
ermissions Project administration: grants the user complete acce Read and write access: grants the user the ability to c Read only access: grants the user the ability to view a	ess to all functionality within this project. reate and edit items within this project or set depending on selected granularity. Ind comment on items, create and view filters, and run reports. They cannot create/edit items.
ermissions Project administration: grants the user complete acce Read and write access: grants the user the ability to c Read only access: grants the user the ability to view a	ess to all functionality within this project. reate and edit items within this project or set depending on selected granularity. Ind comment on items, create and view filters, and run reports. They cannot create/edit items.
Permissions Project administration: grants the user complete acce Read and write access: grants the user the ability to c Read only access: grants the user the ability to view a	ess to all functionality within this project. reate and edit items within this project or set depending on selected granularity. Ind comment on items, create and view filters, and run reports. They cannot create/edit items.

- Existing user or group Select a user or group from the list on the left, then under Permissions, select the role (access permissions) for that user or group.
- New user or group Select New user or New group in the top right corner of the page. Then under Permissions, select the role or access permissions for that user or group.
- c. Select Save.

### Edit organization details

As a system admin, you can change your organization's information such as the name, description, or return email address.

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. Select Organizations > Edit.

Edit organization		
*Organization name:	Acme Works test	
Description:		
*Return email:	noreply@my.domain.com	
*Base URL:		
Rich text image max width (px):	0	
Rich text image max height (px):	0	
Allow users to subscribe others:		
Allow users to mute subscriptions:		
Allow non-administrators to delete items/containers:		
Allow project administrators access to all users and organization groups:		
Include unexecuted test runs in status calculations (not retroactive):		
Allow multiple items with the same Global ID in a single project:		
	Si	ave Cancel

- 3. Enter or change any of the following information:
  - **Organization name** Typically the name of your company or team. This name appears in the application as well as in reports.

- Description Additional information about your company.
- **Return email** Email notifications automatically sent by the application. Typically, the organization administrator's email address is used or noreply@example.com.
- Base URL The base URL is used to create URLs sent in email notifications and embed images in exports.
- Rich text image max width (px) Maximum pixel width setting that shrinks all images embedded into rich text fields. Default 0 means no max width is applied.
- Rich text image max height (px) Maximum pixel height setting that shrinks all images embedded into rich text fields. Default 0 means no max height is applied.



# NOTE

Images retain their aspect ratio when adjusted to fit the maximum setting of height or width. The adjustment only happens during an upload or document import. Images that already exist on the server are not adjusted. Compression is based on the width and height setting applied.

- Allow project admins to subscribe to others Allows project administrators to subscribe other users to items.
- Allow users to mute subscriptions Allows users to turn off a subscription that was subscribed to by another user.
- Allow non-administrators to delete items/containers Allows a user to delete items even if they don't have organization admin permissions. Default is On.
- Include unexecuted test run in status calculations (Not retroactive) Jama Connect uses all associated test runs to automatically calculate test case status.



### NOTE

For test cases associated with a single plan, test case status reflects the status of the test run with the *most recent activity*, which includes unexecuted tests (if enabled). When the case is associated with multiple plans, the *most urgent status* is chosen in this priority order: unexecuted, failed, blocked, scheduled, passed.

Select this box to include unexecuted test runs in the calculation of test case status (default). Uncheck this box to remove unexecuted test runs from the status priority order.

If you don't include unexecuted test runs and there are no executed test runs, the system defers to including unexecuted test runs.

• Allow multiple items with the same Global ID in a single project — Allows items to be reused multiple times within one project. Default is off.

### **Configure general properties**

The general properties need to be configured for all Jama Connect installations. Properties include configuring email and any messages you want to display on the login page.

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. Select the **System properties** tab in the Jama System Administration panel, then select **Edit** in the top, right corner.
- 3. Change any of the following settings.
  - Enable HTML Tag Security Cleaning Prevents suspicious HTML tags from being added to new and modified rich text fields and test steps. Doesn't clean up data retroactively. Enabled by default.
  - SMTP Settings Settings that affect notifications and subscriptions.

SMTP Enabled	Select Yes to use SMTP.
SMTP Host	The domain address of your SMTP server.
SMTP Port	The port for SMTP access.
SMTP User	User account to access SMTP.
SMTP Password	Password for the user account.
Authorization Required	Select Yes if authorization is required for the SMTP server.
Use TLS?	Select <b>Yes</b> if your mail server uses TLS. Jama Connect supports only Explicit (Opportunis- tic) SSL/TLS connections for SMTP.

- **System "From" address** Enter an address for the system to use when it sends notifications or other system messages (for example, info@mycompany.com).
- Collaboration "From" address IMAP must be supported to enable reply-to e-mails in the stream [246]. The Collaboration "From" address must match the email address used for IMAP, so replies to stream emails are sent to the same account that processes incoming mail (for example, replyto@mycompany.com). To enable IMAP, see Configure Inbound email (IMAP) settings [514].
- Allow Project Administrators to add groups Select Yes for project administrators to add groups [662]. Otherwise, only system and organization administrators can add groups.
- Allow Project Administrators to set project permissions Select Yes for project administrators to grant project permissions [664]. Otherwise, only system and organization administrators can grant permissions.
- Allow access to REST API Enables users to perform actions in Jama Connect from outside the user interface.
- Attachment file extensions List of file types (lowercase, separated by commas, periods, spaces, or newline characters) that can be uploaded as an attachment.



# NOTE

Files are rejected if the content of the file doesn't match the file extension, or if the MIME type is not understood by the system, even if the file type is listed here. To allow files of an unknown type, set the option to a blank string.

File extensions must be lowercase even if the actual extension on the file is uppercase. Learn more.

• **Notice on login page** — Displays a notice to users below the login page and in a yellow bar at the base of the application page.

le conne	ect			
Sign in				
Username			$\mathbf{C}$	
kmaxwell	¥			
Password				
•••••	7	574	17	
Forgot your password?	SIGN IN			
© 2019 Jama Software. All rights reserved Build date: 2019/03/26 17:48 — Versi	. www.jamasoftware.com ion: master 11e1bc3			

lama is designed for a minimum of 1024 × 768 screen resolution. Javascript MUST be enabled. For a list of supported browsers, please visit our support community. View our privacy policy



# NOTE

This login page might not be visible if you are using SSO or SAML logins.

- Maintenance mode Logs out and locks out all users except the root user until this option is disabled.
- Set header color Helps to differentiate test or staging instances from the production instance of Jama Connect.
- Set Batch Synchronous Index Limit Select a limit that determines whether items in a batch
  update are indexed synchronously or asynchronously. Synchronous indexing can add time to the
  index process, so the default value is set to 1000. The added time depends on the number of
  items and the complexity of fields for those items.
  - **Synchronous indexing** The number of items in a batch update is equal to or less then the limit.
  - Asynchronous indexing The number of items in a batch update is greater than the limit.
- 4. Click Save.

### **Configure Inbound email (IMAP) settings**

Before configuring IMAP, verify that your email server supports IMAP. Your server must support IMAP to enable reply-to emails in the stream [236].

For more information, see Authenticate an IMAP, POP or SMTP connection using OAuth.

### To configure IMAP:

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. Select System Properties > Inbound email (IMAP).
- 3. Click Edit, then select Is IMAP enabled.
- 4. Configure the following settings:

	Jama System Administration roo	t   Log Ou
Organizations System Pro	operties Users Permissions Reports License Management	Editor
General Properties Authentic	ation Properties Inbound email (IMAP)	
Test connection		Edit
s IMAP enabled	a	
Host	outlook.office365.com	
Jser account		
Password		
Port	993	
s SASL XOAuth2 Enabled	-	
s SSL enabled		
s TLS enabled		
DAuth client ID		
DAuth scopes	https://outlook.office365.com/.default	
OAuth authority	https://login.microsoftonline.com/	
ncoming mail folder	inbox	
Error mail folder	archive	
s debugging enabled	5	

Host	Enter the IMAP server URL.
User account	Enter a user account for someone with access to the folder where IMAP emails are saved.
Password	Enter the password for the user account or the OAuth secret.
Port	The port for IMAP connection, typically different from SMTP. Standard ports are Non-SSL:143, SSL:993.
Is SASL XOAuth2 Ena- bled	Select to enable OAuth authentication and token-based authorization for Microsoft based IMAP connections.
Is SSL Enabled	Select to enable SSL IMAP connections.
Is TLS Enabled	Select to enable TLS IMAP connections.
OAuth Client ID	Enter the client ID (Microsoft AAD Application ID).
OAuth scopes	Enter the resource URLs defining the token authorization request.
OAuth authority	Enter the URL of the authenticating authority or security token service.
	Microsoft security token service example: https://login.microsoftonline.com/{microsoft_ten- ant_id}
Incoming mail folder	(Required) Enter the name of the mail folder to read collaboration replies from.
Error mail folder	(Required) Enter the name of the mail folder to move unknown emails to. Unknown emails are non-collaboration emails.
Is debugging enabled	Select to enable debug level logging for failing IMAP connections. After enabling, check the server logs and test the connection.

5. Click Save.

# **Configure Basic authentication**

The default authentication method is Jama Connect Basic, which authenticates users by their username and password that are stored in the Jama Connect database. Passwords are encrypted before they are stored in the database.



#### To configure the Basic authentication properties:

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. Select System Properties > Authentication Properties > Basic.

Organizations	System Properties	Users Permissions	Reports	License Management	Editor Templates	Backup	index/Search	System Info	Logging	Cache Statist
Seneral Properties	Authentication Proper	ties Inbound email	(IMAP)		0.00					
Basic SAML	Basic + IdP LDAP	Crowd								
Jama Basic Auth	entication Properties									
	Enable b	asic authentication:	2							
	Enable "Forgot Pass	word" functionality:	2							
	Allow users to chan	ge their usemame:	2							
Password I	Requirements									
Pa	ssword Minimum Lengi	th: 6		Min Wea	imum Length: Pa k: Must meet the	assword is e minimur	s only required	to meet the contain at least	minimum st one of th	length. ne
Passwor	d Strength Requirement	nt: Minimum Length	~	follo	wing: an Upper (	Case lette	r, a Number, a	Symbol (!@#	\$%^&*_)	wa of
				the Stro Low at le No r	following: an Upp ong: Must exceed er Case letter, at ast one Symbol more than two se more than two ad	er Case I I the mini least one (!@#\$%^ quential d liacent ke	etter, a Number mum length by Upper Case I &*_). No more characters forv	er, a Symbol ( y 4 and conta etter, at least than two rep wards or back	2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 200	*_) one ber and racters. 3, abc).

- 3. Configure the authentication properties for the method you are using.
  - Enable basic authentication Enabled by default. You must deselect this option to use LDAP or Crowd.
  - Enable "Forgot Password" functionality Users who forget their password can request a new password without notifying the system admin.
  - Allow users to change their username Users can change their username when they manage their profile [39].
  - **Password requirements** Set the required password strength for all future passwords. New user passwords must meet the required password strength to be saved. Changes to these settings do not affect passwords already in the system.
- 4. Click Save.

### **Configure SAML authentication**

To configure SAML authentication, you must first update the authentication properties.

#### Important considerations

- To connect multiple instances of Jama Connect to the SAML service, you must create unique metadata or applications for each instance through the identity provider. This is true for any combination of production, sandboxes, or self-hosted instances. The entity ID is a unique value that allows the service and identity provider to locate each other and send users to the correct Jama Connect instance.
- We recommend testing an integration instance before using SAML on a production instance. For example, disable a sandbox instance from SAML before connecting on a production instance.

- Starting with Jama Connect 8.48, organizations that use SAML can use electronic signatures [257], which are enabled by default. If your identity provider (IdP) can't process the re-authentication, you can disable signatures.
- You can enable a different authentication method at any time. If you do, SAML is disabled.
- You can control the auto-provisioning of new SAML users in both single SAML and multi-mode. If your users are set up in SAML but not yet added to your Jama user table, this option allows you to control whether users can auto-provision in Jama Connect.

When this option is selected and properties are saved, your SAML users (SAML and multi-mode) can't sign in to Jama Connect until you add them to the Jama user table. A message tells them to finish the authentication process with their administrator.

This option is selected by default after you upgrade to 8.62.

Basic	SAML	Basic + IdP	LDAP	Crowd	
SAML	Proporties				
				Enable SAML:	2
	Disable	the auto-gene	eration of r	new SAML users:	0

#### To configure SAML authentication:

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. Select System Properties > Authentication Properties > SAML.
- 3. *Before you enter data*, select **Enable SAML**, then click **Save**.

	Jame System Administration	
Opposition Spar-Frunts Viet Persone Rept Lawridianami Entriform Sena Houliner Spar-Fro Japes Sarelballis Steamenter Appleficate		
Daniel Properties Automitiques Properties (MARP)		
MARE DAMA, MARE 4 OF LOAR DOWN		
IAAA. Provetse		
Trace SAR: Ø		
Osable the auto-generation of new GAM, users: 👩		
Match on Seld. Email		
Metadana UML <sup>1</sup> Cutton (dentifier (Artmine)		
Carago companya permetai		
Mensiona (30), Username		
AGS Bedreg.		
First Name Attrove Mapping		
Last Name Attribute Mapping		
SP Menders URL		
AG6 / Single Sigs On URL:		
SP Ently ID / Audience Restrictor:		
Enable Electronic Signature: 2		
		-



# NOTE

The following selections for the **Match on field** configuration are beta features that are under development: **Username**, **Custom identifier (NameID)**, and **Custom identifier (Attribute)**. For now, use the default **Email** selection. If you're interested in beta testing the **Username** or **Custom identifier** selections, contact your account manager.

- 4. Contact your identity provider for the metadata URL or XML, then paste it in the appropriate field. If a connection is established, the last three read-only fields are auto-populated with a URL.
  - SP metadata URL https://saml-or.jamacloud.com/saml/metadata/alias/defaultAlias
  - ACS / single-sign-on URL https://saml-or.jamacloud.com/saml/SSO/alias/defaultAlias
  - SP entity ID / Audience restriction https://saml-or.jamacloud.com/saml/metadata/alias/defaultAlias

If the connection doesn't work, you might need to adjust the information in the **ACS binding**, **First name attribute mapping**, and **Last name attribute mapping** fields or contact support.



#### TIP

The mapping fields serve as the key that connects user identity between Jama Connect and your identity provider. If name attribute mapping fields aren't specified, then a new user's full name defaults to their email address.

#### 5. Click Save.

Once SAML is enabled, Jama Connect redirects all users to the identity provider's login page. The Jama Connect login page is only accessible for system administrators if they log in as the root user with this URL:

https://your-jama-url/casper/login.req

### Configure multi-mode authentication

The combination of Jama Connect Basic and SAML authentication (**Basic + IdP**) provides extra security by separating your internal users from external partners.



#### To configure multi-mode authentication:

- 1. If you haven't entered the SAML metadata in the root menu, go to the SAML tab and enter it there.
  - Contact your identity provider for the metadata URL or XML, then paste it in the appropriate field. If a connection is established, the last three read-only fields are auto-populated with a URL.
    - SP metadata URL https://saml-or.jamacloud.com/saml/metadata/alias/defaultAlias
    - ACS / single-sign-on URL https://saml-or.jamacloud.com/saml/SSO/alias/defaultAlias

 SP entity ID / Audience restriction — https://saml-or.jamacloud.com/saml/metadata/alias/defaultAlias

If the connection doesn't work, you might need to adjust the information in the **ACS binding**, **First name attribute mapping**, and **Last name attribute mapping** fields or contact support.



The mapping fields are the key that connects user identity between Jama Connect and your identity provider. If name attribute mapping fields aren't specified, a new user's full name defaults to their email address.

2. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].

TIP

3. Select System Properties > Authentication Properties > Basic + IdP.

		Jernia System Administration	
repetition lighter Property User Participation R	and I constitute the loss to be	and another same (another sound) and more	
Antonia Progenities Automitigation Progenities Vehicles Annual / 1	M*3		
anne salet, pangelate LOAP Sour-			
Radius & Alf & Management Processing			
Inner Life, and advantage ( ) ( invested )			
Brito Activity Control and SAML: C			
Enable "Pargot Password" (unclimality			
Allow users to charge their username			
Password Minimum Length	D		
Passaget Etrergth Requirement	and D ~		
Strong: Must exceed the mini strong: Must exceed the mini pharecters forwards or backw	m tength by 2 and contain at least two 30 the to turn length by 4 and contain at least one Lower ( da (123, abc). No more than two adjacent leave (	noming, an output cala million, analyzing a sympton party in a sympton (bland the sympton (bland the sympton (bland the sympton	
14ML			
Energy Energy of the suit-generation of new SAML upons.	9		
Divide the auto-pleasation of New SAML users: Match on field	sinai T		
1940). It leads the auto-planaration of new SAML upon. Match on field Amatema URL:	Small T useroin istentifier (Atritune) varion istentifier (NamurD)		
Invite, Disebili the auto-penetration of new SAML upon. Match on here Newsdark URL	Dinal T untern statstate (Amitusa) untern statstate (Namisto) trais		
2440. Disease the auto-generation of new SAML users. Match on failt Measure URL Measure PAL	Sinal (* Joson Islandar (Amitola) Joson Islandar (Amitola) Tras		
DAMA, Diseone the acto-planated on of here SAMA, users Match on fair Memoria XML	S Inal (*** Usen leterler (Amkun) Saar leterler (Amkun) Inal Inal		
DAM. Diseou no anti-pinanton et nos SAM. con: Manzo en fait Amenana URL Mesona 708: ACA Renting	Sinat (* ) Loner Martine (Markala) Loner Martine (Markala) may may Samutha		
DANA Diseosi ina anti-pinanston of new SAAK cent Match on fair Amesiana URC Mensiona XAK CA Reading Finit Name Antimuda Megina	nut Tr. Soos Sector (4 (1050a) Latter backet (1050a) Sea January (1050a) January (1050		
DAMA, Diseone the sone-pleaneters of here SAAL core. Manuana UR: Menomes ANE ACA Render First Name Andread Menome Last Name Andread Menome	Smith 7, specific definition access indefinition (NamuCD) men man		
DAW, Diseou no ant-pinanton of new SAAL coor- Maco on fair American Art. Act Renting First Name Arthure Magnes Last Name Arthure Magnes Str Message JUC	Sadi (* 1 Sadi (* 1))		
DANA Disease we are guarantee of new SAAK con- Manue on fair Amazara URL Messara 2010 Anti-Antar Magana Latit and Antara Magana Latit and Antara Magana SA Menagan JUC ASS (Menga Say Con URL	Sinat (*) Loner Martina (Antrian) Loner Martina (Antrian) ma ma Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Santa Sa		
Database the same generation of the SAME core. Match on face Minimum UR: Ministers AME ACL Resemp I circl same Admiss Minister SP Manages JUL SP King SJ Amages American	Same Tr. species Natural (Annual D) species Natural (Natural D) Inst Same Natural Natural D) Same Natural		

- Select Enable BOTH Basic authentication and SAML, then click Save.
   The Basic + IdP tab transitions can now accept input. While the Basic and SAML tabs are now
  - read-only This type of input is the same on both tabs: Basic and SAML.

5. Complete the Basic and SAML sections in the Basic + IdP tab:

**Basic** — Fill out the the Basic Authentication section.

**SAML** — If you haven't entered the SAML metadata in the root menu, complete the following steps in the SAML section of the Basic + IdP tab.



### NOTE

The following selections for the **Match on field** configuration are beta features that are under development: **Username**, **Custom identifier (NameID)**, and **Custom identifier (Attribute)**. For now, use the default **Email** selection. If you're interested in beta testing the **Username** or **Custom identifier** selections, contact your account manager.

#### 6. Click Save.

- 7. Confirm the configuration was successful.
  - Select the **Users** tab, then verify that the Authentication Type column appears in the table. If you see the Authentication Type column, Basic + IdP authentication is now enabled.

Full Name	Email	Login Details	User Groups	License Type	User Status	Authentication Type	Action
Stakeholder		Never logged in	Development	Stakeholder	Active	IdP	Edit   Deactivate
admin		Count. 2	Organization Admin, Product Managers	Creator (float)	Active	Basic	Edil   Password   Deactivale

### **Configure LDAP authentication**

LDAP (Lightweight Directory Access Protocol) is a tool for organizations to centralize the management of user accounts. Jama Connect includes a built-in integration for LDAP and Microsoft Active Directory.

LDAP must be configured before it can be used in Jama Connect to authenticate users against your LDAP server.

#### To configure LDAP authentication:

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. Select System Properties > Authentication Properties > LDAP.

· 🐣 🕹					Jama Syste	m Administr	ation	root   Log Ou
Organizations System Properties Users Permissions	Reports   L	cense Management	Editor Templates	Backup	Index/Search	System Info	Logging	Cache Statis
General Properties Authentication Properties								
Basic SAML Basic + IdP LDAP Crowd								10
LDAP Properties								
Enable LDAP:	2							
Enable Self Registration:	1							
Default Organization for Self-registered User:	elect an organiz	ation 🕶						
Default User Group for Self-registered User: Self-registered User:	éléct en User G	mup						
						spronen	en l'ésse	Save:
LDAP Providers								
LDAP Provider Lists					0/	dd AD Provider	🚯 Add L	DAP Provider
No Data								

- 3. Configure the authentication properties for the method you are using.
  - **Enable LDAP** Select this to enable LDAP and disable the default Jama Connect authentication. Save the settings for changes to take effect.
  - Enable Self Registration Users can register themselves by logging in to Jama Connect using their LDAP credentials. If successfully authenticated, they get a prompt to register for Jama Connect. Without self-registration, users must be added manually by an organization administrator. Once registered, users will be assigned a license type based the rules below. An organization or project administrator must then assign permissions for that user.
    - If there are available creator licenses, they are assigned a creator license.
    - If there are no named creator licenses, users are assigned floating creator licenses (shared among others).
    - If there are no creator or floating creator licenses available, you can still create users, but they are set to inactive. An organization administrator must manually assign the user an active license when one becomes available.
  - **Default organization for self-registered user** Select the organization that self-registered users are assigned by default. There should only be one option.
  - **Default user group for self-registered user** Select the default group to which a self-registered user should be assigned. Organization administrators will need to assign permissions to self-registered users.
- 4. You can configure multiple directories with LDAP authentication. To add a new provider, select **Add AD Provider** or **Add LDAP Provider**, depending on the LDAP tool you use.
- 5. In the window that opens, provide the server information used to connect to the Active Directory or LDAP server, then click **Next**.

	Jama Software Active Directory	
Description:	This connects to the Portland office.	1
URL:		D.
	Example: Idap://localhost/389	
Bind DN:		]
	Example: cn=Admin.ou=users.do=jamasoftware.do=com The Bind DN should have the rights to search in the LDAP org unit that you would like to use for authentication.	
Bind Password:	••••••	<u>[</u> ]
	Enable JNDI Referrals	
		Test Configuration
Configuration Me	essage	
Configuration Succe	essful	
Select the Base	DN	
There is more than (	one Base DN available. Select the correct Base DN below.	
DC=qa,DC=ja	masoftware,DC=local	
	tion,DC=qa,DC=jamasoftware,DC=local	
CN=Configura		6.1
CN=Configura CN=Schema,(	CN=Configuration,DC=qa,DC=jamasoftware,DC=loca	
<ul> <li>CN=Configura</li> <li>CN=Schema,0</li> <li>DC=DomainD</li> </ul>	CN=Configuration,DC=qa,DC=jamasoftware,DC=loca nsZones,DC=qa,DC=jamasoftware,DC=local	

- Name Name of the connection that will appear in the Jama Connect interface.
- **Description** Description of the connection that will appear in the Jama Connect interface.
- URL The URL to the Active Directory or LDAP server.
- Bind DN The reference to the account that Jama Connect will use to perform all actions against the Active Directory or LDAP server. This field accepts the Distinguished Name of the account ("cn=John Doe,ou=Users,dc=jamasoftware,dc=com").
   Some Active Directory servers support the use of Full Name ("John Doe") or Email ("jdoe@domain.com").
- Bind Password The password of the Bind DN account.

- **Test Configuration** Select **Test configuration** to test for a successful connection to the specified server and bind account information. If successful, a "Configuration Successful" message will display in the window and the Base DN selection screen will expand.
- Select the Base DN The Base DN is the directory where users in Active Directory or LDAP exist that need to be added to Jama. Successfully tested configurations will load a radio button selection list of all available Base DNs.
- 6. Specify the attributes in Active Directory and LDAP that automatically populates the Jama Connect user attributes.

A	Add/Edit Provider 🔗 🔀								
6	LDAP User Mappi	ing		·					
	Map the correct fields for this user								
	Username:	admin							
	Username Attribute:	samaccountname							
	-Map Contour user	fields to their corresponding	LDAP attributes	lear					
	Contour Field	LUAP Allindule		Jean					
	First Name		*	Clear					
	Last Name		•	Clear					
	Full Name		¥	Clear					
	Email		*	Clear					
	Location		*	Clear					
	Phone		¥	Clear					
	Title		~	Clear					
4	Advanced Setup		Back	ave Close					

- **Username** Enter the username of a sample user that exists in the specified Base DN.
- **Username Attribute** Enter the attribute where the username value is stored (for example, Active Directory commonly uses "samaccountname").
- 7. Select **Next** to validate that the provided username and username attribute exist. If successful, the window expands to show a selection list of all available attributes for each of the Jama Connect user attributes.
  - Jama User Attributes First Name, Last Name, Full Name, Email, Location, Phone, Title.
  - LDAP attribute The selection drop-down shows all available directory attributes that are connected to the provided username. Select the correct value in the selection list that matches the Jama Connect user attribute.
- 8. Select **Advanced setup** if you know all the details of the connection and user attribute values. If you choose this option, you must add the **Full Name Attribute** or errors will result.

? X

Add	/Edit Pro	wide

Name: Jama Software Active Directory Description: This connects to the Portland office. URL: ldap://localhost:389 Base DN: dc=jamasoftware,dc=com Bind DN: cn=Admin,ou=users,dc=jamasoftware,dc=com Bind Password: ..... Enable JNDI Referrals Username samaccountname Attribute: LDAP: uid, AD: sAmAccountName Full Name displayName Attribute: LDAP: cn, AD: displayName First Name givenName Attribute: Last Name sn Attribute: Email Attribute: mail LDAP: mail, AD: email Location: Phone: Title: Test Configuration Back Save Close

9. After saving the connection, select **Synchronize Now** to manually sync all existing users in Jama Connect to LDAP. This updates user information with attributes from LDAP.

Any Jama Connect users who are not registered in LDAP are deactivated. Users in LDAP that do not already exist in Jama Connect aren't synchronized. New users must be added manually [508] with existing LDAP credentials.

#### **Troubleshooting LDAP errors**

If any errors occurred during installation, use this table to troubleshoot the issues.

Error message	Reason
Unable to communicate with LDAP server; nested ex- ception is javax.naming.CommunicationException: local- host:389 [Root exception is java.net.ConnectException: Connection refused: connect]	Can't connect to the server. Check the URL and make sure port 389 is open.
Operation failed; nested exception is javax.naming.Au- thenticationException: [LDAP: error code 49 - Invalid Cre- dentials]	The BindDn or password is incorrect.
Can't find user	Indicates that the Base Dn, Bind Dn, and Bind Password can be connected to accurately (a good connection to LDAP). Either the Login Name Attribute was not filled in correctly or the Sample User does not exist in the Base Dn indicated.
Can't authenticate user	The sample user password is incorrect. However, this message indicates a successful connection to LDAP and that the sample user was found in the Base Dn.
Operation failed; nested exception is javax.naming.Partial- ResultException: Unprocessed Continuation Reference(s); remaining name	The cause is usually the base URL is incomplete (too broad).
Operation failed; nested exception is javax.naming.Serv- iceUnavailableException: adunit:636; socket closed. Port 636 is for SSL.	Either SSL isn't supported by Spring LDAP or the certificate is incorrect. Solution: Try using Idap protocol. For example: Idaps://myserver.ex-ample.com:636.

Make sure you entered the correct information for the type of LDAP you are configuring:

#### Active Directory

URL: 'ldap://localhost:389' Base Dn: 'ou=Users,dc=<domainname>,dc=com' Bind Dn: 'cn=Admin,ou=Admin Users,dc=<domainname>,dc=com' Bind Password: 'password' Login Name Attribute: 'sAmAccountName' Email Attribute: 'email' User Name Attribute: 'displayName' Sample User: 'admin' Sample User Password: 'password' • LDAP

URL: 'ldap://localhost:389' Base Dn: 'ou=Users,dc=<domainname>,dc=com' Bind Dn: 'cn=Admin,ou=Admin Users,dc=<domainname>,dc=com' Bind Password: 'password' Login Name Attribute: 'uid' Email Attribute: 'mail' User Name Attribute: 'cn' Sample User: 'admin' Sample User Password: 'password'



### IMPORTANT

If you are using SSL, you must use the Idaps protocol. For example, Idaps://myserv-er.example.com:636

The Base Dn and Bind Dn values won't accept a domain-only value. At least one additional level is required, such as the 'ou=Users' shown in the example above.

Take note of the "Can't find/authenticate user" errors. Errors often indicate a successful connection, but the Sample User/Password are incorrect.



### IMPORTANT

The Sample User and Password fields are deleted every time the configuration window is closed.

### **Configure Crowd authentication**

Use Crowd to manage users and groups within a single system. Jama Connect can accept user details from Crowd and sync them with authentication data in Jama Connect.

#### To configure Crowd authentication:

- 1. Log in to Crowd as an administrator.
- 2. Select Applications > Add Application, fill in the fields for a new application and select Next.

🗶 CROWD	)						
Applications	Users	Groups	Roles	Directories	Administration		
Search Applications		Add Application					
Add Application		1. Details	2. Connection	3. Directorie	s 4. Authorisation 5. Confirmation		
		Application	Туре:	* Generic Appli Are you connect	iting JIRA to Crowd, or perhaps Confluence or Bamboo?		
		Name:		* jama The unique nam	e that the application will use to authenticate against the Crowd framework as a client.		
		Description	:	A short descript	ion of the application. Often a URL is helpful		
		Password:		* •••••			
		Confirm Pa	ssword:	* •••••			
				Next »	Cancel		

- Application type Generic Application.
- Name "jama" or any other unique name that identifies Jama Connect as the application.



### NOTE

The name must match. For example, lower case "jama" in the above example.

- Description (Optional) Provide a short description of the application.
- Password Create a new password that Jama Connect uses to access Crowd.
- 3. Enter the URL and IP address for Jama Connect, then select Next.

Search Applications	Add App	ication - cont	tour1		
Add Application	1. Details	2. Connection	3, Directories	4 Authenisation	5. Contimnation
	URL:	*	http://localhost:8 The URL where the	080/contour s application resides, e.g	Resolve IP Address
	Remote IP	Address: *	127.0.0.1 The IP address for	the application, e.g. 127.	0.0.1

4. Select the directories that control access to Jama Connect, then select Next.

Applications	Users	Groups	Roles	Directories	Administration	
Search Applications		Add App	lication - cor	ntour1		
Add Application		1. Details	2. Connection	3. Directories	2 - uthonsation 5	Continuation
		Please se	lect the directorie	es you are going to l	et this application use for a	authentication a
		CrowdCon	tourTest:	Crowd Internal Dir	ectory	

5. Select the particular groups in the Crowd Directory you want to have access to Jama Connect, or choose "all users in the directory" if you want all users to have access, then select **Next**.

Applications	Users	Groups	Roles	Directories	Administration
Search Applicati	ions	Add Appli	cation - co	ntour1	
Add Application		1. Details	2. Connection	3. Directories	4. Authorisation 5. Confirmation
		Either allow	/ all users acce	ss from a given dire	ectory to the 'contour1' application, or choose the specific groups from each directory.
		Directory – (	CrowdContour	Test	
		Allow all use authenticate	ers to ::	Let all users in this	is directory authenticate against the 'contour1' application.
		Authorised (	Groups:	crowd-administ	trators (remove)
		Directory Gr	oups:	TestGroup	✓ Add Group
				Next »	Cancel

- 6. Review your configuration, then select **Save**.
- 7. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 8. Select **System Properties > Authentication Properties** and complete the following fields.

C	General Properties Authentication Properties	
ſ	Basic SAML Basic + IdP LDAP Crowd	
	Crowd Properties	
	Enable Crowd	: 🔽
	Crowd Location	mcarneiro
	Crowd Application Name	root
	Crowd Application Password	••••••
	Enable SSO	
	Validation Interval	100
	Sync Crowd Users/Groups	
	Sync Interval (Minutes)	30
	Default Organization for Users	Select an organization

- **Enable Crowd** Select to enable or disable Crowd Connector. When disabled, the Jama Connect database is used for users and passwords.
- Crowd location Enter the URL for the Crowd server.
- Crowd application name Name of the application created in step 2 above.
- Crowd application password Enter the password for Jama Connect that was created in Crowd.
- **Validation interval** The amount of times a user can access the application prior to re-authenticating. The larger the number, the less communication with Crowd.
- Sync Crowd users and groups Select this option to push Crowd Groups and Users into Jama Connect at regular intervals. Make sure you understand how users and groups in Crowd interact with Jama Connect [529] before you do this.

When syncing with Crowd, Jama Connect assigns licenses as follows:

- If there are available named creator licenses, users are assigned a named creator license.
- If there are no available creator licenses, users are assigned a float license.

• If there are no available creator or float licenses, the user is skipped and it appears in the log. When Crowd is synced, Jama Connect runs through its list of users, adds new users, and modifies existing users in the Jama Connect userbase. When that's complete, Jama Connect runs through the list again to see if there are any existing users in the Jama Connect userbase that need to be deactivated.

Since Jama Connect makes two passes at adding and deactivating users, you might need to sync twice consecutively for it to work. For example, if you reach your license threshold, don't use float licenses, try adding a new user and deactivating an existing user, or must sync twice consecutively before the new user is given a named license.



### IMPORTANT

You can also select **Manual Sync** at the bottom of the window to manually synchronize all users and groups. Manual sync removes all Jama Connect configured Users and Groups and insert Crowd users and groups.

- **Sync interval** Enter the timing interval you would like for Crowd to synchronize groups and users with Jama Connect. This defaults to 30 minutes.
- **Default Organization for User** Only required when multiple organizations are setup with Jama Connect.
- 9. Click Save.
- 10. Select **Test Connection** to test if the configuration values are valid.

Users who are registered in Jama Connect, but not in Crowd, can't access Jama Connect. Other users won't be able to add disabled users to reviews or notifications.

### How users and groups work in Crowd

How users and groups function is impacted when you synchronize users and groups in Crowd connector [526].

The following actions change:

- All groups and users in Crowd that aren't in Jama Connect are added to Jama Connect. New users are assigned the most licenses available. When no licenses are available, users are created and **Inactive**.
- All groups in Jama Connect that aren't in Crowd are removed.
- All users that are in Jama Connect, but not in Crowd, are deactivated.
- Going forward, all user and organizational group management activities are performed in Crowd.
- Organization admins no longer create or edit users and organizational groups in Jama Connect because they are automatically created from Crowd.

The following actions stay the same:

- Organization admins retain the ability to assign a license type [582] to users.
- Users can continue to upload avatar icons [39].
- Organization and project admins continue to manage project groups [662] within individual projects.



### IMPORTANT

Project level project groups are only managed in Jama Connect and aren't visible in Crowd.

• An organization or project admin continues to manage user and group permissions [589] in Jama Connect.

Action in Crowd	Result in Jama Connect
Group(s) added to "Jama" Application in Crowd	Group created.
	The name of the group is reused if it already exists.
Users added to the "Jama" group in Crowd	Users added.
	Attributes in Jama Connect are overwritten by values from Crowd if a user already exists.
Group attributes modified	Group attributes are modified.
User attributes modified	User attributes are modified.
User added to group	User is added to group.
User removed from group	User is removed from group.
Group deleted	Group is deleted.
User is deactivated	User is deactivated.
User activated	User is activated.
	If the user doesn't exist, a new user is created. The new user is assigned the highest available license. If a license isn't available, the user is inactive.

### Backing up and restoring your data

Backing up your data is an essential part of maintaining and securing your self-hosted environment. With regular backups, you can easily restore settings and content when you update your application server hardware or if you lose data.



### NOTE

This information applies to self-hosted environments only.

You can back up and restore your data using several methods:

- Replicated snapshot A function of Replicated software that creates a backup of the Admin Console environment. It includes all Admin Console settings, the Replicated database, Docker images, and Docker container volumes.
- .jama or XML file A method with built-in automation, recommended for migrations and refreshes. A .jama file includes the database and /data directory. An XML file includes only the database.
- **Native database backup** The proprietary backup/restore system for MySQL and SQL Server databases. Recommended only if your database is extremely large.
- Backup of user data directories [543] Where all physical artifacts [543] are stored.



#### **IMPORTANT**

Create a backup regularly: daily, weekly, or monthly. Include in your regular backup a Replicated snapshot (Admin Console environment) and a .jama or XML file backup (database and /data directory).

# **Create a Replicated Snapshot (KOTS)**

Taking a full snapshot creates a backup of the KOTS Admin Console and application data. It can be used for full Disaster Recovery by restoring over the same instance or in a new cluster. Tenant assets are included in the snapshot. Elasticsearch data is included by default.

A Replicated Snapshot can be taken while Jama Connect is running without interruption.

### Requirements

- Replicated Snapshots must be enabled for your Replicated customer license.
- KOTS Admin Console 1.79 and later.
- Replicated Snapshots don't include your database. You must use a proprietary backup/restore system for your type of database, MySQL or SQL Server.

#### Important considerations

- When restoring from a snapshot in a new cluster, you must reinstall KOTS.
- *Recommended* Include Elasticsearch data in snapshots to avoid having to reindex your data after performing a restore. However, if your snapshot is not recent, we recommend reindexing your data.
- Replicated Snapshots don't support IAM authentication against EFS. Saving Replicated Snapshots in EFS requires that you use the default file system policy to allow all nodes in the cluster to mount the EFS.

#### To create a Replicated snapshot:

- 1. Capture the KOTS installer.
- 2. (Recommended) Include Elasticsearch data in snapshots: From the KOTS Admin Console under the Elasticsearch Settings section, select Include Elasticsearch in Replicated Snapshots.
- 3. *Airgap only* Capture the IP address of the private registry, which is the IP address value in the Cluster-IP column:
- kubectl get service/registry -n kurl4. Configure the storage destination:
  - a. In the KOTS Admin Console, select **Snapshots > Settings & Schedule**.
  - b. From the Destination drop-down menu, select a storage destination for your snapshots.
    - For AWS S3 The IAM role assigned to the underlaying servers or the user associated with the credentials (access and secret key) must have the Policy template attached. Use the following template to create a policy, replacing the <arn-S3> parameter with ARN of the S3 bucket. For example: arn:aws:s3:::jama-snapshots.

<pre>ht": "Allow", n": [ 3:PutObject", 3:GetObject", 3:AbortMultipartUpload" 3:DeleteObject", 3:ListMultipartUploadPan</pre>	', rts"						
t": "Allow", n": [ 3:PutObject", 3:GetObject", 3:AbortMultipartUpload" 3:DeleteObject", 3:ListMultipartUploadPar	', ırts"						
tt": "Allow", n": [ 3:PutObject", 3:GetObject", 3:AbortMultipartUpload" 3:DeleteObject", 3:ListMultipartUploadPar	', irts"						
tt": "Allow", n": [ 3:PutObject", 3:GetObject", 3:AbortMultipartUpload" 3:DeleteObject", 3:ListMultipartUploadPa	', rts"						
n": [ 3:PutObject", 3:GetObject", 3:AbortMultipartUpload" 3:DeleteObject", 3:ListMultipartUploadPa	', irts"						
3:PutObject", 3:GetObject", 3:AbortMultipartUpload" 3:DeleteObject", 3:ListMultipartUploadPar	', irts"						
3:GetObject", 3:AbortMultipartUpload" 3:DeleteObject", 3:ListMultipartUploadPar	', irts"						
3:AbortMultipartUpload" 3:DeleteObject", 3:ListMultipartUploadPa	', urts"						
3:DeleteObject", 3:ListMultipartUploadPar	irts"						
3:ListMultipartUploadPar	irts"						
$rae!! ! carn_a 2 / *!$							
t": "Allow",							
n": "s3:ListBucket",							
rce": " <arn-s3>"</arn-s3>							
	ct": "Allow", on": "s3:ListBucket", urce": " <arn-s3>"</arn-s3>	ct": "Allow", nm": "s3:ListBucket", urce": " <arn-s3>"</arn-s3>	ct": "Allow", nm": "s3:ListBucket", nrce": " <arn-s3>"</arn-s3>				

- For NFS If using EFS as an NFS server, the Server field = the DNS name of the EFS and the Path field = a directory inside the EFS, writable by the user:group 1001:1001.
- c. Click **Update storage settings** to save your preferences.
- 5. Schedule Full Snapshots:
  - a. In the KOTS Admin Console, select **Snapshots > Settings & Schedule**.
  - b. Select Enable automatic scheduled snapshots, then click Update schedule.
- 6. Create a Full Snapshot (follow the steps provided by Replicated).

# Restore KOTS Admin Console and Jama Connect from a Replicated Snapshot (KOTS)

When you set up a new application server for Jama Connect, you can restore the KOTS Admin Console settings that you saved in a Replicated Snapshot.

Snapshots include the registry images and data for Jama Connect.

#### Requirements

If restoring to a new cluster, it must match these specifications and settings of the cluster where the backup was taken:

- Number of nodes
- Inbound and outbound traffic rules
- Virtual memory settings for Elasticsearch
- Connectivity to external services and resources (for example, AWS EFS, AWS S3)

#### To restore from a snapshot:

- 1. Configure servers for a new cluster:
  - a. After the servers for the cluster are provisioned, install KOTS on one node using the captured KOTS Installer. You must pass the same flags to the installation script that were passed to the original cluster.
    - **Restoring an online cluster** Run the appropriate installation script that was generated from the captured KOTS installer.
    - **Restoring an airgap cluster** Download the appropriate KOTS installer bundle, replacing <**ip**> with the IP address of the private registry from the original cluster:

cat install.sh | sudo bash -s airgap kurl-registry-ip=<ip>

- b. When the installer has finished, run the command displayed on the screen so the other servers join the cluster. If required, label the nodes dedicated for Elasticsearch.
- c. Install any add-ons that were manually installed in the cluster. For example, the EFS Driver.
- 2. Configure the storage destination: From the KOTS CLI, point the cluster to the storage destination where the Replicated Snapshots were saved.

AWS S3	See configure-aws-s3.
Azure	See configure-azure.
GCP	See configure-gcp.
S3-Other	See configure-other-s3.
NFS	See configure-nfs. If the cluster uses EFS or NFS, also see Configuring an NFS Storage Destination. <b>Note:</b> If using EFS as an NFS server, <b>Server</b> field = <b>DNS name</b> of the EFS and <b>Path</b> field = a directory inside the EFS, writable by the user:group 1001:1001.

3. Locate the snapshot and restore it: From the KOTS CLI, run a backup Is and full restore.

#### backup ls

This can take a few minutes. If the snapshots don't appear, rerun this command.

- 4. If you changed the host name for Jama Connect:
  - a. Update the Host Name field in the KOTS Admin Console and deploy the change.
  - b. From your browser, log in to Jama Connect and change your URL [540].
- 5. View scheduled jobs [542] to verify that the list isn't empty.
- 6. If the Elasticsearch data wasn't included in the snapshot or if the snapshot isn't recent, reindex all search items [543].
- 7. Verify that you can locate your assets.

# Back up to .jama or XML

We recommend backing up to a .jama or XML file for migrations and refreshes because this method has built-in automation. You can avoid manual changes which can impact the integrity of the data.

A .jama file backup includes the database and /data directory. An XML file backup includes only the database.

### Important considerations

- If SAML is enabled, disable it before backing up your data. After you restore your instance of Jama Connect, you must re-enable SAML.
- Backups must be done manually; they can't be scheduled automatically.
- Make sure you have enough available disk space [535].
- Make sure Jama Connect is in maintenance mode [512] before you create a backup.
- If you are using a version of Jama Connect prior to version 8, generate backups during a maintenance window and inform users, including API users, not to use the application.
- Regardless of what version you are using, all integrations must be disabled.

#### To back up to a .jama or XML file:

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. Select the **Backup** tab to see the backup options.



3. Choose a backup method (listed here in recommended order).

Method	Scenario	Select
Save .jama file to the application server.	Migrating between versions later than 8.0.	Save .jama File to server
Save XML file to the application server.	<ul> <li>Migrating between different types of databases</li> <li>Migrating version earlier than 8.0</li> </ul>	Save XML File to Server
Download XML database backup to your workstation.	<ul><li> If you can't access the application server</li><li> For smaller databases</li></ul>	Download XML
Download document type definition (DTD) to your workstation.	If all other methods fail	Download DTD

The backup process is complete.

### Restore to a new server from .jama or XML

When you set up a new server, you can install Jama Connect and restore data using the .jama or XML file backup you created. See Back up to .jama or XML file [532].



### IMPORTANT

If you use SAML in your environment, it was disabled before you created the .jama or XML backup. When you install Jama Connect on a new server, it will be running Basic authentication. You must re-enable SAML to use that authentication method.

#### To restore a new server from .jama or XML:

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506] on the new server.
- 2. Install Jama Connect:
  - a. In the header of the KOTS Admin Console, select **Application > Config** to open the settings page.
  - b. Scroll down to the **Database Settings** section of the page, then select select the database you are using: **MySQL** or **SQL Server**.

A Calleon	Application GitOps	Cluster Management	Snapshots	1						
	Dashboard	Version history	Config	Troubleshoot	License	View files	Registry settings			
Kubern Allow (	etes Configuration A	Database Se Type/vendor MySQL	ttings O Microsoft	SQL						
Issuer Is mis	Name a cluster scoped issuer?	Host Require								
Memory Core Ja	, and CPU Settings $\checkmark$ ma Application Setti $\checkmark$	3306								
Databa	se Settings ^ endor	Default value: 3	306 allined							
Port	15e	Default value: ja User name	Defnult value: jama User name Required							
Liser n Passw	ame	root Diefaulit value: ja	mauser							

c. Under **Restore Jama Backup**, enter the file path for the backup you created, (for example, /data/restore/your\_backup.xml). Select Check conditions to make sure the path to your backup file meets the conditions listed onscreen.

Restore Jama Backup	
A Jama backup file can be restored during the initial installation of Jama (i.e. when the database is created). Use this option to continue using data from an existing Jama instance. Otherwise an empty Jama instance is created using sample data.	6
Enter the file path of a Jama backup file (, jama), .xml). The file path must meet the following conditions:	
<ul> <li>On the (primary) installation host</li> <li>Below the /data/restore/ path</li> <li>Readable by all ("-rw-rr")</li> </ul>	
The backup file is only used during the initial installation of Jama (i.e. when the database is created).	
Backup file	
Check conditions	



# IMPORTANT

You must have an empty database for the restore process to complete.

- 3. For non-.jama file backups: Move existing data folders to the new application server.
- 4. Save and restart Jama Connect.
- 5. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506]
- 6. If your new application server has a different URL than the old one, update the base URL to reflect the change.
- 7. To sync your indexes with the database, index all items.

### Backing up MySQL or SQL Server database

If your MySQL or SQL Server database is extremely large, use the native backup method that comes with your database. Doing so avoids possible data corruption.

Follow instructions for whichever system you are using, MySQL or SQL Server.



### **IMPORTANT**

If you are migrating from one type of SQL server to another, for example SQL Server to MySQL, use the .jama or XML file backup [532].

### Maintaining your Jama Connect environment

A system administrator is responsible for keeping the system up and running and at peak performance.

Maintaining your environment consists of ongoing tasks that are done regularly and important tasks that are done infrequently.

Ongoing/regular tasks	Infrequent but important tasks
<ul> <li>Monitor memory usage [535]</li> <li>Maintaining your Jama Connect database [536]</li> <li>Back up your data [530]</li> <li>View scheduled jobs [542]</li> <li>Clear cache [542]</li> <li>Remove old Docker images [541]</li> <li>View applied patches [542]</li> <li>Reset Admin Console password [537]</li> <li>Deactivate and reactivate users [536]</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Update the license [537]</li> <li>Update the certificate [538]</li> <li>Update the application's IP address [539]</li> <li>Change [540] or fix URL [540]</li> <li>Delete an organization [541]</li> <li>Reindex all items [543]</li> </ul>

### Monitoring memory usage

Make sure you have allocated an appropriate amount of memory for your organization's usage. Check and adjust usage regularly to keep your environment running for best performance.

Several factors affect the amount of memory that Jama Connect requires, including:

- · Size of your dataset
- Number of concurrent users
- Users' common workflows

If any of the pods' memory consumption is close to the maximum available memory, you can adjust those values. These containers in order require the most memory:

- jamacore
- elasticsearch
- · searchservice

Make sure that you don't over-allocate the total memory of the application server. Also, leave approximately 5 GB of available memory (headroom) for system processes. For help in estimating your application server size, use the tables in *Resource sizing for your application server*.

Use one of these methods to monitor usage, then adjust your memory settings [500] as needed.

- Log in to Jama Connect as the root user.
- Select the License management tab to view usage by license type.

- Use the Admin Console monitoring graphs.
- Use any Java application monitoring tool that supports JMS.
- Use JavaMelody, which comes preconfigured with the Jama Connect application. To access Java-Melody, log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506] and navigate to [your.jama.url]/javamelody.

# Maintaining your Jama Connect database

Follow these recommendations to maintain your Jama Connect database, which includes having a data backup plan and ensuring the appropriate memory is allocated to the database server.

- 1. **Create a data backup plan** Back up your database server at least daily and implement backup strategies as needed.
- 2. Allocate appropriate memory to the database server Have your Database Administrator monitor memory usage and allocate memory in advance to prevent running out of memory.
- 3. **Configure system variables and server properties based on usage** For details, see the documentation for MySQL or SQL Server.
- 4. Check or analyze databases and tables every 6 months We recommend that you review or analyze your databases at least every 6 months, or after you write, change, or delete a substantial amount of data. Pay extra attention to table or index size because Jama Connect is a write-heavy application. If a table has grown out of size or the index is too large, it might need to be rebuilt. Use these resources to determine if an index or table must be rebuilt:
  - Leverage MySQL and SQL Server statistic gathering to detect the need to repair or analyze databases or tables.
  - Run mysqlcheck to check, repair, optimize, or analyze tables in MySQL. For details, see mysqlcheck — A Table Maintenance Program.
  - Use the Maintenance Plan Wizard tool to manage backups, data integrity checks, and statistic gathering in SQL Server. For details, see Use the Maintenance Plan Wizard.

### Deactivate and reactivate users

Users can't be deleted from Jama Connect, but you can deactivate users if they are no longer active members of the team. When you deactivate a user, their account becomes inactive and their named license is freed up for another user. You can also reactivate the user as needed.



### IMPORTANT

You must have organization or system administrator permissions to deactivate and reactivate a user.

#### To deactivate and reactivate users:

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. Select the **Users** tab.
- 3. To deactivate a user, select **Deactivate** in the Action column next to the user you want to deactivate.

Deactivated users disappear from the list.

- 4. To reactivate a deactivated user:
  - a. Select **View inactive users** to view all users, then select **Activate** in the Action column next to the user you want to reactivate.

- 24							J	lama Sy	stem Admi	nistration	root   Log Out
Organizations Sy	stom Properties	Users	Permissions	Reports	License Management	Editor Templates	Backup	Index/Sea	ch System	nto Logging	Cache Statis +
List Users from Search			×A	cme Works te	est 👻			Vie Vie	v inactive users	🔂 Add user	E4 Export
Username	Full name		Email		Login details	User groups	Licen	so type	Jser status	Action	
1@gmail.com	1@gmail.com		1@gmail.com		Never logged in		Inactiv	e i	nactivo	Edit   Password	Activate
2@gmail.com	2@gmail.com		2@gmail.com		Never logged in		Review	wer .	Active	Edit   Password	Invite   Deactivate
3@gmail.com	3@gmail.com		3@gmail.com		Never logged in		Review	wer	Active	Edit   Password	Invite   Deactivate
4@gmail.com	4@gmail.com		4@gmail.com		Never logged in		Review	wer .	Active	Edit   Password	Invite   Deactivate

b. In the User license type window, select a license type and select **Save**.

# Reset Admin Console password

You can reset the password for the Admin Console if, for example, the administrator forgot it.

- 1. To remove the current password, run this command on the application server:
- replicated auth reset2. To change your password:
  - a. From the KOTS Admin Console, select the circle ellipsis icon, then click Change password.



b. Update the password information, then click Change Password.

Changing the password for the Admin Console will invalidate and log out of all current sessions. Proceed with caution.	
Current password	
cument password	show
New password	
new password	show
Confirm new password	
confirm new password	show

The new password takes effect immediately.

### Update the license

When you renew your license or change the number of available seats, you must update your license. You receive a single key for your organization, called a license key, which specifies the type and number of licenses you have.



### TIP

Schedule a license update during a maintenance window because the process involves an interruption to the Jama Connect application.

#### To sync your license:

- 1. Open the KOTS Admin Console: https://<your hostname>:8800.
- 2. In the KOTS Admin Console, select the **Applications** tab, click **License**, then make the following changes:
  - Internet installation Click Sync license.
  - Airgap installation Click Upload license, then select the latest license.
  - The KOTS Admin Console checks for updates to your license and creates a new version.
- 3. Select Version history and deploy the new version with your license changes.
- 4. Log in to Jama Connect, then select **License Management** to verify that the license updates were successful.

### Update the certificate

If a certificate expires, it becomes invalid and must be replaced.

- 1. In the header of the KOTS Admin Console, select the gear icon > Console Settings.
- 2. Under TLS Key & Cert, select the location of the SSL private key and certificate.
  - If the SSL key and certificate are on the application server, select **Server path**, then enter the file locations.

TLS Key & Cert		
The management console uses	TLS encryption. PI	lease select key type and location you wish to use.
O Self-signed (generated)	⊙ Server path	O Upload files
SSI. Private Key Filename		SSL Certificate Filename

 If the SSL key and certificate are on the computer you use to access the Admin Console, select Upload files to upload the key and certificate files, then select Choose file for SSL Private Key and SSL Certificate.

TLS Key & Cert										
The management console uses	TLS encryption. Pl	ease select key type and lo	ocation you wish to use.							
O Self-signed (generated)	O Server path	O Upload files								
SSL Private Key		SSL Certificate	•							
Choose file		Choose fi	le							

3. Scroll to the bottom of the page and select **Save config**. A message confirms that your settings were saved.

### Update the IP address for the application server

If you need to update the IP address or hostname of your application server, you must also edit the Replicated configuration files to reflect this change.

If you previously used an IP address, continue using an IP address. If you previously used a hostname, continue using a hostname.



#### NOTE

If you are using DNS and the hostname for this server isn't changing (just the underlying IP), you don't need to edit any files.

- 1. Make the IP/hostname changes in your network and on the server.
- 2. Stop the Jama Connect services.
- 3. Stop Replicated (KOTS Admin Console):
  - CentOS, RHEL 7+, and Fedora
    - sudo systemctl stop replicated replicated-ui replicated-operator
  - Debian, Ubuntu, and thers

sudo service replicated stop sudo service replicated-ui stop sudo service replicated-operator stop

- 4. Edit the Replicated configuration files to replace all occurrences of the old IP address or hostname with the new IP address or hostname.
  - Fedora/CentOS/RHEL
    - /etc/sysconfig/replicated and /etc/sysconfig/replicated-operator
  - Debian/Ubuntu

/etc/default/replicated and /etc/default/replicated-operator

Others

Contact support at <a href="mailto:support@jamasoftware.com">support@jamasoftware.com</a> if you can't locate the Replicated configuration files.

- 5. If you have a firewall in place or use a proxy and configured no\_proxy settings in Docker, update these settings with the new IP address.
- 6. Restart Docker.
  - Fedora/CentOS/RHEL 7+
    - sudo systemctl restart docker
  - Debian/Ubuntu and Others

#### sudo service docker restart

- 7. Start the Replicated service (KOTS Admin Console).
  - Fedora/CentOS/RHEL 7+

sudo systemctl start replicated replicated-ui replicated-operator

Debian/Ubuntu and Others

sudo service replicated start sudo service replicated-ui start sudo service replicated-operator start

- 8. Once the Replicated containers are up, navigate to https://{new\_ip\_address}:8800, then enter the new IP address or hostname under **Settings > Hostname**.
- 9. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 10. Change the URL [540] to reflect the new IP address.
- 11. Run Fix URL references [540] to change any existing references in the text of items that were already created.

# Change URL

The Base URL is the first part of all web addresses that Jama Connect installations use, beginning with http and ending with a slash (/).

You might want to change your Base URL if a company changes its name or if you need to create a test instance.

#### To change your Base URL:

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. Select the **Organizations** tab.
- 3. Select Change URL from the Action column.

							4	Jama Sys	tem Administ	ration	root   Log Out
Organizations	System Properties	Users	Permissions	Reports	License Management	Editor Templates	Backup	Index/Sean	h System Info	Logging	Cache Statisti 🔶
Name		-	Description				APLIN	Closed	Action		2 0
Redside Consulting			3				2	Edit Change URL Fix URL Reference			ferences

- 4. Enter the new URL in the New Base URL text box.
- 5. Select Change URL.
- Update all URL references [540] in the application to the new value.
   If this step isn't completed, the application still contains old URL references, which can result in unpredictable behavior such as images not being displayed in exports.
- 7. If you're using SAML authentication, disable and re-enable SAML settings to update the base URL in our SAML services.

The new URL is updated and active.

### Update URL references after changing URL

The option **Fix URL References** updates all URL references in the application to reflect a new URL. After you change a URL [540], always run this function.



### IMPORTANT

The **Fix URL References** option doesn't modify items in archived projects. It also doesn't change the URL used to connect the application server to your database server; that URL is stored in your database.properties file. The Base URL (baseurl field) is only updated in the database organization table by the Change URL [540] option.

Use the Fix URL References option if:

- You notice images are not being displayed in exports.
- A login prompt appears after URL redirection.
- An error message is displayed when you run exports.

#### To update all URL references in the application:

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. Select **Organizations > Fix URL References**.
- 3. Select **Fix URL References** from the Action column.
|     | <u></u>         |                   |       |             |         |                    |                  | 1      | lama Sys   | stem Administ     | ration      | root   Log Out |
|-----|-----------------|-------------------|-------|-------------|---------|--------------------|------------------|--------|------------|-------------------|-------------|----------------|
| -   | Organizations   | System Properties | Users | Permissions | Reports | License Management | Editor Templates | Backup | Index/Sear | ch System Info    | Logging     | Cache Statisti |
| Nan | ne              |                   |       | Description |         |                    |                  | API ID | Closed     | Action            |             |                |
| Rec | side Consulting |                   |       | 3           |         |                    |                  | 2      |            | Edit   Change URL | Fix URL Rel | lerences       |

- 4. Enter the new URL in the text box, **To this URL**.
- 5. Select Fix URL References.
- 6. When prompted, select **Yes** to finish.

### Delete an organization

Deleting an organization is an activity that is done only when more than one organization exists.



# NOTE

Before version 4.3, users had the option to add multiple organizations. However, this option was removed in the spring of 2014. As of release 8.10, if you have multiple organizations, delete all but your production organization.

Overall system performance might be affected during the delete process depending on the size of the organization to be deleted. Schedule the deletion during off-peak hours.

Deleting an organization completely removes all data about the organization including projects, settings, and users. Deleted organizations can't be recovered. If you need to preserve the non-production organizations, contact your account representative.

#### To delete an organization:

- 1. Back up your data [532].
- 2. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 3. Enable maintenance mode [512] under the **System properties** tab. If maintenance mode isn't enabled, the option to delete organizations isn't available.
- 4. Under the **Organizations** tab, select the **Delete** action in the row of the organization to be deleted.
- 5. When prompted, select **Yes** to confirm you are deleting the organization.

### **Remove old Docker images**

Old Docker images from previous versions of Jama Connect use up storage space and might cause indexing to fail. To avoid this, periodically remove old Docker images from your system to keep it running smoothly.

You also want to remove *dangling volumes*, which are volumes associated with a container that no longer exists. Jama Connect creates new containers and volumes when you restart the application. These volumes can fill up your disk space.



### **IMPORTANT**

Make sure Jama Connect is running so that only images not in use are deleted. These commands clean only images and volumes loaded with the Docker storage driver in use. Files that were written with other storage drivers remain on the volume until separate commands are run for that storage driver.

#### Use these commands to clean up your volumes:

- 1. Identify how much space is being used on your server:
- sudo docker system dfList out all Docker images on your server:

# sudo docker images

Images are displayed on the screen, listed by their ID in the IMAGE ID column.

REPOSITORY	TAG	IMAGE ID	CREATED	SIZE
<pre>quay.io/replicated/replicated-operator</pre>	latest	c5ea60b58967	5 weeks ago	33.12 MB
quay.io/replicated/replicated	latest	b590f45795f8	5 weeks ago	114.8 MB
172.28.128.3:9874/tenantmanager	e41194c	de4e2e0b47c0	5 weeks ago	442 MB

3. Remove an image by its ID:

sudo docker rmi IMAGE\_ID4. Remove any dangling volumes from the Docker data root directory:

docker volume rm \$(docker volume ls -qf dangling=true)

5. Identify the volumes being removed:

docker volume ls -qf dangling=true



# NOTE

When you run the commands above to remove an image that is currently in use, you will get an error. For self-hosted customers with internet access, any missing images download again when you restart Jama Connect. For airgap customers, you'll need to manually load the images.

# View scheduled jobs

Some jobs can impact performance. When you view scheduled jobs, you can identify which jobs are currently running, when jobs are scheduled to run, and how much memory they require. Knowing this information helps you prepare for any performance hit.

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. In the Jama System Administration panel, select **Scheduled jobs** to view jobs, their group, class, and firing time.

### View applied patches

You might need to check which patches have been installed on your application server. For example, you can see if any patches were missed, or you might need to let support know about your current environment.

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. In the Jama System Administration panel, select **Applied Patches** to view the unique ID, run date, and status.

### Clear cache

If you notice latency or slow performance of Jama Connect, you can free up disk space and memory by clearing the cache.

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- 2. In the Jama System Administration panel, select Cache statistics.
- 3. Clear items from the cache:

- All items Select Clear all cache to clear all cache items from the cache.
- Specific item Select Clear Cache on a specific cache item to clear it from the cache.

### **Reindex all search items**

Search indexes get out of sync with the database due to large batch updates, API updates, or database updates. During a full index, all search indexes are rewritten to the current values in the database.



### NOTE

You must have system administrator permissions to complete this task while logged in as root. While organization admins and project admins can index project items [661], they can't index all search items.

#### Important considerations

- · Files over 25 MB aren't indexed, so their content isn't searchable.
- Filetypes that can be indexed: PDF, DOC, DOCX, PPT, PPTX, TXT, RTF.
- Filetypes that can't be indexed: XLSX, XLS, XML, HTML, HTM.
- During the index process, the application automatically enters maintenance mode [512]. Users can't log in during this time and users who are already logged in receive a message about the maintenance.

#### To sync your search indexes:

- 1. Notify users before initiating an index.
- 2. Disable all integrations including legacy connectors and the Jama/Tasktop Integration Hub. DWR, SOAP, and REST API calls are automatically blocked during the reindex.



# NOTE

The system admin doesn't have access to disable integrations. Work with an organization admin or integrations admin [641] to disable those services.

- 3. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- Select the Index/Search tab and select Index items. The system displays a count of items in the application and the estimated time to complete the index.
- 5. Select **Yes** to continue.

You see an alert when indexing is complete and maintenance mode is automatically disabled.

### **Folder locations**

You can use an exported filesystem, such as NFS, for mounting the following directories, provided the path remains the same.

The following two directories are on the application server:

/data

Stores physical artifacts, like attachments, reports, avatars, diagrams, and metrics. Exported file systems, like NFS, are supported for use with the /data directory.

/logs

Contains all log files of the Jama Connect components such as the following:

- /logs/tomcat Apache Tomcat log files, logs all activities [241] in the application
- /logs/tomcat/contour
   Core Jama Connect log files

/logs/elasticsearch
 Elasticsearch log files

- /logs/search Search service log files
- /logs/nginx
   Nginx log files (note that currently only error logging is provided for Nginx)



# NOTE

You cannot change the location where log files are written to, however, you can change the appenders and logging levels for different components of the Jama Connect application. The core Jama Connect application log configuration can be updated in:

/data/log4jconfig/log4j.properties

The log configuration for Elasticsearch and search service can also be found in

/data/config

Changes to these configuration files persist when you restart Jama Connect and are applied in a few seconds.



# IMPORTANT

Replicated snapshots are stored in the following location by default:

/var/lib/replicated/snapshots

However, if you change the path to include /data it will be easier to include these snapshots in your regular backups of Jama Connect data at /data/directory, as such:

/var/lib/replicated/data/snapshots

Note that /snapshots should have three times the space allocated as the rest of /data.

# **Upgrading from Jama Connect traditional to KOTS**

Jama Connect is a Linux-based application that runs on Docker containers and uses Replicated software to "orchestrate" deploying applications. The current version of Jama Connect uses Replicated KOTS, while older versions use traditional Replicated software. The process of upgrading Jama Connect from traditional to KOTS includes planning, preparing your environment, and installing the software.

### Upgrade scenarios

**Upgrade with new servers (recommended)** — This recommended scenario uses new application and database servers to support your KOTS Replicated environment. It requires you to:

· Copy targeted data from the existing application server into the new environment.

• Restore a backup of your current database to the new database server.

While this scenario results in the temporary overhead of supporting two separate environments, it comes with less risk of unwanted downtime.

**Upgrade with existing servers** — This scenario reuses the current application and database servers from your traditional Replicated environment. This scenario:

- Requires you to uninstall elements of the traditional Replicated platform before you can install the KOTS Replicated platform.
- Can cause significant maintenance downtime. Make sure to inform your users of this maintenance window. Also have an emergency plan in place to revert back to the traditional Replicated environment if necessary.

### Before you upgrade

- · Contact your Customer Success Manager to request a KOTS internet or airgap license.
- Choose the upgrade scenario that works best for your organization. Whichever scenario you choose, expect production downtime while the new instance is configured. Best to upgrade during off hours.
- Follow the instructions in the planning [684] and preparing [691] sections to ensure a successful upgrade.

### Components and what they do

**Replicated KOTS** — A container-based platform for easily deploying cloud native applications inside customers' environments, providing greater security and control. The KOTS Admin Console is the interface for installing, configuring, and administering the KOTS deployment of the Jama Connect application and required services. See https://www.replicated.com/ for details.

**Docker containers** — A standalone executable package of software that includes code, runtime, system tools, system libraries, and settings. See <a href="https://www.docker.com/resources/what-container/">https://www.docker.com/resources/what-container/</a> for details.

**Jama Connect KOTS license** — Contact your Customer Success Manager to request a KOTS license. Save the license file to a location you can access easily; you will need it when installing Jama Connect.

For more information about KOTS, see https://www.replicated.com/blog/announcing-kots/



## NOTE

Replicated KOTS is the only supported platform for Jama Connect 9.0 and later. To upgrade Jama Connect traditional to KOTS, see Upgrade from Jama Connect traditional to KOTS workflow [684].

### Troubleshooting



### NOTE

This information applies to self-hosted environments only.

You can avoid troubleshooting by following regular maintenance practices [535], but if you run into problems here are some resources that might help:

- For issues with installation, log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506], and select the **System Info** tab to see a quick overview of your installation.
- View log and profile [546]
- Clear cache [542]
- View scheduled jobs [542]
- Index all items [543]
- Remove old Docker images [541]
- · Reconnect to the Wiris server [548]

### Thread dump

A thread dump is a snapshot of the state of your Jama Connect processes at a point in time.

Jama Support might request a thread dump for troubleshooting performance issues.

Any time you generate a support bundle, the bundle includes three thread dumps taken at 5-second intervals.



# TIP

Take multiple thread dumps over an interval of time. A single thread dump on its own doesn't provide complete information about an issue.

You can create a thread dump from the command line or the from the Logging Configuration window.





# NOTE

You can create thread dumps only for containers that are the core Jama Connect application.

### View and configure logging

Log files record information from the application and can help with troubleshooting. Information is captured in the contour.log file.

Entries in the log file are noted by the [jama.AccessLog] package and include this information:

- · Date of request
- · Server processing time to handle the request
- · The user who submitted the request
- · The organization ID of the user who submitted the request
- · The user session ID of the user who made the request
- · The server address that the request was made to

Enabling the profiler logging enhances logging in Jama Connect. However, profiler logging might require additional resources to generate this content. For best performance, use the profiler for troubleshooting purposes.

The profiler prints out the following information:

- The user who submitted the call
- · The organization the user belongs to
- The java thread ID of the call
- · A stack trace of the call that includes processing time and memory usage of each trace

#### To view the log and configure logging:

- 1. Log in to Jama Connect as the root user [506].
- Select Logging > Log Viewer to view the log. As needed, select Refresh at the top right to refresh the log.
- 3. Select Logging > Configuration.

Organizations	System Properties	Users	Permissions	Reports	License Management	Editor Templates	Backup	Index/Search	System Info	Logging	Cache Statis
Configuration Lo	g Viewer										
org.springframework.ld	lap				INFO				Edit		
org.springframework.c	rm.hibernate4				INFO				Edit		
org.springframework.s	ecurity				INFO				Edit		
org.springframework.ti	ansaction				INFO				Edit		
org.springframework.v	dev				INFO				Edit		
root					INFO				Edit		
Add Log Config (Note	the changes you mak	e here are	not persisted. To	o make perm	anent changes, edit file log	4j.properties and clic	k Reset)				
Package to Log:											
Level:	INFO		×								
add package											
Profiling											
The profiler is	disabled										
Enable profiler											
Access Log											
Access loggin	ng is disabled										
Enable access logg	ing										
Thread Dump											
Dump threads info	rmation										



### TIP

By default all logging levels are set to info and will reset to that default when the application is restarted.

To permanently change the logging level and appenders, edit the file:

#### /data/config/log4j.properties

The log configuration for Elasticsearch and search service can also be found in:

/data/config

You cannot change the location to where log files are written. Changes to these configuration files are applied within a few seconds and are persisted across restarts the application.

4. To change the logging level from the default setting of Info, select Edit.

Organizations	System Properties Us	ers Permissions	Reports	License Management	Editor Templates	Backup	Index/Search	System Info	Logging	Cache Stati: +
Configuration Log	Viewer							-		
org.springframework				INFO				Edit		
org.springframework.lda	p			INFO				Edit		
org.springframework.orn	hibernate4	Change	Logoing I a	val				Edit		
org.springframework.sec	curity	cutange	Colling Co					Edit		
org.springframework.tran	nsaction	Level:		INFO	*			Edit		
org.springframework.wel	þ			TRACE				Edit		
ROOT				DEBUG				Edit		
Add Log Config (Note: t	he changes you make he	re are not p		INFO						
				WARN	ia	ncel				
Package to Log:	0			ERROR	1	_				
Level:	INFO	~		FATAL						

5. To log additional content for every log entry in the contour.log file, scroll to the bottom of the page and select **Enable profiler** under Profiling.

Profiling		
The profiler is di	abled	
Enable profiler		
Access Log		
Access logging	s disabled	
Enable access logging		
Thread Dump		
Dump threads information	on	

Profiling is indicated in the log file as the [jama.Profiler] package. Here is a sample log entry:



 To capture information for all user requests and all locked-out users in Jama Connect, select Access log, then select Enable access logging. Information is captured in the contour.log file. Here is a sample log entry:

2014-08-29 16:24:59,370 INFO http-bio-8080-exec-17 [jama.AccessLog] - [3 ms] PRBDIJN9 1 - 083BBE5B1E8C481033DA7AFBBEF023A5 160 http://localhost:8080/contour/

7. To capture a one-time dump of the current running java threads being executed, select **Dump threads information** under Thread dump.

Information is captured in contour-threaddump.log.

This information is useful for identifying long running processes. If Jama Connect seems to hang, run a thread dump and send the log file to .

### Reconnect to the Wiris server (self-hosted only)

If your connection to the Wiris server is interrupted, you can fix the issue by modifying the Wiris settings, restarting your system, then returning the settings to their original values.

- 1. Modify the Wiris settings:
  - a. In the Admin Console, select Settings > WIRIS Connection Settings.
  - b. Select Use custom Wiris connection.
  - c. Make the following changes:
    - Wiris Host Add "xx" to the end of the string
    - Wiris Path Add "xx" to the end of the string
    - Wiris Port Change to 44311
  - d. Select **Save** and restart your system.
- 2. Test the connection. Use Jama Connect in a field that calls the Wiris MathType Editor:
  - a. In Jama Connect, select **Projects**, and select the item you want to modify.
  - b. From the Add drop-down menu, select **New item > Text**.
  - c. In the Add item window, select the Math Editor icon.
  - d. Add an equation using the equation editor. As expected, this action fails.
- 3. In the KOTS Admin Console, reset the modified Wiris setting to the original values.
- 4. Select Save and restart your system.
- 5. Test the connection. Use Jama Connect in a field that calls the Wiris MathType Editor:
  - a. In Jama Connect, select the item you want to modify.
  - b. From the Add drop-down menu, select **New item > Text**.
  - c. In the Add item window, select the Math Editor icon.
  - d. Add an equation using the equation editor. This action now succeeds

# **Organization administrator**

The organization admin controls all aspects of configuring Jama Connect, including its users [573], groups, content [550], collaborations [627], and integrations [641]. It is a role that can be assigned to an individual or a group.

Most organization admin tasks are accessed under **Admin** in the top-level navigation. This heading is only visible to users with organization admin privileges.



When you edit configurations on the organization admin pages, many changes require you to sign out before they take effect. By default, Jama Connect creates a group called Organization Admin and assigns it Administrator and Manage project rights to the organization.

### Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream

The Admin Activity stream provides an audit trail of updates made by organization and project admins.

To open the Activity stream panel, select **Admin**, then click the **Activity stream** button on the right side of the panel.

Search for activities by entering the search term, like the name of a pick list or the user who performed the action.

	ROJECTS REVIEWS RISK ADMIN	Acme Works test Admin Teel.   Reports -   Help   Log Ou		
Organization Project «	Organization admin Details	Heip		
<ul> <li>Details</li> <li>Categories</li> <li>Editor templates</li> <li>Item types</li> <li>Jama Connect Advisor</li> <li>License</li> <li>Lookup matrices</li> <li>OSLC</li> <li>Permissions</li> <li>Pick lists</li> <li>Plugins</li> <li>Relationships</li> <li>Review center</li> <li>Risk management.</li> <li>System health report</li> </ul>	Details Organization name: Description: Return email: Base URL: Rich text image max width (px): Rich text image max width (px): Allow users to subscribe others: Allow users to subscribe others: Allow users to mute subscriptions: Allow non-administrators to delete items/containers: Allow project administrators access to all users and organizatic Include unexecuted test runs in status calculations (not retroact) Allow multiple items with the same Global ID in a single project Java Date Time Format: Global ID prefix			
Corroups	Global ID next counter value Document view Baselines status The baselines status has been configured. The assigned pick list can't	a few seconds apo (= Admin Test edited pick tist Baseline Edited value Unassigned: Color updated		
	MathType and ChemType editor format  PNG: Normal (300 dpl) quality is recommended for exporting	a minule ago		

### **Managing content**

There are many areas of the application that require organization admin permissions to set up and maintain content for the broader group of users.

Some common tasks for managing content on an admin level include:

- · Change Global ID
- Configure baseline status
- · Unlock items locked by another user
- · Configure reuse and synchronization

### **Change Global ID**

A Global ID is a unique identifier of items that are connected through synchronization. While every item has its own unique ID [648], two items that are synchronized can share a Global ID.

You can change or add a prefix, as well as an optional item type key, in front of the Global ID assigned to items.



#### NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

1. Select Admin > Details, then click Edit.

🙏 🏠 STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK ADMIN	Acree Works Admin Test   Reports -   Help   Log Out
Organization Project **	Organization admin	Help
Details	Details	<i>∽</i> ∕~ 65
Categories		C Edit) @
<ul> <li>Editor templates</li> <li>Item types</li> </ul>	Organization name:	Acme Works

- 2. Select whether to allow multiple items with the same Global ID in a single project.
  - Yes One item can be synchronized with other items in the same project.
  - No (Default) Items can only be synchronized to items in other projects.

Organization Project	Crganization admin	Hel
🚊 Details	Details	-1,433
Categories		C Edit (
T Editor templates		
item types	Organization name:	
Jama Connect Advisor	Description:	
License	Return email:	
Lookup matrices	Base URL:	
OOSLC	Rich text image max width (px):	0
Permissions	Rich text image max height (px):	0
E Pick lists	Allow users to subscribe others:	Yes
許 Plugins	Allow users to mute subscriptions:	Yes
C Relationships	Allow non-administrators to delete items/containers:	Yas
2 Reports	Allow project administrators access to all users and organization groups:	No
Review center	Include unersecuted test runs is status selevistices (not estrastical)	his
Risk management	include unexecuted test runs in status calculations (not retroactive).	NO
C Stream	Allow multiple items with the same Global ID in a single project:	Yes
* System health report	Java Date Time Format:	MM/dd/yyyy hh:mm:ss a z
💰 User groups	Global ID prefix	GID edit
🚨 Users	Global ID next counter value	edit
Workflow	Document view	Enabled Configure
	Baselines status	Baseline status Disable
	Le The baselines status has been configured. The assigned pick list can't be changed. The baselines status has been configured.	aselines status can only be enabled or disabled.
	MathType and ChemType editor format	PNG: Small (96 dpi) Configure
	PNG: Normal (300 dpl) quality is recommended for exporting	

3. To change the prefix for your Global ID, click Edit next to Global ID prefix.

Edit global ID prefix		
Apply update to the	Global ID Prefix. Global ID numbering will not be updated.	
Global ID Prefix Value:	GID Current prefix: GID Include Item Type Key (Example: US-REQ-111)	
	Apply prefix to existing items (Note: this process may take some time)	Cancel

- 4. In the window that opens, enter a new value for the prefix and select the options you need.
  - Change only future prefixes Change the Global ID Prefix and click Update. No current IDs are affected. Future IDs include the new prefix.

• Change ALL prefixes (past and future) — Select Apply prefix to existing items, then click Update. All existing prefixes are changed if they match the old prefix, and new IDs contain the new prefix. If the past Global IDs didn't have a prefix, the new prefix is appended to those IDs.

Old Prefix	Old ID	New Prefix	New ID
US	US-REQ-1023	NZ	NZ-REQ-1023
US	EU-REQ-1023	NZ	EU-REQ-1023
No prefix	REQ-1023	NZ	NZ-REQ-1023
No prefix	US-1023	NZ	NZ-US-1023
US	US-REQ-1023	No prefix	REQ-1023
US	US-1023	No prefix	1023
US	1023	No prefix	1023

- Include item type in the global ID Enter a new prefix value and select Include Item Type Key, then click Update .
- 5. To change the value for the Global ID next counter, click **Edit** next to **Global ID next counter**.
- Set the counter that assigns Global IDs, then click Update. If you set the counter to a value that's being used, the counter uses the next available ID as its starting point when the next item is assigned.

Your changes appear on the Organization Details page.

# **Configure baselines status**

Once you create a baseline-specific pick list, you can enable the baseline status to be able to select the pick list. The baselines status pick list can't be edited after you configure it.

From **Admin > Pick lists**, you can edit the pick list that's in use but you can't delete it. You can, however, disable the pick list when you no longer need it.



### NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

#### To enable and configure the baselines status:

- 1. Create a dedicated pick list that is used only for baselines.
- 2. Select Admin > Details, then next to the Baselines status option, click Configure.

	Ornanization admin	н
Organization Project		
🧾 Details	Details	-^-311
Categories		Edit
Editor templates	Organization name:	Acme Works
ltem types	Description:	
🟓 License	Return email:	noreply@my.domain.com
H Lookup matrices	Base URL:	https://iama-ux-usability.iamasoftware.net
O OSLC	Rich text image max width (px):	0
Permissions	Rich text image may height (px):	0
E Pick lists		Van
Plugins	Allow users to subscribe others.	Tes
Relationships	Allow users to mute subscriptions:	Yes
Peports	Allow non-administrators to delete items/containers:	Yes
Review center	Allow project administrators access to all users and organization groups:	No
Risk management	Include unexecuted test runs in status calculations (not retroactive):	No
Stream	Allow multiple items with the same Global ID in a single project:	Yes
1 System health report	Math and Chemical symbols use SVG format:	No
🕹 User groups	The SVGs used by the equation editor are safely negrated in a known workflow fro	a trusted source
S Users	S The SVGs used by the equation control are safely generated in a known worknow no	
Workflow	Java Date Time Format:	MM/dd/yyyy hh:mm:ss a z
	Global ID prefix	GID edit
	Global ID next counter value	58164 edit
	Baselines status	Disabled Configure

3. In the Configure baselines status window that opens, select **Enable baselines status pick list**, then choose the baseline pick list you created.

C	onfigure baselines status	10
6	Enable baselines status pick list	
в	ASELINES STATUS PICK LIST:	
ſ	Select pick list	0
	Basoline	10
1	Document Status	
	Enabler	
	FMEA - Detection	
41	FMEA - Occurrence	
Ĩ	FMEA - Severity	
а.	Lookup matrix	
m	Megan's pantry food staples	
01	Priority	
4	Problem Characterization	stic
11	Project Group	
	Project Status	
e	Relationship Status Type	
x	Requirement Priority	
	Requirement Type	
0	SEMI - Verification Type	
	Status	
U	Story State	
	Test 2	
eş.	Verification/Validation Method	la

4. Click Save.

Once the pick list is enabled, users can apply this option when editing a baseline. The pick list values appear in the Baselines List View and View details headers.

### Unlock items locked by another user

You must have organization and project admin permissions to unlock items that are locked by another user.



### NOTE

Project admins can only batch unlock items from List View and Single Item View.

#### To unlock items that others have locked as an organization admin:

- 1. Select the link with your name in the header to open the **My profile** window. This button is disabled if you selected **Admin** in the header.
- 2. Select the My locked items tab and select Show All Locked Items.

My Pi	rofile						
My	Details	My Subscr	iptions My Locke	d Items	System Locked Items	Review Center	
					0	Show All Locked Items	Unlock 🕏
	-	Locked On	Locked By	Name			ID
0		01/30/2018	Sam User	Remo	te Control		RAD-SR-1
3	0	02/13/2018	Sam User	Displa	y Patient X-rays		MK-TSTRN-15
3	ß	02/13/2018	Peter Russo	Chive			SBX-TSTRN-1
1	1	10/25/2017	Sam User	Adults	25-34		CL3_2-MR-4
0		01/29/2018	Sam User	Ease	of Use		RAD-SR-2
3		02/22/2018	Sam User	Andro	id Games		CL3-VER-18
E	2	11/08/2017	Laura Andrews	Maxim	num of 2 operators		UAV-TC-3
*	1	08/12/2016	Becky Cariton	Scrum	Team 2 (Subscription Ser	vices Hooligans)	SAFE-CMP-7
2		02/16/2018	Sam User	Testin	g with clEAR 1		CL3-VER-3
11	P	age 1 of		Show: 2	20 ¥	Display	ring items 1 - 9 of
Priva	icy Pol	icy					Close

3. Locate and select the item in the list you want to unlock. then click **Unlock**.

#### To unlock items that others have locked as a project or organization admin:

#### **From List View**

1. Select the item you want to unlock, then click **Batch edit**.

🙏 🏠 STREAM PROJE	CTS REVIE	WS RISK ADMIN		Acme Works test	Admin Test   Reports 👻   Help   Log Out			
Semiconductor Project 2.0 🖻				Suarch	Project • Ø Advanced search			
Project - Change project 🔣	Learn more	Dashboard: Semicond	luctor Project	SI_S2_P-P_REQ-19 Proce	Processor 👻			
Explorer     Add      Constructor Project 2.0     Product     product     product	Product	Product Requirements SI_S SOF View details	2_P-FLD-7	Batch e	Subscribe - Email			
Product Requirements	= 10 8	i ▼ ⊡• \$•	C 3 01 16	i selected				
Processor	8	Name	•	Categories	Description			
Processor Speed AB2	1	Processor Core 1 ABD	<b>9</b> 4	2022 Truck A / 2023 EV / 2023 Se	The product shall use an ARM Cortex A9 p			
Coreprocessor 2	¥ 🖻	Processor Speed AB2	9 2		The processor shall operate at up to 1GHz			
Data Cache	0.6	Processor Speed	9 1	2022 Truck A / 2023 EV	The processor shall operate at up to 1GHz.			
L2 Cache		Coreprocessor 2	.0	2022 Truck A / 2023 EV	QA			
a		Processor Core 1			The product shall use an ARM Cortex A9 p			

- 2. In the Batch update window, select Locked Status > Unlock all items, then click Next.
- 3. (Optional) Add a comment and notify users.
- 4. Click **Commit**.

#### From Single Item View

• Select the item you want to unlock, then click the Unlock item icon.





# TIP

If you are an organization or project admin, you can also access the system-locked items tab to unlock system-locked items [555].

#### Unlock system-locked items

Anyone can *view* the list of system-locked items, regardless of permissions. However, only an organization or project admin can unlock items that are system-locked.

- · Organization admins can unlock all system-locked items.
- Project admins can unlock only system-locked items where they have admin permissions to those items.

#### To unlock system-locked items:

- 1. Select your name in the header to open the My Profile window.
- 2. Select System Locked Items to see all items that were automatically locked [234] (blue lock).

My P	rofile		-				
My	Details	My Subscr	iptions	My Locked Items	System Locked Items	Review Center	and a second second
							🔓 Unlock 😰
	-	Locked On	Name				ID
1	2	10/01/2018	Dust 1	Test			CL3-VER-27
1	0	10/01/2018	Under	water immersion			CL3-VER-26
1	۵.	10/01/2018	ios vi	alidation			CL3-VER-29
.84	(   P	age 1 of	t   🕒	🕅   🎘   Show: 2	0 🔹		Displaying items 1 – 3 of 3
Priva	icy Pol	icy					Close

3. Select the items you want to unlock, then click the **Unlock** icon in the top right corner of the window.

### Configuring reuse and synchronization

You must have write permissions [589] to modify items through synchronization. Items with a user lock [554] or system lock [555] can't be modified through synchronization.



# NOTE

You must have organization admin [549] permissions to complete this task.

As an organization admin you can:

- · Grant permissions to a reuse admin [589]
- Configure global ID [550]
- Sync or remove Compare Views [336]
- Enable synchronization of widgets [611]

#### View a system health report

The system health report is an optional feature that notifies you of areas in the application that can affect performance and user experience.

#### Important considerations

- Projects that are too large, reports that contain too many items, and syncing too many items at a time are just a few of the things that can slow Jama Connect down and cause problems. This report can be emailed to designated users weekly.
- We recommend that reviews contain fewer than 250 items. This threshold is in place to mitigate any performance issues that could come from a review with an excessive amount of items.



### NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to view the system health report.

To view a system health report:

- 1. To view the report, select Admin > Organization, then select System health report.
- 2. Select Add or change recipients to specify who receives the report.



3. To set a threshold for each of the areas (Projects, Reviews, Reports, and Test Plans), click **Edit the threshold**.

### Plugins

Plugins provide tools that help speed up the process for setting up Jama Connect.



### NOTE

You must be an organization admin to complete this task.

You can install two plugins:

- User import plugin [562]
- Import relationship plugin [557]

#### **Configure the Import Relationships Plugin**

The Import Relationships Plugin helps you batch create relationships between existing items in the application.



# NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

#### Important considerations

- Before you use the Import Relationships Plugin in Jama Connect, you must first create a direct relationship between the items you plan to link. Otherwise, the linking might fail. For example, when you link *use case item types* to *test case item types*, you must first define a relationship rule for that project. For more information, see Set up relationship rules [622].
- For information on how to use the Import Relationships Plugin, see the Relationship Plugin Tutorial

#### To configure the plugin:

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Plugins > Add plugin entry.

Organization	Project	*	Organization adm	in				Help
📃 Details			Plugins					- <b>√</b> - 279
Categories							1	X Add plugin entry
Editor templa	ates		Name	Notes	Plugin Type	Plugin Class	Plugin Params	Active
ltem types			User Import	Test	Import			true
License								
🖪 Lookup matri	ices							
O OSLC								
Permissions								
E Pick lists								
Plugins								

2. In the Add plugin entry window that opens, enter the following information and click Save.

Add plugin entry		×
Name:		
Enabled:		
Class:		
Туре:	×	
Parameters:	Event	
	Import	
Plugin Notes:		
	Save Cancel	

- Name Enter a name you visible to users. For example, Import Relationships.
- Enabled Make the plugin available to users.
- **Class (case sensitive)** Enter the name of the object defined in the source code. For a single project enter:

com.jamasoftware.contour.plugin.jama.ImportRelationships

For cross-project imports enter:

#### com.jamasoftware.contour.plugin.jama.ImportRelationshipsCrossProject

- Type Import
- Parameters Set relationship parameters [559]
- Plugin notes Add any notes you have here. This isn't visible to end users.
- 3. When the information is correct, click **Save**.



TIP

For a sample entry of a cross-project import, see Set relationship parameters [559].

Add Plugin Entry		×
Name:	Requirements to Use Case Plugin	
Enabled:		
Class;	com.jamasoftware.contour.plugin.jama.ImportRelationships	
Type:	Import	*
Parameters:	parentType=24; childType=25; parentField=documentKey; childField=documentKey;	
Plugin Notes:	Relate upstream Requirements to downstream Use Cases using the Unique ID.	
	Save Cancel	

### Setting relationship parameters

Depending on whether you want to import relationships in a single project or multiple projects, there are four or six parameters to define.



### NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to set relationship parameters.

Cross-project import sample entry

Edit plugin entry			X
Name:	Test Cross Project		
Enabled:	0		
Class:	com.jamasoftware.contour.plugin.jama.Import	RelationshipsC	rossProject
Туре:	Import		*
Parameters:	parentType=140; childType=143; parentField=legacy_id; childField=legacy_id; parentProjectid=24; childProjectid=22;		
Plugin Notes:	Test		
		Save	Cancel

These parameters are used when configuring the Import Relationships Plugin [557]:

- parentType: Defines which item type to use for the parent (upstream) relationship.
- childType: Defines which item type to use for the child (downstream) relationship.
- parentField: Defines which field to use to find the the parent (upstream) item.
- childField: Defines which field to use to find the child (downstream) item.
- parentProjectId: Defines the project that contains the parent (upstream) item. Only for the cross project plugin.
- childProjectId: Defines the project that contains the child (downstream) item. Only for the cross project plugin.

Parameters can be written in any order, as long as they follow correct formatting. Each parameter is case sensitive and requires a semicolon at the end.

### Gathering parentType and childType values

To specify the item Types, you need the API IDs of the item Types to be related. You can find the API ID under **Admin > Item Types**.

Organization Project	Orga	nization admin						
E Details	Iten	n types						
Categories								Add item type
Editor templates	Image	Display	Plural	Key	Description	API-	System	Action
item types		A field using a lookup matrix	A field using a lookup matrix	1		143	No	Edit   Views   Dele
P License	D	Attachment	Attachments	ATT	Attachment Type	22	Yes	Views
H Lookup matrices	Ď	Block Requirement	Block Requirements	BLKRQ		97	No	Edit   Views   Dele
O OSLC		Change Request	Change Requests	CR		28	No	Edit   Views   Dele
Permissions	Ē	Component	Components	CMP	Component type	30	Yes	Edit   Views
Pick lists		Core	Core	CORE	Item Type used to map fields as "core" fields, that we can show across Item Types	34	Yes	Views
Beleficerbler	T	Datasheet	Datasheet	DATA		100	No	Edit   Views   Dele
Helationships	*	Defect	Defects	BUG		27	No	Edit   Views   Dele
2 Reports	m	Design Description	Design Descriptions	DES		95	No	Edit   Views   Dele
Review center	8	Disabled field	Disabled fields	dfld		133	No	Edit   Views   Dele
Risk management	9	FMEA	FMEAs	FMEA		132	No	Edit   Views   Dela
C Stream	6	Folder	Folders	FLD	Folder type	32	Yes	Edit   Views
# System health report		Information	Information	INFO		43	No	Edit   Views   Dela
User groups	8	Megan's Complex Item	Megan's Complex Items	MSB007	All the types	134	No	Edit   Views   Dele
Susers	×	Megan's other item type with the really long name that just keeps going on and on and on and on and on	Megan's other item types with the really long name that just keeps going on and on and on and on and on	LONG		137	No	Edit   Views   Dele
		Megan's type	Megan's types	МТК		135	No	Edit   Views   Dele
		New type for testing	Tests	A		140	No	Edit   Views   Dele
	100	Package Specification	Package Specifications	PKG SPEC		57	No	Edit   Views   Dele

For example, if you wanted to create relationships for upstream Requirements to downstream Use Cases, you join the item Type with the corresponding API-ID:

parentType=24;

childType=25;

### Gathering parentField and childField values

The CSV file used for import needs to contain an identifying field for each item, such as the Name or Global ID. To specify which field in the parent and child item will be used for this identification, use the system Field value. You can see which fields are available to use under Admin > Item Types > [Highlight the item type to be used] > Edit.

A STREAM	PRO.	IECTS F	REVIEWS F	risk	ADMIN				Acr	ne V	Vorks	Admi	n Tusl   Re	ports -	I B	lêlp   l	.og Ou
Organization Project «	Orga	anization ad	min														Help
🚊 Details	Iter	m types														1-3	158
Categories			Add item type	Item t	ype fields for	Attachr	nent						of t	Ļ	×	GAC	ld fiel
Editor templates	Image	Display	Plural	Ordet	Label	Infotip	Unique Field	Field	Control	Pick	Calculation	Read	Allow API	Requir	ed i	Suspec	t Svr
Len types		A field using	Statement of the local division of the local				Name	lybe		List	100000000000000000000000000000000000000	Only	Overwrite	1000			
P License		a lookup	A field using a lookup matrix	1	Attachment		attachment	Intege	r)							e.	
He Lookup matrices	50	Attachment	Attachments	2	Global ID		globalid	Text Field				1		4			
OSLC	er.	Auschment	Attachments		Mama			Text									
Permissions		Block Requirement	Block Requirements	3	Name		name	Field	<b>T</b> -4					¥		×	*
E Pick lists	9	Change	Change	4	Description		description	Box	Box						18	2	*
dia mandri di		Request	Requests	5	Test		date2	Date				4	*				

For example, if you wanted to use the ID (also known as the Unique ID) for your parentField and childField, your parameters need to join the field type with the field value:

parentField=documentKey;

childField=documentKey;

# Gathering parentProjectId and childProjectId values

To specify which projects the parent and child items are associated with, you need the API-IDs of both projects. You can get the project API-ID under Admin > Project > [select the project to be used] > API-ID.

Organization	Project	~	Project admin							
Add - Actions		\$	Clear 3 He	aring Aid						
😑 🙆 Recently Vie	wed Projects	1								
Clear 3 H	learing Aid		- 3 Itam Types	Rélease List	Users	Groups	Project Permissions	Workflow	Attac	
a Quick Lo	ans		tel I ann Spee	I a success and		Il seconde I	a set an an and a set	1		
A Duplicate	e of Clear 3 H	earing .								
Corporat	e Library									
Radar			Project Key:				CL4			
🗄 🖂 Achiever UA	W (ARCHIVE	D)								
🗄 🛄 Clear Hearin	ng Aids		Name:				Clea	ar 3 Hearing	Aid	
Clear Portfo	lio Group									
Corporate L	ibrary		Description:							
E Delete 2			Distant Mana	5						
Delete 3			Project Mana	ger:						
🕀 🛄 Delete this f	older		Spansor							
🗄 🛄 Drag and Dr	rop Test		oponaot.							
Buplicate of	Planet Expre	ss Deliv	Objective:	Objective:						
Aacaroni Pr	oject	52.8								
🕀 🛄 Medical Dev	ice Examples	3	in the second							
🗄 🦲 Medikiosk			Start Date:							
New										
A New			End Date:							
New			Ctatua				Acti	0		
New			Status:				Acu			
New folder			Category				New	Developm	ent	
A Planet Express Delivery			oalegory.				1404	Laterophi		
🗄 🛄 Quickloans			API-ID:				25			
🗐 🦲 Radar										

For example, if you wanted to import relationships between a parent project with API-ID 20258 and a child project with API-ID 31548, your parameters need to join the item with the corresponding project API-ID:

parentProjectId=20258;

childProjectId=31548;

### **Configure the User Import Plugin**

With the User Import Plugin, you can add multiple users at once by importing a spreadsheet. Imports don't delete users from Jama Connect.



# NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

#### Important considerations

If the import fails it might be because:

- · A user that already exists was set to add (rather than update).
- A user that doesn't exist was set to update (rather than add).
- One or more of the records is incorrect.
- A required field was missing.

#### To configure the plugin:

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Plugins > Add plugin entry.

Organization Pro	ject 🔣	Organization admi	n				Help
E Details		Plugins					- <b>№</b> 279
Categories						1	X Add plugin entry
T Editor templates		Name	Notes	Plugin Type	Plugin Class	Plugin Params	Active
ltem types		User Import	Test	Import			true
License							
E Lookup matrices							
O OSLC							
Permissions							
E Pick lists							
Plugins							

2. In the Add plugin entry window that opens, enter the following information and click Save.

Add plugin entry	$\times$
Name:	
Enabled:	0
Class:	
Туре:	×
Parameters:	Event
	Import
Plugin Notes:	
	Save Cancel

- Name User Import
- Enabled —Make the plugin available to users
- Class (case-sensitive) Enter the name of the object defined in the source code:

## com.jamasoftware.contour.plugin.jama.UserImportPlugin

- Type Event or Import
- **Parameters** Leave this field blank
- Plugin Notes Add any notes you have here. This isn't visible to the end user.
- 3. Create a CSV document with no header row that contains the following values in columns A through K:
  - Username If LDAP or CROWD is enabled, the username must match what is listed in the directory.
  - First name
  - Last name
  - Email
  - Password
  - Title
  - Location
  - Phone number
  - License type Values must be one of the following:

Value	Meaning
Ν	Named creator
С	Float creator
FC	Float collaborator
S	Stakeholder
R	Reserved collaborator
V	Float reviewer
RV	Reserved reviewer
NV	Named reviewer
TR	Test runner

• Add/Update — Values must be one of the following:

Value	Meaning
Add	Add as a new user
Update	Update an existing user

- Company
- **Groups** If a user belongs to multiple groups you can add them in columns L and up.

For example:

A	В	Ċ	D	E	Ē	G	H	()	1	ĸ	L	M
kmaxwell@redside.com	Katie	Maxwell	kmaxwell@redside.com	Alpha1@#	Dr.	Central	555-123-1234	с	Add	Company		1
suser@redside.com	Sam	User	suser@redside.com	Betal@#	Mr.	West	555-123-1235	С	Update	Company	Organization Admin	Engineering
bflogeets@redside.com	Baxter	Flogeets	bflogeets@redside.com	Gammal@#	Sir	East	555-123-1236	NV	Add	Company	Development	

#### 4. Select **Project > Import > Custom import**.

Project - Change project			Learn more
Subscribe to all items Subscribe others to all Items	6	] ¢ ()	Clear 3
Traceability	*	rements	Relationshi
🔒 Import	Þ		irt
Detects System Requirements		Cust	om import

5. In the **Custom Import** window that opens, enter the following information:

Select a Destination:	Select a destination	9	
Select Custom mporter:	Select a custom	*	
Field delimiter:		*	
Optional Encoding:		~	
Select file to mport:	Choose File No file chosen		

- Select a destination This is a required field. Your selection doesn't affect the outcome.
- Select Custom Importer User Import
- Field Delimiter Comma
- Optional Encoding UTF8
- Select file to import Choose the CSV file you created in step 3, that contains the list of users to be imported.
- 6. Click Import.

Each user that's added with the user import plugin receives a welcome email with the Jama Connect URL.

### Upload custom reports or exports

You can upload reports [414] or exports [344] so that other users can access them.

**Self-hosted** — For BIRT and Velocity reports, only self-hosted customers with system, organization, or report admin permissions can complete this task.

#### Important considerations

- If uploading a Velocity or Office Template export that uses preselected (context-sensitive) data in the main project view, the exports appear under **Exports > View all export options**.
- If uploading Velocity reports that pull data at a project or cross-project level, the exports appear under **Reports** in the Jama Connect header. For more information, read about Jama Connect and Velocity here.
- Report criteria is unique to each report. Before uploading a report or export, check with the person who created it about the best settings to use.
- For templates with Microsoft Word or HTML formats, you can also export to PDF. For Velocity and HTML templates, PDF export results might vary. For more information, see Quick Start: HTML Templates for Velocity PDF Reports.
- For Office Templates, any user with a creator license can add a custom export [353], which appears under Export > View all export options.

#### To upload custom reports or exports:

- 1. To add or edit a report:
  - (Self-hosted only) For BIRT reports, log in as root user [506] and select Reports.
  - For Velocity or Office template reports, select Admin > Reports.
- 2. Click Add report in the top right corner.
- 3. In the **Add/Edit Report** window that opens, define the report. Available options depend on the type of report you choose.

dd / Edit Report		
*Report Name:	Report sample	
*Report Type:	Velocity 👻	
*Report Formats:	HTML	
	PDF	
	Microsoft Word	
	Microsoft Excel	
Excel Format:	XLS format (legacy)	
	SLSX format	
Data Access:	Limit data availability based on user permissions	
	Allow all data to be reported on regardless of user permi	ssion
Restrict to Group:	Organization Admin	*
Report File Name:	Browse No file selected.	
Description:		
'Scope:	Organization	
Organization:	Acme Works	
Visible to Users:	0	
Context Sensitive:	0	
Class name and path (optional):		
Criteria:	Add Report Criterion	0
		Save C.

- **Report Name** Enter a name so that others can identify the custom report or export template.
- Report Type Select BIRT, Velocity , or MS Office Template.
- Report Formats Select HTML, PDF, Microsoft Word, or Microsoft Excel.
- Excel Format Select XLS format (legacy) or XLSX format.
- Data Access Select Limit data availability or Allow all data to be reported on regardless
  of user permission.
- Restrict to Group Select whether and how to limit access (by user permissions or user group) to run custom reports.
- **Report File Name** Click **Browse** and select the report or export template to upload. BIRT reports have file extension .rptdesign and Velocity reports have file extension .vm.
- **Description** Enter an optional description to define the output.
- Scope Define whether the report or export template is available to all users (Organization) or only to users in a particular project (**Project**). Default for Jama Connect reports is System.

- Organization Select the organization from the drop-down menu.
- Visible to Users Select Visible to Users if you want other users to see the report.
- Context Sensitive Select Context Sensitive if you have an export that uses preselected (context-sensitive) data in the main project view.
   This export appears in the window that opens when users select Exports > View all export options.
- Class name and path Enter the class name and path for custom plug-ins for BIRT or Velocity reports. Otherwise, leave blank.
- 4. In the Criteria section, click + to add report criteria.

Criteria:	Location	~	Display:	Location	Name:	report_location	
	Release					0	
	Location	1					
	Baseline Parameter String Parameter						
	Date Parameter		1			Save	Cancel
	Boolean		-				
	Test Plan						
tryte	Review					System	

- a. From the **Select Parameter Type** drop-down menu, select the type of data you want to include.
  - Release Select the project release parameters as needed.
  - Location Select a location for each parameter.
  - Baseline Parameter Select one baseline for each baseline parameter.
  - String Parameter Enter the string parameter.
  - Date Parameter Enter the date.
  - Boolean Select True or False. The value is sent to the reporting engine.
  - **Test Plan** Select a test plan from the list of test plans in the selected project. Jama Connect passes the database ID to the report.
  - Review Select a review from the list of reviews in the selected project. Jama Connect
    passes the ID to the report.
- b. Under **Display**, enter the label you want users to see when publishing the report and exporting from Jama Connect.
- c. Under **Name**, enter a unique case-sensitive name that is passed to the report or export template.

When you publish a report or export Jama Connect content, these parameters are displayed in alphabetical order by the name field, not in the order shown in the report setup screen.



#### IMPORTANT

If you change the Name criteria, you must also change the reference to the criteria in your report or export template. Otherwise, the report or export template fails.

5. Click **Save** to upload the report or export template and save your changes.

The report or export is saved and appears in the Reports table.

### Managing relationships

As an organization admin you can use several tasks to manage relationships.

- · Edit relationship widget [611] in an item type
- Set the relationship types [568]
- Configure the Import Relationships Plugin [557]
- Set up relationship rules [571] at an organizational level

### **Configure relationships**

Before setting up relationships (traceability) between your artifacts, you need to set up the types and options available to users.



# NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Relationships > Edit.

🙏 🏠 STREAM	PROJECTS	REVIEWS RISK ADMIN		Acme Works	Aamin Tust   Reports -   Help   Log Ou
Organization Project	« Organization Relation	<sup>admin</sup> ships			Help -V- 285
Categories	Relationshi	p Options			Edit
🔜 item types	Show St	atus in Relationship Grid7:	Yes		
Subscription Stress OSLC	Allow re	ite in Relationship Grid 7: ationship changes between two locked	Yes		
Permissions	iterio in				
E Pick lists	Relationshi	p Types			2911X00
Plugins	Order	Display		Show Note	Show Status Default
Selationships	1	Related to		true	true 🗐
Reports	2	Dependent on		false	false
Review center	3	Derived from		false	false
and the second sec	4	Mitigated by		true	true

- 2. To change the relationship options from **No** to **Yes**, select each option:
  - Show Status in Relationship Grid?
  - Show Note in Relationship Grid?
  - Allow relationship changes between two locked items?

**Note** and **Status** columns are added to the table in the bottom panel. The **Note** and **Status** fields are only editable when the relationship type is set to **Show Note** and **Show Status**.

- 3. Configure relationship types:
  - a. In the Relationships widget of an item, double-click on a relationship to edit its type, direction, status, and note.
  - b. Use the toolbar at the top of this panel to edit, add, or delete types.
  - c. Include a description to specify how and when this type is used.
- 4. Set up relationship rules [571].

#### Set relationship types

One part of the initial traceability setup is configuring the available relationship types.



#### NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to set relationship types.

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Relationships.
- 2. Under **Relationship Types**, use the icons to add, edit (pencil), delete (X) or reorder (arrows) relationship types.

Organization Project	Organization	admin				F
📋 Details	Relation	ships				-V- 285
Categories	Relationshi	p Options				Ca Edit
item types  License Lookup matrices O OSLC  Permissions	Show St Show No Allow re items?:	atus in Relationship Grid7: hte in Relationship Grid7: lationship changes between two locker	Yes Yes <sup>1</sup> Yes			
∃ Pick lists	Relationshi	p Types			29	11×00
Plugins	Order	Display		Show Note	Show Status	Default
Relationships	1	Related to		true	true	-
Reports	2	Dependent on		false	false	
Review center	3	Derived from		false	faise	
					1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	

3. When adding a new relationship type, enter a display name and description. The description is only visible in this edit window.

Display:		
Description:		
Show Note:	0	
Show Status:	2	

(Optional) Select Show Note and Show Status to allow users who create a new relationship using this relationship type to enter a note and a status for that relationship.
 Status and notes are visible any time you reopen the Add/edit relationship window. Also, when notes and status are enabled under Relationship Options...

Relationship Options		Edit
Show Status in Relationship Grid?;	Yes	
Show Note in Relationship Grid7:	Yes	

... you see them in the bottom panel of Single Item View when **Relationships** is selected.

🔒 Stakeholder F	Requirem Market Require	amonts	MB_SP-PS-15		View all locked items	(9) Subscribe •	Email
Support H	ligh Level Opera Requirement + Modifi	ating ed 05	g Systems /10/2022 03:28:2	V4 -	1	B-+ €	Î
* 2					0 - 0		0
PROJECT ID MB_SP-PS-	°. 15						0.3
GLOBAL ID:						1.6	0
GID-57212							0
RELEASE:							
Table Layout	Visual Layout				📾 Relate Item(s) 📝 Edit	t - I V 🖹 🤇	) 🔲 Hic
ID	Name 🗻	E	Туре	Status	Note	Suspect	
🗉 1 Upstream Ite	6710						
SI-PS-24	Support High Level Op	合	Derived from			Yes: Clear	1
🖃 3 Downstream	n itoms						
SI_SOL-P_R	Coprocessor		Derived from			Yes: Clear	
MB_SP-DATA	New item	F	Related to	Low		Yes: Clear	
SI_J1-P_REQ	Processor Speed		Derived from			No	

You can also filter by status or note in an impact analysis [317].

Apply C Reset	144	O Downstream	ALL	👻 🛛 💟 U	pstream ALL		÷	Run
Verified by		Source Item(s)						
		Project	ID	Name	Туре	Assigned	Туре	Path
Caused by		SANDBOX	SBX-SR-1	Waterproof while swimming and showering	System Requirement		Source Item	SBX-SR-1
Allocated to		Direct Relation	ship					
Validated By		Project	ID	Name	Тура	Assigned	Туре	Path
Verified By		SANDBOX	SBX- SUBSS-22	Environmental Resistance	Subsystem Requirement		Assimilated by	SBX-SR-1 -> SBX- SUBSS-22
Satisfied By								
Assimilated by								
Status:								
Low								
Medium								
🛛 Medium 🛛 High								
Medium High Note:								

5. If you delete a relationship type, choose a replacement type for affected relationships.

Delete Relationship Type						
Relationships with this type will be replaced. Please choose a replacement value.						
Replacement Relationship	Related to	*				
туре.						
			_			
		Delete Cance	1			

#### Set up relationship rules

Relationship rules help maintain the project structure by preventing problems with relationships [307]. The rules help users know when relationships are required and in which directions.



### NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

When relationship rules are set up, the Relationship Status Indicator [308] alerts users to easily see when their relationships don't match the relationship rules.

Rule sets are created at the organization level, and can then be applied to one or more projects.

#### To set up relationship rules:

- 1. Decide with your team which relationships to include, the relationship types, and whether the rules are exclusive and included in coverage calculations for the project.
- 2. Select Admin > Organization > Relationships and scroll down to the section labeled Relationship Rule Configuration to see any previously created rule sets.

Organization Project	C Organization admin				He
Details	Relationships				-√- 285
Categories	Lass market and				-
Editor templates	Relationship Rule Configuration				0
ltem types	Semiconductor Project	polies to Semiconductor Samo	le Set × Semiconductor Framewo	rk × & 6 more	*
🔑 License	View All   C Add project	phillip in control dates camp		in , ja a maran	
H Lookup matrices	And the first firs				
OSLC			Block Requirement	e Verification	
Permissions	Product	Requirement System Architecture			Defect
E Pick lists	Se Stakeholder Requirement	Datasheet		Validation	
Plugins					
Relationships					
Reports					
Review center					
Risk management	Upstream	Downstream	Relationship Type	For Coverage	
Stream	Stakeholder Requirement	→ □ Product Require	ment Derived from	Yes	×
System health report					
User groups	Product Requirement	→	ture Derived from	Yes	×
Users	Stakeholder Requirement	+ 🖌 Validation	Dependent on	Yes	×
Workflow	Block Requirement	- Verification	Dependent on	No	~

- 3. Scroll to the bottom and select **Add rule set**.
  - a. Select New Rule Set and edit the name to describe your set.

lpstream	Downstream	Relationship Type	For Coverage		
Upstream Type 📩 -	Downstream Type	[Any]	0	Save Cancel	
Add relationship	t mentioned in this rule set	to be related to any item	type including th	nose in the rule set.	

b. Add a rule by selecting the item type for Upstream, Downstream, and Relationship type from the drop-down menus. Select **For coverage** if you want this relationship included for coverage.



# NOTE

Configure the same rule set across projects that share relationships. If you relate items across projects with different rule sets, the source project's rule set is applied.

c. Click Save.

As the rule is saved, it is added to the diagram, indicating the relationship.

d. (Optional) Click Add another relationship to include another relationship for this rule set.

As rules are created, the diagram is updated to show the relationships. Solid lines between items indicate a coverage (required) relationship. Dashed lines indicate relationships that aren't for coverage.





Once you've set relationship rules for a project, you can also view the relationship rules diagram in Single Item View or on the dashboard [157].

- 4. To delete a rule, select the **X** at the end of the rule's row. To delete an entire rule set, select the **X** at the top right of the rule set. After editing or deleting a rule, the rule set diagram is updated with any changes made.
- 5. Click **Add project** to apply the rule set to one or more projects. If a rule set is applied to a project with existing items, nothing changes in that project, even if the existing relationships break the new rules. Only future relationships are required to conform with the rule set.



# IMPORTANT

A project can have only one rule set. If a rule set has already been applied to a project and you try to apply another, the application removes the first rule set from the project and applies the second one.

6. (Optional) Select **Allow any item type not mentioned in this rule set...** to allow users to create relationships outside the rule set you applied to the project.

Rules are between item types. If you don't define a rule for a particular item type, that item type can have a relationship with anything (or nothing if the user chooses), even if the rule set is exclusive.

### Managing users and groups

Organization admins and user admins can can set up user access for your organization.

- Add user groups [574]
- Add users [576] and assign them to one or more groups
- Edit user details [582]
- Edit user subscriptions [582]
- Reset user password [583]
- Open projects and assign users and groups access rights [664] You can also assign this task to a project administrator.

# User groups

User groups are an efficient way to manage notifications, permissions, access, and actions for multiple users at a time.

A user can be assigned to multiple groups.

Groups allow you to efficiently accomplish many tasks:

- Grant access permissions [589]
- Grant role permissions [591]
- Initiate a review [166]
- Subscribe users to items [229]
- Notify users of changes [228]
- Send workflow notifications [653]
- · Grant access to projects workflow [615]
- Add signer roles to reviews [259]

# Types of groups

Jama Connect includes two types of groups:

- Organization group These groups have no project context and are available to all projects in the
  organization when adding permissions.
- Project group These groups are created in the context of a project and are available to that specific project when adding permissions.

Jama Connect comes with several predefined organization groups and project groups. For example, the group Organization Admin is a default group that has organization and project rights.

### Group names

You can create and name groups based on users' roles, permissions, or position. For example, you can name groups by:

- Internal structure Job title, work group
- · Access permission Read only, read/write
- Roles Reuse admin, review admin, project admin



### NOTE

If you use signer roles [259] for electronic signatures [257], signer roles for electronic signatures, the group name is used as the signer role.

### Actions for each admin type

The type of admin you are determines your ability to manage groups:

- Organization admin Add, delete, and edit user groups available to all projects.
- System admin Add groups.
- Project admin Add groups at a project level.
- User admin Manage members of a group where you are also a member.

#### Add a user group

With user groups, you can efficiently manage notifications, permissions, access, and actions for multiple users at a time. A user can be assigned to multiple groups.



### IMPORTANT

If this is a new installation of Jama Connect, create user groups before adding individual users.

### Important considerations

- · Organization admins and system admins can add user groups that are available to all projects.
- Only organization admins can delete user groups or make changes to an existing group's members, details, or subscriptions.
- Project admins can add groups at a project level [662].
- User admins can manage members of a group only where they are also a member. This restriction ensures they don't unintentionally provide or remove access to unknown or existing projects

#### To add a user group:

1. Select Admin > Organization > User groups, then select Add group.

rganization Project	Organization	on admin				Hel
L Details	User gr	oups			~	- 1,301
Categories				> C Add group	Search	1
Editor templates	Туре	Group Name	# of Users	Project	Actions	
Item types	Organization	Analysts	3		Members   Group   Subscriptions   D	Delete
	Organization	Company	13		Members   Group   Subscriptions   E	Jelete
Jama Connect Advisor	Organization	Development	3		Members   Group   Subscriptions   D	Delete
License	Organization	Organization Admin	14		Members   Group   Subscriptions   D	Delote
Lookup matrices	Organization	Product Managers	11		Members   Group   Subscriptions   D	Delete
LOSI C	Organization	QA	4		Members   Group   Subscriptions   D	Delete
0310	Organization	Read only	5		Members   Group   Subscriptions   D	Delete
Permissions	Organization	ReadWrite only	1		Members   Group   Subscriptions   C	Delete
Pick lists	Organization	rest group	2		members   Group   Subscriptions   E	Jelete
Plugins						
Relationships						
Reports						
Review center						
Risk management						
Stream						
System health report						
User groups						
Licore						



# NOTE

A user's membership in project groups determines which groups are available for signer roles.

2. In the **Add group** window that opens, enter a name and description for the group, and select members from the left column. Large lists are searchable.

Add group	×
*Group name: Description:	
Users	Add user
D Search Top 100 s	Clear all users
Admin Test	
Adrian	
Basic User	
Creator Float	
Privacy policy	Save Cancel

Selected users appear in the right column.

3. Click Save.

The new group appears in the list of user groups. Now, a review moderator can edit a review and give a user a signer role [259].

### Add a user

When you add one user to Jama Connect, you define the username and license type, assigne the user to groups, and optionally generate an email with the account information.

If you install and configure the user import plugin [562], you can add multiple users at the same time.

If this is a new installation of Jama Connect, add user groups [574] before adding users.



## NOTE

You must have organization admin or system admin permissions to complete this task.

#### To add a single user:

- Select Admin > Organization, then select Users to display a list of active users. If you don't see the user you're looking for, select View inactive users.
- 2. If LDAP is enabled [521], you can select **Add user from LDAP** and search for an existing LDAP user in the search box. Jama Connect searches LDAP against the configured "Login Name Attribute" and the "User Name Attribute." You can add wildcards to a search, but if you add them at
the beginning of a search term, they can result in slow performance. For large directories, expect several minutes.

3. From the toolbar, select **Add user**.

Organizatio	on admin								Halp
Users								1	1,013
			View inactive users	Search			ж	Add user	E- Export
Usemame	Full name	Email	Lógin details	User groups	License type	User status	Authentication type	Action	

4. In the Add user window that opens, fill in the required fields, then select Save.

aa user			
Add a new user			
Send user welcome email			
*Username:		'Email address:	
*Password:	Password: Too short	Title:	
*Confirm password:		Phone number:	
		Location:	
"First name:		'License type:	Constar
*Last name:			Creator
Groups		Selected Groups	
P start typing to mill groups			i 🌍 Cléar all group
Analysts Organization	1.1		
Company Organization	1		
Development			
Organization			
Organization Engineering Roder			

- Username Enter a unique name, as in an email address (recommended).
- License type Consider the number of licenses purchased [583] and the expected usage [585] by the user when assigning license types.
- User groups Select the appropriate groups for this user.
- Send user welcome email (Optional) Send an email to the user with username, password, and URL to log in to the system.

#### **Configure the User Import Plugin**

With the User Import Plugin, you can add multiple users at once by importing a spreadsheet. Imports don't delete users from Jama Connect.



# NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

#### Important considerations

If the import fails it might be because:

- A user that already exists was set to add (rather than update).
- A user that doesn't exist was set to update (rather than add).

- · One or more of the records is incorrect.
- A required field was missing.

#### To configure the plugin:

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Plugins > Add plugin entry.

Organization	Project	**	Organization admin	N				Help
🚊 Details			Plugins					-∿- 279
Categories							0	🗙 🕑 Add plugin entry
Editor temp	plates		Name	Notes	Plugin Type	Plugin Class	Plugin Params	Active
ltem types			User Import	Test	Import			true
License								
E Lookup ma	atrices							
O OSLC								
Permission	IS							
E Pick lists								
Plugins								

2. In the Add plugin entry window that opens, enter the following information and click Save.

Add plugin entry	×
Name:	
Enabled:	0
Class:	
Туре:	▼
Parameters:	Event
	Import
Plugin Notes:	
	Save Cancel

- Name User Import
- Enabled Make the plugin available to users
- Class (case-sensitive) Enter the name of the object defined in the source code:
  - com.jamasoftware.contour.plugin.jama.UserImportPlugin
- Type Event or Import
- Parameters Leave this field blank
- Plugin Notes Add any notes you have here. This isn't visible to the end user.
- 3. Create a CSV document with no header row that contains the following values in columns A through K:
  - Username If LDAP or CROWD is enabled, the username must match what is listed in the directory.
  - First name
  - Last name
  - Email
  - Password
  - Title

- Location
- Phone number
- License type Values must be one of the following:

Value	Meaning
N	Named creator
С	Float creator
FC	Float collaborator
S	Stakeholder
R	Reserved collaborator
V	Float reviewer
RV	Reserved reviewer
NV	Named reviewer
TR	Test runner

• Add/Update — Values must be one of the following:

Value	Meaning
Add	Add as a new user
Update	Update an existing user

#### • Company

-  ${\rm Groups}$  — If a user belongs to multiple groups you can add them in columns L and up.

For example:

A	В	Ċ	D	Ē	F	G	H	0	1	к	L	M
kmaxwell@redside.com	Katie	Maxwell	kmaxwell@redside.com	Alphal@#	Dr.	Central	555-123-1234	С	Add	Company		t
suser@redside.com	Sam	User	suser@redside.com	Betal@#	Mr.	West	555-123-1235	С	Update	Company	Organization Admin	Engineering
bflogeets@redside.com	Baxter	Flogeets	bflogeets@redside.com	Gammal@#	Sir	East	555-123-1236	NV	Add	Company	Development	

#### 4. Select **Project > Import > Custom import**.



5. In the **Custom Import** window that opens, enter the following information:

Select a Destination:	Select a destination	Q	
Select Custom mporter:	Select a custom	~	
Field delimiter:		¥	
Optional Encoding:		×	
Optional Encoding: Select file to mport:	Choose File No file chosen	×	
Optional Encoding: Select file to mport:	Choose File No file chosen	~	
Optional Encoding: Select file to mport:	Choose File No file chosen	•	
Optional Encoding: Select file to mport:	Choose File No file chosen	•	

- Select a destination This is a required field. Your selection doesn't affect the outcome.
- Select Custom Importer User Import
- Field Delimiter Comma
- Optional Encoding UTF8
- Select file to import Choose the CSV file you created in step 3, that contains the list of users to be imported.
- 6. Click Import.

Each user that's added with the user import plugin receives a welcome email with the Jama Connect URL.

### Add users to multi-mode authentication

Multi-mode authentication allows you to add a new Basic user, so you can differentiate between IdP and Basic users.



# NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

### Important considerations

- Authentication methods must match to use electronic signatures in baselines and reviews. An organization admin can change authentication methods.
- Users can't use the same email between the two different authentication types.

### To add users to multi-mode authentication:

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Users to display a list of active users.

2. Select Add user.

Organizatio	on admin							Halp
Users							4	1,013
			View inactive users	Search		ж	Add user	E- Export
Usemame	Full name	Email	Login	User groups	License type	User Authentication status type	Action	1

- 3. In the Add user window that opens, select the authentication type you want for this user:
  - Basic authentication Select Use basic authentication for this user.

•	IdP authentication -	- Deselect <b>Use</b>	basic authentication	for this user.
---	----------------------	-----------------------	----------------------	----------------

Add user		
Use basic authentication for this user		
Send user welcome email		
*Username:	*Email address:	
*First name:	Title:	
*Last name:	Phone number:	
	Location:	
	*License type:	⊖ Creator
		○ Creator (float)
		⊖ Stakeholder
		○ Test runner
		⊖ Reviewer

4. Click Save.

Jama Connect runs a check to see which authentication method was used. Initially, the Authentication Type for the user you added is blank. When they log in for the first time, the column is populated with **Basic** or **IdP**.

Full Name	Email	Login Détails	User Groups	License Type	Usor Status	Authentication Type	Action
Stakeholder		Never logged in	Development	Stakeholder	Active	ldP	Edit   Deactivate
admin		Count. 2	Organization Admin, Product Managers	Creator (float)	Active	Basic	Edit   Password   Deactivate

You can also verify the Authentication Type from Admin > Organization > Users.

U View ina	ctive users	Search			X	Add user Export.
	Login details	User groups	License type	User status	Authentication type	Action
s.com	Count: 2	Organization Admin	Creator (float)	Active		Edit   Password   Subscri
tre.com	Count: 133	Organization Admin	Creator (float)	Active	Basic	Edit   Password   Subscri
tware.com	Count: 2	Organization Admin	Creator	Active	Basic	Edit   Password   Subscri
	Count: 1	Organization Admin	Creator (float)	Active	Basic	Edit   Password   Subsor

### Edit user details

Depending on your organization's type of authentication, you can edit basic details for Jama Connect users.



# NOTE

You must have organization or user admin permissions to complete this task.

- 1. Select **Admin > Organization**, then select **Users** to display a list of active users. If you can't find them, select **View Inactive Users**.
- 2. Select Edit in the Action column of the user you want to edit.

idit user			
Edit user: Use basic authentication for this user			
"Username: "First name:	*Email address: Title; Phone number:		
	Location: *License type:	Creator Creator (float)	
Groups		Selected Groups	Chara all annu
Organization Admin     Organization     Prod     Organization		Organization Admin Organization	
OA Organization A Review Denter	- 19		
Corganization			
rivacy Policy			Save Cancel

- 3. In the **Edit User** window that opens, make changes to the user's details as needed.
- 4. Click Save.

### Edit user subscriptions

Users can subscribe to and control their own email notifications. However, if a user's subscriptions were added by someone other than the user, only an admin can make changes.

Organization admins can unsubscribe a user; project admins can only mute a user's subscriptions.



### NOTE

You must have organization or project admin permissions to complete this task.

To edit a user's subscriptions:

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Users.
- 2. Select **Subscriptions** in a user row to open the **Edit subscriptions** window.

Edit subscriptions							
Groups Users			-		Unsubscr	ibe selected	
D Search Top 100 shown	0	Project	Notifications	Subscribed By	Subscribed	Action	
Admin Test	3	Semiconductor Project 2.0	Set: SI_S2_P-SET-26 INFORMATION	Admin Test		Unsubscribe	
Adrian		Semiconductor Project 2.0	S)_S2_P-INFO-1 Test Requirements for Article (including child items)	Admin Test		Unsubscribe	
Basic User		Semiconductor Project 2.0	SI_S2_P-INFO-3 Item A (including child items)	Admin Test		Unsubscribe	
Creater Float							

- 3. Select a user from the left column to display their current subscriptions in the right column.
  - To remove a single subscription, click **Unsubscribe** in the Action column.
  - To remove multiple subscriptions for a user, select the subscriptions in the Notifications column, then click **Unsubscribe selected** in the top right corner.
- 4. To edit a group subscription, select Admin > Organization > User groups > Subscriptions.

### **Reset user password**

If your organizations is using Jama Connect with basic authentication, you can update users' passwords as needed.



### NOTE

You must have system, organization, or user admin permissions to complete this task.

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Users to view a list of users. If you can't find the user you want, select View Inactive Users.
- 2. Select **Password** in the **Action** column for the user needing a new password.
- 3. In the **Edit password** window that opens, enter and confirm a password that meets the default authentication requirements.

### License types and permissions

Organization admins and user admins assign license types to users. They can also view the current license [587] assigned to users, as well as assign users license types [582].

The type of license limits the possible permissions and roles that can be granted to a user. License types include creator, stakeholder, test runner, and reviewer.

Regardless of the assigned license type, each user has a unique login consisting of username and password.

Creator and reviewer licenses can be named licenses or float licenses; test runner licenses and stakeholder licenses are named only.

# **Types of licenses**

License type	Definition	Named li- cense	Float license
Creator	Gives full read and edit rights and full access to reviews to active users who daily manage items and projects.	x	x
Test runner	Gives basic permissions to read and review, as well as the ability to create test plans and defects, to execute test runs, and to add attachments to test runs during execution.	X	

License type	Definition	Named li- cense	Float license
Stakeholder	Gives read-only privileges to those who need visibility into a project, but don't need editing rights. Stakeholders can view items, provide comments, and act as reviewers.	X	
Reviewer	Grants permission to participate in reviews, act as approver, moder- ator, or review admin, and to respond to comments in the stream. Reviewers can't initiate reviews or access items in the core project.	X	x
Temporary	A 30-day full creator license automatically granted to a non-licensed individual, invited by email to a review or to comment in the stream. The only default permissions are for the discussion thread or review to which they were invited.	x	X
Collaborator (Legacy)	A legacy license; gives read-only privileges to users needing visibility into a project, but not editing rights. They can view items, provide comments, participate in (but not create) reviews, execute test runs, and log defects.	X	X

### Permissions by license type

The type of license assigned to you defines your permissions, which in turn determine your ability to create and edit items and to access items as read-only.

With a creator license and read-only permissions to a project, you can:

- · Execute test runs
- · Log defects from the test run execution window

-	LICENSE TYPE						
PERMISSIONS	Creator	Stakeholder	Collaborator (Legacy)	Test runner	Reviewer		
Read/Write				6 mm			
Create test plans	X			X	1.2		
Execute test runs	X		x	X			
Log defects (from test run window)	X		x	X			
Manage attachments	X		- <u>-</u>	X*			
Manage relationships	x			X*			
Add baselines	X						
Edit, delete, restore user-created baselines	X						
Add and edit items	X			X*			
REST API access	X	111	1	5			
Read-only							
Share filters	X						
Share custom report templates	x				-		
View baselines	X	X	х	X	100 C		
Create filters	x	X	x	X			
Export reports	x	x	x	- x			
Read and initiate stream threads	X	x	x	X	1		
Comment on items	X	X	X	X			
View items in projects	X	x	x	x			
View dashboards	X	x	X	X			
Review							
Initiate	X	1111		2			
Moderate	X			X			
Participate	X	X	X	X	X		
Approve	X	X	x	X	X		
Electronically sign	X	X	x	X	X		
Reply to stream comments	X	- X	Χ.	X	X		
Risk							
Initiate	X	1111		i.			
Moderate	X						
Participate	X	1	10.00				
View (if invited)	X	X	X	X	÷		

\* Permissions that are included with each license type.

### **Configure Jama Connect for test runner license**

Users with a test runner license can manage attachments and relationships, and edit only certain items for tests such as test plans, cycles, groups, runs, and item types used as defects [362]. User with a test runner license don't have permissions to manage attachments and relationships, or to edit items in the rest of the project.



### NOTE

You must have organization or user admin permissions to configure Jama Connect for the test runner license type.

- 1. Configure item types to be used as a defect [613].
- 2. Assign access permissions [589].

#### Batch update license types

Occasionally, you might want to update many users at once. For example, several users might be assigned a temporary license that's about to expire and you need to assign creator licenses.

If you select more users than the available number the selected license type, that license type isn't available when batch updating.



# NOTE

You must have organization or user admin permissions to complete this task.

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Users.
- 2. Sort the users by license type by selecting the field name header at the top of the user grid.
- 3. Select the users you want to update. Use Shift or Cmd-click to select multiple users.
- 4. Right-click or Ctrl-click and select Batch Update User(s).

Baxter Flogeets	bflogeets@redside.com	Never logged	Development, Engineering
Potos Luiz	Batch	update U	ser(s)
Peter Luiz	pluiz@redsideconsulting.com	27	Managers

5. In the window that opens, select the license type, then click Commit.

### Monitor license usage



#### NOTE

You must have system, organization, or user admin permissions to complete this task.

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select License.

The center panel displays the daily usage by license type for a particular time period, as well as detail of current usage.

- 2. Use the menus in the header to select the type of license and the time period you want displayed. You can view stats from the last 7, 30, or 90 days, including the number of licenses being used on a daily basis, the number of days where you reached your maximum threshold, and if any users were downgraded in license type or denied access due to a lack of license availability.
- 3. Click on one of the chart lines to see an hourly breakdown of license usage throughout that day. From the hourly view, select a specific hour of the day to see a minute-by-minute breakdown.



### NOTE

This chart shows a live look at license usage at the time the page is loaded or refreshed. The data is stored in UTC time, however the chart display converts the data to match the user's time zone by applying the appropriate offset.



Scroll down to see all of your license information such as license type, expiration date, how many licenses are owned, as well as any integrations the organization has purchased. For more information, see View license [587].

- 4. To adjust the threshold, select **Threshold** (gear icon), make your changes, then click **Save**.
- 5. (Optional) Select **Notify me when this threshold is met** and enter an email address to send notifications when usage surpasses a specified threshold.

ET USAGE THRESHOLD FOR LICENSES:	
80%	
Notify me when this threshold is met	
EMAIL ADDRESS TO NOTIFY:	

6. (Optional) To download your license data usage to Excel, click **Export**, select the destination for the exported file, then click **OK**.

### **View license**

View details about your license, such as the type and its expiration date.



### NOTE

You must have system, organization, or user admin permissions to view the licenses.

To view your current license information, select Admin > Organization, then select License.
 A CSV export is available for analyzing license usage trends within Excel. The exported data represents a UTC time zone.



For organizations with floating licenses, information about float license usage is available above the table (more information is available here [585]).

The table provides details about the license, such as the type and expiration date. Counts are also provided by specific user license type, as shown in this example:

Organization ad	Imin He
License	-∿-311
Usage state	s from the last 30 days for all licenses
0%	Percentage of all licenses being used on a daily basis.
N/A	Number of users that were were assigned a downgraded license because a float license was unavailable.
N/A	Number of users that were denied access because no licenses were available
0	Number of days where 100% or more of your all licenses were in use.

#### User activity

User name	Logged in at	Duration	Last activity
Admin Test	04/18/2022 9:56:10 AM (PDT)	02:52:42	04/18/2022 12:48:53 PM (PDT)
< ③ Page 1 ○ of 1 ○ >			

Last updated: 04/18/2022 12:48 PM PDT

#### Licensing details

Customer license contact:	Kevin	License type: License creation	Commercial 02/21/2020	Modules: • Review Center • WIRIS Equations
Client organization:	Jama Product	date: License expiration	12/30/2022	Editor • Hazard and Risk
Product name:	Jama	date:		Analysis
Product edition:	Enterprise	Maintenance expiration date:	12/30/2022	

License type	Owned	Assigned	Available
Creator	Unlimited	9	0
Creator (float)	Unlimited	3	0

# **Grant permissions**

Permissions control how users experience Jama Connect. They allow users to access, modify, and delete items or to perform other specific tasks. They also restrict actions that users can perform or content users can see.



# NOTE

You must be an organization or user admin to grant most permissions.

System admins grant limited permissions.

### Important considerations

- Project admins [664] grant only project-level permissions. Project admins can access users outside of their project to give access when the option Allow project administrators access to all users and organization groups is enabled.
- Before assigning permissions, consider setting up groups [574] to make this task more efficient.
- Permissions are inherited from higher levels in the organization structure. For example, if you assign a group access at the organization level, all projects, components, and sets within the organization inherit the permissions.
- When a group or user's **Inherited** column contains the value "true" and is highlighted in green, that user or group has received its permissions from a higher level.
- Certain permissions are allowed with each license type [583]. You might need to assign the correct license type [582] to change permissions. Also, be aware of how permissions work with related items [307].
- If a user is part of multiple user groups with conflicting permissions, the user is granted the highest permissions that are set.
- While items within sets fall under the permission rules of the set, *attachments to those items don't*. Attachments can still be accessed by outside users who have access permission to the project while adding attachments [89] or inserting rich text links [94].

#### To grant permissions:

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Permissions.

🙏 👫 STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK ADMIN	Ń		Acme Wo	rks	Admin	ast   Re	ports -	Help	i   Log O	ut
Organization Project **	Organization admin Permissions									Hel ∿- 285	lp.
Categories	Project Selector 帐	Access Rights for	Organization		Admit	aletration		0	Add pe	ermission	IS
License	H → Duplicate of Semiconductor Sample Set - Lacie     H → Megan's Duplicate of Semiconductor Project 2.0     A → Pantry Products	User/Group	Organization	Users Proces	s Project	Add Project	Review	Reuse	OSLC	Reports	R & V
Cookup matrices	Semiconductor Framework     Semiconductor Project 2.0     Semiconductor Sample Set	Analysts	*	1 1	2	*	1	2		1	
Permissions	B Work Projects	Company	*	2 2	4	2	4	4		2	8

- 2. In Project Selector on the left, select the level where you want to access permissions.organization, an individual project, or container, depending on the level you want to grant permissions.
  - Organization (System)
  - Individual project
  - Container

The main page displays the current permissions.



### TIP

Permissions set at the organizational level are passed on to lower levels, but might be overridden for individual projects, components, or sets. For simplicity, set permissions at the highest acceptable level.

Organization admins can also grant project permissions in the configure project window [664].

- 3. To edit current user or group permissions, select Modify or Override.
- 4. To add a new user or group, select **Add permissions** in the top right corner of the window.
- 5. In the Assign permissions window that opens, select the groups or users you want to add.

You can also add a new group or user by selecting **Add user** or **Add group** in the top right corner of the window, then select the role or access permissions [666] you want to add from the bottom of the window.

Add permissions	
	Add user   Add group
Groups Users	Selected users and groups
D Searces Top 100 alasem	🚔 Clear all users and groups
Analysis Organization	
Company Organization	
Development Organizmular	
Organization Admin	
Product Managers Organization	
OA Organization	
Permissions	
Project administration: grants the user complete access to al	If functionality within this project.
Read and write access: grants the user the ability to create an	nd edit items within this project or set depending on selected granularity.
Read only access: grants the user the ability to view and come	ment on items, create and view filters, and run reports. They cannot create/edit items.
Privacy policy	Save Cancel
Privacy policy	Save Car



# NOTE

Roles [591] and access permissions can be granted at an organizational level. Project administrator permissions can be granted at a project level. Access permissions can be granted at a container level and greater.

- 6. Click Save.
- 7. To completely remove access to a project, component, or set, select **Remove** at the level that access was granted by unselecting all permissions.



# IMPORTANT

Remove functions differently at lower levels in the hierarchy. If the user's or group's permissions were previously overridden at that level, the **Inherited column** reads "false," and selecting **Remove** reverts the permissions to the original inherited permissions. If the user's or group's permissions weren't previously overridden, the **Inherited column** reads "false," and selecting **Remove** completely removes the group or user from a project or set. If the group or user's permissions are inherited, the **Inherited column** reads "true" and permissions can only be removed at the higher level where they were assigned.

### Roles

A *role* is a set of permissions that allows a user to perform specific functions. Each permission type defines the functions it allows.

An admin grants permissions by role [669] to an individual or to a group.



## NOTE

Permission roles are different from other types of roles such as review roles [162] and Signer roles [259].

# Types of roles

Role	Definition
System admin [489]	Handles installation, setup, and configuration of Jama Connect, and has no access to projects. System admin is a special user that isn't a role for other users. It doesn't require a license and
(self-hosted only)	logs in to the system with the username "root."
Organization admin [549]	Controls all aspects of configuring Jama Connect, its users, and its groups.
User admin [573]	Manages licenses, users, and groups; can see all users and organization groups in the system.
Process admin [593]	Configures content and connections within Jama Connect; controls item types, pick lists, relation- ship rules, Review Center, and workflow; delegates these responsibilities to appropriate users and groups.
Project admin [643]	Focuses on permissions, project groups, and workflow customization.
Add Project	Allows a user to create a new project or duplicate an existing project where that user is project admin.
Review admin [192]	Has access to a review's content when the review is public. A review admin is also a reviewer, approver, or moderator in the review. Permissions must be assigned by an organization admin.
Reuse admin [322]	Manages reuse. Requires read access to the synchronized items they are working with, and write permissions to edit, synchronize, reuse, or duplicate those items.
Report admin [565] (self-hosted only)	Allows the report developer to upload and manage BIRT, Velocity, and Word templates. Reports are assigned to specific projects where the report admin has project management rights.

### **User admin limitations**

- Can set permissions only for groups/users on projects where they are project admin.
- Can manage organization group membership only for groups where they are a member.
- Can't make changes or additions to users or groups that have been assigned to organization or process admins except for activation/deactivation and license management.
- Can manage only members of a group where they are also a member. This restriction ensures they don't unintentionally provide or remove access to unknown or existing projects.



### **IMPORTANT**

Users must have the license type [583] that allows for the permissions granted with each role.

### Deactivate and reactivate users

Users can't be deleted from Jama Connect but they can be deactivated. When you deactivate a user, the user becomes inactive and frees up named assigned licenses associated with that user.



### IMPORTANT

You must have organization or user admin permissions to deactivate a user.

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Users.
- 2. In the Action column for the user you want to deactivate, select **Deactivate**.

Organization	admin								Help
Users									-√- 983
			View inactive use	rs Search			×	C Add user	E+ Export
namø	Full name	Email	Login details	User groups	License type	User status	Action		
mail.com	1@gmail.com	1@gmail.com	Never logged in		Reviewer	Active	Edit   Password   Sub	scriptions   Invite	Deactivate

Deactivated users disappear from the list until you select View inactive users.

3. To reactivate a user, select **Activate**, then select a license type in the **User license type** window and click **Save**.

### **Managing process**

Jama Connect can be configured to align your processes and artifacts to suit your unique organization needs. You can control fields, picklists, relationships, templates, and workflow.

These settings tend to evolve over time as teams mature and new groups are brought into Jama Connect. The admin role delegates these responsibilities to the appropriate users and groups.

- Item types [607]
- Fields [593]
- Set up editor templates [616]
- Configure views [617]
- Manage relationships [618]
- Manage tests [626]

### **Fields**

A field holds a basic unit of data in an item type.

Fields contain values. In List View, each column represents a different field. Individual users can configure which fields they see. For more information, see Configure Compare View for synchronized items [340] and Configure fields [48].

An organization admin can add new fields to an item type [595] and configure the behavior for those fields.

Jama Connect includes these types of fields:

Field type	Description	Created by
Predefined fields	Fields that are indexed and can be searched without using the database field name.	Organization admin
Custom fields	Fields that are similar to predefined fields, or can be multi- select fields, URL fields, calculated, rollup, and item of type fields.	Organization admin
System fields	Fields that are necessary for system functionality and can't be removed from an item. For example, Name, test steps [365], test case status [368], and review status [155].	Automatically generated



### TIP

Predefined fields are similar to custom fields. If you plan on doing a lot of reporting with your data, predefined fields simplify the document type's underlying schema and make it easier to use those fields in reporting.

### Predefined fields

An organization admin can add predefined fields [593]. They are indexed and can be searched without using the database field name.

If you frequently use reporting with your data, predefined fields simplify the document type's underlying schema and make is easier to use those fields in reporting.

When adding fields [595], you must select the database location where the lookup value is stored from predefined fields. This selection doesn't affect users. However, custom report writers must know the mapping of the fields to the database.

These are the predefined fields you can choose:

Туре	Details
Text	Rich text can be enabled in text fields.
Dates	Each field ( <b>date1</b> through <b>date5</b> ) limits the user entry to a valid date and provides a pop-up calendar picker.
Integer	The fields originalEstimate, remainingEstimate, and timeSpent allow only whole number positive numerals.
Flag	Flag fields are displayed as checkboxes. By default, all flags are marked as No (false).
String	Includes the predefined fields Short Name, ID, and string1 through string15.
Pick list	In the Add field window, fields such as <b>status</b> , <b>priority</b> , and <b>lookup 1–10</b> prompt you for a has been pick list. If that option isn't available, you select a non-pick list type from the drop-down list. Once a predefined field is used for a pick list, it's no longer available in the list. If additional fields are needed, use custom fields.
Release	Each pick list is populated by the list of releases created within each project. Some item types are configured with a release field by default. If the release field is removed from the item type, it becomes available in the predefined field list.
User	Item types with a user field include a pop-up list of users. Only one user can be selected from the list.

### **Custom fields**

Organization admins can add custom fields that are unique to their organization. Custom fields can be similar to predefined fields, or they can be multi-select, URL, calculated, rollup, and item of type fields.

To find a field, search using the field name because they aren't indexed.

You can	add	а	custom	field	[595]	of these types:
---------	-----	---	--------	-------	-------	-----------------

Туре	Details
Item of Type	Create a new pick list field that is populated by a list of existing items in the current project that are the specified item type. In this manner, users can reference items of another type. Only one item can be selected in an Item of Type pick list.
Flag	Flag fields are displayed as checkboxes to those working with the item type. By default, all flags are labeled <b>No</b> (false).
Integer	Allows only whole number positive numerals.
Release	Each pick list is populated by the list of releases created within each project. Some item types are configured with a release field by default. If the release field is removed from the item type, it's available in the predefined field list.
Pick List	A set of specific values that can be entered in a field.
Float	Use float fields to accurately capture numeric values. The float field follows IEEE 754. These fields can be positive or negative.
Multi-select pick list	Allows the user to select multiple values in a pick list.
URL	Similar to a regular text box, a URL field performs some minor validation of text entered in the field to check that it's a URL and displays the text as a link when submitted.
Text field	Holds plain text strings with no line breaks. If line breaks are required, use the Text box field.
Text box	Holds more data than a typical Text field in plain text or rich text, Can include line breaks and have a template applied to it.

Туре	Details
Rollup	Shows progress on downstream items without having to open each downstream item. You can opt to open a filter with any downstream items included in the rollup calculation. Progress on the downstream item is tracked by a pick list (often a Status pick list).
	Indicate the downstream item type, the pick list field on that downstream item type, and the pick list value that shows that progress is complete.
Calculated fields*	Allows admins to configure automated calculations using addition, multiplication, average, Weighted Shortest Job First (Scaled Agile prioritization model), and simple logic (2D lookup matrix). You can add calculated field results to the List View and use them for sorting and filtering.
	You must select the following options:
	<ul> <li>Calculation type — Average, Multiply, Sum, Weighted Shortest Job First, or Lookup matrix.</li> <li>Calculation source — This item or Related item(s).</li> </ul>
	Related item type
	Relationship direction — Upstream or Downstream.
	<ul> <li>Fields upon which to base the calculation — Displays pick list, multi-select, integer, other calculated fields from the same item, number of upstream or downstream relationships, and number of comments fields.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Pick list field — Value used in the calculation.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Multi-select field — Value used is the sum of the value of each selected item.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Calculated field — Result is used in the calculation. Once a calculated field is chosen as an input for a calculated field, it can't be used as an input in additional calculated fields.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Number of decimals to display — Up to 4.</li> </ul>
	• Whether to require all values to be present before the calculation is performed — If you don't select this option, the calculation is performed each time a value is entered into one of the selected fields.

\* American or British-style decimals must be used in the fields where the calculations are derived. Otherwise, errors occur. If a calculation is based on a related item, the calculated field isn't update until the item containing the calculated field is edited.

#### Add, edit, or delete fields

When editing an item type [608], you can add, change, or delete fields.



# NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

#### Important considerations

- When you toggle a field between rich text and text, the text doesn't retroactively change data that was
  previously entered in that field. Each type is saved in a different format (HTML vs plain text). A large
  scale data translation isn't supported data might have accumulated over years and with potentially
  millions of records, so the update might break compliance rules, version history, integrations, or
  review comments.
- · Things to know before you delete a field:
  - Once a field is deleted, all values related to that field are deleted from the database and can't be recovered.
  - If the field was used to relate synced items, such as JIRA KEY, proxy, a duplicate item is created if you try to create the sync again.
  - If the field is mapped in an integration, it is no longer updated and might cause errors in your integration tool.
  - If a filter used the field, update the filter before removing the field to avoid inaccurate filter results.
  - If the deleted field raised suspect links, relationships are affected. Because the field no longer exists, users can't see the changes that created the suspect link.

- If you try to restore a previous version of an item that still contains the deleted field, the field's contents aren't restored. Even if you recreate the field before the version rollback, data isn't restored.
- If you still want to delete a custom field, consider exporting a copy of the field values via a report or the API.

#### To add, edit, or delete a field:

1. Select Admin > Organization > Item types.

A list of existing fields is displayed with information about each field.

2. Select a row to highlight it in blue, then select an action icon in the top toolbar.

Organization Project	< Org	anization adr	nin											Help
Details	Ite	m types												-∿- 327
Categories					Add item type	Item ty	/pe fields for	Test			1	Ĩ	1 X	🚱 Add field
Editor templates		Register	Register Map	REG_BLK		Order	Label	Infoilp	Unique Field Name	Field Type	Control	Pick List	Calculatio	Read All
P License		Register	Register	REG_DESC		1	Project ID		documentKey	Text Field				*
H Lookup matrices	19	Set	Sets	SET	Set type	2	Global ID		globalld	Text Field				4
O OSLC	念	Stakeholder Requirement	Stakeholder Requirements	SHRQ		3	Name		name	Text Field				
Permissions		Steps	Steps	testCaseSte	ips	4	Description		description	Text	Rich			
E Pick lists	1	Subsystem Verification	Subsystem Verifications	SVER		5	Assigned		assignedTo	User	Text			-
Belationshins		System Architecture	System Architecture	SYSARCH		6	Release		release	Release				
a Beports	8	Tesl	Test	B	f									- 11
Review center	a	Test Cycle	Test Cycles	TSTCY	Fields that apply to Test Cycles									

Action icons include:

- Pencil Edit a field
- Green arrows Re-order fields
- Red X Delete a field
- Green Add field Open the Add field window
- 3. If you selected **Add** or **Edit**, select **Predefined Fields** or **Custom Fields**, then use the drop-down list to select a field type.

Select a Field Type		
Predefined Fields:	Nothing selected	*
Custom Fields:	his/ling telected	*
ïeld label:		
nfotip:		j
Inique Field Name:		
Read Only:		
s Required:		
lse to Trigger Suspect		
synchronize:		

Both field types can be used in the same item type. (This section does not appear when editing fields).



### IMPORTANT

You can only use the system predefined **Release** field to show items in the **Release** tab. If you use a custom **Release** field to designate an item to a release, that item doesn't appear in the **Releases** tab.

- 4. Complete these options to define or edit the field type:
  - **Field label** The field name that users see. The application automatically uses this value as the unique field name in the database, which can't be changed. Avoid leading with an underscore; some unique field names might conflict with Elasticsearch fields (such as \_source or \_ID) and prevent proper functioning.
  - Infotip (Optional) Visible to users when they hover over this field label.
  - Unique Field Name The name of the field in the database, which the application uses automatically.
  - Read Only Prevents users from editing the field.
  - Allow API overwrite Fields that are configured to be read-only have the option to be editable via the REST API. System fields like modifiedDate or rollup don't allow the option to overwrite.
  - Is Required Required fields are string, text or date fields that are configured so that the user must enter data into the field before saving an item.
  - Use to Trigger Suspect Suspect links [315] is triggered when specific fields update in an item. This option lets you determine which field changes flag an item as suspect.

- **Synchronize** When items are synchronized to other items, a change in a field with this checkbox flags this item as out of sync in the synced items window and in Single Item View [154].
- Text Components (Custom Fields > Text Box only) Choose whether you want rich-text capabilities.
- **Pick list, Multi-select, Calculated fields** If a field requires lookup or a pick list for input, add the pick list or lookup matrix.
- 5. Click Save.

By default, new fields are added to the bottom of the item type fields list, but you can reorder using the green arrows.

#### Enable test case item

If testers need more formatting options when they edit their test cases, specifically for steps, a WYSI-WYG editor that is similar to the one used in most item Description fields is available.



### NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

#### Important considerations

- When you disable rich text, no data is lost, but images and rich text are replaced with HTML tags. Users don't see any existing steps break and the content is still rendered. The user must decide which formatting tags to remove.
- The application doesn't automatically strip tags, and renders correct HTML tags in steps with or without the rich text mode enabled.
- To hide the test case status from view, see Hide test case status field [599].

#### To enable test case item:

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Item types.
- 2. Select the item type you want to use, which is a Test Case [362] type.
- 3. In the right panel, select the **Steps** field, then select the **Edit** pencil icon.

Organization Project	~	Orga	anization adr	nin											Help
🚊 Details		Iter	m types												₩-327
Categories								0	Add item type	Item ty	vpe fields for	Steps	211	×	Add fiel
Editor templates			Register	Register Map	REG_BLK		55	No.	Edit   Views	Order	Label	Infotip	Unique Fleid Name	Field Type	Control I
P License			Register	Register	REG_DESC		56	No	Edit   Views	1	Project ID		documentKey	Text Field	
Lookup matrices		-	Set	Sets	SET	Set type	31	Yes	Edit   Views	2	Global ID		globalld	Text Field	
O OSLC		会	Stakeholder Requirement	Stakeholder Requirements	SHRO		45	No	Edit   Views	3	Name		name	Text Field	
U Permissions		8	Steps	Steps	testCaseSteps		142	No	Edit   Views	4	Description		description	Text	Rich
E Pick lists		1	Subsystem Verification	Subsystem Verifications	SVER		61	No	Edit   Views	5	Assigned		assignedTo	User	JUXL
동 Plugins			System	System	SYSARCH		58	No	Edit   Views	6	Release		release	Release	1
Relationships		-	Test	Test	в		141	No	Edit   Views	7	Test Case Status		testCaseStatus		
Review center		8	Test Cycle	Test Cycles	TSTCY	Fields that apply to	36	Yes	Views	8	Steps		testCaseSteps	Steps	Rich Text
Risk management						Test Cycles Fields that				9	Test Run Results		testRunResults	Test Run	
C Stream		圁	Test Plan	Test Plans	TSTPL	apply to	35	Yes	Edit   Views		- sooulid			Results	

4. In the Edit field window that opens, select Allow Rich Text to enable the feature.

Edit field			$\boxtimes$
Field label:	Steps		
Use to Trigger Suspect:			
Synchronize:	✓		
Allow Rich Text:			
		Save	Cancel

5. Click Save.

### Hide test case status field

Test case status is a system-managed field that can't be deleted, however it can be hidden from view.

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Item types.
- 2. Select the item type that you want to use, which is a Test Case [362] type.
- 3. In the right panel, select the **Test Case Status** field, then select the **Edit** pencil icon.

Organization Project «	Organization admin								He
Details	Item types								-√- 1,697
Categories	S Add item type	Item t	ype fields fo	Test Ca	se	1	21	1 3	C Add fie
Editor templates	& ganorelationsitemtype	Order	Label	Infotip	Unique Field	Field	Control	lck Cal	culation Read
j Item types	qatestitemtype			Lesson,	Name	Taxt	line in the second s	.151	Only
Jama Connect Advisor	Register Block	1	Project ID		documentKey	Field			2
License	Register Description	2	Global ID		globalld	Text Field			2
Lookup matrices	Risk Evaluation	3	Name		name	Text			
OSLC	Sara Test					Field	Disk		
Permissions	Sara'sitemtypethathasasuperiongnamethathasthepotentialfor	4	Description	e	description	Box	Text		
- Diale lists	Set Set	5	Assigned		assignedTo	User			
	Stakeholder Requirement	6	Release	_	release	Release			
Plugins	Steps	7	Test Case	-	testCaseStatus				4
Relationships	Subsystem Design Output	8	Stans	_	toptCapesStone	Stane	_		
Reports	Subsystem Requirement	0	Stepa		teatoaaeotepa	Test			
Review center	Subsystem Verification	9	Test Run Results		testRunResults	Run			1
Risk management	System Architecture					Results			
Stroom	System Requirement								
- Stream	🖌 Task								
System health report	Test								
Subser groups									
Users	Test Case								
Workflow	E Tast Casa								

4. In the **Edit field** window that opens, select **Hide test case status** to enable the feature.

Edit field			? 🛛
Field label:	Test Case Status		
Use to Trigger Suspect:			
Status settings			
Hide test case status:			
	[	Save	Cancel

#### 5. Click Save.

The test case status field for the item type you selected is now hidden from view.

#### **Pick lists**

Pick lists are a set of specific values that you can enter into a field. This feature ensures that all users enter field content correctly. Pick lists are also useful when you create lookup matrices and calculated fields.

Each pick list must be assigned a name. An optional description defines how the pick list is used.

Each option in a pick list can be assigned the following:

- **Order** The arrangement of options in a field pull-down list.
- **Display** The words users see when they select pick list options.
- Infotip (Optional) Custom text that provides context for that value and is visible when a user hovers over this field label.
- **Description** Explanation of an option's meaning. For example, a display of High might be described as "over 5000 items," "625-750 degrees," or "at least 72 miles."
- **Pick list type** Standard type pick lists can be used for pick list, multi-select, calculated, or status fields. Only Lookup matrix type pick lists can be used to configure lookup matrices.
- Value The addition of a numerical value or weight to each option, which is useful in creating calculated fields.
- **Color** A means to visually distinguish pick list options at a glance, visible in different views across the application. For example the test case status [368] field colors are green (passing), red (failing), and orange (blocked).
- **Default status** The status value that appears by default. A pick list can have only one default status.

#### Manage pick list values

A pick list can have multiple values, which can be organized, color-coded, and set as a default.

A value can include an optional *infotip*, which is custom text that provides additional context for that value.



# NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to change pick list values.

### Important considerations

- Changing a pick list value Might affect other fields if the value is included in a calculated field.
- Archiving a pick list value Removes the option from a selectable option, but preserves the historical selection of the value. Archived pick lists can't be unarchived.
- Deleting a pick list value Removes the selected value from all items in the system. Each item is
  versioned and updated with the replacement value. Previous versions retain the deleted value. The
  deleted value is no longer available for filtering. Each pick list must retain at least one value and that
  value can't be deleted. Deleting a value from a lookup matrix type pick list might require updating any
  dependent lookup matrices.
- Selecting a pick list type Use the default or standard pick list types unless the pick list is intended for configuring a lookup matrix.

#### To manage pick list values:

1. Select Admin > Organization > Pick lists, then select the pick list row you want to modify.

	STRE	EAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS	RISK ADMIN	Acme Works	Admin Test   Reports -   Help
Organization	Project	«	Organization admin			
🚊 Details		-	Pick lists			-
Categories						🚱 Add pick list
I Editor temp	plates		Enabler		Standard	Edit   Delete
Item types			FMEA - Detection		Standard	Edit   Delete
inem types			FMEA - Occurrence		Standard	Edit   Delete
License			FMEA - Severity		Standard	Edit   Delete
Lookup ma	trices		Lookup matrix		Lookup matrix	Edit   Deleta
OSLC			Megan's pantry food staples	Test	Standard	Edit   Delete
Parmiceion			Priority		Standard	Edit   Delete
remission	3	_	Problem Characterization		Standard	Edit   Delete
Pick lists			Project Group	Required for project settings, do not remove.	Standard	Edit ) Delete
Prugins			Project Status	Required for project settings, do not	Standard	Edit / Delete
Relationshi	ps		. islast distant	remove.		and a profit
Reports			Relationship Status Type	Required for relationships, do not remove.	Standard	Edit   Delete
Review cer	nter		Requirement Priority		Standard	Edit ( Delete
Risk manag	gement		Requirement Type		Standard	Edit ( Delete
Stream	an com C		Risk probability		Lookup matrix	Edit   Delete

2. In the table, select the item row you want to modify, then select the icon for one of the following actions.

Pick lis	t values for Require	ment Priority	2	111	首 )	0
Order	Display value	Infotip		Numeric value	Color	Default
1	Mandatory	Must be com	pleted		1	9
2	Desirable	Nice to have				
3	Optional	Test				
4	Unassigned					

- **Plus icon** (add item) Enter the name and optional characteristics like infotip, description, value, and color.
- Pencil icon (edit item) Make your changes.
- **Box icon** (archive item) If you archive an item, the value's row is removed from view. This action can't be undone and is only visible on versions of items before it was archived.
- X icon (remove item) Select a replacement value, then click **Delete**.
- The value is saved to items in the system where the deleted value is selected.
- 3. Click Save.

The table is updated to reflect your changes.

### Add a lookup matrix

A lookup matrix serves as a source for logic-based calculations in lookup matrix type calculated fields.

To add a logic-based calculated field to an item, you must first add the lookup matrix and give it a name. Adding an optional description defines how the lookup matrix is used in calculated fields.

To configure a lookup matrix, you must select a pick list for the matrix columns, rows, and results.

- 1. Create pick lists [600] for the calculation inputs (matrix rows and matrix columns) and the calculation results (matrix values).
  - a. Select Lookup matrix as the pick list type.

Add pick list		I 🛛
*Name: Description:		
Pick list type:	Lookup matrix	*
	Standard	
	Lookup matrix	Cancel

b. (Optional) To change the table color from default gray, select a row in the Pick list values table, click **Edit values**, and select a color.

Edit value	8
*Display value:	Acceptable
Infotip:	Acceptable - Green
Description:	
Numeric value:	
Color:	<b>*</b>
	Save Cancel

2. Select Admin > Organization > Lookup matrices.

#### Jama Connect User Guide

Organization Project <<	Organization admin	
Details	Lookup matrices	
Categories		
Editor templates	Name	Description
📑 Item types 🥟 License	Test	
Lookup matrices		

3. Click Add lookup matrix.

A STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEW	VS RISK ADMIN	Acme Works Admin Teat   Reporte -   F	Help   Log (
Organization Project	Organization admin     Lookup matric	es		-A- 279
Categories			O Add	lookup ma
Editor templates	Name	Description	Actions	
ltem types	Test		View Edit Duplicate C	Delete
🔑 License			the terms of the terms	
H Lookup matrices				
O OSLC				

- 4. Enter a name and optional description for the lookup matrix.
- 5. Configure the lookup matrix settings:
  - a. Under Matrix Configurations, use the drop-down selectors to configure the matrix columns, rows, and values/result.
  - b. Click **Generate matrix**, then select matrix values for each matrix cell according to the logicbased calculation outcomes you need.

For example, when you select **Low** for the P-total field and **Minor** for the Severity field, the calculated field for Risk Score returns the result **Acceptable** in yellow.

rganization Pinjaci <sup>64</sup>	Organization admin
Details	Risk Score
Categories	
Editor templates	KANE."
Hem types	Risk Score
J Andrew	DESCRIPTION
Lookup matrices	Exception Control - Data Record
ORLC	энингу гюм плаңасия
Permaskana	MATRIX CONFIGURATIONS
Pick lists	BELECT A INCK LIST POR MATRIX COLUMNS (IN-ARRS)
Plugns	Risk - Severity -
Relationence	
Reports	SELECT A PICK LIST FOR MATRIX SCIVIS (YARIS)
Perview certile	Posk - Ptotal -
mak management	SELECT A PICK LIST FOR MATRIX VALUES (LIDOKUP VALUE/RESULT)"
Stream	Peak - Risk Score -
System health report	
One groups	Provide State Stat
Users	
AND ADDRESS OF ADDRES	
	SET MATRIX VALUES
	Posk - Seventy
	1 Unumignest 2 Negligible 3 Minor 4 Serious 5 Citical 6 Catastrophic
	T Low Acceptale · Acceptale · Acceptale · Unacceptale · Hanconter · Hanconter ·
	2 Medium Acceptable - Acceptable - Unacceptable - Unacceptable - Transmalle - Transmalle -

- 6. Click Save & done.
- 7. Select from an existing item type or add a new item type, then click Add field.
- 8. Confirm that the calculation input fields were added to the item: make sure the pick lists match the configuration pick lists used for the calculation lookup matrix source you want.
- 9. In the Add field window that opens, select **Lookup matrix** as the calculation type. Select from an existing lookup matrix as the calculation source, then select from available fields as calculation inputs.

d field		
Select a Field Type		
Predefined Fields:	Nething (celerater)	*
Custom Fields:	Calculated and Logic	¥
Field label:	Risk Score	
Infotip:		
Unique Field Name:	risk_score	
Read Only:		
Allow API Overwrite:		
Is Required:		
Use to Trigger Suspect:		
Synchronize:		
Calculated		
Calculated fields are comp	uted from the values of other field	types
Select the calculation type	e	
Calculation Type:	Lookup matrix	~
Select the calculation sou	Irc Average	
Calculation Source:	Lookup matrix	
	Multiply	
	Sum	

10. Click Save.

# **Configure organization detail**

Early in the setup process, configure the details for your organization, including organization name and description, base URL, how subscriptions are handled, and more.



## NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Details.

T STREAM	ROJECI S REVIEWS RISK ADMIN	Actile Works test	hanne than the shares of the pit tog o
Organization Project 🔍	Organization admin		Hel
Details	Details		-√- 1,433
Categories			Fdit
Editor templates			
litern types	Organization name:		
Jama Connect Advisor	Description:		
P License	Return email:		
Lookup matrices	Base URL:		
OSLC	Rich text image max width (px):	0	
Permissions	Rich text image max height (px):	o	
E Pick lists	Allow users to subscribe others:	Yes	
Plugins	Allow users to mute subscriptions:	Yes	
■ Relationships	Allow non-administrators to delete items/containers	Ves	
Reports	Allow analysis administration apparent to all unary and apparentation around	No	
Review center	Anow project auministrators access to an users and organization groups.	NO	
Risk management	Include unexecuted test runs in status calculations (not retroactive):	NO	
P Stream	Allow multiple items with the same Global ID in a single project:	Yes	
System health report	Java Date Time Format:	MM/dd/yyyy	hh:mm:ss a z
User groups	Global ID prefix	GID	edit
Users	Global ID next counter value		edit
Workflow	Document view	Enab	led Configure
	Baselines status	Base	line status Disable
	The baselines status has been configured. The assigned pick list can't be changed.	The baselines status can or	ly be enabled or disabled.
	MathType and ChemType editor format	PNG	: Small (96 dpi) Configure
	1 PNG: Normal (300 dpi) quality is recommended for exporting		

- 2. Configure these details for your company:
  - **Organization name** The name of your company or team. Each instance of Jama Connect can have only one organization. The organization name is also used for reports.
  - Description An explanation and additional information about your company.
  - Return email A return address for email notifications. Typically the organization admin's email address is used or noreply@example.com.
  - **Base URL** When email notifications include links to items, the link is created from the base URL for your Jama Connect installation. For example, http://localhost:8080/contour. Attachments (images etc) depend on this setting being accurate.
  - Rich text image max width (px) Maximum pixel width setting that shrinks all images embedded into rich text fields. Default is 0, no maximum width is applied.
  - Rich text image max height (px) Maximum pixel height setting that shrinks all images embedded into rich text fields. Default is 0, no maximum height is applied.



### IMPORTANT

Images retain their ratio when adjusted to fit the maximum setting for height or width. The adjustment only happens during an upload or document import. Images that already exist on the server aren't adjusted. Compression occurs based on the width and height settings.

- Allow users to subscribe others Users can subscribe other users to items.
- Allow users to mute subscriptions Users can turn off a subscription that another user subscribed them to.
- Allow non-administrators to delete items/containers Users who have create/edit permissions can delete items. When disabled, only organization admins can delete items.
- Allow project administrators access to all users and organization groups Project admins can see all projects' users and groups. When disabled, project admins can see only their own project's groups and users.

• Include unexecuted test runs in status calculations (not retroactive) — (Default) Jama Connect includes all associated test runs to automatically calculate test case status. When deselected, unexecuted test runs are not included unless there are no executed test runs.



# NOTE

For test cases associated with a single plan, test case status reflects the status of the test run with the *most recent activity*, which includes unexecuted tests if this option is enabled. When the case is associated with multiple plans, the *most urgent status* is chosen, in this priority order: unexecuted, failed, blocked, scheduled, passed.

Deselect this box to remove unexecuted test runs from that priority order.

- · Allow multiple items with the same global ID in a single project
- Java Date Time Format Formats include month/day/year (default), year/month/day, and day/ month/year.
- Change global ID [550] Change or add a prefix or an optional item type key in front of the global ID assigned to items.
- Configure the baselines status for pick lists After you create a baseline-specific pick list, you can enable the baseline status to select the pick list. The baselines status pick list can't be edited after you configure it.

Once you create a baseline-specific pick list, you can enable the baseline status to be able to select the pick list. The baselines status pick list can't be edited after you configure [552] it.

• MathType and ChemType editor format — For the best results, use PNG format with quality 300 dpi. When the equation format is changed, existing equations keep their current format until they are edited.

Conf	igure MathType and Ch	emTyp	pe format	0	*
Existin	g symbols will keep their curren	it format			
۲	PNG Image format that supports data compression without loss.	0	SVG XML-based ver format for defin dimensional gr	otor image ling two- aphics	9
PNG QI	UALITY: mall (96 doi)				4
~N	ormal (300 dpi)*				_
L	arge (600 dpi)				
÷	xtra large (1200 dpl)		-		el

### Item types

Item types are the templates for sets used within each project.

While sets are unique to each project, item types can be used in projects [646] across the entire organization. Item types can't be customized for individual projects.

Each item type can be configured [608] to best fit your organization and methodology. The fewer item types that your organization creates, the easier it is to manage items.

Additionally, every item type is automatically assigned an API ID for reporting purposes, which can't be specified or changed.

### Add and edit item types

You can create a new item type, add or delete fields [595] in an existing item type, or change the item type details. Once an item type is created, users can add it to their project.



### NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to add and edit item types.

### Important considerations

- Changes to an item type affect that item type in all projects. Item types can't be customized for individual projects.
- Jama Connect comes with a core set of item types that can't be deleted. When you select Admin > Organization > Item types, core item types don't include a Delete option.
- You can see a list of core item type fields in Admin > Organization > Item Types > Core > Views > Projects List View - Mixed Item Types. Custom fields can't be selected for visibility in mixed item type views.

Projects List View with Mixed Item Types - Mixe	ed ite	em types 🔹 🕄 🔀
		Projects List View with Mixed Item Types 🗸
Drag and drop to hide/show and re-order Hidden fields Heading API ID Description Last Locked By Last Locked Release Assigned To Created By Created Date Modified Date Project Global ID Last Activity Date # of Upstream Relationships	fielc	Visible fields Item Type Locked ID Name Connected Users # of Comments Relationship Status
		Save Close

• Before a new item type can be used in a project, it must be added to that project by a project or organization admin.



# TIP

The fewer item types that your organization creates, the easier it is to manage items and to report on the sets based on those item types.

#### To add or edit an item type:

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Item types.
- 2. To add a new item type, click **Add item type**. To edit an existing item type, click **Edit** for the item type you want to modify.

🙏 🏠 STREAM	i PR	OJECTS REV	IEWS RISK	ADMIN			Acme	e Works Admi	n Tosti (	Raporte	Help	Log Ou
Organization Project	« o	rganization admin										Holy
Details	It	em types									N	- 327
Categories							-	Add item type	Item ty	/pe fields fo	r New typ	pe for te
Editor templates	age	Display	Plural	Key	Description	API-	System	Action	4	11	×o	Add fie
litem types	,	Attachment	Attachmente	ATT	Attachment Type	22	Var	Viewe	Order	Label	Infotip	Unique
P License	â	Block Requirement	Block Requirements	BLKRQ	Augument type	97	No	Edit   Views   Delete	1	Project ID		docum
Lookup matrices	5	Change Request	Change Requests	CR		28	No	Edit Views   Delete	-			
O OSLC	I	Component	Components	CMP	Component type	30	Yes	Edit   Views	2	Global ID		globalik

3. In the Add item type window that opens, select or modify the following options:

Display: Display plural: Description:			
'Type key: Use as:	Default		
Widgets:	Inactive widgets	Active widgets	
	Relationships Synchronized Items Attachments Links Tags Versions Change Request Risk OSLC Artifacts		
Library icon:			
Custom icon:	No custom icon saved Browse No file selected.	o and 16x16 pixels.	

- **Display** (Required) Name for a single item of this item type.
- **Display plural** (Required) Name for multiple items of this item type.
- **Description** Explanation for how this item type is used or how it is distinguished from other item types.
- **Type key** (Required) The default ID Prefix that is shown when creating a set using the item type. It can be overwritten.
- Use as Option if you are using this item type for special use for test [362]. (If you're using the REST API to create an item type, it refers to this as a Category).
- Widgets Small embedded applications that add functionality to item types. Read more about widgets [676] or how to enable or disable them [611].
- **Image** (Required) The icon displayed for this item types. Icons are used as the set icon, the list view icon, and the icon at the upper-left of the item view.
- Library icon and Custom icon (Required) The icon for the item type you're editing. Icons are used for set (container), List View, and in the upper left corner in Single Item View. Admins can use default icons or upload their own custom 16x16 pixel icon. Custom icons can't be reused and must be uploaded for each item type.

	<b>NOTE</b> A custom icon must be deleted by an admin to revert to a library icon.
Library icor Custom ico	n: No custom icon saved
	Browse No file selected.  The file chosen must be a .png and 16x16 pixels.

- API ID A reference ID that is automatically assigned to an item type for API reporting purposes. You can see this ID by selecting Admin > Item types, but it cannot be specified or changed.
- 4. Click Save.



### IMPORTANT

You can delete an item type but you are prompted to delete any existing items of that type before you delete it. To delete, select the item type you want to delete and click **Delete**.

#### Enable or disable item widgets

Widgets are small embedded applications that add functionality to item types.



# NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

#### Available widgets include:

- Activities [241]
- Attachments [89]
- Change request [268]
- Relationships [307]
- Synchronized items [329]
- Tags [86]
- Versions [263]

#### To enable or disable widgets:

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Item types.
- 2. Click **Edit** in the row of the item type where you want to enable or disable widgets.
- 3. To enable a widget, select the widget's name [676] in the **Inactive widgets** column to move it to the **Active widgets** column.

Each widget in the Active widgets column has a **synchronize toggle** button next to its name (gray = disabled; black = enabled).



# NOTE

Adding the relationship widget automatically also adds the Relationship Status Indicator [308]. They can't be used separately.

4. To indicate that a widget can be synchronized, click its **synchronize toggle** button

dd item type			17
*Display: *Display plural: Description: *Type key: Use as:	Default		
Widgets:	Inactive widgets Activities Relationships Synchronized Items Versions Change Request Risk OSLC Artifacts	Active widgets Attachments Links Tags	
Library icon: Custom icon:	No custom icon saved Browse No file selected.	ng and 16x16 pixels.	
			Sava Cancel



# NOTE

If you disable synchronization for a specific widget, when an item of that type is synchronized, that widget isn't included in synchronization, nor is that widget taken into account when sync status is calculated.

- 5. To disable a widget, click the **X** next to the widget's name in the **Active widgets** column.
- 6. Click Save.
### Use a different item type as a test case or defect

You can use any item type as a defect or a test case. When you select test case, test steps and test case status are added to that item type.



## NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

#### 1. Select Admin > Organization > Item types.

- 2. Click **Edit** in the row of the item type you want to change to a test case.
- 3. In the **Add/Edit item type** window that opens, select the pull-down menu next to the **Use as** field and select one of the options: **Test case** or **Defect**.

dd item type			(P)
*Display: *Display plural: Description: *Type key: Use as: Widgets:	Defect Defects This defect is being used for tes DEF Default Test Case Defect Relationships Synchronized Items Versions Change Request Risk OSLC Artifacts	t nuners Active widgets Attachments Links Tags	
Library icon: Custom icon:	No custom icon saved Browse No file selected.	ng and 16x16 pixels.	
			Save Cancel

4. Click Save.

### Enable test case item

If testers need more formatting options when they edit their test cases, specifically for steps, a WYSI-WYG editor that is similar to the one used in most item Description fields is available.



## NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

#### Important considerations

- When you disable rich text, no data is lost, but images and rich text are replaced with HTML tags. Users don't see any existing steps break and the content is still rendered. The user must decide which formatting tags to remove.
- The application doesn't automatically strip tags, and renders correct HTML tags in steps with or without the rich text mode enabled.
- To hide the test case status from view, see Hide test case status field [599].

#### To enable test case item:

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Item types.
- 2. Select the item type you want to use, which is a Test Case [362] type.
- 3. In the right panel, select the **Steps** field, then select the **Edit** pencil icon.

Organization Project	~	Orga	anization adm	nin											Hel
🚊 Details		Iter	m types												₩ 327
Categories								0	Add item type	Item ty	pe fields for	r Steps	11	×	Add fiel
T Editor templates			requienters	redenatione						1	S. 2	1	Unique Fletd	Fleid	1. 1
litem types			Register Block	Register Map	REG_BLK		55	No	Edit   Views	Order	Label	Infotip	Name	Туре	Control
License			Register Description	Register Descriptions	REG_DESC		56	No	Edit   Views	1	Project ID		documentKey	Text Field	
Lookup matrices			Set	Sets	SET	Set type	31	Yes	Edit   Views	2	Global ID		globalld	Text Field	
O OSLC		\$	Stakeholder Requirement	Stakeholder Requirements	SHRQ		45	No	Edit   Views	3	Name		name	Text Field	
Permissions	1	-	Steps	Steps	testCaseSteps		142	No	Edit   Views	-	Description		description	Text	Rich
E Pick lists		1	Subsystem	Subsystem	SVER		61	No	Edit I Views	-	Description		description	Box	Text
5 Plugins		*	Verification	Verifications	or En c				and there	5	Assigned		assignedTo	User	
De l'hogeto			System	System	SYSARCH		58	No	Edit   Views	6	Release		release	Release	
See Relationships		_	Architecture	Architecture				AL.	Tall 1 Minutes	7	Test Case		testCaseStatus		
2 Reports			lest	lest			141	NO	Edit   Views		Junus				
Review center		8	Test Cycle	Test Cycles	TSTCY	Fields that apply to	36	Yes	Views	8	Steps		testCaseSteps	Steps	Text
Risk management						Test Cycles					Test Run		ta at Dura Direction	Test	
C Stream		直	Test Plan	Test Plans	TSTPL	Fields that apply to	35	Yes	Edit   Views	a	Results		testkunkesuits	Results	

4. In the Edit field window that opens, select Allow Rich Text to enable the feature.

Edit field			$\boxtimes$
Field label:	Steps		
Use to Trigger Suspect:			
Synchronize:	✓		
Allow Rich Text:	✓		
		Save	Cancel

#### 5. Click Save.

## Change a set key

You can edit a set ID or renumber items in a set at any time.



# NOTE

You must have organization or project admin permissions to complete this task.

1. Select Projects, right-click on the set you want to modify, then select Change set key.



- 2. In the **Confirm Set Key Change** window that opens, enter the new set key, which must be 1–16 characters long, consisting of only letters, numbers, and underscores.
- 3. Select **Regenerate Item IDs** to reset the counter to 1 and to apply new numbering to all existing items.



## IMPORTANT

Don't select **Regenerate Item IDs** if you want to restart numbering on newly created items. Leave existing items as they are.

## **Configure workflow**

Workflows aren't project-specific. When you configure a workflow, it applies to the item type across projects.



## NOTE

You must have organization or process admin permissions to complete this task.

#### Important considerations

- If the organization admin selects Allow project managers to override workflows on a project, the project admin for each project can set up the workflows.
- If you disable a workflow, Jama Connect stores your settings for later use.

- An organization admin can disable a workflow from the Workflow Administration section.
- Selecting these Workflow options, Enable workflow for this organization and Allow project managers to override workflows on a project might impact system performance.
- Workflow applies to all projects using the selected item type and can't be disabled at a project level.

#### To configure workflow:

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Workflow.

Organization Project	Organization admin			
🚊 Details	Workflow			- <del>-</del> - 28
Categories Editor templates item types	<ul> <li>Enable workflow for this org</li> <li>Allow project managers to c</li> </ul>	anization override workflows on a project.		
🛩 License	Workflow Administration			🚱 Add / Edit 🗍
Lookup matrices	item Type	Workflow Type	Versioning Enabled	Action
OSLC	User Story	Organization	Yes	Config   Delete
Permissions	Design Description	Organization	Yes	Config   Delete
E Pick lists	Block Requirement	Organization	No	Config   Delete
Plugins	Change Request	Organization	No	Config   Delete
Relationships				
2 Reports				
Review center				
Risk management				
Stream				
1 System health report				
User groups				
S Users				
D saved mean				

- 2. Select options to enable workflow for all projects using this item type:
  - Enable workflow for this organization.
  - (Optional) Allow project managers to override workflows on a project.
- 3. Under **Workflow Administration**:
  - To start a new workflow, click Add/Edit.
  - To edit a workflow, click **Config** in the **Action** column.

Wo	rkflow Administration			Add / Edit at
3	Item Type	Workflow Type	Versioning Enabled	Action
1	Market Requirement	Organization	Yes	Config   Delete
	System Requirement	Organization	Yes	Config   Delete

From here, a project admin can continue to set up the project workflow [653].

## Set up editor templates

Editor templates can be applied to any rich text field and must be configured before use.



NOTE

You must have system or organization admin permissions to complete this task.

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Editor templates.

- To create new template with a rich text editor, click **Add editor template** and give it a name and description.
- To edit an existing template, select a template, then click Edit.

📥 🧥 STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK	ADMIN	Acme Works Admin 7	iest   Reports -   Help   Log Out
Organization Project **	Organization admin			Help
Details	Editor templates			-∿- 285
Categories				C Add editor template
Editor templates	Name	Description	Actions	
🔜 Item types 🥟 License	Approver Table		Edit Del	ete
H Lookup matrices	Change History Table		Edit   Del	ete

- 2. Create or edit the template as you want it to appear in other items.
- 3. Click Save.

The template is now available to other users [97].

## **Configure views**

You can configure the default fields in Projects List View, Projects Reading View, Reviews Single Item View, and Reviews Reading View.

You can also configure views in Projects that contain mixed item types, such as views created from a tag, filter, or component, by selecting **Projects List View with mixed item types**.



#### NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions in order to configure default views.

Configuring fields for a view [48] overrides the default and becomes the standard order of visible fields for that user, in all similar views, for that item type.

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Item types > Views.

🙏 🏠 STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS	RISK ADMIN		Acme Works	Admin Test	[ Reports	-   Help
Organization Project	Crganization admin						
🚊 Details	Item types						-1
Categories						Add	item type
I Editor templates	Datasheet	Datasheet	DATA	100	No 1	Edit Views	Delete
Item types	E Defect	Defects	BUG	27	No	Edit Views	Deleto
🔑 License	] Design Description	Design Descriptions	DES	95	No I	Edit Views	Delete
Lookup matrices	] Disabled field	Disabled fields	dfld	133	No I	Edit Views	Delete

2. In the **Project List View** window that opens, select the view you want to configure.

Projects List View - Block Requirements			? ×
		Projects List View	~
		Projects List View	
Drag and drop to hide/show and re-order field	elds	S Projects List View with Mixed Item Types	
Hidden fields Heading API ID Global ID Last Locked By Last Locked Created By Created Date Modified By Modified Date Project # of Upstream Relationships	*	Vis Projects Reading View Projects Document View Review Center Single Item View Review Center Reading View # of Comments Relationship Status Name Description Symbol Min Typ Max	
# of Downstream Relationships		Unit	
Last Activity Date		Conditions	
Connected Users		Requirement Type	
Risk		Verification Type	Ť
		Save Close	Ð

- 3. Double-click a field name or use the arrows to move fields between the **Hidden** and **Visible** columns. Select and drag field names up or down to reorder them.
- 4. Click Save.



# NOTE

You can only select core item type fields when you configure List View for mixed item types. For a list of core item type fields, see **Admin > Item types > Core > Views**.

## **Managing relationships**

As an organization admin you can use several tasks to manage relationships.

- Edit relationship widget [611] in an item type
- Set the relationship types [568]
- Configure the Import Relationships Plugin [557]
- Set up relationship rules [571] at an organizational level

## **Configure relationships**

Before setting up relationships (traceability) between your artifacts, you need to set up the types and options available to users.



## NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Relationships > Edit.

🙏 🧥 STREAM	PROJECTS	REVIEWS	RISK	ADMIN		Acme Works	Aamin Test   Report	s -   Help   Log Out
Organization Project	Organization Relation	<sup>admin</sup> ships						Help -√- 285
Categories Editor templates tem types	Relationshi	p Options						- Edit
Clicense Cookup matrices Cookup Cookup	Show St Show No Allow re	atus in Relations ate in Relationsh lationship chang	ship Grid7: 1 p Grid7: 3es betweer	two locked	Yes Yes Yes			
Permissions	Relationshi	p Types					291	1 × 0 0
部 Plugins	Order	Display				Show Note	Show Status	Detautt
Contraction Relationships	1	Related to				true	true	51
A Reports	2	Dependent	no			false	false	
Review center	3	Derived from	n			false	false	
<ul> <li>Series and a series</li> </ul>	4	Mitigated by				true	true	

- 2. To change the relationship options from **No** to **Yes**, select each option:
  - Show Status in Relationship Grid?
  - Show Note in Relationship Grid?
  - · Allow relationship changes between two locked items?

**Note** and **Status** columns are added to the table in the bottom panel. The **Note** and **Status** fields are only editable when the relationship type is set to **Show Note** and **Show Status**.

- 3. Configure relationship types:
  - a. In the Relationships widget of an item, double-click on a relationship to edit its type, direction, status, and note.
  - b. Use the toolbar at the top of this panel to edit, add, or delete types.
  - c. Include a description to specify how and when this type is used.
- 4. Set up relationship rules [571].

#### Set relationship types

One part of the initial traceability setup is configuring the available relationship types.



# NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to set relationship types.

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Relationships.
- 2. Under **Relationship Types**, use the icons to add, edit (pencil), delete (X) or reorder (arrows) relationship types.

Organization Project	« Organization	admin				н
🗒 Details	Relation	ships				- <b>√</b> - 285
Categories	Relationshi	ip Options				Edit
is item types item types itense iten	Show St Show No Allow re items?:	atus in Relationship Grid7: ote in Relationship Grid7: lationship changes between two lock	Yes Yes Yes			
E Pick lists	Relationshi	ip Types			29	11×00
Plugins	Order	Display		Show Note	Show Status	Default
Selationships	1	Related to		true	true	
Reports	2	Dependent on		false	false	
Review center	3	Derived from		false	false	
	4	Mitigated by		true	true	

3. When adding a new relationship type, enter a display name and description. The description is only visible in this edit window.

Display:		
escription:		
Show Note:	0	
Show Status:	0	

(Optional) Select Show Note and Show Status to allow users who create a new relationship using this relationship type to enter a note and a status for that relationship.
 Status and notes are visible any time you reopen the Add/edit relationship window. Also, when notes and status are enabled under Relationship Options...

Relationship Options		Edit
Show Status in Relationship Grid?;	Yes	
Show Note in Relationship Grid7:	Yes	

... you see them in the bottom panel of Single Item View when **Relationships** is selected.

🔒 Stakeholder F	Requirem Market Require	amonts	MB_SP-PS-15		View all locked items	(9) Subscribe •	Email
Support H	ligh Level Opera Requirement + Modifi	ating ed 05	g Systems /10/2022 03:28:2	V4 -	1	B-+ €	Î
* 2					0 - 0		0
PROJECT ID MB_SP-PS-	°. 15						0.3
GLOBAL ID:						1.6	0
GID-57212							0
RELEASE:							
Table Layout	Visual Layout				📾 Relate Item(s) 📝 Edit	t - I V 🖹 🤇	) 🔲 Hic
ID	Name 🗻	E	Туре	Status	Note	Suspect	
🗉 1 Upstream Ite	6710						
SI-PS-24	Support High Level Op	合	Derived from			Yes: Clear	1
🖃 3 Downstream	n itoms						
SI_SOL-P_R	Coprocessor		Derived from			Yes: Clear	
MB_SP-DATA	New item	F	Related to	Low		Yes: Clear	
SI_J1-P_REQ	Processor Speed		Derived from			No	

You can also filter by status or note in an impact analysis [317].

Apply 🔄 Reset	茶	O Downstream	ALL	👻 🛛 💟 U	pstream ALL		÷	Run
Verified by		Source Item(s)						
		Project	ID	Name	Туре	Assigned	Тура	Path
Caused by		SANDBOX	SBX-SR-1	Waterproof while swimming and showering	System Requirement		Source Item	SBX-SR-1
Allocated to		Direct Relation	ship					
Validated By		Project	ID	Name	Тура	Assigned	Туре	Path
Verified By		SANDBOX	SBX- SUBSS-22	Environmental Resistance	Subsystem Requirement	1.2.5	Assimilated by	SBX-SR-1 -> SBX- SUBSS-22
Satisfied By								
Assimilated by								
Status:								
Low								
_ Medium								
] Medium 2 High								
⊡ Medium ☑ High Note:								

5. If you delete a relationship type, choose a replacement type for affected relationships.

Delete Relationship Type			×
Relationships with this type will	l be replaced. Please c	hoose a replacement value.	
Replacement Relationship	Related to	¥	_
Type.			
			- 1
			_
		Delete Cancel	

#### Set up relationship rules

Relationship rules help maintain the project structure by preventing problems with relationships [307]. The rules help users know when relationships are required and in which directions.



## NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

When relationship rules are set up, the Relationship Status Indicator [308] alerts users to easily see when their relationships don't match the relationship rules.

Rule sets are created at the organization level, and can then be applied to one or more projects.

#### To set up relationship rules:

- 1. Decide with your team which relationships to include, the relationship types, and whether the rules are exclusive and included in coverage calculations for the project.
- 2. Select Admin > Organization > Relationships and scroll down to the section labeled Relationship Rule Configuration to see any previously created rule sets.

Organization Project	C Organization admin					Hel
🚊 Details	Relationships					-∿- 285
Categories	The second se					
T Editor templates	Relationship Rule Configuration					0
ltem types	Semiconductor Project	pplies to Semicondu	uctor Sample Set ×	Semiconductor Framew	ork ×, & 6 more	- ×
License	View All   O Add project					
H Lookup matrices						
O OSLC			Block F	Requirement Design Descriptio	e Verification	
Permissions	Product	Requirement System	Architecture			Defect
E Pick lists	Se Stakeholder Reguirement.	+ (b) Da	lasheet		/ Validation	
Plugins						
Relationships						
Reports						
Review center						
🔄 Risk management	Upstream	Downstr	eam	Relationship Type	For Covera	ge
Difference Stream	Stakeholder Requirement	→ 🗏 Produ	ct Requirement	Derived from	Yes	×
1 System health report						
3 User groups	Product Requirement	→ Syste	m Architecture	Derived from	Yes	×
🚨 Users	Stakeholder Requirement	🔸 🧹 Valida	ition	Dependent on	Yes	×
🔮 Workflow	Block Requirement	+ Verific	ation	Dependent on	No	×

- 3. Scroll to the bottom and select **Add rule set**.
  - a. Select New Rule Set and edit the name to describe your set.

Upstream	Downstream	Relationship Type	For		
Upstream Type 🔹 🔶	Downstream Type •	[Any]	] @	Save Cancel	
Add relationship					
Allow any item type not	mentioned in this rule set	to be related to any item	type including th	ose in the rule set.	

b. Add a rule by selecting the item type for Upstream, Downstream, and Relationship type from the drop-down menus. Select **For coverage** if you want this relationship included for coverage.



# NOTE

Configure the same rule set across projects that share relationships. If you relate items across projects with different rule sets, the source project's rule set is applied.

c. Click Save.

As the rule is saved, it is added to the diagram, indicating the relationship.

d. (Optional) Click Add another relationship to include another relationship for this rule set.

As rules are created, the diagram is updated to show the relationships. Solid lines between items indicate a coverage (required) relationship. Dashed lines indicate relationships that aren't for coverage.





Once you've set relationship rules for a project, you can also view the relationship rules diagram in Single Item View or on the dashboard [157].

- 4. To delete a rule, select the **X** at the end of the rule's row. To delete an entire rule set, select the **X** at the top right of the rule set. After editing or deleting a rule, the rule set diagram is updated with any changes made.
- 5. Click **Add project** to apply the rule set to one or more projects. If a rule set is applied to a project with existing items, nothing changes in that project, even if the existing relationships break the new rules. Only future relationships are required to conform with the rule set.



# IMPORTANT

A project can have only one rule set. If a rule set has already been applied to a project and you try to apply another, the application removes the first rule set from the project and applies the second one.

6. (Optional) Select **Allow any item type not mentioned in this rule set...** to allow users to create relationships outside the rule set you applied to the project.

Rules are between item types. If you don't define a rule for a particular item type, that item type can have a relationship with anything (or nothing if the user chooses), even if the rule set is exclusive.

## **Configure the Import Relationships Plugin**

The Import Relationships Plugin helps you batch create relationships between existing items in the application.



## NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

### Important considerations

- Before you use the Import Relationships Plugin in Jama Connect, you must first create a direct relationship between the items you plan to link. Otherwise, the linking might fail. For example, when you link *use case item types* to *test case item types*, you must first define a relationship rule for that project. For more information, see Set up relationship rules [622].
- For information on how to use the Import Relationships Plugin, see the Relationship Plugin Tutorial

#### To configure the plugin:

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Plugins > Add plugin entry.

Organization	Project	*	Organization adm	in				Help
📃 Details			Plugins					-√- 279
Categories							1	X Add plugin entry
Editor templa	ates		Name	Notes	Plugin Type	Plugin Class	Plugin Params	Active
ltem types			User Import	Test	Import			true
License								
🖪 Lookup matri	ices							
O OSLC								
Permissions								
E Pick lists								
Plugins								

2. In the Add plugin entry window that opens, enter the following information and click Save.

Add plugin entry		×
Name:		
Enabled:		
Class:		
Туре:	×	
Parameters:	Event	
	Import	
Plugin Notes:		
	Save Cancel	

- Name Enter a name you visible to users. For example, Import Relationships.
- Enabled Make the plugin available to users.
- **Class (case sensitive)** Enter the name of the object defined in the source code. For a single project enter:

com.jamasoftware.contour.plugin.jama.ImportRelationships

For cross-project imports enter:

### com.jamasoftware.contour.plugin.jama.ImportRelationshipsCrossProject

- Type Import
- Parameters Set relationship parameters [559]
- Plugin notes Add any notes you have here. This isn't visible to end users.
- 3. When the information is correct, click **Save**.



TIP

For a sample entry of a cross-project import, see Set relationship parameters [559].

Add Plugin Entry		×
Name:	Requirements to Use Case Plugin	
Enabled:		
Class;	com.jamasoftware.contour.plugin.jama.ImportRelationships	
Туре:	Import	*
Parameters:	parentType=24; childType=25; parentField=documentKey; childField=documentKey;	
Plugin Notes:	Relate upstream Requirements to downstream Use Cases using th Unique ID.	e
	Save Cance	51

## **Managing tests**

As an organization admin you can do the following to manage tests:

- Include unexecuted test runs in status calculations [605]
- Enable rich text in test steps [598]
- Use an item type as a test case or defect [613]

### Test run item

A test run is a system item and can't be deleted. It serves as the record of a test being executed.

When a test case is associated with a test cycle, a test run is automatically created in that cycle. An automatic association is created between that test run and its originating test case, test cycle, test group, and test plan. These associations contextualize the test run.

A test run's name, description, and steps are the same as its originating test case at the time the run was created.

Organization Project	Organization admin Help
Details	Item types vic 5,147
Details  Categories  Categori	Add tem type       tem type fields for Test Run       Field         System Requirement       System Requirements       L1       Name       Field         Test       Test       Test Case       TC       Field       Test Plan       Test Plan         Test Case       Test Case       TC       Field       Test Case       TC         Test Case       Test Case       TC       Field       Test Case       TC         Test Case       Test Case       TC       Field label:       Status       Status         Test Case       Test Cycle       Test Cycle       Test Cycle       Test Plan       Test Plan         Test Run       Test Plan       Test Plan       Test Plan       Test Plan         Test Run       Test Plan       Test Plan       Test Plan       Test Plan         Test Run       Test Plan       Test Plan       Test Plan       Test Plan         Itest n1       test n2       Test Plan       Test Plan       Test Plan         Itest n2       test n2       Test Plan       Test Plan       Test Plan         Itest n2       test n2       Test Plan       Test Plan       Test Plan         Itest n3       Test Plan       Test Plan       Test Plan <td< th=""></td<>
<ul> <li>User groups</li> <li>Users</li> <li>Workflow</li> </ul>	Image: Second

## Status — Available statuses

Passed and Failed are required statuses that can't be changed or disabled. "Not applicable" is an optional status that can be enabled when certain test steps and/or tests might not be applicable to all testing scenarios. Not applicable status in a step or test run is excluded from any result calculation.

## Status — Default behavior for completing steps out of order

Select one of the three options for how the system might behave when a tester skips a test step and does not assign it a status:

- · Assign "Passed" to all skipped steps
- Do not assign status to any skipped steps
- · Allow tester to select status for skipped step (for example, ignore, pass, fail)

## Managing collaboration

Collaboration includes emails [228], electronic signatures [257], the stream [236], reviews [162], and workflows [230].

## Configure organization detail

Early in the setup process, configure the details for your organization, including organization name and description, base URL, how subscriptions are handled, and more.



# NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Details.

T STREAM	ROJECI S REVIEWS RISK ADMIN	Actile Works test	hanne than the shares of the pit tog o
Organization Project 🔍	Organization admin		Hel
Details	Details		-√- 1,433
Categories			Fdit
Editor templates			
litern types	Organization name:		
Jama Connect Advisor	Description:		
P License	Return email:		
Lookup matrices	Base URL:		
OSLC	Rich text image max width (px):	0	
Permissions	Rich text image max height (px):	o	
E Pick lists	Allow users to subscribe others:	Yes	
Plugins	Allow users to mute subscriptions:	Yes	
■ Relationships	Allow non-administrators to delete items/containers	Ves	
Reports	Allow analysis administration apparent to all unary and apparentation around	No	
Review center	Anow project auministrators access to an users and organization groups.	NO	
Risk management	Include unexecuted test runs in status calculations (not retroactive):	NO	
P Stream	Allow multiple items with the same Global ID in a single project:	Yes	
System health report	Java Date Time Format:	MM/dd/yyyy	hh:mm:ss a z
User groups	Global ID prefix	GID	edit
Users	Global ID next counter value		edit
Workflow	Document view	Enab	led Configure
	Baselines status	Base	line status Disable
	The baselines status has been configured. The assigned pick list can't be changed.	The baselines status can or	ly be enabled or disabled.
	MathType and ChemType editor format	PNG	: Small (96 dpi) Configure
	1 PNG: Normal (300 dpi) quality is recommended for exporting		

- 2. Configure these details for your company:
  - **Organization name** The name of your company or team. Each instance of Jama Connect can have only one organization. The organization name is also used for reports.
  - Description An explanation and additional information about your company.
  - Return email A return address for email notifications. Typically the organization admin's email address is used or noreply@example.com.
  - **Base URL** When email notifications include links to items, the link is created from the base URL for your Jama Connect installation. For example, http://localhost:8080/contour. Attachments (images etc) depend on this setting being accurate.
  - Rich text image max width (px) Maximum pixel width setting that shrinks all images embedded into rich text fields. Default is 0, no maximum width is applied.
  - Rich text image max height (px) Maximum pixel height setting that shrinks all images embedded into rich text fields. Default is 0, no maximum height is applied.



## IMPORTANT

Images retain their ratio when adjusted to fit the maximum setting for height or width. The adjustment only happens during an upload or document import. Images that already exist on the server aren't adjusted. Compression occurs based on the width and height settings.

- Allow users to subscribe others Users can subscribe other users to items.
- Allow users to mute subscriptions Users can turn off a subscription that another user subscribed them to.
- Allow non-administrators to delete items/containers Users who have create/edit permissions can delete items. When disabled, only organization admins can delete items.
- Allow project administrators access to all users and organization groups Project admins can see all projects' users and groups. When disabled, project admins can see only their own project's groups and users.

• Include unexecuted test runs in status calculations (not retroactive) — (Default) Jama Connect includes all associated test runs to automatically calculate test case status. When deselected, unexecuted test runs are not included unless there are no executed test runs.



# NOTE

For test cases associated with a single plan, test case status reflects the status of the test run with the *most recent activity*, which includes unexecuted tests if this option is enabled. When the case is associated with multiple plans, the *most urgent status* is chosen, in this priority order: unexecuted, failed, blocked, scheduled, passed.

Deselect this box to remove unexecuted test runs from that priority order.

- · Allow multiple items with the same global ID in a single project
- Java Date Time Format Formats include month/day/year (default), year/month/day, and day/ month/year.
- Change global ID [550] Change or add a prefix or an optional item type key in front of the global ID assigned to items.
- Configure the baselines status for pick lists After you create a baseline-specific pick list, you can enable the baseline status to select the pick list. The baselines status pick list can't be edited after you configure it.

Once you create a baseline-specific pick list, you can enable the baseline status to be able to select the pick list. The baselines status pick list can't be edited after you configure [552] it.

 MathType and ChemType editor format — For the best results, use PNG format with quality 300 dpi. When the equation format is changed, existing equations keep their current format until they are edited.

	remity	be format	0	*
symbols will keep their currer	nt format			
NG mage formal that upports data ompression without loss.	0	SVG XML-based vec format for defin dimensional gre	tor imag ing two- iphics.	le
LITY:				Q.
mal (300 dpi)*				-
je (600 dpi)				
a large (1200 dpi)				el
	ymbols will keep their curren <b>'NG</b> nage format that upports data ompression without loss. LITY: all (96 dpi) mal (300 dpi)* ge (600 dpi) a large (1200 dpi)	ymbols will keep their current format NG nage format that upports data ompression without loss. LITY: all (96 dpi) mal (300 dpi)* ge (600 dpi) a large (1200 dpi)	rNG nage format that upports data ompression without loss. LITY: all (96 dpi) mal (300 dpi)* ge (600 dpi) a large (1200 dpi)	ymbols will keep their current format NG nage format that upports data ompression without loss. LITY: all (96 dpi) mal (300 dpi)* ge (600 dpi) a large (1200 dpi)

## Edit user subscriptions

Users can subscribe to and control their own email notifications. However, if a user's subscriptions were added by someone other than the user, only an admin can make changes.

Organization admins can unsubscribe a user; project admins can only mute a user's subscriptions.



## NOTE

You must have organization or project admin permissions to complete this task.

#### To edit a user's subscriptions:

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Users.
- 2. Select Subscriptions in a user row to open the Edit subscriptions window.

Edit subscriptions								
Groups Users		-				Unsubscri	be selected	
p. Seiner	Top 100 shown	0	Project	Notifications	Subscribed By	Subscribed	Action	
Admin Test			Semiconductor Project 2.0	Set: SI_S2_P-SET-26 INFORMATION	Admin Test		Unsubscribe	
Adrian			Semiconductor Project 2.0	S)_S2_P-INFO-1 Test Requirements for Article (including child items)	Admin Test		Unsubscribe	
Basic User		0	Semiconductor Project 2.0	SI_S2_P-INFO-3 Item A (including child items)	Admin Test		Unsubscribe	
Creater Float								

- 3. Select a user from the left column to display their current subscriptions in the right column.
  - To remove a single subscription, click **Unsubscribe** in the Action column.
  - To remove multiple subscriptions for a user, select the subscriptions in the Notifications column, then click **Unsubscribe selected** in the top right corner.
- 4. To edit a group subscription, select Admin > Organization > User groups > Subscriptions.

## Manage stream comments

Decide whether you want to use Jama Connect for collaboration within and across projects and items. The stream is the method for sharing comments on items and making and closing decisions.



# NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Stream.

Organization admin	Help
Stream	-√- 1,590
Disable Stream and project comments	
Stream and project comments settings	
Enable new comments in global Stream	
Allow users to invite new users to Jama by email You can invite someone using their email address. If the email doesn't match an existing Jama Connect, LDAP, ActiveDirectory then a new user is created and they can register themselves. New users only have access to the comment threads they are me use a single introductory license.	; or Crowd user, antioned in and
Only allow email addresses with these email domains (Leave blank for any domain, separate domains using a comma with no	spaces between)
Leave this blank to allow any email domain. Separate domains using a comma with no spaces between.	
Comment update frequency (in seconds): 20 Warning: decreasing this value may cause application performance degradation (default: 60 seconds). Save settings	



# NOTE

Separate domains with a comma and don't add a space between the comma and next domain.

- 2. Configure these settings as needed:
  - Disable Stream and project comments Turns off the stream.
  - Enable new comments in global Stream Displays comments when you access the stream from the header.
  - Allow users to invite new users to Jama Connect by email Gives users the ability to add users outside of Jama Software with @mention.

Those who accept invitations automatically receive a temporary license [583] but only have rights to view the discussion threads to which they have been invited. Organization administrators can give them more rights, but will need to change the license type to a permanent one before their 30 day license expires. An organization has unlimited temporary licenses, which have full creator permissions.

- Only allow email addresses with these domains Restricts invitations to email addresses within a specific domain. Separate multiple domain entries with a comma.
- Comment update frequency Controls how often the stream is updated with new comments.
- 3. Click Save settings.

## Managing reviews

As an organization admin, you can manage many aspects of a review, including permissions, access, licenses, and more.

Users with reviewer, test runner, collaborator, and stakeholder licenses can participate in reviews but can't create reviews. When a user is invited to participate in a review, they automatically get a reviewer license. Reviewer licenses don't automatically grant read- or write-access to project data.

To manage reviews, you can:

- Grant permissions to a review admin [589]
- Assign reviewer licenses [582]

- Configure access to reviews [632]
- Configure item workflow for Approval Reviews [633]
- Determine which default fields are visible in reviews [617]
- Manage permissions by license type [583]

#### **Configure review access**

You might want to configure access to a review for certain members of your team to see the review. If your company follows specific processes, you can tailor the review access accordingly.

#### Important considerations

- You must be an organization admin to configure review settings.
- Reviews created before Jama Connect 8.61.x with the setting **Reviews can be public** disabled and later enabled, *those reviews become public*.
- Reviews created after Jama Connect 8.61.x with the setting **Reviews can be public** disabled and later enabled, *those reviews remain private*.
- For information about license types and reviewer roles, see Permission by license types [583].

#### To configure access to reviews:

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Review center.
- 2. Select the options you want and click Save settings.

STREAM	PROJECTS: REVIEWS RISK ADMIN Acme Works Admin Test   Response   Help   Log Out
Organization Project «	Organization admin Help
Details	Review center -/- 285
🗇 Categories	
Editor templates	Disable Review center
🔜 Item types	
🧈 License	Approval and Peer review templates
E Lookup matrices	Enable Approval review template. Approval reviews are required to extend item workflow to your Reviews.
O OSLC	Settings for Approval reviews can't be overridden by the moderators or creators of a review.
Permissions	Enable Peer review template
E Pick lists	Moderators may override settings in the review wizard.
部 Plugins	Configure default aphilons for Davidous. Medications have strande aphilons in the Davidous utrand
C Relationships	Conigure delauk settings for Neviews, moderators may override settings in the Neview wittard.
2 Reports	Electronic signature settings
Review center	Require electronic signatures from approvers
🔤 Risk management	Enable purper role for approvers. This supporties a source relevant ensurement water out
C Stream	
* System health report	Permission settings
🚰 User groups	
🚨 Users	Allow for review comments to also appear in the single item view within a project.
Workflow	Reviews can be public. If enabled, Reviews can be viewed by:
	Anyone with access to Review Center
	Only those with permission to ALL the items in the review
	Allow approvers to delegate their approval

- Disable reviews Blocks access to reviews.
- **Reviews can be public** (Default) Allows reviews to be viewed (read-only) by users with review access to public reviews. Select who can see public reviews.
  - Anyone with access to reviews Lets anyone, regardless of project permissions, to see all items in the review.
  - Only those with permission to ALL items in the review Lets users see a public review if they have access to all items in the review.
- Enable review moderators to invite users outside their project Lets review moderators give reviewers access to specific items in a project.

- Allow approvers to add other reviewers and approvers (Default) Lets approvers include other users and assign them roles as reviewer or approver.
- Allow approvers to delegate their approval (Default) Lets approvers appoint a reviewer to approve and sign for them.
- Allow review moderators to invite new users to Jama by email Lets moderators include non Jama Connect users. When they accept, they are automatically granted a reviewer license.
  - Only allow email addresses with these email domains Limits invitees to users with email domains you enter here. Leave it blank to allow any domain.

#### Item workflow for Approval Reviews

When you integrate Approval Reviews with your item workflow, you ensure that reviews are consistent and up to date. When enabled by an organization admin, moderators can use templates for Approval and Peer reviews.



# NOTE

You must be an organization admin to configure the item workflow for Approval Reviews.

This overview describes the process for using item workflow with review templates.

1 Enable Approval / Peer review templa	tes 2 En	able and configure Approval transition	s for Item Worfklow			
ADKIN Roview centor settings Approval review template Per review template	o>	ADMIN Workflow settings Workflow for Approval reviews Status Notifications Permission Lock Approved	o> 🖉 🖁	orkflow for approval O · · · · . views is configured!		
<ol> <li>Moderator solects Review to</li> </ol>	molate	Moderator initiates a	ew to Anoroual	6 Moderator finalizes the Approval review		
Initiate Review     Review     Approval review     Peer rev	few ••••	Transition to Approval review Approval review	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	House and interface the Applover ferror      Finalize Approval review      Workflow transitions     Rem type New status Notifications Lock      Story + Approved      Finalize review      Finalize review	o>	Approval review is Finalized and items are transitioned.

- 1. Organization admin From Admin > Organization > Review center:
  - 1. Select **Enable Approval review template**. Approval reviews are required to integrate the workflow for your review process
  - 2. (Optional) Select **Enable Peer review template**. Peer reviews can be transition to Approval reviews.
  - 3. Click Save settings.
- 2. Organization admin From Admin > Organization > Workflow:
  - 1. Select Enable a workflow transition to be enabled by a finalized Approval review.
  - 2. Configure the workflow transition status, notifications, lock state, and permissions that apply to the new approval review transition.

- 3. **Moderator** Create a review, then select the Peer review template in the review wizard.
- 4. Moderator View a Peer review and transition it to an Approval review.
- 5. **Moderator** When the Approval review is done, select **Finalize Approval review**.
- 6. **Moderator** After viewing the review overview and workflow transitions, select **Finalize review** to confirm the transition.

#### Types of review templates

The review templates are optional. You can use none, one, or both types. You don't need a Peer review template to finalize an Approval review.



## NOTE

Review templates are disabled by default. You must enable the Approval and Peer review templates to use them.

🙏 🧥 STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK ADMIN	Acme Works	Admin Tasi ( Reports - ( Help   Log Out
Organization Project	Organization admin		Halp
📃 Details	Review center		- <b>√</b> - 285
Categories			11.0
Editor templates	Disable Review center		
ltem types			
🯓 License	Approval and Peer review templates		
H Lookup matrices	Enable Approval review template. Approval reviews are r	equired to extend item workflow to your Re	aviews.
O OSLC	Settings for Approval reviews can't be overridden by the moder	ators or creators of a roview.	
Permissions	Enable Peer review template		
E Pick lists	Moderators may override settings in the review wizard.		
2월 Plugins	Approval review Peer review		
C Relationships			
Reports	Approval reviews settings can not be overriden by the mode	erators or creators of a review.	
Review center	Electronic signature settings		
Risk management	Require electronic signatures from approvers		
C Stream			
System health report	Enable signer role for approvers. This associates a sig	ner role with an approver's signature.	

- **Approval review template** Use when you want to collect signatures and need a review signed off. If workflow is enabled, you can batch update items [74] to an approved state.
- **Peer review template** Use when you have a review with ongoing iterations and when changes to items are always in the "ready for approval" state.

# **Organizing projects**

A project is a way of organizing your data in Jama Connect and is made up of items, filters, baselines, releases, reports and tests.

As an organization admin you can complete the project-level tasks of a project admin or you can grant project admin permissions [643] to a user who manages a particular project and its users.

Some tasks, such as the following, are related to projects and must be done by the organization admin:

- Add a project [635] (available for project admins with Add Project role)
- Duplicate a project [637] (available for project admins with Add Project role)

- Archive a project [639]
- Grant project permissions [664] (if disabled for project admins)
- Add or delete groups [574] (if disabled for project admins)
- Set up projects workflow [653]
- Set up relationship rules [571]

# Add a project

If your organization has many projects or products, you can create a folder called "Product Line" with projects for major releases. You can also create a project to hold a library of common requirements or documents that you can reuse [322].



## NOTE

You must be an organization or project admin with the Add Project role to complete this task.

### 1. Select Admin > Project, then select Add project.

Organization C	Project	Froject Ballin	1000		
Add - Actions -	(李)	Clear 3	Hearin	g Aid	
Add project	Projects				_
B. Add Folder	ng Aid Clear 3 Hearing	Details	Settings	Item Types	Release List
Cuick Loa	ns				
Clear Port	of Clear 3 Hearing ( folio Group (ARCHIVED)	Project I	Key:		

- 2. (Optional) Add a folder to organize your projects.
- 3. Set up relationship rules for the project [571]. Only one rule set can be applied to each project.
- 4. Set up project's workflow [653] as needed.

## Edit project details

Update the name, key contributors, and other high-level details for a project.



## NOTE

You must have project or organization admin permissions to edit project details.

1. Select Admin > Project, then select Details > Edit.

A STREAM PI	ROJECTS REVIEWS RISK ADMIN	Acme Works test	Admin Tent   Places -   Help   Log Out
Organization Project	Project admin		Help
Add - Actions -	Semiconductor Project 2.0		-4-8
Becently Viewed Projects			4.0
Semiconductor Project 2.0	Dataile Sattings Item Tungs Relasse List Lizen	Project Permissions Workflow	Attachmante Tag Managemant
Banana, Corp	Contrado Con	stanta richer annaann manna	rumanianta ing minuperiori
A New			Change project key Edit
Pantry Products			
KS Semiconductor Project 2.0	Project Key:	SI_S2_P	
Banana, Corp			
Demo LTE with Semiconductor	Name:	Semiconductor Project 2.0	
Duplicate of Semiconductor Sample :	a subsection of the section of the s		
Joyce's projects	Description:		
Live Trace Projects	This is the project we use for testing purposes.		
Megan's projects			
A New	Project Manager:	Admin Test	
A NewProject from Scratch		And the second second	
A No items project	Sponsor:	Org Admin User	
A Sara's Semiconductor Sample Set	Objective		
Semiconductor Framework	Objective.		
Semiconductor Project 2.0	Finalize testing by the end of Sprint 2.		
a Semiconductor Sample Set		08/21/2023	
Test with no category	Start Date:	00/2 1/2023	
E Work Projects	12120-0	08/31/2023	
	End Date:	00/3/1/2023	
		Activo	
	Status:	Active	
	Category:	New Development	
	API-ID:	45	

2. Make your changes, then click **Save**.

Organization Project	Project admin									Help
Add • Actions •	Semiconductor	Project 2	2.0						N	-8
Recently Viewed Projects	Details Californ	Ham Turan	Delease Lint	Harry	Conner	Designet Descelosione	Markflau	Alterburgh	Tes Managemen	
Banana, Corp	Details Settings	item rypes	Release List	Uaora	Groups	Froject Fermissiona	WORKNOW	Attachments	Save Cancel	0
KS Semiconductor Project 2.0	*Project Key:	SI_S2_P								
Banana, Corp	*Name:	Semicon	ductor Project	2.0						
Duplicate of Semiconductor Sample 5										
Joyce's projects	Description:									
Megan's projects	This is the project we u	use for testing	purposes.							
New project for dashboard confo										
NewProject from Scratch										
Sara's Semiconductor Sample Set	Project Manager:	Admin Te	est	Q.	0.1					
Semiconductor Framework	, tojott mininger	Oren Antine	in Floor		2.1					
E Semiconductor Sample Set	Sponsor:	Org Adm	In Week							
Test with no category	Objective:									
n in the rejects	Finalize testing by the	end of Sprint 8	12.							
	Start Data:	08/21/20	23 13							
	Start Date.									
	End Date:	08/31/20	23 19							
	Status:	Active	14							
	Category:	Select or	1e 🔍							



# NOTE

The Project Summary widget on the project dashboard uses the **End date** in the **Project Details** window to calculate the number of days until the project is complete.

## Change a project key

When you update a project key, the ID for all items in the project is regenerated.



## NOTE

You must have project or organization admin permissions to change a project key.

1. Select Admin > Project, navigate to the project with key you want to change, then select Details > Change project key.



- 2. Enter the new project key (1–16 characters, consisting of letters, numbers, and underscores).
- 3. Click Submit.

Once the project key is updated, the Unique ID [648] of all items within that project are updated to contain the new key.

## Duplicate a project

You can duplicate a project to reuse its requirements, permission settings, tags, and attachments, or to start a new project from a template.

When you duplicate a project, its test plans, test cycles, and test runs are not copied to the target project.



### NOTE

You must be an organization or project admin with the Add Project role to duplicate projects.

- 1. Select Admin > Project, then select the project you want to duplicate.
- 2. Select Actions > Duplicate Project.

K STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS
Organization Project «	Project admin
Add - Actions -	Planet Express Del
Duplicate Project	Details Settings Item T
Clear Portfolio Group	Project Key:
Achiever UAV (ARCHIVED)     Clear Hearing Aids	Name:
Clear Portfolio Group	Description:

3. Select the items you want to copy and whether to synchronize them.

Duplicate project Semiconductor Proje	ct 2.0	
New Project Name:	Duplicate of Semiconductor Project 2.0	
New Project Key:	SI_S2	
Check items to include in the copy Project Settings:	Synchronize with original items Synchronize duplicated project:	
Project Permissions:		
Existing Relationships:	Create relationships to original items	
Public Filters:	Check to create relationships:	
Tags:	Downstream from Original:	
Releases:	Upstream from Original:	
Project Groups:	Relationship Type:	
Workflow:		
URL Links:		
Attachments:		
236 items	Duplicate Project Cance	el

- **Project Settings** Settings in the **Admin > Project** area. For example, visible item types, relationship rule, and Explorer Tree maximum count.
- **Project Permissions** Project-level permissions that were applied are carried over to the copied project.
- Existing Relationships Relationships between items in the project are copied to the new project.
- Public Filters Public filters created by users or project admins are copied to the new project.
- Tags Tags created by users are copied to the new project.
- **Releases** Release values in the Releases tab are copied to the new project, which also maintains the release values in the standard "Release" field on items.
- **Project Groups** Project-level groups are copied to the new project.
- Workflow Workflow customizations (notifications, lock settings, transition permissions) are copied to the new project.

- URL Links and Attachments Hyperlinks and attachments to items, using the links/attachments widget, are copied to the new project.
- Synchronize Duplicated Project All copied items receive a new project ID but maintain the same Global ID as the original project. This allows teams to compare differences between the source project and copied project. Common use cases are for parallel development of variant products or branches of a products release.
- **Create Relationships** All copied items include a trace relationship to the original item. You can set the direction and relationship type.
- 4. Click **Duplicate Project**.

A message appears confirming the project was successfully duplicated.

## Archive a project

You can archive a project to clean up your workspace or to hide it from most users' view.

When you archive a project, it remains in the database but is hidden from immediate view from most users. Organization admins still see the archived project in the project tree with "(ARCHIVED)" in the title.



## NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to complete this task.

#### Important considerations

- Archived projects and their content don't appear in filters or search results. When a project is archived, all releases associated with the project are archived.
- Project groups aren't deleted when a project is archived. If a project is no longer needed, delete it before it is archived.
- Select Actions > Unarchive to unarchive a project.
- When you archive a project, related items from external projects no longer appear. If you unarchive the project, those related items reappear.

#### To archive a project:

1. Select Admin > Project, then select the project you want to archive.



2. Select Actions > Archive project.



3. When prompted, click **Yes**.

## Delete a project

When a project is no longer needed, you can delete it, which completely removes the project and all its data from the database.



## NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to delete a project.

#### Important considerations

- Project folders must be empty before they can be deleted.
- Once a project is deleted, there's no way to restore the project. When a project is deleted, all the data in that project is deleted. However, this doesn't automatically free up space in the database. A database admin must manually compress the database.
- To clean up your workspace or to remove a project from view, archive the project rather than delete it.
- · Projects can be stored in empty folders.

#### To delete a project:

1. Select Admin > Project, then select the project you want to delete.



2. Select Actions > Delete Project.



3. Review the list of items, confirm the deletion, then click Delete Project.

Confirm	Project Delete	
1	The following will be deleted as part of this action: Items: 165 Attachments: 0 BaseLines: 1 External Relationships: 1 External Sync Items: 0 Project Integrations: 0	
DELET	onfirm that you want to permanently delete: "SANDBOX- "E"	
	Cance	

The project is deleted in the background, so you can continue working. You receive an email when the deletion is finished.



## NOTE

The project isn't removed immediately. A daily task runs at midnight UTC to permanently remove data from the database. Once the project is permanently removed from the database, you can remove item types associated with that project.

## Integrations

To best support product development teams, Jama Software offers a number of integration platforms for customers to connect to other application lifecycle management (ALM) software.

Jama Software currently offers OpsHub Integration Manager (OIM) and Tasktop Integration Hub (TIH), which provide the necessary platform to manage the integration. These integrations hubs manage information between Jama Connect and your third-party applications in a bi-directional manner.

These solutions can be managed in self-hosted environments. or, in the case of the OIM, hosted by OpsHub in their cloud.

For more information:

- Integrations Visit the Community
- Purchasing a solution Contact <sales@jamasoftware.com>

## Integrate OSLC Model Connector with Jama Connect

Open Services for Lifecycle Collaboration (OSLC) is an open-source set of specifications that enables and simplifies tool integration in software development.



## NOTE

You must have organization admin permissions to enable the OSLC Model Connector and give access to users in your organization.

Integrating OSLC provides traceability between Jama Connect and OSLC domains, applications, and organizations. The partnership between the Smartfacts Model-Based Systems Engineering (MBSE) platform and Jama Connect helps product development teams increase their level of collaboration and communication.

The result of this collaboration is the OSLC Model Connector, which provides:

- · Complete traceability for requirements throughout the product development lifecycle
- · Clear visibility into MBSE design artifacts in real-time
- · Ability to link requirements to various modeling tools

For more information, see Jama Connect OSLC Model Connector Datasheet.



## **IMPORTANT**

Contact your Jama Software account manager to set up access to the OSLC Model Connector and to MID Smartfacts.

#### To set up and use the OSLC Model Connector:

- 1. Enable OSLC Model Connector.
  - a. Log in to Jama Connect, then select Admin > Organization > OSLC.
  - b. Select Enable OSLC > Save settings.
  - A pop-up message confirms that OSLC was successfully enabled.
- 2. Grant OSLC Model Connector permissions.
  - a. Select Admin > Organization > Permissions.
  - b. In the row for the user or group you want to provide access, select Modify.
  - c. In the Edit permissions window, select OSLC, then click Save.

A checkmark is displayed in the OSLC column for that user or group. The OSLC permission automatically inherits the permissions that are set for those users or groups.

- 3. Configure specific item types for OSLC Model Connector.
  - a. Select Admin > Organization > Item types.
  - b. In the row for the item type you want to configure, click Edit.
  - c. In the Inactive widgets column of Widgets table, select **OSLC Artifacts**. OSLC Artifacts move to the Active widgets column.
  - d. Click Save.

A checkmark is displayed in the OSLC column for that user or group. The OSLC permission automatically inherits the permissions that are set for those users or groups.

### To use the OSLC Model Connector with Jama Connect:

- 1. Open your project and right-click on the item where you want to add a new item.
- 2. Click Add > New item > <item type>.
- 3. In the Add item window, enter a name for the item, then click **Save and Close**. The OSLC Artifacts widget appears in Single Item View.
- 4. In the OSLC Artifacts widget, select + to add links to OSLC Artifacts that you configured in Smartfacts.

You now see links in the OSLC Artifacts widget.

5. Select a link.

A panel slides out to display the artifact.

#### Example of the OSLC Artifacts Widget in Jama Connect



# **Project administrator**

A project administrator is a role that can be provided for all projects or on a specific project with a focus on permissions, project groups, and workflow customization.

Select Admin > Project to configure your projects.

🙏 🏠 STREAM	PROJECTS	REVI	EWS RIS		2		Acme W	orks	Awnin Thei   Ruj	one – <mark>i Halp i Lo</mark>	g Out
Organization Project «	Project adm	nin									Help
Add  Actions  Actions	Semico	nducto	r Project	2.0						~	1
Pantry Products	Details	Sattings	Item Types	Release List	Users	Groups	Project Permissions	Workflow	Attachments	Tag Management	*
Semiconductor Project 2.0									😽 Change pr	oject key 🧔 Edit	0
Hegan's Test Management Sai KS Semiconductor Project 2.0 Duplicate of Semiconductor Samp	Project I	Key:				SI_S	2_P				
Megan's Test Management Sandb Pantry Products	Name:					Semi	conductor Project 2.0	D			
Semiconductor Framework	Descript	tion:									
Semiconductor Sample Set	Project I	Manager:									

As administrator, all your projects are available from the **Project** tab. The last project you viewed is selected by default.

#### As a project administrator you can:

- Manage project releases [650]
- Configure project item types [646]
- Manage project users [662]
- Manage project groups [662]
- Manage project permissions [664]
- Manage project attachments [651]
- Manage project tags [652]
- Perform a project cleanup [660]
- Index project data [661]

## Monitoring changes with the Admin Activity stream (project admin)

The Admin Activity stream provides an audit trail of updates made by project administrators.

#### To open the Activity stream panel:

- 1. Select **Admin > Project**, then select the project you want to view.
- 2. Select the **Activity stream** button on the right side of the panel.

The Activity stream opens. You can search for activities by entering a search term.

K STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK ADMIN	Acme Works. Award Tael   Read the   Help   Log Out
Organization Project Add + Actions +	Project admin Semiconductor Project 2.0	Help
Semiconductor Project 2.0  Pantry Products Semiconductor Framework KS Semiconductor Project 2.0  Duplicate of Semiconductor Samp Pantry Products Semiconductor Framework Semiconductor Framework Semiconductor Project 2.0  Work Projects	Details       Sattings       Item Types       Reliease List       Users         Project Key:       Name:       Description:       Project Manager:       Sponsor:       Objective:       Start Date:       Start Date:       Status:       Category:       API-ID:       Category:       API-ID:       Category:       Category:	Semiconductor Projec Activity history C 1 activity Search Project settings duplicated: Attachments Project settings duplicated: Attachments Project groups Project groups Project groups Project groups Project settings Workflow URL links Releases Less +
		Personal transferre

#### The Project admin Activity stream includes the following actions:

Tab	Available information
Settings	Changes in version items; maximum number of items displayed in the Explorer Tree; where to save test run defects.
Item Types	Item types that transition from visible to hidden and from hidden to visible.
Release List	What was added, edited, deleted, archived, and unarchived in a project release.
Project Permissions	Modifications to inherited permissions; added and removed permissions at the project level.

Workflow	Overriden items and who overrode them; removed and configured workflows per item type in a project.
Attachments	Attachments added from the Attachments tab of the Project admin panel.
Tag Management	What was added, deleted, and edited to a tag in a project.
Index	When a project level index was initiated.
Clean up	When project cleanup and project baselines cleanup are initiated.

## Manage projects

As project administrator you have permissions to modify, set up, and organize various aspects of the project and content. You can also manage users [662] that participate in the project.

You can also choose to manage the project dashboard [408], although that doesn't require project administrator permissions.

# Edit project details

Update the name, key contributors, and other high-level details for a project.



# NOTE

You must have project or organization admin permissions to edit project details.

#### 1. Select Admin > Project, then select Details > Edit.

A STREAM PR	ROJECTS REVIEWS RISK ADMIN	Acme Works test Admin Tent   Plenders -   Help   Log Ou
Organization Project	Project admin	Help
Add + Actions +	Semiconductor Project 2.0	8-1-
Recently Viewed Projects		
Semiconductor Project 2.0	Details Settings Item Types Release List Users	Groups Project Permissions Workflow Attachments Tag Management
Banana, Corp		Change project key Edit
and New		Change project way
Pantry Products		
KS Semiconductor Project 2.0	Project Key:	SI_S2_P
Banana, Corp		
Demo LTE with Semiconductor	Name:	Semiconductor Project 2.0
Duplicate of Semiconductor Sample :	Bernstelland	
Joyce's projects	Description:	
Live Trace Projects	This is the project we use for testing purposes.	
Megan s projects		
A New project for dashboard coofe	Project Manager:	Admin Test
A NewProject from Scratch		On Adapta Harris
A No items project	Sponsor:	Org Admin User
A Sara's Semiconductor Sample Set	Objective	
A Semiconductor Framework	objective:	
Semiconductor Project 2.0	Finalize testing by the end of Sprint 2.	
Semiconductor Sample Set		09/21/2022
Test with no category	Start Date:	00/21/2023
B Work Projects	12125	08/31/2023
	End Date:	00/3/12023
	Status:	Active
	Category:	New Development
	API-ID:	45

2. Make your changes, then click **Save**.

A STREAM P	ROJECTS REVIEWS	RISK ADMIN		Acme Works to	est Admin Te	nii   Reports =   Help   Log	g Ou
Organization Project ≪	Project admin					1	Help
Add - Actions -	Semiconductor	Project 2.0				~	8
Recently Viewed Projects		985 C 10 10 10 10					
Semiconductor Project 2.0	Details Settings	Item Types Release List	Users Groups	Project Permissiona	Workflow Attac	himents Tag Management	16
Banana, Corp						Save Cancel	0
Pantry Products						-	
KS Semiconductor Project 2.0	*Project Key:	SI S2 P					
Banana, Corp	Project Ney.	olory,					
Bemo LTE with Semiconductor	*Name:	Semiconductor Proje	ict 2.0				
Duplicate of Semiconductor Sample 5	1.2.1.4.2.2						
Joyce's projects	Description:						
Megan's projects	This is the project we u	se for testing purposes.					
New							
NewProject from Scratch							
No items project			12				
Samiconductor Eramework	Project Manager:	Admin Test	P				
Semiconductor Project 2.0	Sponsor	Oro Admin User	- Q.				
Esemiconductor Sample Set	Sponsor.		201				
Test with no category	Objective:						
T Work Projects	Finalize testing by the	and of Sprint 2.					
	and the second	00/03/0003 53					
	Start Date:	UD/21/2020					
	End Date:	08/31/2023					
	Status:	Active	~				
	Category:	Select one	¥				
	API-ID:	45					



# NOTE

The Project Summary widget on the project dashboard uses the **End date** in the **Project Details** window to calculate the number of days until the project is complete.

## Configure project item types

A hidden item type prevents users from creating new items or sets of that type. Sets or items that are created under a visible item type, and are then hidden, are still functional in Jama Connect.

#### Important considerations

- By default, a moved item type places itself at the end of the list. Drag and drop item types to reorder them.
- An organization admin can also configure views [617] for all projects, and an individual user can configure fields [48] for their personal settings.



# IMPORTANT

You must have organization or project admin permissions to configure project item types.

To hide item types from a particular project:

1. Select Admin > Project, then select Item Types.



- 2. Double-click on any item type to move it between the **Hidden item types** and **Visible item types** columns.
- 3. Click **Apply** to save your changes.

## Configure default Explorer Tree settings



### IMPORTANT

You must have organization or project administrator permissions to configure default Explorer Tree settings.

1. Select the gear icon at the top of the Explorer Tree.



2. Select the **Default settings** tab, then select the default settings.

#### Show item IDs

This displays the unique ID [648] (as in PROJ-REQ-25) before each item.

## Display global ID

This displays the global ID (as in GID-8845) before each item. This can be helpful if the item is copied and synchronized.

• Show only folders / hide items This hides items from view in the Explorer Tree. Components, sets, and folders are still displayed. This can improve performance when your project has a large number of items.

#### • Show outline numbering This displays a number scheme of order and depth in the Explorer Tree. Root level items have numbers like 1, 2, or 3. Child items contain the parent item number as well as its own number, like 1.1, 1.2, or 1.1.5.

#### • Show relationships in Explorer Tree

This displays downstream relationships of items in the Explorer Tree. Select the green downstream arrow to open the related items in List View.

🖃 📇 Clear 3 Hearing Aid

E

- E 2 GID-58401 User Needs and Market Requirements
- E CID-8911 Validation Protocols
- GID-8905 System Requirements
  - E GID-60002 System Architecture
    - E GID-60003 Implant
      - Downstream Subsystem Requirements
      - E GID-13601 Diameter
        - E Lownstream Design Descriptions
      - E Lownstream Verifications
      - 1 GID-13602 Implant Stability Quotient (ISQ) Range
      - 1 GID-13603 Interface Requirements



## CAUTION

If you relate items back to themselves, you might create an infinite loop that causes the Explorer Tree to expand. To avoid this, don't relate items in a way that creates an infinite loop.

3. Select Apply and Close to give other users the option to select these default settings.

## **Project key**

The project key is a unique identifier, automatically created with each project, that makes up the first part of each item's Unique ID.

Project or organization administrators can change a project key. [637]

## Unique ID

Unique IDs, or item IDs, identify an item with a project key, set key and a set counter. Unique IDs remain the same even if item name or content is changed. They can't be edited or duplicated.

Project key

A project key identifies which project an item belongs to. Project keys must be unique to each project, and must be 1–16 characters long, consisting of letters, numbers, or underscores. A project or organization administrator can change the project key [637], but that doesn't reset the numbering of items.

· Set key

A set key identifies item sets for each project. You can use the same set key across sets or projects. Project or organization administrators can change a set key [615] to better meet your organization's needs.
#### Set counter

The set counter is a number automatically added to the item. Unlike the Global ID counter, you can reset the set counter when you change the set key.



#### NOTE

It's possible to use the set key across multiple sets of the same item type. However, keep in mind that the set counter is shared across all items using the same set key.

#### Change a project key

When you update a project key, the ID for all items in the project is regenerated.



#### NOTE

You must have project or organization admin permissions to change a project key.

1. Select Admin > Project, navigate to the project with key you want to change, then select Details > Change project key.



- 2. Enter the new project key (1–16 characters, consisting of letters, numbers, and underscores).
- 3. Click Submit.

Once the project key is updated, the Unique ID [648] of all items within that project are updated to contain the new key.

#### Change a set key

You can edit a set ID or renumber items in a set at any time.



#### NOTE

You must have organization or project admin permissions to complete this task.

1. Select Projects, right-click on the set you want to modify, then select Change set key.

🖻 🔜 Risk Ma	anagement
🕀 💘 Risk	s
🕀 🎣 Haz	Dpen item
E W Defects	👝 Open in new tab
E E System	Preview item
	Expand all
	Collapse all
	Change set key
	C Edit

- 2. In the **Confirm Set Key Change** window that opens, enter the new set key, which must be 1–16 characters long, consisting of only letters, numbers, and underscores.
- 3. Select **Regenerate Item IDs** to reset the counter to 1 and to apply new numbering to all existing items.



#### IMPORTANT

Don't select **Regenerate Item IDs** if you want to restart numbering on newly created items. Leave existing items as they are.

#### Manage releases

A release is a group of items that are developed together and mapped to a specific completion date. Users can view releases and use them to assign items to a release.



### NOTE

You must have project or organization administrator permissions to manage releases.

Project and organization administrators can set up and manage releases that others use. The releases in the release list are used to populate the pick list for the **Release** field on an item. Releases are automatically sorted by release date in the release list and in pick lists.

1. Select Admin > Project, then select Release List.

K STREAM	PROJECTS	REVIEWS	RISK	ADMIN		Redside Cons	ulting	Admin Tasl   R	legants -   Help	Log O
Organization Project **	Project admin									Help
Add • Actions •	Quick Loa	ans							-1-	2
Recently Viewed Projects										
Quick Loans	- Details S	ettings Item	Types Re	lease List) U	sers Groups	Project Permissions	Workflow	Attachments	Tag Management	-
Corporate Library							View Arch	ived Releases	Add release	0
A Planet Express Delivery	Name	D	escription			Release	Date	Action	'n	
Clear2	Unassigned	U	nassigned					Edit	Delete   Archive	
E Clear Hearing Aids	1.0	R	elease 1			07/16/2	018	Edit   I	Delete   Archive	
Clear Portfolio Group	2.0					09/27/2	018	Edit	Deleta   Archive	

- 2. Select the option you need:
  - Add a release

Select the green **Add release** button in the toolbar to open the **Add/edit release** window. Add the name, description, release date, then select **Save**.



Edit a release

Select Edit in the Action column for the release you want to edit. This opens the Add/edit release window where you can edit the name, description and release date and select Save.

Delete a release

Select **Delete** in the **Action** column for the release you want to delete. Select **Yes** to confirm. Releases can't be deleted if any items are assigned to them. To remove all assigned items, select the **Releases** tab and move all assigned items from that release to another release.

Archive a release

Select **Archive** in the **Action** column for the release you want to archive. Select **Yes** to confirm. You can view archived releases by selecting **View archived releases** in the toolbar where you can select **Unarchive**.

Archived releases don't appear in filters or search results, but items assigned to any archived release do. The **Release** field for these items is populated and has "(Archived)" appended to the release's version field.



#### NOTE

Administrators can also configure default release settings [273] that show how releases are displayed.

#### Manage attachments



#### NOTE

You must have project or organization administrator permissions to manage attachments.

1. Select Admin > Project, then select Attachments.

🙏 🧥 STREAM	PROJECT	S REV	VIEWS R	ISK ADMI	N		Redside Co	onsu	ulting	Ádmin Test   R	lepens -   Help	Log Out
Organization Project «	Project admin	1										Help
Add - Actions -	Quick L	oans									-1-	2
Recently Viewed Projects												
Quick Loans	Details	Settings	Item Types	Release List	Users	Groups	Project Permissio	ns	Workflow	Attachments	Tag Management	*
Corporate Library	Grid only show	vs files not a	ttached to an ite	m [ 📄 Show	AII ]				🖉 Edit	Delete Ø	Add Attachment	0
A Planet Express Delivery	Name			File				Туре	Size	Uploaded By	Uploaded Date	
Clear2	quickloans.PN	NG		quickloar	s.PNG [ v	few downlo	ad ]		37K	Alexander King	. 11/30/2016	

2. From the toolbar, you can add, edit, or delete attachments.

Project admin										1	Help
Quick Loa	ans									-1	15
Details 5	Settings	Item Types	Release List	Users	Groups	Project Permissions	We	rkflow	Attachments	Tag Management.	1.4
Grid only shows fi	iles not att	ached to an iter	m [ Show A	11				E	lit 🔒 Delete	@ Add Attachment	0
Name			File				Туре	Size	Uploaded By	Uploaded Date	
quickloans.PNG			quickle	bans.PNG	[view dov	(head ]		37K	Alexander Kin	g 11/30/2016	

- 3. In the **Add/Edit File Attachment** window, add or edit information about that attachment. Select the History bar at the bottom of the window to pull up a version history for that attachment to compare versions.
- 4. Select Upload and Save.

From Single Item View, any user can now add that attachment [89].

#### Manage tags

From the Tag Management tab, you can view, edit, and create tags.



## NOTE

You must have project or organization administrator permissions to manage tags.

• Select Admin > Project, then select Tag Management to add, edit, or delete tags.

🙏 🧥 STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK ADMIN Redside Consulting	min Tasi   Reports -   Help   Log Out
Organization Project 44	Project admin	Help
Add - Actions - 2	Quick Loans	1-2
Quick Loans	Poletails Settings Item Types Release List Users Groups Project Permissions Workflow A	ttachments Tag Management 🛶
Clear Portfolio Group Clear2	Add Tag     Delete Tag.       2020(1)         Alert(1)         Quarterly Reviews(1)	Cloud   E List   Q
Belete 1 Belete 2 Delete 3	Test(0)	

From Single Item View, any user can add that tag [87].

### Manage workflows



NOTE

You must have project or organization administrator permissions to manage workflows.

1. To manage workflows as a project administrator, select Admin > Project.



2. Select the Workflow tab, then select Override for the workflow you want to edit.

Organization Project «	Projec	et admin										He	elp
Add • Actions •	Qu	ick L	oans									-1	1
Recently Viewed Projects													
Quick Loans	(* D	Details	Settings	Item Types	Release List	Users	Groups	Project Permissions	Workflow	Attachme	nts T	ag Management	+
Clear2	Wor	kflow Ac	dministration										2
Clear Partfolio Group	9	Item	Туре			Work	low Type		Versioning Ena	bled	Action		
Achiever UAV (ARCHIVED)	1	Marke	et Requireme	nt.		Organ	ization		Yes	<	Override		D.
🗄 🧮 Clear Hearing Aids		Syste	m Requireme	ent		Organ	ization		Yes		Override	A C	
Clear Portfolio Group	25	Stake	holder Requi	irement.		Organ	ization		Yes		Override		

3. In the Workflow Configuration section, set up a project workflow [653], then click **Save**.

#### Set up projects workflow



#### NOTE

You must have project or organization administrator permissions to set up projects workflow.

1. To manage workflows as a project administrator, select Admin > Project.

K STREAM	PROJECTS REVI	ews ris		2		Acme W	orks	Awala Tael   Roya	orte   Holp   Log	g Out
Organization Project «	Project admin									Help
Add - Actions -	Semiconducto	r Project	2.0						*	1
Pantry Products	Details Settings	Item Types	Release List	Users	Groups	Project Permissions	Workflow	Attachments	Tag Management	*
Semiconductor Project 2.0 Semiconductor Framework Megan's Test Management Sai KS Semiconductor Project 2.0 Duplicate of Semiconductor Samp	Project Key:				SI_S2	2_P		😸 Change pro	oject key 🧔 Edit	0
Aregan's Test Management Sandb Pantry Products	Name:				Semi	conductor Project 2.0	D			
Semiconductor Framework	Description:									
Semiconductor Sample Set	Project Manager:									

 Select the Workflow tab, then select Override for the workflow you want to edit. If the organization administrator has configured it [615], select Override to make changes to any workflow.

Organization	Project	~~	Project	t admin									10	Help
Add - Actions	•	4	Qui	ck L	oans								-1-	1
a 🚳 Recently Vie	wed Projects													
H Quick Los	ans		de De	tails	Settings	Item Types	Release List	Users	Groups	Project Permissions	Workflow	Attachments	Tag Managemen	1 +
Clear2			Work	flow Ad	ministration								季	0
Clear Por	tfolio Group	ry	0	Item 1	Гуре			Work	flow Type		Versioning Ena	ibled Act	lon	1
+ Achiever UA	V (ARCHIVE	D)	<b>s</b> la	Marke	t Requireme	nt.		Organ	ization		Yes	Ove	arride	(D)
🛨 🧰 Clear Hearin	g Aids			System	m Requireme	int		Organ	ization		Yes	Ove	ride	
Clear Portfol	io Group		3	Stake	holder Requi	rement		Organ	ization		Yes	Ove	arride	

You are prompted to confirm the changes.

- 3. In the Workflow Configuration section, select the following options for the workflow you're creating.
  - Enable workflow for this organization
  - Allow project managers to override workflows on a project Important: If you don't enable this option, performance might be impacted and it could trigger a long transaction if the organization has over 10 workflows.
  - Workflow for Item Type
  - What picklist field should workflow apply to
  - Version items on workflow status change

tails	Settings	Item Types	Release List	Users	Groups	Project Permissions	Workflow	Attachments	Tag Management	Index	Clean Up	
To st	art, select	an item type	followed by a	a picklist	field.							
TEM	TYPE:"											
Uset	Story		~									
PICK	LIST FIELD	c*										
Státu	s		~									
-												
REVU	EW TRANS	ITIONS:										
To ar	able a wo	rkflow transit	on for an App	roval rev	New You	must first enable the	Annovalin	view templat	a in vour Polyiow	instat an	History	
						times of an antisense arts.	supprovant.	series in contribution	e in your noview i	Anter se	ungs.	
Dell	MING						- approved to the	rien eripie	a in your noview i	Anter se	ungs.	
ERSI	DNING:						- approver re	ing a compression	e in your Neview (	Annier se	ungs.	
Ver	DNING: sion on stati	JS							a in your Neview (	Anter se	ungs.	
Ver Do	DNING: sion on stati	us on status char	ge						e in your Noview (	Anter se	ungs.	
Ver Do Do	ONING: sion on stati not version FLOW TRA	us on status char NSITIONS:	ige						e in your Noview (	Anter se	ungs.	
Ver Do Do ORKI	DNING: sion on stati not version FLOW TRA	us on status char NSITIONS:	ge New status			Notifications	Lo	ck? Trans	ition permissions	Anter se	ungs.	
Ven Do Do ORKI	DNING: sion on stati not version FLOW TRA ent	us on status char NSITIONS:	ge New status			Notifications	Lo	ck? Trans	ition permissions	Anter se	ungs.	
Ver Do Do ORKI	DNING: sion on statu not version FLOW TRA ent	us on status char NSITIONS: →	ige New status Completed			Notifications	Lo	ck? Trans	illion permissions	Annun se	ungs	
Ver Do Do ORKI	DNING: sion on stati not version FLOW TRA ent Crealed	us on status char NSITIONS: →	ge New status Completed			Notifications	Lo	ck? Trans	illion permissions	Alline se	ungs	
Vers Do I ORKI Curre	DNING: sión on statu not version FLOW TRA ent Chealed	us on status char NSITIONS: →	ge New status Completed No Transitions		0	Notifications None	Lo	ck? Trans	illion permissions	Alline se	ungs	
Ven Do I Do RKI Curre Lam	DNING: sion on stati not version FLOW TRA ent Created	us on status char NSITIONS: →	ge New status Completed No Transitions	·	0	Notifications None	Lo	ck? Trans	ition permissions	Aliter se	ungs	



### NOTE

You can only associate one pick list field per item type. The field you associate must be a pick list field; multi-select lists don't work.

4. In the first row of the Current Status table, specify an initial state for the item when it's created. This is the default status of the item, and it overwrites the default field status if one is set.

Current Status		New Status	
Ilem Greated	-	Draft	*

5. In the following rows, specify the workflow, who is allowed to make those transitions, and the actions that occur when an item changes status. For example, like locking the item or sending an email.

Current Status		New Status			Notifications	Lock?	Transition Permissions
Draft	+	Approved	*	0	None	A	Everyone
	Action Text:	"Approve and Lock" edit				-	
	+	Rejected	¥	00	1 Group	A	Everyone
	Asilen Text	"Reject and notify" edit				Ш.	



## TIP

Use the pull-down to move the current status to a new status and trigger related actions or notifications.

- 6. Edit the Action text to make messaging more useful or clear.
- 7. Use the green plus button or the red minus button to add or remove transitions in your workflow.

8. Select the **lock icon** to lock or unlock the item when it reaches a certain status (like "draft," "approved" or "complete").



### NOTE

This lock is a "system lock" that's slightly different from a user lock. A user lock can still be edited by the user who locked it and easily unlocked by the same user or an admin. If an item is in a system lock, no one can edit the item. Admins can still unlock the item, but we recommend using transitions to move an item to a state where it can edited again.

- 9. Select the link in the Transition permissions column to choose who can make these transitions.
- 10. Select the **link in the notifications column** to send an email notification when a user transitions the status of an item.

Groups Users	Allowed Groups and Users	
O start typing to filter groups to	p 100 shown	G Clear all users & group
Analysts Organization Company Organization Development Organization Engineering Radar Organization Admin Organization	Product Manager Organization	s

If you send a notification, a message appears where you can document the transition and reason for changing the status.

#### 11. Click Save.

#### Configure workflow

Workflows aren't project-specific. When you configure a workflow, it applies to the item type across projects.



#### NOTE

You must have organization or process admin permissions to complete this task.

#### Important considerations

- If the organization admin selects Allow project managers to override workflows on a project, the project admin for each project can set up the workflows.
- If you disable a workflow, Jama Connect stores your settings for later use.
- An organization admin can disable a workflow from the Workflow Administration section.

- Selecting these Workflow options, Enable workflow for this organization and Allow project managers to override workflows on a project might impact system performance.
- Workflow applies to all projects using the selected item type and can't be disabled at a project level.

#### To configure workflow:

1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Workflow.

A STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS I	RISK ADMIN	Acme Works	Admin Test   Reports -   Help   Log Ou
Organization Project «	Organization admin			Help
🚊 Details	Workflow			-√- 285
Categories Editor templates	<ul> <li>Enable workflow for this org</li> <li>Allow project managers to o</li> </ul>	anization werride workflows on a project.		
P License	Workflow Administration			🖸 Add / Edit 👔
H Lookup matrices	🥥 Item Type	Workflow Type	Versioning Enabled	Action
O OSLC	User Story	Organization	Yes	Config   Delete
Permissions	C Design Description	Organization	Yes	Config   Delete
E Pick lists	Block Requirement	Organization	No	Config   Delete
🕆 Plugins	Change Request	Organization	No	Config   Delete
m Relationships				
2 Reports				
Review center				
Risk management				
C Stream				
1 System health report				
User groups				
🖧 Users				
Workflow				

- 2. Select options to enable workflow for all projects using this item type:
  - Enable workflow for this organization.
  - (Optional) Allow project managers to override workflows on a project.
- 3. Under Workflow Administration:
  - To start a new workflow, click Add/Edit.
  - To edit a workflow, click **Config** in the **Action** column.

Wor	kflow Administration			Add / Edit 🕸
3	Item Type	Workflow Type	Versioning Enabled	Action
6	Market Requirement	Organization	Yes	Config   Delete
	System Requirement	Organization	Yes	Config   Delete

From here, a project admin can continue to set up the project workflow [653].

#### Lock items in a workflow

Locking items in a workflow can help avoid unwanted changes. For example, a project administrator might want to leave items unlocked while in "draft" status, but lock them when they reach "approved" status.



NOTE

You must have organization or project admin permissions to configure workflow.

### Important considerations

- Items can also be automatically locked by the workflow [230]. These items show a gray lock after their name and a blue lock in List View.
- System-locked items unlock when transitioned through the workflow or by an organization or project administrator.

Change Request	ts					0 - 5	Bi +
<b>E</b> III <b>b v</b> II	• 0	- 1	C 4 items		1		
D ID	\$	â	Tags	Project	Name	Requestor	Reason
SI_S2_P-CR-1	9			Semiconducto	Change Request	-	-
SI_S2_P-CR-3	Q		-	Semiconducto	Test CR	-	-
SI_S2_P-CR-4	Q		-	Semiconducto	Test	-	~
SI_S2_P-CR-5	Q		-	Semiconducto	test	2	-

#### To add an automatic lock to the workflow:

- 1. Select Admin > Project > Workflow.
- 2. For the item you want to lock, select **Override**.
- 3. In the Lock? column, select the lock icon to include (or remove) an automatic lock in the workflow.

Detans Jethis	gs Item T	ypes Release Lis	t Users	Groups	Project Permissions	Workflow	Attachments	Tag Managen
To start, selec	t an item ty	pe followed by a	a picklist fie	eld.				
Design Descrip	tion	~						
PICKLIST FIELI	D:*							
Status		×						
<ul> <li>Version on sta</li> <li>Do not version</li> </ul>	us on status ch	nange						
VORKELOW TRA	ANSITIONS:							
Constant		New status			Notifications	Lock?	Transitio	n permissior
Current								
liem Greated	-	Ready for Rev	iew -		None			
lism Created	1 1	Ready for Rev	iew -	0	None	6	Everyone	
liem Createri Draft	+ +	Ready for Rev No Transitions	riew = s τ	0	None	۵	Everyone	
liem Created Draft Ready for	1 1 1	Ready for Rev No Transitions "No Transition" r No Transitions	iew - a T adit	0	None None	ŝ.	Everyone	

4. Click Save settings.

#### Unlock system-locked items

Anyone can *view* the list of system-locked items, regardless of permissions. However, only an organization or project admin can unlock items that are system-locked.

- Organization admins can unlock all system-locked items.
- Project admins can unlock only system-locked items where they have admin permissions to those items.

#### To unlock system-locked items:

- 1. Select your name in the header to open the My Profile window.
- 2. Select System Locked Items to see all items that were automatically locked [234] (blue lock).

My Pi	rofile		-				
My	Details	My Subscr	riptions	My Locked Items	System Locked Items	Review Center	
							🔓 Unlock 🕏
8	-	Locked On	Name				ID
1	2	10/01/2018	Dust 1	Test			CL3-VER-27
1		10/01/2018	Under	water immersion			CL3-VER-26
1	۵.	10/01/2018	ios vi	alidation			CL3-VER-29
N	- P	age 1 of	t   =	2 Show: 2	) •		Displaying items 1 – 3 of 3
		-9					
Priva	cy Poli	icy					Close

3. Select the items you want to unlock, then click the **Unlock** icon in the top right corner of the window.

## **Configure project settings**



#### IMPORTANT

You must be a project or organization administrator to complete this task.

#### 1. Select Admin > Project > Settings, then select Edit.

K STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK AD	IIN Redside	Consulting	Admin Tesl   Ri	emorts   Help   Log Ou
Organization Project (4	Project admin				Help
Add  Actions	Quick Loans				-vh-2
Concerts	Details Settings Item Types Release Lis Settings	Users Groups Project Permis	ssions Workflow	Attachments	Tag Management +
Corporate Library  Planet Express Delivery  Clear2  Clear Achiever UAV (ARCHIVED)  Clear Hearing Aids	Version Items?: Max items displayed in explorer tree:	Yes 250			
Clear Portfolio Group	Save Test Run Defects here:	Quick Loans   Loan Softwar	re Application   De	fects	

2. On the Settings page, you can make the following changes:

#### Version items

Turns automatic versioning on and off when using the **Save and close** option. You might want to turn versioning off while initially creating and organizing the project.

#### Max items displayed in Explorer Tree

Sets the maximum number of items that are displayed per container (project, component, set, or folders) when using the Explorer Tree. After an import there might be thousands of items so this can be configured to improve performance when working with large data sets.

#### Save test run defects here

Defects that are recorded in the **Test execution** window are automatically sent to this location in the project. The Defect item types must be a Visible item type for them to appear. For more information, see Configure project item types [646].

#### Project and baseline cleanup

Project cleanup can be used to remedy issues that occur from inconsistent references or inactive items.

For example, users might experience inconsistencies between the Explorer Tree, List View, filter results, or see these messages:

- "This item was deleted."
- · "You don't have permission to perform this action."

Project cleanup recalculates sort orders and compares them with the database to solve these problems. It doesn't require re-indexing or downtime.



**TIP** Perform a cleanup at a time of low usage.

Select Admin > Project > Clean Up, then select Clean up project or Clean up project baselines.



A confirmation message appears when the process is finished.

Self-hosted customers can ask a system administrator to verify the results in the log.

#### Index project items

Sometimes project indexes get out of sync due to field configuration changes, large batch updates, API updates, and various other functions.

Index project data if you see data that's incorrect or doesn't exist. For example, failed batch updates, or an item that shows a value in a field, but a search for that field value doesn't return the item.



### NOTE

You must have project or organization administration permissions to index project items.

As a project administrator, select Project > Index and click Index items.



If this doesn't resolve the problem, the system administrator can try doing a full index of items [543].



## TIP

Large files over 25 MB aren't indexed and therefore, their content isn't searchable. The following filetypes are indexable: PDF, DOC, DOCX, PPT, PPTX, TXT, RTF. The following filetypes aren't indexable: XLSX, XLS, XML, HTML, HTM.

#### View project users

From the Users tab, you can view information about each user, such as email, license type, login information, and user status.



#### NOTE

You must have project or organization administrator permissions to do this.

1. Select Admin > Project, then select Users.

A STREAM	PROJECT	'S REVIEWS	RISK	ADMIN		Red	side Consulting	Admi	in Tassi	Reports	-   Help	Log Out
Organization Project «	Project admin	1										Help
Add - Actions -	Quick L	oans									*	2
E Recently Viewed Projects												
Auick Loans	🛻 Item Typ	es Releaso List	Users	Groups Project Pe	missions	Workfle	w Attachments	Tag Mana	gement	Index	Clean Up	1.0
Buplicate of Clear 3 Hearing .			_		Vie	w Inac	tive Users Searc	ch			×	0
Planet Express Delivery	Username	Full Name	Email		Login De	talls	User Groups	License Type	User 5	Status /	Action	
Achiever UAV (ARCHIVED)	aburns	Annette Burns	abums	gsentinel.com	Count: 1		Company	Creator	Active	-	Subscriptions	
Clear Hearing Aids	AdminAden	Admin Aden	prusso(	gjamasoftware.com	Count: 14		Organization Admin. Risk admins	Creator	Active	-	Subscriptions	
Corporate Library	admintest	Admin Test	adminte	st@test.com	Count: 53	8	Organization Admin, Review, Team A User	Creator	Active	5	Subscriptions	

2. (Optional) select **Subscriptions** to unsubscribe notifications for individuals or groups.



TIP

Individual users can manage their own subscriptions in their profile [41].

#### Manage project groups

As a project administrator, you can manage groups of users that already have access to a project. These groups are valuable when fine tuning permissions or creating email lists.



## NOTE

You must have project administrator permissions to manage groups at a project level. You must have organization administrator permissions to add, delete or edit groups [574] at an organizational level.

#### 1. Select Admin > Project, then select Groups.

📥 🏀 STREAM	PROJECTS	REVIEWS	RISK			Redsid	e Consulting	Admin Test	Reports	Help	Log Ou
Organization Project	Project admin										Help
Add • Actions •	Quick Loa	ns								*	2
A Quick Loans	🗧 Item Types	Release List	Users	Groups	Project Permissions	Workflow	Attachments	Tag Management	Index.	Clean Up	1 20
Corporate Library						Ad	d group Search	1		8	0
A Planet Express Delivery	Туре	Group Nan	10	1	of Users	Action	กร				
Clear2	Organization	Analysts			1	No ect	lons available for o	ng gnoup			
+ 🕞 Achiever UAV (ARCHIVED)	Organization	Company			14	No est	lons available for o	ng group			
🕀 🦲 Clear Hearing Aids	Organization	Developme	nt.		1	No ad	lons available for o	g group			
Clear Portfolio Group	Organization	Organizatio	n Admin		26	No ad	liona availeble for or	g group			
Corporate Library	Organization	Product Ma	nagers	2	E	No ad	lona available for or	g group			
+ Delete 2	Organization	QÁ		1	£	No ad	llona avsileble for or	g group			
Delete 3	Organization	Read and w	rite		b .	No act	lons sveileble for o	g group			
+ 🛄 Delete this folder	Organization	Read only		1	£	No act	lons aveilable for or	group			
+ 🗂 Drag and Drop Test	Project	Review			(d) -	Memb	ers   Group   Subs	criptions   Delete			
Duplicate of Planet Express Deliv	Organization	test				No ad	llans aveileble for p	g group			

- 2. Select Add Group in the top right toolbar.
- 3. In the window that opens, give the group a name and description, then select users for the group and select Save.
- 4. For project level groups, you can edit the group name, description, or members, as well as editing a group's subscriptions. You can also delete the group. Use the buttons in the Actions column of the group you want to edit.

Project admin	oans						-1-	Help
Details	Settings Item Types	Release List Users	Groups	Project Permissi	ons Workfley	Attachments	Tan Management	10
and second	Learnings II man Ohre II	, and a set 1. setter	I cereate	O Add	group Search		×	
Туре	Group Name	# of Users	P	Actions				
Organization	Analysts	2		No action	s available for org	group		
Organization	Company	14		No action	s available for org	group		
Organization	Development	2		No action.	s available for org	group		
Organization	Organization Admin	26		No action	s available for arg	graup		
Organization	Perm test group	0		No action	s eveilable for arg	graup		
Organization	Product Managers			No action	s available for org	groop		
Organization	QA	3		No action	available for org	group		
Organization	Read and write	1		No action	available for org	group		
Organization	Read only	3		No action	s available for org	group		
Project	Review	1.1		Members	Group   Subsci	iptions   Delete		
Organization	Risk admins	8		Na action	s evelleble for arg	graup		
Organization	Security	2		Na estian	a available for arg	graup		
Organization	test	0		No action	available for org	group		



#### NOTE

A system administrator can disable or enable the project administrator's ability to add groups [512].

### Edit user subscriptions

Users can subscribe to and control their own email notifications. However, if a user's subscriptions were added by someone other than the user, only an admin can make changes.

Organization admins can unsubscribe a user; project admins can only mute a user's subscriptions.



#### NOTE

You must have organization or project admin permissions to complete this task.

#### To edit a user's subscriptions:

- 1. Select Admin > Organization, then select Users.
- 2. Select Subscriptions in a user row to open the Edit subscriptions window.

Edit subscriptions							×
Groups Users						Unsubscri	be selected
Di Sentes	Top 100 shown	0	Project	Notifications	Subscribed By	Subscribed Group	Action
Admin Test			Semiconductor Project 2.0	Set: SI_S2_P-SET-26 INFORMATION	Admin Test		Unsubscribe
Adrian			Semiconductor Project 2.0	SI_S2_P-INFO-1 Test Requirements for Article (including child items)	Admin Test		Unsubscribe
Basic User		8	Semiconductor Project 2.0	SI_S2_P-INFO-3 Item A (including child items)	Admin Test		Unsubscribe
Creater Float							1

- 3. Select a user from the left column to display their current subscriptions in the right column.
  - To remove a single subscription, click **Unsubscribe** in the Action column.
  - To remove multiple subscriptions for a user, select the subscriptions in the Notifications column, then click **Unsubscribe selected** in the top right corner.
- 4. To edit a group subscription, select Admin > Organization > User groups > Subscriptions.

#### Grant project permissions



#### NOTE

You must have at least project administrator permissions to complete this task. An organization administrator [589] or system administrator [509] can also grant permissions at an organization or project level. A system administrator can enable or disable the project administrator's ability to grant project permissions [512].

1. Select Project > Project Permissions.

🙏 🏠 STREAM	PROJECTS REVIEWS RISK	ADM			Redside	Consulting	Acomin Test	Reports =	Help   Log Ou
Organization Project 44	Project admin								Help
Add - Actions -	Quick Loans								-√-2
E Recently Viewed Projects									
Quick Loans	+ Item Types Release List Users	Groups	Pro	ject Permissions	Workflow	Attachments Ta	g Management	Index (	Clean Up 🛶
Duplicate of Clear 3 Hearing	🖂 📃 Quick Loans		Acce	ess Rights for Project				Add Pern	hissions ( )
Planet Express Delivery	E E Corporate Strategy					Administration	Ace	085	
Clear2	Econ Software Application			User/Group	Inhorited	Project	Read & Write	Read Only	Actions
E Achiever UAV (ARCHIVED)	Smart Invest Application		12	Analysts	Yes	1	*	*	
E Clear Hearing Aids	Easy Retire Application		QP.	Company	Yes	1	¥	2	
Corporate Library			£.	Development	Yes		4	1	
E Delete 1				Katie Maxwell	Yes		*	1	Override
E Delete 2			.20	Organization Admin	Yes			1	
Delete 3			of.	Product Managers	Yes		-	~	Override
Delete this folder			AC-1	Troduct Managers	163		*	*	Override
Drag and Drop Test			485	QA	Yes	*	*	*	
Duplicate of Planet Express Deliv			83	Read and write	Yes		*	1	Override
Medical Device Examples			22	Read only	Yes			2	Override
E C Medikiosk			294	test	Yes		*	*	Override

- 2. Select the project, component, set or item for which you want grant permissions in the project selector on the left. From here, you can use the toolbar to:
  - · Select Add permissions to add a new user or group.
  - Select **Modify** in the row of a user or group you want to edit.
  - Select Remove in the row of any user or group for which you want to delete permissions.
  - Select **Override** to override the inherited permissions for this user or group.



#### TIP

When a row contains the value **True** in the **Inherited** column and is highlighted in green, this means the group or individual has received its permissions from a higher level. Select **Override** in the **Actions** column to change these inherited permissions.

- In the Add/Edit access window, you can grant the set of permissions that come with the role of project administrator, or you can grant access permissions for the selected item, set, component. Select Save.
- 4. Alternatively, select **Remove** to take away all permissions from the user or group for that project, set, or folder.

# Reference

Jama Connect provides several tools and topics that help you use the application and quickly find answers, whether you're a new or experienced user.

- Glossary of terms [678]
- Quick find [148]
- Best practices and guardrails [672]
- Application performance testing [674]
- Keyboard shortcuts [673]
- Permissions by license type [583]
- Get help [676]

## Permissions

Permissions allow users to do things such as access, modify, and delete items, as well as to perform other specific tasks. Permissions control how users experience Jama Connect by restricting actions they can perform and the content they can see.

#### What determines permissions?

- · License type [583] assigned to a user
- · Roles [669] (permission sets) granted to a user
- · Access permissions [671] granted to a user for specific projects or containers

#### Who grants permissions?

- System administrator [509]
- Organization administrator [589]
- Project administrator [664]

#### License types and permissions

Organization admins and user admins assign license types to users. They can also view the current license [587] assigned to users, as well as assign users license types [582].

The type of license limits the possible permissions and roles that can be granted to a user. License types include creator, stakeholder, test runner, and reviewer.

Regardless of the assigned license type, each user has a unique login consisting of username and password.

Creator and reviewer licenses can be named licenses or float licenses; test runner licenses and stakeholder licenses are named only.

## **Types of licenses**

License type	Definition	Named li- cense	Float license
Creator	Gives full read and edit rights and full access to reviews to active users who daily manage items and projects.	x	x
Test runner	Gives basic permissions to read and review, as well as the ability to create test plans and defects, to execute test runs, and to add attachments to test runs during execution.	X	

License type	Definition	Named li- cense	Float license
Stakeholder	Gives read-only privileges to those who need visibility into a project, but don't need editing rights. Stakeholders can view items, provide comments, and act as reviewers.	X	
Reviewer	Grants permission to participate in reviews, act as approver, moder- ator, or review admin, and to respond to comments in the stream. Reviewers can't initiate reviews or access items in the core project.	X	x
Temporary	A 30-day full creator license automatically granted to a non-licensed individual, invited by email to a review or to comment in the stream. The only default permissions are for the discussion thread or review to which they were invited.	x	X
Collaborator (Legacy)	A legacy license; gives read-only privileges to users needing visibility into a project, but not editing rights. They can view items, provide comments, participate in (but not create) reviews, execute test runs, and log defects.	X	X

#### Permissions by license type

The type of license assigned to you defines your permissions, which in turn determine your ability to create and edit items and to access items as read-only.

With a creator license and read-only permissions to a project, you can:

- · Execute test runs
- · Log defects from the test run execution window

-	LICENSE TYPE							
PERMISSIONS	Creator	Stakeholder	Collaborator (Legacy)	Test runner	Reviewer			
Read/Write				6 mm				
Create test plans	X			X	1.2			
Execute test runs	X		x	X				
Log defects (from test run window)	X		x	X				
Manage attachments	X		- <u>-</u>	X*				
Manage relationships	x			X*				
Add baselines	X							
Edit, delete, restore user-created baselines	X							
Add and edit items	X			X*				
REST API access	X	111	1	5				
Read-only								
Share filters	X							
Share custom report templates	x				-			
View baselines	X	X	х	X	Sec. 1994			
Create filters	X	X	x	X				
Export reports	x	x	x	- x				
Read and initiate stream threads	X	x	x	X	1			
Comment on items	X	X	X	X				
View items in projects	X	x	x	x				
View dashboards	X	x	X	X				
Review								
Initiate	X	1111		2				
Moderate	X			X				
Participate	X	X	X	X	X			
Approve	X	X	x	X	X			
Electronically sign	X	X	x	X	X			
Reply to stream comments	X	- X	Χ.	X	X			
Risk								
Initiate	X	1111		i.				
Moderate	X							
Participate	X	1	10.00					
View (if invited)	X	X	X	X	÷			

\* Permissions that are included with each license type.

## Roles

A *role* is a set of permissions that allows a user to perform specific functions. Each permission type defines the functions it allows.

An admin grants permissions by role [669] to an individual or to a group.



#### NOTE

Permission roles are different from other types of roles such as review roles [162] and Signer roles [259].

## Types of roles

Role	Definition
System admin [489]	Handles installation, setup, and configuration of Jama Connect, and has no access to projects.
(self-hosted only)	System admin is a special user that isn't a role for other users. It doesn't require a license and logs in to the system with the username "root."
Organization admin [549]	Controls all aspects of configuring Jama Connect, its users, and its groups.
User admin [573]	Manages licenses, users, and groups; can see all users and organization groups in the system.
Process admin [593]	Configures content and connections within Jama Connect; controls item types, pick lists, relation- ship rules, Review Center, and workflow; delegates these responsibilities to appropriate users and groups.
Project admin [643]	Focuses on permissions, project groups, and workflow customization.
Add Project	Allows a user to create a new project or duplicate an existing project where that user is project admin.
Review admin [192]	Has access to a review's content when the review is public. A review admin is also a reviewer, approver, or moderator in the review. Permissions must be assigned by an organization admin.
Reuse admin [322]	Manages reuse. Requires read access to the synchronized items they are working with, and write permissions to edit, synchronize, reuse, or duplicate those items.
Report admin [565] (self-hosted only)	Allows the report developer to upload and manage BIRT, Velocity, and Word templates. Reports are assigned to specific projects where the report admin has project management rights.

## **User admin limitations**

- Can set permissions only for groups/users on projects where they are project admin.
- Can manage organization group membership only for groups where they are a member.
- Can't make changes or additions to users or groups that have been assigned to organization or process admins except for activation/deactivation and license management.
- Can manage only members of a group where they are also a member. This restriction ensures they don't unintentionally provide or remove access to unknown or existing projects.



#### IMPORTANT

Users must have the license type [583] that allows for the permissions granted with each role.

## Permissions granted by role

A set of permissions is included with the user's license type [583]. Users can also be assigned roles [591] that grant additional permissions.

The role of system admin only applies to self-hosted customers.

Real Property and the second sec	A CONTRACTOR OF STREET			0-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1-1	R	OLES		-		-
PERMISSIONS	System	Organization	User	Process	Project	Add Project	Review	Reuse	Risk	Report
Setup										
Install the application	x									
Configure email servers	x									
Re-index system	X									
Configure authentication	X					1.1.1.1.1	1			
Upload reports (self-hosted)	x	X								
Write	1									
Add, edit, delete reuse rules		12 7 2 2 2		The second second				X		
Add and edit item types		X		X		1				
Add users	X	X	x	1	1	1				
Add projects		x			all a second as a	x				
Configure reports (self-hosted)	x	X		1		1				X
Configure organization	x	X				1				
Configure process (item types, picklists, rules)		X		x	1					
Set project permissions	X	X	x		x		1			
Edit, delete, or recover any baseline		X			X					
Delete or recover baseline sources		X		· ·	X					
Add releases		x			x					
Create dashboards		X			x					
Select item types for projects		X		X	X					
Manage permissions for existing users		X	x	~~~	X					
Review	-								108-00-07	
Recover a deleted review		X		T			X			
Risk		10.00		Q		(A.) (C)			1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.	
View all analyses							1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.		x	
Edit templates									x	

For role-related permissions to work, users must have the required license type.

			REQUIRED LI	CENSE TYPE		
ROLES	Creator	Stakeholder	Collaborator	Test Runner	Reviewer	None
System administrator						x
Organization administrator	x					11
Project administrator	x			1	1 1	121
Reuse administrator	x			1		i <b>Z</b> i
Review administrator	x			š	x	
Risk administrator	x	-		÷	54	
Report administrator	x					

#### **Roles and permissions**

Permissions and roles control how users experience Jama Connect. They restrict users' actions or the content users can see.



*Roles* provide access to the administrative features of Jama Connect. Roles are assigned by administrators to individual users or to groups.

*Permissions* control read and write access to your project. You can be granted permission to an entire project, to a project's folders, or to a collection of items in a project. Permissions are assigned to individual users or to groups.

Permissions are inherited from higher levels in the organization structure and can be set at different levels:

- Organization
- Folder
- Project

Once permissions are set on a project, they can be adjusted based on the organization of the project Explorer Tree.



#### NOTE

To be able to access the project, admins must set the permissions before adjusting a set or component.

#### Best practices for admins

- Set permissions at the highest level possible. This helps you track existing permissions for a user or group when many one-off changes are made.
- Use groups instead of individual users. Using groups reduces the volume of entries and ensures consistent setup of users who require similar access.

## Permission questions and scenarios

Question	I want to provide general user management to my IT group, but how do I restrict access to sensitive projects and project groups?
Answer	Assign the user admin role. This role is limited to viewing and administering project-level permissions on projects only where they are a project admin. They can still create users, deactivate existing users, manage their participation in organization groups, and configure licenses.
Question	Can a user admin grant themselves or others the process role or organization admin role? Can they change their own permissions?

Answer	No, only an organization admin can set the org and process roles.
	A user admin must be a project admin to adjust permissions to a project. If they remove their own project admin role, they no longer have access to that project's permissions.
Question	Why aren't there any options to override permissions on certain users or groups?
Answer	This restriction controls visibility and access across projects that might belong to different divisions or contains sensitive information that you don't want exposed to all users.
	If you want your user admin (user or group) to have access to all projects and project groups, assign the project admin role at the organization level.
Question	Why can't my user admin see all groups where a user is assigned?
Answer	By default, user admins can't access all projects. The user must be a project admin to access the groups for that project.
Question	Why can't my user admin manage the membership in an organization group?
Answer	User admins can only provide access to projects they can access. To access a project, they must be a member of that project's organization group.
	When they aren't a member of the organization group, the project isn't visible to them, so they can't provide access.
Question	Why am I getting "no permissions" error when I try to add a user to a group?
Answer	The group might have permission to access projects that you don't.
Question	Why can't my process admin see all projects when assigning relationship rules?
Answer	A project might contain sensitive information, so access is restricted. The list of projects shows only projects where the process admin is also a project admin.
	If you want your process admin (user or group) to have access to all projects and project groups, assign the project admin role at the organization level.
Question	Is there a way to limit the item types that a process admin is able to see?
Answer	Not at this time. This is a future option under consideration.
Question	I just made a user an organization admin. Why can't the user access certain projects?
Answer	The option to override an organization admin's access is no longer available. To avoid confusion, remove any overrides on organization admin users/groups that you made in the past.
Question	Does the process admin have access to all projects and users?
Answer	Process admins only have access to the projects where they are a project admin.
	They do have access to users and organization groups for assigned workflow transitions.
Question	The @mention feature isn't working for my users, regardless of project permissions on the Stream page.
Answer	The top-level option to create comments has a new configuration that disables this option by default. Context-free comments (not made from a project or item) created confusion and exposed users and groups to all system users.
	The @mention from the Stream page is now limited to include only users and groups that align with the commen- ter's project permissions. This change tightens security and eliminates accidental exposure of users or groups.
Question	As a project admin, why can't I add users to my project if they are in the same system?
Answer	Your organization has configured the settings for Jama Connect to restrict project admins' visibility of users and groups to only their project's permissions.
	If you want your project admins to have access to all users and groups, your organization admin can configure the setting on the Organization Detail page.
Question	I've given a user with read/write permissions access to a set in my project, but they still can't see the project.
Answer	Permissions must first be set on the project. Once the user has read or read/write permissions to the project, they can access the set. You can provide or remove permissions to other sets or components in the project to modify access.
Question	I removed a user's access to a component. Why can they still see it?
Answer	Users receive the highest level of rights assigned to them. If a user is part of a group that has permissions to a component, you can make one of the following changes:
	<ul> <li>Change that group's permissions to exclude the component.</li> <li>Remove the user from the group so the individual entry is now the highest level of rights assigned.</li> </ul>

## Access permissions

With access permissions, a user can create, read, and edit items.

### Levels of access permissions

- Read/Write A user with these access permissions can read write edit and delete
- Read-only A user with these permissions can read, but not create or edit items.

### How permissions are granted

- Organization admin Grant access permissions at an organizational level [589].
- Project admin Grant access permissions at a project level [664].

### **Relationships and access permissions**

Your ability to interact with relationships depends on your access permissions for each of the related items. Read more about permissions [583].

Permissions for current item	Permissions for related item	You can
Read/Write	Read only	<ul> <li>View trace relationships.</li> <li>View ID and name of related item.</li> <li>Modify relationships.</li> <li>Create new relationships.</li> <li>Navigate to related item and clear suspect links.</li> </ul>
Read only or Read/Write	No permission	<ul><li>View trace relationships, but not modify or create new relationships.</li><li>See ID and name, but not navigate to related item.</li></ul>
Read only	Read/Write	<ul> <li>View trace relationships.</li> <li>Modify relationships.</li> <li>Create new relationships.</li> <li>Navigate to related items and clear suspect links.</li> </ul>
Read/Write	Read/Write	<ul><li>Create, modify, and delete relationships.</li><li>Navigate to related items and clear suspect links.</li></ul>
Read only	Read only	<ul> <li>View trace relationships.</li> <li>Navigate to related items, but not create or modify relationships between the two items.</li> </ul>

## Best practices and guardrails

Best practices and guardrails provide proven guidance that helps you get the most out of your experience with the Jama Connect application.

Change/use this	For this result
Explorer Tree settings	When your project has a large number of items, you can improve performance by changing the Explorer Tree settings to only show folders and components [47].
Filters	Filters that run against all projects find and display results for all items in your Jama Connect application. Filters like these can return large data sets and degrade performance. To assure quality performance, make filters more specific to return only the results you need.
Items and at- tachments	<ul> <li>When working with more than 1,000 items per folder, hide items in the Explorer Tree [47] and work with them in List View [54] in the center panel. To move multiple items, multi-select in List View and drag them to their new location in the Explorer Tree.</li> <li>Files larger than 25 MB aren't indexed so their content isn't searchable.</li> <li>Indexed file types: PDF, DOC, DOCX, PPT, PPTX, TXT, RTF</li> <li>Non-indexed file types: XLSX, XLS, XML, HTML, HTM</li> </ul>
Item field con- tent	Keep the content of item fields to fewer than 10,000 characters (2,000 words). When you compare review versions, the applications might skip fields with lengthy content. Reuse and synchronization of hundreds of items can affect system performance, causing it to feel slower than usual for users and decrease performance for other processes such as exporting.

Change/use this	For this result
Reuse and synchroniza- tion	If you try to reuse and synchronize a very large number of items, a warning appears if it's likely to impact performance. If you still want to do this, consider reusing items in smaller batches or starting a large reuse and synchronize process during off hours when there is less competition for resources.
Review items	We recommend that reviews contain fewer than 250 items. This threshhold is in place to mitigate any performance issues that could come from a review with an excessive amount of items.

## **Keyboard shortcuts**

Use the following shortcuts to navigate throughout the Jama Connect application.



### NOTE

In general, Mac users can substitute the **Cmd** key for the **Ctrl** key and the **Option** key for the **Alt** key. Depending on your keyboard, you might also have to press the **Fn** key.

#### Table 4. General navigation

Key command	Function
Esc	Close an open window.
Tab	Navigate from field to field in List View or Single Item View.
Enter	Selects a highlighted button or open a selected item.
Arrow keys	Scroll through items, tags, releases, baselines, or test plans in the left panel.

### Table 5. Inline editing in List View

Key command	Function
Esc	Cancel unsaved changes.
Tab	Move cursor between editable fields.
Enter	Save changes and move to the next item in the list.

### Table 6. Rich text accessibility

Key command	Function
Alt + 0	Open window with accessibility instructions.
Alt + F10	Enter the toolbar or the tab list of the open window.
Ctrl + right-click (Windows)	Access native browser spellcheck menu.
control + command + click (Mac)	
Tab	Move to the right between groups of toolbar buttons.
Shift + tab	Move to the left between groups of toolbar buttons.
Right arrow	Move to the next button to the right.
Left arrow	Move to the next button to the left.
Enter	Activate a selected button or menu option.

### Table 7. Rich text navigation

Key command	Function
Home	Jump to the beginning of the line.
Ctrl + Home	Jump to the beginning of the document.

Key command	Function
End	Jump to the end of the line.
Ctrl + End	Jump to the end of the document.
PgDn	Scroll down the document by the length of the editing area.
PgUp	Scroll up the document by the length of the editing area.
Ctrl + L	Open the link window.

## Table 8. Rich text writing and formatting

Key command	Function
Shift + Enter	Add a line break.
Ctrl + Z	Undo the last change.
Ctrl + Y	Redo the last change.
Ctrl + C	Copy a text fragment to the clipboard.
Ctrl + V, Shift + Insert	Paste a text fragment from the clipboard.
Ctrl + X, Shift + Del	Cut a text fragment to the clipboard.
Ctrl + B	Apply or remove bold formatting.
Ctrl + I	Apply or remove italic formatting.
Ctrl + U	Apply or remove underline.
Ctrl + A	Select all field contents.
Shift + Arrow	Select text letter by letter.
Ctrl + Shift + Arrow	Select text word by word.
Shift + End	Select a text fragment from the cursor to the end of the line.
Shift + Home	Select a text fragment from the beginning of the line to the cursor.
Ctrl + Shift + End	Select a text fragment from the cursor to the end of the document.
Ctrl + Shift + Home	Select a text fragment from the beginning of the document to the cursor.
Shift + PgDn	Select a text fragment of approximately the length of the editing area, starting from the cursor and going down.
Shift + PgUp	Select a text fragment of approximately the length of the editing area, starting from the cursor and going up.

#### Table 9. Review navigation

Key command	Function
Tab	Move from one highlighted comment to another.

### Table 10. Test case authoring

Key command	Function
Tab + Shift	Move cursor between editable fields and row actions.
Esc	Move focus from cell to row, row to table.
arrow-up and arrow-down	When focus is placed on row, navigate up and down through table rows.
	When focus is placed in cell, navigate through lines of text.
Enter	When focus is placed in cell, enter a line return when rich text is enabled.
	When focus is placed on row action, the action is performed.
	When focus is placed on Add step, add a new step and move cursor to the first cell of new row.

## Application performance testing

Jama Software runs daily performance testing of Jama Connect. The frequency depends on your environment.

## Self-hosted performance test results

Self-hosted environment — Daily performance testing

These performance test results indicate a large self-hosted environment with 1,250 concurrent users.



- All requests were serviced during the testing period of 90 minutes with no un-intentional errors.
- 82% of requests were serviced in under 1 second.
- · Longer running operations (like bulk updates and copies) were serviced within tolerances.



- Performance tests consider different user personas commonly found in our customer base, with the most common and active users being Staff Engineers and Testers (Creators [666]).
- The total of unique, concurrent users spread across the personas was 1,250.

	Response Time Distribution	
100	а 🗰 ок 📕 ко	
80	0	
60	σ	
40	0	
20	o	
0	0 305 12305 24305 36305 43305	

- This graph shows the distribution of serviced requests during the test with response times expressed in milliseconds (ms).
- 79% of requests were serviced in under 305ms with 99.5% of requests serviced in the consumer web target of under 3 seconds.

## Get help

Do you have a question that's not covered in the Jama Connect User Guide?

Visit our Support Community where you can find answers, start discussions, share ideas, and access developer documentation.

As part of your contract, your organization can get additional help from our support staff. Your organization's named support contact can submit tickets directly to our support staff.

If you have a large team to train quickly, need to integrate Jama Connect with other tools, or want to go beyond the basics, Jama Software offers training courses and other professional services to help you be more successful.

- Education and Tutorials
- How-To Videos and other Resources
- Business Services

Let us know how we can help you.

## Widgets

A *widget* is small embedded application that adds functionality to the dashboard or to item types.

This table includes all widget types, their definitions, and how they are used.

Widget	Definition
Activities*	Lists all the changes users made to an item: adding, relating, editing, deleting, and restoring.
	Activities are listed in chronological order.
-yr 18	Users can search their activity history and filter on activity types.
Attachments*	Shows external files attached to an item: images, documents, and spreadsheets.
ATTACHMENTS: Add attachment	If your organization has a document management system, link from a Jama Connect item to the file in your document management system, rather than duplicating files in Jama Connect.

Definition
Indicates that the item is linked to one or more change requests.
<b>Example</b> : If the icon includes a number, the item is linked to that many change requests and is automati- cally added if the item is linked to a change request.
Indicates that a user made comments on the item.
Generally used for day-to-day collaboration with colleagues and tracking questions, decisions, and issues about items. These comments are only visible to users with permission to see the Jama Connect project. Comments from reviews are separate and not included here. Enabled by default.
Shows a creator, editor, or someone who has commented, subscribed, or is @mentioned in an item. Also shows users on upstream or downstream traced items.
Enabled by default.
Indicates when a user links to requirements, tests, and other items that require a change.
Visible only on item types where the Change Request widget is enabled.
Adds links to an item by associating a link with that item or embedding a link in a rich text field within the item.
Hyperlinks can also be added in any rich text field.
Shows items that are related for traceability.
Example: A requirement might be linked to upstream customer needs multiple downstream test cases.
Shows comments for reviews where this option is enabled.
Shows the link from requirements, mitigations, or verifications to a particular risk.
Shows the number of items directly under a currently viewed item in the Explorer Tree.
Example: The "System" component has five sub items:

Widget	Definition
Synchronized	Monitors differences between reused items and containers.
Items*	The number of items that an item is synchronized with is displayed in the blue circle.
	<b>Example</b> : If a source item version changes, all reused items are flagged as "out of sync" so you can compare differences.
Tags*	Labels items so you can find similar items quickly.
7400-	Any user with create and edit permissions can add a new tag.
Add tag	Users with project admin permissions can edit or delete existing tags.
Test Runs	Shows the results from a Test Plan and Test Cycle.
	Jama Connect allows one Test Case to many Test Run results.
B	The number indicates the number of active Test Runs.
	Visible only on item types where the "Use as" setting is Test Case:
	Use as: Default
	Widgets: Default Test Case
	Defect
Versions*	Shows the number of versions.
1	A new version is created each time you change an item. You can compare versions or revert to a past item.

\* Widget is only visible on item types where an organization admin has enabled [611] it.

#### Recommended

At minimum, enable these widgets:

- Activities
- Relationships
- Synchronized items
- Versions

## Glossary

Term	Definition
actions	A tag that identifies a comment in a stream conversation as one of three types: decision, question, or issue.
approver	A role in the review process with the ability to approve or reject an item for correctness or completeness.
attachment	External files such as images, documents, and spreadsheets that can be attached to an item.
baseline	A fixed reference point that captures the state of selected items and their relationships within a project at a specific point in time.
Baseline Com- pared to Current Report	A report that displays a side-by-side comparison of items and relationships in a baseline and their current versions.
Baseline Com- parison Report	A report that displays a side-by-side comparison of items and relationships in two baselines.
baseline ID	A unique ID assigned to each baseline. Baseline IDs are automatically generated and numbered sequen- tially in the order they were created. They can't be edited or duplicated.
batch transitions	A workflow feature that allows you to select multiple items of the same item type and transition them to a different workflow status.

#### Jama Connect User Guide

Term	Definition
Bidirectional Traceability Re- port	A report that displays upstream and downstream relationships for a selected container of items.
bookmarks	Links to content you view frequently at the top of your homepage.
bottom panel	A panel that slides in from the bottom of the center panel to give more detail on items such as relation- ships, the activity stream, version history, and merged items.
change request	A formal proposal that identifies changes to items in a specific product or system.
child item	An item that falls hierarchically below a parent item of the same item type.
collaborator li- cense	A named or floating license that gives read-only privileges to users needing visibility into a project, but not editing rights. These users can view items, provide comments, participate in (but not create) reviews, execute test runs, and log defects.
comments	User-created messages found in the stream or in reviews.
Compare View	A side-by-side view of content that helps you compare differences between versions of an item.
component	A structural container used to organize a project into more manageable pieces.
container	A Jama Connect unit for organizing document items. Containers include three types: components, sets, and folders.
contributor	In risk analysis, a role in that can open, view, and edit any analysis where the user is invited. Contributors must have a creator license in Jama Connect.
coverage	The extent to which items are validated by another item.
Coverage Explor- er	A tool to view or export a set of items, including related items that provide needed coverage.
creator license	A named or floating license that gives full read and edit rights, and full access to reviews, for those who are active users managing items and projects on a daily basis.
dashboard	A visual display of Jama Connect data. It can be configured to show key metrics about your project, to highlight which areas might need attention.
dashboard widg- et	A small embedded application that compiles and displays data from a single project or filter.
downstream	A way to identify a relationship between items. If one item is downstream from another, it might be impacted by that item.
electronic signa- tures	A digital process that indicates a user's acceptance of a document, item, or process. In Jama Connect, electronic signatures are used to approve a review or baselines.
Explorer Tree	A method of structurally and visually organizing the sets, components, folders, and items in your project hierarchy.
export	An action that extracts data from Jama Connect to a Word or Excel document.
field	A fixed location in a unit of data such as a record or computer instruction that has a specific purpose and usually a fixed size.
filter	A method to display subset of items, users, or reviews from a larger collection. These are available as simple or advanced filters.
folder	A type of container used to organize your work. Jama Connect uses item folders, baseline folders, and project folders.
global ID	A unique identifier of items connected through synchronization.
homepage	The start page that is displayed when Jama Connect first opens. It can show links to your most relevant content, like bookmarks, recent views, open reviews, and stream comments or actions.
Impact Analysis	In requirements management, a method to show the implications of a proposed change to all upstream and downstream related items.
Import	An action that incorporates data into Jama Connect from an external source such as Microsoft Word, Excel, and IBM doors.
Import Relation- ships Plugin	A tool that helps you batch-create links between existing items in the application.
index	A list of information about each item that ensures proper display, sorting, filtering, and searching of data.
item	The building blocks of Jama Connect. Projects are made up of items. Items are made up of fields. Items can be containers (sets, folders, components or parent items) or documents (features, requirements, test cases, tasks, defects).
item counter	A tool that automatically assigns numbers to items as part of their ID.
item ID	Unique identifiers for each item that, unlike a Global IDs, can't be duplicated.
Items in a Set Re- port	A report that displays a tabular list of items in a set.

#### Jama Connect User Guide

Term	Definition	
item types	The templates for sets used within each project.	
item widget	A graphical element of the UI that adds functionality to an item type, for example, adding links, attach- ments, relationships, and tags.	
left panel	The area of the UI where you can find and organize your data. It contains the Explorer Tree, advanced filters, releases, baselines, tests, and tags.	
license	The document that gives permission to an organization to install and run the Jama Connect application.	
license type	The possible permissions and roles that can be granted to a user (for example, creator, stakeholder, test runner, and reviewer).	
List View	A way of viewing data from multiple items in a table with a different field in each column so you can sort, select, and compare items at a glance.	
lock	A method to make items read-only. Locks can be set automatically or manually.	
moderator	A user who creates and manages a review. Moderators must have a creator license type.	
notifications	Optional emails sent to groups or individuals alert you when certain changes are made.	
Office Templates	Word documents and Excel spreadsheets that allow you to add formatting to your exports.	
organization	A representation of the entire group of users who have access to your instance of Jama Connect as well as all the projects, items, and data.	
organization ad- min	A role with administrative control of the Jama Connect application. An organization might have one or more organization administrators.	
permissions	A way of allowing users the ability to access, modify, and delete items or perform other specific tasks.	
pick lists	A set of defined values that can be entered into a field.	
project	A way of organizing your data in Jama Connect. A project is made up of items, filters, baselines, releases, reports, and tests.	
project admin	A role that has the necessary permissions to manage a particular project.	
project key	A unique identifier, automatically created with each project, which makes up the first part of each item's Unique ID.	
project workflow	A well-defined sequence of the tasks and activities required to complete a specific project. In Jama Connect, you set up a workflow in Projects, so that users can move project items along a similar path as they progress.	
Reading View	A way of displaying text and images for a particular group of items so you can read through selected items like a document.	
relationship	A way of linking items together that can help you assess the impact an item or group of items can have on other items.	
Relationship Sta- tus Indicator	A tool that shows the number of relationships an item has, as well as whether those relationships meet the project's relationship rules.	
release	A group of items that are developed together and mapped to a specific completion date.	
Release Status Report	A report that displays the current state of the items within a particular release.	
Replicated snap- shot	A backup of the Admin Console settings, Docker containers, and the Jama Connect license.	
report	A document that helps you analyze the current status and progress in your work. Reports can include graphs, tabular data, metrics, and other roll-ups.	
required fields	String, text, or date fields that are configured so that the user must enter data into the field before saving an item.	
REST API	An application program interface to assist developers in a clean, straightforward integration with the application.	
reuse	The duplication of an item within a project or to a different project where it can be modified without affecting the original item.	
reuse admin	A role with the permissions needed to manage reuse.	
review	A process that helps teams, stakeholders, and customers collaborate in Jama Connect discuss, review, revise and approve information.	
review admin	A role with the permissions needed to manage reviews.	
Review Center Stats Report	A report that displays the progress of a specific review.	
reviewer	A role that participates in a review to provide feedback.	
reviewer license	A named or floating license that grants permission to participate in reviews, act as approvers, moderators, or review administrators, and respond to comments in the stream. A reviewer license doesn't allow users to initiate reviews or access items in the core project.	

Term	Definition	
Reviews work- flow	A tool for moderators to update the status of reviewed items. When configured, the reviews workflow automatically updates field values for review items of the same type and review status.	
right panel	A panel that slides out to provide more specific information about the data you selected.	
risk control measures	The procedures or requirements implemented to reduce risk levels.	
risk control op- tions	The means by which a risk is reduced.	
risk control veri- fication	Confirmation that specified requirements were fulfilled.	
risk ID	A unique ID assigned to each row in an analysis. They are automatically generated across all analyses and are numbered sequentially in the order they were created.	
risk management	The systematic application of management policies, procedures and practices to the tasks of analyzing, evaluating, controlling, and monitoring risk. (ISO 14971)	
search	A function or process of finding letters, words, files, or other data in an index of all database fields, as well as text within Word, PDF, or text attachments, to display a list of resulting items.	
signature mean- ing	A system setting that states the meaning of the electronic signature. It's required for FDA 21 CFR Part 11 compliance. In Jama Connect, it defaults to "I approve this review" and can't be modified. The signature meaning is visible in review invitations.	
signer role	A role for an approver in the review process. Approval is provided with an electronic signature. Signer roles are created from user group names.	
role	A set of permissions granted to a user so that they can perform a particular job.	
set	A structural container with configurable access rights, used to group items of the same type. It can also contain folders, text Items, child text items and child items of the same type.	
set key	The key that identifies item sets within your project. The key doesn't have to be unique across sets or projects.	
sequence of events	The events that lead to a hazardous situation.	
severity	The measure of the possible consequences of a hazard.	
stakeholder li- cense	A named license that gives read-only privileges to those who need visibility into a project, but don't need editing rights. Stakeholders can view items, provide comments, and act as reviewers.	
Single Item View	A way to display the information about one item in the center panel.	
stream	A collection of the most recent comments and activities (adds, deletes, or edits).	
suspect links	Suspect links on an item mean it might no longer be correct or complete, because changes were made to items upstream.	
synchronization	A method for monitoring for differences between reused items and containers. When differences exist, users can update the data for those items or containers.	
system admin	A role that handles the overall installation, setup, and configuration of Jama Connect. The system admin doesn't have access to projects, doesn't require a special license, and is the only user who can log in to the system as "root user."	
system fields	Automatically created fields such as name, test steps, test case status, and review status, which provide system functionality and can't be disabled or deleted.	
system health re- port	An optional feature that notifies administrators of areas of the application that can affect performance and user experience.	
tags	Labels that you can attach to items to help identify items that have something in common.	
Task List with Es- timates Report	A report that displays all item types and sums their estimates if applicable.	
temporary li- cense	A 30-day full creator license, automatically granted to a non-licensed individual whose email address is used to invite them to a review or to comment in the stream. It has no default permissions except for the discussion thread or review to which they were invited, although an organization administrator can add permissions.	
test case	Items that contain the tests needed to validate or verify product features or systems.	
test case status	An automatically calculated status that indicates the state of the last edited test run associated with that test case.	
test cycle	Groups of test cases converted into a series of test runs that are ready for execution.	
test group	A way to combine and label similar tests in a test plan.	
test plan	An item that documents the overall strategy for validating or verifying that a product or system meets its design specifications and requirements.	

#### Jama Connect User Guide

Term	Definition	
Test Plan Detail Report	A report that displays the details of a test plan.	
test run	An item used to record results for a test case you ran against your product.	
test runner li- cense	A named license that includes basic permissions to read and review, as well as the additional ability to create test plans and defects, and execute test runs.	
test run status	An indicator of the current state of a test run, which is used in calculating test case status.	
test steps	Distinct steps used to run a test.	
text item	A specific and unique type of item that lives outside the boundary of other item types and doesn't function as a full feature. Unlike other item types, text items can be used as part of a mixed item set.	
thread dumps	A snapshot of the state of your application instances' processes at a point in time.	
toolbar	The part of the UI that is located at the top of the center panel. From there you can switch views, filter items, configure fields, and export your data.	
traceability	A method for showing the relationship between items that depend upon and define each other. You can always travel upstream or downstream to get more context and trace product definition from high level requirements all the way through final tests.	
trace matrix	A visual representation of relationships within a project.	
Trace Relation- ships Report	A report that displays items with their downstream relationships.	
Trace View	A way of displaying related upstream and downstream items, missing relationships, and item details in context of their relationship.	
trial license	A 30-day license granted to new users who sign up for a trial of Jama Connect on jamasoftware.com.	
upstream	A way to identify a relationship between items. If one item is upstream from another, it might impact that item.	
unique ID	An ID that identifies an item with a project key, set key, and a set counter. A unique ID (also called item ID) remains the same even if the item name or content is changed. It can't be edited or duplicated.	
user	A basic role associated with a unique Jama Connect login. Each user has their own license type, groups, and permissions.	
user group	A way to manage notifications, permissions, access, and actions for multiple users at a time.	
User Import Plu- gin	A tool that allows organization admins to add multiple users at once by importing a spreadsheet.	
User List Report	A report that displays a list of all the active and inactive users associated with the organization.	
version	One of a sequence of copies of an item, each incorporating new modifications. There are versions of reviews and versions of items.	
viewer	A role that can read, but not edit, a risk analysis.	
widgets	Small embedded applications that add functionality to the dashboard or item types.	
workflow	An automated set of transitions from one status to another, over the course of an item's lifespan.	

## Jama Connect Interchange (JCI)

Jama Connect Interchange<sup>™</sup> is an integration platform that seamlessly integrates Jama Connect with other best of breed tools like Atlassian Jira and Microsoft Excel.

Unlike other integration tools in the marketplace, JCI is built, supported, and continually enhanced by dedicated teams at Jama Software. This means JCI is deeply integrated with Jama Connect configurations and workflows, providing you with a smart and seamless sync while you continue to work in your tool of choice.

JCI supports both cloud-based and self-hosted instances of Jama Connect.

To access the JCI library of resources, including release notes and a dedicated user guide, visit the JCI sub-community on the Jama Software Community site. To learn about the key benefits and common use case, see the Jama Connect Interchange Datasheet and Jama Connect Interchange User Guide.

To find out whether JCI would be a good fit for your organization, contact your Customer Success Manager.

# **Upgrading from Jama Connect traditional to KOTS**

Jama Connect is a Linux-based application that runs on Docker containers and uses Replicated software to "orchestrate" deploying applications. The current version of Jama Connect uses Replicated KOTS, while older versions use traditional Replicated software. The process of upgrading Jama Connect from traditional to KOTS includes planning, preparing your environment, and installing the software.

### Upgrade scenarios

**Upgrade with new servers (recommended)** — This recommended scenario uses new application and database servers to support your KOTS Replicated environment. It requires you to:

- Copy targeted data from the existing application server into the new environment.
- Restore a backup of your current database to the new database server.

While this scenario results in the temporary overhead of supporting two separate environments, it comes with less risk of unwanted downtime.

**Upgrade with existing servers** — This scenario reuses the current application and database servers from your traditional Replicated environment. This scenario:

- Requires you to uninstall elements of the traditional Replicated platform before you can install the KOTS Replicated platform.
- Can cause significant maintenance downtime. Make sure to inform your users of this maintenance window. Also have an emergency plan in place to revert back to the traditional Replicated environment if necessary.

## Before you upgrade

- · Contact your Customer Success Manager to request a KOTS internet or airgap license.
- Choose the upgrade scenario that works best for your organization. Whichever scenario you choose, expect production downtime while the new instance is configured. Best to upgrade during off hours.
- Follow the instructions in the planning [684] and preparing [691] sections to ensure a successful upgrade.

#### Components and what they do

**Replicated KOTS** — A container-based platform for easily deploying cloud native applications inside customers' environments, providing greater security and control. The KOTS Admin Console is the interface for installing, configuring, and administering the KOTS deployment of the Jama Connect application and required services. See https://www.replicated.com/ for details.

**Docker containers** — A standalone executable package of software that includes code, runtime, system tools, system libraries, and settings. See <a href="https://www.docker.com/resources/what-container/">https://www.docker.com/resources/what-container/</a> for details.

**Jama Connect KOTS license** — Contact your Customer Success Manager to request a KOTS license. Save the license file to a location you can access easily; you will need it when installing Jama Connect.

For more information about KOTS, see https://www.replicated.com/blog/announcing-kots/



## NOTE

Replicated KOTS is the only supported platform for Jama Connect 9.0 and later. To upgrade Jama Connect traditional to KOTS, see Upgrade from Jama Connect traditional to KOTS workflow [684].

## Workflow for upgrading from traditional to KOTS

Whether your environment is internet-enabled or airgapped, the upgrade process consists of three stages: planning, preparation, and installation.

Review the system and server requirements for your environment, then follow the instructions for each stage.

<b>1</b> Plan ———	2 Prepare ———	3 Install
<ul> <li>Request a KOTS license</li> <li>Run the KOTS preflight installation checks</li> <li>Preserve data assets and tenant.properties file</li> <li>Review system requirements</li> <li>Calculate resource sizing and requirements for application and database servers</li> <li>Record existing settings for traditional Admin Console</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Back up all your data</li> <li>Prepare application and database servers</li> <li>Install and configure database</li> <li>Configure memory settings for Elasticsearch</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Install KOTS software</li> <li>Provision your tenant in Jama Connect KOTS</li> <li>Create a Replicated Snapshot</li> </ul>

For this component	Follow these instructions
MySQL	Install and configure MySQL
Microsoft SQL	Install and configure Microsoft SQL Server
Internet	Install KOTS software (internet)
Airgap	Install KOTS software (airgap)
Local Elasticsearch	Included by default
Remote Elasticsearch	Configure dedicated Elasticsearch nodes

## Planning your upgrade to KOTS

Before you upgrade from traditional to KOTS, make sure you have everything you need according to your type of installation.

#### Important considerations

- We recommend that you use a new application server and database server. Once the KOTS Replicated environment is installed successfully, the traditional Replicated environment can be removed.
- If you plan to reuse the existing application server and database server when upgrading:
  - Make sure you pay careful attention to resource sizing. System requirements for the KOTS Replicated platform are different from the traditional Replicated platform.
  - This scenario requires that you uninstall the traditional Replicated platform, resulting in potential unwanted downtime.
| All envi-<br>ronments      | <ul> <li>The KOTS license file (submit a request to your Customer Success Manager).</li> <li>Run the KOTS preflight installation checks to ensure servers and settings are configured correctly.</li> <li>Record the size of existing data assets and database for application and database server requirements and resource sizing. To check the current assets size, run the following command from the application server command line:</li> </ul> |  |  |  |
|----------------------------|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|--|--|--|
|                            | <ul> <li>Record the existing settings from your traditional Replicated Admin Console. You can find the settings in the support bundle (under /daemon/replicated/app-config.json). These settings are used to configure Jama Connect after the upgrade to Jama Connect KOTS.</li> <li>An application server with the necessary preparation and sizing requirements [689].</li> <li>A database server with the necessary preparation</li> </ul>         |  |  |  |
|                            | • A database server with the necessary preparation.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   |  |  |  |
|                            | Supported [687] 64-bit Linux distribution with a kernel of:                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           |  |  |  |
|                            | <ul> <li>4.x or greater (recommended)</li> <li>3.10 (minimum)</li> </ul>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              |  |  |  |
| Airgap<br>environ-<br>ment | <ul> <li>The KOTS airgap license file (submit a request to your Customer Success Manager).</li> <li>PDF of this installation guide for the version of Jama Connect you are installing.</li> </ul>                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     |  |  |  |
|                            | IMPORTANT<br>If you lose the URL and password, contact Support to generate new ones.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  |  |  |  |
| Optional                   | TLS certificate and private key to secure the Admin Console and Jama Connect application.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             |  |  |  |
| L                          |                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       |  |  |  |

# What you need

# Run the KOTS preflight installation checks

Whether your environment is internet-enabled or airgapped, run the KOTS preflight installation checks to ensure your system is ready for upgrade.

# Important considerations

- The preflight checks verify that all server requirements are met to help avoid installation and upgrade issues. When the results display green checkmarks for each test, you can begin the installation process.
- If you are performing an in-place upgrade to 8.79.6, 9.0.4, or 9.6.x, the warning and failure messages displayed during preflight are expected and can be ignored.

A	Number of CPUs
A	Amount of Memory
÷.	Root Disk at least 2006B
\$	Can Access Replicated API
×.	Checking for MySQL
×.	Checking for MSSQL
÷	Checking for Docker
×	Checking for ContainerD
x	Checking for Kubernetes
×	Host HTTPS TCP Port Status
x	Host HTTP TCP Port Status
×.	Host Kubernetes HTTP TCP Port Status
×.	Host SSH TCP Port Status
A	Kubernetes API TCP Port Status
A	Kubernetes etcd TCP Port Status
A	Kubernetes etcd TCP Port Status
A	Kubernetes Kublet TCP Port Status
×.	Kubernetes Flannel UDP Port Status
×.	NTP Status
×.	NTP Status

#### To run preflight checks for internet-enabled environments:

1. Run the command on your application server:

#### curl -s https://raw.githubusercontent.com/JamaSoftware/kots-preflights/main/v2/non-airgap/\

- application-server.sh | sudo bash
  2. Run the command on your database server:
   curl -s https://raw.githubusercontent.com/JamaSoftware/kots-preflights/main/v2/non-airgap/
   database-server.sh | sudo bash
- 3. Press **S** to save the file, then review the results.
- 4. Submit an Installation Service Request Form (guided for Self-Hosted) and include your preflight check results to help our technical services team support your installation needs. Include any questions or concerns about the results in the ticket.

#### To run preflight checks for airgapped environments:

- 1. From an internet-enabled server
  - a. Download the preflight script files for the application server:

curl https://raw.githubusercontent.com/JamaSoftware/kots-preflights/\ main/v2/airgap/linux/airgap-host-preflight\_linux.tar.gz --output airgap-host-preflight\_linux.tar.gz curl https://raw.githubusercontent.com/JamaSoftware/kots-preflights/\ main/v2/airgap/linux/airgap-application-server\_linux.sh --output airgap-application-server\_linux.sh b. Download the preflight script files for the database server:

curl https://raw.githubusercontent.com/JamaSoftware/kots-preflights/\ main/v2/airgap/linux/airgap-database-preflight\_linux.tar.gz --output airgap-databasepreflight\_linux.tar.gz curl https://raw.githubusercontent.com/JamaSoftware/kots-preflights/\

main/v2/airgap/linux/\ airgap-database-server\_linux.sh --output airgap-database-server\_linux.sh

#### 2. From your application server

a. Save both application server script files to a directory on the airgapped application server that will host your KOTS installation, then configure the file permissions for the shell script:

chmod +x <path to the files>/airgap-application-server\_linux.sh

- b. Run the preflight installation check:
  - sudo bash <path to the files>/airgap-application-server\_linux.sh
- c. Press **S** to save the file, then review the results.

#### 3. From your database server

- a. Save both database server script files to a directory on the airgapped Jama Connect database server, then configure the file permissions for the shell script:
- chmod +x <path to the files>/airgap-database-server\_linux.sh
  b. Run the preflight installation check:
- sudo bash <path to the files>/airgap-database-server\_linux.sh
- c. Press **S** to save the file, then review the results.
- Submit an Installation Service Request Form (guided for Self-Hosted) and include your preflight check results to help our technical services team support your installation needs. Include any questions or concerns about the results in the ticket.

### System requirements and supported software (KOTS)

Make sure that your environment conforms to all requirements and recommendations before installing Jama Connect software.

After reviewing the information on this page, see *Things to do before installation*.



# IMPORTANT

To use Ubuntu 22.04, you must update the memory or Elasticsearch fails. From the KOTS Admin Console, adjust the memory settings so that Maximum Memory is 6G and Maximum Memory for Container is 8G.

# **Application server**

Use the information in this table for the server that runs the Jama Connect application. For details on sizing your application server to your environment, see *Resource sizing for application server*.

Component				
Minimum	Recommended			
<ul> <li>8 CPU</li> <li>32 GB RAM</li> <li>200 GB storage per node</li> <li>Every node has the same storage space</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>16 CPU</li> <li>64 GB RAM</li> <li>200 GB storage</li> <li>Every node has the same storage space</li> </ul>			
Operating system				
<ul> <li><i>Recommended</i> — Ubuntu 20.04 or Ubuntu 22.04</li> <li>Red Hat 8.6 or 8.8 — Supported only when the RHEL Container Tools are not installed.</li> </ul>				

Component
Software installed with Jama Connect
• KUIS
Containerd
Musts
<ul> <li>Dedicated server — Is running only Jama Connect</li> </ul>
Accessible by admin with permissions
Liese only supported astructor and environments
• Uses only supported software and environments

## **Database server**

Use the information in this table for the server that runs your database. For details on sizing your database server to your environment, see *Resource sizing for database server*.

Component					
Minimum	Recommended				
• 4–8 CPU • 16–24 GB RAM	<ul><li> 8 CPU</li><li> 24 GB RAM</li><li> Dedicated volumes for data</li></ul>				
Database software					
<ul><li>MySQL 8 (recommended)</li><li>Microsoft SQL Server 2019 &amp; 2022</li></ul>					
Operating system					
<ul> <li><i>Recommended</i> — Ubuntu 20.04 or Ubuntu 22.04</li> <li>Red Hat 8.6 or 8.8</li> </ul>					
Musts					
<ul> <li>Database is hosted on a server separate from the Jama Connect application.</li> <li>Database server can host other databases, but no other applications.</li> <li>Accessible by admin with permissions.</li> <li>Uses only supported software and environments.</li> <li>Databases must be able to accept a minimum of 300 concurrent connections.</li> </ul>					
Not supported					
Azure database					
<ul> <li>MariaDB</li> <li>Custom configurations of Jama Connect databases (for example, query optimization and additional indexes that aren't shipped</li> </ul>					
with Jama Connect)					

# Supported software

Make sure your environment uses only supported software.

Component			
Browsers	Important		
<ul> <li>Edge Chromium</li> <li>Firefox*</li> <li>Google Chrome*</li> <li>Safari*</li> </ul>	Browser zoom is supported only at 100%. Use of browser exten- sions/add-ons or enabling Compatibility View is not supported while us- ing Jama Connect. <b>Tip</b>		
*Versions released over the past 12 months are sup- ported.	To prevent session issues, use the application in a single browser win- dow.		
Word processor and spreadsheet programs	Office 365 is used for exports and reports.		
Office 365 for Windows			

# Application server requirements (upgrading traditional to KOTS)

To install and run Jama Connect successfully, your application server must meet these requirements.

Requirement	Notes		
A dedicated application server	Jama Connect is the only application running on the application server. External services can affect stability of the application, for example by consuming memory resources.		
Sufficient storage, CPU, and memory for optimal per- formance	To estimate the size of and required resources for your application server, see Resource sizing for application server [689].		
Accessible by an admin with permissions	An admin must have proper permissions to maintain the application, perform upgrades, and access the server for regular maintenance.		
Uses compatible software and environments	Verify that you're using supported software and environments [689] compatible with the most recent self-hosted release.		

# Resource sizing for application server (upgrading traditional to KOTS)

For optimal performance, estimate your application server needs before you install Jama Connect.

#### Requirements

- Each node must have a minimum volume of 200 GB. Increase this size based on the size of the assets that you plan to save in Jama Connect. We recommend that every node has the same storage space.
- KOTS must be up and running before you configure the application settings in the KOTS Admin Console.



# IMPORTANT

To avoid performance issues, use the recommended requirements for horizontal scaling, rather than minimum requirements.

Use the following tables to help determine resources for the primary node of your application server.

#### *Minimum size (AWS instance sizing = m5.2xlarge)*

CPU	RAM	CPU + memory settings	CPU + memory setting with horizontal scaling jamacores	
8	32 GB	N/A	jamacore application settings: • Maximum CPU: 1000m • Maximum memory: 2 G • Maximum memory per container: 3 G • Number of ingress nodes 2	

#### Recommended size (AWS instance size = m5.4xlarge)

CPU	RAM	CPU + memory settings	CPU + memory setting with horizontal scaling jama- cores		
16	64 GB Supports:		Supports:		
		<ul> <li>1,250 users with a ramp-up time of 30 sec- onds</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>1,250 users with a ramp-up time of 10 seconds</li> <li>2,500 users with a ramp-up time of 30 seconds</li> </ul>		

CPU	RAM	CPU + memory settings	CPU + memory setting with horizontal scaling jama- cores
		jamacore application settings:	jamacore application settings:
		<ul> <li>Maximum CPU: 12000m</li> <li>Maximum memory: 48 G</li> <li>Maximum memory for container: 60 G</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Maximum CPU: 3000m</li> <li>Maximum memory: 12 G</li> <li>Maximum memory for container: 15 G</li> <li>Number of ingress nodes: 2</li> </ul>
		Elasticsearch settings:	Elasticsearch settings:
		<ul> <li>Maximum CPU: 8000m</li> <li>Maximum memory: 8 G</li> <li>Maximum memory for container: 10 G</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Maximum CPU: 8000m</li> <li>Maximum memory: 8 G</li> <li>Maximum memory for container: 10 G</li> </ul>
		Diff Service settings:	Diff Service settings:
		Maximum memory: 2 G	Maximum memory: 2 G

Use the following table to help determine resources for the secondary node of your application server.

Secondary nodes dedicated to Elasticsearch: Recommended size (AWS instance size = m5.2xlarge)

CPU	RAM	CPU + memory settings		
8	32 GB	Supports:		
		2,500 users with a ramp-up time of 10 seconds		
		Elasticsearch settings:		
		Maximum CPU: 8000m		
		Maximum memory: 8 G		
		Maximum memory for container: 10 G		



# TIP

Once you're up and running, you can monitor usage and adjust your settings as needed.

# Database server requirements (upgrading traditional to KOTS)

The database must be hosted on a server separate from the Jama Connect application. This server can host other databases, but we don't support running other applications on the same server as the database.

# Supported databases

- MySQL 8 (recommended)
- Microsoft SQL Server 2019 & 2022

#### What is not supported

- Azure database
- MariaDB
- Custom configurations of Jama Connect databases. Customizations such as query optimization and additional indexes that aren't shipped with Jama Connect aren't supported.

# Resource sizing for database server (upgrading traditional to KOTS)

For optimal performance, estimate your database server needs before you install Jama Connect.

Database server	Small	Medium	Large	Enterprise
Active items in system	$\leq 600,000$	$\leq$ 2 million	2–4 million	4 million+
Active projects	$\leq 100$	≤ 500	$\leq 1,000$	1,000+
Concurrent users	≤ 50	≤ 500	$\leq 1,000$	1,000+
CPU	4	8	16	Contact Support
Total systems of RAM	16 GB	32 GB	64 GB	Contact Support

Use the information in this table to determine resources needed for your database server.

If your usage approaches the Enterprise threshold, contact Support for customized recommendations and advanced, multi-server setup.



**TIP** Once you're up and running, you can monitor usage and adjust your settings as needed.

#### Important considerations

- Total system RAM for your database server can vary if you're using memory intensive workflows such as reuse, exporting, move items, integrations, and batch updates. Database sizing is based on your usage patterns and platform. You must have a minimum of 4–8 cores and 16–24 GB of memory. Consult with your database admin when determining database size.
- The memory allocation allows for minimum headroom. If you need to run additional software for monitoring and analysis, consider the system requirements for that software. Configure dynamic memory settings as needed in the Admin Console.

# Things to do before upgrading from traditional to KOTS

Whether your environment is internet-enabled or airgap, make sure that your application server and database server are ready before upgrading Jama Connect from traditional to KOTS.

#### Important considerations and requirements

- If using the existing application server and database server, you must back up the Jama Connect database and all project assets before proceeding with the upgrade.
- Recommended Back up or create a snapshot of all relevant application servers in case you need to revert to the traditional Replicated environment.
- Record existing Admin Console settings before you uninstall the traditional Replicated platform elements. These settings are used when configuring new settings for the KOTS environment.

# Perform these tasks before you upgrade to KOTS

- · Preserve data assets
- · Prepare your application server
- · Prepare your new or existing database server
- Install and configure your database (MySQL or SQL Server)
- Restore database backups from traditional Replicated to KOTS
- · Configure custom memory settings for Elasticsearch

#### **Preserve data assets**

You must preserve project data assets from the traditional Replicated environment before beginning the upgrade and before uninstalling the traditional Replicated Docker containers.



#### NOTE

These assets are used when you provision your tenant.

#### To preserve data assets:

- 1. Create a backup of your tenant and OAuth databases. If you are installing KOTS in an environment with a new database server, you must restore the backups to the new server.
- 2. Save the backup file to a location you can access easily. You need access to this file when provisioning the tenant in the new KOTS Replicated environment.
- 3. Preserve the data assets and save them to an accessible location:

d /data/contour ar -zcvf assets.tar.gz avatars/ attachments/ diagrams/ reports/ equations/ tempreports/

#### Prepare your application server (upgrading traditional to KOTS)

Make sure your application server meets all requirements. See System requirements and supported software [440].

For users and admins to properly access Jama Connect, specific ports must be accessible to inbound traffic. Work with your network admin to make sure your network is configured properly.

#### Prepare an existing application server



#### IMPORTANT

These steps apply only if you are upgrading with an existing server.

You must remove Replicated services and all Docker packages before you upgrade to KOTS.

You must *preserve the existing data assets* before you uninstall the traditional Replicated Docker containers.

- 1. Record the existing settings of your Admin Console.
- 2. Stop the Replicated services.

Ubuntu/Debian	sudo service replicated stop sudo service replicated-ui stop sudo service replicated-operator stop sudo docker stop replicated-premkit sudo docker stop replicated-statsd
RHEL/Fedora	systemctl stop replicated replicated-ui replicated-operator service replicated stop service replicated-ui stop service replicated-operator stop docker stop replicated-premkit docker stop replicated-statsd

3. Stop and remove remaining containerd containers:

docker stop \$(docker ps -aq) docker rm \$(docker ps -aq)

4. Run the command for your operating system to remove traditional Replicated platform elements. Removing these items does not remove data or assets associated with provisioned tenants.



## IMPORTANT

Jama Connect is offline during this process. Make sure to inform your users of this maintenance downtime.

Ubuntu/Debi- an	<pre>docker rm -f replicated replicated-ui replicated-operator replicated-premkit replicated-statsd retraced-api \ retraced-processor retraced-cron retraced-nagd retraced-postgres docker images   grep "quay\.io/replicated"   awk '[print \$3] '   xargs sudo docker rmi -f docker images   grep "reglicated replicated.com/library/retraced"   awk '{print \$3}'   xargs sudo docker rmi -f apt-get remove -y replicated replicated-ui replicated-operator apt-get purge -y reglicated replicated-ui replicated-operator rm -rf /var/lib/replicated* /etc/replicated* /etc/init/replicated* /etc/init.d/replicated* \ //etc/default/replicated*</pre>
RHEL/Fedora	<pre>/var/i0g/upstart/repricated* /etc/system/repricated* docker rm -f replicated replicated-ui replicated-operator replicated-premkit replicated-statsd retraced-api \ retraced-processor retraced-cron retraced-nagi retraced-postgres docker images   grep "quay\.io/replicated*   awk '{print \$3}'   xargs sudo docker rmi -f docker images   grep "registry\.replicated*.com/library/retraced*   awk '{print \$3}'   xargs sudo docker rmi -f mocker images   grep "plicated replicated.com/library/retraced*   awk '{print \$3}'   xargs sudo docker rmi -f more -y replicated replicated*.com/library/retraced*   awk '{print \$3}'   xargs sudo docker rmi -f yum remove -y replicated* /etc/replicated* /etc/init/replicated* /etc/default/replicated* \ /etc/system/system/replicated* /etc/sysconfig/replicated* /run/replicated* / /etc/system/system/multi-user.target -wants/replicated* /run/replicated*</pre>

5. Stop and remove any remaining Docker resources, including containers, images, and volumes. This affects all containers on the system, not only those associated with Jama Connect and Replicated.



6. Remove remaining Docker packages to prepare for the KOTS installer.

Ubuntu/Debian	<pre>#dpkg, purge and remove dpkg -1   grep -i docker sudo apt-get purge -y docker-engine docker docker.io docker-ce docker-ce-cli docker-compose-plugin sudo apt-get autoremove -ypurge docker-engine docker docker.io docker-ce docker-compose-plugin #remove remaining docker files sudo rm -rf /var/lib/docker /etc/docker sudo rm /etc/aparmor.d/docker</pre>
	sudo groundel docker
	audo stoupat (up/ant/dockor.cock
	Sudo Tim TT / Var/Tum/docker.sock
RHEL/Fedora	sudo yum remove docker-ce docker-ce-cli docker-scan-plugin docker-ce-rootless-extras containerd.io sudo yum remove docker \
	docker-client \
	docker-client-latest \
	docker-common \
	docker-latest \
	docker-latest-logrotate \
	docker-logrotate \
	docker-engine

7. After removing Docker from the server, you must reboot the server before proceeding with the upgrade.

# Prepare all application servers (existing and new)

1. **Inbound rules and ports for nodes** — Make sure the ports in the following table are accessible to inbound traffic and the inbound rules are configured for each server in the KOTS cluster.

Protocol	Port range	Source*	Inbound rule applies to node	Description
HTTPS	443	Anywhere	All	Jama Connect port for SSL/TLS communication (HTTPS), which is used to access Jama Connect. It can be disabled or the port number can be reconfigured.
HTTP	80	Anywhere	All	Jama Connect port for clear text communication (HTTP), which is used to access Jama Connect. It can be disabled or the port number can be reconfig- ured.
ТСР	8800	Anywhere	All	Allows admins to access the KOTS Admin Console, which is used to configure, install, and upgrade Jama Connect.

Port range	Source*	Inbound rule applies to node	Description
22	Anywhere	All	Allows admins to make remote connections to the nodes using SSH.
6443	Anywhere Any node	Primary	Allows admins and KOTS nodes to access the Kuber- netes API server.**
2379–2380	Any node	Primary	Allows the KOTS nodes to access the etcd server client API.**
10250	Any node	All	Allows the KOTS nodes to access the Kubelet API server.**
8472	Any node	All	Allows KOTS (Flannel) to create a virtual network that connects the services running inside the cluster.**
	Port range           22           6443           2379–2380           10250           8472	Port rangeSource*22Anywhere6443Anywhere6443Any node2379–2380Any node10250Any node8472Any node	Port rangeSource*Inbound rule applies to node22AnywhereAll6443AnywherePrimary6443Any nodePrimary2379–2380Any nodePrimary10250Any nodeAll8472Any nodeAll

\* Anywhere means anyone or anything that must consume the resources in the environment.

\*\* Can be disabled in single node clusters.

- 2. User IDs Verify that the following User IDs are available and unused on the application server.
  - User ID 91 Used by Tomcat to read and write to directories inside jamacore pods.
  - User IDs 480-499 Used by the various services.
- 3. **Time sync setting** To ensure accurate time on the application server, set up a cron job to sync the time on a routine schedule (for example, every day or hour). Use this command to set up the cron job:

ntpdate pool.ntp.org

Your application server is now ready for the upgrade to KOTS.

# Preparing your new or existing database server (upgrading traditional to KOTS)

The following information is needed when connecting the application server to the database server.

Information	Requirements
Type/vendor	Database must be one of the following:
	MvSQL 8 (recommended)
	Microsoft SQL Server 2019 & 2022
Database hostname	Example: jama.companydb.com
Listening ports	The application server must be allowed to communicate remotely with the database server over the listening ports.
	Default ports are:
	• MySQL = 3306
	Microsoft SQL Server = 1433
Database schema name	The database owner must be able to create one:
	Tables inside an existing database schema of the given name
	The database name must follow these rules:
	Start with a letter (a–z)
	Contain any number of characters: a–z, 0–9 or an underscore ("_")
	Letters must be lowercase
Username	jamauser
Password	
Connections	The database must be able to accept a minimum of 300 concurrent connections.
SAML schema user- name	samluser
OAuth database user- name	oauthuser

The username and password for SAML and OAuth must match what's entered in the Microsoft SQL Server upgrade preparation script. See Install and configure Microsoft SQL Server [696] for more details.

# Install and configure MySQL (upgrading traditional to KOTS)

MySQL is the recommended database server. Follow these steps to install and configure the server.

#### Important considerations

- · You must have full database admin permissions to the server hosting the MySQL database.
- For the Jama Connect installation to succeed, you must first create two additional database schemas.

# **Recommended settings and sample**

The following recommended settings require 8 GB of memory allocated to MySQL Server for a typical installation and 16 GB for an enterprise installation.

Property	Typical installation	Enterprise installation
max_allowed_packet	1 GB	1 GB
tmp_table_size	2 GB	2 GB
max_heap_table_size	2 GB	2 GB
table_open_cache	512	512
innodb_buffer_pool_size	2 GB	12 GB
innodb_log_file_size	256 MB	256 GB
innodb_log_buffer_size	12 MB	12 MB
innodb_thread_concurrency	16	16
max_connections	151	351
wait_timeout	259200	259200

These settings can be added to your my.cnf file (Linux) or my.ini file (Windows).

Here is a sample text config file at an enterprise level. You must add the following values for your environment:





# IMPORTANT

The following steps apply only if you are creating a new database instance to support the KOTS upgrade.

To install and configure MySQL:

- 1. Make sure that the InnoDB engine is enabled.
- 2. Download and install a supported version of MySQL [440].
- 3. On the MySQL database server, create an empty Jama Connect schema / database that uses UTF8:
- CREATE DATABASE jama character set utf8mb4;
  4. On the MySQL database server, create two additional database schemas and a user ("jamauser") with the ability to access, create, and update tables within the database:



5. Create a database schema for Quartz to support horizontal scaling in KOTS:

REATE	DAT:	ABASE	quart	Zi						
REATE	USE	R 'qua	irtzus	er'@	요'응'	IDEN	TIF	IED	BY	'password';
RANT A	ALL :	PRIVII	EGES	ON q	quart	z.*	то	'qua	rtz	user'@'%'

6. Restart the database server.

Follow the instructions to Restore backup data from traditional Replicated to KOTS [698].

# Install and configure Microsoft SQL Server (upgrading traditional to KOTS)

If you are using Microsoft SQL Server for your database, follow these steps to install and configure it.

#### Important considerations

• You must have full database admin permissions to the server hosting the SQL Server database.



#### IMPORTANT

The following steps apply only if you are creating a new database instance to support the KOTS upgrade.

#### To install and configure SQL Server:

- 1. Connect to the SQL Server using a SQL management application (such as SQL Server Management Studio).
- Replace the following values in the installation script: <JAMA\_LOGIN\_Psswd>, <SAML\_LOG-IN\_Psswd> & <OAUTH\_LOGIN\_Psswd>.
- 3. Copy and store the passwords you create here. You will need them later to configure the Admin Console settings.
- 4. In a new query window, run this SQL query script:



CREATE LOGIN oauthuser with password = 'password'; GO
USE master;
CREATE DATABASE jama;
GO
ALTER DATABASE jama SET READ_COMMITTED_SNAPSHOT ON WITH ROLLBACK IMMEDIATE
GO
USE jama;
EXEC ('CREATE SCHEMA oauth');
EXEC ('CREATE SCHEMA saml');
GO
USE jama;
CREATE USER jamauser for LOGIN jamauser;
CREATE USER samluser for LOGIN samluser with DEFAULT_SCHEMA=saml;
CREATE USER oauthuser for LOGIN oauthuser with DEFAULT_SCHEMA=oauth;
GO
EXEC sp_addrolemember N'db_owner', jamauser;
EXEC sp_addrolemember N'db_owner', samluser;
EXEC sp_addrolemember N'db_owner', oauthuser;
GO

5. Create a database schema for Quartz to support horizontal scaling in KOTS:



- 6. Confirm that these actions were successful:
  - Script completed Check the Query Execution results for errors.
  - Users created Run the following SQL script in a new query window.



The results include **jamauser**, **samluser**, and **oauthuser** in the "Name" column of the result panes.

• Users granted the DB\_owner role — Run the following SQL script in a new query window.

```
USE jama
SELECT DP1.name AS DatabaseRoleName,
isnull (DP2.name, 'No members') AS DatabaseUserName
FROM sys.database_role_members AS DRM
RIGHT OUTER JOIN sys.database_principals AS DP1
ON DRM.role_principal_id = DP1.principal_id
LEFT OUTER JOIN sys.database_principals AS DP2
ON DRM.member_principal_id = DP2.principal_id
WHERE DP1.type = 'R'
ORDER BY DP1.name;
```

The results show that db\_owner role is granted to jamauser, samluser, and oauthuser.

7. Keep the database from locking users' accounts while they are logging in or working in Jama Connect (you must have db\_owner permissions):

ALTER DATABASE jama SET READ\_COMMITTED\_SNAPSHOT ON WITH ROLLBACK IMMEDIATE;

8. Make sure the flag was successfully enabled:

SELECT is\_read\_committed\_snapshot\_on FROM sys.databases WHERE name='jama';

If the returned value is 1, the flag is on.

Follow the instructions to Restore backup data from traditional Replicated to KOTS [698].

# Restore database backups from traditional Replicated to KOTS

After you install and configure your MySQL or Microsoft SQL database server, you must restore backups of the tenant and OAuth databases from the existing traditional Replicated database instance to the new KOTS database instance.



# **IMPORTANT**

If you use SAML authentication in your traditional Replicated environment, it must be configured in the new KOTS environment, rather than restoring from a backup.

Restore the database, using instructions for MySQL or SQL Server:

- 1. Restore the tenant database from a native backup to the new environment.
- 2. Restore the OAuth database from a native backup to the new environment.

# Configure custom memory settings for Elasticsearch (upgrading traditional to KOTS)

To prepare for installing Jama Connect, you must first update the system that hosts the application. The update consists of configuring memory settings for Elasticsearch.

#### Requirements

- The memory settings must be configured on each server in the KOTS cluster for Elasticsearch to run on these servers. If you use the remote Elasticsearch setting, the memory settings can be applied only to servers that are dedicated to Elasticsearch.
- You must have admin permissions to configure the memory settings for Elasticsearch.

#### To configure memory settings:

- 1. As an admin, open the /etc/sysctl.conf file, add the following line to the file, then save the file.
  - vm.max\_map\_count=262144
- 2. Reload the sysctl.conf file:

sudo sysctl -p

3. To confirm, type this command:

The system responds with:

sudo sysctl -a | grep max\_map\_count

vm.max\_map\_count=262144

# Upgrading the Replicated platform from traditional to KOTS

Whether your organization is internet-enabled or requires an airgap installation, follow these instructions to download, install, and configure the software you need for your Jama Connect instance.



# IMPORTANT

KOTS and Jama Connect must be installed on a new cluster that is created during installation and dedicated to KOTS.

#### The software includes:

- KOTS Admin Console (Replicated)
- Jama Connect
- Jama Connect KOTS license file (contact your Customer Success Manager to request a KOTS internet or airgap license)

#### The upgrade process consists of these tasks:

- Install KOTS and Jama Connect (internet [699] or airgap [701])
- Provision your tenant in Jama Connect KOTS
- Create a Replicated Snapshot

#### Depending on your environment, the process can also include these tasks:

- · Configure KOTS to save tenant assets in Amazon EFS
- Enable horizontal scaling
- Configure dedicated Elasticsearch nodes
- Configure Federated Authentication for KOTS Admin Console

# Install the Jama Connect Replicated KOTS platform (internet)

The installation script and the installation wizard guide you through the process of installing the KOTSrequired software and Jama Connect, then configuring the KOTS Admin Console.

- 1. Contact your Customer Success Manager to request a KOTS internet license, then save the license file on your local system.
- 2. Run the command on the application server provisioned for Jama Connect:

curl -sSL https://k8s.kurl.sh/jama-k8s-standardkots | sudo bash

The installation process can take up to an hour to complete.

3. After the command runs, save the KOTS admin URL, password, and other configuration options for future reference. This is the only time these credentials appear, so make sure you save them.



- 4. In a supported browser, enter the URL for **Kotsadm**, which was generated when you installed KOTS.
- 5. Log in to the KOTS Admin Console using the password you just saved.

Log	in to the application
nter the passw	ord to access the the application admin console

- 6. Select the appropriate option:
  - Have key/certificate Click Choose file under Private key and Certificate, navigate to the files and select them, then click Upload & Continue.
  - No key/certificate Select Self-Signed Cert. You can configure the SSL/TLS certificates in the KOTS Admin Console after the deployment as needed.
- 7. Upload the license file that you saved on your local system.



The Config tab in the KOTS Admin Console opens, where you can configure and provision Jama Connect.

# Install the Jama Connect Replicated KOTS platform (airgap)

The installation script and the installation wizard guide you through the process of installing the KOTSrequired software and Jama Connect, then configuring the KOTS Admin Console.

- 1. Contact your Customer Success Manager to request a KOTS airgap license, then save the license file on your local system.
- 2. Log in to the airgap portal, select **Embedded Cluster**, then download the **jama-k8s Airgap Bundle** and **Embedded Kubernetes Installer** files to your local system.

nstallation process is different							
nding on if you have an	License						
ing cluster or and embedded	K8Customer-DanaMedaug-Test Standard	2760					
er on a vm.	(Devilcense El (1999) 2012)						
Bring my own cluster Existing cluster installation	🍘 Airgap enabled 🥌 Snapshots enabled 💭 GitOps	enabled -	± Download license				
Embedded cluster Embedded cluster on a VM	Jama Application License: PD\$4bhwgdmVyc21+bj01M8%rIB1bmRvZG1u2:01V9RGITg udE5bbWJ48GPuVS1E7\$how	yiPad&PGxpx2Vac2UgdmVyc21vbj0iHSdwIj4&bGlj2	N5=1URhage+PgRsawv				
	Select application version						
	Selecting the application version ensures that compatib	le versions by the KOTS CLI and the Kubernetes	installar and also selected.				
	902 Sequence 1069						
	Embedded Kubernetes Installer						
	jama-k8s-standardkots		± Download bundle				
	iama_kRs Airgan Bundla						
	Jama-kos Aligap bullule						
	9.0.2 Sequence 1069	<b>a</b>	Summer and the second se				
	9.0.2 Sequence 1069 Jun 20, 2023 @ 11:35am Show Checksom	ē	Download airgep bundle				
	9.0.2 Sequence 1069 Jun 20, 2023 @ 11:35am Show Checksom	6	- Download airgap bundle 🤗				
	9.0.2 Sequence 1069 Jun 20, 2023 @ 11:35am Show Checksom KOTS CLJ V1.101.2 Aug 4, 2023 @ 12:53pm		Download airgep bundle 🤗				
	9.0.2 Sequence 1069 Jun 20, 2023 @ 11:35am Show Checksom KOTS CLJ V1.101.2 Aug 4, 2023 @ 12:53pm	Latest Support Bundle CI	Download airgep bundle 🤗				
	9.0.2 Sequence 1069 Jun 20, 2023 @ 11:35am Show Dwelkow KOTS CLJ V1.101.2 Aug 4, 2023 @ 12:55pm	Latest Support Bundle CLI	Download airgep bundle				

3. To download the Kubernetes Installer for your channel and install it, run the following command on the application server provisioned for Jama Connect.

export REP	PLICATED_APP=jama-k8s
export REI	PLICATED_CHANNEL=standardkots
curl -LS h -o \$REPLIC	https://k8s.kurl.sh/bundle/\$REPLICATED_APP-\$REPLICATED_CHANNEL.tar.gz \ CATED_APP-\$REPLICATED_CHANNEL.tar.gz
tar -zxvf	<pre>\$REPLICATED_APP-\$REPLICATED_CHANNEL.tar.gz</pre>
cat instal	ll.sh   sudo bash -s airgap

If your application server doesn't have internet access, you can download the Kubernetes Installer from the airgap-safe portal and upload it to the application server.

4. After the command runs (which might take several minutes), save the KOTS admin URL, password, and other configuration options for future reference. This is the only time these credentials appear, so make sure you save them. 5. In a supported browser, enter the URL for **Kotsadm**, which was generated when you installed KOTS.



6. Log in to the KOTS Admin Console using the password you just saved.



- 7. Select the appropriate option:
  - Have key/certificate Select Choose file under Private key and Certificate, navigate to the files and select them, then click Upload & Continue.
  - No key/certificate Select Use Self-Signed Cert. You can configure the SSL/TLS certificates in the KOTS Admin Console after the deployment as needed.
- 8. Upload the license file saved on your local system.
- 9. Upload your jama-k8s airgap bundle, then click Continue.



# Install in airgapped environment

To install on an airgapped network, the images in the application will be uploaded from the bundle you provide to the cluster.

### Drag your airgap bundle here or choose a bundle to upload

This will be a lairgap file the application provided. Please contact your account rep if you are unable to locate your lairgap file.

The Config tab in the KOTS Admin Console opens, where you can configure and provision Jama Connect.

# Provision your tenant in Jama Connect KOTS (upgrading traditional to KOTS)

After upgrading the KOTS Replicated environment, you must provision the existing tenant in the new environment.



# IMPORTANT

The KOTS Admin Console doesn't support formulas. Instead, use literal values.

#### To provision your tenant in KOTS:

1. From the KOTS Admin Console, select the **Config** tab.

Application GitOps C	Juster Management	Snapsnots				
Dashboard	Version history	Config	Troubleshoot	License	View files	Registry settings
Cubernetes Configuration A	Database Se	ettings				
Allow Master Nodes Ingress Class Name Issuer Name	<ul> <li>MySQL</li> <li>Host Require</li> </ul>	O Microsoft	SQL			
Is this a cluster scoped issuer?	Port Required	1				
Override default memory and CPU configuration in the settings						
section of each service. In memory values, you MUST use a literal size, such as '2G' or '1000M' or '2000000K'. Sensible dataulte are	Default value: 3	3306 aquiract				
given though. It is unlikely that you would need to override them. In GPU values, '1000m' is equal to	Default value: ja User name	ama Tenurea				
one core. "In case of any doubt,	root					

2. Configure the settings for each group, as needed. Scroll down to see each group of settings.



# IMPORTANT

Make sure that the current Host name, Database name, Username, and Password are configured correctly in the KOTS Admin Console. If you installed KOTS in a new environment, you must point to the newly installed database host or the deployment fails.

- Database Settings Select your database type (MySQL or Microsoft SQL Server), then use the information from *Preparing your database server* to complete the settings.
- Host Name Enter the name of the database server (for existing resources, enter current name; for new resources, enter the new name).
- TLS Key Pair Source (Optional) If you have a custom key and certificate for the host name, select Custom TLS Configuration. In the TLS Configuration section, upload the key and certificate.
- Assets Size Enter the estimated size of the assets based on the current data assets size of your environment and its projected growth.
- Elasticsearch Settings > Volume Size Enter the amount of disk space that each Elasticsearch node is allowed to use.
- 3. (Optional) From the Config tab in the KOTS Admin Console, follow the steps to *configure KOTS to save tenant assets in the Amazon EFS*.
- 4. Scroll down to Tenant Manager Settings and deselect the checkbox to disable it. Disabling the Tenant Manager prevents Jama Connect from completing tenant provisioning, which allows you to copy data assets and tenant.properties from the traditional replicated environment to the KOTS environment.

Dashboard Versio	mistory Config Troubleshoot License View files Registry settings
	Startup Settings
Kubernetes Configuration $\land$	Show advanced startup settings
Allow Master Nodes	
Ingress Class Name	Jama Cloud
Issuer Name	A Jama Cloud authorization token can be used to enable SAML.
le litie a allister apaped legilor?	Authorization token
ta this a cluster scoped taster r	
Memory and CPU Settings A	
Override default memory and CPU	SAMI LIBI
configuration in the settings	
section of each service. In memory	
size such as '2G' or '1000M' or	
2000000k'. Sensible defaults are	
given though. It is unlikely that you	Tenant Manager Settings
would need to override them. In	Enghlad?
CPU values, 1000m is equal to	This option allows managing the "Tenant manager" execution state (it should be enabled (checked) to
one core. "In case of any doubt,	ensure the proper functioning of Jama Connect. It can only be disabled (unchecked) when our Help Doc
please don't make any changes	Indicate eq.

5. Scroll to the bottom of the page and click **Save config**. The Preflight checks run.

#### Preflight checks

Preflight checks validate that your cluster will meet the minimum requirements. If your cluster does not meet the requirements your application might not work properly. Some checks may be required which means your application will not be able to be deployed until they pass. Optional checks are recommended to ensure that the application you are installing will work as intended.

Res	ults from your preflight checks
0	Required Kubernetes Version Your cluster meets the recommended and required versions of Kubernetes.
0	Container Runtime Docker container rüntime was found.
0	Check Kubernetes environment. RURL is a supported distribution
0	Total CPU Cores in the cluster is 8 or greater There are at least 8 cores in the cluster
0	MySQL database connection - Tenant schema Successful connection to Jama schema - MySQL database
0	MySQL database connection - SAML schema Successful connection to SAML schema - MySQL database
0	MySQL database connection - OAuth schema Successful connection to OAuth.schema - MySQL database

6. From the Preflight checks screen, click **Continue** to deploy the Jama Connect application and services.

When the system is available, the status in the KOTS Admin Console changes to **Ready**. The deployment process can take up to an hour.

	Dashboard	Version history
software: Jar	na Conn	ect
View deplo	ation yed config	
Status Ready		

When the preflight checks are complete, Jama Connect creates the Kubernetes pods, which contain the Jama Connect application and related services.

7. From the application server CLI, verify that the Kubernetes pods were successfully created:

Application server CLI example:									
ubuntu@ip-10-59-0-42:~\$ kubectl get pods									
NAME	READY	STATUS	RESTARTS	AGE					
activemq-0	1/1	Running	0	3d20h					
core-0	1/1	Running	0	3d18h					
diff-0	1/1	Running	0	3d20h					
elasticsearch-0	1/1	Running	0	3d20h					
hazelcast-0	1/1	Running	0	3d20h					
kotsadm-7d889d7d4f-x7qxc	1/1	Running	0	4d					
kotsadm-postgres-0	1/1	Running	0	4d					
kurl-proxy-kotsadm-5c6bb84446-lwdwg	1/1	Running	0	4d					
nginx-0	1/1	Running	0	3d20h					
oauth-0	1/1	Running	7	3d18h					
saml-0	1/1	Running	7	3d18h					
search-0	1/1	Running	0	3d20h					

- 8. When the pods are ready and running, copy the data assets, which you preserved in an earlier task, to an accessible location on the application server.
- 9. On the application server, set the tenant name for the environment (the tenant name, usually *jama*, and can be found in the tenant.properties file is the name of the Jama Connect database schema):

```
export TENANT_NAME=<tenant_name:
10. On the application server:
```

kubectl get pods

a. Copy and extract the previously preserved data assets into the running core pod and change the ownership permissions:

kubectl cp -c core /tmp/contour/assets.tar.gz default/core-0:/home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/
kubectl exec --tty -c core pods/core-0 -- tar -xvzf /home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/\
assets.tar.gz -C /home/contour/tenant/\${TENANT\_NAME}/

subectl exec --tty -c core pods/core-0 -- chmod -R 755 /home/contour

kubectl exec --tty -c core pods/core-0 -- chown -R tomcat:tomcat /home/contour

- b. Delete the core stateful set to recreate the core pod:
  - kubectl delete sts/core
- 11. From the KOTS Admin Console, select the **Config** tab, enable the Tenant Manager Settings, then click **Save config**.
- 12. Remove entries from the Jama Connect database tenantstate table to prepare for a new deployment:

DELETE FROM tenantstate;

- 13. To deploy the new version of Jama Connect:
  - a. From the KOTS Admin Console, click **Deploy** next to the newly saved version of Jama Connect.
  - b. When the deployment is complete and all pods are running, log in to Jama Connect as root using the hostname configured for Jama Connect.
  - c. If upgrading with new servers:
    - SAML authentication must be configured in the new KOTS Jama Connect environment.
    - Update the base URL before performing a full reindex.
  - d. Perform a full reindex in Jama Connect to complete the deployment.

# **Create a Replicated Snapshot (KOTS)**

Taking a full snapshot creates a backup of the KOTS Admin Console and application data. It can be used for full Disaster Recovery by restoring over the same instance or in a new cluster. Tenant assets are included in the snapshot. Elasticsearch data is included by default.

A Replicated Snapshot can be taken while Jama Connect is running without interruption.

#### Requirements

- Replicated Snapshots must be enabled for your Replicated customer license.
- KOTS Admin Console 1.79 and later.
- Replicated Snapshots don't include your database. You must use a proprietary backup/restore system for your type of database, MySQL or SQL Server.

#### Important considerations

- When restoring from a snapshot in a new cluster, you must reinstall KOTS.
- *Recommended* Include Elasticsearch data in snapshots to avoid having to reindex your data after performing a restore. However, if your snapshot is not recent, we recommend reindexing your data.
- Replicated Snapshots don't support IAM authentication against EFS. Saving Replicated Snapshots in EFS requires that you use the default file system policy to allow all nodes in the cluster to mount the EFS.

#### To create a Replicated snapshot:

- 1. Capture the KOTS installer.
- 2. (Recommended) Include Elasticsearch data in snapshots: From the KOTS Admin Console under the Elasticsearch Settings section, select **Include Elasticsearch in Replicated Snapshots**.
- 3. *Airgap only* Capture the IP address of the private registry, which is the IP address value in the Cluster-IP column:

# kubectl get service/registry -n kurl

- 4. Configure the storage destination:
  - a. In the KOTS Admin Console, select **Snapshots > Settings & Schedule**.
  - b. From the Destination drop-down menu, select a storage destination for your snapshots.

For AWS S3 — The IAM role assigned to the underlaying servers or the user associated with the credentials (access and secret key) must have the Policy template attached.
 Use the following template to create a policy, replacing the <arn-S3> parameter with ARN of the S3 bucket. For example: arn:aws:s3:::jama-snapshots.



- For NFS If using EFS as an NFS server, the Server field = the DNS name of the EFS and the Path field = a directory inside the EFS, writable by the user:group 1001:1001.
- c. Click **Update storage settings** to save your preferences.
- 5. Schedule Full Snapshots:
  - a. In the KOTS Admin Console, select **Snapshots > Settings & Schedule**.
  - b. Select Enable automatic scheduled snapshots, then click Update schedule.
- 6. Create a Full Snapshot (follow the steps provided by Replicated).

# After upgrading Jama Connect traditional to KOTS

Whether your environment is internet-enabled or airgap, after upgrading from Jama Connect traditional to KOTS you can continue to set up your Jama Connect environment.

Follow any post upgrade instructions that apply to your organization:

- Add Organization Admin account
- Modify organization details
- Configure email/collaboration settings
- Configure user authentication
- Create XML backups (optional)
- Update the license for KOTS environments (optional)

If you have further questions about Jama Connect installation and setup, visit the Jama Support Community or contact Support.